CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CABINET: THURSDAY, 21 MARCH 2019 at 2.00 PM
A Cabinet Meeting will be held in Committee Room 3, County Hall on Thursday 21 March
2019 at 2.00 pm

AGENDA
1

Minutes of Cabinet meeting held on 21 February 2019 (Pages 3 - 10)

Scrutiny Matters
2

To receive the report of the Economy & Culture Scrutiny Committee entitled
'Events in Cardiff' (Pages 11 - 104)

Culture & Leisure
3

Public Space Protection Orders - Dog Control (Pages 105 - 212)

Education, Employment & Skills
4

School Admission Arrangements 2020/21 (Pages 213 - 276)

5

School Organisation Planning: The Provision of English-medium Primary School
Places in the Llanrumney Area (Pages 277 - 300)

6

New School Provision to serve parts of Pontprennau and Old St Mellons (Pages
301 - 348)

Education, Employment & Skills and Finance, Modernisation & Performance
7

21st Century Schools Band B Funding (Pages 349 - 358)

Finance, Modernisation & Performance
8

Pay Policy Statement 2019/20 (Pages 359 - 384)

9

Cardiff Council Energy (Electricity and Gas) Procurement - Purchasing Strategy
for 2020-2021 (Pages 385 - 390)

Housing & Communities
10

Older Persons Accommodation Strategy 2018 - 2023 (Pages 391 - 502)

11

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2019/20 (Pages 503 - 600)
-1-

Strategic Planning & Transport
12

Civil Parking Enforcement and Moving Traffic Offences - Challenges,
Representations and Appeals Policy (Pages 601 - 646)

13

Improving Public Transport - Response to Welsh Government White Paper
Consultation (Pages 647 - 690)

14

Air Quality Feasibility Study Outline Business Case- Welsh Government
Direction (Pages 691 - 958)

PAUL ORDERS
Chief Executive
This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

-2-

Agenda Item 1
CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
MINUTES
CABINET MEETING: 21 FEBRUARY 2019

Cabinet Members Present:

Councillor Huw Thomas (Leader)
Councillor Peter Bradbury
Councillor Graham Hinchey
Councillor Sarah Merry
Councillor Michael Michael
Councillor Chris Weaver
Councillor Caro Wild

Observers:

Councillor Joe Boyle
Councillor Keith Parry
Councillor Adrian Robson

Officers:

Paul Orders, Chief Executive
Christine Salter, Section 151 Officer
Davina Fiore, Monitoring Officer
Joanne Watkins, Cabinet Office

Apologies:

Councillor Susan Elsmore
Councillor Russell Goodway
Councillor Lynda Thorne

87

MINUTES OF CABINET MEETINGS HELD ON 9 AND 24 JANUARY
RESOLVED: that the minutes of the Cabinet meetings held on 9 and 24
January 2019 be approved.

88

CORPORATE PLAN 2019-22
The Cabinet considered the Corporate Plan 2019-20 which forms part of the
Council’s strategic policy framework and set a clear timetable for delivery
against the Administration’s Capital Ambition policy agenda. It was noted that
extensive engagement had taken place with the Council’s Scrutiny committees
in developing the corporate plan.
RESOLVED: that
1.

the Corporate Plan 2019-22 be approved for consideration by Council
on 28 February 2019;

Page 3

89

2.

Council be recommended to delegate authority to the Chief Executive,
in consultation with the Leader of the Council, to make any
consequential amendments to the Corporate Plan 2019-22 (Appendix
A) following consideration by Council on 28 February 2019 and prior to
publication by 1 April 2019; and

3.

Council be recommended to delegate authority to the Chief Executive,
in consultation with the Leader of the Council, to make any
consequential amendments to the Performance Target Setting
Summary 2019/20 (Appendix B) following publication of the 2018/19
Quarter 4 performance results.

SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE SYSTEMS (SUDS)
The Cabinet received details of the requirement to implementation of Schedule
3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (FWMA) for the use of
Sustainable Drainage Systems in new developments and the Council’s
statutory responsibilities through the creation of a SuDs Approval Body.
RESOLVED: that

90

1.

the establishment of the SuDS Approval Body within the Flood and
Coastal Risk Management Team be approved

2.

the responsibility of the SuDs Approval Body be delegated to the
Director of Planning, Transport and Environment to enable the further
delegation of decisions

3.

Authority for the setting of levels of discretionary fees, relating to the
approval body, be delegated to the Director of Planning, Transport and
Environment in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance,
Modernisation & Performance, Cabinet for Clean Streets, Recycling &
Environment and the Section 151 Officer.

COUNCIL TAX PREMIUMS ON LONG TERM EMPTY DWELLINGS
Cabinet considered a report which outlined the results of the consultation
exercise on the application of a council tax premium on long term empty
dwellings. It was reported that responses were received from over 500
different stakeholders with 71% of the responders stating that a council tax
premium of 50% or more should be charged on long term empty dwellings.
RESOLVED: that Council be recommended to agree with effect from 1st April
2019 a 50% council tax premium is applied to long term empty dwellings that
have been unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for a period of 12 months
or more.

91

BUDGET MONITORING - MONTH 9 REPORT
Cabinet received an update of the financial monitoring position for the
authority based on the first nine months of the financial year and as updated

Page 4

for significant movements to date. It was reported that overall, the month nine
revenue monitoring position for the Council continued to show a balanced
position with financial pressures and shortfalls against budget savings targets
in directorate budgets offset by projected savings on capital financing, an
anticipated surplus on Council Tax collection and NDR refunds on Council
properties.
RESOLVED: that
1. the potential outturn position based on the first nine months of the
financial year be noted
2. the requirement for all directorates currently reporting overspends as
identified in this report to take actions to reduce their projected
overspends be reinforced.
3. in principle approval be given to the projected surplus of £917,000 be
transferred to the Strategic Budget Reserve at the year end subject to the
final out-turn position for 2018/19.
92

QUARTER 3 2018-19 PERFORMANCE REPORT
The Cabinet received the performance report for quarter 3 of the 2018-19
financial year which gave an in-depth analysis of Performance for the quarter
and the year to date against the Corporate Plan.
RESOLVED: that the current position regarding performance, the delivery of
key commitments and priorities as at Quarter 3, and the action being taken to
ensure the effective delivery of Capital Ambition be noted.

93

BUDGET REPORT 2019/20
Appendix 10(c) is exempt from publication because it contains
information of the kind described in paragraphs 14 and 21 of parts 4 and
5 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972
The Cabinet considered the budget proposals for 2019-20. The report set out
the challenges in meeting a funding gap of £32.4million and it was proposed
that this be met through £19.1 million of directorate savings, the use of
reserves and an increase in Council tax. It was reported that extensive
consultation had been undertaken in relation to the directorate savings
proposals and each Scrutiny committee had undertaken scrutiny of the
proposals and their comments had been circulated at the Cabinet meeting.
RESOLVED: that
the Cabinet, having taken account of the comments of the Section 151 Officer
in respect of the robustness of the budget and the adequacy of reserves as
required under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003, and having
considered the responses received to the Budget Consultation recommend
that Council:

Page 5

1.0

Approve the Revenue, Capital and Housing Revenue Account budgets
including all proposals and increasing the Council Tax by 4.9% as set out in
this report and that the Council resolve the following terms.

2.0

Note that at its meeting on 13 December 2018 Cabinet calculated the following
number of dwelling equivalents for the year 2019/20 in accordance with the
regulations made under Section 33(5) of the Local Government Finance Act
1992:a) 145,499 being the number calculated in accordance with Regulation 3 of
the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (Wales)
Regulations 1995, as amended, as its Council Tax base for the year.
b) Lisvane
Pentyrch
Radyr
St. Fagans
Old St. Mellons
Tongwynlais

2,409
3,280
3,783
1,423
1,828
817

being the numbers calculated in accordance with Regulation 6 of the
Regulations as the amounts of its Council Tax base for the year for dwellings
in those parts of its area to which special items relate.
2.1

Agree that the following amounts be now calculated by the County Council of
the City and County of Cardiff for the year 2019/20 in accordance with
Sections 32 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992:a) Aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out
in Section 32(2)(a) to (d) (including Community Council precepts totalling
£396,847).
£1,026,046,847
b) Aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for items set out in
Section 32(3)(a) and (c).
£405,161,000
c) Amount by which the aggregate at 2.1(a) above exceeds the aggregate at
2.1(b) above calculated in accordance with Section 32(4) as the budget
requirement for the year.
£620,885,847
d) Aggregate of the sums which the Council estimates will be payable for the
year into its Council Fund in respect of Revenue Support Grant, its
council tax reduction scheme, redistributed Non-Domestic Rates.
£444,629,480
e) The amount at 2.1(c) above less the amount at 2.1(d) (net of the amount
for discretionary relief of £350,000), all divided by the amount at 2.0(a)
above, calculated in accordance with Section 33(1) as the basic amount
of Council Tax for the year.
£1,213.80

Page 6

f) Aggregate amount of all special items referred to in Section 34(1).
£396,847
g) Amount at 2.1(e) above less the result given by dividing the amount at
2.1(f) above by the amount at 2.0(a) above, in accordance with Section
34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of Council Tax for the year for
dwellings in those parts of the area to which no special items relate.
£1,211.07
h) The amounts given by adding to the amount at 2.1(g) above the amounts
of special items relating to dwellings in those parts of the Council's area
mentioned below, divided in each case by the amount at 2.0(b) above,
calculated in accordance with Section 34(3) as the basic amounts of
Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of the area to which
special items relate.
£
1,227.26
1,258.33
1,243.94
1,225.48
1,231.31
1,236.77

Lisvane
Pentyrch
Radyr
St. Fagans
Old St. Mellons
Tongwynlais

i) The amounts given by multiplying the amounts at 2.1(g) and 2.1(h) above
by the number which in the proportion set out in the Council Tax
(Valuation Bands) (Wales) Order 2003 is applicable to dwellings listed in
a particular valuation band divided by the number which in that proportion
is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation band D calculated in
accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act as the amounts to be taken into
account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in different
valuation bands.

Area
Lisvane
Pentyrch
Radyr
St. Fagans
Old St.
Mellons
Tongwynlais
All other
parts of the
Council’s
Area

A
£

B
£

C
£

D
£

E
£

F
£

G
£

H
£

818.16
838.88
829.28
816.98

954.53
978.70
967.51
953.15

1,090.89
1,118.51
1,105.72
1,089.31

1,227.26
1,258.33
1,243.94
1,225.48

1,499.98
1,537.95
1,520.36
1,497.80

1,772.71
1,817.58
1,796.80
1,770.13

2,045.42
2,097.21
2,073.22
2,042.46

2,454.52
2,516.66
2,487.88
2,450.96

2,863.60
2,936.09
2,902.52
2,859.44

820.86

957.68

1,094.49

1,231.31

1,504.93

1,778.56

2,052.17

2,462.62

2,873.05

824.50

961.93

1,099.34

1,236.77

1,511.60

1,786.44

2,061.27

2,473.54

2,885.79

807.37

941.94

1,076.50

1,211.07

1,480.19

1,749.32

2,018.44

2,422.14

2,825.82

Page 7

I
£

2.2

Note that for the year 2019/20, the Police and Crime Commissioner for South
Wales has stated the following amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in
accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for
each of the categories of dwelling shown below:VALUATION BANDS
A
B
C
£
£
£
171.68
200.29
228.91

2.3

D
£
257.52

E
£
314.75

F
£
371.97

G
£
429.20

H
£
515.04

Having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at 2.1(i) and 2.2
above, the County Council of the City and County of Cardiff in accordance with
Section 30(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 hereby sets the
following amounts as the amounts of Council Tax for the year 2019/20 for
each of the categories of dwellings shown below:Part of Council's Area
VALUATION BANDS
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
£
£
£
£
£
£
£
£

I
£
600.88

I
£

Area
Lisvane
Pentyrch
Radyr
St. Fagans
Old St.
Mellons
Tongwynlais
All other
parts of the
Council’s
Area

989.84
1,010.56
1,000.96
988.66

1,154.82
1,178.99
1,167.80
1,153.44

1,319.80
1,347.42
1,334.63
1,318.22

1,484.78
1,515.85
1,501.46
1,483.00

1,814.73
1,852.70
1,835.11
1,812.55

2,144.68
2,189.55
2,168.77
2,142.10

2,474.62
2,526.41
2,502.42
2,471.66

2,969.56
3,031.70
3,002.92
2,966.00

3,464.48
3,536.97
3,503.40
3,460.32

992.54

1,157.97

1,323.40

1,488.83

1,819.68

2,150.53

2,481.37

2,977.66

3,473.93

996.18

1,162.22

1,328.25

1,494.29

1,826.35

2,158.41

2,490.47

2,988.58

3,486.67

979.05

1,142.23

1,305.41

1,468.59

1,794.94

2,121.29

2,447.64

2,937.18

3,426.70

2.4

Authorise the Corporate Director Resources to make payments under Section
38 of the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 from the Council Fund by equal
instalments on the last working day of each month from April 2019 to March
2020 in respect of the precept levied by the Police and Crime Commissioner
for South Wales in the sum of £37,469,009.

2.5

Agree that the Common Seal be affixed to the said Council Tax.

2.6

Agree that the Common Seal be affixed to precepts for Port Health Expenses
for the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 namely

County Council of the City and County of Cardiff
Vale of Glamorgan County Borough Council

Page 8

£
113,864
12,736

2.7

Agree that notices of the making of the said Council Taxes signed by the Chief
Executive be given by advertisement in the local press under Section 38(2) of
the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

3.0

In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, the Local Authority
(Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 2003 and subsequent
amendments and the CIPFA Prudential Code and Treasury Management
Codes of Practice:
(a) Approve the Capital Strategy 2019/20
(b) Approve the Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 and authorise the
Section 151 Officer to raise such funds as may be required to finance
capital expenditure by temporary or long term borrowing
(c) Approve the Prudential Indictors for 2019/20 to 2023/24 including the
affordable borrowing limit
(d) Delegate to the Section 151 Officer the authority to effect movement
between the limits for borrowing and long term liabilities within the limit for
any year and to bring forward or delay schemes within the Capital
Programme.
(e) Approve the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy for 2019/20.

4.0

5.0

approve the Budgetary Framework outlined in this report including the
Affordability Envelope detailed in this report. This will be subject to the approval
of a business case in respect of the indoor arena and the financial implications
of such a decision being within the affordability and borrowing implications
outlined.
Maintain the current Council Tax Reduction Scheme as set out in the report.

(b) Matters for Cabinet Decision
The Cabinet, having taken account of the comments of the Section 151 Officer in
respect of the budget and the adequacy of reserves as required under Section 25 of
the Local Government Act 2003 and having considered the responses to the Budget
Consultation that
6.0

the changes to fees and charges as set out in Appendix 10(a) and 10(c) to this
report be approved

7.0

authority be delegated to the appropriate Director in consultation with the
relevant Cabinet Member, Section 151 Officer and the Cabinet Member for
Finance, Modernisation & Performance to amend or introduce new fees and
charges during the year.

8.0

the rents of all Housing Revenue Account dwellings (including hostels and
garages) be increased by 2.4% having taken account of WG guidance.

Page 9

9.0

all service charges and the management fee for leaseholders as set out in
Appendix 10(b) be approved

10.0

all Housing Revenue Account rent increases take effect from 1 April 2019.

11.0

the work undertaken to raise awareness of the financial resilience of the
Council be noted and the steps taken within the budget to improve this
position be approved

12.0

the financial challenges facing the Council as set out in the Medium Term
Financial Plan be recognised and the opportunities for savings over the
medium term be noted.

Page 10

Agenda Item 2

An Inquiry Report of the:

Economy & Culture Scrutiny Committee

EVENTS IN CARDIFF
February 2019

Cardiff Council

Page 11

CONTENTS
CONTENTS ..................................................................................................... 2
CHAIR’S FOREWORD.................................................................................... 3
TERMS OF REFERENCE ............................................................................... 4
KEY FINDINGS ............................................................................................... 5
RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................................. 11
CONTEXT ..................................................................................................... 14
WHY HAVE EVENTS? .................................................................................. 24
COUNCIL’S CURRENT ROLE RE EVENTS ................................................ 32
FUTURE OF EVENTS IN CARDIFF.............................................................. 39
FUTURE PROGRAMME OF EVENTS .......................................................... 39
FUTURE ROLE OF THE COUNCIL .............................................................. 44
FUTURE RESOURCES FOR EVENTS......................................................... 46
INQUIRY METHODOLOGY .......................................................................... 63
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS ......................................................................... 91
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS ................................................................................ 91
COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE....................................................... 92

2

Page 12

CHAIR’S FOREWORD
This Inquiry reports at a pertinent time for Events in Cardiff: the landscape for global events is
increasingly competitive; the demand for leisure, cultural and music events is growing, boosted
by a millennial generation that prioritises experiences over possessions; and the growth in
business events continues apace, with Cardiff in prime position to capitalise on our closeness to
the International Convention Centre Wales.
Events are worthwhile for Cardiff, both economically and socially, enhancing citizens’ lives and
supporting many jobs and businesses in Wales. However, they also bring costs to statutory
services, which are not recompensed. All of these factors, coupled with the reduction in
available Council resources, mean it is time to rethink our approach to events in Cardiff.
I would like to thank my committee colleagues, Councillor Iona Gordon, Councillor Jane
Henshaw and Councillor Thomas Parkhill, for undertaking this in-depth inquiry and balancing
the evidence presented to them. I am also extremely grateful to all those who contributed to this
inquiry, sharing their expertise and experiences to help inform our findings and thus shape our
recommendations. The inquiry heard from those who attract, produce and deliver events in
Cardiff as well as those who manage the impact of events and from some local residents and
communities affected by events.
Our recommendations aim to place Cardiff Council in an enabling and facilitative role, retaining
in-house our key function of coordinating partner efforts, consolidating our strategic approach,
developing a signature event, lobbying for increased funding to meet the costs incurred by
statutory services, and responding to the concerns of affected communities. Cardiff needs to
further strengthen its events calendar and increase the legacy and impact of events, for the
benefit of local communities and Wales.

Councillor Nigel Howells, Chair, Economy & Culture Scrutiny Committee

3

Page 13

TERMS OF REFERENCE



To explore with key stakeholders what the programme of events in Cardiff should look
like, taking into account the following factors:
- Role of events re economy of city and region
- Impact of events on citizens, the council and the city.



To explore with key stakeholders what the Council’s role should be re events, looking in
particular at:
- Role of Council and Partner organisations re attracting, promoting, delivering,

managing and retaining events
- How much Council resource should be focused on events?
- How other Councils manage similar programmes of events.



To make evidence based recommendations to Cabinet on a future events strategy for
Cardiff and the role of the Council re events in Cardiff.

Members of the Task & Finish Group were:


Councillor Iona Gordon



Councillor Jane Henshaw



Councillor Thomas Parkhill.

4

Page 14

KEY FINDINGS
Overall:
KF1. Events are good for Cardiff, with many positive economic and social impacts,
bringing in more to the local economy than they cost and providing citizens with
access to cultural and sporting events, thus enhancing health and wellbeing. Since
2012, major events have brought in £227 million direct economic return to the Cardiff
economy.

KF2. Events provide Cardiff with one of its most important tools in attracting those who
want to learn, visit and invest. Tourism, heritage, cultural & sporting events, together
with the creative industries that support them, all play a fundamental role in the
Cardiff economy and contribute to the prosperity of the city.
KF3. Cardiff is good at events, with a positive ‘Team Cardiff’ approach amongst partners
across the statutory, business and voluntary sectors. Cardiff receives positive
feedback from event organisers, both international and local companies, regarding
its ability to ensure events are delivered safely and smoothly. There is a
determination to manage events to minimise disruption to residents and local
businesses.
KF4. As the capital city, Cardiff and its infrastructure is an important component of Wales’
event hosting capacity. The Welsh Government has set out its Major Events
Strategy, with key policy drivers being economic impact, international profile and
social impact. It is developing a new strategy to attract business events to Wales, to
boost the number of business events and increase the number of visitors and their
length of stay.

KF5. Welsh Government investment in events reaps rewards for the Welsh economy. The
Major Events Unit’s annual budget of £3.9 million resulted in £72.5 million direct
economic impact in 2017/18; it is predicted to lead to over £50 million direct
economic impact in 2018/19.

5

Page 15

KF6. The current programme of events in Cardiff leads to a ‘peak and trough’ calendar,
including multiple major events held at the same time. This affects the reputation of
Cardiff as it leads to accommodation providers increasing prices, demand pressures
on the hospitality sector and pressures on the transport system. In addition, it
prevents Cardiff and its surrounding region from maximising the economic benefit, as
visitors stay elsewhere, but leaves Cardiff having to meet the costs of hosting the
events.

Future programme of events

KF7. Cardiff will continue to attract many sporting and music events, due to its
infrastructure and role in the wider region. However, events is an increasingly
competitive global market and Cardiff does not have the same resource available to
compete at this level. In addition, relying solely on these types of events leads to a
feast/ famine events calendar, with consequential negative impact on the reputation
of Cardiff and reduced economic impact for Cardiff and the region.

KF8. There is a need to smooth out the calendar of events, by adding events in the
current downtime. There is also a need to ensure that a future programme of events
is varied and includes accessible, inclusive events with cross-generational content.
This will help to tackle the feast/ famine events calendar and move it towards a feast/
grazing events calendar. In terms of multiple events occurring at the same time, this
is often outside the Council’s direct control, as venues operate on a commercial
basis. This is an area where all parties need to continue to work together, sharing
information as early as possible and seeking ways of avoiding calendar clashes, in
order that Cardiff and the region maximise the benefits to the area.

KF9. To assist this, it is essential that Cardiff plans its own signature event rather than rely
on attracting and retaining brought-in events. The Inquiry heard care needs to be
taken to ensure the right decisions are made regarding the timing, location, content,
structure and length of the signature event.

KF10. In addition, it is essential to attract and retain business events throughout the year.
Business event visitors bring, on average, three times as much economic return as
6

Page 16

sporting and cultural events visitors, with an average spend of £347 compared to
£80-100. As the capital city with good infrastructure, Cardiff has a key role to play in
assisting with the delivery of the Welsh Government’s aim of boosting business
events in Wales. Individually, business events are worth three times as much as
leisure events and they provide a steady stream of work throughout the year.
KF11. Smaller business events can be catered for by hotels, the Motorpoint Arena and City
Hall; the Principality Stadium can accommodate larger business events. Cardiff
currently lacks space for medium-sized business events. This Inquiry heard
overwhelming support for an Indoor Arena in Cardiff. Witnesses highlighted that they
felt this would boost Cardiff’s ability to host medium sized business events, as well
as entertainment events. It would also provide an essential building block to help
music artists to develop, rather than having to leave Cardiff to progress their careers.
KF12. The International Convention Centre Wales (ICCW), based in Newport, provides
opportunities for Cardiff to benefit from spill-over events and to attract delegates
seeking entertainment. The Inquiry heard that the ICCW is intended to benefit the
whole of Wales and that Cardiff is ideally placed to achieve this, being within only
half an hour travel time.
Future role of the Council

KF13. Cardiff Council has a key role to play to ensure Cardiff remains an event city.
Currently, the Council undertakes a number of aspects of events work including
attracting, retaining, promoting, managing and delivering events. Several
departments are involved in ensuring events are safe and secure and that residents
are not adversely affected, for example by road closures.

KF14. It is important that there is early consultation and involvement with local communities
that bear the brunt of hosting events, such as residents in city centre areas, giving
them the opportunity to share suggestions to manage and mitigate negative impacts.
There needs to be clear communication of forthcoming events and agreed event
plans at the earliest possible stage.

7

Page 17

KF15. The wider work of the Council, in terms of economic development and transport, is
needed to tackle the infrastructure needs of events, for example the development of
the Indoor Arena, work with the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal regarding the Metro,
and the broader work of economic development to boost the demand for destination
hotels. There is also a role for the Council in terms of investing in heritage buildings
capable of hosting business events, such as City Hall and St David’s Hall.
KF16. Other aspects of the Council’s work are also important to maximise the benefit of
events, such as marketing and tourism. There is an opportunity to improve the
marketing of events and to use events as an opportunity to promote and signpost to
the many other attractions of Cardiff. These include: joining the International
Congress and Convention Association (ICCA) to promote Cardiff as a host for
business events; enhancing the website listings of events to ensure these include
business events hosted in Cardiff as well as cultural and sporting events; and
utilising opportunities to promote Cardiff via television coverage of events that reach
a global audience, such as the Cardiff Triathlon.
KF17. Counter-terrorism is an important part of event planning; we have a responsibility to
safeguard those whom we proactively draw into event spaces. South Wales Police
highlighted to the Inquiry that there is an opportunity to boost hostile vehicle
mitigation and cut long-term costs, by investing in permanent infrastructure solutions
that have low community impact.
KF18. The Council currently provides direct and indirect resource for events and, in the
current challenging financial climate, is reviewing this support. There is a need to
ensure that investments in events align with key strategic direction, such as the
creative city and music strategy initiatives. The Council needs to re-evaluate the
support it gives to events, to ensure this is directed appropriately.
KF19. The main costs to the Council re events stem from staffing costs, with the bulk of
these being in the Events Team. The work of the Council’s Events Team is critical to
coordinate and monitor events and provide a top-level, strategic view across multiple
events. It manages the Events Liaison Panel and is on hand on event days to
respond to developing situations, working with partners to manage the city and
ensure crowd safety.
8

Page 18

KF20. There are significant costs to statutory partners incurred from hosting mega and
major events, with few routes available to recoup these costs. Statutory partners
stressed the need for Welsh Government and Cardiff Council to engage with them at
the earliest opportunity to ensure planning assumptions are well defined and agreed.
This will help to provide a clear basis and rationale for additional planning that may
be required and ensure appropriate resource allocation and mitigation is undertaken
to reduce impact on services and the public.
KF21. The Welsh Government see the Council’s Events Team as a key partner in their
work to attract major events to Wales, because of its professionalism and local
knowledge and experience; these attributes are highly valued by international event
organisers who recognise the team’s work on events such as UEFA Champions
League Final and the Volvo Ocean Series.
KF22. If the consultation savings proposals go ahead regarding deletion of posts, the
Events Team will be as slim as it can be whilst maintaining the level of service
needed for Cardiff to be an event city. Whilst there is an opportunity to reframe the
work of the team, the Inquiry heard that the team has a key role to play in the
following tasks:
a. Assist Welsh Government to attract mega and major events to Cardiff;
b. Work proactively to capitalise on the success of mega and major events held
here by continuing to build relationships with associated bodies to attract
further events to Cardiff;
c. Work proactively to attract business events, working with local universities,
the creative industries sector, life sciences and maritime sector to develop a
competitive offer;
d. Develop a signature event and ensure it delivers on its promise;
e. Coordinate partnership working and manage the city, keeping it moving whilst
events are underway and responding to challenges as they emerge on event
days.

9

Page 19

KF23. The Council needs to seize the opportunities that the International Convention
Centre Wales (ICCW) brings, building relationships with the Centre and ensuring
Cardiff is seen as the natural partner to provide additional facilities.

KF24. Cardiff would benefit from having a short Events Strategy that defines its ambition for
events, clarifying which type of events it wishes to attract and retain; this would help
to guide decisions as to which events to support and give transparency to investment
decisions.

KF25. There are very limited opportunities to increases resources for events. Public
finances are squeezed and the Council has to prioritise the delivery of statutory
services. The Council already achieves sponsorship for some events and recharges
full costs of direct service provision for events wherever possible; there is limited
scope to achieve more via these routes. Statutory partners emphasised they do not
receive additional funding for the work they undertake re events and that recovery of
events costs needs to be agreed in advance of permissions being granted.
KF26. This Inquiry explored options for raising monies via an Events Levy or Tourism Tax.
Both of these are unpopular with events stakeholders who believe that these would
be counter-productive and unsupportive of the message that Cardiff is an events city.
Members were struck by the fact that those UK cities that are considering introducing
these mechanisms are in a different position from Cardiff in that they have excess
visitors and tourists consistently throughout the year.
KF27. This Inquiry asked for views on whether it would be worthwhile considering moving
the Events Team into an Alternative Delivery Mechanism, such as an arms-length
company or public/ private partnership. Whilst some external witnesses felt that there
was scope for this to work, the overwhelming view from witnesses was that this
would lead to a loss of the benefits of having a council-based events team i.e.
connections to council teams and leverage with external partners. At the same time,
the Council would still have events-related costs, as staff would need to interact with
the events company.

10

Page 20

RECOMMENDATIONS
Having considered the evidence presented during the Inquiry, Members recommend that
the Cabinet:
R1. Task officers to develop a catalogue of available event spaces in Cardiff, which
specifies which types of events are suitable for each event space, avoiding the use
of narrow spaces that funnel and tunnel attendees and promoting the use of larger
spaces with clear escape routes, such as the Civic Centre and Callaghan Square.

R2. Task officers to investigate and report back on the feasibility of removing the existing
cobbled road divider on Boulevard de Nantes and replacing it with a safe, flexible
alternative that would allow the area to be opened up to provide a wider space for
major events.

R3. Continue to work to deliver an Indoor Arena in Cardiff, thus enabling Cardiff to host a
wider range of sporting, cultural and business events.
R4. Task officers to develop a short, precise Events Strategy, no longer than four A4
pages, that sets out the vision, aims and objectives of the Council re events. This
should commit Cardiff Council to work to make Cardiff a world leader in major
sporting and cultural events and in hosting business events and seek to boost the
positive legacy and impact of events.
R5. Task officers to work with partners to proactively plan an events programme that
smooths out the event calendar, by increasing events in the downtime, providing a
variety of events, including accessible and inclusive events that enhance the quality
and variety of life for Cardiff citizens, allowing local people to benefit from Cardiff’s
role in hosting events.
R6. Continue with its plans to develop a signature event that draws on the strengths of
Cardiff and heeds the advice garnered by this Inquiry with regard to timing, location,
content, structure and length.

11

Page 21

R7. Enhance the appeal and effectiveness of major events for local residents by tasking
officers to develop a standardised, consistent approach to communicating and
involving communities involved in events.
R8. Seize the opportunities highlighted by this Inquiry regarding increasing the return on
investment by maximising the marketing possibilities of events, as follows:
a. Register with the International Congress and Convention Association (ICCA)
at a cost of circa £3,500 per annum and reap the benefits of global marketing
and exposure of Cardiff’s ability to host business events;
b. Liaise with Always Aim High to ensure that the Cardiff Triathlon 2019 is
televised to a global audience via the medium of English, at a cost to Cardiff
Council of circa £8,000, and thus capitalise on the ability to promote Cardiff to
a worldwide audience.
c. Improve the events listing service provided in Cardiff by ensuring that Visit
Cardiff includes business events taking place in Cardiff as well as sporting
and cultural events
d. Work to promote sporting, cultural and community events in the City and
develop ways of signposting to the City’s attractions.
R9. Lobby UK government, via Core Cities and other appropriate mechanisms, for
additional monies to meet the costs to the local authority and statutory partners that
come from hosting events, which benefit the local economy and are much needed
but are an additional pressure on our limited resources.

R10. Task officers to continue their efforts to increase the sponsorship of events.
R11. Hold meetings at all levels with the International Convention Centre Wales (ICCW) to
ensure Cardiff accommodates and attract ICCW attendees and spin-off events.
R12. Work with statutory partners to explore the options to boost hostile vehicle mitigation
and cut long-term costs, by investing in permanent infrastructure solutions that have
low community impact
The Economy & Culture Scrutiny Committee invites the Cabinet to accept the above
recommendations and in their response, detail the work to be undertaken for those
12

Page 22

recommendations that are accepted, the resources identified to deliver these and the
timescales for implementation. Where any recommendations are rejected, the Committee
asks that the Cabinet Response details the reasons for this and any proposed alternative
approaches.

In addition, this Inquiry commends, to the Economy and Culture Scrutiny Committee, further
scrutiny regarding the tourism and marketing services in Cardiff, to investigate in more
detail some of the issues raised as part of this Inquiry.

13

Page 23

CONTEXT
Global market of Events
1. Events is a highly competitive, global market. There is a UK events co-ordination group
to ensure nations and regions work together rather than against one another. There is a
UK Strategy ‘Business Visits and Events Strategy’ (2015), which specifies the UK
Government’s approach to supporting these. This approach includes the formation of an
Events Industry board to support bidding and implementation of key events.

2. The Welsh Government is part of both the events co-ordination group and the Events
Industry Board. The latter works with VisitBritain1 to implement a ‘Business Event
Growth Programme’. This aims to support growth of the UK business events sector,
help attract international business events that align with the Government’s priority
industry sectors and grow the international profile of events in the UK.
3. VisitBritain promotes business events worldwide, under the ‘Events are GREAT’ brand.
‘Events are GREAT’ drives awareness of Britain’s great destinations and product,
highlighting the UK’s long history of research, innovation and high-quality infrastructure,
positioning the country as a leading destination for business events.

1

VisitBritain is the national tourism agency of Great Britain, its primary role being to promote Great Britain in
international markets.

14

Page 24

Events in UK2
4. The UK events industry is worth £42.3 billion to the UK economy in terms of direct
spend by event delegates, attendees and organisers. A substantially higher figure is
achieved once the wider economic impacts (indirect and induced spend and
accompanying persons’ spend) are included. The spend by those accompanying
attendees at business events is worth an additional £7.7 billion. The list below shows
the value of Britain’s Events Sector – direct spend by segment:









Conferences and meetings – £19.9 billion
Exhibitions and trade fairs – £11.0 billion
Incentive travel and performance improvement – £1.2 billion
Corporate hospitality and corporate events – £1.2 billion
Outdoor events – £1.1 billion
Festivals and cultural events – £1.1 billion
Music events – £1.3 billion
Sporting events – £2.3 billion

5. There are over 25,000 businesses in the sector including event organisers, venues,
destination marketing organisations (DMOs), destination management companies
(DMCs), exhibition contractors, event production companies, and a whole plethora of
suppliers: transport operators, telecommunications and IT companies, interpreters and
translators, speciality caterers, event insurance specialists, and many others.

6. The best estimates are that the sector sustains 570,000 full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs,
mostly in small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). The top 10 leading event
agencies in the UK have a turnover of more than £3.5 billion, much of which is
generated outside the UK.
7. There are over 1.3 million business events held in the UK annually. Those attending
these events spent just under £40 billion, and the segment generates more than £20.6
billion in gross value added (GVA) and £58.4 billion in gross domestic product (GDP).
The direct spending associated with UK meeting organisers is £24.7 billion. Of this
spend, £6.4 billion is funded by registration fees paid by delegates and attendees.
2

Taken from https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/blog/academy/uk-event-industry-in-numbers-ds00/

downloaded 25 October 2018

15

Page 25

Events in Wales
8. In 2010, Welsh Government published the national strategy for major events – ‘Event
Wales: A Major Events Strategy’. Its’ overarching aim is to create a systematic,
balanced and sustainable portfolio of world class events that deliver a longer term
economic, social and cultural legacy for the people of Wales.

9. The strategy sets out four categories of events that are supported by a Major Events
Unit whose role is to coordinate delivery, bid for opportunities and provide investment.
The four categories are set out below:
Mega Events
Peripatetic events - with a global reach, that, normally, require large-scale capital projects, such
as new venues and supporting infrastructure. They involve a major bidding effort and demand a
high level of government resource and support at all stages from bidding to delivery. Examples
include the Commonwealth Games and the Ryder Cup.

Major Events
Peripatetic events - large-scale international audiences, with extensive media coverage. These
international events are not “owned” by Wales and would have to choose Wales in the face of
international competition. Examples include an Ashes Test Match, rugby’s Heineken Cup Final
and the MOBO (Music of Black Origin) Awards.

Signature Events
Recurring events - with a strong international dimension, they are also either unique to Wales or
distinctively Welsh in flavour, and reflect our culture, traditions and values. Examples include
established events such as the Hay Festival, the National and Urdd Eisteddfodau, the Llangollen
International Musical Eisteddfod and the Royal Welsh Show, as well as newer events like the
Green Man and Wakestock festivals.

Growth Events
Smaller events - often new, with a footprint and focus that is regional, local or sector led and
which demonstrate the ambition and potential to evolve and grow to become Major or Signature
Events for Wales. Examples include the Cardiff Half Marathon and Cardiff Triathlon.

16

Page 26

10. The strategy provides a strategic rationale for major events and highlights key principles
that underpinned an assessment framework for selecting events to be supported.

11. In 2017, Economy Secretary for Wales, Ken Skates AM announced the Welsh
Government was taking a new approach to attract leading business events to Wales,
further showcasing the destination on an international stage. This ties the Welsh
Government’s approach in with the approach taken at a UK-wide level, as set out at the
start of this report:
‘Cabinet Secretary for the Economy and Transport, Ken Skates, said: “Wales has built
an enviable track record of successfully hosting many of the world’s biggest events and
following last weekend’s UEFA Champions League Final – the single biggest sporting
event of 2017 – we’re now looking at building on our experience to attract leading
business events to Wales.
“Wales currently attracts under 2% of the value of business conferences and meetings
for the UK as a whole but there is significant potential to draw events from UK and
international associations, public & third sector meetings, corporate meetings and team
building events to Wales’s award-winning venues and business destinations.
“A small dedicated team will be set up with its main goal to attract events aligned with
Wales’ key sectors and growth regions being targeted for inward investment, FDI3 and
economic development plus academic, scientific or medical excellence. Wales will be
showcased as an agile and innovative nation with a truly global outlook. Synergy with
target growth sectors such as Advanced Materials & Manufacturing, Financial &
Professional Services and Energy provide real opportunities to attract business events
to Wales. This is a pan-Wales initiative, spreading the business event impact across
Wales’ economy whilst also benefitting from the momentum provided by ICC Wales and
follows VisitBritain’s return to the international business events market, providing further
opportunities for Wales.’4

3

FDI = Foreign Direct Investment

4

https://gov.wales/newsroom/culture-tourism-sport/2017/170613-wales-developing-new-business-eventsapproach/?lang=en

17

Page 27

12. The Welsh Government states that Wales’ thriving events scene is contributing to the
Welsh economy as follows:
‘In 2016, the Welsh Government supported 35 major sporting and cultural events
across Wales. These attracted 348,000 visitors and generated a direct economic
impact of £53 million for the economy.’5
13. The Welsh Government’s Major Event Unit informed the Inquiry that its budget of £3.9
million generated £72.5 million in 2017/18 (including the Champions League Final) and
is on track to generate at least £50 million in 2018/19.

14. The Welsh Government is working to build an annual portfolio of events that creates a
critical mass for supply chains and retains talent in Wales, in order to strengthen the
longer-term economic legacy of events. It is investing in training and skills development
to boost new business opportunities re events.

Events in Cardiff
15. Cardiff’s event aspirations were first articulated in the 1990’s as part of the Council’s
2020 Vision. Events were identified as integral to developing Cardiff’s Capital city role –
the 2020 vision was not only about city building but also Nation building. Since the
opening of Wales Millennium Stadium to host the Rugby World Cup 1999, Cardiff has
been involved in hosting numerous international, sporting, cultural and community
events including:
a. FA Cup Finals
b. Heineken Cup Rugby Finals
c. 2009 Ashes cricket test matches
d. Olympic Football Matches 2012
e. Champions League Final 2017
f. Charity Shield Football League play-offs
g. Challenge Cup Rugby League
h. Rugby World Cup games

Ken Skates AM, Economy Secretary – quoted in https://gov.wales/newsroom/culture-tourismsport/2017/170412-wales-thriving-events-scene-contributing-to-the-welsh-economy/?lang=en
5

18

Page 28

i.

Cardiff Half Marathon

j.

World Half Marathon Championships 2016

k. Speedway Grand Prix
l.

Tour of Britain – Cycling

m. Boxing – Anthony Joshua matches
n. Wales Rally GB
o. Volvo Ocean Race – Cardiff Stopover
p. ICC Champions Trophy
q. National Armed Forces Day
r. Cardiff Festival
s. WOW on the Waterfront
t. NATO Conference 2014
u. National Eisteddfod
v. Arts Mundi
w. RHS Flower Show
x. City of the Unexpected - Roald Dahl Day
y.

Tafwyl… and more.

16. This Inquiry consistently heard that Cardiff puts on events well – showcasing and
dressing the city and creating a good atmosphere. Members were informed that Cardiff
has received positive feedback from event organisers who work all over the World:
‘UEFA and Volvo Ocean Race both very complimentary about Cardiff – Volvo said it
was one of the best stopovers of the series and UEFA thought it was an exemplar in
terms of a small-city model for hosting future UEFA events. They both praised the warm
welcome and atmosphere created as well as the local event management and interface
with event staff.’
Gwilym Evans – Major Events Unit, Welsh Government

17. This Inquiry heard that Cardiff is important for events for the following reasons:
o As the capital city, international event companies want to be seen in Cardiff
o As the capital city, it is expected to host certain events for Wales
o Cardiff provides a fantastic canvas for events, with the stadium, Bute Park, arcades,
castle and civic centre on a postage stamp area – this is unique
19

Page 29

o Cardiff has a range of wonderful assets to use as event spaces, including Cardiff
Bay and Barrage, Oval Basin, Roath Park, as well as city centre assets.
o Cardiff is small, compact and easily walkable with good infrastructure.

18. Cardiff is also seen as important with regard to assisting with the delivery of the Welsh
Government’s aim of boosting business events in Wales:
“.. the Welsh Capital is raising its game in the business sector, with a recent industry
survey voting Cardiff as the 6th best location across the UK for holding business
conferences and events… Whether the requirement is for the corporate sector,
agencies or associations, it is proven that Cardiff can deliver. The opportunity to grow
and further establish ourselves in this sector will be realised through the collaborative
approach of the Cardiff Capital Region. …“The city may be leading the way in Wales,
but our focus has to be wider and with the continued investment and growth of our
capital city, the opportunities to further expand and establish ourselves in this sector are
vast. Therefore seeing Wales invest further in this sector is great news for the industry,
the country and the capital.”6

19. This Inquiry heard that, since 2012, the Welsh Government’s Major Events Unit has
invested in excess of £23 million into 44 events in the capital. The economic return on
these events, to the city, has been in excess of £227 million7.

20. However, this Inquiry heard that there is recognition that the current event programme
has too many peaks and troughs, including multiple events being held at the same time,
rather than a more even programme of events across the calendar. This prevents
Cardiff and the surrounding region from maximising the economic benefit of events, as
visitors stay elsewhere.
21. The current event programme also has a negative impact on the reputation of Cardiff as
it leads to accommodation providers increasing prices, demand pressures on the
hospitality sector and pressures on the transport system. These issues are explored in
more detail below.

6

Extract taken from: https://gov.wales/newsroom/culture-tourism-sport/2017/170613-wales-developing-newbusiness-events-approach/?lang=en
7

Please note this figure does not include the economic impact for the Volvo Ocean Series. It does include Speedway
funding for 2019/20 and 2020/21.

20

Page 30

22. The Inquiry heard agreement from the Council and other witnesses that there is a need
to smooth out the event programme by increasing the number of events held in the
downtime, such as business events held in the city during the week and a signature
event held in the quieter weeks.
23. In terms of multiple events being held at the same time, Members heard that
commercial venues book sporting and music events when they are available, according
to tour programmes and sporting fixtures. It is not within the gift of the Council to stop
this; however, all parties work together to discuss how best to manage events.

Cardiff’s Infrastructure re Events
Available Space for Events

24. Overall, Cardiff has good infrastructure for events, which will be enhanced by the
development of an Indoor Arena with capacity for 10,000 – 15, 000 people. Members
heard that, currently, the lack of this size venue means that Cardiff is unable to attract
certain events, including a third of major, international sporting events that require this
size venue. Members also heard that the lack of this venue is leading to an exodus of
local music talent, as people leave Cardiff to develop their careers. In addition, an
Indoor Arena provides an opportunity to create an environment where business events
happen every day of the working week.

25. In terms of outdoor space, the Inquiry heard that Cardiff has a limited amount of
available outdoor performance space and so needs to be creative in order to maximise
these; therefore, events that move around the city work well e.g. Step into Christmas,
City of the Unexpected etc.

26. The Inquiry heard that there is untapped potential for hosting events in Cardiff Bay; this
needs to form part of an overall Strategy for Cardiff Bay. This would also assist in
boosting recognition of the maritime heritage of Cardiff.
27. Members heard that care needs to be exercised when thinking through which locations
host events in order to ensure there are appropriate escape routes. The Inquiry heard
that the civic area around City Hall provides good escape routes and gateways that can
21

Page 31

be made secure. There is an opportunity to increase the available event space by
replacing the cobbled road divider on Boulevard de Nantes with a safe but flexible
alternative. With regard to St Mary’s Street, Members heard concerns that the street
furniture narrows the usable space for events; however, Members were informed that
some of this is needed for health and safety reasons. Therefore, care needs to be taken
to put in place appropriate crowd control strategies.

City of the Unexpected - Roald Dahl Day
This Inquiry received very positive feedback on the ‘City of the Unexpected – Roald
Dahl Day’ in terms of its content and appeal across the generations. Particular mention
was made of the picnic in Bute Park, where families gathered and enjoyed the event
together.
Members heard that the footfall for the event was even higher than anticipated,
encouraged by the unusually warm weather for the time of year and the fact that
families could enjoy the event at a reasonable cost. The event was also good for local
businesses, as attendees moved around the city centre, from one spectacle to another.
The event received high levels of media coverage, with some of the images becoming
iconic, such as the tightrope walk with Cardiff Castle in the background and the Giant
Peach on Castle Street.
However, statutory partners expressed the view that lessons need to be learned
concerning planning to accommodate safely people in and out of event spaces,
particularly spaces that include St. Mary’s Street, which has limited escape routes.
Members heard from a senior officer who had been in the control room for the event
who stressed that colleagues worked together to address emerging issues re crowd
control and that lessons had been learnt with regard to mitigating some of the
challenges posed by these types of events.
Overall, Members concluded that events such as this are fantastic for the citizens of
Cardiff and for local businesses as they are inclusive, mesmerizing and bring
opportunities for people to experience arts and culture in a new way. However, the
lessons learned from this event must be applied to future, similar events in terms of
event planning, event management and the use of St Mary’s Street and the city centre.

22

Page 32

Hotels
Hotel Capacity

28. This Inquiry heard that there are circa 5 - 6,000 hotel rooms in Cardiff, which together
with B&B and Airbnb equate to circa 8,000-room capacity in Cardiff. The bed capacity in
Cardiff is not sufficient to meet demand if there is more than one major event in Cardiff.
This results in visitors staying outside Cardiff, sometimes outside Wales, and travelling
to the event. This means Cardiff, and the surrounding region, has to cope with all the
demand pressures of hosting events but does not receive all the economic benefits
flowing from events. This could be addressed by ensuring either that events do not
clash or that bed capacity is increased.

Hotel Prices

29. This Inquiry heard that the current ‘feast or famine’ event programme in Cardiff drives a
pattern of hotel prices ‘spiking’ around major events. This is damaging to the reputation
of Cardiff; Members heard this does not happen in cities with a more even events
calendar and where there is co-ordinated marketing of the city.

Hotel Investment

30. Circa 38% of Cardiff’s bed stock is in budget hotels. Whilst budget hotels have a role to
play to boost staying visitor numbers, Members heard that Cardiff would benefit from
having more destination hotels to increase the economic return from visitors. However,
Members heard that hotel companies are investing in Bristol rather than Cardiff, as the
return on investment yield is higher, due to higher occupancy rates. Witnesses stated
that this was due to Bristol Council having a joined-up policy approach, with coordinated marketing of Bristol.

31. The Inquiry asked officers for their views on this and heard that Cardiff Council is
adopting various approaches to boost inward investment and increase the number of
high-income jobs, to help boost demand for high-cost hotels.

23

Page 33

Transport

32. Members heard that the road network in Cardiff and the surrounding region copes with
event traffic. Witnesses highlighted that the removal of M4 tolls will mean that business
events are more likely to come to Wales – both to the new International Convention
Centre Wales (ICCW) and to Cardiff.

33. Professor Stevens highlighted that, were Cardiff to hold a signature event which
attracted day visitors, it may need to think through how day visitors move quickly around
the city to various signature event locations, for example via guided tours or by changing
open-top bus routes.
34. With regard to trains, several witnesses stated that currently, train services cease too
early in the evening and that there are not enough trains on a Sunday. Witnesses hoped
that the proposed Metro would help boost sustainable travel, both in the city region and
from England.

Hostile vehicle mitigation
35. Counter-terrorism is an important part of event planning; we have a responsibility to
safeguard those whom we proactively draw into event spaces. South Wales Police
highlighted the opportunity to boost hostile vehicle mitigation and cut long-term costs, by
investing in permanent infrastructure solutions that have low community impact.

WHY HAVE EVENTS?
36. This Inquiry explored the positive and negative impact of events on citizens, the city and
the council. Members were concerned to understand the economic and social impact on
residents, local businesses, particularly smaller businesses, and the council, as well as
the environmental impact of events.

37. This Inquiry looked at the industry-standard toolkit for assessing the impact of events,
provided by eventIMPACTS. A summary is provided at Appendix 1, with more
information available at: http://www.eventimpacts.com/
24

Page 34

Economic Impact
38. Overall, there is measurable economic benefit from events, as the information in point
19 demonstrates. Different types of events have a different economic impact:
o

Business events generate more economic benefit than other events. On
average, a business event visitor spends three times as much as a leisure
event visitor, with an average spend of £347 compared to £80-£100. This is
because business visitors are willing to pay more for accommodation on
corporate account, travel at peak time and spend more in the local economy via
expenses account. However, a business events visitor may not come to Cardiff
for an event as often as a leisure event visitor may.

o Sporting events tend to have only one night benefit for hoteliers and other
businesses.
o Events for national celebrations, such as St David’s Day, have limited economic
impact as primarily attracts day visitors.
o Events to attract international visitors, which tend to be in the cultural sphere,
have higher economic spend as visitors stay longer.

39. The Inquiry asked which events had the most economic impact overall and heard that
the Rugby World Cup and Champions League Final would be top of the list. The Welsh
Government’s Major Events Unit highlighted that, whilst major sporting events grab
media headlines, cultural events support a lot of business in the Welsh economy and
many cover areas that Welsh Government wish to grow, such as creative industries.

40. This Inquiry explored the impact of events on small businesses in Cardiff. Members
heard that the Council works to promote a ‘good neighbour’ concept, encouraging event
companies to use local businesses and working to avoid businesses feeling ‘locked out’
by road closures. Members heard that businesses in the centre of Cardiff understand
that events give Cardiff good publicity and so help their business in the long run. Some
businesses naturally benefit more than others, for example food and beverage retailers,
and events that last a period of time and go across the city centre, such as City of the
Unexpected, are better for retailers than those focused in a narrow area. Events that
require a lot of road closures and barriers, such as the Wales Velothon, have a more
limited benefit to retailers.
25

Page 35

Costs to Council re Events
41. This Inquiry heard that there are costs to the Council re events held in Cardiff. These
costs come from direct contribution to events as well as ensuring that events are
delivered and managed in a way that minimises the negative impact on residents. These
additional costs vary according to the nature of an event but can include:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Road closures
Traffic management
Street cleansing
Trading Standards
Food hygiene
Events Team
Loss of parking revenue.

42. As an example, this Inquiry heard that it costs circa £80k - £100K per annum for street
cleansing after events. There is no mechanism for the Council to recharge indoor
venues for street cleansing costs; venues meet their own cleansing costs but the
Council bears responsibility for ensuring the streets are clean. Councillor Bradbury –
Cabinet Member (Culture and Leisure) made the point that the Council’s cleansing
operatives do a really good job of cleaning up after events, regularly removing litter and
waste swiftly so that a few hours after the event it has all been removed. This point was
re-iterated by For Cardiff, who stated that the street cleansing services is a good service
and that, by 9am the day after an event, the streets are clear.

43. Some events generate income for the Council from event parking. The Inquiry heard
that large one-off concerts/ events at the Principality Stadium, which generate large
numbers of spectators from outside Cardiff and Wales, lead to higher generation of
parking income. This is due to the location of the Principality Stadium. The Cardiff City
Football Stadium, which has its own dedicated car park, does not generate parking
income to offset against the costs of required highway restrictions on event days.

44. The Inquiry heard that, wherever possible, the Council seeks to recoup costs from event
organisers. The full costs of road closures, traffic management and loss of parking
revenue is passed on to event organisers.

26

Page 36

45. Councillor Goodway made the point that local authorities across the UK are bearing the
costs generated by hosting events and do not receive additional funding to offset these.
This is something that the Core Cities group has discussed and has raised with central
Government – events benefit the local economy but at a cost to the local authority.
Costs to statutory partners re Events
46. The Inquiry heard that events can lead to significant additional costs to the Health
Board, Fire & Rescue Services, Police and Public Health Wales, including:
o Additional staff on duty to cope with increased demand and to provide timely
community-based services despite road closures
o Additional equipment for staff to access in community locations
o Providing security-cleared treatment areas
o Enhancement of routine surveillance for communicable disease
o Staffing time to plan for events, which can be significant for major and mega events.

47. The Inquiry heard statutory bodies that cover Cardiff do not receive extra funding in
recognition of the additional burdens they face in managing events in the city. Members
heard that this point has been made to the South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner
and that there is support from For Cardiff to lobby the Home Office for extra monies for
Cardiff.

48. Witnesses from statutory partners stressed the need for earlier liaison regarding events
in order to identify potential impacts and afford the opportunity to identify projected costs
and agree the mechanism for reimbursement.

Social Impact
49. Members heard that events have a positive social impact, in the following ways:
o Contribute to health, wellbeing and send a positive message re population health
and wellbeing, particularly sporting events.
o Provide volunteering opportunities and community engagement
o Bring culture and regeneration to cities and enhance a feel-good factor
o Promote social and community cohesion, bringing people together, tackling isolation
o They bring a sense of wonder to people, helping to inspire and enabling participants
to have tangible experiences.
27

Page 37

50. However, Members heard that some events can have a negative social impact in that
residents can feel ‘priced out’ and excluded by events that cost too much. In addition,
residents can feel excluded by events that ‘close-off’ or ‘close-down’ the city, which is
one reason the Council works to ensure traffic management for events has the least
impact on residents as possible.

51. In addition, from their own work as ward councillors, Members are aware that local
communities can feel that they are not as involved in event planning as they would wish
to be. This point was emphasised by a written submission from a group of Pontcanna
and Riverside residents who reflected on their experiences arising from the planning,
communication, delivery and impact of Council, private sector and community-led
events. The submission included the following statement:
‘.. there is inadequate consultation and involvement in relation to events that directly
impact residents and the community.. they have little input into the event planning
that so directly affects their lives.’
52. The written submission suggested that the Council develop ‘a standardised, consistent
approach to communicating and involving communities affected by events’, thus helping
to ‘ensure the maximum level of community involvement’ and the ‘highest level of
support from local communities’ for events. This could include:
o ‘An overall events calendar shared with the local community (either directly or
using the Council’s website).’
o ‘A commitment to specific aspects of community involvement (public meetings,
proposal circulation, community input process etc.)’
o ‘A stage within the process through which the local community has the
opportunity to identify potential impacts from the proposed event together with
suggestions for their management and mitigation.’
o ‘Marketing Plan – early, comprehensive communication will enable local
businesses to take advantage of the commercial opportunities provided by
visitor numbers and to provide additional support and value.’

53. The Inquiry was struck by the willingness of residents to work with Cardiff Council and
other partner agencies, taking an active role to provide input into the events plan and
working to ensure the smooth and effective implementation of events.
28

Page 38

Environmental impact
54. This Inquiry sought evidence from event organisers on the work they undertake to
minimise the environmental impact of events and work to make events sustainable. This
included travel impact, waste impact and overall carbon footprint. Event organisers
explained that they take various steps to minimise the environmental impact. For
example, Run 4 Wales who organise the Cardiff Half Marathon, worked with Cardiff
University to explore its’ travel impact and found that:
‘earlier and more frequent public transport on race day, car sharing initiatives and
sufficient secure bicycle storage facilities could encourage runners to travel in a
more sustainable way.’8
55. Run 4 Wales Chief Executive Matt Newman said:
“Runners and supporters come from far and wide to experience our capital city on

race day, and organisers will continue the dialogue with local travel providers with
the aim of not only reducing traffic in and around Cardiff, but also to improve the
overall sustainability of the race.
“One of Run 4 Wales’ main objectives is to minimise the environmental impact of our
race catalogue, and we are now far better equipped to reduce the Cardiff
University/Cardiff Half Marathon’s carbon footprint.”

Media Coverage
56. The industry-standard eventsIMPACT toolkit sets out ways to assess the ‘advertising
equivalent’ from media coverage of events, in terms of profile and exposure to various
audiences. The inquiry heard from Welsh Government that they estimated that the
Champions League Final 2017 would be worth £50 million to Wales in ‘advertising
equivalent’ as an estimated 200 million people in 180 countries watched the event9. The
Inquiry also heard from Always Aim High that the Cardiff Triathlon 2018, which hosted
the British Championship, attracted a global audience of tens of millions of views.

8

https://wales247.co.uk/cardiff-half-marathon-runners-add-in-excess-of-2-3m-to-local-economy/

9

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-39907810 downloaded 25 October 2018

29

Page 39

The following provide an example of the range of impacts that events have:
Cardiff Half Marathon 2015:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Over 700 volunteers across 2 days
TV coverage on BBC network
More than £2m raised for charities and good causes
£1.6 million direct economic impact for Wales
Average number of days attended = 1 day
Average bed nights = 1
Average daily spend (non-accom) = £34
Average accommodation spend per bed night per person = £29
61% day visitors
67% local spectators
9% non-commercial stayers
30% commercial stayers

Cardiff Half Marathon 2017:
o £2.3 million spend in Cardiff
o £205,000 spend in the rest of Wales.10
Cardiff Triathlon 2018:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

1,257 attendees
3,877 spectators
Attendee spending = £302,964
Spectator spending = £647,418
Average number of nights in Cardiff = 3
Number of Day visitors = 217
Organiser spend in Host Economy = £143,185
Direct Economic Impact = £1,093,567
Jobs Supported = 2211

National Eisteddfod 2018:
o 150,000 visitors over the 2 week period.12
Winter Wonderland 2018:
o 250,000 visitors over the 6 –week period.13

10

https://wales247.co.uk/cardiff-half-marathon-runners-add-in-excess-of-2-3m-to-local-economy/

11

Economic Impact report provided by Always Aim High, event organisers for Cardiff Triathlon

12

https://www.cardiffnewsroom.co.uk/releases/c25/18168.html

13

Cllr Bradbury’s statement - http://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=14839#mgDocuments&LLL=0

30

Page 40

57. This Inquiry was interested to understand resident and visitor views on events in Cardiff.
The Cardiff Research Centre provided a review of Cardiff Council Ask Cardiff surveys
and budget consultations that have asked respondents for their views on events. This is
attached at Appendix 2.

58. This Inquiry also requested that the Media and Communications team carry out
sentiment analysis of social media comments on two recent events in Cardiff; the City of
the Unexpected – Roald Dahl Day; and the first Anthony Joshua boxing match. This
showed:
City of the Unexpected – Roald Dahl Day
o 108 Positive comments
o 108 Neutral comments
o 56 Negative comments

Anthony Joshua Boxing Match
o 60 Positive comments
o 73 Neutral comments
o 53 Negative comments

31

Page 41

COUNCIL’S CURRENT ROLE RE EVENTS
59. Cardiff Council has a commitment to ensuring a full programme of international events,
as stated in the current Corporate Plan – Delivering Capital Ambition 2018-2021
‘Cardiff has developed a deserved reputation as a sporting and cultural Capital City. ...
We will continue to invest in the city’s sporting infrastructure and ensure a full
programme of international events.’
60. This commitment is supported by the following objectives and performance measures:


Develop a new major events strategy by 2019 to deliver events in the city for the
next 5 years.



Prioritise the delivery of a new Multi-Purpose Indoor Arena in the best possible
location to ensure it can attract premier national and international events.
o Number of staying visitors - 2% Increase (Approx. 40,000)
o Total visitor numbers - 3% Increase (Approx. 630,000)

61. Cardiff Council supports events in Cardiff via the work of a dedicated events team,
frontline services such as parks, trading standards, environmental health and traffic
management and officers based in tourism and in marketing. As well as staff time and
expertise, the Council provides some financial support to a number of events. Further
details are provided below.

Council Budgets for Events
62. Cardiff Council’s budgets for events have reduced over the last few years, as the
Council ensures statutory services are maintained at a time of increased demand and
reduced funding. This has resulted in less monies being available for events as well as
less staff being available to undertake the work associated with events.
63. Cardiff Council’s budgets for events include:
o Permanent staffing budgets (e.g. the events team, elements of the tourism team
that work to attract and retain business events, and elements of other service
areas staff time that work on events, such as highways)
32

Page 42

o Temporary staffing budgets (e.g. agency/ casual)
o Operational costs (e.g. events insurance, equipment, storage units for
equipment)
o Marketing budgets, and
o Financial contributions to events.
64. The Cardiff Harbour Authority also has a budget for events, including the Cardiff
International Food & Drink Festival, Harbour Festival and Extreme Sailing event.

65. The overall budget for events in 2018-19 is £1,242,000, with £292,290 of this coming
from the Cardiff Harbour Authority. These costs are offset by income earned from hire of
venues and equipment as well as recharges to cover staff costs, advertising costs and
the cost of service provision. The full cost of these is now passed onto the event
companies, whereas in previous years the Council met some of the costs. Event
Companies recognise the need to pay appropriate fees for the work provided by Cardiff
Council and are used to doing this elsewhere in the UK. In addition, income is raised via
ticket sales, sponsorship and partnering arrangements. The total income predicted to be
raised in 2018-19 is £710,120, resulting in a net cost of £531,880.

Proposed budget savings 2019/20
66. The Consultation Budgetary Proposals include:
o savings of £245,000 from the Council’s budgets for events, including a
reduction in support for specific events and a reduction of 1 FTE;
o savings of £260,000 from the Cardiff Harbour Authority, including cessation of
the Harbour Authority Festival, a reduction in support for the Cardiff
International Food & Drink Festival and a reduction of 1 FTE.

67. The Inquiry heard from Kathryn Richards, Head of Culture, Venues, Tourism and Events
that the events team would then be as slim as it can be whilst maintaining the level of
service needed for Cardiff to be an event city. The Leader of the Council expressed his
view that there is a minimal level of staffing that is needed to deliver events; certain
things need to be done by the Council.

33

Page 43

The Council Events team
68. The Council events team function:
‘provides our city with one of its most important tools in attracting those who want to live,

work, learn, visit and invest in our City. The arts, tourism, heritage, cultural & sporting
events and attractions together with the cultural and creative industries that support
them all play a fundamental role in the Cardiff economy.’14
69. The Inquiry heard that the Council’s Events Team bring expertise to tackle the
challenges of being a compact city that is also an events city and to ensure events run
smoothly with minimal negative impact on residents. The Leader of the Council,
Councillor Huw Thomas, stated that the Council Events Team acts as the glue holding
Team Cardiff partners together, taking a holistic view of events.
70. The Council’s Event team meet monthly with the Welsh Government’s Major Events
Unit to horizon scan and plan forthcoming events. Members heard that the team are an
important partner for Welsh Government; the commitment, professional competence
and local knowledge of the Council’s Event team has helped to strengthen Wales’
hosting capability.
71. External witnesses to the Inquiry highlighted the following positive points re the
Council’s events team:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

provide overview and strategic approach
coordinate and monitor events to avoid complications
sensitivity and understanding of how the City functions
excellent network of contacts
excellent local knowledge and heritage of infrastructure information
understand statutory partners perspectives
provide access to council venues
facilitate services required
provide advice and assistance
have equipment for hire and contact details of other hire companies.

72. However, some witnesses stated that, over the years, they have built their own
relationships within the Council and no longer go through the Events Team.

14

Economic Directorate Delivery Plan 2018-19

34

Page 44

73. The Inquiry heard from some witnesses that the Council is bureaucratic, having to take
decisions through appropriate channels and not being able to react swiftly. Officers
countered this by explaining that the Council takes an overarching view of events across
the city and may have to wait to resolve issues on one event before being able to give a
decision on a separate event.
Partnership Working
74. There is national guidance that local authorities should work with statutory agencies via
a Safety Advisory Group, to plan for events, including undertaking an impact
assessment. In Cardiff, the Safety Advisory Group is known as the Event Liaison Panel
in order to distinguish it from a pre-existing Stadium Advisory Group. The Events Team
lead on the co-ordination of the Events Liaison Panel. Officers explained that, for larger
events, there will also be a specific Events Board, that acts as the local organising
committee for that event.
75. The Inquiry heard complimentary feedback from statutory partners regarding the Event
Liaison Panel, stating that there is trust and communication, with more frequent early
indication of events.

Highways
76. Members heard mixed views regarding events-related highways work. Statutory
partners were appreciative of the work undertaken to share information, plan road
closures and put in place traffic management arrangements that minimised the impact
on the delivery of essential services, such as community based health and social care.
77. However, several event organisers highlighted issues relating to Highways, as follows:
o Cardiff Council expects them to do more in Cardiff re highways than in other
local authorities where they deliver events. Officers responded that Members
had made it clear that they expected there to be a ‘gold standard’ of service for
residents and visitors re traffic management to ensure road closures and
diversions do not have a negative impact.
o Event organisers queried why they are not permitted to use private traffic
management companies in Cardiff, to prepare and deliver an event traffic

35

Page 45

management plan. They explained they are able to do this in other cities where
they deliver events, such as Bristol and Leeds. Officers explained that the
Council keeps responsibility for event traffic management in order to retain
control and provide staff with local knowledge. This ensures that the negative
impact on residents is reduced as much as possible and protects the Council
from reputational damage should event traffic management go wrong.
o Traffic management costs are rising year on year. Officers responded that the
Council now passes on the full costs of event traffic management but does not
charge more than this.

Liaison with hotels
78. The Inquiry heard concerns that the relationship between Cardiff Council and the Cardiff
Hoteliers Association has worsened, with liaison becoming poorer. Officers responded
that they have agreed to meet the Chair, Cardiff Hoteliers Association to discuss their
particular concerns, including the use of the Cardiff Commitment, Group Max booking
system and subvention funds.
79. Officers highlighted that there needs to be trust and engagement across the whole of
the hotel sector that use these systems, not just Cardiff Hotelier Association members,
in order for commercially sensitive information to be shared; there has to be agreement
amongst hotels not to ‘poach’ business.

Marketing of Cardiff
80. The Inquiry heard that it is important for Cardiff to market itself appropriately, both in
terms of promoting events to attract visitors and in terms of using events to advertise
and signpost to Cardiff’s other attractions to promote return visits.
81. Cardiff Hoteliers Association stated that
‘Cardiff is suffering from not having a DMO15 – Cardiff Hoteliers Association would like
Cardiff & Co to return to promote and sell Cardiff. In a competitive market, the lack of a
DMO is making a significant difference to Cardiff, we are losing compared to markets
such as Bristol where the DMO is part of a joined up policy approach.’

15

DMO = Destination Marketing Organisation

36

Page 46

82. The Inquiry also heard that:
‘Cardiff Council needs to recognise it is competing against cities such as Belfast and
Glasgow, which have significantly more money invested into Events. For example,
Glasgow has a subvention funds of £750k per annum with the budget guaranteed over a
7-year period. They have a team of people working with defined roles that link to
sectors, academia and industry. They work within their own marketing bureau that
works to co-ordinate events and tie these into other work in the city, such as linking
genetics conference with work by local universities re genetics. Cardiff Council could do
the same, it could work with local universities, creative sector, life sciences, cancer
research etc. and ask them to be ambassadors for Cardiff when they attend events
elsewhere, ask them to spread the word about how good Cardiff is at hosting events.
The Council could follow up these leads and market Cardiff, offer City Hall, offer access
to the Lord Mayor and a hosted reception, meet the offer coming from other cities and
find something in addition to mark Cardiff out from competitors.’16
83. Cardiff Hoteliers Association stressed that they want to work with the Council to share
their time, expertise and funds to promote Cardiff and boost tourism.
84. The Leader of the Council, Councillor Huw Thomas, confirmed that the Council would
undertake Destination Marketing in-house and would not be re-introducing an external
vehicle to carry out this work. This is because an external DMO model had proven to be
unviable with all former organisations proving unable to raise enough money to be selffunding and continuing to rely on Council funding too heavily. The DMO activities are
currently undertaken in-house and this works better and costs less.
85. The Inquiry also heard that, currently, Cardiff is not maximising marketing possibilities
associated with specific events. Always Aim High, the Welsh events company that
organises and delivers the Cardiff Triathlon, would like to work with Cardiff Council’s
marketing and tourism teams to use the Cardiff Triathlon to market Cardiff more
effectively. They highlighted that the Cardiff Triathlon 2018 hosted the British
Championship and received worldwide TV coverage to tens of millions of views. This
year, S4C are televising the Cardiff Triathlon 2019 and the company producing this has
offered to provide an English Medium version for circa £8,000. This version would then
16

Heledd Williams – Head of Business Events, Welsh Government

37

Page 47

be available to worldwide television audiences and is likely to garner similar audience
figures as in 2018.

Tourism
86. This Inquiry heard that events lead to an increase in tourism, both day visitors and
longer-stay visitors, because people who attend events as either delegates, participants
or spectators often want to return to the area as a tourist. Visit Wales’ research17 found
that tourists and visitors spend more than £17 million a day in Wales, amounting to £6.3
billion a year18.

87. The latest tourism figures for Cardiff are from the STEAM survey 2017, which shows the
following:
o The total economic impact of tourism for 2017 is £1.3 billion, 7% increase on
2016 and 6% on 2015.
o During 2017, 21.30 million people visited the city last year, 5% more than the
year before.
o 2.06 million of those visitors stayed overnight, a 2% increase from 2016
o 19.24 million people visited for the day, an increase of 5% from 2016
o 14,520 FTE jobs supported by tourism spend, a 4.2% increase from 2016.

88. In March 2018, Cardiff Council and partners hosted a Cardiff Tourism Summit, at which
the Leader, Cllr Huw Thomas, said:
"The tourism sector in Cardiff is hugely important, supporting more than 14,000 jobs in
the city and injecting £1.3 billion into our economy. Working together with partners from
all across the city has been vital in achieving this.”19

17
18

19

Available at: Tourism statistics and research section.
https://llyw.cymru/topics/culture-tourism-sport/tourism/?lang=en
https://www.cardiffnewsroom.co.uk/releases/c25/18168.html

38

Page 48

89. At the same event, Cabinet Member for Investment and Development Cllr Russell
Goodway said:
"Tourism has played a critical role in the city's economic success in past decades. We
are committed to continuing this success by working with partners in the sector to invest
in projects such as the new Indoor Arena to attract more visitors to our city."20
90. The tourism team, Visit Cardiff, secured the Best Event Award, National Tourism
Awards for Wales 2017, in recognition of its hosting and promotion of the UEFA
Champions League.

FUTURE OF EVENTS IN CARDIFF

91. This Inquiry has explored what the programme of events in Cardiff should be and what
the role of the Council should be regarding events in the future. With regard to the
programme of events, Members explored which types of events to attract and retain.
With regard to the role of the Council, Members asked for views on whether the Council
should work to attract, retain, promote, manage and/ or deliver events. Members also
explored what level of resource should the Council invest in events and whether there
are alternative ways of resourcing events. The Inquiry’s findings are detailed below.

FUTURE PROGRAMME OF EVENTS

92. Members heard that it is important that a future programme of events appeals to visitors,
tourists, residents and workers and that it enables all to participate. It should be varied
and balanced, both in terms of a mix of leisure events aimed across the generations,
and in terms of events being held throughout the year.
93. A more balanced calendar of events would provide a more level platform, negating the
current ‘feast and famine’ approach and avoiding Cardiff being overwhelmed by

20

As above

39

Page 49

simultaneous events. This would enable Cardiff and the surrounding region to maximise
the economic benefit of events.
94. The Inquiry heard that there are two key ways of achieving this: developing a ‘signature
event’ for Cardiff; and boosting the number of business events held in Cardiff. Sporting
events and music events will come to Cardiff of their own accord.
Signature Event
95. The Inquiry found overwhelming recognition and support for Cardiff developing its own
signature event. Most of those who spoke to the Inquiry are party to on-going
discussions to create a signature event, working together to agree a clear sense of
purpose, policy focus and direction that draws on Cardiff’s strengths.

96. The Inquiry heard that care needs to be taken to ensure the right decisions are made
regarding the timing, location, content, structure and length of the signature event.
Professor Stevens highlighted the following:
Length

Need something that brings in people over a period of time. It
needs to last at least 10 days and cover two weekends.

Structure

Create a highlight each end of the event, to frame it, as they do for
the Eisteddfod. The highlight events will not necessarily be the main
draw for visitors and it is important to have good quality product in
the intervening period. Visitors may come on a Wednesday in the
middle of the event – they need to feel part of the event, to see that
it is happening and to feel the event is on-going; otherwise the
reputational damage is immense.

Timing

Ask Cardiff Hoteliers Association when is their quiet time, when
they would most benefit from bringing visitors into Cardiff – there is
little point in putting on signature event when hotels are already full,
as Cardiff will not benefit from full economic impact.

Location

Need to ensure signature event covers more than just the city
centre, that it includes all neighbourhoods and all communities.
Need to have something that all visitors and residents can
experience, whether in the city centre, libraries, shops, local
shopping centres etc. Tourists want to do what locals do, to
experience locals’ way of life, which means content needs to be in
places locals visit – such as pubs, restaurants, local shops etc. This
is good as it helps to spread the benefits of event.

Content

It would be good to have a playful element as part of the signature
event.

40

Page 50

97. Members sought Cardiff Hoteliers Association’s view on a good time for a signature
event in Cardiff and heard that either January – March, except for time of Six Nations, or
August/ September would be their preference, with the latter being ideal.

98. In terms of length of the signature event, Members heard that it is more important to
ensure the signature event delivers on its promises and builds sustainably than to try to
achieve a long festival straight away. Professor Stevens highlighted that it has taken
Edinburgh several decades to progress from a signature festival of a few weeks to the
current programme that spans months. It is hard work to keep delivering on the promise
of a signature event for that long, particularly initially, and we should not expect Cardiff
to do that straight off.
99. Members heard that it is important the signature event fits with the image of Cardiff, its
DNA, and that branding of the event will be important. Members asked witnesses for
their views on suitable themes for a signature event and heard that it was important for
the signature event to deliver to the World and have economic impact, rather than being
inward looking and/ or community focused. Several witnesses felt that a music-themed
signature event would work for Cardiff and this received strong support from the Cabinet
Members who attended the Inquiry.
100.

The Inquiry explored whether existing relevant events would fit into a signature

event, for example if the signature event was music-based, would Cardiff Singer of the
World form part of it? It heard that there are events in Cardiff that could be brought
together and utilised as part of the signature event, which would enable them to punch
above their weight, as part of a bigger package. The Inquiry heard that existing relevant
events that receive Council support should be challenged to change their timings to fit
with the signature event, to help achieve better impact.

101.

Cabinet Members told the Inquiry that it is highly likely that the signature event will

involve music but also other elements, such as Cardiff Contemporary Art
Commissioning. The Inquiry heard that it is recognised that it is important that the
signature event is specific to Cardiff, with an unexpected element that gets media
coverage and encourages attendance – as happened with the Giant Peach and
Tightrope Walk, Roald Dahl Day, and the ‘Ball in the Wall’ for the Rugby World Cup.
41

Page 51

102.

As part of the discussions on suitable themes for a signature event, Members heard

several ideas from witnesses in terms of strengthening events in Cardiff, with a breadth
of opinion offered. These include:
o Increasing events themed around water and Cardiff’s maritime heritage
o Growing literature events, including Cardiff Book Festival, Children’s Festival of
Literature and Seren Cornerstone Poetry competition
o Growing community events
o Increasing family and child-centred events.

Music Strategy
103.

The Inquiry heard evidence about the developing Music Strategy, the Sound

Diplomacy Music Strategy report is due to be submitted to Cabinet for consideration in
Spring 2019, after the publication of this report. In light of this, this report does not detail
these findings, which will be kept to inform future scrutiny of the Music Strategy.
Business Events
104.

The Inquiry heard that Cardiff should be leading the way re business events in

Wales, with its good infrastructure and capital city status. There is an opportunity for
Cardiff to capitalise on the Indoor Arena and ICCW and on the benefits of Cardiff being
a compact city.
105.

Members heard that a partnership consisting of the Council, For Cardiff, Cardiff

Hoteliers Association and venues is working together to develop and implement a
strategic plan to generate business tourism. This partnership is developing a ‘fighting
fund’ to attract and retain business events.
106.

Cardiff Council has also met with Heledd Williams, Head of Business Events, Welsh

Government to discuss the way forward re business events in Cardiff. She stressed to
the Inquiry the importance of Cardiff in achieving the Welsh Government’s stated aim of
increasing business events. She also highlighted that the Council could do more, as
follows:

42

Page 52

o by investing in its heritage buildings, such as City Hall and St David’s Hall, for
example by upgrading Wi-Fi, which could then be used for more business
events.
o by joining the International Congress and Convention Association (ICCA), with
a cost of £3.5K pa – ICCA is the global platform to index business events and
rank locations – as Cardiff is not a member, it does not input events and
therefore it appears very low in the rankings (below 400). This means Cardiff
does not appear high up on main database used by business event organisers
when searching for suitable cities to hold events.
ICCW

107.

This Inquiry was keen to understand the likely impact of the new International

Convention Centre Wales (ICCW), sited in Newport. Members heard that whilst ICCW
may initially take some business events from Cardiff, this would be addressed by the
development of the Indoor Arena, which would make up this ground. In addition, Cardiff
is the entertainment centre that many of those attending events at ICCW will want to
come to.

108.

However, Members also heard concerns expressed that key players in Bristol –

including Bristol Council and hoteliers – are seeking to ensure that Bristol also benefits
from its proximity to ICCW, enhanced by the removal of the M4 tolls.
109.

Several witnesses raised concerns that Cardiff Council is not proactively engaging

with ICCW; however, Members heard from the Leader of the Council, Councillor Huw
Thomas, that he has met with Sir Terry Matthews to discuss approaches to maximise
the benefit of ICCW to Wales. The Leader of the Council stated that the Council would
be monitoring delegate patterns at ICCW, in order to be aware of emerging trends and
be able to address any issues of concern.
110.

In addition, key partners in Cardiff, including FOR Cardiff and Cardiff Hoteliers

Association, are building relationships with ICCW, to ensure Cardiff benefits from
accommodation needs and spill-over events. For Cardiff has bid for RTEF21 monies to
meet the costs of familiarisation visits and to showcase Cardiff.
21

RTEF = Regional Tourism Engagement Fund, Welsh Government

43

Page 53

FUTURE ROLE OF THE COUNCIL

111.

The Inquiry looked at what the role of the Council should be regarding events, in

terms of overall management, attracting, retaining, promoting, managing and delivering
events. This Inquiry heard that the Council should move towards an enabling and
facilitating role rather than delivering events itself. External witnesses made the point
that there are local businesses able to produce and deliver events and the Council
should move away from these tasks and concentrate available resource on attracting
events to Cardiff and managing the city.

Overarching management of the City
112.

The Inquiry heard that the Council needs to keep the role of managing the high-level

aspects of the city re events, such as the Events Liaison Panel. The current ‘Team
Cardiff’ approach to event management has demonstrated that it works well and this
gives confidence to event organisers thinking about bringing an event to Cardiff. The
local knowledge and experience helps to ensure smooth delivery of events and
minimises the disruption to residents and local businesses.

113.

The Inquiry heard that Cardiff Council being clear which areas of the city are

available to be used for events could further enhance the overarching management of
the City. This would help with planning infrastructure and safety arrangements, give
confidence to staff working events and help safeguard those attending events. The
Council could clarify the ‘Event Zones’, i.e. those areas that can be used for events, as
well as the ‘Event Footprint’ areas i.e. those areas that provide support infrastructure,
parking and neighbouring communities that may be affected. This would
‘greatly facilitate the simple, clearly understood introduction of specific event-related
measures, such as parking restrictions, parking flexibility, increased parking
penalties and traffic management changes.’
Written Submission received from Pontcanna & Riverside residents.
114.

Once Cardiff Council has designated an area as available for events, it needs to

ensure locations are fit for purpose. There needs to be clear exit strategies in place, with

44

Page 54

a sense that it is possible to escape quickly; wider, open spaces are therefore preferable
rather than narrow streets.

Attracting & Retaining events
115.

The Inquiry heard that the Council has an important role in showcasing Cardiff to

attract major events. It also heard that Cardiff could capitalise on events already held
here by marketing them more and seeking repeat business, rather than letting them go
and investing in new events e.g. use the linkages built with UEFA by hosting the
Champions League Final to approach Linesmen and Referee associations and
encourage them to come to Cardiff for their conferences.

Signature Event
116.

Those giving evidence to the Inquiry were clear that the Council has a role to ensure

that the promise of the signature event is delivered across the city and is accessible to
visitors and residents.

Business Events
117.

The Inquiry heard that the Council needs to commit to increasing business events

and work with Welsh Government and partners to boost business events in Cardiff.
Cardiff Council should work with local universities, the creative industries sector, life
sciences, cancer research and maritime sector to develop a competitive offer and
promote Cardiff as a city for events for these academic specialisms.

Event Strategy
118.

The Inquiry heard from many witnesses that there needs to be an Event Strategy

and subsequent programme that matches diaries and avoids conflicts. Witnesses stated
that this would enable the Council to:
o
o
o
o
o

Define its ambitions for events
Clarify which events it wishes to attract and retain
Align investments with key strategic developments
Enable Cardiff to remain competitive
Ensure work on events ties into other strategies.
45

Page 55

Increasing Event Legacy and Impact
119.

This Inquiry heard that, given the high levels of investment in events, it is important

to increase the legacy from events in terms of return visits and repeat bookings. The
Inquiry heard that this is an area where Cardiff could improve its performance, as
referenced earlier at point 115.

120.

For Cardiff also highlighted that the impact of events could be increased by

encouraging city centre events to branch out across the city centre and to utilise
businesses based in the arcades; this is something it is encouraging events it sponsors
to do.
121.

Members reflected that cultural events tend to have a much greater legacy for the

residents of the city compared to sporting events, which are often one-off events.
Cultural events attract international visitors who stay for longer periods of time; they also
support supply chains in the creative industries and provide training and skills
development opportunities.

FUTURE RESOURCES FOR EVENTS

122.

The Inquiry heard that there is a need for the Council to re-evaluate the support it

gives to events, to ensure this is directed appropriately. This is an important time for
Cardiff, with the creative city and music strategy initiatives; the Inquiry heard that
investments in events should align with these. At the same time, Members heard that it
is not always clear to event organisers why certain events are selected for support and
others are not; there seems to be no stated rationale or annual bidding round as there is
in some other local authorities.

123.

The Inquiry heard that major sponsors of events, including Welsh Government and

the Arts Council of Wales, expect to see a local authority contribution before they pledge
financial support to an event. These contributions can sometimes be ‘in-kind’
contributions, such as the costs of officer time, venue hire and administration fees being
waived, or they can be direct financial contribution. Unfortunately, both direct financial
46

Page 56

contributions and ‘value in kind’ are both difficult to provide in the current climate of
austerity. This is the case re Artes Mundi , which is one of the 2019 consultation budget
savings proposals.
124.

This Inquiry heard that the Council’s work re events has suffered from a lack of

resource, which has prevented it from maximising Cardiff as an event city. This includes
resource to market Cardiff on a global stage and resource to invest in heritage buildings
that would make good event locations. Always Aim High highlighted that they receive no
funding from Cardiff Council and, whilst they are grateful for the support and advice
provided by council staff, they meet these costs in full via recharging. The Cardiff
Triathlon is in the top three triathlons in the UK and is growing strongly. Members
queries why council support should be offered, given its success, and heard that the
monies spent on recharges ‘could be used more wisely, in promoting and marketing
Cardiff and Wales’.
125.

Members are mindful that the Council is juggling the twin pressures of increased

demand for statutory services and reducing available resources for non-statutory
services. Having heard that this year’s proposed savings in the Events Team would
reduce it to the minimal level whilst maintaining the level of service currently provided,
Members were keen to explore views on what would be the impact of not having an
events team and to look at how other, comparable, local authorities manage events.
Members also explored whether there are alternative ways of resourcing events.

Do we need an Events Team?
126.

Members heard repeatedly from stakeholders across the events sector that, whilst

the role of the events team could and should be reframed, the Council needs an events
team not only to carry out statutory duties but also to assist in the attraction, retention
and operational delivery of events.

127.

Members heard that if the Council’s events team were not there, it would hamper the

operational delivery of events, for the following reasons:
o lack of local knowledge and experience, leading to time delays and lack of advice
o lack of expertise in dealing with local stakeholders and communities, resolving
issues as they emerge
47

Page 57

o lack of handholding:


event companies having to navigate the Council on their own



council staff having to liaise directly with event companies

o consequential increased costs to event companies due to above.

128.

Members tested the above with several event organisers, asking them for their

experiences working in Councils without an events team or with a single officer
responsible for events. Event organisers explained that it was much harder for them to
operate in councils with a small or non-existent events team, for the reasons
summarised above. Some event organisers explained that the events they ran in Cardiff
were larger than the events they ran in the other council areas without events team.
However, two event organisers regularly deliver large events in other council areas
without events team, such as Ed Sheeran concerts, and were clear that it was easier to
do this in Cardiff because of the support provided by the Events Team.

129.

The Inquiry also heard that, if the Council did not have an Events Team, it would

present a significant challenge to Welsh Government’s efforts to attract and develop
events. Cardiff Council’s events team has a good reputation for ensuring partners work
together to deliver events safely and smoothly.
‘When bidding for major international events, a key factor is the availability of local
knowledge and experience. For example, when we were bidding to host Champions
League Final and Volvo 2018, we needed to demonstrate host capacity and
competence – we were able to evidence a strong track record by citing other
successful major events, such as FA Cup Finals, Rugby World Cup, Ashes Test
Matches, World Half Marathon’
Gwilym Evans – Major Events Unit, Welsh Government

Could we use an alternative delivery mechanism?
130.

Members sought witnesses’ views regarding establishing an alternative delivery

mechanism in Cardiff, so that there is still a central events service but it is not based in
the Council. This is the option chosen by Glasgow Council. It is also an option
considered, and discounted, by Monmouthshire County Council, as set out later at
points 147 -152.
48

Page 58

131.

The Inquiry heard from witnesses that moving to an alternative delivery mechanism

would mean the benefits of having a council-based events team would be lost i.e.
connections to council teams and leverage with external partners. At the same time, the
Council would still have events related costs, as council staff would need to interact with
the events company. This Inquiry did not investigate this approach further, given the
clear view that this was not a suitable option for Cardiff.

What do other local authorities do?
132.

Other local authorities manage events in different ways. Witnesses to the Inquiry

highlighted that care needs to be taken to ensure appropriate comparator cities to
Cardiff are used when looking to learn lessons from alternative approaches. This is
because the landscape for events and partnership working varies greatly, city to city.
Witnesses stated that the following UK cities would be appropriate comparators: Belfast;
Edinburgh; Liverpool; Leeds; and Manchester. Some witnesses also stated that Cardiff
could learn useful lessons from global leaders in music events, such as SXSW in Austin,
USA and Linz, Austria. A selection of the UK based comparator cities is provided below,
along with local examples from Monmouthshire and Bristol.
Belfast

133.

The Scrutiny Research Officer undertook a telephone interview with Belfast City

Council’s City Events Manager, who explained that his in-house Events team provides
services to support major and community events in the city. The team consists of seven
members of staff - Team Manager, Assistant Manager, 2 Events Officers, 2 Events
Assistants and 1 university placement officer. Responsibility for marketing and
promotion of major events has recently moved to the Corporate Communications and
Marketing Team.
134.

The budget for the City Events team is circa £1.1 million for operational events

delivery, including a staff budget of circa £360,000. The remaining budget is used for
operational costs including: legislative costs associated with the event, closures
including traffic management, LED screens, entertainment, medical cover and first aid,
structures and infrastructures, power and safety issues etc. There is no provision to
49

Page 59

provide, or offer, match funding. Where there is a requirement or a need to provide
match funding or to co-bid to host or sponsor a one off event, the proposal to provide
financial support goes through the corporate and Members decision making processes
i.e. seek decision of SMT and then Committee decision; there is no Cabinet in Belfast.
135.

The team has a programme of events that it delivers annually. It also provides advice

to external events organisers on legislative elements of staging events; it does not
charge for providing this advice, regarding it as ‘in-kind’ support. However, it may charge
for services provided, although sometimes these are also provided as ‘in-kind’ support.
136.

External events organisers staging events in the City (not in partnership with Belfast

City Council) are at liberty to choose the service providers that they will use for traffic
and highways management and for street cleansing and litter and waste disposal during
and following a major event. The Events Team does not encourage external organisers
to make use of council services on waste collection. Re traffic management, the
Regional Road Authority in Northern Ireland provides external organisers with a list of
registered companies who can provide traffic management services during these
events.
137.

The City Events Team is part of an Events Advisory Panel that reviews and goes

through the plans for staging major events in the City. The group consists of event
organisers, event promoters and emergency services but is separate from the Belfast
Safety Advisory Group, which is coordinated by Health Services.
138.

The Events Team also works in collaboration with other Council service areas

including legal services, environmental health, waste collection, consumer advice,
licensing, highways i.e. closure of road and the communications and marketing team, to
deliver various events in the City.
139.

Belfast City Council is currently working on a developing its events strategy and

evaluation criteria to determine the types of events that would be supported by the City
Council’s Events team and resources. Initial thinking on key indicators and targets to
help to determine decisions for supporting or hosting major events are: economic
benefits that such events would bring to the City; and the level of national and
international media profile that this brings. One of the key areas for further consideration
relates to the value for money or return on investment that is generated from staging or
50

Page 60

from supporting major events. The broader benefits that major events bring into the city,
other than economic and media impacts, also need to be highlighted and recognised.
140.

Belfast City Council is currently looking at the feasibility of implementing a tourism

tax/ hotel tax/bedroom tax that could be implemented through the passing of legislation
within the region. Conversations on this are at an early stage and further discussions
would need to take place with other local authorities and the regional government in
order to implement this type of scheme.
Liverpool

141.

In Liverpool, the Council established Culture Liverpool following the European

Capital of Culture 2008, in order to continue and capitalise on its success through
championing culture across the Liverpool City Region. Culture Liverpool includes a City
Events Team that takes:
‘.. responsibility for all aspects of the planning & implementation of large scale events
and projects for Liverpool City Council. We take a systematic and methodical
approach to the events and projects we organise. To do this, we:
o set clear objectives
o investigate feasibility
o risk manage
o set contingency strategies
o create operational policies
o fund and finance manage (including budget adherence)
o ensure the safety and well-being of all.
‘Our unmatched ability to do this with a highly-skilled and passionate team, means we
can expertly plan and implement quality events across a diverse range of event types,
themes, settings and content. As well as this, our event and project activities act as a
direct catalyst for accomplishing the corporate and strategic initiative of the City.’22

22

Extract from: https://www.cultureliverpool.co.uk/about-us/ downloaded 14 January 2019

51

Page 61

142.

The Culture Liverpool City Events Team provide support and guidance to external

event organisers in the following areas :
o Event Management
o Health & Safety
o Licensing
o Local Services Procurement
o Feasibility Studies
o Calculating Capacities
o Crowd Management and Dynamics
o Emergency Evacuation and Contingency Strategies
o Security and Steward Management
o Traffic and Parking Management
o Location Advice
o Media, PR & Marketing
o Public Transport Co-ordination & Liaison
o Concession & Market Management
o Local Accommodation

143.

Culture Liverpool consists of a number of service areas, including tourism,

marketing, film, arts, culture, venues, assets and cruise management. A special End of
Year report on Liverpool’s 2018 cultural activities, reported to their Culture and Tourism
Select Committee on 22 January 2019, highlighted that Culture Liverpool generated
£108 million for the city, including 2.2 million visitors to events who generated £85
million for the local economy.23 Culture Liverpool is funded by various sources, including
Liverpool City Council, the City Region Partnership, Arts Council England and Creative
Europe European Union funding.
144.

Culture Liverpool’s City Events Team liaise with other council services that are

central to events, including highways, parks, licensing and environmental health. The
City of Liverpool Council’s Licensing Unit chairs the Liverpool Safety Advisory Group. In

23

Taken from https://www.cultureliverpool.co.uk/news/culture-delivers-massive-boost-for-city/ downloaded 5

February 2019

52

Page 62

addition, Liverpool City Council remains responsible for some of the costs of clearing up
after events, such as street cleansing. It has recently been discussing the feasibility of
introducing a tourism tax – see points 168-172 later in this report.
Leeds

145.

The Inquiry heard that the Leeds City Council Events Team had been restructured,

reducing to 2 members of staff, an Events Manager and an Events & Promotions
Officer. The Events team are responsible for managing the Millennium Square event
space, which has capacity for between 4 -5,500 spectators, as well as Victoria Gardens.
Other spaces are managed by the City Centre Management team and by the Parks
team.

146.

The council’s website has a page24 dedicated to organising community events, that

sets out the requirements on those organising events, provides templates for producing
needed documentation, provides application forms for event licences and signposts
organisers to the various different council departments that they need to interact with,
including licensing, site managers, highways and Safety Advisory Group. The contact
details at the end of this page are for the Council’s Licensing Team, rather than the
Events Team, who mostly focus on major events.
Monmouthshire

147.

Over the last eighteen months, Monmouthshire Council has explored options for the

future of events in the county, including: reviewing whether or not to continue with an inhouse events team; producing a detailed options appraisal of alternative delivery
options, including looking at a hired facilities model and a joint venture partnership
delivery; undertaking local stakeholder consultation; investigating the impact of
divestment from events; and developing a forward strategy document to inform the
development of a future Events Strategy.

148.

The output from the above exercises was reported to Monmouthshire Cabinet on 25

July 2018; the report recommended that a ‘hybrid approach’ be taken, to put the Events

24

https://www.leeds.gov.uk/your-council/emergencies/organising-events

53

Page 63

team on a strategic and stable footing. The hybrid option is set out in the report to
Cabinet as follows:
‘the Council events team will take a proactive and strategic approach, coordinating the
events programme within working with partners on major events either via direct
procurement or on a joint venture basis. In addition, the events team will coordinate
corporate events and provide support for community events… providing much needed
expertise and support whilst identifying additional income generation options.’
149.

The report to Monmouthshire Cabinet goes on to state that the hybrid option also

gives the Events Team the opportunity to work with the Council’s strategic tourism
function to ensure that events align with the county’s Destination Marketing Plan.

150.

The Monmouthshire Events Team was originally established as an income

generation function with no Council funding, operating on a surplus budget of £18,000.
The report to Cabinet requested an annual base budget provision of £32,000, requiring
an additional £50,000. This is to meet staffing costs of £88,000, office costs of £2,000,
with income of £58,000 offset against this, with income coming from recharges for staff
time, external hire and project management. The team consists of a Project and Events
Manager, an Events Producer and an Events Administrator.
151.

In terms of generating additional income, the report to Cabinet lists the following

ways that the team has previously raised income and lists further opportunities:
2016/17
o Provision of assistant stage manager and crew – Glastonbury Festival
o Site manager – UEFA Champions League Final
o Provision of project management and event support – Morgan Classic Cars,
o Technical management and delivery of lighting, staging and set elements –
Health & Care Awards, Ticketmaster conference
Income Generating Opportunities
o Commercial events – hire of council venues, sale of tickets
o Community events – cinema evenings, ice rink, Christmas market, fayres etc.,
o Equipment hire – staging, sound, lighting, transport
o Contracts – projects for external clients – production and event management
54

Page 64

o Staff hire – stage managers, technicians, crews, drivers etc.
o Recharging internal service areas
o Recharging MonLife – the alternative delivery model recently established to
provide Tourism, Leisure and Culture services for Monmouthshire.
152.

A meeting of the Monmouthshire Economy and Development Select Committee on

22 November 2018 acknowledged that the Events Team was very good at putting on
events within the County. However, it was considered that a marketing company should
be employed to sell the Authority’s marketing of events. It was confirmed that the events
team would remain as part of the Authority. However, discussions are being held in
terms of joint ventures and promotions with a view encourage income generation.

Bristol25

153.

In Bristol, a group of over 30 of Bristol’s independent festival and event organisers

has established a charity – Bristol Festivals – which is also a company limited by
guarantee. The aim of Bristol Festivals is to support the:
‘.. sustainable and strategic development of Festivals and Events (arts, heritage,
science, sport, food and drink) in the Bristol area, for the benefit of the widest range of
audiences in the West of England.’

154.

Bristol Festivals works with public and private sector partners to promote Bristol as a

leading destination for cultural festivals and events. It promotes events via its website,
emails and via social media marketing, provides discounted use of meeting rooms and
office space at the Bristol Festivals Hub and provides access to bi-monthly forum
meetings, attended by Bristol City Council and Destination Bristol. Members of Bristol
Festivals receive priority access to Bristol City Council Licensing drop-in sessions and
arrange advice sessions with Bristol City Council’s site permissions team for those
individuals and organisations wishing to hold an event on council owned land. They also
create training, research and volunteer projects to help make events reach a more
diverse audience.

25

Information downloaded 14 January 2019, from http://bristolfestivals.org/information/

55

Page 65

155.

Bristol City Council’s commitment to events is set out in their Cultural Strategy ‘City

of Openness, Imagination and Originators’, which stresses the need for partnership
working and mutual support to deliver a programme of events and enhance the cultural
offer of Bristol:
‘Coordination in the festivals and events sector. Bristol is a city of festivals and
events. They are one of the main ways the city tells its stories – about itself and to
the world. Bristol can, with a development programme brokered by the Bristol
Festivals and Events Forum, consolidate, coordinate and grow its festivals offer. This
can include shared skills and knowledge exchange, coordinated procurement of local
cultural producers and artists, and a R&D strand that cuts across the whole festival
landscape to encourage the use of new technologies and connection between the
arts, science and technology.’
156.

Bristol City Council’s website contains several pages for those seeking to organise

an event e.g. https://www.bristol.gov.uk/museums-parks-sports-culture/hold-an-event.
These pages provide links to site permissions forms and event licence application forms
as well as contact details for the relevant teams. In addition, the Council has a small
events team that works to support the development and delivery of city-wide festivals
and events, in line with the city’s Cultural Strategy. Events officers provide strategic
direction, oversee and monitor event contracts and grant funds and payments to events
and festival organisations. They offer advice and guidance to events and festival
organisers and work with a range of stakeholders to ensure that projects are delivered in
accordance with Bristol Council’s policies and priorities. They are also tasked to develop
income generation models and to submit funding applications to support the
development of events and festivals.

157.

As part of the budget setting process for 2018-19, Bristol City Council consulted on

exploring the possibility of increasing major event income through sponsorship and
additional commerciality, without changing the fundamental nature of events. It was
estimated that this could raise an additional £35,000 a year by 2022/23. 86% of
respondents either strongly agreed or agreed with this proposal.

Ways of increasing resources for events
158.

Currently, there are various sources of resources for events including: UK and Welsh

Government funding; other public bodies’ funding, such as the Arts Council and sporting
56

Page 66

organisations; local authority contributions; sponsorship monies; and event organisers’
contribution. All of these are under pressure – public funding due to the pressures on
public finances; sponsorship monies as more and more services seek support following
cuts in public funding; and event organisers’ contributions as their profit margins
decrease.

159.

In light of the above, Members asked for views on ways of increasing resources for

events in Cardiff without using public funding. Members heard that the options in Cardiff
are limited for the following reasons:
o Sponsorship – whilst the Council needs to be creative in gaining sponsorships
to stage events, there is a limited number of available sponsors in Cardiff and
most of these already sponsor a number of events, for example Admiral
sponsor the Ice Rink at Winter Wonderland and For Cardiff sponsor a range of
events including Tafywl, Cardiff Book Festival, IRIS film festival, Swn festival
and Women in Music.
o Charging for Council Services re Events - Cardiff Council already charges event
companies for the services provided by the Council that are directly related to
the event, for example road closures and consequent traffic management,
commercial banners and marketing.

Events Levy
160.

An events levy refers to the practice of adding a small charge either to a ticket price

or as a ‘per person’ charge to event organisers for non-ticketed events. The Inquiry was
aware of speculation in the media26 that Cardiff Council was investigating the feasibility
of charging an events levy and therefore explored this option with those giving evidence
to the inquiry. Members heard that it is not possible for Cardiff Council to put in place an
events levy for venues such as Principality Stadium and Cardiff City Football Stadium,
as this would have had to form part of the original contract terms and conditions with
these venues.

26

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-46357414

57

Page 67

161.

The Inquiry heard it may be possible to charge an events levy to businesses,

particularly those that benefit from events. However businesses already pay business
rates and those in the city centre that are part of the For Cardiff Business Improvement
District also pay a levy, some of which is used to support events, as set out in this report
in terms of sponsorship, as well as in terms of night (taxi) marshal services and the
ambassadors.

162.

In addition, this Inquiry heard opposition to the idea of an event levy with some

witnesses highlighting that it would be counter-productive and unsupportive of the
message that Cardiff is an events city.

Tourism Tax
163.

Members were aware of discussions in other UK cities, including Aberdeen, Bath,

Edinburgh, Hull, Liverpool and the Scottish Highlands, about the possibility of
introducing a tourism tax to provide revenue to counter the costs of events. Further
information on some of these are provided below.

Bath27

164.

Bath and North East Somerset Council has asked central government for the power

to introduce a levy on local tourism and short-term holiday lettings. It is investigating
whether to impose a £1-per-night charge to allow the authority to invest. Council leader
Tim Warren said that while a levy would not make a "big difference" to visitors' hotel
bills, it would have an impact on the council's budget for services such as street
improvements. He added: "We are not asking for more money, we are asking for the
opportunity to make our own money."

27

Information taken from: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-46838307

58

Page 68

Edinburgh28

165.

Edinburgh City Council has recently consulted on proposals to introduce a Transient

Visitor Levy (TVL or tourist tax), with the results being reported on 9 January 2019. The
consultation received over 2,500 responses found:
o 85% respondents support the TVL scheme


91% respondents who are residents support the TVL scheme



51% respondents who are accommodation providers support the TVL scheme

o 72% respondents agreed with proposed rate of £2 a night or 2% of the cost of
the accommodation

166.



19% of respondents felt the proposed rate was too low



Preference was for flat rate per night rather than % charge of room cost



81% respondents wanted at least a seven-day cap on charges.

Edinburgh City Council estimates that the TVL scheme could raise between £11.6

million and £14.6 million per year. The Council is putting together final proposals for
consideration by councillors later this year. If these proposals are agreed, the Council
will then pass them on to the Scottish Government, which would need to approve any
scheme, as councils do not currently have the power to introduce a tourist tax.

167.

Some business groups, such as Federation of Small Business Scotland, Association

of Scotland’s Self Caterers and Scottish Tourism Association have warned it could have
an impact on other revenue from tourism.
‘FSB development manager for the East of Scotland Garry Clark said: “Edinburgh
businesses will want to digest these consultation results but many may ask how it
addresses evidence suggesting that even a three per cent drop in Edinburgh’s visitor
numbers could result in a £42m drop in the benefits of tourism to the city.
“As the council doggedly pursues these proposals, businesses will reasonably
expect detail on which firms would have to administer such a tax and what say they
would have over how revenues were spent.

28

Information taken from: https://www.holyrood.com/articles/news/council-consultation-reveals-clear-support-touristtax-edinburgh and https://www.assc.co.uk/2019/01/city-of-edinburgh-council-tourist-tax-consultation-statement-fromassc/

59

Page 69

“All of this must also be viewed from the context of how such a tax would impact the
tourism industry in Scotland as a whole.’29
‘the consultation’s own figures show that only 17 per cent of responses came from
businesses and a mere 7 per cent were drawn from accommodations providers
– both of whom would feel the brunt of this tax disproportionally if it were imposed.
… “What is needed is a full economic impact assessment to accompany these
proposals in order to help promote pragmatic, sensible, and fair policy decisions as
this issue unfolds.”30

Liverpool

168.

At Liverpool City Council’s Full Council meeting on 16 January 2019, two Members

put forward a notice of motion regarding a tax for cultural events.31 The notice of motion
highlights the economic benefit of events in Liverpool, creating £100 million direct
economic impact, full hotels, restaurants and bars, thus creating jobs. It also highlights
the need to ensure training, for some of the skilled professionals required to support
events, is open to all residents in Liverpool. It states that Liverpool:
‘… should adopt the principle of a small charge (Tourist Tax) that is prevalent in many
international cities throughout the world.’

169.

The notice of motion goes on to state that:
‘This council is aware that at present it is not permitted for Local Government to
impose this upon hoteliers and restaurateurs, therefore, until the law is changed that
a voluntary scheme is considered. Therefore, the motion be considered by the Mayor
and Cabinet and a letter be sent to the relevant Government Minister outlining the
terms of this motion.’32

170.

The notice of motion generated media coverage, including an article on the BBC

website33. This highlights that a £1 levy on hotel rooms could potentially raise £2 million
per annum for the city. It reports comments from the Chief Executive of Liverpool

29

https://www.holyrood.com/articles/news/council-consultation-reveals-clear-support-tourist-tax-edinburgh
https://www.assc.co.uk/2019/01/city-of-edinburgh-council-tourist-tax-consultation-statement-from-assc/
31
http://councillors.liverpool.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=305&MId=16819
32
As above
33 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-merseyside-46905959
30

60

Page 70

Business Improvement District (Bill Addy) stating that local business would need to be
convinced:
"Private businesses would say, 'we already pay business rates, we are heavily taxed at
20%, we have a BID that is a levy on private business'." But he said a new levy on hotel
rooms would be a way of providing funding for events and training in the hospitality
industry.
"The big free activities we've got used to has to come through public sector money, that
money is not available, it is about how we replace that money.
"There is also destination marketing - we have to keep telling people about how good
Liverpool is".
171.

The BBC article34 concludes that, with cross-party support, Liverpool City Council is

speaking to local businesses about how a potential voluntary levy could work.

172.

This Inquiry heard opposition from local witnesses to the idea of a tourism tax, for the

same reasons as outlined above in points 161 -162. Hotel representatives stated that it
would lead to job losses, as hotels would seek not to pass the costs on to customers in
order to remain competitive with locations without a tourist tax, and that it would be
damaging for Cardiff’s economy.

City Deal funding
173.

In 2018, the Liverpool City Region introduced a commitment to spend the equivalent

of 1% of its annual £30 million funding, as part of its Culture and Creativity Strategy.
This is to support a number of key new developments to kick-start delivery of the
strategy and build on the existing programme of events, delivering a City Region-wide
events programme.
“This new 1% for Culture programme, which is in addition to previous and planned large
scale funding commitments, will establish a new annual Borough of Culture programme,
new Liverpool City Region Cultural Awards and a Liverpool City Region-wide events
programme. … “I’m asking the Arts Council to work with us to deliver this first city region
initiative that will change the way we work together and engage all of our boroughs.

34

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-merseyside-46905959

61

Page 71

“I hope our commitment underlines how serious the city region is about supporting cultural
activities. Culture and creativity are integral to our international profile and brand and are
essential to achieving our vision to make the Liverpool City Region a prosperous, fair and
desirable place to live, work and invest. A city region of one voice, but with many
accents.”35
Metro Mayor for the Liverpool City Region, Steve Rotheram

Business Rates
174.

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Huw Thomas, highlighted that if Welsh

Government unlocked revenue-raising powers and transferred these to local authorities
or if local authorities were allowed to keep business rates, this would assist Cardiff
Council in covering the costs of events. However, it was recognised that this would
require system change that is outside the remit of Cardiff Council, which can only lobby
for this change to happen.

35

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/liverpool-city-region-introduces-1-for-culture-programme-to-support-

cultural-activities/

62

Page 72

INQUIRY METHODOLOGY

M1. The Economy & Culture Scrutiny Committee applies a project management approach
to its inquiries; including mechanisms to consistently prioritise topics suggested for
scrutiny, scoping reports and project plans. The aim of these is to ensure there is a
dialogue with the services involved in the scrutiny process with the ultimate aim of
improving overall service delivery and enabling effective scrutiny.

M2. Members held five meetings to hear from the following external witnesses:














Sarah Cole – SC Productions
Gwilym Evans – Major Events Unit, Welsh Government
Adrian Field – FOR Cardiff - BID
Acting Ch. Supt Mark Hobrough – South Wales Police
Pablo Janczur – Orchard Productions
Tim Lloyd – Always Aim High
Karen Matthews – Chair-in-Waiting, Cardiff Hoteliers Association
Matt Newman – Run 4 Wales
John Rostron – consultant working for Sound Diplomacy
Angela Stephenson – Cardiff & Vale University Health Board
Professor Terry Stevens – Stevens Associates
Ben Underwood – Chair, Cardiff Hoteliers Association
Heledd Williams – Head of Business Events, Welsh Government.

M3. Members invited written submissions from key stakeholders, including statutory
partners, venues, and representative organisations for arts and small businesses. The
Inquiry received submissions from the following:





Artes Mundi
Pontcanna & Riverside Residents
Public Health Wales
South Wales Fire & Rescue Service.

M4. As part of the Inquiry, Members visited the Principality Stadium to hear their views on
events in Cardiff, the role of the Council and the future programme of events in Cardiff.
M5. Members held three meetings to hear from the following Council officer witnesses:



Councillor Huw Thomas – Leader of the Council
Councillor Peter Bradbury – Cabinet Member (Culture & Leisure)
63

Page 73









Councillor Russell Goodway – Cabinet Member (Investment & Development)
Councillor Michael Michael – Cabinet Member (Clean Streets, Recycling &
Environment)
Neil Hanratty – Director of Economic Development
Kathryn Richards – Head of Culture, Venues, Tourism and Events
Matthew Wakelam – Assistant Director, Environment
Jonathan Day – Operational Manager – Economic Policy
Ruth Cayford – Creative Industries and Culture Manager

M6. In order to inform the Inquiry, desk-based research was undertaken into approaches
taken elsewhere by the following local authorities in the UK in terms of resourcing and
managing events:


Belfast



Leeds



Liverpool



Monmouthshire.



Bristol

M7. High-level desk–based research was also carried out into recent developments
regarding an ‘events levy’ and ‘tourism tax’.

M8. Members also looked at the approach taken to events in the following cities that
witnesses highlighted as exemplars re events:


Austin, Texas



Barcelona, Spain



Linz, Austria.

M9. In addition, a summary literature review of the impact of events was undertaken and is
attached at Appendix 1 of this report. Cardiff Research Centre was asked to provide
details of recent Cardiff Council consultations that included results pertinent to this
Inquiry; their response is attached at Appendix 2 of this report.

M10. The desk-based research, coupled with evidence from internal and external
witnesses, was used to identify suitable findings from the Inquiry.
64

Page 74

Appendix 1
Impact of Events
1. There is recognition that events have a range of impacts on the areas where they are
held and that they need to be managed to maximise the benefits and minimise the
negative consequences. The industry-standard for ensuring this is provided by
eventIMPACTS, which has produced a toolkit of resources to help event organisers
improve their evaluation of the impacts associated with staging sporting and cultural
events. A summary is provided below, with more information available at:
http://www.eventimpacts.com/

2. The main impact of events are split into the following categories: economic; social; and
environmental. The events industry also measures media activity.
Economic Impact36
3. In terms of economic impact, the following statistics are usually collected:









ATTENDANCE FIGURES
LOCAL VISITORS
DAY VISITORS
COMMERCIAL/NON-COMMERCIAL STAYERS
NUMBER OF DAYS ATTENDED
AVERAGE BED NIGHTS
AVERAGE DAILY SPEND
AVERAGE ACCOMMODATION SPEND.

4. The 'economic impact' of an event refers to the total amount of additional expenditure
generated within a defined area, as a direct consequence of staging the event. For
most events, spending by visitors in the local area (and in particular on
accommodation) is the biggest factor in generating economic impact; however,
spending by event organisers is another important consideration. Economic Impact
studies typically seek to establish the net change in a host economy - in other words,
cash inflows and outflows are measured to establish the net outcome.

5. The Direct Economic Impact is a measure of the total amount of additional
expenditure within a defined geographical area, which can be directly attributed to

36

Taken from http://www.eventimpacts.com/

65

Page 75

staging an event. Based on visitor and organiser spending, Direct Economic Impact is
an assessment of the net increase in spending as a result of the event.
6. Many event organisers also wish to capture the Total Economic Impact. This step is
designed to adjust the Direct Economic Impact to capture the subsequent ‘secondary
impacts’ of additional spending within the host economy. Effective calculation of the
Total Economic Impact requires previous studies to have been carried out which
analyse detailed interactions and interdependencies within the host economy itself.
Scepticism re economic impact of events
7. In an article for the BBC (https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-39907810 downloaded 25 October
2018),

Professor Calvin Jones, Cardiff Business School, Cardiff University, is quoted as

saying:
"There is no evidence to suggest that hosting major events does your economy any
good"
"That's not to say local businesses don't do well out of it, but a week-long event with
tens of thousands people might bring in £50m - and when the Welsh economy is £50bn
per year, it really is a drop in the ocean.
"The Champions League final will be brilliant but it can't replace your bread and butter
city development strategy of skills, inclusion and innovation which, evidence suggests,
are much more important.
"My question is, are we expecting too much financially of major sports events? My take
is, even if it's a zero net impact on the Welsh economy, don't worry about the finances
and let's just have a good time."
Social Impact37
8. eventIMPACTS has identified four areas of social impacts, as follows:





SATISFACTION
IDENTIY AND IMAGE
PARTICIPATION
VOLUNTEERING & SKILLS

9. Social Impacts are unlikely to happen by chance and must be managed if they are to
occur. Clearly stated aims and objectives for an event will help to identify appropriate
social impacts and describe the delivery mechanisms by which these will occur.

37

Taken from http://www.eventimpacts.com/

66

Page 76

Environmental Impact38
10. The following list captures the main categories for environmental impacts:







WASTE IMPACTS
ENERGY IMPACTS
WATER IMPACTS
TRANSPORT & TRAVEL
FOOD & DRINK IMPACTS
MEASURES OF SUSTAINABILITY PLANNING AND MANAGEMENT

11. The organisation, delivery and legacy phases of sport and cultural events all involve
environmental impacts. Some of these are explicit, for example, land use for stadia or
emissions created by visitor travel to and from events. Others are more hidden, for
example, the carbon emissions generated in the production of merchandise.

12. Issues of sustainable development are increasingly important to potential event
sponsors, participants and visitors. Careful consideration of environmental impacts is
also a pillar of corporate social responsibility and represents sound strategic
management. Understanding the drivers of environmental impacts can also help
organizations to be more cost effective. Furthermore, effective communication of
environmental credentials can affect the level and quality of sponsorship/funding.
Longer-term benefits of Events
13. Research39 has shown that it is possible to utilise events to bring long-term economic
and social benefits to the location and its community. There are three key areas where
events can be used by the public sector to aid the achievement of longer-term strategic
objectives: urban regeneration and economic impact; local community benefits; and
place promotion.

Urban Regeneration and Economic Impact
14. Major events act as basic economic activities, by attracting and retaining external
expenditure from tourists. They can also be utilised as a catalyst to develop local
infrastructure, boosting local economies. The 'economic impact' of a major event refers

38

Taken from http://www.eventimpacts.com/

39

CRAIG PUGH* and EMMA H. WOOD (2007)(THE STRATEGIC USE OF EVENTS WITHIN LOCAL GOVERNMENT, UK Centre for
Event Management, Leeds Metropolitan University, Leeds, UK

67

Page 77

to the total amount of additional expenditure generated within a defined area, as a
direct consequence of staging the event. For most events, spending by visitors in the
local area (and in particular on accommodation) is the biggest factor in generating
economic impact; however, spending by event organisers is another important
consideration.

Local Community Benefits
15. Major events may result in diverse community benefits, including new sporting facilities,
improved transport, social cohesion and community volunteerism.

Place Promotion
16. Major cities throughout the world have turned to promotional activity to market and
reinvent themselves in changing economic and social climates. Place promotion is the
process of creating a symbolic image that is representative of the area and then
communicating that image to a target audience in order to create or maintain the desire
to visit, work and/or live there. Major events have significant, social, or cultural
importance, draw large numbers of visitors, and attract a significant amount of national
or international media coverage. These events offer unique opportunities for place
promotion by building a better image and increasing awareness of the city.

17. The realisation of the above benefits depends on the funding and organisational
structures surrounding events, in terms of attracting, promoting, delivering, managing
and retaining events. The opportunity to accomplish strategic objectives may be
overlooked by the need to achieve a substantial and varied events programme.40

Impact on local communities and stakeholders
18. Several academic research projects have explored the range of impacts – both positive
and negative – that events have on their host communities and stakeholders, for
example shop owners, customers, wholesalers. The table below summarises these
impacts:
TABLE 1. The impacts of events (adapted from Allen et al. 2010, 61.)
40

CRAIG PUGH* and EMMA H. WOOD (2007)(THE STRATEGIC USE OF EVENTS WITHIN LOCAL GOVERNMENT, UK Centre for
Event Management, Leeds Metropolitan University, Leeds, UK

68

Page 78

Impacts of Events

Positive Impacts

Negative Impacts

Social and Cultural

Shared experience

Community alienation

Revitalisation of traditions

Manipulation of community

Building of community pride

Negative community image

Validation of community groups

Bad behaviour

Increased community participation

Substance abuse

Introduces new and challenging

Social dislocation

ideas
Expansion of cultural perspective

Political

Loss of amenity

International Prestige

Risk of event failure

Improved profile

Misallocation of funds

Promotion of investment

Lack of accountability

Social cohesion

Propaganda

Development of administrative skills

Loss of community ownership/
control

Legitimation of ideology

Environmental

Showcasing the environment

Environmental damage

Provision of models for best practice

Pollution

Increased environmental awareness

Destruction of heritage

Infrastructural legacy

Noise disturbance

Improved transport &

Traffic congestion

communications
Urban transformation and renewal

Tourism & economic

Destination promotion & more visits

Community resistance to tourism

Extended length of stay

Loss of authenticity

Job creation

Damage to reputation

Increased tax revenue

Exploitation

Business opportunities

Opportunity costs

19. Weaver & Lawton (2013) make the point that local resident attitudes are important
because they are more directly impacted by activity in their own ‘backyard’ and
because of that have a strong moral case to be heard and heeded.
20. Madrigal (1995) states that residents’ perceptions and attitudes towards the impacts of
events must be understood, because they have an impact on the visitors’ experience
and contribute to the location’s overall attractiveness as an event destination. Local
69

Page 79

residents’ support for and participation an event will affect directly the success of the
event; local residents’ attitude towards the hosting of the event and tourists will leave an
impression on visitors (Yu et al. 2012).

21. Research has found that visitors perceive the quality of an event as good when there
has been good communication and cooperation between different stakeholders, for
example, when event managers and shop owners communicate and work together to
ensure there are good services around an event (Engström & Hakansson, 2010).

22. However, a lack of communication between event managers, stakeholders and local
communities can lead to conflict due to differing expectations of an event; for example,
a government uses a ‘signature’ local event for promoting tourism and destinations’
image, while event organizers just want to bring locals together to enjoy themselves.
Zhou (2006) points out that it is important to understand goals, aspirations and opinions
of communities when planning events, and to keep government/ event organisers aims
and motivations, and residents’ perceptions in harmony with each other.
23. Research has also identified that events can have positive impacts in terms of creating
cultural identity and increasing cohesion in communities (Gursoy et al., 2004). Fredline
and Deery (2005) add that local communities feel pride when showcasing aspects of
their culture and traditions, which in turn gives them a spirit of belongingness to their
culture. In addition, it strengthens the tie between the local residents and the tourists
visiting the destination (Gursoy et al., 2004).
24. There are also some negative socio-cultural impacts that researchers have identified
can affect the local community. The tourists may disrupt the normal lives of residents
and decrease their privacy (Fredline & Deerey, 2005). Larger events may also be
associated with traffic high noise, unreasonable litter and pressure on host community
infrastructure (e.g. transport) (Gursoy et al., 2004). Viviere and Slabbert (2012) added
to the list of negative impacts with: exploitation of culture and traditional ways of life;
prostitution; crime and drugs.
25. The role of events managers in balancing the impacts of events is summarised as:

70

Page 80

“It is the task of the event manager to identify and predict these impacts and then to
manage them to achieve the best balance for all parties, so that on balance the
overall impact of the event is positive. To achieve this, all foreseeable positive
impacts must be developed and maximized, and negative impacts countered. Often
negative impacts can be addressed through awareness and intervention – good
planning is always critical. Ultimately, the success of the event depends on the event
manager achieving this positive balance sheet and communicating it to a range of
stakeholders.” (Bowdin et al., 2006)

Impact of Events in Cardiff
26. Events that are funded by the Welsh Government Major Events Unit have to provide an
impact assessment to them. In addition, the following Economic Impact Assessments
were undertaken by the Welsh Economic Research Unit (WERU) on behalf of Cardiff
Council and Cardiff Harbour Authority:
a. Canoe Slalom World Cup 2013
b. Cardiff Half Marathon 2013
c. Cardiff Harbour Festival 2013
d. International Food & Drink 2013
e. Royal Horticultural Society 2014
f. Winter Wonderland 2014.

Appendix 2
Relevant Extracts from Cardiff Council Ask Cardiff and Budget Consultations

Ask Cardiff 2014
71

Page 81

Are you aware or have you attended the following:
Almost nine in ten respondents had an awareness of the Welsh Proms (88.1%), with almost one in six
(15.6%) attending this event.

Over four-fifths (83.4%) were aware of the Christmas Russian Ballet Festival, with a fifth (19.9%) attending
the show.

Are you aware or have you attended the following:
100.0
90.0

88.1

83.4

80.0
70.0
60.0
50.0
40.0
30.0

19.9

15.6

20.0
10.0
0.0
Aware of

Attended

Welsh Proms Cardiff (Base: 2,058)
Christmas Russian Ballet Festival at St David's Hall (Base: 1,531)

72

Page 82

Ask Cardiff 2013
Which, if any, of the following Cardiff Council Events are you aware of and which events
have you attended?
Three-fifths of respondents (60.0%) were aware of Step Into Christmas/ Christmas Lights Switch
On, followed closely by the RHS Flower Show Cardiff (58.3%). Half (49.9%) of respondents had
attended Winter Wonderland.
Aware of
No.

%

Attended
No.

%

Step Into Christmas / Christmas Lights Switch On

2090

60.0

648

18.6

RHS Flower Show Cardiff

2032

58.3

663

19.0

Armed Forces Day

1879

53.9

355

10.2

Joust at Cardiff Castle

1813

52.0

196

5.6

St. David's Day Celebrations

1760

50.5

358

10.3

Winter Wonderland

1690

48.5

1739

49.9

International Food & Drink Festival

1659

47.6

1477

42.4

Calennig New Year Celebrations

1621

46.5

401

11.5

Cardiff Grand Medieval Mêlée at Cardiff Castle

1568

45.0

169

4.8

Cardiff Harbour Festival

1458

41.8

708

20.3

73

Page 83

The results were then split into age demographics:
Under 35 (Base: 952)
RHS Flower Show Cardiff

Aware of

Attended

No.

No.

%

%

563

59.1

103

10.8

535

56.2

219

23.0

499

52.4

60

6.3

St. David's Day Celebrations

480

50.4

109

11.4

Armed Forces Day

469

49.3

76

8.0

416

43.7

45

4.7

406

42.6

474

49.8

Winter Wonderland

391

41.1

588

61.8

Cardiff Harbour Festival

362

38.0

185

19.4

Calennig New Year Celebrations

351

36.9

94

9.9

Step Into Christmas / Christmas Lights
Switch On
Joust at Cardiff Castle

Cardiff Grand Medieval Mêlée at Cardiff
Castle
International Food & Drink Festival

Excludes blank responses

35-54 (Base: 1367)

Aware of

Attended

No.

No.

%

%

Step Into Christmas / Christmas Lights
Switch On

854

62.5

270

19.8

RHS Flower Show Cardiff

820

60.0

259

18.9

Armed Forces Day

758

55.4

150

11.0

Joust at Cardiff Castle

736

53.8

88

6.4

Calennig New Year Celebrations

697

51.0

196

14.3

St. David's Day Celebrations

696

50.9

121

8.9

International Food & Drink Festival

681

49.8

591

43.2

Cardiff Grand Medieval Mêlée at
Cardiff Castle

651

47.6

78

5.7

Winter Wonderland

643

47.0

760

55.6

Cardiff Harbour Festival

598

43.7

314

23.0

Excludes blank responses

74

Page 84

55+ (Base: 1039)

Aware of

Attended

No.

No.

%

%

Step Into Christmas / Christmas Lights
Switch On

635

61.1

143

13.8

Winter Wonderland

592

57.0

345

33.2

Armed Forces Day

591

56.9

117

11.3

RHS Flower Show Cardiff

585

56.3

282

27.1

St. David's Day Celebrations

526

50.6

118

11.4

Joust at Cardiff Castle

523

50.3

41

3.9

International Food & Drink Festival

521

50.1

370

35.6

Calennig New Year Celebrations

517

49.8

99

9.5

Cardiff Harbour Festival

455

43.8

187

18.0

Cardiff Grand Medieval Mêlée at
Cardiff Castle

450

43.3

41

3.9

Excludes blank responses

The awareness of the Christmas Lights Switch On (56.2%, 62.5%, 61.1%) is just over 5% for under
35s, 35-54 and 55+ respectively. Awareness of the RHS Flower Show (59.1%, 60.0% and 56.3%)
is within 5% for under 35s, 35-54 and 55+ respectively.
The top three attended events for each age category was a follows. Winter Wonderland and the
International Food and Drink Festival featured as the top two choices across all age ranges.
Under 35s
Winter Wonderland (61.8%)

35-54
Winter Wonderland (55.6%)

Over 55s
International Food & Drink
Festival (35.6%)

International Food and Drink

International Food & Drink

Festival (49.8%)

Festival (43.2%)

Step Into Christmas (23.0%)

Cardiff Harbour Festival

Winter Wonderland (33.2%)

RHS Flower Show (27.1%)

(33.2%)

75

Page 85

Budget Consultation 2016/17
5.5.1 Cardiff Contemporary Initiative
Cardiff Contemporary is a five-week celebration of contemporary art held across the city every year. The
initiative offers a diverse range of exhibitions, events and activities developed by Cardiff’s community of artists,
designers and architects. The requirement to make budget savings means that Cardiff Contemporary will cease
but the Council will seek to identify alternative funding to help ensure the future of the initiative.

Q24. Have you taken part in any exhibitions, events or activities run by Cardiff Contemporary
Initiative?
There were 3,039 responses to this question meaning a response rate of 90.8%.
17.4% (529) of respondents had taken part in activities run by Cardiff Contemporary Initiative, with threequarters (75.7%) not having participated to date.

Base: All respondents (3,039)

Involvement with Cardiff Contemporary varied by demographic, and most significantly by age where over a
quarter of respondents under 35 had participated (26.2%), compared to 10.7% of over 55s.

76

Page 86

(Base data shown in brackets).

There was also significant variation in involvement across the city, with 27.7% of respondents in Cardiff South
West, 26.9% in Cardiff South East and 20.1% in City and Cardiff South having participated, compared to under
10% of respondents in Cardiff East (7.8%) and Cardiff West (9.9%).

(Base data shown in brackets)

77

Page 87

Q25. Do you agree with the City of Cardiff Council’s decision to cease funding?
There was a response rate of 91.1% with 3,049 respondents.
52.3% (1,595) agreed with the proposed decision to cease funding, with 25.8% (786) opposed and 21.9% (668)
not sure.

Base: All respondents (3,049)

Looking at respondent views by geography those from Cardiff East (66.7%), Cardiff West (64.0%) and Cardiff
North (61.3%) were more supportive of the proposal to cease funding than the remaining areas where under
half the respondents were supportive. This included 43.4% of respondents in City and Cardiff South, 40.5%
in Cardiff South West and 36.3% in Cardiff South East.

(Base data shown in brackets)

78

Page 88

Reasons for opposing the proposal were provided by 666 respondents, with the most common reasons found
to be expressing the importance of the Arts (230 comments; 34.5%), against the cuts (181 comments; 27.2%),
and Cardiff being a poorer place without the arts (140 responses; 21.0%).
Top 3 themes emerging from the 666 comments received in opposition to the proposal that the Council will
cease funding Cardiff Contemporary Initiative:
Theme
Arts/Culture
are important

No.
230

%
34.5

Example comments




Against the
proposals

181

27.2





Cardiff would
be a poorer
place without
this

140

21.0






The arts are just as important an area than any other, they always
are the first to be hit by cuts/funding.
Because art and culture are integral to the well-being and success of
any city, especially Cardiff which has such a strong art scene.
Art is a key part of city life. The Council should understand that looking
after the cultural needs of the many benefits not only the well off, but
provides a setting for the young and old to contribute and feel valued.
I think the shutdown of the abacus is enough for this decade, please.
If Cardiff is to be a vibrant city where people want to work and live, it
is vital that arts and culture are support - look at Bristol?!
I'm against cuts of any sort we're sleep walking into a future that has
no culture, no art, no innovation, no dreamers who inspire, people
who see an alternative future.
This city has already very little to offer when it comes to art and more
creative disciplines. Taking out the artistic progression and the
evidence of that is going to cripple Cardiff cultural scene even more.
And it’s already barely crawling.
Events like this help keep Cardiff a vibrant city and ceasing funding
might drain the enthusiasm of the city.
Cardiff is always willing to fund sports and pop music events. If
cultural activities cease to be funded Cardiff will become a cultural
wasteland.

5.5.2 Arts Active
Arts Active is a registered Cardiff charity with funding from the City of Cardiff Council as well as private
organisations and foundations. The charity offers education, community and audience engagement projects
for people of all ages in the city through St David’s Hall and the New Theatre.
The Council will no longer be able to contribute to Arts Active’s funding but will seek to maximise contributions
from private organisations and foundations to minimise the impact.

79

Page 89

Q26.

Do you support the decision to cease funding for Arts Active?

2,028 responses were received for the question, a response rate of 60.6%.
47.9% (1,456) agreed with the decision to cease funding, with approximately a quarter opposing the decision
(27.6%) and a quarter unsure (24.5%).

Base: All respondents (3,038)

Respondents from Cardiff East were most supportive of the decision to cease funding (62.4%), compared to
Cardiff South West (39.5%) and Cardiff South East where opposition was greater than support (40.2% versus
33.9%).

(Base data shown in brackets)

Reasons for opposing the proposal were provided by 467 respondents, with the most common reason again
found to be expressing the importance of the Arts (143 respondents; 30.4%), ahead of being against the
proposal (98 responses; 20.9%), and suggesting the Council should be supporting the Arts (91 comments;
19.4%).

80

Page 90

Top 3 themes emerging from the 467 comments received in opposition to the proposal that the Council will
cease funding for Acts Active:
Theme
No.
%
Example comments
Arts/Culture
143
30.4  Art is important to support.
are important
 Important part of the fabric of the city from which everyone can
benefit - cut down on other groups which only have minority
support.
 Culture is vitally important to the identity and morale of the
populous of the city. Take that away and you open a vast chasm of
despair and lack of ambition and will end up paying for it later on.
Against the
98
20.9  Cultural activities must be protected.
proposals
 Because engaging people in Arts is essential to quality of life. You
state in this survey that the charity offers opportunities to people of
all ages, so can you not see how blind it would be to cut this off? We
need cohesive communities and to build connections between
different groups within our communities. Defunding arts will be
detrimental to that.
 Because it's a poor decision.
Job of the
91
19.4  Cardiff Council's funding will be vital in Arts Active securing other
Council to
funding from private organisations and foundations. It is important
support this
for Cardiff Council to support the arts and also to support people’s
participation in the arts.
 Cardiff Council's support is central to Arts Active existence, and its
involvement is symbolic of its commitment to the arts and equal
access to the arts, and diversity of audience and opportunity. Cardiff
is a city marked by its cultural diversity and open embracing of
culture and equality. Cutting funding to Arts Active would reverse
some of the work done to develop this thriving element of the city's
identity, and impact most upon people from poorer
neighbourhoods as well as BME backgrounds.
 The Council ought to support organisations that reach out and work
with some of the most vulnerable people within the city.

5.5.3 Artes Mundi and Cardiff Singer of the World
Q27. The Council currently provides funding to Artes Mundi and Cardiff Singer of the World and
the intention is that there is a phased removal of these grants over 2 years. Do you agree with this
proposal?
Response rates for the Artes Mundi and Cardiff Singer of the World questions were 90.5% (3,029 responses)
and 90.0% (3,007 responses) respectively.
54.9% (1,663) agreed with the proposal for the phased removal of grants to Artes Mundi, compared to 25.2%
who were against the proposal and 19.9% not sure.
50.1% (1,506) agreed with the proposal for Cardiff Singer of the World whilst 33.0% were against and 16.9%
not sure.

81

Page 91

(Base data shown in brackets)

Support for the phased removal of grants from Artes Mundi was greatest in Cardiff East (72.9%), the only
Neighbourhood Partnership Area which exceeded 70%, ahead of Cardiff West (65.0%) and Cardiff North
(61.7%). Opposition was greatest in Cardiff South East where 39.8% supported and 38.2% opposed the
proposal respectively.

(Base data shown in brackets)

82

Page 92

Among the key demographic groups respondents over the age of 55 were most supportive of the phased
removal of funding (61.3%), ahead of males (60.6%). Minority ethnic respondents (39.6%) and under 35s
(42.3%) were significantly less supportive.

(Base data shown in brackets)

Results were similar for the same question on Cardiff Singer of the World, including Cardiff East having the
greatest support (64.3%) and Cardiff South East the lowest (41.5%).

(Base data shown in brackets)

83

Page 93

The proposal for a phased removal of funding to Cardiff Singer of the World was supported by males (53.6%),
respondents identifying as disabled (53.2%) and the over 50s (50.9%) compared to 42.3% of minority ethnic
respondents.

(Base data shown in brackets)

5.5.4 Community Arts
Q28. The Council is also reducing the Arts Grant to organisations which support community led art
programmes. Do you agree with this?
There was a response rate of 90.4% (3,025 respondents) for Q28.
Opinions on reducing the Arts Grant were divided, with 38.9% (1,176) in agreement compared with 40.9%
(1,237) against the proposal.

Base: All respondents (3,025)

84

Page 94

Once again there was significant variation in agreement with half the respondents from Cardiff East (50.0%)
supporting the reduction. This was more than double the equivalent result in Cardiff South East where 24.5%
agreed with the proposal but 56.6% were in opposition.

(Base data shown in brackets)

Cardiff Without Culture petition
The coalition of arts producers and consumers ran an online campaign against the proposals to cuts
funding to the arts and gathered 4,102 individual signatories.

Cardiff Youth Council Engagement Forum
The Youth Council discussed the different proposals which will potentially affect art and culture provision.
When asked about the plan to withdraw funding for Cardiff Contemporary Initiative, the young people at
the Cardiff Youth Council engagement event were most concerned about how this would impact on the
city. They felt that the Arts and Culture scene makes the city attractive, interesting and unique.
When asked about the proposal to cease funding for Arts Active there was a divide with some feeling that
if funding could be found from elsewhere then the Council should cease funding. However, others felt
that there was a clear need for this charity and it should be fully supported by the Council.
Attendees at the event felt that the Council should continue to fund Artes Mundi and the Cardiff Singer of
the World, with their reasons including that ‘It brings tourism to the area to support growth’.

Additional correspondence
In addition to the petition, Cardiff Council received 43 correspondences relating to the Arts. All were
from individuals or single organisations with the exception of one which had 29 signatories from major art
and community organisations. The respondents include representation from Cardiff residents and the
wider general public, art academics, professional artists and businesses.
The correspondences argue the importance of the arts sector, and makes the case for the continued
funding of Cardiff Contemporary, Artes Mundi and Cardiff Singer of the World. They argue for the
cultural profile that the initiatives bring to the city, which in turn attracts 52,000 visitors each year, driving
Page
95 cohesion and focus on engaging with
tourism and investment. Correspondents stressed the
community
deprived communities, working with ethnic minorities and older, unemployed and disabled people.

85

Budget Consultation 15/16
2.5 Events and Celebrations
There are a number of events and celebrations that the Council has traditionally helped to fund
over the year. Financial challenges mean that the Council no longer has the resources to enable
this support to continue.
In recent years, ways have been found to ensure that some events still proceed though commercial
funding such as Winter Wonderland and the Cardiff Bay Beach. Within the consultation, it was
outlined that Council funding is proposed to be withdrawn for other events in the city including
Calennig, Cardiff Country Fair, St David’s Day Celebrations and the Cardiff in Bloom Competition.
Additionally there will be no Christmas Trees in the city and the Bay unless sponsorship is secured.
Whilst work will continue to help source alternative funding /sponsorship for these events, it is
likely that without financial support from the Council they could cease.
The findings of the consultation revealed that whilst 70.0% of respondents were in favour of the
Council ceasing funding of the annual Cardiff Country Fair, there was a greater opposition to
proposals regarding St David’s Day celebrations (39.6% / 1,492) and Christmas Tree provision
(39.4% / 1,485).

Where those responding disagreed with the proposals to cease funding of events they were invited
to give an explanation of their opposition. The greatest number of additional comments was
received in relation to the provision of city centre and Cardiff Bay Christmas trees (1,019) and St.
David’s Day celebrations (956). In comparison just 321 (7.7% of the overall number of
respondents) provided comments opposed to the cessation of funding for the Cardiff Country Fair.
86

Page 96

A fifth (20.6%) of those providing comments on Calennig (84 people) referenced the importance of
the Calennig celebrations to the city’s image.
Top 3 themes emerging from the 408 comments received in relation to opposing the cessation of
Council funding for Calennig:
Theme
No.
%
Example comments

“These
are
things
that bring in visitors to our city and should be
Importance to
84
20.6
Cardiff’s image

Disagree with the
proposal/need to be
retained even if
sponsorship cannot
be secured

80

19.6







Importance of events
in Cardiff’s role as a
capital city

65

15.9





celebrated. The capital of Wales without these important Welsh
activities would be a lesser place.”
“As a capital city these events showcase the city to the world”
“Calennig is very important to Cardiff and people who attend it
every year people all over the world the Council have done a
great job up to now so perhaps you could look at funding some
of the events?”
“All of these parts are important to the culture of the people of
Cardiff, it is ridiculous to remove any funding, these are council
responsibilities.”
“No to cuts to Calennig as this is a popular celebration in the
city, one which tourists also attend so the council should
maximise income generating opportunities.”
“Cardiff is the Capital city of wales. At new year England has it's
celebrations in London, Scotland has it's Hogmanay and we
would be left with nothing”
“Cardiff is the capital city of Wales. We should encourage all
celebrations that encourage our Welsh identity.”
“The Calennig is important to the City's attractiveness as a
tourist destination and it's City status”

A total of 586 additional comments were received relating to Cardiff in Bloom. Most frequently
these mentioned the importance of this event on community spirit as well as the positive impact
that the celebrations make to the overall image of the city.
Themes emerging from the 586 comments received in relation to opposing the cessation of
Council funding for Cardiff in Bloom:
Theme
No.
%
Example comments

“Cardiff
in
bloom
encourages residents to take a pride in their
Community spirit
163
27.8




Importance to
Cardiff’s image
Disagree with the
proposal/need to be
retained even if
sponsorship cannot
be secured

146

24.9



92

15.7





city and surrounding environment”
“Cardiff in bloom is an example of a good scheme for ensuring
the involvement of individuals with pride in their city. Nearly all
the others listed do not provide the same function, and if they
are not profitable then they should cease.”
“Cardiff in bloom helps to get some of the citizens of Cardiff to
show their gardens to the rest of the city, this rubs off on their
neighbours, friends and people passing making it a better
place.”
“Cardiff in Bloom is a good vehicle for bringing communities
together and it is difficult to see how it could be run or coordinated outside the council framework.
“Cardiff in Bloom. Maintains some colour in the City. St David’s
Day.
“Important for the image of the City”
its important that the city retains a visual presence”

87

Page 97

70% (2,630 respondents) of those participating in the Consultation expressed agreement with the
Council’s proposal to cease funding of the Cardiff Country Fair event. Of those who were opposed
to the plans 321 provided comments outlining their reasoning.
Top 3 themes emerging from the 321 comments received in relation to opposing the cessation of
Council funding for Cardiff Country Fair:
Theme
No.
%
Example comments

“The country fair is at a time when there are few other activities
Disagree with the
66
20.6
proposal/need to be
retained even if
sponsorship cannot
be secured





Importance to
Cardiff’s image

59

18.4





Community spirit

46

14.3






and for children raised in an urban environment gives them an
opportunity to experience other things.”
“There's nothing much going on in Cardiff so the fair should stay
Cardiff Country Fair - excellent event. Good for getting kids
involved in conservation”
“We need something to celebrate amongst all this austerity and
the country fair seems to be the most interesting of these
events”
“These events bring people to the city and help develop a vibrant
city”
“These are all key celebrations for the City for all inhabitants to
use - keep them going.”
“The draw and attraction of the City is due to the attractiveness
and events that take place within it. Removal of the sponsored
events will prove a detriment to the city.”
“By reducing funding to some of the cultural events above it will
reduce community spirt, and the presentation of the city.”
“I feel the county fair brings in money as well and is a great
community event”
“Cardiff County fair is a great community gathering
“because people need to come together more than they do”

Proposals to cease the Councils funding of St. David’s Day celebrations (along with the funding of
Christmas trees) received the highest level of opposition with two fifths (39.6% or 1,492
respondents) of people stating that they disagreed with the plans. Greatest opposition was seen in
Cardiff East (46.9%) and City & Cardiff South (46.3%), compared to 35.7% in Cardiff North (Graph
2.39, Appendix 1)
A total of 956 respondents also provided details regarding their opposition with over a third
(36.1%) of these referencing the importance of the celebrations to the culture and heritage of the
city. It was also considered by many that, as the Capital City of Wales, it is essential that Cardiff
make provision to make this celebration in the calendar.

88

Page 98

Themes emerging from the 956 comments received in relation to opposing the cessation of
Council funding for St David’s Day Celebrations:
Theme
No.
%
Example comments

“St.
David’s
Day
should
continue to be celebrated as we should
Importance to the
345
36.1
city’s
culture/heritage






Importance of
events in Cardiff’s
role as a capital city

253

26.5







Disagree with the
proposal/need to be
retained even if
sponsorship cannot
be secured

174

18.2








celebrate our national day....it should also be a bank holiday....”
“I think it is important that the St David’s day celebrations
continue as it is our national day and Cardiff is the capital city.
Xmas tree provision should also continue as it is our main
festival of the year and brings happiness and joy to many.
“St. David’s day celebrations are historic & essential to our
culture. How awful to go into the City Centre or the Bay at
Christmas & not see a Christmas Tree”
“St David's day celebration is an important national event and
Cardiff as Wales' capital city should have a St David’s Day
celebration. Thousands of people turned up to the celebration in
13-14. It would be a shame to lose this”
“Capital of Wales ceasing St David’s Day celebrations and not
having Christmas tree would be pretty sad!”
“We are the Welsh Capital and as such should mark St David’s
day - doesn’t have to be large scale though. We are a Christian
country and Christmas is an important festival which brings huge
income to the retailers in the city. People are attracted by such
things as Christmas decorations.”
“Cardiff is the Capital and needs St David’s day celebrations and
a Xmas tree.”
“Cardiff as the capital of Wales should support our national
Saint's day.”
“If these events were to cease as stated above "without financial
support from the Council" then I believe that Council funding
should continue. Every citizen deserves the "feel good factor" in
their city.”
“St David's Day is a national event and so should be funded by
the council as it's for all. The same for Christmas provisions. The
others are "nice to haves" and not essential when funding is
tight”
“Council should encourage a 'green' city, St David’s day should
be celebrated in capital city”
“St David’s day is a must for funding”

A total of 1,485 respondents (39.4%) expressed their opposition to the Councils proposal to cease
funding for Christmas tree provision in the city centre and Cardiff Bay. City & Cardiff South
respondents were less likely to be in favour of the proposal with 45.6% against, compared to 36.9%
in Cardiff West. (Graph 2.41, Appendix 1)
Over a thousand (1,019) of those against the proposal also took the opportunity to detail the
reasons for their resistance to the plans.
The annual features of the Christmas trees were described as being extremely important with their
provision having significant positive effect upon the image of the city, community spirit and
wellbeing as well as economic activity.

89

Page 99

Top 3 themes emerging from the 1,019 comments received in relation to opposing the cessation
of Council funding for Christmas Tree provision in the city and Bay:
Theme
No.
%
Example comments

“Cardiff
as
a
Capital
City should supply the Christmas trees for
Disagree with the
432
42.4
proposal/need to be
retained even if
sponsorship cannot
be secured




Importance to
Cardiff’s image

150

14.7






Community spirit

146

14.3







the city if funding/sponsorship is not sought - You can’t have the
Capital City of Wales without a tree. Maybe working with an
environmental group to donate a ethically sourced trees as part
of a partnership”
“All events could be self-funding in principle but the St David’s
Day and the trees are essential to our pride and presentation.”
“Christmas is a celebration for all and should be funded by the
council. The other events are for the minority of people.”
“If Cardiff is to encourage visitors to spend money we need
attractions not a dull city centre”
“St David's day and Christmas are national holidays. Wales'
image would be damaged by not celebrating these appropriately
at times when the world is watching.”
“It is important for the image of the City and to help encourage
visitors during the Xmas period.”
“A capital city with no Christmas Tree would look very second
rate!!”
“Christmas is a whole family experience and should be supported
in order to encourage a feeling of wellbeing in austere times”
“We are a Christian based society The tree especially in City
Centre is an Important symbol of this, Also bring back Mary
Joseph and baby Jesus, and 3 wise men to castle walls. My
Muslim friends will not be offended.”
“Important for Community spirit”
“Christmas is a community time, and money should be spent to
provide public trees for people who cannot afford their own”

90

Page 100

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend but not
to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to consider and review
matters there are no direct financial implications at this stage in relation to any of the work
programme. However, financial implications may arise if and when the matters under
review are implemented with or without any modifications.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend but not
to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to consider and review
matters there are no direct legal implications. However, legal implications may arise if and
when the matters under review are implemented with or without modification. Any report
with recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet / Council will set out any legal
implications arising from those recommendations. All decisions taken by or on behalf of the
Council must (a) be within the legal power of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural
requirement imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person exercising
powers on behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the procedural
requirements imposed by the Council e.g. standing orders and financial regulations; (e) be
fully and properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the
Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in all the
circumstances.

91

Page 101

COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE


To scrutinise, measure and actively promote improvement in the Council’s performance
in the provision of services and compliance with Council policies, aims and objectives in
the area of economic regeneration.
o Cardiff City Region City Deal
o Inward Investment and the marketing of Cardiff
o South East Wales Economic Forum
o Economic Strategy & Employment
o European Funding & Investment
o Small to Medium Enterprise Support
o Cardiff Harbour Authority
o Lifelong Learning
o Leisure Centres
o Sports Development
o Parks & Green Spaces
o Libraries, Arts & Culture
o Civic Buildings
o Events & Tourism
o Strategic Projects
o Innovation &Technology Centres
o Local Training & Enterprise



To assess the impact of partnerships with and resources and services provided by
external organisations including the Welsh Government, joint local government services,
Welsh Government Sponsored Public Bodies and quasi-departmental nongovernmental bodies on the effectiveness of Council service delivery.



To report to an appropriate Cabinet or Council meeting on its findings and to make
recommendations on measures, which may enhance Council performance or service
delivery in this area.

92

Page 102

Economy & Culture Scrutiny Committee Membership

Councillor Nigel Howells
(Chairperson)

Councillor Iona Gordon

Councillor Jane Henshaw

Councillor Gavin Hill-John

Councillor Thomas Parkhill

Councillor Adbdul Sattar

Councillor Elaine Simmons

Councillor Adrian Robson

Councillor Ed Stubbs

93

Page 103

Scrutiny Services, Cardiff County Council
Room 263, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW
Tel: 029 2087 3506 Email: scrutinyviewpoints@cardiff.gov.uk

© 2019 Cardiff Council

94

Page 104

Agenda Item 3
CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2019
PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDERS – DOG CONTROLS
CULTURE AND LEISURE (COUNCILLOR PETER BRADBURY)
AGENDA ITEM:3
Reason for this Report
1.

To consider the introduction of a Public Space Protection Order for Dog
Controls under Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act 2014.

2.

To approve the policy document for Public Space Protection Orders.

Background
3.

Cardiff Council have carried out targeted educational interventions
across the city where there are high number of complaints in relation to
dog fouling. However, there continues to be issues across Cardiff with
irresponsible dog ownership, specifically where dog faeces is not being
removed and where dogs are not sufficiently controlled. The Council is
aware that the majority of dog owners are responsible and control their
dogs in public spaces. However, there is still a minority of people who do
not take responsibility for their dogs and ignore the Council's byelaws.

4.

The Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) is available to local
authorities to tackle persistent anti-social behaviour (ASB). PSPOs are
available to local authorities to deal with specific nuisance problems in
particular areas that are, or are likely to have a detrimental effect on the
quality of life of people in the area.

5.

The PSPO is a short-term tool and should be reviewed within three years
to assess the effectiveness and necessity of the Order. A breach of the
PSPO is a criminal offence. Enforcement officers with delegated
authority can issue a Fixed Penalty Notice of £100, and a level 3 fine can
be issued upon prosecution.

6.

The Cabinet Decision of 12th July 2018 resolved that:
1.

Officers be authorised to undertake a 6 -12 week public
consultation exercise on the proposal to introduce a Public Spaces
Protection Order (PSPO) under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime

Page 105

Page 1 of 7

and Policing Act 2014 to introduce dog controls in areas across
the Cardiff and to report back to Cabinet.
2.

the consultation for dog control specifically looks at:






3.

the prohibition of dog fouling in all public places owned
and/or maintained by the Council,
the exclusion of dogs in all enclosed playgrounds, marked
sports pitches and Schools, which are owned and/or
maintained by Cardiff Council.
a requirement that dogs are kept on leads within all
Cemeteries owned and/or maintained by Cardiff Council.
a requirement allowing authorised officers to give a direction
that a dog (s) be put and kept on a lead if necessary,
setting the fixed penalty fine for breach of the order to the
maximum permitted of £100.

the revocation of the current byelaws associated with dog control
in Cardiff be endorsed

7.

The Council carried out a consultation for 6 weeks from the 10th
September to the 22nd October 2018. This consultation was advertised
on the Council’s website, social media and via posters that were
displayed in each community hub and library across Cardiff. The
reporting methods to respond to the consultation were via email, post,
survey, publication through Council websites and social media.

8.

In total, there were 6,002 responses to the consultation the results of
which can be found in Appendix A.

9.

The consultation promoted comprehensive debate relating to the banning
of dogs from sports pitches.

10.

The recommended dog controls proposed following consultation are:








The prohibition of dog fouling in all public spaces owned and/or
maintained by the Council
The requirement for a dog owner to have a means of clearing dog
fouling.
The exclusion of dogs in all enclosed playgrounds and schools,
which are owned and / or maintained by Cardiff Council.
The requirement that dogs are kept on a lead within all cemeteries
owned and / or maintained by Cardiff Council.
A requirement allowing authorised officers to give a direction that a
dog (s) be put and kept on a lead if necessary.
The fixed penalty notice charge for a breach of a Public Spaces
Protection Order for dog controls, as set out above, is set at £100.
The dog controls will be exempt for persons who have a disability
that affects the person’s mobility, manual dexterity, physical coordination or ability to lift, carry or otherwise move everyday objects,
in respect of a dog trained by a registered charity and upon which
the person relies for assistance.

Page 106

Page 2 of 7

Issues
11.

Cabinet could consider a 'do nothing' approach. However, the current
byelaws contained under Dog Fouling of Land Act 1996 are not
supported via Magistrates Courts and will eventually be repealed. This is
due to there being more up to date legislation that the Council should be
utilising, specifically the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act
2014.

12.

A PSPO policy is required by the Council to provide the process and
guidance of how PSPO’s will be managed in Cardiff. The PSPO policy
can be found in Appendix B.

13.

In compliance with the duties as expressed within the Equality Act 2010
an Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken to determine how
the PSPO may target or impact on groups with protected characteristics
(Appendix C). Exemptions include:
The proposed PSPO will not apply to a person:







Who are visually impaired and registered under Section 29 of the
National Assistance Act 1948.
Who is registered as sight impaired, severely sight impaired or as
having sight and hearing impairments, registered under 18 of the
Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014.
Who has a disability which affects their mobility or any other
disability, where the requirement of removing faeces would be
unreasonable.
Who has a disability that affects the person’s mobility, manual
dexterity, physical co-ordination or ability to lift, carry or otherwise
move everyday objects, in respect of a dog trained by a registered
charity and upon which the person relies for assistance.
Working Dogs used for emergency search and rescue, law
enforcement, HM armed forces and used for directing animals will be
exempt.

14.

Engagement will take place with vulnerable user groups to explain the
new legislation and associated exemptions. This will take place via
correspondence and via Cardiff Access Focus Group.

15.

Environmental Enforcement officers and Park Rangers will undertake
Disability Equality Training to support them in their role of enforcement.

16.

Articles 10 and 11 of the Human Rights Act 1998 regarding freedom of
expression and freedom of assembly and association have been
considered and no issues have been identified.

17.

An interested person may appeal to the High Court to question the
validity of a PSPO, or a variation of an Order. An appeal must be made
within the period of 6 weeks beginning with the date on which the Order
or variation is made.

Page 107

Page 3 of 7

18.

Future Orders and publication will be translated bilingually and signs will
be created in compliance with the Welsh Language Act 1993.

Resources
19.

Resource will be required for the preparation of the legal order (including
associated publication), media campaign and for the implementation of
signage relating to any agreed dog controls. This will be provided from
the environmental improvement reserve.

20.

Resource within the Environmental Enforcement team and Park Rangers
team will be delegated authority to issue fines relating to the Public
Space Protection Order for dog controls.

21.

The Council will work in partnership with the police to discuss training for
Police Community Support Officers to support enforcement of new
controls.

Local Member consultation
22.

All Local Members were sent the consultation survey for PSPO dog
controls at the start of the consultation.

23.

Environmental Scrutiny Committee undertook a review following the
consultation and Local Members were invited to attend if they wanted to
discuss the outcomes of the consultation or present their views.

24.

Environmental Scrutiny Committee supported by the Cabinet Member for
Culture and Leisure will undertake a pre-decision scrutiny of the
recommendations for dog controls prior to Cabinet.

Reason for Recommendations
25.

The Council is seeking to establish a balanced set of controls that permit
dog owners to enjoy the amenity offered by our many open spaces along
with those whose enjoyment of the same spaces could be detrimentally
affected by the actions of irresponsible dog owners.

26.

A Public Spaces Protection Order will allow Enforcement Officers to
serve Fixed Penalty Notices for specified antisocial behaviour relating to
dog control.

27.

The PSPO for dog controls will address the changes in legislation
relating to the Dog Fouling of Land Act 1996.

28.

Byelaws across Cardiff are varied due to the time of implementation and
changes in legislation. Therefore, the PSPO for dog controls will ensure
a robust and consistent approach to enforcement on the public land,
including pavements, parks, schools, cemeteries and any other Council
owned or maintained land.

Page 108

Page 4 of 7

29.

The PSPO for dog controls will support a move from reactive to proactive
management of dog fouling in terms of requiring dog walkers to
demonstrate they have a means to clear dog fouling; such as a bag or
scooper.

Financial Implications
30.

The introduction of a Public Space Protection Order for Dog Controls will
be funded from within existing resources.

Legal Implications
31

The recommendation to adopt the Dog Control Public Space Protection
Order in Cardiff will allow for breaches of the order to be enforced
(subject to the enforcement policy) by way of a Fixed Penalty Notice of
£100. If this notice of fine is not paid within the required time then a
criminal prosecution may be commenced against the defendant.
The introduction of the Dog Control Public Space Protection Order will
lead to an increased number of criminal prosecutions in the Magistrates’
Court with a need for an increase in resources to cover the expected
increased work.

32.

All decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council must :
(a) be within the legal powers of the Council;
(b) comply with any procedural requirement imposed by law;
(c) be within the powers of the body or person exercising powers on
behalf of the Council;
(d) be undertaken in accordance with the procedural requirements
imposed by the Council e.g. standing orders and financial regulations;
(e) be fully and properly informed;
(f) be properly motivated;
(g) be taken having regard to the Council’s fiduciary duty to its taxpayers;
(h) and be reasonable and proper in all the circumstances.

33.

The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’)
places a ‘well-being duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national
well-being goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient,
healthier, more equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and
thriving Welsh language, and is globally responsible. The Council have
taken into account the impact of the report recommendations on people
living their lives in Wales in the future, having regard to:
•
•
•
•
•

Looking to the long term
Focusing on prevention by understanding the root causes of
problems
Delivering an integrated approach to achieving the 7 national wellbeing goals
Working in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable
solutions
Involving people from all sections of the community in the
decisions which affect them

Page 109

Page 5 of 7

34.

The Council is satisfied that the proposed recommendations accord with
the above principles

HR Implications
35

There are no HR implications to this report as the roles already have
LEQ enforcement such as littering and dog fouling as a requirement and
the recommendations in this report will provide support for tis
enforcement role.

36.

The details within this report have been consulted on with the trade
unions and staff who work within enforcement.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Cabinet is recommended to:
1.

approve the introduction of a Public Space Protection Order for Dog
Controls under Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act 2014 to include:








2.

The prohibition of dog fouling in all public spaces owned and/or
maintained by the Council
The requirement for a dog owner to have a means of clearing dog
fouling.
The exclusion of dogs in all enclosed playgrounds and schools,
which are owned and / or maintained by Cardiff Council
The requirement that dogs are kept on a lead within all cemeteries
owned and / or maintained by Cardiff Council
A requirement allowing authorised officers to give a direction that
a dog (s) be put and kept on a lead if necessary
The fixed penalty notice charge for a breach of a Public Spaces
Protection Order for dog controls, as set out above, is set at £100.
The dog controls will be exempt for persons who have a disability
that affects the person’s mobility, manual dexterity, physical coordination or ability to lift, carry or otherwise move everyday
objects, in respect of a dog trained by a registered charity and
upon which the person relies for assistance

approve the new policy for Public Space Protection Orders.

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER

ANDREW GREGORY
Director of Planning, Transport &
Environment
15 March 2019

Page 110

Page 6 of 7

The following appendices are attached:
Appendix A – PSPO: Dog Control Consultation Response Report
Appendix B – PSPO Policy Statement.
Appendix C – EqIA for the Public Space Protection Orders – Dog Controls

The following background papers have been taken into account
Local Government Association: Public Spaces Protection Orders - Guidance for
Councils
Home Office: Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014: Reform of
anti-social behaviour powers: Statutory guidance for front line professionals,
July 2014
Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014
Equalities Act 2010
Human Rights Act 1998
Dog Fouling of Land Act 1996
Welsh Language Act 1993
National Assistance Act 1948

Page 111

Page 7 of 7

This page is intentionally left blank

PSPO:Dog Controls Consultation
Response Report

Cardiff Research Centre, Cardiff Council – January 2018
1

Page 113

1

“Delivering effective research and consultation and first class
research and information services”
Cardiff Research Centre delivers key research, information and multimedia services for
Cardiff Council and other key organisations in Cardiff and Wales.
Core services include:
 Collection, analysis and interpretation of primary survey data.
 Analysis and interpretation of a wide range of secondary demographic and
socio‐economic statistical data.
 Specialised studies on a wide range of topics including social, economic and
demographic subjects.
 Quantitative and qualitative research and consultation projects.
 Management Cardiff Citizens’ Panel.
 Focus Group and meeting facilitation.
 Advice and support on all aspects of research and consultation.
 GIS mapping services
 Professional multimedia support in relation to presentations,
conferences, meetings, graphic design services and internet
development.
For further information please contact
Cardiff Research Centre
 029 2087 3217
 research@cardiff.gov.uk
 consultation@cardiff.gov.uk

Cardiff Research Centre, Cardiff Council – January 2018
2

Page 114

2

CONTENTS

Page
4
5
8

BACKGROUND
METHODOLOGY
RESPONDENTS
RESULTS:
Are you responding as:
Are you a dog owner in Cardiff?
If yes, on an average dog walk how many dogs do you have with you?
Do you feel there are any areas across Cardiff of concern in relation to
dogs being out of control?
Are you aware you can dispose of dog faeces in any Council public
waste bin in parks or on pavements?
Do you think there are enough Council public waste bins across
Cardiff in parks?
Do you feel these bins are emptied enough?
Do you think there are enough Council public waste bins across
Cardiff on pavements?
Do you feel these bins are emptied enough?
The prohibition of dog fouling in all public spaces owned and / or
maintained by the Council
The exclusion of dogs in all enclosed playgrounds, marked sports pitches
and schools, which are owned and / or maintained by Cardiff Council
A requirement that dogs are kept on leads within all cemeteries owned
and / or maintained by Cardiff Council
A requirement allowing authorised officers to give a direction that a dog(s)
be put and kept on a lead if necessary
Do you agree that enforcement measures should be put in place to ensure
that dog owners / walkers carry bags or other suitable means for the
disposal of dog faeces?
Do you have any suggestions or recommendations to make in relation to
the proposed restrictions across Cardiff?
Are your day to day activities limited because of a physical or mental health
condition, illness or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last 12
months or more?
How old are you?
Appendix A – Identified Stakeholders
Appendix B – Stakeholder Letter
Appendix C – Citizen’s Panel Information
Appendix D – Stakeholder / Consultee Comments
Appendix E – Petition Comments
Appendix F – Councillor Enquiries

Page 115

10
10
11
11

14
15
15
16
16
17
18
20
21

22
24

26
27
28
30
34
41
55
76

3

Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPOs)
Consultation on Proposed Dog Controls
Background
Cardiff Council is committed to tackling anti‐social behaviour in relation to dogs.
Cardiff Council has the responsibility for the management and maintenance of public spaces
across the city. These spaces include parks, adopted highways, sports grounds, Schools and
Cemeteries.
It is accepted that the majority of dog owners are responsible and clean up after their dogs.
However, despite a number of interventions tried over the years there continues to be a
growing concern across the city in relation to dogs, specifically in relation to dog fouling.
In order to tackle these issues, the Council has the authority to implement a Public Spaces
Protection Order (PSPO) under the Anti‐Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014. A
PSPO can prohibit or restrict certain activities and are designed to ensure that the law
abiding majority can use and enjoy public spaces, safe from anti‐social behaviour.
The Council must consult with members of the public and other key stakeholders prior to
the introduction of a new order.
Cardiff Research Centre (CRC) were commissioned by Culture & Leisure to facilitate a public
consultation into the proposal to introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order in relation to
dog controls. The consultation aimed to seek views on the following proposed restrictions;


The prohibition of dog fouling in all public spaces owned and/or maintained by the
Council,



The exclusion of dogs in all enclosed playgrounds, marked sports pitches and schools,
which are owned and / or maintained by Cardiff Council.



A requirement that dogs are kept on a lead within all cemeteries owned and / or
maintained by Cardiff Council.



A requirement allowing authorised officers to give a direction that a dog (s) be put
and kept on a lead if necessary,



Increasing the fixed penalty notice charge for a breach of a Public Spaces Protection
Order from £80 to £100.

Page 116

4

Methodology


The electronic survey was available to complete online from Monday the 10th September
to Monday 22nd October 2018.



Dedicated web pages were set up on the Council website to host a variety of information
about the proposed dog control measures (www.cardiff.gov.uk/dogcontrols). These
pages included links to the electronic survey as well as downloadable hard cope of the
questionnaire.



Links to the survey were also available via Cardiff Councils dedicated web pages
www.cardiff.gov.uk/haveyoursay.



The survey was advertised via a banner on the council’s website homepage which had
90,121 visits during the consultation period.



The survey was promoted as a Quick Link’ on the council’s Intranet pages.



Paper copies of the survey were available on request by contacting
consultation@cardiff.gov.uk.



Officers from C2C were on hand to offer assistance in filling out the survey over the
phone and to help with any queries from members of the public.



Identified stakeholder’s (see Appendix A) were communicated with directly via email. A
copy of the letter sent to them can be seen as Appendix B.



A direct link to the survey was emailed to approximately 5,000 members of the Citizens
Panel. (More information can be found in Appendix C).



A communication campaign was conducted via social media. Cardiff Council’s Twitter
and Facebook accounts have a combined audience of 89,000 followers (78K Twitter),
(11K Facebook).



16 Specific posts on social media – they reached, 512,421 people and generated 1,766
clicks, comments, likes and shares.



Posted these on 3 parks pitches updates (with the aim of targeting sports clubs using the
pitches) – these reached an additional 6,015 people and generated a further 850
engagements.



Liaised with the Urban Park Rangers to post via their twitter account and the Community
Rangers to post via their Facebook page.



Promotional posters were displayed across the council’s 19 city‐wide Hubs and Libraries.

Page 117

5



Additional promotional work included sending the survey link out to ‘Network of friends’
groups across Cardiff, these included:














Friends of Roath Park
Friends of Heath
Friends of Hailey Park
Friends of Cefn Onn
Friends of Coed y felin
Friends of Bute Park

Friends of Cathays
Friends of Forest Farm
Friends of Nant Fawr
Friends of Pentre Gardens
Friends of Moorland Park
Friends of Howardian

Bute Park

Page 118

6

Roath Park

Hailey Park

Further promotional work included sending the survey link out to sporting venues across
Cardiff, these included:







Cricket Wales
Sport Wales
Glamorgan CC
Cardiff midweek cricket league
South Wales FA
FAW Trust







Page 119

Cardiff and District league
Cardiff Combination League
Lazarou Sunday league
All football club secretaries
WRU

7

Respondents
There were 6,002 responses received over the consultation period. This is the largest
response to a single survey by Cardiff Council in 2018.
In addition to this over 180 emails were received from individuals along with 12 emails from
public bodies, a sample of these can be found in Appendix D
During the consultation period there were numerous petitions setup objecting to the
proposal to ban dogs from all marked sports pitches which are owned and / or maintained
by Cardiff Council, one of the petitions received over 16,000 signatures, examples of
comments made between 3rd October to 21st October via the petitions can be found in
Appendix E.
Further to the petition, on Sunday 21st October there was a ‘Dog March’ through Cardiff to
protest against the proposals, the walk, which had a low‐level police presence for safety
reasons, began at Llandaff Fields before heading through Pontcanna Fields, Bute Park,
across North Road, and then down King Edward VII Avenue to City Hall. Organisers of the
event say 600 people joined the protest which ended in a rally outside City Hall.
A number of Councillor Enquiries were received in relation to the proposed Public Spaces
Protection Order – Dog controls. A summary of the Councillor enquires that were received
can be found below:
Those against the proposed dog controls
Majority of Councillor Enquiries that came in were from dog owners and stated that they
were responsible dog owners.
Dog owners felt aggrieved in relation to the proposal that dogs would be prohibited from
marked sports pitches.
Concerns were raised in relation to both themselves and their dog’s welfare and mental
health. They were concerned that they wouldn’t abide by exercising their dogs as stated
under The Animal Welfare Act 2006.
Enquiries that came in stated that there is more of an issue within Cardiff in regard to litter
within Parks than there is dog fouling, and this is more of a problem in the summer months.
Council bins are often full and not emptied enough.
Comments were made that a lot of people look at pitches before matches and there is
hardly any dog mess, but there is a lot of litter including plastic bottles, cans, glass and in the
summer months BBQs.
A lot of parks contain marked sport pitches and residents would need to travel further and
in some cases use public transport or their cars in order to fully exercise their dogs, this

Page 120

8

could lead to an increase in C02 emissions. Owners were concerned that this could result in
people not taking their dogs for walks at all, due to difficulty in getting to a park where their
dog could run freely.
This proposal if implemented could lead to an increase in bad behaviour in dogs such as;
barking and dogs and people being un‐socialised as they may not get out as much and have
less exercise.
Other methods and interventions should have been looked at before deciding on Public
Spaces Protection Orders.
The proposal would impact every dog owner/walker whether they are responsible owners
or not.
Majority of people commented and stated that the irresponsible dog owners/walkers do not
abide by the current byelaws now, why would they abide to a PSPO?
Having dog owners and walkers within parks ensures that the parks across Cardiff are in
constant use and also reduces anti‐social behaviour in the area and the congregation of
youths within these parks.
Lack of advertisement in relation to the consultation
Toxocariasis is very rare and can be found in other animals and not just dogs.
How will these be enforced? A lot of people stated that they have not seen an enforcement
officer when they have been walking their dogs and how is this going to be implemented
with the current budget cuts.
The number of complaints contained within the cabinet report aren’t contained in the
appendix.
There isn’t any alternative location where dogs can run freely across Cardiff.
The proposed dog controls would have an adverse effect on the elderly who own and/or
walk a dog.
Consultation is flawed and contains loaded questions.

Page 121

9

Those in favour of the proposal on dog controls
Majority of the Councillor enquires that were received stated that they were in favour of the
prohibition of dog fouling in parks and public spaces across Cardiff and would encourage
more enforcement officers to patrol the parks.
A lot of people also agreed that dogs should be prohibited from Schools and Enclosed
playgrounds and that dogs should be kept on leads within Cemeteries.
Dog owners/ walkers agreed that there is an issue with dog fouling across Cardiff.
Dog owners stated that a better option would be to increase the fixed penalty notice.
People agreed that dogs should be kept on a lead on marked sports pitches and stated that
dogs should be kept on a lead during official sports team training or game sessions.
A few people had stated that they fully supported the prohibition of dogs on marked sports
pitches as they didn’t want their children or themselves rolling around in dog mess when
playing sports.
They stated that dogs should be kept on a lead when matches are being played, as often
dogs will run on to the pitch when a match is being played or a dog will chase the ball.
Members of the public and visitors stated that dogs should not be able to foul and marked
sports pitches as residue left on pitches/grass can cause infection.
Dogs to be put on leads within certain facilities such as playing areas and bowling greens to
protect the safety of others and preventing them from behaving unpredictably.
Some people are in support of dogs being on leads to keep them under control, especially
when they have children, as a few children are scared of dogs especially when they come
running over and not everyone likes it when a dog jumps over themselves or their children.
For examples of comments that were sent in as Councillor enquires please refer to Appendix
F.
The place of residence of respondents (who provided a valid postcode) from across Cardiff
can be seen in the map below with ‘hotspots’ evident in Cyncoed/Llanishen to the north and
Canton/Riverside to the south.

Page 122

10

Map 1

Page 123

11

Map 2 shows the geographic representativeness of the survey responses.
Map 2

Page 124

12

Are you responding as:
Nine in ten (92.4%) respondents to the survey were residents of Cardiff, one in ten (9.3%) of
responses came from someone who works and / or studies in Cardiff.

Are you responding as:
(Base:5,999)
100.0
90.0
80.0
70.0
60.0
50.0
40.0
30.0
20.0
10.0
0.0

92.4

9.3
A Resident of Someone
Cardiff
who works
and / or
studies in
Cardiff

5.0

1.8

0.8

0.2

A Visitor

A Local
Business
Owner

Other
Stakeholder

Councillor /
Cabinet
Member

Percentages do not total 100% as respondents could have selected multiple options

Are you a dog owner in Cardiff?
Three‐fifths (60.5%) of the survey respondents owned a dog. This compares to just 26.0% of
households in the UK.1

No.

Dog owner
Yes
No
Total

%

3,609
2,356
5,965

60.5
39.5
100.0

Are you a dog walker in Cardiff?
Three fifths (60.8%) of respondents walk their own dog, 106 walk dogs as a job.
No.

Dog Walker
Yes ‐ As a dog owner
Yes ‐ Walk dogs as a job
No
Total

3,611
106
2,221
5,938

%
60.8
1.8
37.4
100.0

Statista.com ‐ Leading pets, ranked by household ownership in the United Kingdom (UK) in
2017/18
1

Page 125

13

If yes, on an average dog walk how many dogs do you have with you?
Three quarters (75.0%) of all respondents generally walk only one dog. A fifth (19.9%) of
dog walkers walk two dogs, whilst around one in twenty (5.1%) walk three or more dogs at a
time.
No.
%
No. of dogs
1
2
3
4+
Total

2,761
733
111
76
3,681

75.0
19.9
3.0
2.1
100.0

Do you feel there are any areas across Cardiff of concern in relation to dogs being out of
control?
More than two‐fifths (41.2%) of respondents were concerned about dogs being out of
control in an enclosed playground/play area, while a third were concerned about them
being on school grounds (33.6%) and off leads in public areas (32.0%). Just over a fifth were
concerned about dog being out of control within Cemeteries (22.3%) and 14.5% had
concerns about other areas.

Do you feel there are any areas across Cardiff of
concern in relation to dogs being out of control?
Dogs present in an enclosed playground / play
area (5,497)

58.8

41.2

Dogs being on school grounds (5,397)

33.6

66.4

Dogs being off leads in public areas (5,719)

32.0

68.0

Other (4,080)

77.7

22.3

Dogs in cemeteries (5,228)

85.5

14.5
0.0

20.0
Yes

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

No

Page 126

14

Further analysis compared the opinions of dog and non‐dog owner responses:
Significant differences were found between the two groups. This was most notable in
relation to dogs being off leads in public spaces with just over one in ten (13.0%) dog
owners raising concern with dogs being out of control, in contrast three fifths (61.0%) of
non‐dog owners cited this as an issue.

Do you feel there are any areas across Cardiff of concern
in relation to dogs being out of control?
Dog Owners
Dogs being off leads in public areas (3,349)

13.0

Dogs being on school grounds (3,372)

87.0

26.6

Dogs in cemeteries (3,320)

73.4

17.7

Dogs present in an enclosed playground / play
area (3,384)

82.3

30.6

69.4

Other (2,536) 6.0

94.0

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0
Yes

No

Do you feel there are any areas across Cardiff of concern in
relation to dogs being out of control?
Non‐Dog Owners
Dogs being off leads in public areas (2,250)

61.0

Dogs being on school grounds (1,998)

45.2

Dogs in cemeteries (1,882)

30.3

Dogs present in an enclosed playground / play
area (2,087)

39.0
54.8
69.7

58.4

Other (1,524)

28.4

41.6
71.6

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0
Yes

No

Page 127

15

Sample comments from non‐dog owners highlighting issues with dogs being off leads in
public areas can be seen below:



“Not everyone wants a dog near them.”

“Education for dog owners to help them understand that not everyone loves their
dog as much as they do. I would not allow a child to run in front of a bike or car, or
to jump on someone and I expect dog owners to apply the same control.”




“My 4 year old daughter has had many dogs jumping up on her, growling and
barking. We have had picnics ruined by dogs off leads eating our food. This has
impacted on my daughter so much she now shakes when approached by all dogs.”
“Because dog owners let dogs off leads to cause havoc on park paths and grounds,
often chasing and attacking lakeside wildlife.”

Below are some sample comments from dog owners in relation to dogs being off leads in
public areas:


“I love the social aspect of dog walking. Personally I keep mine on a lead but I like
that many don't so long as they can control their dogs and take care around children
and other dogs. I object strongly to the possibility of dogs being banned from Roath
Rec though would encourage the council to add extra bins, enforce guidelines and
increase signage on the site.”


“There shouldn't be restrictions in place that all dogs must be on a lead of not
allowed in certain areas as majority of dog owners are responsible owners. Those
minority ruin it for other owners. I believe dogs should be on a lead if in cemeteries or
similar areas or sport fields and school yards if activities are in action. E.g. If Heath
Park has football matches on then walk your dog away from the game or put the dog
on a lead and ALWAYS pick up ANY mess your dog makes.”


“It is not practical to enforce all dog owners to keep their dog on a lead at all times
Most owners are responsible in picking up dog waste to penalise everyone is
unnecessary. Most will adhere to restrictions concerning schools and playing fields.
How are dogs supposed to be exercised properly if they are confined to lead walks?
Dog ownership is a huge responsibility and dog walking is a very sociable time for
many people who would otherwise have little contact with others. All these points
should be considered before authorising the Council's proposals. I seriously disagree
with any attempt to force dog owners to keep their dogs permanently on leash.”

Page 128

16

Waste Bins
Respondents were asked several questions regarding the provision of waste bins. A
summary of the responses shows public opinion to be that a) there are too few bins
available and b) bins are not emptied frequently enough.

Are you aware you can dispose of dog faeces in any
Council public waste bin in parks or on pavements?
(5,918)

88.9

Do you think there are enough Council public waste bins
across Cardiff in parks? (5,987)

25.3

Do you feel these bins are emptied enough? (5,993)

No

67.9

22.1

0
Yes

6.64.5

10

6.8

62.6

20

30

40

50

15.3

60

70

80

90

100

Don't Know

Responses were analysed for differences between dog and non‐dog owners. The
differences found were not considered to be significant.

Are you aware you can dispose of dog faeces in any Council public waste bin in parks or on
pavements?
Nine in ten (88.9%) respondents were aware that they can dispose of dog faeces in any
Council public waste bin, amongst dog owners this figure rises to 97.7%.
All Respondents
Yes
No
Don’t Know
Total

Dog Owner

Non Dog Owner

No.
%
No.
%
No.
%
5,259
88.9
3,498
97.7
1,729
75.1
393
6.6
68
1.9
323
14.0
266
4.5
15
0.4
250
10.9
5,918
100.0
3,581
100.0
2,302
100.0

Page 129

17

Do you think there are enough Council public waste bins across Cardiff in parks?
Over two thirds (67.9%) of all respondents feel there are not enough Council public waste
bins across Cardiff in parks.
All Respondents
Yes
No
Don’t Know
Total

Dog Owner

Non Dog Owner

No.
%
No.
%
No.
%
1,515
25.3
984
27.3
526
22.4
4,064
67.9
2,556
70.8
1,483
63.3
408
6.8
68
1.9
335
14.3
5,987
100.0
3,608
100.0
2,344
100.0

Do you feel these bins are emptied enough?
Less than a quarter (22.1%) of all respondents feel that Council waste bins across Cardiff in
parks are emptied enough.
All Respondents
Yes
No
Don’t Know
Total

Dog Owner

Non Dog Owner

No.
%
No.
%
No.
%
1,324
22.1
921
25.5
399
17.0
3,752
62.6
2,466
68.3
1,265
53.8
917
15.3
221
6.1
687
29.2
5,993
100.0
3,608
100.0
2,351
100.0

Respondents were keen to highlight that it was not just dog mess that was the issue with
bins not being emptied enough, sample comments can be seen below:


“It’s not necessarily dog mess you need to worry about. I walk my dog over Roath Rec
and the amount of litter/rubbish over there after people have had BBQ/picnics is
disgusting, with broken bottles and cans which can cause damage to both animals
and humans! Litter enforcement officers should be deployed!”


“More bins, more focus on public littering instead of focus on dogs. I walk my dogs
Bute park and the mess left by members of the public especially if the weather has
been pleasant is disgusting?? Same with beaches.”


“I think littering is a much bigger problem than dog fouling in Cardiff parks. As a
mother, I have never had my child fall in dog poo, however broken bottles are often
found in parks and my 2 year old has cut herself several times.”

Page 130

18

Do you think there are enough Council public waste bins across Cardiff on pavements?
Both dog owners and non‐dog owners shared agreement that there are enough Council
public waste bins across Cardiff in parks (16.1% and 17.2% respectively).
All Respondents
Yes
No
Don’t Know
Total

Dog Owner

Non Dog Owner

No.
%
No.
%
No.
%
986
16.5
579
16.1
403
17.2
4,687
78.2
2,914
80.8
1,745
74.3
317
5.3
113
3.1
201
8.6
5,990
100.0
3,606
100.0
2,349
100.0

Do you feel these bins are emptied enough?
Agreement that Council public waste bins across Cardiff are emptied enough was shared by
dog owners and non‐dog owners (22.6% and 18.7% respectively).
All Respondents
Yes
No
Don’t Know
Total

Dog Owner

Non Dog Owner

No.
%
No.
%
No.
%
1,256
21.0
815
22.6
439
18.7
3,629
60.6
2,313
64.2
1,290
54.9
1,101
18.4
474
13.2
620
26.4
5,986
100.0
3,602
100.0
2,349
100.0

Does the current behaviour of dogs in public spaces across Cardiff have, or is likely to
have, a detrimental effect on your quality of life?
Whilst dog owners expressed little concern (6.2%), more than half (51.6%) of non‐dog
owners implied that the current behaviour of dogs in public spaces across Cardiff has or is
likely to have a detrimental effect on their quality of life.
There was a wide range of reasons why non‐dog users felt this way, these ranged from
sports pitch users unhappy with dog faeces on the playing fields to cyclists experiencing
near‐misses to general concern for welfare, a sample of comments can be viewed below:


“Dog faeces on sports pitches in Cardiff is endemic and puts the health of children at
serious risk. Wherever my son plays (across Cardiff) there is invariably dog mess on
the pitch.”


“In areas with heavy cycle usage, such as the Taff Trail through Hailey Park, there
should be a requirement that dogs be on non‐extendable leads. I have seen several
near‐accidents where dog owners allow the leads to extend right across the pathway,
tripping joggers and posing a significant hazard to cyclists.”

Page 131

19



“My son is terrified of dogs due to an incident when an uncontrolled dog jumped on
him. The owner did not think it was an issue.”



“All sports pitches, parks, play areas and school grounds where humans play sports
or children play should have a dog ban. Dog faeces can be detrimental to health in
addition to the mess made to clothes and shoes.”



“Protect public sports pitches as much as possible as this can be a huge health risk for
participants. Park's sport pitches are already badly kept during the winter months so
they need all the help they can get.”

Does the current behaviour of dogs in public spaces across
Cardiff have, or is likely to have, a detrimental effect on your
quality of life?
92.4

100.0
73.5

80.0
60.0

44.8
34.9

40.0
20.0

15.6

8.6

16.7
2.3

3.0

3.2

3.6

1.4

0.0
All Respondents (5,983)

Dog Owner (3,599)

Non Dog Owner (2,348)

Yes it has a detrimental effect on my quality of life

Yes it is likely to have an effect on my quality of life

No, it does not affect my quality of life

Don't Know

Do you agree or disagree with the following proposed restrictions:
‐

The prohibition of dog fouling in all public spaces owned and / or maintained by
the council.

Seven in ten (71.2%) of all respondents agreed with the proposal of prohibition of dog
fouling in all public spaces owned and / or maintained by the council, this included 52.1%
who were very happy with the proposal2.
2

It is acknowledged that there was some misinterpretation relating to this question. Although most
people agree that dog fouling is wrong, some people wrongly interpreted this proposal as dogs being
totally prohibited in all public spaces owned and / or maintained by the council. This issue was
addressed via FAQ’s posted on the website over the course of the consultation period.

Page 132

20

Dog owners were slightly less favourable of the proposal with just over six in ten (63.3%) of
respondents agreeing, almost a quarter (23.5%) of dog owners strongly disagreed with the
proposal.
Non‐dog owners were largely in favour of the proposal with over eight in ten (83.4%) in
agreement, this included 68.9% who were very happy with the proposal.
The prohibition of dog fouling in all public spaces owned and / or
maintained by the council.

All Respondents. (5,962)

52.1

Dog Owners (3,586)

41.1

Non‐Dog Owners (2,339)

22.2

Strongly Agree

20.0
Agree

60.0
Disagree

17.1

23.5

14.5

40.0
Neither

3.8 7.9

4.1 9.1

68.9

0.0

‐

19.1

3.5 6.0 7.2

80.0

100.0

Strongly Disagree

The exclusion of dogs in all enclosed playgrounds, marked sports pitches and
schools, which are owned and / or maintained by Cardiff Council.

There was a significant difference in opinion between dog owners and non‐dog owners in
relation to this proposal.
Seven in ten (68.4%) of dog owners disagreed with the proposal, this included 49.2% who
strongly disagreed.
Conversely non‐dog owners were supportive of the proposal with seven in ten (70.8%) in
agreement, including 59.0% who strongly agreed.

Page 133

21

The exclusion of dogs in all enclosed playgrounds, marked
sports pitches and schools, which are owned and / or
maintained by Cardiff Council.

All Respondents. (5,970)

30.1

Dog Owners (3,590)

11.1

14.8

Non‐Dog Owners (2,344)

13.6

5.6

5.1

15.3

19.2

49.2

59.0

0.0
Strongly Agree

20.0
Agree

35.9

11.8 4.4 9.1

40.0
Neither

60.0
Disagree

15.7

80.0

100.0

Strongly Disagree

The proposal to prohibit dogs from marked sports pitches was quickly found to be the area
of greatest opposition from dog owners. Respondents voiced a wide range of reasoning
behind their disagreement with the proposal, a sample of comments include:
 “The exclusion of dogs in all marked sports pitches is ridiculous. Roath rec and
Llandaff fields would be out of bounds. Dogs don’t go on the pitches when games are
on. It should be enough for officers to give on the spot fines to owners who do not
pick up their dog’s faeces. Most dog owners are responsible.”






“I completely disagree with the proposal to exclude dogs from all marked sports
pitches. The majority of public parks in Cardiff are multi‐use (e.g. Bute Park, Roath
Park) and so excluding dogs from the pitches basically means there are no areas in
which to exercise them.”
“These restrictions seem severe at best. I propose that the PSPO should not restrict
access to sports pitches in multi‐use areas, and instead the council should enforce
fines for not picking up in these (and other) areas. This would have a much greater
impact than the proposed restrictions.”

“Stop discriminating against dog owners...we are the eyes and ears of public spaces!”


“I strongly disagree with banning dogs from marked pitches. Where I live in
Llanrumney this would have a significant impact on my life as a lot of the green
spaces are pitched. If these changes were to come in to place I feel that where I live
(Llanrumney) is going to be negatively penalised as there are really a limited amount
of safe spaces to walk and I will be forced to have to either travel by car or not
exercise my dog. Residents need more help with changing their attitudes towards
dog fouling, please look at this and not punishing the responsible dog owners.”

Page 134

22

In contrast to these comments, non‐dog users were largely in favour of the proposal with
comments including:


“Making sure my children’s football pitches are clean of dog mess. Cleaning dog mess
from my children’s shoes and bicycle tyres. Just going for a walk I feel is spoilt by
having to tell the children to watch out for dog mess all the time.”


‐

“I agree that dogs should NOT be allowed on playing fields for health, safety and
comfort reasons. Even if responsible dog owners pick up the mess, there may often
be faeces remaining. I walk a dog for a friend and find Cardiff has plenty of other
green spaces, although I do have a car to reach most of them. Perhaps for some
people, playing fields etc. are the only green spaces within walking distance. I'm not
sure how easy this would be to enforce, but I still feel it is a very important principle
to protect all people using playing fields etc.”



“Strongly support any action taken to prevent dog fouling on sports pitches. I have
been involved in junior football in Cardiff for almost 10 years and have had to resort
to carrying poo‐bags within my kit bag, as I have had to pick up dog mess from
football pitches on countless occasions. It is totally unacceptable behaviour from dog
owners and is a substantial health risk for the children involved.”



“All sports pitches, parks, play areas and school grounds where humans play sports
or children play should have a dog ban. Dog faeces can be detrimental to health in
addition to the mess made to clothes and shoes.”
A requirement that dogs are kept on leads within all cemeteries owned and / or
maintained by Cardiff Council.

Seven in ten (71.1%) of dog owners agreed with the proposal, this rises to four fifths (81.1%)
of non‐dog owners.

Page 135

23

A requirement that dogs are kept on leads within all cemeteries
owned and / or maintained by Cardiff Council.

All Respondents (5,962)

38.1

Dog Owners (3,590)

37.0

27.4

Non‐Dog Owners (2,335)

43.7

13.1

54.6

0.0
Strongly Agree

20.0
Agree

11.4 6.6 6.9

26.5

40.0
Neither

60.0
Disagree

7.3 8.5

9.0 5.5 4.4

80.0

100.0

Strongly Disagree

General support for this proposal was shared by both dog and non‐dog owners, a sample of
comments can be seen below / overleaf:


“I believe that your proposed restriction that all dogs should be kept on leads in
cemeteries does not go far enough. A dog has no place in a cemetery at all. Lead or
no lead.”




‐

“Dogs should not be allowed in cemeteries even if they are on a lead.”

“Reasonable that dogs should not go in children’s playgrounds and kept on leads in
cemeteries.”

A requirement allowing authorised officers to give a direction that a dog(s) be put
and kept on a lead if necessary.

Seven in ten (69.8%) of all respondents agreed with the proposal that would allow
authorised officers to give a direction that a dog(s) be put and kept on a lead if necessary.
Amongst non‐dog owners, the level of agreement rose to 85.0%. Amongst dog owners,
agreement falls to three‐fifths (59.9%).

Page 136

24

A requirement allowing authorised officers to give a direction
that a dog(s) be put and kept on a lead if necessary.

All Respondents (5,960)

35.0

Dog Owners (3,583)

34.8

17.6

11.7 10.3 8.3

42.3

Non‐Dog Owners (2,340)

14.8

61.5
0.0

Strongly Agree

20.0
Agree

23.5
40.0

Neither

14.1

60.0
Disagree

11.2

6.8

80.0

100.0

Strongly Disagree

Reasons for disagreement focused on the need for off the lead exercise3:


“All dogs need off lead time. If the council provided more bins, that were emptied
more regularly, the people of Cardiff ‐ not just dog walkers, would clear up after
themselves.”



“Where is it proposed that dogs should be walked? Dogs need off lead runs as part of
their health and well‐being. If dogs can only walk on the lead in the streets you will
have a lot of stressed out dogs with pent up energy walking on the streets which will
likely lead to more dog behavioural issues. I hope this consultation includes animal
behaviour experts. We have no dog parks in Cardiff. Banning dogs from the parks
without providing another solution for where they should walk is a dog welfare
issue.”



“By all means take action against the small minority who do not clean up after their
dogs but please don’t restrict responsible dog owners and their dogs. Dogs need off
lead exercise.”

Do you agree that enforcement measures should be put in place to ensure that dog
owners / walkers carry bags or other suitable means for the disposal of dog faeces?
Both dog owners and non‐dog owners were in agreement that enforcement measures
should be put in place to ensure dog owners / walkers carry bags or other suitable means
for disposal of dog faeces.

3

The proposal did not prohibit off the lead exercise only that authorised officers would have the power to
direct a lead to be applied if necessary e.g. dog is out of control.

Page 137

25

Do you agree that enforcement measures should be put in
place to ensure that dog owners/walkers carry bags or other
suitable means for the disposal of dog faeces?
All Respondents
(5,987)

88.3

Dog Owner (3,602)

8.7

86.1

Non Dog Owner
(2,349)

10.7

91.6
0.0

20.0
Yes

40.0
No

5.6
60.0

80.0

100.0

Don’t Know

The general consensus coming from the survey is that both dog owners and non‐dog owners
agree that it is a minority that are responsible for not picking up dog faeces and that most
are responsible dog owners who clear up their mess. This is illustrated in comments from
both dog owners and non‐dog owners.
Dog Owners


“Most of dog owners that walk daily their dogs in Roath and Penylan area parks are
responsible owners who also pick up whatever wastes humans leave in the parks.”



“Enforce against bad ownership and don't penalise the 98% of us that are
responsible.”


“The majority of dog owners are careful and responsible. Please don’t punish us for
the actions of a few who don’t abide by the rules.”

Non‐Dog Owners




“I feel that the majority of dog owners/walkers are responsible and do not
require/need enforcements and prohibitions and should not be penalised for a
minority group.”

“Most dog owners are sensible, know when their dogs should be kept on a lead and
when they are safe to be let off, and also pick up mess after their dogs. They should
not be punished because of the actions of a small minority of irresponsible dog
owners.”

Page 138

26



“Responsible dog owners clean up after their dogs. Dogs should be allowed off leads
in public parks.”

Do you have any suggestions or recommendations to make in relation to the proposed
restrictions across Cardiff?
Of the 6,002 responses received, over a half (56.3%) left a valid response. These responses
were put into categories / themes, a list of the most popular along with sample comments
can be viewed below:


Residents are concerned as to where they will take their dogs for exercise

“Restricted dogs from marked playing field is draconian and will simply punish responsible
dog owners. Where will dogs be walked when 80% of Llandaff and Pontcanna fields, for
example, are marked playing fields? If you have resources to enforce such a ban then you
have resources to enforce current ban on fouling. Some people leave litter on the fields.
Would you ban all people because of the acts of a few? I am sure that would viewed as
ridiculous, but that is the logic deployed here, with punishment for all for the acts of the
few.”


Introduction of designated dog walking areas
“Why not have designated dog walking areas so dogs can be off lead safely.”



Concerns that dogs are being treated unfairly

“Spoiling the enjoyment of public spaces for dog walkers because of the complaints of a
vocal minority is unfair. Determined complaining has already resulted in dogs being banned
from almost all local cafes in Penylan. Cardiff is getting a reputation of being dog‐unfriendly.
Too much regulation and control spoils the freedom and enjoyment of local facilities and
public spaces. Use the existing regulations to control the minority of dog owners who fail to
pick up their dog's mess.”


Confusion as to whether dogs are completely banned from certain areas

“Your current proposals are very unclear and I am confused as to which areas I will be able
to walk my dog off the lead in the future. I agree that dogs should be not allowed inside
fenced off playgrounds or schools but the ‘marked sports pitches’ is ambiguous and the most
just appears to show all green spaces in Cardiff. I cannot comment further until we have
some clearer information. Maybe more enforcement of current powers to make people pick
up after their dogs would be a better way to go rather than what looks like a blanket ban on
vast swathes of the city. The mental health and well‐being of both the owner and the dog
should be strongly considered in these proposals too.”

Page 139

27



Proposals are too excessive

“I think these proposals are excessive and punitive to dog owners. Those who are
irresponsible will not pick up their poo if their dog is on lead or not. Reducing the areas
where dogs can exercise off lead will lead to a lot of frustrated dogs and an increase in
antisocial behaviour by dogs as they are not having their needs met.”


More enforcement required

“Instead of banning responsible dog owners, get more enforcement officers to prosecute
those owners who do not follow the rules”


Confusion over the layout of some questions

“The first point of the proposals is misleading. It calls for the 'prohibition of dog fouling in all
public places owned and/or maintained by the Council', but then reading further on your
website in response to the question 'Can my dog still be walked / exercised on parks and
pitches across Cardiff?' the response is that the proposal do not include the banning of dogs
from parks. These statements are contradictory and the wording should be changed, or this
specific proposal omitted as it's misleading!”


Agreement with the proposals
“100% agree with these restrictions.”

Page 140

28

Are your day to day activities limited because of a physical or mental health condition,
illness or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last 12 months or more?
Around one in ten (10.8%) reported their day to day activities are not limited because of a
physical or mental health condition, illness or disability which has lasted, or is expected to
last 12 months or more.
Are your day to day activities limited because of a physical or mental
health condition, illness or disability which has lasted, or is expected to
last 12 months or more?
All Respondents
3.1 7.7
(5,947)

83.6

5.6

Dog Owner
3.5 8.0
(3,585)

82.7

5.8

Non Dog Owner
2.5 7.0
(2,328)
0%

5.5

85.0

20%
Yes ‐ limited a lot

40%
Yes ‐ limited a little

60%
No

80%

100%

Prefer not to say

Some respondents were keen to indicate that dog walking was good for general health and
wellbeing, sample comments can be seen below:


“Dog walking is good for the health and mental wellbeing of people. There has got to
be access to parks and recreation fields for everyone. The vast majority of dog
walkers are responsible. You will never stop the irresponsible people. If someone is
caught not picking up the dog pooh then they should be fined. BUT DO NOT EXCLUDE
DOG WALKERS FROM PUBLIC PARKS.”
 “Being able to freely exercise well behaved dogs that are under control has
significant physical and mental health benefits to myself, my family and my friends.
Unwarranted restrictions is detrimental and causes anxiety.”


“Dogs enhance people's quality of life. Allowing owners and their dogs to walk in a
sensible manner in public spaces enhances people's lives and improves their lives. I
think that prohibiting this is unnecessary and will impact negatively on your
residents' lives and health.”

Page 141

29

How old are you?
Responses to the survey from people aged 35 – 54 were almost double that of the Cardiff
population. In contrast only 3.4% of responses to the survey came from people aged 24 or
under, this compares to a quarter (25.7%) of the overall Cardiff population.
Age of Respondents v Cardiff Population
30.0
26.6

26.0

25.0
19.8

Percentage

20.0

19.0
17.6

17.0
14.0

15.0

13.6
11.6

10.0

8.3

8.7
7.5

5.9

5.0

3.2
1.1

0.2

0.0
<16

16‐24
Survey

25‐34

35‐44

45‐54

55‐64

65‐74

75+

Population (Mid‐2017 estimate, ONS)

N.B. Percentages for survey respondends don’t include ‘prefer not to say’ responses

Page 142

30

Appendix A - Stakeholders
List of Stakeholders




































Crime Commissioner – South Wales Police
Chief Officer – South Wales Police
Public Health Wales
RSPCA Wales
Dogs Trust
Kennel Club
Friends of the dogs
Meet up Group
Natural Resources Wales
Vale of Glamorgan Council
Newport City Council
Caerphilly Council
RCT Council
All Councillors and town and community Parishes
‐ Pentyrch Community Council
‐ Lisvane Community Council
‐ Old St Mellons Community Council
‐ Radyr and Morganstown Community Council
‐ St Fagans Community Council
‐ Tongwynlais Community Council
Friends of Roath Park
Friends of Heath
Friends of Hailey Park
Friends of Cefn Onn
Friends of Coed y felin
Friends of Bute Park
Friends of Cathays
Friends of Forest Farm
Friends of Nant Fawr
Friends of Pentre Gardens
Friends of Moorland Park
Friends of Howardian
Cricket Wales
Sport Wales
Glamorgan CC
Cardiff midweek cricket league
South Wales FA
FAW Trust
Cardiff and District league
Cardiff Combination League

Page 143

31





Lazarou Sunday league
All football club secretaries
WRU

Page 144

32

Appendix B - Letter to Stakeholders
Cardiff Research Centre
Room 401
County Hall
Atlantic Wharf
CF10 4UW
Dear Consultee,

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
Public Spaces Protection Order – Proposed Dog Controls
Cardiff Council are seeking your views on proposals to control dogs across the city of
Cardiff, by introducing a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO). Whilst the majority of dog
owners are responsible, clean up after their dogs and keep them under control, there are still
a minority of irresponsible dog owners which create significant problems.
Currently the Dog (Fouling of Land) Act 1996, is not supported via Magistrates Courts and
will eventually be repealed due to there being more up to date legislation, specifically the
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.
The introduction of a PSPO in respect of dog controls will replace existing byelaws currently
in place to control dogs in particular areas across Cardiff. The current byelaws are outdated,
with some dating back to 1964. Since the implementation of byelaws; boundaries and land
ownership has changed.
Cardiff Council would like to consult you, as a key stakeholder on the PSPO proposals and
welcome any comments and recommendation you may have. The PSPO proposals are;








The prohibition of dog fouling in all public places owned and/or maintained by the
Council,
The exclusion of dogs in all enclosed playgrounds, marked sports pitches and
Schools, which are owned and/or maintained by Cardiff Council.
A requirement that dogs are kept on leads within all Cemeteries owned and/or
maintained by Cardiff Council.
A requirement allowing authorised officers to give a direction that a dog (s) be put
and kept on a lead if necessary.
A requirement to ensure that dog owners / walkers carry bags or other suitable
means for the disposal of dog faeces.
Increasing the charge for a breach of the PSPO to £100

Under the Act, a local Authority must make a Public Space Protection Order if satisfied that
two conditions are met, namely:
1) Activities carried on (or likely will be carried on) within the authority’s area have (or will
have) a detrimental effect on the quality of life in the locality, And;
2) Activities are or are likely to be persistent, unreasonable and justify the restrictions
imposed by the order.

Page 145

33

Further details, including the
www.cardiff.gov.uk/dogcontrols

list

of

proposed

areas

can

be

found

at

Responses to this consultation can be made via the following methods:
 An online Survey at: www.cardiff.gov.uk/dogcontrols
 By e-mail to:consultation@cardiff.gov.uk
 In writing and send to the address at the top of this letter
 By telephone; call 029 2087 2087
The consultation will be open from the 10th September 2018 until 22nd October 2018.
Yours faithfully,

Matt Wakelam
Assistant Director – Street Scene
Cyfarwyddwr Cynorthwyol Strydlun

Page 146

34

Canolfan Ymchwil Caerdydd
Ystafell 401
Neuadd y Sir
Glanfa’r Iwerydd
CF10 4UW
Annwyl Ymgynghorai,

Deddf Ymddygiad Gwrthgymdeithasol, Troseddu a Phlismona 2014
Gorchymyn Diogelu Mannau Cyhoeddus (PSPO) – Cynigion ar gyfer
Rheolaethau ar Gŵn
Mae Cyngor Caerdydd am glywed eich barn ar gynigion ynghylch rheoli cŵn ledled dinas
Caerdydd drwy gyflwyno Gorchymyn Diogelu Mannau Cyhoeddus (GDMC). Er bod y rhan
fwyaf o berchnogion cŵn yn gyfrifol, yn glanhau eu baw ac yn eu cadw dan reolaeth, mae
lleiafrif bach o hyd sy’n anghyfrifol ac sy’n creu problemau sylweddol.
Ar hyn o bryd, nid yw Deddf Cŵn (Baeddu Tir) 1996 yn cael ei hategu yn y Llysoedd Ynadon
a bydd deddfwriaeth fwy diweddar yn ei disodli cyn hir, yn benodol Deddf Ymddygiad
Gwrthgymdeithasol, Troseddu a Phlismona 2014.
Bydd cyflwyno GDMC o ran rheoli cŵn yn disodli is-ddeddfau sydd ar hyn o bryd yn cael eu
defnyddio i reoli cŵn mewn ardaloedd penodol yng Nghaerdydd. Mae’r is-ddeddfau
presennol wedi hen ddyddio, gyda rhai yn eu lle ers 1964. Ers gweithredu’r is-ddeddfau hyn
yn wreiddiol, mae ffiniau a pherchnogaeth tir wedi newid.
Hoffai Cyngor Caerdydd ymgynghori â chi, fel rhanddeilad allweddol, ynghylch y cynigion
GDMC ac rydym yn croesawu unrhyw sylwadau neu awgrymiadau gennych. Y cynigion
GDMC yw:







Gwahardd baeddu cŵn ym mhob man cyhoeddus a berchnogir a/neu a gynhelir gan
y Cyngor.
Gwahardd cŵn ym mhob man chwarae caeëdig, meysydd chwaraeon wedi’u marcio
ac ysgolion, y mae Cyngor Caerdydd yn berchen arnynt a/neu’n eu cynnal.
Gofyniad i gadw cŵn ar dennyn o fewn pob mynwent y mae Cyngor Caerdydd yn
berchen arni a/neu’n ei chynnal
Gofyniad sy’n caniatáu i swyddogion awdurdodedig roi cyfarwyddyd bod ci/cŵn yn
cael ei roi/eu rhoi a’u cadw ar dennyn os bydd angen.
Gofyniad i sicrhau bod perchnogion cŵn a phobl sy’n mynd â chŵn am dro yn cario
bagiau neu ffordd arall briodol o gael gwared ar faw cŵn.
Codi'r tâl am dorri’r GDMC i £100

Dan y ddeddf, rhaid i awdurdod lleol wneud Gorchymyn Diogelu Mannau Cyhoeddus os yw’n
fodlon bod dau amod wedi’u bodloni, sef:
3) Mae gweithgareddau a gynhelir (neu sy’n debygol o gael eu cynnal) o fewn ardal yr
awdurdod yn cael effaith andwyol ar ansawdd bywyd yn y lleoliad; ac
4) Mae gweithgareddau yn barhaus, yn afresymol ac yn cyfiawnhau’r cyfyngiadau a
roddir ar waith gan y gorchymyn, neu maent yn debygol o fod felly.

Page 147

35

Mae rhagor o fanylion, ynghyd
www.caerdydd.gov.uk/rheolicwn

â

rhestr

o’r

ardaloedd

arfaethedig

yn

Gellir ymateb i’r ymgynghoriad hwn yn y ffyrdd canlynol:
 Arolwg ar-lein yn www.caerdydd.gov.uk/rheolicwn
 Drwy e-bost i: ymgynghoriad@caerdydd.gov.uk
 Yn ysgrifenedig i’r cyfeiriad ar frig y llythyr hwn
 Dros y ffôn drwy alw 029 2087 2087
Bydd yr ymgynghoriad ar agor rhwng 10 Medi 2018 a 22 Hydref 2018.
Yn gywir,

Matt Wakelam
Cyfarwyddwr Cynorthwyol Strydlun

Page 148

36

Appendix C - Citizens Panel Information

Join the
Cardiff Citizens’ Panel
and have your say on the
future of the city!

What happens to the feedback Panel members provide?
All Panel responses are written up into a report to let decision
makers know public opinion. You will also receive regular
feedback with a summary of results of the questionnaire and
how these results are being used to inﬂuence decision making.

What is Cardiff Citizens’ Panel?
Cardiff’s Citizen’s Panel is currently made up of 5,000
representative members of the public across the city. The
Panel is used to inform Cardiff Council and other public
services about public opinion and can help provide views
on a wide range of issues.

What about conﬁdentiality?
The information you provide will be used to ensure that the
Cardiff Citizens’ Panel is representative and so that we can invite
you to community events run by the Council and its partners
working in Cardiff. It will be processed in accordance to the Data
Protection Act, with all information treated in the strictest of
conﬁdence and will not be sold or handed on to any other
organisation for marketing purposes. We will keep your details
on ﬁle but will delete those details should you ask us to in
writing.

What are the beneﬁts of being on the Citizens’ Panel?
You can help shape local decision making Your
views are heard by decision makers
You can ﬁnd out new ideas and plans for Cardiff
You are representing your community
You can take part in focus groups and events
What do Panel members do?
Panel members complete up to ﬁve questionnaires a year - you
can choose to complete either paper questionnaires sent to
your home or electronic surveys on our website.
Panel members are also invited to attend group discussions
or workshops on particular issues they're interested in. Recent
examples of topics include the consultation on the Ask Cardiff
Survey 2017, Keep Cardiff Moving 2017, Budget Consultation
18/19, Employment Services and Building Resilient
Communities Survey and ‘Let’s Talk’ survey for Cardiff and the
Vale of Glamorgan.

How long would I be a Citizens’ Panel Member for?
We ask that you join the Panel for three years at which point we
will ‘refresh’ the Panel to give other members the opportunity to
give their views.
What if I change my mind about being on the Panel?
If you join the Panel but then decide you no longer want to take
part, just let us know!
How do I join the Cardiff Citizen’s Panel?
To join the Panel you must be over 18 and live in the Cardiff local
authority area - if you qualify, please complete our application
form online at
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/citizenspanel
or email
CardiffDebate@cardiff.gov.uk
to request a copy.

Page 149

37

Ymunwch â Phanel
Dinasyddion Caerdydd
i ddweud eich dweud ar
ddyfodol y ddinas!

Beth yw Panel Dinasyddion Caerdydd?
Mae Panel Dinasyddion Caerdydd yn cynnwys 5,000 o
aelodau’r cyhoedd ledled y ddinas. Defnyddir y Panel i roi
gwybod i Gyngor Caerdydd a gwasanaethau cyhoeddus eraill
am farn y cyhoedd a gall helpu i roi barn ar amrywiaeth eang
o faterion.

Beth sy’n digwydd i’r adborth y mae aelodau’r Panel yn ei roi?
Mae ymatebion y Panel yn cael eu nodi mewn adroddiad i gyﬂeu
barn y cyhoedd i swyddogion gwneud penderfyniadau. Byddwch
hefyd yn derbyn adborth rheolaidd gyda chrynodeb o ganlyniadau
holiaduron a sut mae’r canlyniadau hynny'n cael eu defnyddio i
ddylanwadau ar benderfyniadau.

Beth yw manteision bod ar y Panel Dinasyddion?

Beth am gyfrinachedd?
Defnyddir y wybodaeth a roddir gennych i sicrhau bod Panel
Dinasyddion Caerdydd yn cynrychioli pobl Caerdydd ac er mwyn i
ni eich gwahodd i ddigwyddiadau cymunedol a gynhelir gan y
Cyngor a’i bartneriaid sy’n gweithio yng Nghaerdydd. Caiff y
wybodaeth ei phrosesu yn unol â Deddf Diogelu Data, ei thrin yn
gwbl gyfrinachol ac ni chaiff ei gwerthu na’i rhoi i unrhyw sefydliad
arall at ddibenion marchnata. Byddwn yn cadw eich manylion ar
ffeil ond gallwn eu dileu os gofynnwch i ni wneud hynny yn
ysgrifenedig.

Gallwch helpu i lunio penderfyniadau lleol
Mae swyddogion gwneud penderfyniadau yn
gwrando arnoch
Gallwch ddod o hyd i syniadau a chynlluniau
newydd ar gyfer Caerdydd
Byddwch yn cynrychioli eich cymuned
Gallwch gymryd rhan yn y grwpiau ffocws a
digwyddiadau

Am ba mor hir y byddwn yn Aelod o Banel y Dinasyddion?
Gofynnwn i chi ymuno â’r Panel am dair blynedd, ar ôl hynny
byddwn yn rhoi cyﬂe i bobl eraill ymuno ag ef i fynegi eu barn.

Beth mae aelodau Panel yn ei wneud?
Mae aelodau’r Panel yn cwblhau hyd at bum holiadur y
ﬂwyddyn - gallwch ddewis cwblhau holiaduron papur sy’n
cyrraedd drwy’r post neu arolygon electronig ar ein gwefan.
Gwahoddir aelodau’r panel i fynychu trafodaethau grŵp neu
weithdai ar faterion penodol sydd o ddiddordeb iddynt. Yn
ddiweddar mae’r ymgynghoriad wedi trafod Arolwg Holi
Caerdydd 2017, Cadw Caerdydd I Symud 2017,
Ymgynghoriad y Gyllideb 18/19, Arolwg Gwasanaethau
Cyflogaeth a Chymunedau Gwydn, Amser Siarad’ ar gyfer
Caerdydd a Bro Morgannwg.

Beth os byddaf yn newid fy meddwl ar ôl ymuno â'r Panel? Os
byddwch yn penderfynu rhoi’r gorau i fod ar y Panel yr unig beth
sydd angen i chi ei wneud yw rhoi gwybod i ni!
Sut mae ymuno â Phanel Dinasyddion Caerdydd?
I ymuno â’r Panel rhaid i chi fod dros 18 oed a byw yn ardal
awdurdod lleol Caerdydd - os ydych yn gymwys, cwblhewch
ein ffurﬂen gais ar-lein yn
www.caerdydd.gov.uk/paneldinasyddion
neu e-bostiwch
sgwrscaerdydd@caerdydd.gov.uk
i ofyn am gopi.

Page 150

38

Appendix D – Statutory Stakeholder / Consultee comments
Dogs Trust’s Comments
1. Re; Fouling of Land by Dogs Order:




Dogs Trust consider ‘scooping the poop’ to be an integral element of responsible dog
ownership and would fully support a well‐implemented order on fouling. We urge the
Council to enforce any such order rigorously. In order to maximise compliance we urge the
council to consider whether an adequate number of disposal points have been provided for
responsible owners to use, to consider providing free disposal bags and to ensure that there
is sufficient signage in place.
We question the effectiveness of issuing on‐the‐spot fines for not being in possession of a
poo bag and whether this is practical to enforce.

2. Re; Dog Exclusion Order:




Dogs Trust accepts that there are some areas where it is desirable that dogs should be
excluded, such as children’s play areas, however we would recommend that exclusion areas
are kept to a minimum and that, for enforcement reasons, they are restricted to enclosed
areas. We would consider it more difficult to enforce an exclusion order in areas that lack
clear boundaries.
Dogs Trust would highlight the need to provide plenty of signage to direct owners to
alternative areas nearby in which to exercise dogs.

3. Re; Dog Exclusion and sport pitches






Excluding dogs from areas that are not enclosed could pose enforcement problems ‐ we
would consider it more difficult to enforce an exclusion order in areas that lack clear
boundaries.
We feel that exclusion zones should be kept to a minimum, and that excluding dogs from all
sports pitches for long stretches of the year is unnecessary. In some cases sports pitches
may account for a large part of the open space available in a public park, and therefore
excluding dogs could significantly reduce available dog walking space for owners.
We would urge the council to consider focusing its efforts on reducing dog fouling in these
areas, rather than excluding dogs entirely, with adequate provision of bins and provision of
free disposal bags

4. Re; Dogs on Leads Order:





Dogs Trust accept that there are some areas where it is desirable that dogs should be kept
on a lead.
Dogs Trust would urge the Council to consider the Animal Welfare Act 2006 section 9
requirements (the 'duty of care') that include the dog's need to exhibit normal behaviour
patterns – this includes the need for sufficient exercise including the need to run off lead in
appropriate areas. Dog Control Orders should not restrict the ability of dog keepers to
comply with the requirements of this Act.
The Council should ensure that there is an adequate number, and a variety of, well sign‐
posted areas locally for owners to exercise their dog off‐lead.

5. Re; Dogs on Lead by Direction Order:


Page
151
Dogs Trust enthusiastically support Dogs
on Leads
by Direction orders (for dogs that are

39



considered to be out of control or causing alarm or distress to members of the public to be
put on and kept on a lead when directed to do so by an authorised official).
We consider that this order is by far the most useful, other than the fouling order, because it
allows enforcement officers to target the owners of dogs that are allowing them to cause a
nuisance without restricting the responsible owner and their dog. As none of the other
orders, less fouling, are likely to be effective without proper enforcement we would be
content if the others were dropped in favour of this order.

The PDSA’s ‘Paw Report 2018’ found that 89% of veterinary professionals believe that the welfare of
dogs will suffer if owners are banned from walking their dogs in public spaces such as parks and
beaches, or if dogs are required to be kept on leads in these spaces. Their report also states that 78%
of owners rely on these types of spaces to walk their dog.
I would also like to bring your attention to the similar recommendations stated in the Government’s
‘Anti‐social behaviour powers ‐Statutory guidance for frontline professionals’ document, pages
52/53.
We believe that the vast majority of dog owners are responsible, and that the majority of dogs are
well behaved. In recognition of this, we would encourage local authorities to exercise its power to
issue Community Protection Notices, targeting irresponsible owners and proactively addressing anti‐
social behaviours.
We would be very grateful if you could inform us of the consultation outcome and subsequent
decisions made in relation to the Public Space Protection Order.

Cardiff Action Dogs Group
Over 16,000 signature petition received objecting to current proposals.
Cllr Comment
Dear Sir/Madam,
I write to say that I have been contacted by many residents raising concerns about the design and
content of the current Council PSPO consultation.
I should say though from the outset that I welcome the debate and discussion which this
consultation has prompted around the need to promote more responsible dog ownership within our
city. I now hope it will lead to a step change in facilities for dogs and other users of our public spaces
as well as greater public education, enforcement and standards of cleanliness.
As a Councillor, I see from my own casework that there are issues which need to be addressed
locally. All too often during community litter picks we find people who have taken the trouble to bag
dog waste, only for it to end up polluting local streams or to hang from trees. This is simply
unacceptable and I’m sure the Council will agree needs better enforcement action.
In local parks, the bins are at times not being emptied frequently enough, particularly in the
summer. It is an all too common sight to see dog waste bags overflowing from bins too ‐ something
which is entirely the responsibility of the Council itself, not dog walkers. More litter bins (or more
frequent emptying) are also badly needed during hot weather or major events. In Thornhill Park for
example, I secured an ‘event style’ temporary litter bin during the busier summer months a few
years ago but this has since been removed
by the 152
Council completely ‐ despite my protests. This 40
Page
Council approach needs to change going forward.

From my own experience, some of the most problematic complaints about dog fouling concern
public footpaths, particularly those located in front of residential properties. Indeed your own data
of 500 complaints in 16/17, based on information obtained by campaigners, actually involves streets,
not open spaces and public parks. In some parts of the city, sports clubs have also sold off their own
playing pitches and relocated to public parks or schools. The impact of this change on a localised
basis also needs to be carefully considered, as does the way in which the Council publicises and
consults on future Community Asset Transfers of community facilities and open spaces.
Therefore, in my view unless significant extra resources are allocated towards the Council’s new dog
control strategy then there is a real risk dog walkers will simply be forced even more onto local
residential streets, which could lead to dog fouling complaints soaring if not properly managed by
the Council. Hopefully, these sorts of issues will be addressed in your final plans.
Finally, if the Council is serious about the heath and wellbeing of our dogs and of other park users,
then it can use this new strategy as an opportunity for new investment in our open spaces ‐ such as
the roll out of a network of public water fountains ‐ something Cardiff North’s Assembly Member,
Julie Morgan has been campaigning for. These could help keep dogs cool and hydrated in the
summer, as well as benefit runners and other park users.
Whilst I remain concerned about the design of the consultation itself, I have been assured by the
Council’s leadership that no decision has been taken on what, if any, aspect of this consultation will
proceed or indeed if new or amended proposals will emerge.
I hope the Council will listen carefully to the very real concerns expressed during this consultation
and also address to the many other points now being raised.

Lib Dem Response – Cardiff Council
The following is the response of the Liberal Democrat Council group to the Dog Control
PSPO proposals.
We recognise importance of our open spaces being open, accessible and safe for all
residents of our city to use and enjoy. In particular, our extensive parks should be able to be
enjoyed by everyone whether that is for sports, socialising, a place for children’s play as well
as animal play. We believe the council needs to take a proportionate approach to
accommodate the desires and needs of all residents but also effectively manage the
minority whose behaviour impacts on other users of these spaces. We believe this can be

Page 153

41

achieved without singling out one group over another. Comments regarding the principle
elements of the PSPO proposal:
The prohibition of dog fouling in all public places owned and/or maintained by the
Council.
We are content with this element as a continuation of current practice.
The exclusion of dogs in all enclosed playgrounds, marked sports pitches and Schools,
which are owned and/or maintained by Cardiff Council.
No objection to the exclusion of dogs from enclosed playgrounds and School grounds.
However, the blanket extension to all marked sports pitches should be reconsidered.
Marked pitches make up a significant proportion of the open space across the city, whilst
even within the relevant sporting season the majority of the time they remain unused.
Whilst there are issues relating to fouling and control of dogs in some areas, enforcement
action would still be possible under the other sections of these PSPO proposals. This
approach would be more proportionate than prevention of all dogs from use of open spaces
marked as sports pitches. As the explanation with the proposal states ‘The majority of dog
owners are responsible and clean up after their dogs and we do not want to prohibit them
from enjoying the open spaces that Cardiff has to offer.’ We believe that the council should
take a graduated response, using the existing powers effectively rather than penalising
everyone. Should a persistent issues developer at a particular location, there is no reason
why a site specific PSPO could not then be applied for, without a detrimental effect on dog
walkers across the rest of the city. Blanket restrictions we believe will negatively impact
responsible dog owners whilst having little to no impact on those who are the cause of the
cited issues.
A requirement that dogs are kept on leads within all Cemeteries owned and/or
maintained by Cardiff Council.
We are content with this element of the proposal.
Increasing the charge for a breach of the PSPO to £100.
We are content with this proposal, the fine should be sufficient to have a deterrent effect.
The revenue from fines generated should be used to support enforcement activities.
A requirement allowing authorised officers to give a direction that a dog(s) be put and
kept on a lead if necessary.
This element should help address issues with poorly controlled dogs or those causing a
nuisance. In addition, we support a requirement that a dog walker should be required to
demonstrate that they have the means to dispose of any waste produced by their dog, for
example by producing a ‘poo bag’ or scoop on request. Walking a dog in a public place
without the means to pick up waste is clearly irresponsible and would prevent the
owner/walker from dealing with any waste produced. Whilst not directly related to the

Page 154

42

PSPO itself, the lack of effective enforcement will undermine the intended aim of reducing
the prevalence dog waste in public places. To be effective the PSPO will need to be
accompanied by active enforcement of its provisions. Furthermore, the council should
review the provision of waste bins in public places, in light of concerns that some areas used
by dog walkers are not currently well served and where bins are provided the council should
work to ensure the frequency of collections are sufficient so that bins are not filled or
overflow.
Lisvane Community Council
Thank you for your email of 10 September seeking views on Cardiff Council proposals
relating to the above.
Lisvane Community Council met on 8 October 2018 and discussed the proposals. Members
have nothing to add to five of the specific proposals but are of the opinion that one of the
proposals doesn't go far enough, namely:
"A requirement to ensure that dog owners/walkers carry bags or suitable means for the
disposal of dog faeces"
The experience of our Members, and based on community feedback, is that some dog
owners/walkers are placing the dog faeces in a carry bag but then disposing of the bag
inappropriately by leaving the bag on the ground or on a branch of a tree. Lisvane
Community Council is therefore proposing that this requirement should be amended to read
along the lines of:
"A requirement to ensure that dog owners/walkers carry bags or suitable means for the
disposal of dog faeces and that they subsequently dispose of the item in a designated bin or
take the item home with them for disposal if there is no designated bin"
RSPCA Cymru
RSPCA Cymru is responding to the Cardiff Council’s PSPO consultation relating to dog control
in the areas that are relevant to our work.
Proposal 1: The prohibition of dog fouling in all public places owned and/or maintained by
the Council.
RSPCA Cymru understands that dog fouling is a major issue for towns and cities across
Wales. Therefore, in order to increase responsible dog ownership and improve the
relationship between dog owners and the wider community, the RSPCA agrees that it
should be an offence for an owner not to clean up their dog’s faeces. Including this
requirement in the order can, RSPCA Cymru believes, adequately tackle the majority of
issues that this PSPO intends to resolve and would therefore suggest removing the
proposals to exclude dogs from marked sports pitches until this order has had time to be
implemented and the effects on reducing dog faeces known.

Page 155

43

Several local authorities in Wales have introduced a new condition within their PSPOs which
would require dog walkers to carry an appropriate receptacle for dealing with their dog’s
waste, such as poop bags or other means at all times. RSPCA Cymru believes that this would
also be beneficial in helping to improve responsible dog ownership.
Proposal 2: The exclusion of dogs in all enclosed playgrounds, marked sports pitches and
schools, which are owned and/or maintained by Cardiff Council.
The RSPCA understands the value of local authorities ensuring that sections of open space
may be dog‐free, such as children’s play areas and purpose built multi‐use games areas. It’s
important that as well as sufficient space for dog owners and their dogs, these separate
needs are not unduly segregated which can foster misunderstandings and substitute
problems. We wish to see integrated communities, with responsible pet and non‐pet
owners living harmoniously.
However, excluding responsible dog owners from allowing their dogs onto a marked sports
playing pitch would be restrictive, especially if adequate space nearby was not available and
would prohibit the dog from expressing normal behaviour, and confusing for dog owners as
many of these pitches are seasonal with limited or no signage or fencing.
Excluding dog owners from sports playing pitches, we believe, is also contrary to the Defra
guidance on issuing a PSPO1, which states that as it is enforced against an area, and not a
specific individual, that it should be used carefully. It must also meet the three conditions of
a dog’s behaviour including that it affects the quality of life of people in the area, is
persistent and is justified in imposing the restriction on the whole public2. Although sport
pitches may be used regularly throughout the spring, summer and early autumn months,
their use tends to decrease during winter. However, it is a dog owner’s responsibility to
ensure that their dog is walked all year round so they receive regular and appropriate
exercise under Section 9 of the Animal Welfare Act 2006.
RSPCA Cymru believes that although dog faeces can be a nuisance to the people that use
the sports pitches, they can be and are easily removed by many responsible dog owners,
imposing the restriction on all will punish the responsible dog owners and impose a negative
view of dog ownership within the community. The Society encourages all local authorities to
promote responsible dog ownership through enforcing compulsory microchipping and
signposting residents to approved training, proper care, and neutering. In this case, RSPCA
Cymru would like to see proper enforcement, using the other powers contained within this
PSPO, to target and tackle individuals contributing to the dog fouling in these areas and to
encourage better dog ownership of offenders, rather than tarring all dog owners with the
same brush. RSPCA Cymru would like to see the effect of the orders requiring dog owners to
remove dog faeces and have the means to clear after their dogs on the amount of dog
faeces before this order is put in place.

Page 156

44

Proposal 3: A requirement that dogs are kept on leads within all Cemeteries owned
and/or maintained by Cardiff Council.
Due to the comfort and support that owners can receive from their dog, RSPCA Cymru
welcomes the proposal to allow dogs in cemeteries as long as they are on a lead. This will
help owners who otherwise may have had no choice but to leave their dog tied up outside
the cemetery which is stressful to the dog and poses them at risk of theft. Furthermore,
some may have also left their dog in their car which would have placed them at risk of
causing unnecessary suffering and potentially being charged with an offence under the
Animal Welfare Act 2006.
Proposal 4: A requirement allowing authorised offices to give a direction a dog(s) be put
and kept on a lead if necessary.
To ensure that this condition is administered appropriately and in a proportionate manner,
RSPCA Cymru would like to see that the experience, knowledge and training of the officer
imposing the condition is sufficient to ensure the welfare of the dog is not compromised and
that they give advice to ensure that the dog is still able to be regularly exercised off the lead.
Where required, the officer should be able to signpost the owner to someone appropriate
for further advice regarding their dog’s behaviour.
Further comments:
Many dogs enjoy interacting and playing with other people and animals, and it is important
that they are able to express normal behaviour off the lead. Being walked off the lead and
being able to meet, play and interact with new animals and people are important aspects of
ensuring the welfare needs of dogs are met and that they are safe within a community.
Being able to meet, play and interact appropriately and adequately is particularly important
for puppies to ensure they develop into well‐adjusted happy individuals. Where this is not
allowed, or done incorrectly, problems can occur which include fear and aggression. RSPCA
Cymru does recognise that not all dogs will be well‐socialised and may find other animals or
people threatening and where this is known then they should be encouraged to seek advice
about their dog’s behaviour and apply measures to ensure their dog doesn’t pose concern
to the community e.g. remain on a lead but this should be done on a risk‐based approach. It
is therefore imperative that local authorities use PSPOs sparingly and in a manner that is
proportionate to the problem, in accordance with guidance and not as a blanket power that
punishes the responsible majority in an effort to tackle problems created by an irresponsible
few.
Tongwynlais Community Council
Tongwynlais Community Council discussed your proposals during their September meeting.
The Council are fully is favour of your proposals and would like to show their support.
However, the Council did question how these controls will be enforced.

Page 157

45

Comments from key consultees
STM Sports AFC
You have our absolute 100% support on this proposal.
Also can you confirm that all dogs when in public spaces should be kept on a leash and is
there a penalty for not complying?

Pentyrch Sports Association ( PSA)
I am Treasurer of Pentyrch Sports Association (PSA). We have a long term lease on the Parc
Y Dwrlyn playing fields in Pentyrch which are owned by Cardiff City Council. Could you
confirm that any PSPO passed would apply to these playing fields? Could you also confirm
our understanding that your proposal currently would not exclude dogs from all of the
playing fields but just apply to the marked sports pitches which do represent a large
proportion of the playing fields?
Rhiwbina RFC
With reference to your Consultation on Dog Controls, I write on behalf of Rhiwbina RFC. We
are a large community based club, based in Rhiwbina. We collaborate with Cardiff City Parks
Department in the use of rugby pitches at Cae Delyn Park.
We use the pitches at Cae Delyn on a regular basis. We run 5 senior (adult) teams, and 11
Junior teams, with children ranging from 5 ‐ 16 years old. Each team is supported by
coaches, first aiders, managers and helpers. In all I and my committee represent the views
of approx 350 players and 70 support staff.
Inevitably the area of concern for us is the fouling of park areas where we play rugby.
Mention is made in your online survey (that I have completed) of the fouling of marked out
playing pitches. Can I also add that the dangers of fouling by dogs is not just restricted to
these areas ‐ the boys, girls and adult players routinely use off pitch areas within Cae Delyn
to train (most/every weekday evening) and for pre‐match warm ups on Saturdays and
Sundays.
Sadly is a routine feature of our preparation that the ground has to be inspected for dog
faeces, with regular removal being necessary.
Things have improved enormously over the last decade or so. We have seen a marked
reduction in the volume of faeces, thanks to most dog owners being careful to use bags to
collect and dispose of their dog's faeces. The issue that remains is, as is so often the case,
one of the few giving a bad name to the many.
The Council need to take action against the minority of owners who do not collect the
faeces from their dogs. This minority will only react to direct action ‐ such as Dog Wardens.

Page 158

46

In summary, Rhiwbina RFC fully support the proposals made in your Consultation latter
attached.
Anna McMorrin MP
Many people have contacted me raising concerns regarding the Council's recent proposals
to implement a PSPO to tackle what the Council considers a growing concern across Cardiff
in relation to dogs, specifically dog fouling.
I recently spent some time talking to dog owners, sports pitch users and their families,
discussing these proposals and the impact it would have. This consultation has
understandably evoked strong opinions from all, especially those impacted by the actions of
the small number of irresponsible dog owners. I intend to summarise the concerns of my
constituents to be considered as part of the consultation process and I hope that the Council
will arrive at a solution that enables all users to share public facilities in a mutually beneficial
way.
Although I am not averse to strengthening measures to tackling the persistent issue of dog
faeces in public places, I do not believe that implementing a blanket restrict ion on our
public green spaces is the best approach to tackling the issue of dog fouling. A blanket
restriction will disproportionately penalise responsible dog owners who may continue their
behaviour, irrespective of where they are walking their dog. Rather, the Council should look
to strengthening enforcement action against the minority of irresponsible dog owners,
ensuring that those wanting to use the parks for whatever purposes are free to do so.
Inadequate Alternatives
Cardiff has a number of great parks that the community can make use of. Many of these are
non‐enclosed sport pitches in common multi‐use spaces and living in an urban environment
in the capital city, these parks are inevitably popular with many different community
groups.
When talking to local residents in Cardiff North recently, we discussed the issue of many of
the public green spaces also being marked sports pitches and residents raised concerns
about the lack of adequate alternatives in the area. For e.g. in Hailey park, the majority of
the fields are marked pitches and the green spaces that aren't, including the nearby
meadows, can often be very waterlogged and so dog walkers are unable to walk their dogs
there. We must therefore ensure that dog walkers have access to our public green spaces as
in many areas, there aren't adequate alternatives.
Impact of restricting access
Many constituents have expressed their concerns that the apparent blanket restrictions of
public green spaces would hamper their quality of life, as well as their ability to effectively
exercise their dogs.
As a society, we are striving to be healthier both physically and mentally and so many

Page 159

47

people walk their dogs in their local parks. If people are unable to utilise the marked pitches
in close proximity to them and they are forced to find alternatives (perhaps a car drive
away) then this could become a barrier to achieving a more active lifestyle and reduce the
owner's ability to sufficiently exercise their pet.
Similarly, the elderly or disabled people may not have access to cars and find it particularly
difficult to walk their dogs further afield in unmarked locations. As a result, these
restrictions could have a detrimental impact, not just on dog walkers, but also on the dogs
who, under the Animal Welfare Act, are entitled to 'suitable exercise'.
Impact on Sports Clubs
I am acutely aware of the impact of irresponsible dog owners failing to clean up after their
dog can have on sports clubs and the pressures club volunteers face. Many volunteers of
sports clubs in Cardiff North have been in touch to express their strong concerns about the
community resistance to the PSPO.
However, many people feel that utilising targeted enforcement strategies, for e.g. fines for
dog fouling, is a much fairer and more proportionate reaction to the issue and one which is
likely to have the best impact. These proposals risk disproportionately impacting a particular
community group over another, which might exacerbate conflicts rather than effectively
tackle the issue at hand. Stronger enforcement action and more public bins which are
emptied more regularly to further support dog walkers could be a more viable solution.
Enforcing Current Laws
Legislation is only as effective as its implementation. Although I welcome increasing
penalties and giving greater enforcement powers to officers to act as further deterrents, it is
essential that enforcement strategies are looked at as opposed to blanket restrictions.
Quality of the Consultation Process
Many of my constituents have raised concerns regarding the clarity of the consultation
process and the lack of publicity surrounding it.
On the Council's website, it states that the PSPO would prohibit 'dog fouling in all public
places owned and/or maintained by the Council'. Many people have expressed concerns
that it is unclear as to whether the Council proposes to enforce dog owners are required to
pick up after their dog, or whether the PSPO is to make it illegal for a dog to foul on any
Council owned/ maintained property, irrespective of whether it is cleaned up. Whilst
everybody I have spoken to agrees that all dog owners should pick up after their dogs, the
complete prohibition of dog fouling on Council property is untenable.
Many people have also expressed their concerns to me that the consultation process would
inevitably disproportionately affect a particular community group, and this has inevitably
evoked strong opinions in the community.

Page 160

48

In addition, some of my constituents do not feel that consultation has been sufficiently
advertised, meaning community groups may not actually be aware of the live consultation
and the results could end up being skewed. I would be very grateful for clarification on how
this has been advertised to ensure the consultation has reached as many as possible.
Conclusion
I appreciate that a number of educational interventions across the city haven't been as
successful as hoped and this issue still needs addressing. However, the Council has
recognised in a recent Cabinet Meeting on this issue, that enforcement action could have
been stronger over the last few years.
The dog owners and families I have spoken to have welcomed stronger enforcement action
but fear that the proposals put forward will only marginalise responsible dog owners, whilst
making very little difference to the irresponsible members of the community who do not
clean up after their dog.
Moving forward, it should be a question of striking the right balance between sports clubs
and dog owners/walkers using our public green spaces. I hope that due consideration will be
given to my constituents' concerns, so that we can arrive at a solution that will enable all
users to share public facilities in a mutually beneficial way.
Guide Dogs Cymru
The current draft reads:
“Please note that there are exemptions from a PSPO and these will not apply to a person;


Who is partially sighted or blind and registered under, Section 29 of the National
Assistance Act 1948



Who is registered as sight impaired, severely sight impaired or as having sight and
hearing impairments, registered under 18 of the Social Services and Well‐Being (Wales)
Act 2014



Who has a disability which affects their mobility or any other disability, where the
requirement of removing faeces would be unreasonable.

A PSPO will not apply to working dogs, which are used for emergency search and rescue, law
enforcement, HM armed forces or used for directing animals, these will also be exempt.
Not all our Guide Dog owners will be registered under the two Acts mentioned in the draft but
they will need to be exempt because of their sight impairment. Other Councils have
recognised this ommission and made the exemption clause more specific to protect this
important cohort of people. Here is an example of a better worded exemption clause from
Dog Control Order published by Newport City
Council
Council:
Page
161
49

“b) has a disability that affects the person’s mobility, manual dexterity, physical co‐
ordinationor ability to lift, carry or otherwise move everyday objects, in respect of a dog
trained by a registered charity and upon which the person relies for assistance”.
Kennel Club
Dog faeces and toxocariasis
FAQs
The Kennel Club believes that a fundamental component of being a responsible dog owner
includes picking up after their dogs wherever they are, including fields and woods in the
wider countryside. The only exceptions to this is when there is a clear indication from the
landowner to the contrary, this is sometimes used as a pragmatic way to avoid filled bags
being left behind in little used areas, or to reduce calls for more bins in rural locations.
Alternatively the dog owner may have a genuine reason why they are physically unable to
pick up after their dog, for instance a blind person with an assistance dog.
Left behind dog faeces is inherently unpleasant and in the overwhelming majority of cases
it is entirely avoidable by owners picking up. Thankfully the prevalence of dog fouling has
been in steady decline over the past ten years, the latest Keep Britain Tidy figures show that
dog fouling is at its lowest level since they began collecting data, in 2001.1 The Kennel Club
wishes to see this trend continue, and will continue to promote responsible dog ownership.
It is important to acknowledge that there can be some health risks associated with contact
with dog faeces for both humans and other animals. However, the Kennel Club has some
concerns that these health risks can, at times, be overstated.
Toxocariasis
The most serious and commonly cited health concern in relation to dog fouling is
toxocariasis. The NHS website describes toxocariasis as “a rare infection caused by
roundworm parasites. It's spread from animals to humans through contact with infected
faeces.”2
What are the symptoms of toxocariasis?
The NHS website details the symptoms of toxocariasis ‐ “for most people, an infection with
these roundworm larvae causes no symptoms and the parasites die within a few months.
However, some people experience mild symptoms, such as: a cough; a high temperature
(fever) of 38C (100.4F) or above; headaches; stomach pain. In rare cases, the roundworm
larvae infect organs such as the liver, lungs, eyes or brain and causes severe symptoms, such
as: fatigue; loss of appetite or weight loss, skin rashes; wheezing or breathing difficulties ;
seizures (fits); blurred or cloudy vision, usually only affecting one eye; a very red and painful
eye.” In rare cases permanent vision loss is possible ‐ “If one of your eyes is affected by
toxocariasis, there's a risk of permanent vision loss. However, prompt treatment can reduce
the chances of this happening.”

Page 162

50

Are dogs to blame for toxocariasis infections?
While toxocariasis is most commonly attributed to dogs and their faeces in the media,
contact with cat and fox faeces can also result in an infection. Accurate estimates of the UK
fox population aren’t available, we do however know that there are comparable numbers
of dogs and cats in the UK. It is estimated that there are between 8.5‐9.3 million dogs and
7.4‐11.3 million cats in the UK.3 However, while cat and dog populations are broadly
comparable, a recent study found that toxocariasis causing parasites were five times more
prevalent in cat faeces then dog faeces.4 There is no accurate data linking toxocariasis
infections to the original host animal, be that dog, cat or fox.
Does this make it dangerous to handle dog faeces?
The parasites responsible for toxocariasis (called toxocara) live in the digestive system of
dogs, cats and foxes. The worms produce eggs, which are released in the faeces of infected
animals. However, it is important to note that the eggs only become infectious after 10‐21
days so there is no immediate danger of toxocariasis from handling fresh animal faeces,
including dog faeces.5
How common is toxocariasis?
As many cases of toxocariasis result in no symptoms developing it is impossible to put an
exact figure on the actual number of cases per year. The NHS describes toxocariasis as a
“rare infection”, but how rare is rare?
Toxocariasis gains a disproportionately high amount of press coverage for such a rare
infection. We believe this is because a number of stakeholders seek to use toxocariasis as a
route to either justify clamping down on where dogs can go, or exaggerate the prominence
of it to gain funding for their work, or increase product sales. Those seeking to maximise
concerns over toxocariasis refer to a figure of approximately two cases of illness related to
toxocariasis per million people in the UK.
Usually this is reported as an approximate figure of those believed to be infected with
toxocariasis, but in some cases we have seen this being reported as the number of
confirmed cases of toxocariasis.

This in itself is a relatively low figure, and is less than the average number of confirmed
cases of toxoplasmosis per year, which is most commonly contracted from cat faeces,
though it can also be caught from eating contaminated meat or from new born lambs.6 It is
also considerably lower than the number of confirmed cases of Lyme disease which is
caught through transmission from infected ticks.7 Much like toxocariasis in extreme cases
both toxoplasmosis and Lyme disease can result in vision loss, however, complications of
greater severity are more common with these diseases.
1

http://www.keepbritaintidy.org/Documents/Files/LEQSE%202015/KBT%20LEQSE%20Report%202015%20web.
pdf
Page 163
http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/Toxocariasis/Pages/Introduction.aspx

51

While this figure of 2 cases per million is commonly quoted, no evidence or reference is
provided to support the figure. Indeed this same figure of 2 cases per million people has
been in circulation since at least 1987, where it appeared in an edition of the New Scientist
magazine, in which the British Veterinary Association used it to support their message that
the “Toxocara canis infection in the dog does not present a serious health hazard to
people”.8
Given this figure is in the region (or even potentially far in excess) of 30 years old, combined
with Keep Britain Tidy data which shows that dog fouling is at its lowest figure since they
recorded this data, we feel there is good reason to believe that these figures are extremely
unlikely to be accurate.
As toxocariasis is a zoonotic disease (i.e. it is passed from animals to humans) the UK
Government collects and publishes on an annual basis statistics on the number of
confirmed cases of the disease. According to the latest official Government figures released
in December 2015, over the past ten years the average number of confirmed toxocariasis
cases in the UK is 4.5 per year9, or in other words approximately one confirmed case per 14
million people in the UK.

To put this in context, it’s estimated that there are between 8.5‐9.3 million dogs and 7.4‐
11.3 million cats in the UK, most of which are likely to foul once or more a day, this roughly
equates to over 6.5 billion deposits per year. It is important to remember that the
overwhelming majority of toxocariasis cases will result in no long‐term complications.
Another way of looking at this is to compare with other rare occurrences, between 30‐60
people per year are hit by lightning in the UK10 and the National Lottery has created on
average >200 millionaires per year over this period11.

Page 164

52

Average yearly occurrence in the UK
250
200
150
100
50
0
National Lottery
Millionaires

People struck by Deaths from falling Confirmed cases of
lightning
out of bed
Toxocariasis

3

PFMA 2015 pet population figures http://www.pfma.org.uk/pet‐population‐2015 and PDSA PAW report
figures https://www.pdsa.org.uk/~/media/pdsa/files/pdfs/veterinary/paw‐reports/pdsa‐paw‐report‐
2015.ashx?la=en
4
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jsap.12478/abstract
5
http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/Toxocariasis/Pages/Introduction.aspx
6
http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/Toxoplasmosis/Pages/Complications.aspx &
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/488376/zoonoses‐annual‐
report‐2014.pdf
7
http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/Lyme‐disease/Pages/Introduction.aspx &
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/488376/zoonoses‐annual‐
report‐2014.pdf
https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=wbEozPWQk8MC&lpg=PA18&dq=new%20scientist%2026%20february%
201987&pg=PA74#v=onepage&q=new%20scientist%2026%20february%201987&f=false
9
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/488376/zoonoses‐annual‐
report‐2014.pdf
10
http://www.rospa.com/leisure‐safety/advice/lightning/
11
https://www.national‐lottery.co.uk/life‐changing/winner‐map
12
http://www.mirror.co.uk/news/weird‐news/scientists‐calculate‐odd‐ways‐die‐282884

Page 165

53

Summary
Toxocariasis is a very rare infection, on average for every one confirmed case ten people are
struck by lightning in the UK. The overwhelming majority of toxocariasis infections will result
in minor symptoms, with no lasting effects. However, in extremely rare cases severe
symptoms can occur.
While there are many who seek to use toxocariasis as a means to promote their own
agenda, often their headline grabbing stories, facts and statistics don’t stand up to any
significant level of scrutiny. It is also important to remember that even if a total ban of dogs
was in place, the risk of toxocariasis would very much remain from cat and fox faeces.
We are concerned that the current, often inaccurate messaging around the dangers of dog
faeces may inadvertently be putting people off from picking up after their dog. Continuously
promoting a message that dog faeces is going to harm your health is very unlikely to
encourage people to pick it up and risk their own health in doing so. We therefore would call
on stakeholders to carefully consider what they communicate in relation to dog fouling, and
be honest with dog walkers and other users of public places, that it takes between 10‐21
days for toxocara contaminated dog faeces to become infectious. Instead we should be
focussing on encouraging people to pick up after their dog, in combination with regular
worming.
Lastly, we would call on all local authorities not seek to use toxocariasis as a justification to
restrict dog access to public spaces, the facts simply don’t support the introduction of dog
restrictions on the basis of toxocariasis.

Page 166

54

Appendix E - Petition Comments

Page 167
55

Page 168

56

Page 169

57

Page 170

58

Page 171

59

Page 172

60

Page 173

61

Page 174

62

Page 175

63

Page 176

64

Page 177

65

Page 178

66

Page 179

67

Page 180

68

Page 181

69

Page 182

70

Page 183

71

Page 184

72

Page 185

73

Page 186

74

Page 187

75

Appendix F - Councillor Enquiries
Those against the proposed Dog Controls
Punishing dog owners/walkers
“It is completely unfair. Most of us pick up after our dogs, it is just a small amount of
people who do not. So why punish us all because of a few.”
“The blanket exclusion of dogs from all enclosed parks and marked pitches would
have a detrimental effect on the lives of many residents and would mean some of the
parks local to us are redundant 90% of the time.”
Responsibilities
“Under the Animal Welfare Act 2006, owners must provide for the welfare needs of
their animals, including the necessary amount of exercise each day. Local authorities
should be aware of the publicly accessible parks and other public places in their area
which dog walkers can use to exercise their dogs without restriction.”
“In addition, those out walking their dogs act as “early warning eyes, ears and hands
for the Council, advising on things such as vandalised pitches and posts, fallen trees
and branches, over-flowing litter bins, broken gates and fences, anti-social
behaviour, as well as providing local insights and information to Police and
Community Support Officers.”
Alternative methods
“The suggestion that the only alternative legislation to the repealed The Dog (Fouling
of Land) Act 1996 is PSPO is misinformed, and there are other legislation that could
allow the council to issue FPN.”
“With reference to the March 2017 report to the Director of City Operations, the only
option that was outlined was the PSPO, no suggestion of CPN, increased
enforcement, nor further dog owner education.”
“Councils should also consider whether alternative options [such as Community
Protection Notices] are available to deal with problems around irresponsible dog
ownership or dogs being out of control…[DEFRA] has produced detailed guidance in
the form of a practitioner’s guide on the range of tools available to deal with
irresponsible dog ownership.”
Complaints data
“No analysis has been provided regarding the 500 complaints. From Appendix B
(Examples of complaints in parks relating to Dog Control in Cardiff) of the 12 July
meeting, there is a document listing around 90 complaints, dating from September
2008 to September 2017. Only seven are listed within 2016/2017. As this seems to
be a database search of complaints relating to dogs from the Cardiff Council system
that catalogues complaints, it would make sense that the 500 mentioned for
2016/2017 would be in this list. But they can’t be, we can only count 7.”

Page 188

76

“Cardiff Council’s proposal is a broad brush and a blanket restriction across Cardiff.
This approach is something that many organisations like the RSPCA, the Kennel
Club, and the LGA guidance do not support as the way of dealing with dogs and their
owners.”
Toxocariasis
“But what about the danger posed by toxocariasis? This is a potentially life-changing
infection caused by nematodes (ie.worms) and their larva which, if contracted by a
human and not treated promptly and effectively, can cause major damage to human
tissue. Fortunately, the incidence is extremely rare – you are more likely to be struck
by lightning (average of 18 people a year in the UK7) than to contract toxocariasis. In
an urban environment the 2 most common sources of toxocariasis are the faeces of
urban foxes and stray cats. Studies7 have found that, across Wales & England, the
prevalence in foxes is 55.9% and in stray cats is 34.8%.”
Litter and Bins
“My concern is regarding excluding dogs from marked pitches. I live adjacent to
Thornhill Park which is pretty much all taken up by marked pitches. I have enjoyed
exercising my dogs off leash in this area for years. Whilst doing this I and fellow
neighbours with dogs have picked up litter left by other users such as plastic bottles
and wrappers from clubs using the pitch and broken glass, cans, bottles food
containers and used disposable barbecues left behind by teenagers in the summer.”
“The bins are full of poo bags at Thornhill Park are also testament to the responsible
attitude of the dog owners of Thornhill.”
“We believe that the issue of dog mess is overstated as my husband did sweeps of
the pitches for rubbish and dog mess before each game played in parks across
Cardiff and there was rarely dog mess but without fail there would be other rubbish
to pick up.”
Change in dog’s behaviour
“Many people only have the Cardiff Parks, which are mostly marked as playing
fields, to allow off leash exercise and by excluding dogs from these areas there will
be many frustrated and unsocialised dogs as a result. This will result in more noise
disturbance by dogs who would otherwise be happy after a good run in the morning
and also an increase other unwanted behaviours such as dog bites.”
Adverse effects of the proposed dog controls
“If the PSPO is brought in as suggested it will have a detrimental effect on many dog
owners, dog walkers and perhaps small business owners as well.”
“The latest figures suggest that one in every four households have a pet dog. Dog
ownerships results in physical and mental health benefits for the whole family.”
“I was concerned to hear that the Council are considering a ban on dogs on marked
sports fields. This would limit the area I can walk my dog to 1 of the 3 fields in the
park. My wife and I walk the dog and it not only provides exercise for the dog but

Page 189

77

also exercise for the two of us. I am sure if it wasn’t for their pets many people would
not be out walking as often as they are with their pets. This I am sure would have a
knock on effect on the health and wellbeing of many people.”
“I like many elderly people have a dog for company. We elderly people are told to
keep moving, now Cardiff Council are trying to stop us walking our dogs in parks.”
“Cardiff is a green city, our parks are for everyone as long as they use them
respectfully. There is no reason why these areas cannot be multi purpose. Dog
walkers are often the only ones in Pontcanna Fields and Llandaff Fields during the
week (if they weren't , I don't think I would feel completely safe walking there).”
“Dogs need to run and play! There is so much dog and animal cruelty in this world
and this proposal will encourage lazy owners to walk on pavements or to miss walks
altogether. It will see an upsurge in people dumping their dogs or handing them to
dog's homes. It will decrease the chances of dog's being exercised properly which
will be bad for their mental and physical health.”
“As a female who often walks my dog alone I like to walk on the open fields, I would
not feel safe being pushed to the obscured boundaries and the woods.”
Consultation
“It also appears that the consultation process itself is flawed, thereby generating
hostility and suspicion as well as undermining the credibility of any ban introduced as
a result. Some information appears to have been presented by the council in a
misleading way, and one question, for example, lumps playing fields in with schools
and playgrounds; of course people won’t want dogs to roam free on school land, but
there was no option to select individual different types of places.”
“The questions in the consultation are leading and do not invite a balanced response
- for example we are asked if our life is negatively affected by dogs or neutral, but
there is no option for positively affected.”

Page 190

78

Those in favour of the proposal on dog controls
“As responsible dog owners, we would support increased and better enforcement,
and we’d welcome seeing Enforcement Officers on patrol, and so would many other
dog owners we know. This would not only tackle the uncommon issue of dog owners
not picking up after their dogs, but also tackle the extensive littering that was seen in
Victoria Park throughout this summer.”
“I would be willing to agree with many of the suggestions in the proposed PSPO
such as the exclusion of dogs in all enclosed playgrounds, and Schools, which are
owned and/or maintained by Cardiff Council and the condition that dogs should be
kept on a lead in cemeteries.”
“No one is denying the suggestion that all dog owners should pick up after their dog.”
“I completely agree that dog fouling in public areas is definitely an issue that needs
attention. The issue of dog fouling in public spaces is unacceptable and irresponsible
but I believe it is the minority of dog owners spoiling it for the majority (as with all
things).”
“I would be willing to agree with many of the suggestions in the proposed PSPO
such as the exclusion of dogs in all enclosed playgrounds, and Schools, which are
owned and/or maintained by Cardiff Council and the condition that dogs should be
kept on a lead in cemeteries.”
“As a dog owner, I strongly support measures to tackle irresponsible dog ownership
and fouling. A better solution to the problem would be to increase fines for dog
fouling and for the council to actually implement the powers it already has to give
these fines where necessary. The fact that so few fines have been given for dog
fouling in recent years speaks volumes to me about how seriously the Council is
actually taking this problem. I do not see why responsible dog owners in Cardiff
should be penalised simply because Cardiff Council is unwilling or unable to take
action in ways that might actually do something to reduce the amount of dog fouling
in the city.”
“I would like to note that I, along with most other responsible dog walkers, of course
agree that dogs should be banned from school playgrounds, play parks, cemeteries
and there should be active enforcement for dog fouling but we need open spaces to
exercise our dogs (and ourselves).”
“There are elements of the proposal I understand and agree with. For example, I
think it’s fair to ask that dogs are not taken onto School grounds and remain on-lead
in cemeteries. I also think it would be fair to ask that dogs are kept on a lead during
official sports team training or game sessions.”
“I am most disappointed to read that you are thinking of dropping the idea of a ban
on dogs on marked sports pitches. If you feel that it is okay for a dog to mess on a
sport pitch provided that a very very responsible dog owner picks it up may I get
you and all your fellow councillors to roll on an area of grass that has just has a dog

Page 191

79

mess picked up off it, especially if it nice and wet. I am sure that you would not wish
to do this.”
“The other issue is that very often a dog runs onto a pitch whilst my son’s football
team plays football and starts chasing the children or the ball. Who wants this when
you are trying to play football? How will this be prevented? May be you should fine
any dog owner £500 if they allow their dog to mess on a sports pitch whether they
pick it up or not. Also a fine for allowing their dog to enter onto a pitch while a game
is in progress.”
“I visit the City regularly, and it would be a disaster if one or more of my children, or
grandchildren, were to pick up some disease though leftover animal waste being
spread on the grass at one or more of the playing fields.”
“The fines for fouling from dogs is a unarguable case. Dog owners have a
responsibility to clear up and dispose appropriately of their dogs’ faeces in any area
used by the public. Ideally, there should be no fouling in sports areas as even the
residue following clearing up can be a source of infection. However, I am not sure
how feasible it is banning dogs from open sports pitches.”
“Considering parks where there are facilities for humans such as gardens, children’s
playing areas, tennis courts, bowling greens, walking trails, then keeping dogs on a
lead is a reasonable request. Keeping dogs on a lead is keeping a dog under control
preventing them from running and behaving unpredictably. Safety of others and
other dogs is improved. Areas which need significant upkeep such as bowling
greens and flower beds are also protected.”

Page 192

80

Appendix A

Cardiff Council

Public Spaces Protection Orders
Policy Statement

June 2018
0|Page

Page 193

Appendix A
1. Introduction
1.1.

The Council has commitment to develop a systematic proactive approach to
street and public space enforcement including implementing Public Space
Protection Orders to remove anti-social behaviours.

1.2.

The Local Authority recognises how anti-social behaviour can have a
detrimental impact on local resident’s quality of life, with those affected often
feeling powerless to act. The Local Authority plays a key role in helping to make
local communities within its area, safe places to live, visit and work.

1.3.

Members of the public and Council employees are aware of the anti-social
behaviour issues that occur within their local communities. It is key that we
address and reduce these issues from occurring, by consulting with members
of public and other stakeholders, in order to highlight areas of concern that in
turn need addressing.

2. What is Anti Social behaviour?
2.1.

Anti-social behaviour is a broad term used to describe the day-to-day incidents
of crime, nuisance and disorder that make many people’s lives a misery – from
litter and vandalism, to public drunkenness or aggressive dogs, to noisy or
abusive neighbours.

2.2.

Victims can feel helpless, bounced from one agency or department to another
and then back again. In many cases, the behaviour is targeted against the most
vulnerable in our society and even what is perceived as ‘low level’ anti-social
behaviour, when targeted and persistent, can have devastating effects on a
victim’s life.

2.3.

Legislation to eliminate this type of behaviour was developed in July 2014, to
provide more streamlined powers to authorised agencies. Local Authorities are
now empowered to make and enforce Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO)

2.4.

Such a wide range of behaviours means that responsibility for dealing with antisocial behaviour is shared between a number of agencies, particularly the
Police and relevant Local Authority departments.

1|Page

Page 194

Appendix A
3. What is a Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO)?
3.1.

Under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, A Public Spaces
Protection Order (PSPO) sits amongst a broad range of powers and tools to
help reduce anti-social behaviour within particular areas.

3.2.

A PSPO deals with specific nuisance problems, which is having, or is likely to
have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those who live, work or visit a
locality.

3.3.

A PSPO can substantially reduce anti-social behaviour by the means of
reasonable and proportionate restrictions and prohibitions. Its aim is ensuring
public spaces can be enjoyed and is designed to ensure that the law-abiding
majority can still use and enjoy public spaces, safe from anti-social behaviour.

3.4.

These Orders are not about stopping responsible people from using publicly
accessible land, but to provide Local Authorities and other Local Government
departments with the means to help deal with persistent issues, which can be
damaging to local communities.

4. Introducing a PSPO
4.1.

The Local Authority can make a PSPO for any public space within its own area.
The definition of public space is wide and includes any place to which the public
has access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express or
implied permission, for example a shopping centre.

4.2.

The threshold for making a PSPO is set out in Section 59 of The Anti-social
Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014, which permits Local Authorities to
make a PSPO if satisfied, on reasonable grounds, that two conditions are met
as defined by the Act.

4.2.1 The first condition is that:
a) activities carried on in a public place within the authority’s area have had
a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, or
b) It is likely that activities will be carried on in a public place within that
area and that they will have such an effect
4.1.2. The second condition is that the effect, or likely effect of the activities:
a) is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature,
b) is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable, and
c) justifies the restrictions imposed by the Order
2|Page

Page 195

Appendix A
4.3.

The Local Authority must carry out the necessary consultation, publicity and
notification before making, extending and/or varying a PSPO.

4.4.

Under section 72 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014,
the Local Authority must consult formally through the Chief Officer of Police and
the Police and Crime Commissioner. In addition to this, all owners or occupiers
of the land within the area to be restricted by the PSPO must be consulted,
where reasonably practicable.

4.5

The Local Authority must also consult whichever community representatives it
thinks appropriate. This could relate to a specific group, for instance the
residents association, or an individual or group of individuals, for instance,
regular users of a park or specific activities. Before a PSPO can be
implemented, the Local Authority must publish the draft Order in accordance
with regulations made by the Secretary of State.

5.

Duration of a PSPO

5.1.

The maximum duration of a PSPO is three years however; they can last for
shorter periods where appropriate. Short-term PSPOs could be used where it
is not certain that restrictions will have the desired effect, for instance, when
closing a public right of way, Local Authorities may wish to make an initial PSPO
for 12 months and then review the decision when it expires.

5.2.

Whilst a PSPO is in place, the Local Authority can extend it by up to three years
if deemed necessary to prevent the original behaviour from occurring or
recurring. They should also consult with the local Police and any other relevant
community representatives.

6.

Challenging the validity of a PSPO

6.1.

Under section 66 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 an
interested person, which is someone who lives, regularly visits or works within
a restricted area may apply, by way of a Judicial Review, to the High Court of
Justice, to challenge the validity of a PSPO or a variation of a PSPO. This
means that only those who are directly affected by the restrictions of an Order
have the power to challenge it.

6.2.

An interested person who wishes to challenge a PSPO must make an
application to the High Court within 6 weeks of a PSPO being made or varied
by the Local Authority.

3|Page

Page 196

Appendix A
6.3.

The grounds on which an application may be made are;
a) That the Local Authority did not have power to make an Order or
variation, or to include particular prohibitions or requirements,
b) That a requirement under this chapter was not complied with, in relation
to the Order or variation, such as statutory consultation.

6.4.

Where a Judicial Review application is made, the High Court can decide to
suspend the operation of a PSPO or variation or any of its requirements,
pending the final outcome of the Judicial Review. The High Court has the ability
to uphold the PSPO, quash it, or to vary it.

6.5.

An interested person cannot challenge the validity of a PSPO in any legal
proceedings before or after it is made, unless that person is charged with an
offence. An interested person can challenge a PSPO to defend to a
prosecution, where they have been found guilty of committing an offence. On
the grounds that the Local Authority did not have the power to impose the
restrictions or that the restrictions imposed are unreasonable.

4|Page

Page 197

Appendix A
7. Enforcement
7.1.

Authorised Officers from Local Authorities and the Police will be able to enforce
the restrictions and requirements of a PSPO.

Purpose
Who
make
PSPO

Designed to stop individuals or groups committing anti social behaviour
in a public place.

can Local Authorities issue a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) after
a consultation with the Police, Police and Crime Commissioner and other

Test

relevant bodies.

Behaviour being restricted has to:
•
•
•

Details

Restrictions and requirements set by the Local Authority.
•
•
•

Penalty on
Breach

•
•
•

Appeals

•
•

Important
changes /
differences

Be having, or be likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality
of life of those in the locality;
Be persistent or continuing in nature; and
Be unreasonable

•

These can be blanket restrictions or requirements or can be
targeted against certain behaviours by certain groups at certain
times.
Can restrict access to public spaces (including certain types of
highways) where that route is being used to commit anti social
behaviour.
Can be enforced by a Police Officer, PCSO and Council officers.

Breach is a criminal offence
Enforcement officers can issue a fixed penalty notice of up to
£100 if appropriate.
A fine of up to level 3 on prosecution.
Anyone who lives in, or regularly works in or visits the area can
appeal a PSPO in the High Court within six weeks of issue.
Further appeal is available each time the PSPO is varied by the
Local Authority.
More than one restriction can be added to the same PSPO,
meaning that a single PSPO can deal with a wider range of
behaviours than the Order it replaces.

5|Page

Page 198

Appendix A

Area

Conditions

Outcomes

Actions

The Local Authority put
restrictions on an area
where behaviour has,
or is likely to have a
detrimental effect on
the Local Community.

Police Officer,
PCSO or Council
officer witnesses
behaviour.

If the individual
does not comply,
they commit an
offence.

Possible course
of actions,
depending on
circumstances.

Individual breaches
conditions of an
Order (e.g. by walking
a dog).

Individual asked to
leave an area, handover
alcohol or put dog on
leash etc.

Park
Alcohol

Comply
No further
Action

Public
Space
Dogs

Advice

Parking

FPN

Maximum
fine
£100

Other

Court

Prosecution
Up to
level 3

School

Playing
Field

Enclosed
playground

6|Page

Page 199

Appendix A
7.2.

Although PSPOs are made by the Local Authority, enforcement should be the
responsibility of a wider group. Council Officers will be able to enforce the
restrictions and requirements, as will other groups that they designate, including
officers accredited under the community safety accreditation scheme. In
addition, Police Officers and PCSOs will also have the ability to enforce the
Order. It is envisaged that the other groups will be authorised by the Council
to administer administrative remedies through fixed penalty notices only. Court
proceeding for breaches of the Order will be undertaken by the Council.

8. Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs)
8.1.

A Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) is a notice offering the person to whom it is
issued, the opportunity of discharging any liability to conviction for an offence
by payment to the Local Authority the amount specified in the notice.

8.2.

An authorised officer of the Local Authority or a Police Officer may issue a FPN
to anyone they have reason to believe has committed an offence under section
63 and 67 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.

8.3.

No proceedings can be taken before the end of 14 days following the date of
issue for the notice. A conviction may not be sought if the recipient pays the
FPN before the end of that period.

8.4.

An FPN must contain prescribed information:

a) give reasonably detailed particulars of the circumstances alleged to constitute
the offence;
b) state the period during which proceedings will not be taken for the offence;
c) specify the amount of the fixed penalty;
d) state the name and address of the person to whom the fixed penalty may be
paid;
e) specify permissible methods of payment
8.5.

The fixed penalty notice amount is a maximum of £100.

9. Issuing a Fixed Penalty Notice
9.1.

There will be authorised enforcement officers patrolling the restricted areas,
based on complaints. At the time, an officer sees an offence being committed
he or she will issue a hand written fixed penalty notice using a FPN book.

7|Page

Page 200

Appendix A
10. Appealing a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN)
10.1. There is no right of appeal to the Local Authority or a Tribunal. Although an
individual may be given, an opportunity to explain why they believe an offence
has not been committed.
10.2. Failure to pay the FPN within 14 days from the date of issue may result in
prosecution. If convicted, a defendant is likely to receive a fine and be ordered
to pay prosecution costs and will incur a criminal record.
10.3. The fixed penalty notice for a breach of the prohibition will be £100 without the
offer of discount. Any income received must be ring-fenced and spent on Local
Authority functions relating to road traffic, litter and refuse.
10.4. The Local Authority may receive costs awarded against defendants following a
successful prosecution once recovered by the Court service.
11. Considerations that the Local Authority must have regard for
11.1. A PSPO will ensure that there is not any infringements on the freedoms
permitted under article 10 and 11 of the Human Rights Act 1998, when drafting,
extending, varying or discharging an Order.
11.2. Where Orders restrict public rights of way, section 64 of the Act requires the
Local Authority to consider a number of issues, including the impact on those
living nearby and the availability of alternative routes. It also sets out some
categories of highways where rights of way cannot be restricted. The Local
Authority may also conclude that PSPOs restricting access should only be
introduced where the anti-social behaviour is facilitated by the use of that right
of way.
11.3. When defining the area restrictions should cover, consideration will be given as
to whether prohibitions in one area will displace the problem behaviour
elsewhere, or into a neighbouring authority. The neighbouring Authorities will
also be consulted to mitigate this.
11.4. The Local Authority will consider how best the Order should be worded and
establish an evidence base to support the proposals, to include a consultation
process. The prohibitions or requirements imposed by a PSPO will be written
in clear English, easily understood and should be able to withstand scrutiny.
11.5. The Local Authority recognises that owners have a duty under the Animal
Welfare Act 2006, to provide for their animal’s welfare, which includes
exercising them. In determining the area covered by restrictions, the Local
Authority will therefore consider how to accommodate the need for owners to
exercise their animals.
8|Page

Page 201

Appendix A
11.6. The area that a PSPO will cover will be clearly defined. Mapping out areas
where certain behaviours are permitted; for instance identifying specific park
areas where dogs can be let off a lead without breaching the PSPO.
11.7. Practical issues, such as effective enforcement and erecting signs in (or near)
an area subject to an Order – as required by the legislation – will also be borne
in mind when determining how large an area the Order proposals might cover.
12. Exemptions
12.1. Exemptions of a PSPO will need be dealt with on a case by case basis,
depending on what is proposed to be included into an Order and what that
Order will restrict and/or prohibit, It will look at who will be affected and how. An
Order will also ensure that it does not discriminate a person.
12.2. Careful consideration will be undertaken when introducing an Order to eliminate
unlawful discrimination against protected characteristics that may be
unintentionally affected by a PSPO. The planning phase of a PSPO will ensure
that there is not a breach to the Equality Act 2010. This will be prevented via an
Equality Impact Assessment (EIA).
12.3. An EIA is a specific assessment tool used to assess and ensure that a policy
or project does not discriminate against any disadvantaged or vulnerable
people. It also ensures that the Local Authority provides and delivers a service
that reflects the needs of the local community and its stakeholders.

13. References





Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014: Reform of Anti-Social
Behaviour powers. Statutory guidance for frontline professionals. Home Office.
July 2014.
Local Government Association – Public Spaces Protection Orders, Guidance
for Councils. May 2017.

9|Page

Page 202

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Appendix C
Public Space Protection Orders – Dog Controls
New Policy Statement and Function
Who is responsible for developing and implementing the
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function?
Name: Matthew Wakelam
Job Title: Assistant Director – Street Scene
Service Team: Street Scene
Service Area: Planning, Transport &
Environment
Assessment Date: 19th February 2019
1.

What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/
Service/Function?

To provide a policy statement on the use of introducing a Public Spaces Protection
Order (PSPO) to control persistent anti-social behaviour (ASB) issues within Cardiff,
under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (the Act).
In creating a PSPO the Local Authority will need to ensure that there is sufficient
evidence to support the test as stated in the legislation and guidance. The test is
designed to be broad and focus on the impact anti-social behaviour is having on victims
and communities. A PSPO can be made by the council if they are satisfied on
reasonable grounds that the activities carried out, or likely to be carried out, in a public
space:
 have had, or are likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of
those in the locality;
 is, or is likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature;
 is, or is likely to be, unreasonable; and
 justifies the restrictions imposed.
To implement a Public Space Protection Order for dog controls to restrict persistent
anti-social behaviour in public spaces. The aim of the Order is to prevent or reduce
anti-social behaviour, as a result of irresponsible dog owners.
2.

Please
provide
background
information
on
the
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done
etc.]

The current legislation for dog fouling, The Dog (Fouling of Land) Act 1996, are
currently not supported via Magistrates Courts and will eventually be completely
repealed due to there being more up to date legislation that the Council should be
utilising, specifically the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 203

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 1

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Issues and concerns have been reported in relation to dogs, such as; dog faeces not
removed and people unable to control their dogs off a lead in public spaces. The
Orders will aid the Council to adopt a range of fair and practical controls on specific
public spaces.
The Consultation response report provides a good sample of the views of citizens, both
dog owners and non-dog owners on the concerns relating to dog controls. There were
6,002 responses received over the consultation period. This is the largest
response to a single survey by Cardiff Council in 2018.

3

Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics

3.1
Age
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people?
Yes




Up to 18 years
18 - 65 years
Over 65 years

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The PSPO dog controls is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Age. All age groups will benefit from having improved controls of
anti-social behaviour relating to dog control. This will benefit all age groups to enjoy
public spaces with reduced fear of anti-social behaviour relating to dog controls and
support proactive enforcement relating to dog fouling in public spaces.
Over 65 years in general may have physical limitations and concomitant relationships
with age and impairment and therefore Enforcement Officers will need to take a view
on individual cases. Training will be provided to all Officers with delegated authority to
issue enforcement fines.
Individuals under 18 years old will not be fined under the Public Space Protection
Order as with all other Environmental Fines in Cardiff. The individual will be given a
warning and if required a formal letter will be sent to their parents and /or the child
referred to the Anti-Social Behaviour Team.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 204

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 2

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Informing the community of the PSPO dog controls and how they will be managed.
• Promoting and communicating good dog ownership behaviours.
• Clear signing of controls.
• Media / social media information at regular interval reinforcing the controls.

3.2
Disability
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?

Hearing Impairment
Physical Impairment
Visual Impairment
Learning Disability
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition
Mental Health
Substance Misuse
Other

Yes









No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The PSPO dog controls is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Disability. This group will benefit from having improved controls of
anti-social behaviour relating to dog control. This will benefit all age groups to enjoy
public spaces with reduced fear of anti-social behaviour relating to dog controls and
support proactive enforcement relating to dog fouling in public spaces.
No enforcement on any Public Space Protection Order dog control will take place if an
individual has a disability that affects the person’s mobility, manual dexterity, physical
co-ordination or ability to lift, carry or otherwise move everyday objects, in respect of a
dog trained by a registered charity and upon which the person relies for assistance.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Informing the community of the PSPO dog controls and how they will be managed.
• Promoting and communicating good dog ownership behaviours.
• Clear signing of controls.
• Media / social media information at regular interval reinforcing the controls.
 Direct engagement with specialist groups and the provision of good information /
media.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 205

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 3

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

3.3
Gender Reassignment
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?

Transgender People
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex)

Yes


No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The PSPO dog controls is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Gender Reassignment. This group will benefit from having improved
controls of anti-social behaviour relating to dog control. This will benefit all age groups
to enjoy public spaces with reduced fear of anti-social behaviour relating to dog
controls and support proactive enforcement relating to dog fouling in public spaces.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Informing the community of the PSPO dog controls and how they will be managed.
• Promoting and communicating good dog ownership behaviours.
• Clear signing of controls.
• Media / social media information at regular interval reinforcing the controls.
3.4. Marriage and Civil Partnership
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership?
Yes



Marriage
Civil Partnership

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The PSPO dog controls is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Marriage and Civil Partnership. This group will benefit from having
improved controls of anti-social behaviour relating to dog control. This will benefit all
age groups to enjoy public spaces with reduced fear of anti-social behaviour relating to
dog controls and support proactive enforcement relating to dog fouling in public
spaces.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 206

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 4

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Informing the community of the PSPO dog controls and how they will be managed.
• Promoting and communicating good dog ownership behaviours.
• Clear signing of controls.
• Media / social media information at regular interval reinforcing the controls.
3.5
Pregnancy and Maternity
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity?
Yes



Pregnancy
Maternity

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The PSPO dog controls is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Pregnancy and Maternity. This group will benefit from having
improved controls of anti-social behaviour relating to dog control. This will benefit all
age groups to enjoy public spaces with reduced fear of anti-social behaviour relating to
dog controls and support proactive enforcement relating to dog fouling in public
spaces.
Individuals may be characterised as having mobility issues relating to their pregnancy
and therefore Enforcement Officers will need to take a view on individual cases.
Training will be provided to all Officers with delegated authority to issue enforcement
fines.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Informing the community of the PSPO dog controls and how they will be managed.
• Promoting and communicating good dog ownership behaviours.
• Clear signing of controls.
• Media / social media information at regular interval reinforcing the controls.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 207

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 5

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

3.6
Race
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?

White
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups
Asian / Asian British
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British
Other Ethnic Groups

Yes






No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The PSPO dog controls is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Race. This group will benefit from having improved controls of antisocial behaviour relating to dog control. This will benefit all age groups to enjoy public
spaces with reduced fear of anti-social behaviour relating to dog controls and support
proactive enforcement relating to dog fouling in public spaces.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Informing the community of the PSPO dog controls and how they will be managed.
• Promoting and communicating good dog ownership behaviours.
• Clear signing of controls.
• Media / social media information at regular interval reinforcing the controls.
 Communication and media in languages other than English and Welsh.

3.7
Religion, Belief or Non-Belief
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?
Yes






Buddhist
Christian
Hindu
Humanist
Jewish
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 208

No

Authorised: Rachel Jones

N/A

Page 6

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Muslim
Sikh
Other





Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The PSPO dog controls is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Religion. This group will benefit from having improved controls of
anti-social behaviour relating to dog control. This will benefit all age groups to enjoy
public spaces with reduced fear of anti-social behaviour relating to dog controls and
support proactive enforcement relating to dog fouling in public spaces.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Informing the community of the PSPO dog controls and how they will be managed.
• Promoting and communicating good dog ownership behaviours.
• Clear signing of controls.
• Media / social media information at regular interval reinforcing the controls.
 Communication and media in languages other than English and Welsh.

3.8
Sex
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women?
Yes



Men
Women

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The PSPO dog controls is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Sex. This group will benefit from having improved controls of antisocial behaviour relating to dog control. This will benefit all age groups to enjoy public
spaces with reduced fear of anti-social behaviour relating to dog controls and support
proactive enforcement relating to dog fouling in public spaces.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Informing the community of the PSPO dog controls and how they will be managed.
• Promoting and communicating good dog ownership behaviours.
• Clear signing of controls.
• Media / social media information at regular interval reinforcing the controls.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 209

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 7

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
3.9
Sexual Orientation
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?
Yes





Bisexual
Gay Men
Gay Women/Lesbians
Heterosexual/Straight

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The PSPO dog controls is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Sexual Orientation. This group will benefit from having improved
controls of anti-social behaviour relating to dog control. This will benefit all age groups
to enjoy public spaces with reduced fear of anti-social behaviour relating to dog
controls and support proactive enforcement relating to dog fouling in public spaces.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Informing the community of the PSPO dog controls and how they will be managed.
• Promoting and communicating good dog ownership behaviours.
• Clear signing of controls.
• Media / social media information at regular interval reinforcing the controls.
3.10 Welsh Language
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language?
Yes


Welsh Language

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The PSPO dog controls is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Welsh Language. This group will benefit from having improved
controls of anti-social behaviour relating to dog control. This will benefit all age groups
to enjoy public spaces with reduced fear of anti-social behaviour relating to dog
controls and support proactive enforcement relating to dog fouling in public spaces.
All signage will be bilingual and meet the standards of the Welsh Language Act;
however, Enforcement Officers may not be able to communicate in Welsh.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 210

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 8

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Informing the community of the PSPO dog controls and how they will be managed.
• Promoting and communicating good dog ownership behaviours.
• Clear signing of controls.
• Media / social media information at regular interval reinforcing the controls.
Support Welsh Language training and look at improving the number of bilingual
Environmental Enforcement Officers.

4.
Consultation and Engagement
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities
Groups?
Consultation with relevant groups has taken place specifically RNIB/ Guide dogs as
being most integral to the issue of dog use and / as a disability support / auxiliary aid.

5.

Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above]

Groups
Age
Disability
Gender Reassignment
Marriage & Civil
Partnership
Pregnancy & Maternity
Race
Religion/Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation
Welsh Language
Generic Over-Arching
[applicable to all the
above groups]

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Actions
 Equality training for Enforcement Officers

• Equality training for Enforcement Officers
 Media language

 Welsh signage and media
 Welsh language training for Enforcement Officers.
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Informing the community of the PSPO dog controls and
how they will be managed.
• Promoting and communicating good dog ownership
behaviours.
• Clear signing of controls.
Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 211

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 9

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
• Media / social media information at regular interval
reinforcing the controls.
6.
Further Action
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.
7.
Authorisation
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each
Service Area.
Completed By :
Designation:
Approved By:
Designation:
Service Area:
7.1

Date:

On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on
your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken
in the Council.

For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029
2087 2536 / 3262 or email equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 212

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 10

Agenda Item 4
CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2019
SCHOOL ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS 2020/21
EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT & SKILLS (COUNCILLOR SARAH
MERRY)
AGENDA ITEM: 4
Reason for this Report
1.

In accordance with Section 89 of the School Standards and Framework
Act 1998 and the Education (Determination of Admission Arrangements)
(Wales) Regulations 20016, Admission Authorities are required to review
their School Admission Arrangements annually.

2.

This report is to inform the Cabinet of responses received following public
consultation on the Council’s School Admission Arrangements 2020/21.

Background
3.

In order to comply with the legislation above, School Admission
arrangements for implementation in the 2020/21 academic year (i.e. from
September 2020) must be determined on or before 15th April 2019.

4.

The Education (Determination of Admission Arrangements) (Wales)
Regulations 2006 and the School Admissions Code set out the
procedure which admission authorities should follow when determining
their admission arrangements, including that proper consultation must be
carried out and that the arrangements should be determined by 15th April
in the school year beginning two years before the school year which the
arrangements will be for.

Issues
Summary of the Council’s School Admission Arrangements 2020/21
Consultation
5.

The Council’s draft School Admissions Policy 2020/21 (see Appendix 1)
was issued for consultation on 21 January 2019 to all those the Council
are required to consult with as set out in the Welsh Government’s School
Admissions Code (Headteacher, Governing Bodies, Diocesan Directors,
neighbouring Local Education Authorities). The consultation closed on
22 February 2019.

Page 213

Page 1 of 13

6.

The proposed changes to the arrangements for 2020/21 compared to the
arrangements for 2019/20, relate to the following:









Amendment of the Funding Individual Healthcare Plan (FIHP)
criterion to become Funded Individual Development Plan (FIDP);
Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education;
Clarification of the process for Out of Chronological Age Applications,
School Managed Transfers and the Fair Access Protocol.
Clarification of how changes of address during the admissions
process are considered
Clarification of how multiple birth siblings are considered when
applying oversubscription criteria
Clarification on eligibility for Early Years Funding and funded
childcare
Clarification on circumstances in which a school offer may be
withdrawn
Reduced Published Admission Number for Glan yr Afon Primary
School.

7.

The policy was published on the Council website with details of how
responses could be submitted which provided an opportunity for parents
and other interested parties to comment. Responses were requested to
be returned by 22 January 2019.

8.

Details of the consultation were promoted via social media and schools.

9.

Proposed oversubscription criteria for 2020/21 are set out on pages 8, 11
and 14 of Appendix 1.

Responses received regarding the draft policy during the consultation
period
10.

The points of view raised in the responses received are set out in italics
below. The Council’s response to each point can be seen underneath,
under the heading “Appraisal of views expressed”.

11.

A total of three responses were received.

Formal responses
12.

A response from Fitzalan High School included the following points:


The School agreed in principle with the admission arrangements but
were concerned that those refused places at the school are
supported to ensure they are successfully placed by the beginning of
the new school year in order to avoid stress for families and placing
children at risk.



The School also wanted information regarding children who had
moved out of the catchment and no longer eligible to attend the
school to be communicated to the school before the beginning of the
school year.

Page 214

Page 2 of 13

13.

A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 2.

Appraisal of views expressed
14.

The Council employs a number of measures to encourage all children
eligible for a place to apply as part of the annual admissions round.

15.

As part of the application process, parents/guardians are strongly
encouraged to submit up to five preferences for entry to secondary
school. In the even that less than three preferences are expressed,
those applicants are contacted advising that their chances of receiving a
school offer are substantially reduced if they fail to submit additional
preferences.

16.

Following the notification of places, the Council ensures that children
who are without an offer of a school place or those who have not applied
for a school place are engaged with in order to allow for them to secure a
school place. This includes regular communication via letter and e-mail
to parents/guardians, and the provision of lists of children with no offer to
primary schools, with the aim of ensuring that all children without a
school place have the opportunity to apply or to submit an alternative
preference.

17.

Following this, details of any children without a school offer are passed to
Education Welfare as potential cases for Children Missing in Education.

18.

Parents/guardians will also be contacted with provisional offers and are
asked to confirm their preference.

19.

Every effort is made to ensure that the information provided to schools is
as accurate as possible and details of children who will not be attending
a school as previously thought are provided as soon as known.

20.

A response from Rhieni Dros Addysg Gymraeg (Parents for Welsh
Medium Education) included the following points:








“We suggest the a revision of current School Admissions
arrangements is needed to establish a transparent and co-ordinated
system, and also to prevent parents from claiming more than one
place in several schools. Fairness and consistency need to be
secured, which will allow parents to apply for only one place.
At the moment, three authorities administer school admissions
completely separately, namely the Local Authority (community
schools), Faith Schools (Anglican and Catholic).
We strongly recommend that Cardiff Council set a protocol of
mutual understanding between the three Admissions authorities, in
order to create one list for primary and secondary sectors, which
will allow them to share information about applications.
The current arrangement also suggests that the way the county
presents their figures is misleading. The numbers for successful

Page 215

Page 3 of 13



entries refer to single children, but a child can be refused a place
more than once and every child who is refused is counted, which
leads to the impression that the refusals are a lot more than they
really are.
We also believe that the Admissions policy should make provisions
for considering the unique situation of children of armed forces
families as well as children who are relocated due to their parents’
work. They are forced to apply for school places – and to move
during the school year – depending completely on their parents’
work situation, which more often than not is out of their control. We
believe that children who apply for places in Welsh Medium Schools
– as there are fewer places and a high demand for places in a
number those schools – are affected disproportionately in this
context”.

Appraisal of views expressed
21.

The Council must operate within the guidelines set out in the Welsh
Government’s Admissions Code. In England, co-ordinated arrangements
are mandatory but this is not the case in Wales. The Council is however
fully supportive of the introduction of a co-ordinated system of
admissions which would greatly benefit parents and school and has been
working towards this.

22.

A consultation specific to the proposed introduction of co-ordinated
admission arrangements for the Year 7 age group for intakes in
September 2018, September 2019 and September 2020 was undertaken
in December 2016/January 2017.

23.

The majority view expressed during the consultation was one of support
for the proposed implementation of a co-ordinated secondary school
process for the Year 7 age group intakes.

24.

Three of the six Admission Authorities (St Teilo’s CW High School,
Corpus Christi RC High School and Whitchurch High School) indicated
their willingness to partake in the scheme for admissions to Y7 in 2018 2020. The remaining three Admission Authorities (The Bishop of Llandaff
CW High School, Mary Immaculate High School and St Illtyd’s Catholic
High School) indicated their intention to review their position as the pilot
is progressed.

25.

The Cabinet subsequently agreed the implementation of co-ordinated
secondary school admission arrangements for the Year 7 age group.

26.

Whilst it is unfortunate that three secondary schools in Cardiff are yet to
take part in the pilot, feedback from those schools within the scheme is
that this had been very helpful and is helping to plan places and to give
certainty to parents. The Council is keen to encourage all secondary
school to take part in and benefit from the scheme and to roll this out to
primary schools in due course.

Page 216

Page 4 of 13

27.

The publishing of school preference data is not a matter for the
consultation on admissions arrangements.

28.

In accordance with the requirements of the Admissions Code, the
Council allows for parents to state multiple preferences for schools (up to
five preferences for secondary and three for primary). Some parents opt
to state one, two or three preference but would only be offered a place at
one of their preferred schools.

29.

The Council operate an equal preference scheme, whereby each
preference is considered equally as part of the overall application and will
endeavour in all cases to offer the highest preference. An application
would only be refused in the event that it was not possible to offer any of
the preferences listed on the application. It is not usual for an entire
application to be refused.

30.

The Council publishes preference data to ensure transparency and the
total number of applicants can be included in published data.

31.

The Council is unable to retain places for the children of armed forces
families or for those who are relocated due to their parents’ work. As set
out in the Welsh Government School Admissions Code paragraph 3.4
“in a normal year of entry, a child must not be refused admission to a
school on the ground of prejudice to efficient education or the efficient
use of resources except where the number of applications for admission
exceeds the admission number”. For applications to years other than the
normal year of entry (i.e. Reception and Y7) as set out at paragraph 3.8
of the code “admission authorities should admit to the school admission
number….As the admission number reflects the school’s ability to
accommodate pupils, it should not be exceeded to any significant degree
in relation to any year group. If an admission number is routinely
exceeded overcrowding could result”.

32.

The Council acknowledges the position of children of armed forces
families and in recognition of this has made provision within the Schools
Admissions Policy. As set out at paragraph 8.1 “Submission of
documents relating to a child of UK Service Personnel or other Crown
Servants Children of UK service personnel (UK Armed Forces) or other
Crown Servants will be treated as resident at a future address if their
application is accompanied by an official Ministry of Defence (MOD) or
Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO) letter declaring a definite
address occupation date and confirmation of the new home or unit postal
address.

33.

Where applications outside of the normal round of admissions for
Children of UK service personnel or other Crown Servants are
unsuccessful, parents may appeal against this decision and any appeal
hearing convened would be heard as an ordinary prejudice appeal”.

34.

As set out at paragraphs 15- 18, the Council works closely with
parents/guardians to ensure an offer of a school place.

Page 217

Page 5 of 13

Other responses
35.

A response was received from a parent of primary aged children resident
within the Cardiff High School catchment area. The points raised are set
out below.

The continued use of proximity as a tie-breaker
36.

The respondent disagreed with the continued use of proximity as a tiebreaker stating a view that “it denies access to oversubscribed school to
all but the wealthiest children, whose parents can afford to buy or rent
closest to those secondary schools. Replacing the proximity test with a
longevity of residence test, or a feeder school system would counteract
this unfairness and ensure that oversubscribed secondary schools
remain inclusive schools that offer equal access to children from diverse
backgrounds and economic circumstances, drawn from a wider
geographical area. A longevity of residence test would be clear and
easily understood by all”.

Appraisal of views expressed
37.

As set out in the report to Cabinet on 16 March 2017, School Admission
Arrangements 2018/19 and Co-ordinated Secondary School Admission
Arrangements 2018 – 2020, the introduction of a ‘length of catchment
area residence’ criterion would not be recognised as best practice.

38.

This point is referenced in the Welsh Government’s School Admissions
Code 2.63 which refers to feeder primary schools and states that if
Admission Authorities use this criterion, to do so with caution, as such
arrangements can unduly disadvantage children who move into the area
at a late stage and should consider the impact that such arrangements
have on the ability of a school to serve its local area. The same caution
and potential disadvantage would apply to a ‘length of catchment area
residence’ criterion.

39.

Under Section 19 of the Equality Act 2010, indirect discrimination is
prohibited and under Section 85 discrimination in relation to School
Admissions is also prohibited. The Council is also bound by the Public
Sector Equality Duty in all of its decisions. A ‘length of catchment area
residence’ criterion is an example of a potentially indirect discrimination
as those who would be disadvantaged by this criterion are more likely to
come from vulnerable social groups with protected characteristics; for
example, Gypsy and Traveller children, Asylum Seeker/Refugees and
some other Foreign pupils.

40.

Following consultation on the School Admissions Arrangements for
2018/2019 which outlined the need to assess the suitability of the
Council’s system for allocating school places at a time when surplus
places in secondary schools are reducing, and an increasing number of
schools are oversubscribed, the Cabinet authorised officers to consider
further the Council’s school admission arrangements, including wider

Page 218

Page 6 of 13

research into alternative options and the impact of each, in advance of
consultation on the Council’s School Admissions Policy 2019/20.
41.

The Council subsequently engaged Professor Chris Taylor, Wales
Institute of Social & Economic Research, Data & Methods (WISERD),
Cardiff University, School of Social Sciences to undertake the research
which predominantly focused on secondary school admissions, although
any significant issues in primary were also taken into consideration.

42.

The Cabinet considered the WISERD research report at its meeting of 16
November 2017 and brought forward consultation on the 2019/20
arrangements which sought to respond to the research findings by
simplifying existing criteria, and invited comments on alternative options
for admission to secondary education.

43.

In respect of arrangements for pupils transferring to secondary
education, responses were sought on two options which represented a
simplified version of the existing arrangements that have operated in
Cardiff for a number of years, but with some criteria removed (Option A),
or an alternative version (Option B) which represents a more significant
change to arrangements by introducing feeder school based criteria.

44.

Analysis of consultation responses considered whether there was
sufficient benefit in the city-wide Cardiff context to implement such a
change.

45.

It was clear from evaluation of responses to the consultation that
implementing the significant changes to oversubscription criteria as set
out in Option B would negatively impact pupils in a number of areas of
the city and in each sector. There was not a sufficiently compelling case
that making such a change would achieve the aim of introducing more
suitable admission arrangements for all pupils in Cardiff.

46.

There was also insufficient evidence that the change from a simplified
version of existing arrangements (Option A) to the implementation of
feeder based arrangements (Option B) would be of benefit in the citywide Cardiff context. This remains the case.

The use of PLASC data
47.

“The use of PLASC data in the equality impact assessment produced
previously was misleading. Whilst it identified the percentage of each
ethnic group who remained in one school throughout their primary
education, it did not identify the percentage of each ethnic group who
could afford to move during their primary education to within close
proximity of an oversubscribed secondary school”.

48.

In January of every year, the Welsh Government collects information
from schools (Pupil Level Annual School Census (PLASC)). This
includes the number of pupils at each school, their age groups, home
addresses, ethnicity, and data on Welsh language, Special Educational
Needs, first language and pupils who have Free School Meals. The use

Page 219

Page 7 of 13

of PLASC information is appropriate as it is an accurate record of the
number and make up of both the individual and overall school population.
Transition Arrangements
49.

“Children should be able to expect to move from primary school to
secondary school along with their friendship groups which reduces the
stress of an important transition. Stress affects everyone in the
classroom (pupils and teachers), as well as a whole community of
families at home. Paragraph 2.36 of the statutory School Admission
Code states explicitly that ‘the use of named feeder primary schools as
an over subscription criterion can allow better continuity for pupils”.
Primary school and secondary schools both benefit from close working
partnerships in these systems”.

50.

See paragraphs 37 – 46.

51.

As set out in the report to Cabinet on 15 March 2018, School Admission
Arrangements 2019/20, there is a wide and varied range of research
which shows that there are a number of factors that have equal or
greater importance in terms of supporting effective transition from
primary to secondary education.

52.

Research (Weller, S. 2006) suggests that acquaintances from the peer
group can also provide the required familiarity when starting in secondary
education and could function well as transitional support helping children
to settle in during the initial transition even if they did not develop into
enduring friendships. It is not expected that children would need to
transfer to an alternate secondary school alone and would therefore
benefit from moving on with known acquaintances. Primary schools are
encouraged/ expected to ensure that smooth transition arrangements are
made with the secondary school that their pupils will promote to.

Local Member consultation
53.

All members were consulted on the draft Admissions Arrangements
2020/2021.

Scrutiny Consideration
54.

The Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee consider this issue
on 12 March 2019. The letter from the Chair of the Committee is attached
at Appendix 4.

Reason for Recommendations
55.

The Council is required to review its school admission arrangements
annually and to agree the arrangements following appropriate
consultation.

Page 220

Page 8 of 13

Financial Implications
56.

There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. The
funding provided to individual schools, including external grant funding, is
largely predicated on the basis of pupil numbers. Therefore, should the
proposal result in changes to the number of pupils admitted to an
individual school, it presents the possibility that the budget for a school
will increase or decrease. In addition, should the proposal result in a
change to the school transport provision required, it will need to be
identified and considered as part of the Council’s budget planning
process and reflected in the Medium Term Financial Plan.

Legal Implications
57.

The Council has a statutory obligation under the Education Act 1996 to
promote high standards of education for primary and secondary schools
in its local authority area. Section 89 of the School Standards and
Framework Act 1998 as amended by the Education Act 2002 determines
that the Admission Authorities must carry out consultation before
determining the admission arrangements which are to apply. The report
shows that consultation has been conducted.

58.

The Education (Determination of Admission Arrangements) (Wales)
Regulations 2006 set out the procedure which the Admission Authorities
should follow when determining their admission arrangements, including
the consultation and notification process as well as timescales. In
particular, the Admission Authority must determine arrangements in the
school year beginning two years before the school year which the
arrangements will be for, take all steps necessary to ensure that they will
have completed the consultation required by section 89(2) before 1st
March and determine the admission arrangements by 15th April. The
arrangements must then be published within 14 days of the
determination and appropriate bodies must be notified. The report shows
that the consultation was conducted before the 1st March.

59.

The Welsh Government has issued the School Admissions Code, which
sets out the process for Local Authorities to follow when determining their
admission arrangements. The School Admissions Code requires that no
prohibited criteria (as set out on page 12 of the Code) are included in the
admission arrangements and gives guidance on using various types of
oversubscription criteria. This report reflects these requirements.

60.

The Council also has to satisfy its public sector duties and obligations
under the Equality Act 2010 (including the specific Welsh public sector
duties). Pursuant to these legal duties, Councils must in making
decisions have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful
discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good
relations on the basis of protected characteristics. The Council must also
not directly or indirectly discriminate against any pupil in its admission
arrangements, this means that no pupil or group of pupils may be treated
less favourably based on a protected characteristic. Protected
characteristics are:

Page 221

Page 9 of 13











Age
Gender reassignment
Sex
Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality
Disability
Pregnancy and maternity
Marriage and civil partnership
Sexual orientation
Religion or belief – including lack of belief

61.

The Equality Impact Assessment specifically considers how the
proposals may affect pupils with protected characteristics. The purpose
of the Equality Impact Assessment is to ensure that the Council has
understood the potential impacts of the proposal in terms of equality so
that it can ensure that it is making proportionate and rational decisions
having due regard to its public sector equality duty. The Council must
have due regard to these obligations when this decision is taken to
determine the admission arrangements.

62.

In accordance with the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 and the
Welsh Language standards, the Council also has to consider the impact
upon the Welsh language any decision that it makes and in accordance
with the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan, the Council must consider
how it can promote Welsh medium education. This report reflects those
requirements.

63.

The Council must also consider its legal obligations under the Wellbeing
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 to think more about the long
term, work better with people and communities and each other, look to
prevent problems and take a more joined-up approach.

64.

There are also legal obligations under the Education Act 1996 which
require pupils with statements of special educational needs to be
admitted to the school named in the statement and the Education
(Admission of Looked After Children) (Wales) Regulation 2009 which
requires the Council to admit children who are currently looked after (in
accordance with the definition in section 74 of the Social Services and
Wellbeing Act (Wales) 2014. The report and proposed admission
arrangements reflect these obligations.

HR Implications
65.

There are no HR implications arising from this report or its
recommendations.

Transport Implications
66.

The City Operations service area is committed to facilitating sustainable
transport within Cardiff. One of the most important areas of attention in
this regard is with respect to how parents and children travel to and from
their school. Encouraging parents and children to adopt sustainable

Page 222

Page 10 of 13

forms of transport has the following benefits (the first two being directly
related to the pressure on the highway network).
67.

Impact on network - Journeys to and from schools using unsustainable
forms of transport (e.g. petrol or diesel powered, private motor vehicles)
has a major impact local environment and on the highway network and
adds significant pressure to the distributor roads. This causes additional
delays to general traffic and, more importantly, to more sustainable forms
of transport. It is therefore important that parents and children use
sustainable forms of transport in order to minimise this negative affect on
the network.

68.

Habits – Encouraging children to understand the benefits of, and to adopt
use of, sustainable forms of transport early in their lifetime will increase
the likelihood of them continuing to travel sustainably in the future. It is
therefore important that children are educated about the benefits of
sustainable transport and encouraged and supported to travel to and
from their school by walking, cycling or public transport.

69.

Health – All forms of sustainable transport tend to involve significantly
more physical activity during the journey to and from school. This is
particularly relevant for walking and cycling but also applies to the use of
public transport (e.g. walking to and from the bus stop). Encouraging
children to use sustainable forms of transport will therefore have a direct
positive effect on their health as well as the indirect benefits that come
from young people

70.

The traffic implications of this proposal are not known. Consistent with
the Council’s transport policies for the city it is strongly recommended
that consideration is given to the ensuring that children are able to travel
to and from their school using a sustainable mode of transport. One of
the biggest factors that facilitates this, is the proximity of the children to
the school. The school should be within walking or cycling distance of as
many children as possible. If walking and cycling is not an option then
there should be high quality and reliable bus services available.

71.

The transport team is now actively working with schools to help them
implement measures to support journeys to school by walking and
cycling. This work will contribute to the delivery of the commitment in the
Council’s Corporate Plan for every school in Cardiff to have an Active
Travel Plan in place.

Impact on the Welsh Language
72.

The Council is committed to developing a Bilingual Cardiff. The Council’s
Welsh in Education Strategy (WESP) 2017 – 2020 will help Cardiff to
support the Welsh Government’s vision to see one million Welsh
speakers across Wales by 2050.

73.

The WESP in an integral part of the Council’s 5 year Bi-lingual Strategy.
The Council recognise that a strong and inclusive Welsh-medium

Page 223

Page 11 of 13

education sector is vital if Cardiff is to develop as a truly bilingual city
where Welsh is a vibrant living language.
74.

The Bilingual Strategy aims to increase the number of Welsh speakers
within Cardiff and promote the use of the language throughout the city.
The Council recognise that the education system is a key element in
ensuring that children are able to develop their Welsh skills, and for
creating new speakers.

75.

Officers will continue to monitor birth rates, the yield from proposed
housing and the patterns of take up in Welsh-medium provision at
primary and secondary age with a view to being forward appropriate
plans to meet any increased demand.

76.

The teaching of Welsh within an English-medium setting is subject to the
requirements of the National Curriculum. This would not change.

Wellbeing of Future Generations
77.

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires public
bodies to make sure their decisions take into account the impact they
could have on people living in Wales in the future. The Council has done
so in relation to its proposed school admission arrangements. All
Admission Authorities in Wales are legally bound to Section 84 of the
Schools Standards and Framework Act (1998) (the Welsh Government’s
School Admission Code) and the Council has also complied with that
legislation. Account is also taken of the Council’s responsibility to
provide and promote high standards of Education under the Education
Action 1996.

Equality Impact Assessment
78.

An Equality Impact Assessment on this proposal has been carried out.
The assessment concluded that this proposal would not adversely affect
a particular group in society (details of the Equality Impact Assessment
can be seen at Appendix 3).

RECOMMENDATIONS
Cabinet is recommended to agree the attached Council’s draft School
Admission Arrangements 2019/2020 as set out in the Admission Policy
2019/2020.
SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER

NICK BATCHELAR
Director of Education & Lifelong
Learning
15 March 2019

The following appendices are attached:
Appendix 1 – Draft School Admissions Policy 2020/21

Page 224

Page 12 of 13

Appendix 2 – Formal responses
Appendix 3 – Equality Impact Assessment
Appendix 4 – Letter from Chair of Scrutiny Committee

Page 225

Page 13 of 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1
CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg / This document is available in Welsh

SCHOOL
ADMISSIONS
POLICY
2020/2021

CARDIFF COUNCIL
EDUCATION & LIFELONG
LEARNING

Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg / This document is available in Welsh

Page 227

Page 1 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.
7.

8.

9.

INTRODUCTION
1.1
School Admissions
1.2
Relevant Area for Consultation
1.3
Published Admission Number
1.4
Community School Catchment Areas
1.5
Children in receipt of a statement of Special Education Needs (SEN)
1.6
Out of Chronological Age Applications
1.7
School Managed Transfers
1.8
Fair Access Protocol
1.9
Co-ordinated Secondary School Admission Arrangements
1.10
Data Protection and the EU General Data Protection Regulation
SUBMITTING AN APPLICATION
2.1
How to apply
2.2
Prior to Application
2.3
The Applicant
2.4
On-time Applications (considered during the ‘normal admissions round’)
2.5
Late Applications (considered outside the ‘normal admissions round’)
2.6
Information the Council does not consider when allocating places
2.7
Applications for Reception to Year 11
ADMISSIONS TO COMMUNITY NURSERY SCHOOLS AND NURSERY CLASSES
3.1
Oversubscription Criteria
3.2
Late Applications
3.3
No Right to Statutory Appeal
3.4
Early Years Funding (EYF)
ADMISSIONS TO COMMUNITY PRIMARY SCHOOL
4.1
Oversubscription Criteria
4.2
Late Applications
4.3
Statutory Appeals
4.4
Deferred Entry
4.5
Voluntary Controlled Primary School
ADMISSIONS TO COMMUNITY SECONDARY SCHOOLS
5.1
Oversubscription Criteria – Option 1
5.2
Late Applications
5.3
Statutory Appeals
ADMISSIONS TO SIXTH FORMS
EXPLANATION OF OVERSUBSCRIPTION CRITERIA
7.1
Child’s Details – Address
7.2
Change of Address
7.3
Looked After Children (LAC)/previously Looked After Children (pLAC)
7.4
Funded Individual Healthcare Plan (FIHP)
7.5
Residence in a defined catchment area
7.6
Compelling Medical/Compelling Social Grounds
7.7
Siblings
7.8
Multiple Birth Siblings
7.9
Proximity
DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE THAT MAY BE REQUIRED FROM APPLICANTS
8.1
Submission of documents relating to a child of UK Service Personnel or other Crown
Servants
8.2
Submission of documents relating to a Child’s Home Address
8.3
Submission of documents relating to Compelling Medical Grounds or Compelling
Social Grounds
OFFERS PROCESS
9.1
School Offers
9.2
No School Offers
9.3
Withdrawal of School Offers
9.4
Waiting Lists

Appendix 1 – School Admission Numbers 2020/21

Page
Page 228
2 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

School Admissions
The Council is committed to providing local schools for local children where
possible.
Parents (also referred to as ‘applicants’ in this policy document) have the right
to express a preference for their preferred school(s) which will be considered
individually and complied with wherever possible.
Cardiff Council is committed to equality of opportunity and to eliminating
discrimination. In respect of admissions to schools, all pupils and prospective
pupils are treated equitably, regardless of gender, race, ethnicity, culture,
nationality, language, ability / disability or religious / non-religious belief. Steps
are taken to ensure that admission procedures do not unfairly advantage or
disadvantage any groups through the application of rules or conditions that
cannot be complied with equally by all.
All admissions to community classes and community schools are approved by
the Cardiff Council’s Director of Education & Lifelong Learning.

1.2

Relevant Area for Consultation
In accordance with the Education (Relevant Areas for Consultation on
Admission Arrangements) Regulations 1999, the relevant area for community
schools in Cardiff is the administrative area of the County Council for the City
and County of Cardiff (the County Council).

1.3

Published Admission Number
In the normal admissions round, all maintained schools must admit pupils up to
their Published Admission Number. An admission request may not be refused
to any school until the Published Admission Number has been reached (with
exception to twice excluded pupils [refer to 3.58 – 3.60 of the Welsh
Government’s School Admissions Code document no. 005/2013]). The
Published Admission Number has been calculated in accordance with the
Welsh Government’s school capacity calculation methodology “Measuring the
Capacity of Schools in Wales” circular no. 021/2011. As this number is based
on the physical capacity of the school to accommodate pupils it should not be
exceeded in normal circumstances.

1.4

Community School Catchment Areas
Catchment area information is available on the Council’s website. The majority
of catchment areas of maintained community primary schools are grouped
together to form the catchment areas of maintained community secondary
schools in Cardiff.
Catchment areas are subject to change with any changes being consulted
upon prior to implementation. There is no guarantee of an offer of a place
at a child’s catchment area school.

Page 229

Page 3 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

1.5

Children in receipt of a statement of Special Educational Needs (SEN) or
Local Authority maintained Individual Development Plan (IDP).
Where a community school is named in a statement of Special Educational
Needs (SEN), or Local Authority maintained Individual Development Plan (IDP),
the child must be admitted to that school.

1.6

Out of Chronological Age Applications
Cardiff Council operates a separate policy on Out of Chronological Age
applications.
If a parent requests to places their child in a year group that is outside of their
chronological age and the request is at the point of admissions, the Local
Authority will review each request based on their individual circumstances.

1.7

School Managed Transfers
Cardiff Council operates a separate policy on School Managed Transfers.
Schools are able to undertake managed transfers of pupils. These will be
treated differently to regular admissions and the child will remain on roll at the
school from which they are applying to transfer until the end of their managed
move period.
At the end of the managed move period, if successful, the child will be added
to the roll of the receiving school. If the managed move is not successful, the
child will return to attend the school from which they were applying to transfer.
All managed moves should be negotiated between the schools with a
representative from the Council.

1.8

Fair Access Protocol
Cardiff Council maintains Fair Access Protocols for vulnerable children in
accordance with the School Admissions Code Annex D Paragraph 5.
The role of the Fair Access Panel is to ensure that vulnerable and hard to
place children are able to access education and are placed fairly within the
city. The Fair Access Panel will rank all pupils and schools according to their
vulnerability and will place these children in schools that can meet their needs
in the most efficient manner that will have the least negative impact on the
effectiveness of education within Cardiff.
The Fair Access Protocol Panel will monitor compliance with the Fair Access
protocols and will ensure that schools are adhering to the procedures.

1.9

Co-ordinated Secondary School Admission Arrangements
The Council will continue to co-ordinate secondary school admission
arrangements, which applies to all community secondary schools; Corpus
Christi RC High School; St. Teilo’s CW High School and Whitchurch High
(Foundation) School.

1.10

Data Protection and the EU General Data Protection Regulation
All information will be processed in accordance with the Data Protection Act
2018.

Page
Page 230
4 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

2. SUBMITTING AN APPLICATION
2.1

How to apply
An application must be submitted for a school that a parent wishes their child to
attend. The Council accepts applications via the Council’s Online Application
Service
or
by
a
completed
preference
form
emailed
to
schooladmissions@cardiff.gov.uk or posted to School Admissions, Room 422,
County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff, CF10 4UW. The Council takes no
responsibility for any loss of data as a result of the method chosen by the
applicant to deliver the information.

2.2

Prior to Application
There is a facility on the Cardiff Council website for parents to provide their
child’s details and receive information on how to apply for a school place at the
appropriate time in accordance with the Council’s admissions timetable.
Parents who have registered their pre-nursery-aged child’s details with the
Council, will be advised to apply for a community nursery place by using the
Council’s Online Application Service or by completing a preference form.
Parents who have registered their nursery-aged or younger child’s details with
the Council, will be advised to apply for a reception place in their preferred
community primary school(s) during the Autumn Term prior to admission, by
using the Council’s Online Application Service or by completing a preference
form.
In the Autumn Term prior to admission, parents of children in the Year 6 age
group are invited to nominate their preferred secondary school(s) by using the
Council’s Online Application Service or by completing a preference form.
Any parent who has not pre-registered their child can still apply for a school
place.

2.3

The Applicant
Only applications submitted by the ‘parent’ of the child (as defined by Section
576 of the Education Act 1996) will be considered by the Council. This includes
any person who is not a parent of the child or young person but who has parental
responsibility for them or who has care of them.
Separate legal guidance is available for parental disputes in respect of school
admissions.
In advance of submitting an application, parents should discuss which school
they wish their child to attend, and attempt to reach agreement, especially where
more than one person has parental responsibility.

2.4

On-time Applications (considered during the ‘normal admissions round’)
Admission to Nursery from the beginning of Term:
Parents who submit an application by the published closing date will be notified
of the result of their application by the issue of an email or letter by the published
notification date. See paragraphs 3.1.1, 3.1.2 and 3.1.3 for details on the
published dates.

Page 231

Page 5 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

Admission to Reception from the beginning of the Academic Year:
Only applications received by the relevant published closing date of Monday, 7
January 2019 for receipt of preference forms will be considered in the initial
round of allocation of places. Decisions will be issued by email or letter to notify
applicants of the result of their application on Thursday, 16 April 2020.
Transfer to Year 7 from the beginning of the Academic Year:
Only applications received by the relevant published closing date of Monday,
19 November 2018 for receipt of preference forms will be considered in the initial
round of allocation of places. Decisions will be issued by email or letter to notify
applicants of the result of their application on Monday, 2 March 2020.
2.5

Late Applications (considered outside the ‘normal admissions round’)
Following the first round of allocations, late applications will be considered in
accordance with the Council’s published admissions criteria.
After the initial round closing dates, the next are:
 Admission to Nursery Education – last day of each month
 Admission to Primary Education (Reception from September) – 30 April
2020
 Transfer to Secondary Education (Year 7 from September) – 16 March 2020
The dates for subsequent rounds will be the last day of each month.
Refused applications from the first round of allocations and any subsequent late
applications will be considered together for any subsequent available places
that may arise.

2.6

Information the Council does not consider when allocating places
For the purposes of admission to a Community Nursery:
 The particular primary school the child is likely to attend;
 The length of time the nursery has been aware of the parental intention to
apply for a place at the nursery;
 An invitation to or attendance by a child at a taster day.
For the purposes of admission to a Community Primary School:
 The particular secondary school the child is likely to attend;
 The length of time the school has been aware of the parental intention to
apply for a place at the school;
 Attendance at a Community Nursery Class which is at the same school – a
separate application must be made for transfer from the nursery to the
primary school;
 An invitation to or attendance by a child at a taster/transition day.
For the purposes of admission to a Community Secondary School:
 The particular sixth form the child is likely to attend;
 The length of time the school has been aware of the parental intention to
apply for a place at the school;
 An invitation to or attendance by a child at a taster/transition day.

Page
Page 232
6 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

2.7

Applications for Reception to Year 11
Parents can express a preference for more than one school. The parent’s
highest available preference will be offered. Lower preferences are only offered
if a parents’ higher preference(s) are unavailable.

Page 233

Page 7 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

3.

ADMISSIONS TO COMMUNITY NURSERY SCHOOLS AND NURSERY
CLASSES
Cardiff Council is the Admissions Authority for all maintained Community
Nursery Schools and Nursery Classes in Community Schools in the City and
County of Cardiff. Cardiff Council is not the Admissions Authority for Nursery
Classes in Voluntary Aided Schools in Cardiff.
Children are entitled to a part-time nursery place from the start of the term
following their third (3rd) birthday. Regulation 4 of the Wales Education
Regulations (Nursery Education and Early Years Development and Childcare
Plans) states that:
•
Children born between April 1st and the end of the Summer term can
take up a school place at the start of the Autumn term
•
Children born between September 1st and the end of the Autumn term
can take up a school place at the start of the Winter term
•
Children born between January 1st and the end of the Spring term can
take up a school place at the start of the Summer term
Though nursery education is non-statutory provision, children must attend for
five half days if the offer of a community nursery place has been accepted.
Children can be admitted or transferred to a community nursery throughout the
academic year subject to availability.
Where a community nursery school is undersubscribed, all applicants can be
offered a nursery place.

3.1

Oversubscription Criteria
Where a community nursery is oversubscribed, applications received by the
published closing date will be considered in accordance with the
oversubscription criteria set by the Council in order of priority [1.(a) being the
highest] up to the approved capacity:

1.

For applications received by the published closing date of Monday 24 February
2020 for children born between 1 September 2016 and 31 August 2017
(inclusive):
(a) Children who are looked after by a Local Authority in England or Wales or
children who were previously looked after by a Local Authority in England
or Wales. *
(b) Children subject to a Funded Individual Development Plan (IDP). *
(c) Children who have a sibling (in any age group between Reception to Year
6 inclusive) who will be on register at the school at which the nursery class
is at the same school when they are admitted. Where preferences exceed
places available, priority will be given to multiple birth siblings. *
(d) Children in respect of whom the Council judges there are compelling
medical grounds or compelling social grounds for their admission to a

Page
Page 234
8 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

particular nursery school/class. Where preferences exceed places
available, priority will be given to multiple birth siblings. *
(e) Children living nearest the nursery school/class, as measured by the
shortest safe available route.
2.

For applications received by the published closing date of Monday 29 June 2020
for children born between 1 September 2017 and 31 December 2017
(inclusive), criteria (a) to (e) [as above] are applied.
*Where the number of preferences exceed the number of places available,
see paragraph '7.9 Proximity'.

3.

For applications received by the published closing date of Monday 29 June 2020
for children born between 1 January 2018 and 31 March 2018 (inclusive),
criteria (a) to (e) [as above] are applied.

3.2

Late applications
The Council will consider late applicants with unsuccessful ‘on-time’ applicants
where vacancies arise in an oversubscribed community nursery and apply the
oversubscription criteria set by the Council (as above).

3.3

No Right to Statutory Appeal
As nursery education is non-statutory provision, parents have no statutory right
of appeal under the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 if unsuccessful
in gaining a nursery place.

Attendance at a nursery class does not automatically entitle a child to a
reception class place in the same school. A new application must be made for a
reception class place.
3.4

Early Years Funding (EYF)

Where nursery education places are not available in local community nursery schools
or nursery classes within two (2) miles of a child’s home address, parents may apply
for nursery education place funding (also referred to as ‘EYF’) with a recognised
childcare provider designated by the Council. The two (2) mile radius is measured by
the Council as the shortest safe available route.
The Council will only approve applications for EYF with a recognised childcare provider
designated by the Cardiff Council. If a place is offered in a Community Nursery School
and a parent refuses the offer, the Council will not approve applications for EYF. The
Council will only approve funding if there are no places available within two (2) miles
of the child’s home and the application was submitted on time (see below for
deadlines).
When to apply:

EYF applications should be submitted in the term prior to your child starting
nursery education

If your child starts in nursery education with a recognised childcare provider at
a later date, applications should be submitted in the term when the admission takes
place

Page 235

Page 9 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

Eligibility Requirements: Your child is eligible,

If they are resident within Cardiff and,

Residency can be proven, and,

You have proof of parental responsibility and,

There is no place available in a local community nursery school or nursery class
within two (2) miles of your home or,

There are compelling medical or compelling social grounds which prevent the
child from attending the community nursery provision available
Making an application: To make an application,

Parents need to complete an Early Years Funding Application

Parents need to confirm proof of residency, as indicated through Cardiff Council
Tax/other Council records

Parents need to provide proof of parental responsibility, through providing a
birth certificate, court order or passport that lists both the child and the parent.
Applying on compelling medical/social grounds:

Parents need to provide documentary evidence from a professional. This may
include but is not limited to:
o
Written recommendation from a social worker
o
Written recommendation from a medical consultant

Written recommendations must be dated no more than three (3) months prior to
the application submission

Written recommendations must give detailed reasons explaining why the child
cannot attend any of the available Community Nurseries.
30 Hour Childcare Offer
If eligible, parents may also be entitled to 30 hours of funded childcare through the
‘Childcare Offer’. During term time the 30 hours will consist of a combination of the
existing Foundation Phase Nursery (FPN) provision available to all 3 and 4 year olds,
(usually 12.5 hours per week) and the additional funded childcare (up to 17.5 hours
per week). For 9 weeks of the year, outside of term time, parents will be able to access
the full 30 hours of childcare funded through the childcare offer.
If a child does not access their FPN provision then they will still be entitled to the
childcare element of the offer during school term time (39 weeks of the year) and to 30
hours of government- funded childcare for the remaining 9 weeks.
Eligible children will be able to access the offer from the beginning of the term following
their third birthday, until the September following their fourth birthday when they will be
offered a full time education place”.

Page
236
Page 10
of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

4.

ADMISSIONS TO COMMUNITY PRIMARY SCHOOLS
Cardiff Council is the Admissions Authority for all maintained Community
Primary Schools in the City and County of Cardiff. Cardiff Council is not the
Admissions Authority for Foundation, Voluntary Aided or Voluntary Controlled
Primary Schools in Cardiff.
Children are admitted into Reception (also referred to as ‘Year 0’) in the
September following their fourth (4th) birthday during the normal admissions
round.
Children can be admitted or transferred to a community primary school outside
the normal admissions round subject to availability (with exception to twice
excluded pupils [refer to 3.58 – 3.60 of the Welsh Government’s School
Admissions Code document no. 005/2013]).
Where a community primary school is undersubscribed, all applicants (with
exception to twice excluded pupils [refer to 3.58 – 3.60 of the Welsh
Government’s School Admissions Code document no. 005/2013]) can be
offered a school place. Cardiff Council also maintains Fair Access Protocols for
the placement of vulnerable children who are transferring outside of the normal
admissions round. These protocols seek to ensure that vulnerable and hard to
place children are able to access education and are placed fairly within the city.

4.1

Oversubscription Criteria
Where a community primary school is oversubscribed, preferences received by
the published closing date will be considered in accordance with the
oversubscription criteria set by the Council in order of priority [1. being the
highest] up to the approved capacity and will not normally exceed the school’s
Published Admission Number or breach the limitations imposed by statutory
maximum class size (30) where this applies:

1.

Children who are looked after by a Local Authority in England or Wales or
children who were previously looked after by a Local Authority in England or
Wales. *

2.

Children subject to a Funded Individual Development Plan. *

3.

Pupils who are resident within the defined catchment area of the school and in
respect of whom the Council judges there are compelling medical grounds or
compelling social grounds for their admission to a particular school. Where
preferences exceed places available, priority will be given to multiple birth
siblings. *

4.

Pupils who are resident within the defined catchment area of the school and
have a sibling enrolled in Reception or Years 1 to 6 who will be on register at
the school when they are admitted. Where preferences exceed places available,
priority will be given to multiple birth siblings. *

5.

Children who have a brother or sister attending the school, admitted before
catchment area change

Page 237

Page 11 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

a) Where an older sibling was admitted to and continues to attend a school that
was previously the catchment area school for the home address of the family
at the time of the older sibling’s admission, if the parent applies, the Council
will give priority to younger siblings to the former catchment school.
b) Where an older sibling was admitted to and continues to attend a newly
established community school without a determined catchment area, if the
parent applies, the Council will give priority to younger siblings to this school.
6.

Pupils who are resident within the defined catchment area of the school. Where
preferences exceed places available, priority will be given to multiple birth
siblings. *
*Where the number of preferences exceed the number of places available,
see paragraph '7.9 Proximity'.

7.

Pupils in respect of whom the Council judges there are compelling medical
grounds or compelling social grounds for their admission to a particular school.
Where preferences exceed places available, priority will be given to multiple
birth siblings. *

8.

Pupils who have a sibling enrolled in Reception or Years 1 to 6 who will be on
register at the school when they are admitted. Where preferences exceed
places available, priority will be given to multiple birth siblings. *

9.

In determining applications for admission in respect of other pupils the Council
gives priority to children living nearest the school as measured by the shortest
safe available route.

4.2

Late applications
The Council will consider late applicants with unsuccessful ‘on-time’ applicants
where vacancies arise in an oversubscribed community primary school and
apply the oversubscription criteria set by the Council (as above).

4.3

Statutory Appeals
If a child has been refused admission to a community primary school, an appeal
may be submitted to the Independent Statutory School Admission Appeal
Panel.

4.4

Deferred Entry
A child is not required to start primary school until the beginning of the term
following their fifth (5th) birthday however, their start cannot be deferred beyond
the beginning of the term after their fifth (5th) birthday. The deferred place is held
for the child and not made available to another. It is recommended that any
consideration to defer is discussed with the Headteacher of the allocated
primary school.

4.5

Voluntary Controlled Primary School
The Council has agreed to delegate responsibility for admissions to St Mellons
Church in Wales Primary School (a voluntary controlled primary school), to the
Governing Body of the school. Applications for admission should be submitted
directly to the school.

Page
238
Page 12
of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

Attendance at a nursery class does not automatically entitle a child to a
reception class place in the same school. A new application must be made for a
reception class place.

Page 239

Page 13 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

5.

ADMISSIONS TO COMMUNITY SECONDARY SCHOOLS
Cardiff Council is the Admissions Authority for all maintained Community
Secondary Schools in the City and County of Cardiff. Cardiff Council is not the
Admissions Authority for Foundation, Voluntary Aided or Voluntary Controlled
Secondary Schools in Cardiff.
Children transfer into Year 7 in the September following their eleventh (11th)
birthday during the normal admissions round.
Children can be admitted or transferred to a community secondary school
outside the normal admissions round subject to availability (with exception to
twice excluded pupils [refer to 3.58 – 3.60 of the Welsh Government’s School
Admissions Code document no. 005/2013]).
Where a community secondary school is undersubscribed, all applicants (with
exception to twice excluded pupils [refer to 3.48 – 3.60 of the Welsh
Government’s School Admissions Code document no. 005/2013]) can be
offered a school place. Cardiff Council also maintains Fair Access Protocols for
the placement of vulnerable children who are transferring outside of the normal
admissions round. These protocols seek to ensure that vulnerable and hard to
place children are able to access education and are placed fairly within the city.

5.1

Oversubscription Criteria
Where a community secondary school is oversubscribed, preferences received
by the published closing date will be considered in accordance with the
oversubscription criteria set by the Council in order of priority [1. being the
highest] up to the approved capacity and will not normally exceed the school’s
Published Admission Number:

1.

Children who are looked after by a Local Authority in England or Wales or
children who were previously looked after by a Local Authority in England or
Wales. *

2.

Pupils who are resident within the defined catchment area of the school and in
respect of whom the Council judges there are compelling medical grounds or
compelling social grounds for their admission to a particular school. Where
preferences exceed places available, priority will be given to multiple birth
siblings. *

3.

Pupils who are resident within the defined catchment area of the school and
have a sibling enrolled in Years 7 to 11 who will be on register at the school
when they are admitted. Where preferences exceed places available, priority
will be given to multiple birth siblings. *

4.

Pupils who are resident within the defined catchment area of the school. Where
preferences exceed places available, priority will be given to multiple birth
siblings. *

5.

Pupils in respect of whom the Council judges there are compelling medical
grounds or compelling social grounds for their admission to a particular school.

Page
240
Page 14
of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

Where preferences exceed places available, priority will be given to multiple
birth siblings. *
*Where the number of preferences exceed the number of places available,
see paragraph '7.9 Proximity'.

6.

Pupils who have a sibling enrolled in Years 7 to 11 who will be on register at the
school when they are admitted. Where preferences exceed places available,
priority will be given to multiple birth siblings. *

7.

In determining applications for admission in respect of other pupils the Council
gives priority to children living nearest the school as measured by the shortest
safe available route.

5.2

Late applications
The Council will consider late applicants with unsuccessful ‘on-time’ applicants
where vacancies arise in an oversubscribed community secondary school and
apply the oversubscription criteria set by the Council (as above).

5.3

Statutory Appeals
If a child has been refused admission to a community secondary school, an
appeal may be submitted to the Independent Statutory School Admission
Appeal Panel.

Attendance at a community primary school located in the catchment area of a
community secondary school does not automatically entitle a child to a place at
the school. A new application must be made for transfer from the primary school
to the secondary school.

Page 241

Page 15 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

6.

ADMISSIONS TO SIXTH FORMS
The Council has agreed to delegate to the Governing Body of Community
Secondary Schools, the responsibility for the determination of admission
arrangements for sixth forms. Applications for admission should be submitted
to the school.

Page
242
Page 16
of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

7.

EXPLANATION OF OVERSUBSCRIPTION CRITERIA

7.1

Child’s Details - Address
The child’s home address must be used on the application, this is where the
child lives for all or the majority of the school week. Please see ‘Submission of
documents relating to a Child’s Home Address’ (8.2). The Council may not
accept an address given if there is no evidence that a parent for the child lives
at the property.
In order to qualify as a ‘child’s home address,’ for the purposes of admission,
the child must be resident on the application submission date. If the child moves
address after applying and before the date to which the child would start school,
the parent must inform the Council in writing (e-mail or letter) stating the new
address otherwise any school offer made will be withdrawn and a new
application will be required.

7.2

Changes of Address
If an applicant moves address at any point between submission of an application
and the pupil attending an offered school, any offer based on the original
address will be subject to re-assessment.
Preferences will be assessed on the basis of the home address outlined in the
application and which is valid at the time of the closing date for applications.
Any changes of address after the closing date cannot be considered until the
next round of admissions.
Places allocated on the basis of an address which is valid on the closing date,
but is no longer the home address, will be reassessed on the basis of their new
address in the next application round. This change of address will mean that the
application will be considered as a new application in the next round.
Offers of places will be reassessed and:
•
If the new address meets higher oversubscription criteria (or the same
oversubscription criteria but in closer proximity) than in the initial or previous
application then the offer will not be withdrawn
•
If the new address meets lower oversubscription criteria (or the same
oversubscription criteria but in further proximity) than in the initial or previous
application round then the offer will be reassessed and would be offered to the
applicant in that application round who meets the highest oversubscription
criteria.
A change of address would be considered by the Council in the application
round immediately following the occupancy of a property, where evidence has
been provided of this change of address and this evidence has been accepted
and verified as sufficient by the Council.

7.3

Looked After Children (LAC) / previously Looked After Children (pLAC)
In the case of a child looked after by a Local Authority in England or Wales (as
defined by Section 22 of the Children Act 1989 and Section 74 of the Social
Services and Wellbeing [Wales] Act 2014), the relevant Local Authority
(corporate parent) must apply and supporting evidence (a Care Order or Interim
Care Order) must be provided with the application. Following consultation on

Page 243

Page 17 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

the appropriateness of the named school in light of the child’s background and
needs, the Council has a duty to admit the child to the school and give highest
priority in the oversubscription criteria.
In the case of a child previously looked after by a Local Authority in England or
Wales (as defined by the Welsh Government School Admissions Code
document no. 005/2013), supporting evidence (a letter from the relevant Local
Authority [former corporate parent]) must be provided with the application.
Following consultation on the appropriateness of the named school in light of
the child’s background and needs, the Council has a duty to give highest
priority in the oversubscription criteria.
7.4

Funded Individual Development Plan (IDP)
Funded IDPs are assigned to children allocated nursery funding by the Early
Years Assessment Panel or the Case Advisory Panel. Multi-agency panels
allocate funding to a child with identified significant and/or complex needs,
through an Individual Development Plan in order that the child may be supported
to access their school entitlement.

7.5

Residence within the defined catchment area of a school
The defined catchment areas of community primary and secondary schools can
be viewed on the Council’s website (www.cardiff.gov.uk).

7.6

Compelling medical/compelling social grounds
To qualify for compelling medical or compelling social grounds, a written
recommendation from a medical consultant or a social worker dated no more
than 6 (six) months prior to the application submission date, must give detailed
reasons for the child’s admission to a particular school.

7.7

Siblings
An application will be considered under the sibling criterion if the sibling, and the
applicant at the time of enrolment, would be attending the same school at the
same time.
The Council will only consider compulsory school-aged siblings (for nursery and
primary school applications this refers to Reception to Year 6 and for secondary
school applications this refers to Year 7 to Year 11):
 Clearly named on the application and
 Resident at the same address as the child subject to the application and
 Attending the preferred primary school (not nursery) or
 Attending the preferred secondary school (not sixth form).
Sibling, for the purposes of admission, is defined as: brother/sister; halfbrother/half-sister (children who share one common parent); step brother/step
sister (where children are related by virtue of their parents being married, cohabiting or in a civil partnership); adopted or fostered child.

7.8

Multiple Birth Siblings
Separate applications are required for each child. Each application will be
considered on the basis of the oversubscription criteria met by the individual
child.

Page
244
Page 18
of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

7.9

Proximity
* This criterion is the last to be applied in all oversubscription criteria. Where
the number of preferences exceed the number of places available in any higher
criterion, proximity is used as a tie breaker to determine which pupils are
admitted.
The Council has developed a Geographical Information System (GIS), referred
to as an ‘Integrated Transport Network’ (ITN), configured in compliance with the
Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 and the Learner Travel Statutory
Provision and Operational Guidance 2014 route determination criteria. The
shortest safe available route (as defined by the Welsh Government’s ‘Learner
Travel Statutory Provision and Operational Guidance June 2014’) is calculated
(to 4 decimal places) from the co-ordinates of an applicant’s home address
(determined using the Local Land and Property Gazetteer [LLPG] address point
data), to the nearest open school gate using Ordnance Survey (OS) route data.
a) Where there is no safe route available, the nearest point on the ITN to the
applicant’s home address will be used to calculate the shortest driving route
to the nearest open school gate.
b) Tie-breaker: Where flats use the same LLPG address point co-ordinates,
the route assessment is determined from the front entrance to each flat.
For applications for pupils residing within mainland UK but outside of the area
covered by the integrated transport network (ITN), residence to school
distances are calculated as the shortest driving distance as evaluated using
google maps.
Where applicants reside outside of mainland Britain, route distances are
determined as the shortest route as determined using google maps utilising
available transport types.

Page 245

Page 19 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

8.

DOCUMENTARY
APPLICANTS

EVIDENCE

THAT

MAY

BE

REQUIRED

FROM

The Council may ask applicants to provide clear and legible documentation (email: schooladmissions@cardiff.gov.uk) to prove their claim to qualify for one
or more admission criteria. Where satisfactory documentary evidence is not
received, a place at an oversubscribed school will not be offered based on the
claimed admission grounds.
Subject to applicant’s consent upon submission of the application, the evidence
provided may be checked with other government agencies including (if
appropriate) the child’s current school.
8.1

Submission of documents relating to a child of UK Service Personnel or
other Crown Servants
Children of UK service personnel (UK Armed Forces) or other Crown Servants
will be treated as resident at a future address if their application is accompanied
by an official Ministry of Defence (MOD) or Foreign and Commonwealth Office
(FCO) letter declaring a definite address occupation date and confirmation of
the new home or unit postal address.
Applications for children of former UK service personnel or other former Crown
Servants will be treated as all other applications.
Where applications outside of the normal for Children of UK service personnel
or other Crown Servants are unsuccessful, parents may appeal against this
decision and any appeal hearing convened would be heard as a normal
prejudice appeal.

8.2

Submission of documents relating to a Child’s Home Address
Where an application is made for a place at a school or in a year group that is
expected to be fully subscribed, and subject to the applicant’s consent upon
submission of the application, the Council will undertake checks of records held
by Council Tax, Electoral Register, the child’s school (if appropriate) and
external organisations including credit reference agencies.
Where there is any concern regarding the consistency of information held,
further evidence may be required.
To prove residency at a claimed ‘Child’s Home Address,’ the following
documentation may be requested.
Proof of Residency at Current Address
Tenancy Agreement:
 Tenancy Start Date must be on or before the application submission date
and Tenancy End Date must be on or after the date to which the child would
start school.
Mortgage Statement:

Page
246
Page 20
of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

 Date of statement must be no more than 6 (six) months prior to the application
submission date.

Council Tax Correspondence (bill/letter/statement):
 Referring to payments made in the current financial year for the property
claimed as the child’s home address.
Utility Supplier Correspondence (electricity/gas/water bill /letter /
statement):
 Referring to payments made in the current financial year for the property
claimed as the child’s home address;
 Electricity and Gas (or Dual Fuel) bills must be dated no more than 6 (six)
months prior to the application submission date.

Child Benefit Correspondence:
 Date of correspondence must be no more than 6 (six) months prior to the
application submission date.
Proof of Residency at New Address
If a child will be moving to a new address after the application submission date
and before the date to which the child would start school:
Leased Property:
 A new tenancy agreement will be required which must state an end date on
or after the date to which the child would start school;
Owned Property:
 An exchange of contracts document will be required which must be dated no
more than 6 (six) months prior to the application submission date.
If the Council is not satisfied with the evidence provided, the claimed ‘child’s
home address’ will not be accepted for the purposes of the admission request.
8.3

Submission of documents relating to Compelling Medical Grounds or
Compelling Social Grounds
To qualify for compelling medical or compelling social grounds, a written
recommendation from a medical consultant or a social worker dated no more
than 6 (six) months prior to the application submission date, must give detailed
reasons for the child’s admission to a particular school.
Subject to applicant’s consent upon submission of the application, the evidence
provided may be checked with other government agencies including (if
appropriate) the child’s current school.

Page 247

Page 21 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

9.

OFFERS PROCESS

9.1

School Offers
If more than one place could be offered to a child, the applicant’s highest
available preference school will be offered. Any other school place that could
be offered, will be offered to another child.
Decisions and responses will not be relayed over the telephone. Written
confirmation (e-mail or letter) will be supplied.
Any offer not accepted by the date stated on the decision notice will be
withdrawn and offered to another child.
If an offer to a higher community school preference is rejected by the applicant
on the basis of the applicant declaring a former lower community school
preference has become their preferred school, applicants must submit a new
application for this community school preference to be re-considered.

9.2

No School Offers
Applicants that receive written confirmation (e-mail or letter) advising their child
has not been offered any of their school preferences, will be provided with an
alternative preference form, details of community schools with vacancies and
(for requests for admission to an age group of compulsory school age)
information regarding their right to appeal against the Council’s decision.

9.3

Withdrawal of School Offers
Prior to the date to which the child would start school, any place approved may
be withdrawn if it is found that the child’s circumstances no longer meet the
grounds for admission to which they were offered the school place, if the
application was found to have been made in fraudulent circumstances or if the
school place offer was made in error. A new written decision (e-mail or letter)
will be released.

9.4

Waiting Lists
Where an applicant has been refused admission to a community nursery,
primary or secondary school, the applicant will be placed on the waiting list for
the preference school unless the applicant informs the Council to remove their
child from the waiting list.
Unsuccessful applicants for admission into Nursery to start from the beginning
of the term following their third (3rd) birthday, will remain on the waiting list until
the end of the Summer Term 2020.
Unsuccessful ‘on-time’ applicants for admission into Reception or Year 7 to start
from the beginning of the academic year (also referred to as ‘normal admissions
round’), will remain on the waiting list until the end of the Autumn Term 2019.
Unsuccessful applicants for admission into Reception to Year 11 (inclusive)
whose application was received outside the normal admissions round (also
referred to as an ‘in-year application’), will remain on the waiting list until the end
of the term to which the child would start school.

Page
248
Page 22
of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

Places are not prioritised on the basis of how long a child has been on a waiting
list. Priority is determined in accordance with the oversubscription criteria.
Applications are considered in line with the criteria and any places that become
available will be allocated on that basis. A child’s position on the waiting list may
change as applications may be received that have a higher degree of priority
under the oversubscription criteria.
Should a child be allocated from the waiting list, the applicant will be contacted
by the Council and requested to confirm if they accept the place. Acceptance of
a place must be via the Admissions Online Portal, or in writing or by email. Upon
acceptance, any other school place to which the child may already be allocated
will be released and reallocated to another child.
Once the waiting list expiry date has been reached, should a parent wish their
child to continue to be considered for admission a new application must be
submitted.
There is no guarantee of an offer of a place at a child’s catchment area school
nor the school at which a sibling attends.

Page 249

Page 23 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

Appendix 1
School Admission Numbers 2020/21
Community Primary Schools

Admission Number

Adamsdown Primary School

60

Albany Primary School

60

Allensbank Primary School

45

Baden Powell Primary School

60

Birchgrove Primary School

58

Bryn Celyn Primary School

30

Bryn Deri Primary School

30

Bryn Hafod Primary School

60

Coed Glas Primary School

75

Coryton Primary School

30

Creigiau Primary School (English)

29

Danescourt Primary School

60

Fairwater Primary School

40

Gabalfa Primary School

30

Gladstone Primary School

30

Glan Yr Afon Primary School

30

Glyncoed Primary School

60

Grangetown Primary School

60

Greenway Primary School

30

Ysgol Gynradd Gwaelod Y Garth Primary School (English)

7

Hawthorn Primary School

30

Herbert Thompson Primary School

60

Howardian Primary School

60

Hywel Dda Primary School

60

Kitchener Primary School

60

Lakeside Primary School

60

Lansdowne Primary School

60

Llanedeyrn Primary School

55

Llanishen Fach Primary School

60

Llysfaen Primary School

60

Marlborough Primary School

60

Meadowlane Primary School

45

Millbank Primary School

30

Page
250
Page 24
of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

Community Primary Schools

Admission Number

Moorland Primary School

60

Mount Stuart Primary School

60

Ninian Park Primary School

90

Oakfield Primary School

60

Pencaerau Primary School

30

Pentrebane Primary School

30

Pentyrch Primary School

20

Pen-y-Bryn Primary School

30

Peter Lea Primary School

45

Pontprennau Primary School

60

Radnor Primary School

45

Radyr Primary School

60

Rhiwbeina Primary School

75

Rhydypenau Primary School

60

Roath Park Primary School

58

Rumney Primary School

60

Severn Primary School

60

Springwood Primary School

60

Stacey Primary School

30

Thornhill Primary School

60

Tongwynlais Primary School

28

Ton-yr-Ywen Primary School

60

Trelai Primary School

60

Trowbridge Primary School

30

Whitchurch Primary School

90

Willowbrook Primary School

60

Windsor Clive Primary School

60

Ysgol Bro Eirwg

60

Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof

60

Creigiau Primary School (Welsh)

29

Ysgol Glan Ceubal

30

Ysgol Glan Morfa

60

Ysgol Gynradd Gwaelod Y Garth Primary School (Welsh)

26

Ysgol Hamadryad

60

Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd

60

Page 251

Page 25 of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

Ysgol Mynydd Bychan

30

Ysgol Pencae

30

Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Pen-Y-Groes

30

Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch

60

Ysgol Gymraeg Treganna

90

Ysgol y Berllan Deg

60

Ysgol Y Wern

75

Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau

30

Ysgol Pen Y Pil.

30

Voluntary Controlled Primary Schools
St Mellons C.W. Primary School

Admission Number
15

Voluntary Aided Primary Schools

Admission Number

All Saints C.W. Primary School

30

Bishop Childs C.W. Primary School

30

Christ The King R.C. Primary School

30

Holy Family R.C. Primary School

35

Llandaff C.W. Primary School

60

St Alban’s R.C. Primary School

30

St Bernadette’s R.C. Primary School

30

St Cadoc’s R.C. Primary School

45

St Cuthbert’s R.C. Primary School

22

St David’s C.W. Primary School

30

St Fagans C.W. Primary School

30

St Francis R.C. Primary School

55

St John Lloyd R.C. Primary School

45

St Joseph’s R.C. Primary School

30

St Mary The Virgin C.W. Primary School

60

St Mary’s R.C. Primary School

37

St Monica’s C.W. Primary School

20

St Patrick’s R.C. Primary School

45

St Paul’s C.W. Primary School

30

St Peter’s R.C. Primary School

75

St Philip Evans R.C. Primary School

52

Tredegarville C.W. Primary School

30

Page
252
Page 26
of 27

CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2020/2021

Community Secondary Schools

Admission Number

Cantonian High School

181

Cardiff High School

240

Cardiff West Community High School

240

Cathays High School

165

Eastern High

240

Fitzalan High School

300 (Yrs 7-9) & 286
(Yrs 10-11)
300

Llanishen High School
Radyr Comprehensive School

210

Willows High School

224

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf

240

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr

180

Ysgol Bro Edern

180

Foundation Secondary Schools

Admission Number

Whitchurch High School

390

Voluntary Aided Secondary Schools

Admission Number

Bishop of Llandaff C.W. High School

180

Corpus Christi R.C. High School

215

Mary Immaculate R.C. High School

159

St Illtyd’s R.C. High School

176

St Teilo’s C.W. High School

240

It should be noted that in progressing school reorganisation proposals, some
admission numbers may need to change.

Page 253

Page 27 of 27

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2

Page 255

Page 256

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
Appendix 3

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title:
Cardiff Council’s Schools Admissions Policy 2020/21

New/Existing/Updating/Amending
Who is responsible for developing and implementing the
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function?
Name: Janine Nightingale

Job Title: Head of School Organisation,

Service Team: School

Access & Planning
Directorate: Education & Lifelong
Learning

Organisation, Access & Planning
Assessment Date: 21/02/2019

1.

Aims and Objectives

What are the objectives of the Policy / Strategy / Project /
Procedure / Service / Function?
To establish admission arrangements that do not have discriminatory
criteria in accordance with the School Admission Code and to equitably
administer the admission of eligible children to nursery, primary and
secondary classes/schools based on parent/guardian preference in
accordance with the admissions criteria detailed in Cardiff Council’s
School Admissions Policy 2020/21.

2.

Background Information

Please provide background information on the Policy /
Strategy / Project / Procedure / Service / Function and any
research done [e.g. service users data against demographic
statistics, similar EIAs done etc.]
Cardiff Council is committed to equality of opportunity and to eliminating
discrimination. In respect of admissions to community schools, all pupils
and prospective pupils are treated equitably, regardless of gender, race,
ethnicity, culture, nationality, language, ability/disability or religious belief.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 257

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 1

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
The Council is the Admissions Authority for the following:




Community Nursery Schools/Nursery Classes in Community Schools
Community Primary Schools
Community Secondary Schools

In order to facilitate the admissions process, the Local Authority has to
consider:





Children are entitled to a part-time nursery place from the start of the
term following their third birthday and must attend for five half days.
Children are admitted to reception classes in the September following
their fourth birthday.
Children transfer to secondary education in the September following
their eleventh birthday.
All maintained schools must admit pupils up to their published
Admission Number.

Parents have the right to express a preference for their preferred schools;
these will be considered individually and complied with wherever possible.
Some schools have more requests for places than there are places
available. Where a school is oversubscribed preferences will still be
considered but the oversubscription criteria set by the Council will be
applied. In deciding which children to admit to a school, the Council
applies the criteria set out in its Schools Admissions Policy Document and
examines the merits to support each case by considering any reasons put
forward supporting any expressed preference.
If parents are dissatisfied with the result of an application for a particular
School, an appeal may be submitted to the Independent Statutory Appeal
Panel, any decision made by the Panel being binding on the Council, the
school and the appellant. If the appeal is not successful, further requests
to appeal for a place at the same school will not be considered whilst the
pupil is on the waiting list unless the Director of Education & Lifelong
Learning determines there are significant and material changes in the
circumstances of pupil/parents or school. There is no right of appeal for
admission to a Community Nursery School/ Nursery Classes in
Community Schools.
This proposal has been developed in accordance with the requirements of
the Equality Act 2010 throughout and in compliance with the Welsh
Government’s School Admissions Code E.3 which states:
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of disability;
gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual orientation, against a
person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is offered
admission as a pupil.”
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 258

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 2

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
In accordance with Section 89 of the Schools Standards and Framework
Act 1998 and the Education (Determination of Admission Arrangements)
(Wales) Regulations 2006, Admission Authorities are required to review
their School Admission Arrangements annually.
The Council also has to satisfy its public sector duties and obligations
under the Equality Act 2010 (including the specific Welsh public sector
duties). Pursuant to these legal duties, Councils must in making decisions
have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2)
advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis
of protected characteristics.
The Council must also not directly or indirectly discriminate against any
pupil in its admission arrangements, this means that no pupil or group of
pupils may be treated less favourably based on a protected characteristic.
Protected characteristics are:










Age
Disability
Gender reassignment
Marriage and civil partnership
Pregnancy and maternity
Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality
Religion or belief – including lack of belief
Sex
Sexual orientation

3

Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics

3.1

Age

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older
people?
Yes




Up to 18 years
18 - 65 years
Over 65 years

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 259

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 3

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
The proposed changes to the arrangements for 2020/21 compared to the
arrangements for 2019/20, relate to the following:









Amendment of the Funding Individual Healthcare Plan (FIHP) criterion
to become Funded Individual Development Plan (FIDP);
Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education;
Clarification of the process for Out of Chronological Age Applications,
School Managed Transfers and the Fair Access Protocol;
Clarification of how changes of address during the admissions process
are considered;
Clarification of how multiple birth siblings are considered when applying
oversubscription criteria;
Clarification on eligibility for Early Years Funding and funded childcare;
Clarification on circumstances in which a school offer may be withdrawn;
Reduced Published Admission Number for Glan yr Afon Primary School.

Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education will
have no impact as any eligible children will be covered by the
requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal
(Wales) Bill.
To summarise, it is expected that there would be no differential impact
affecting this protected characteristic as a result of implementing the
Schools Admissions Policy.
Parents have to apply for their child’s admission to their chronological age
group.
The nature of the policy is such that it will inherently apply to the 3 - 16
years old age groups as it is relevant to school and nursery-aged children
and young adults.
Whilst implementation of this policy would therefore have a differential
impact, it would not be regarded as prejudicial to older age groups as they
are not part of this educational place provision process.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
N/A

3.2

Disability

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?
Yes



Hearing Impairment
Physical Impairment
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 260

No

Authorised: Lynne David

N/A

Page 4

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
Visual Impairment
Learning Disability
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition
Mental Health
Substance Dependence
Other








Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The proposed changes to the arrangements for 2020/21 compared to the
arrangements for 2019/20, relate to the following:









Amendment of the Funding Individual Healthcare Plan (FIHP) criterion
to become Funded Individual Development Plan (FIDP);
Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education;
Clarification of the process for Out of Chronological Age Applications,
School Managed Transfers and the Fair Access Protocol;
Clarification of how changes of address during the admissions process
are considered;
Clarification of how multiple birth siblings are considered when applying
oversubscription criteria;
Clarification on eligibility for Early Years Funding and funded childcare;
Clarification on circumstances in which a school offer may be withdrawn;
Reduced Published Admission Number for Glan yr Afon Primary School.

Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education will
have no impact as any eligible children will be covered by the
requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal
(Wales) Bill.
To summarise, it is expected that there would be no differential impact
affecting this protected characteristic as a result of implementing the
Schools Admissions Policy.
This proposal has been developed in accordance with the requirements of
the Equality Act 2010 throughout and in compliance with the Welsh
Government’s School Admissions Code E.3 which states:
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of age,
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership,
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual orientation,
against a person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is
offered admission as a pupil.”
Differential impact could occur as the implementation of the School
Admissions Policy would allow for priority to be given to applicants where
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 261

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 5

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
the legislation and protection prescribe the inclusion of specific criteria in
relation to Additional Learning Needs (ALN) which support pupils with
disabilities that are also learning difficulties.
ALN legislation gives absolute priority to these pupils in relation to
admissions and has a separate independent appeals process. This would
be a positive impact if the degree of need was such that preferential
placement were to apply.
All schools have obligations to make provision for pupils with ALN and to
make reasonable adjustments under the Equality Act 2010 both to school
premises and in all other areas for pupils with disabilities.
Similarly differential impact could occur as the implementation of the
School Admissions Policy would allow for priority to be given to applicants
for whom compelling medical and/or compelling social grounds could be
evidenced indicating particular needs. This would be a positive impact if
the degree of need was such that preferential placement were to apply.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Update as necessary when new ALN legislation takes effect or if School
Transport Policy changes

3.3

Gender Reassignment

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?
Yes
Transgender People
(People who are proposing to undergo, are
undergoing, or have undergone a process [or part of a
process] to reassign their sex by changing
physiological or other attributes of sex)

No

N/A



Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The proposed changes to the arrangements for 2020/21 compared to the
arrangements for 2019/20, relate to the following:


4.C.400

Amendment of the Funding Individual Healthcare Plan (FIHP) criterion
to become Funded Individual Development Plan (FIDP);
Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education;
Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 262

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 6

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template







Clarification of the process for Out of Chronological Age Applications,
School Managed Transfers and the Fair Access Protocol;
Clarification of how changes of address during the admissions process
are considered;
Clarification of how multiple birth siblings are considered when applying
oversubscription criteria;
Clarification on eligibility for Early Years Funding and funded childcare;
Clarification on circumstances in which a school offer may be withdrawn;
Reduced Published Admission Number for Glan yr Afon Primary School.

Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education will
have no impact as any eligible children will be covered by the
requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal
(Wales) Bill.
To summarise, it is expected that there would be no differential impact
affecting this protected characteristic as a result of implementing the
Schools Admissions Policy.
This proposal has been developed in accordance with the requirements of
the Equality Act 2010 throughout and in compliance with the Welsh
Government’s School Admissions Code E.3 which states:
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of age,
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership,
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual orientation,
against a person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is
offered admission as a pupil.”
All schools to which the Schools Admission Policy applies are non-gender
specific in relation to their admissions criteria.
Differential impact could occur as the implementation of the School
Admissions Policy would allow for priority to be given to applicants for
whom compelling medical and/or compelling social grounds could be
evidenced indicating particular needs. This would be a positive impact if
the degree of need was such that preferential placement were to apply.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
N/A

3.4. Marriage and Civil Partnership
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil
partnership?
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 263

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 7

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
Yes

No

Marriage
Civil Partnership

N/A



Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of age;
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual orientation,
against a person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is
offered admission as a pupil.”
No differential impact would occur as the implementation of the Schools
Admissions Policy would not affect this protected characteristic.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
N/A

3.5

Pregnancy and Maternity

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and
maternity?
Yes
Pregnancy
Maternity

No



N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
This proposal has been developed in accordance with the requirements of
the Equality Act 2010 throughout and in compliance with the Welsh
Government’s School Admissions Code E.3 which states:
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of age;
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy
and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual orientation, against a
person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is offered
admission as a pupil.”
No differential impact would occur as the implementation of the Schools
Admissions Policy would not affect this protected characteristic.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 264

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 8

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
N/A

3.6

Race

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?
Yes
White
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups
Asian / Asian British
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British
Other Ethnic Groups

No


N/A






Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The proposed changes to the arrangements for 2020/21 compared to the
arrangements for 2019/20, relate to the following:









Amendment of the Funding Individual Healthcare Plan (FIHP) criterion
to become Funded Individual Development Plan (FIDP);
Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education;
Clarification of the process for Out of Chronological Age Applications,
School Managed Transfers and the Fair Access Protocol;
Clarification of how changes of address during the admissions process
are considered;
Clarification of how multiple birth siblings are considered when applying
oversubscription criteria;
Clarification on eligibility for Early Years Funding and funded childcare;
Clarification on circumstances in which a school offer may be withdrawn;
Reduced Published Admission Number for Glan yr Afon Primary School.

Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education will
have no impact as any eligible children will be covered by the
requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal
(Wales) Bill.
This proposal has been developed in accordance with the requirements of
the Equality Act 2010 throughout and in compliance with the Welsh
Government’s School Admissions Code E.3 which states: “An admission
authority must not discriminate on the grounds of age, disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity;
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 265

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 9

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual orientation, against a person in the
arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is offered admission as a
pupil.”
To summarise, it is expected that there would be no differential impact
affecting this protected characteristic as a result of implementing the
Schools Admissions Policy.
Pupil Level Annual School Census (PLASC) data is collected each year
and has consistently shown that all schools have pupils from different
races.
There is potential for impact in the future, however the admissions policy is
reviewed, consulted on and determined annually.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Monitor PLASC and school planning data to ensure any impact is identified

3.7

Religion, Belief or Non-Belief

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on people with different
religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?
Yes
Buddhist
Christian
Hindu
Humanist
Jewish
Muslim
Sikh
Other

No









N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The proposed changes to the arrangements for 2020/21 compared to the
arrangements for 2019/20, relate to the following:


4.C.400

Amendment of the Funding Individual Healthcare Plan (FIHP) criterion
to become Funded Individual Development Plan (FIDP);
Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education;
Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 266

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 10

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template







Clarification of the process for Out of Chronological Age Applications,
School Managed Transfers and the Fair Access Protocol;
Clarification of how changes of address during the admissions process
are considered;
Clarification of how multiple birth siblings are considered when applying
oversubscription criteria;
Clarification on eligibility for Early Years Funding and funded childcare;
Clarification on circumstances in which a school offer may be withdrawn;
Reduced Published Admission Number for Glan yr Afon Primary School.

Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education will
have no impact as any eligible children will be covered by the
requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal
(Wales) Bill.
To summarise, it is expected that there would be no differential impact
affecting this protected characteristic as a result of implementing the
Schools Admissions Policy.
This proposal has been developed in accordance with the requirements of
the Equality Act 2010 throughout and in compliance with the Welsh
Government’s School Admissions Code E.3 which states:
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of age;
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy
and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual orientation, against
a person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is offered
admission as a pupil.”
There are a number of maintained voluntary aided faith schools in Cardiff
which are either Roman Catholic or Church in Wales which deal with their
own admissions and admit children of those faiths. There are also three
independent Muslim schools who deal with their own admission
arrangements. As a result there may be a lower number of pupils of these
faiths within community schools. However, the Council’s admission
arrangements do not differentiate between applicants of differing belief
systems who apply to attend Community Schools.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
The Council will remain sensitive to the needs of religious communities
seeking faith place provision.

3.8
4.C.400

Sex
Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 267

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 11

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function
have a differential impact [positive/negative] on men and/or
women?
Yes
Men
Women

No



N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The proposed changes to the arrangements for 2020/21 compared to the
arrangements for 2019/20, relate to the following:









Amendment of the Funding Individual Healthcare Plan (FIHP) criterion
to become Funded Individual Development Plan (FIDP);
Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education;
Clarification of the process for Out of Chronological Age Applications,
School Managed Transfers and the Fair Access Protocol;
Clarification of how changes of address during the admissions process
are considered;
Clarification of how multiple birth siblings are considered when applying
oversubscription criteria;
Clarification on eligibility for Early Years Funding and funded childcare;
Clarification on circumstances in which a school offer may be withdrawn;
Reduced Published Admission Number for Glan yr Afon Primary School.

Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education will
have no impact as any eligible children will be covered by the
requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal
(Wales) Bill.
To summarise, it is expected that there would be no differential impact
affecting this protected characteristic as a result of implementing the
Schools Admissions Policy.
This proposal has been developed in accordance with the requirements of
the Equality Act 2010 throughout and in compliance with the Welsh
Government’s School Admissions Code E.3 which states:
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of age;
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy
and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual orientation, against a
person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is offered
admission as a pupil.”
All schools to which the Schools Admission Policy applies are non-sex
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 268

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 12

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
specific in relation to their admissions criteria.
No differential impact would occur as the implementation of the Schools
Admissions Policy would not affect this protected characteristic.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
N/A

3.9

Sexual Orientation

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on the following people?
Yes
Bisexual
Gay Men
Gay Women/Lesbians
Heterosexual/Straight

No





N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
This proposal has been developed in accordance with the requirements of
the Equality Act 2010 throughout and in compliance with the Welsh
Government’s School Admissions Code E.3 which states:
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of age,
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy
and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual orientation, against
a person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is offered
admission as a pupil.”
No differential impact would occur as the implementation of the Schools
Admissions Policy would not affect this protected characteristic.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
N/A

3.10 Welsh Language
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language?
Yes
Welsh Language
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 269

No


Authorised: Lynne David

N/A
Page 13

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The Council is committed to developing a Bilingual Cardiff. The Council’s
Welsh in Education Strategy Plan (WESP) 2017 – 2020 will help Cardiff to
support the Welsh Government’s vision to see one million Welsh speakers
across Wales by 2050.
The WESP in an integral part of the Council’s 5 year Bi-lingual Strategy.
The Council recognises that a strong and inclusive Welsh-medium sector
is vital if Cardiff is to develop as a truly bilingual city where Welsh is a
vibrant living language.
The Bilingual Strategy aims to increase the number of Welsh speakers
within Cardiff and promote the use of the language throughout the city.
The Council recognise that the education system is a key element in
ensuring that children are able to develop their Welsh skills, and for
creating new speakers
The proposed changes to the arrangements for 2020/21 compared to the
arrangements for 2019/20, relate to the following:









Amendment of the Funding Individual Healthcare Plan (FIHP) criterion
to become Funded Individual Development Plan (FIDP);
Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education;
Clarification of the process for Out of Chronological Age Applications,
School Managed Transfers and the Fair Access Protocol;
Clarification of how changes of address during the admissions process
are considered;
Clarification of how multiple birth siblings are considered when applying
oversubscription criteria;
Clarification on eligibility for Early Years Funding and funded childcare;
Clarification on circumstances in which a school offer may be withdrawn;
Reduced Published Admission Number for Glan yr Afon Primary School.

Removal of the FIHP criterion for admission to secondary education will
have no impact as any eligible children will be covered by the
requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal
(Wales) Bill.
To summarise, it is expected that there would be no differential impact as
a result of implementing the Schools Admissions Policy.
For children who did not attend a Welsh-medium Nursery/Primary school
at the start of their education and who wish to transfer to Welsh-medium
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 270

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 14

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
education, the Council has established both a primary school age and
secondary school age Welsh Immersion Unit, which provides intense
Welsh language learning enabling children to gain a level of fluency to
transfer to education in a Welsh-medium school.
Officers will continue to monitor birth rates; the yield from proposed
housing and the patterns of take up in Welsh-medium provision at primary
and secondary age with a view to bringing forward appropriate plan to
meet any increased demand.
The teaching of Welsh within an English-medium setting is subject to the
requirements of the National Curriculum. This would not change.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Continue to review the obligation to promote Welsh-medium education via the
WESP.

4.

Consultation and Engagement

What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various
Equalities Groups?
The Council’s draft School Admissions Policy 2020/21 (see Appendix 1)
was issued in both the English and Welsh languages for consultation on
21 January 2019 to all those the Council are required to consult with as
set out in the Welsh Government’s School Admissions Code
(Headteachers, Governing Bodies, Diocesan Directors, neighbouring
Local Education Authorities). The consultation met the statutory timescale
and closed on 22 February 2019.
The policy was published on the council website with details of how
responses could be submitted which provided an opportunity for parents
and other interested parties to comments. Responses were requested to
be returned by 22 January 2019.
Details of the consultation were promoted via social media and schools.
Details of the responses received and the Council’s appraisal of the views
expressed can be seen in the School Admission Arrangements 2020/21
Cabinet report.
Details of the Schools Admission Policy will be made available on the
Council’s website:
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Schools-andlearning/Schools/Applying-for-a-school-place

4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 271

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 15

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template

5.

Summary of Actions To Be Taken [from the
Actions listed in the Sections above]

These actions should be included in your Directorate’s Equality Action Plan
for the year, monitored on a regular basis and reported in your Directorate
Equality Annual Report.
Groups
Age
Disability

Actions
None
Update as necessary when new ALN legislation takes
effect or if School Transport Policy changes
Gender Reassignment None
Marriage & Civil
None
Partnership
Pregnancy &
None
Maternity
Race
Monitor PLASC and school planning data to ensure
any impact is identified
Religion/Belief
The Council will remain sensitive to the needs of
religious communities seeking faith place provision.
Sex
None
Sexual Orientation
None
Welsh Language
Continue to review the obligation to promote Welshmedium education via the WESP.
Generic Over-Arching None
[applicable to all the
above groups]

4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 272

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 16

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
6.

ACTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE FUTURE

List here any actions that you could not take in the immediate future, but
which have arisen as issues to be considered for future service developments

7.

Authorisation

The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in
each Service Area.
Completed By : Rosalie Phillips
Designation: Senior School Organisation Governance
and Compliance Officer
Approved By: Michele Duddridge Hossain
Designation: Operational Manager, Planning and
Provision
Service Area: Education and Lifelong Learning
7.1

Date: 27/02/2019

On completion of this Assessment, please send it to
equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk, who will publish it on the Council’s
Website.

For further information or assistance, please contact the Equality Team 029
2087 2536 or email equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 273

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 4

My Ref: Scrutiny/Correspondence/MJH
14 March 2019
Councillor Sarah Merry
Cabinet Member – Education, Employment and Skills
County Hall
CARDIFF
CF10 4UW
Dear Sarah
On behalf of the Committee, I would like to thank you for attending the Children and
Young People Scrutiny Committee on 12 March 2018 to provide an opening
statement and answering questions on the School Admission Arrangements
2020/21 – draft Cabinet Report.

I would also like to thank Nick Batchelar, Director of Education and Lifelong
Learning, and Michele Duddridge - Hussain, Operational Manager: Planning and
Provision, for the report and answers to Members questions.

Following the consideration of the report and answers to members questions the
Committee agreed to commend the draft report to Cabinet on 21 March 2019.

The Members discussed at some length, during the meeting and the way forward
section of the meeting, the clarity of the consultation, as the consultation document
did not highlight the changes being made. The members considered that the
proposed changes were minor, as shown in the Cabinet report (paragraph 6) and
therefore recommended that future consultations should highlight the proposed
amendments to the Policy separately, to enable the public to clearly see the
changes.

Finally the Committee discussed the issues around admission numbers, catchment
area, segregation and school capacity, and agreed that it would priorities to
undertake a scrutiny inquiry, as part of next year’s work programme, to help develop
proposal to address these issues.

Page 275

I hope that these comments and advice will be of use and support in improving
outcomes for Cardiff’s pupils and as such the Members do not require a formal
response to this letter.

Yours sincerely

COUNTY COUNCILLOR LEE BRIDGEMAN
Chairperson – Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee
CC:

Nick Batchelar, Director of Education and Lifelong learning
Jo Watkins – Cabinet Business Manger

Page 276

Agenda Item 5
CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2019
SCHOOL ORGANISATION PLANNING: THE PROVISION OF
ENGLISH-MEDIUM PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES IN THE
LLANRUMNEY AREA
EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT & SKILLS (COUNCILLOR SARAH
MERRY)
AGENDA ITEM: 5
Reason for this Report
1.

This report is to inform members regarding the background and strategic
solution identified to reduce the surplus places in Llanrumney as set out
in the Cabinet’s recommendations at its meeting December 2018.

Background
2.

The Llanrumney area is served by Bryn Hafod, Glan-yr-Afon, Pen-y-Bryn,
St Cadoc’s Catholic and St Mellon’s CiW English-medium Primary
Schools. Welsh-medium provision is available at Ysgol Bro Eirwg and
Ysgol Pen y Pil, which serve parts of Llanrumney, Rumney, Trowbridge
and Old St Mellons.

3.

At its meeting on 12 July 2018, the Council’s Cabinet considered a report
‘School Organisation Planning: The Provision of English-medium primary
school places in the Llanrumney area’ which set out proposals to
rationalise English-medium primary school places in the Llanrumney
area, to include closure of Glan-yr-Afon Primary School as of 31st August
2019.

4.

On 13 December 2018 Cabinet considered a report that summarised the
responses to consultation and recommendations as to how to proceed.
The report set out the issues and that any future proposals brought
forward to ensure a better match between the supply of and demand for
English-medium places in the Llanrumney area would need to consider:




The need to reduce the number of surplus English-medium primary
school places;
The organisation of primary school places in the Llanrumney area;
How high quality early years education provision could best be
provided and enhanced in the area;

Page 277

Page 1 of 13





How high quality primary education can be sustainably and
economically provided through leadership and governance
arrangements;
The impact of housing developments in the local and wider area,
including primary school provision to serve the new housing
development at St Edeyrns;
The financial implications.

5.

Following consideration of the issues and concerns presented by
stakeholders the Council’s Cabinet decided not to proceed with the
proposal to close Glan Yr Afon Primary School for August 2019.
However, the Cabinet recognised the continued need to reduce the
surplus places in the Llanrumney area and requested officers to revisit
opportunities to rationalise places in the area whilst retaining EM primary
places at the base of Llanrumney.

6.

The recommendation to reduce the school to 1FE was supported by
Cabinet and will formally take effect as of September 2020 subject to the
outcome of the annual Admissions Arrangements consultation. This
means the Published Admissions Number for the school will reduce from
41 places per year to 30 per year from September 2020 onwards.

7.

The Council’s Education Infrastructure Plan, included in the Deposit LDP
in 2013, highlights planned investment/development proposals and
identifies future infrastructure requirements based on Cardiff’s projected
level and distribution of growth.

8.

Included within the LDP is the St Ederyns development which is a c1,200
housing being built to the north of Llanrumney across the A48. Average
yield of pupils expected from this scale of development would be c1.1FE.
Land has been secured to build up to a 2FE primary school along with
£2.2m S106 financial obligations to build primary provision.

9.

Outline planning consent for the construction of up to 1,020 on the St
Edeyrn’s site was granted by the Council’s Planning Committee on 11
December 2013.

Issues
10.

As set out in the July 2018 Cabinet report, the school went into
monitoring after the Estyn inspection in 2015 and came out in July 2018.
However, Glan Yr Afon Primary continues to be rated Amber as part of
the national categorisation. This is owing to concerns regarding to the
teaching standards, children’s outcomes and leadership at the school.

11.

Any option(s) pursued must therefore provide greater certainty that these
concerns will be addressed going forward in order to secure a positive
improvement in the education of pupils in one of the city’s most deprived
LSOAs.

12.

Glan Yr Afon Primary School continues to have a deficit (which at the
point of the original consultation in excess of £130,000) with low pupil

Page 278

Page 2 of 13

numbers. The Governing Body has already commenced an internal
consultation process regarding proposals for a staffing restructure. The
restructure aims to take account of the current pupil numbers and the
financial position at the school.
13.

There are outstanding condition issues associated with the Glan Yr Afon
building. Any options brought forward would take this into account and
ensure that the accommodation available for the education of pupils is of
an appropriate standard and enables the teachers to provide learning
opportunities appropriate to the age and phase of the pupils.

14.

A sum of £200,000 has been identified from the asset budget to invest in
the condition issues and impacting on the school learning environment at
Glan Yr Afon in the 2019/20 financial year.

15.

Flying Start services currently operate within the Glan Yr Afon catchment
area. These are delivered across more than one school site with the FS
health staff base and parenting classes at Glan Yr Afon. The local
childcare component is located at St Cadoc’s. There is also to be further
Early Help staff located in the East of the city to support families with
additional staff to deliver parenting support. These staff will need a staff
base and appropriate venue(s) to deliver services.

16.

Co-locating other Early Help family support services with Flying Start on
a single site would have benefits and could offer a more cohesive and
comprehensive Early Years and parenting approach as can be seen in
the integrated centre model in the west of the city (the Ely and Caerau
Children’s Centre) and in other local authorities.
The integrated
children’s centre approach has been shown to support the synergies
between the programmes delivered, opportunities to share staff skills and
opportunities to support families holistically across the services.

17.

To progress this type of integration would require a more substantial
investment. Officers are continuing to investigate the potential funding
available and any scope for pooling several sources to achieve best use
of the site for the benefit of young families in the community in the
medium to longer term.

18.

The St Ederyn’s development is separate to the known issues presenting
in Llanrumney with the financial contributions secured aligned to the new
community being built.

19.

The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance sets out the
circumstances in which the Council could seek s106 contributions from
developers towards school facilities. In order to achieve contributions
from developers, the Council would be required to evidence that any
obligation meets the following criteria:



Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms
Directly related to the development; and
 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

Page 279

Page 3 of 13

20.

In short, s106 contributions would not allow the Council to invest in
schools to resolve existing needs. Contributions can only be sought when
the schools local to a development will continue to be fully subscribed,
and there is a need to expand provision either by expanding existing
school schools or building new schools. Land, building or financial
contributions must be directly proportionate to the needs arising from a
development.

21.

Whilst the s106 cannot be used to invest in existing schools, it could
present an opportunity to reduce the surplus places in the Llanrumney
area as well as resolving unusual organisation in the area owing to the
areas some of the current schools serve.

22.

A separate Cabinet report ‘New School Provision to Serve parts of
Pontprennau and Old St Mellons’ is also to be considered at Cabinet on
the 21st March, 2019. This report contains proposals concerning the
need to provide places to serve Pontprennau and Old St Mellon’s ward
together with how this the Llanrumney area is also to be considered at
Cabinet on the 21st March, 2019.

Option proposed
23.

This area is subject to wider strategic consideration in order to ensure an
appropriate balance of places. Currently there is over supply in
Llanrumney and insufficient places to serve the St Ederyn’s development
as it builds out. Any options that proceed should therefore take account
of these differing needs in both the short and longer term.

24.

Several options have been considered to reduce the surplus places in
the Llanrumney area together with providing greater surety regarding the
standards and leadership at the school for the future to support its
improvement.
The
strategic
solution
recommended
through
implementation of the relevant formal processes contains two parts:

25.



Glan Yr Afon Primary School to be substantiated as a 1FE
primary school with a 48 place nursery on its current site and
federated with another Cardiff primary school (to be determined)
– no Cabinet decision required



To relocate St Mellon’s CiW Primary School to the St Ederyn’s
development thereby reducing the capacity in Llanrumney by
0.5FE subject to formal consultation in line with the School
Organisation Code 2018 (as set out in linked report ‘New School
Provision to Serve parts of Pontprennau and Old St Mellons’)

This solution has been put forward to achieve the following:




Reduce surplus places to serve Llanrumney
Provide places on site to serve the St Edyern’s development
Retain English-medium places at the base of Llanrumney

Page 280

Page 4 of 13





Provide greater certainty and stability of leadership and management
going forward to support continued focus on teaching standards and
improved outcomes for pupils
Clarify intent to develop a more cohesive Early Years offer for
Llanrumney on the Glan Yr Afon site
Confirm investment in Glan Yr Afon buildings to improve the learning
environment

Federation
26.

A Federation is a formal and legal agreement by which the schools
involved work together in a formal partnership. There is a single
Governing Body, which has strategic oversight of all schools within the
Federation and makes decisions in the best interests of all the schools,
staff and pupils in the federation.

27.

Working together through a single governing body structure can enable
schools to raise standards and maintain local education provision by
sharing resources, staff, expertise, and facilities and sharing best
practice. A single governing body also provides an effective and
accountable mechanism for schools to pool resources, including staff and
budgets, release capacity in the senior management team and gain
economies of scale and efficiencies.

28.

The decision whether or not to federate is made jointly by the governing
bodies of the schools concerned after seeking the views of parents; staff;
pupils; the LA; all staff unions; and anyone else in the school community.

29.

The Governing Bodies of the schools concerned would need to meet and
agree to consult on a proposal to federate. Cardiff Local Authority
supports the consultation exercise and has provided guidance to the
Governing Body for this type of governor-led proposal.

30.

The proposal included in this report is to establish a community schools
federation under the Federation of Maintained Schools (Wales)
Regulations 2014 (Welsh Statutory Instrument 2014 No.1132 (W.111) )
from Autumn 2019.

What are the key aspects of a federation?
31.

In a federation, the existing Governing Bodies of both schools would be
dissolved, and if the proposals to establish a federation proceed, a new
single Governing Body would replace the individual Governing Bodies
and have responsibility for the strategic oversight of both schools in the
federation.

32.

Each school would retains its name, category, budget and staff. If
federated, moving forward the schools would then be able to explore the
advantages of sharing resources. The two schools would not be merging
together.

33.

Each school would also continue to have its own Estyn inspection.

Page 281

Page 5 of 13

Leadership Arrangements if schools federate
34.

If two or more schools federate, the Federated Governing body provides
strategic leadership for both schools. The Federated Governing Body is
then responsible for the performance management of the headteacher(s)
with the senior leadership team structures for each school agreed,
developed and formalised by the Federated Governing Body and Head
Teacher(s).

Admissions Arrangements of federated schools
35.

If a federation were to proceed, admission arrangements to the two
schools would not change. The schools would not be merging together,
but would continue to operate as separate schools with separate
catchment areas as set by the local authority. Each child would continue
to be a registered pupil at one named school within the federation.

Other options considered and discounted
36.

Further options considered include:







Do nothing – dismissed as there are entrenched issues which need
to be resolved and the number on roll at the school is not sufficient to
warrant own structure going forward;
Close Glan Yr Afon Primary School and redistribute catchment
area between neighbouring English-medium schools – this option
was consulted on and following consideration of stakeholder views, it
was determined not to proceed;
Federate with other schools in the area or across Cardiff –
several options considered, long distance dismissed as it presents
challenges with active and visible management which the school will
need in the short to medium term as a minimum, all other local
options within Llanrumney have been considered with the above
leadership determined to be the best based on historic improvement
and Consortium assessment;
Close Glan Yr Afon but retain 1FE English medium provision in
the site as part of a larger English-medium primary school
operating across two sites – this will take longer to achieve and
owing to the desire to achieve a swift improvement, federation is felt
to be a more appropriate first step with consideration of this option in
the future as required or if felt to be beneficial to substantiate the offer
provided across the two sites.

Reason for recommendations
37.

To ensure members are fully informed regarding the wider strategic
solution proposed for the organisation of primary places to serve
Llanrumney, Parts of Ponetprennau and Old St Mellons, including:



a sufficiency of places
how outcomes for pupils are to be improved

Page 282

Page 6 of 13



investment aims for the area to benefit families with young children in
the community.

Impact of new school provision to serve St Ederyn’s on existing primary
schools in Llanrumney
38.

As referenced in paragraph 2, the linked Cabinet report entitled ‘New
School Provision to Serve parts of Pontprennau and Old St Mellons’
contains proposals specific to the wider reorganisation of places across
the Llanrumney area and the neighbouring Pontprennau and Old St
Mellon’s ward is also to be considered at Cabinet on the 21 March, 2019.

39.

The provision of additional places through investment in new purpose
built accommodation may have a differential impact on other local
schools as it can be seen as an attractive option for new pupils.

40.

The housing developer for the St Edeyrn’s development proposes to
construct a new one form entry school building in a single phase. This
would provide sufficient places for the number of pupils expected to
reside on the development who require places in an English-medium
primary school, when the planned 1,020 dwellings are completed.

41.

Depending on which option is determined to proceed, at the time of the
first pupils admitted to the school the school may have a high proportion
of surplus capacity within a building capable of accommodating up to 210
primary school pupils and 48 part-time nursery pupils. This school site is
sufficient in size for a two form entry primary school with on-site pitch,
and would enable the expansion of the school on its existing site if/when
further housing is developed.

42.

The establishment of additional school places in any area where the local
demand for places would not immediately fill the school would either
result in surplus places within the new school or it may attract pupils from
other areas to attend the school, and thus result in surplus places
elsewhere.

43.

Consideration must therefore be given to how to mitigate the impact of a
new school on existing schools. Options for the new school provision to
be located on the St Ederyn’s development are included in linked report
also to be considered at the Cabinet meeting 21 March, 2019.

Admissions and Catchment areas
44.

School federations do not necessitate a change catchment area
arrangements.

45.

There are no plans to change the Council’s policy on the admission of
children to community schools as a result of this proposal.

46.

Detailed information regarding admission arrangements is contained in
the Council’s Admission to Schools booklet, and this information can be
viewed on the Council’s website (www.cardiff.gov.uk).

Page 283

Page 7 of 13

Impact of the proposal on the Welsh Language
47.

It is not anticipated that there will be any negative impact on the Welsh
Language, as a result of this proposal.

48.

The Council works closely and constructively with partners on its Welsh
Education Forum, which includes representatives of nursery, primary,
secondary and further education, childcare, RhAG and the Welsh
Government. The Forum actively informs the planning of Welsh-medium
places, to continue to drive the Council’s plan to sustainably increase the
number of learners within Welsh-medium schools and those learning
Welsh in English-medium schools.

49.

The Council monitors birth rates, the yield from proposed housing and
the patterns of take-up in Welsh-medium provision at primary and
secondary age, with a view to bringing forward appropriate plans to meet
any increased demand.

50.

The Council must ensure that the expansion of school provision is
brought forward in a strategic and timely manner, which does not
compromise existing provision. Expanding Welsh-medium primary school
provision would, inevitably, have an impact on the take-up of places in
other schools, and in turn on the ability of schools to balance budgets
and to attract or retain staff.
The provision of additional English-medium primary school places will
mean that that the overall proportion of Welsh-medium places city wide is
reduced. However, the St Edeyrn’s development will continue to be
served by Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Pen y Groes.

51.

The Council, and its partners on the Welsh Education Forum, are
committed to driving the increase in number of pupils educated through
the medium of Welsh, to meet the targets within Cardiff’s WESP, and to
meet the targets set out in the Welsh Government’s Cymraeg 2050
strategy.

52.

The teaching of Welsh within an English medium setting is subject to the
requirements of the National Curriculum. This would not change with the
transfer of the school to new build accommodation. This proposal does
not seek to change the number of Welsh-medium primary or secondary
school places available in the area.

Learner Travel Arrangements
53.

There are no plans to change the Council’s transport policy for school
children.

54.

Any pupils affected by the proposals would be offered the same support
with transport as is provided throughout Cardiff in line with the same
criteria that apply across Cardiff.

Page 284

Page 8 of 13

55.

The Council’s transport policy for school children can be viewed on the
Council’s website www.cardiff.gov.uk/schooltransport

Community impact
56.

The following are taken into account when considering a proposal: Public
Open Space, parkland, noise and traffic congestion. Officers will work
with schools and any community group to make sure that the proposal
avoids negative impacts if possible.io’

57.

A key objective of the Council is to enable third party to access the sports
facilities at schools, on a sustainable financial basis. Welsh
Government’s aim for shared facilities in community-focussed school are
to:








Provide opportunities for the local community and sports
organisations to participate in sport and physical activity for health
improvement and development of their skills, particularly amongst low
participant groups;
Operate in line with the national agenda for sport taking into account
nationally adopted strategies;
Generate positive attitudes in sport and physical activity by young
people and reducing the dropout rate in sports participation with age;
Increase the number of people of all ages and abilities participating in
sport and physical activity including people with disabilities;
Use the facilities to encourage the range, quality and number of
school sports club links and to stimulate competition that is inclusive
of young people and adults;
Provide affordable access to the facilities and to be self-financing and
cost neutral in the first instance, generating sustainable income for
the school in the future.

Wellbeing of Future Generations
58.

In line with the Well-being of Future Generations Act, the Council is
committed to providing Local Schools for Local Children, together with
encouraging use of sustainable modes to travel to schools, such as
walking and cycling. Each School project takes into account key transport
issues when they are being designed and the firm need to provide safer
routes to encourage walking, cycling and other active travel modes to
schools.

59.

With the current investments in ICT across the city, student movements
may be further reduced as mobile technology develops further allowing
for flexible teaching methods. These have the potential to result in a
more efficient Travel Plan and further contribute to the Council’s targets
to reduce its carbon emissions.

60.

In order to maximise the long-term impact of this significant investment,
any design taken forward for each included in this proposal would be
developed to ensure the delivery of high quality modern facilities that are
able to respond to the current pupil population needs and support the

Page 285

Page 9 of 13

delivery of effective teaching and learning methods. They would also
incorporate the flexibility to take account of changes depending on need
as time progresses; such as changing demographics and pupil numbers,
changing curriculum and changing types of pupil needs.
Financial Implications
61.

The recommendations to this report request Cabinet to note that a
federation model of governance is to be pursued by the governing body
of Glan-yr-Afon in conjunction with another Cardiff primary school (to be
determined)The decision to explore a federation does not, it itself, give
rise to any direct financial implications. Should a federated model of
governance be implemented, it would reasonably be expected that this
would not give rise to additional expenditure commitments in either
school. It would be expected that a federation model would result in
opportunities to identify efficiencies and sharing of resources, resulting in
cost savings within both schools. This is especially important in the case
of Glan-yr-Afon Primary School, where the financial outlook is particularly
challenging, largely as a result of decreasing pupil numbers.

62.

In addition, this report references the fact that a capital investment
totalling £200,000 is required in the current Glan-yr-Afon Primary School
building to address condition issues and ensure that the building is of
appropriate standard. As referenced in the report, this sum will be
identified from the approved Asset Renewal budget. Going forward,
should further capital expenditure be required, it will be necessary for the
required funding to be identified from within existing resources. If that is
not feasible, it will be necessary for new capital resources to be identified
to meet the likely expenditure commitments and ensure that any
initiatives does not place a financial burden upon the Council’s Capital
Programme.

Legal Implications
63.

The Council has to satisfy its public sector duties under the Equality Act
2010. Pursuant to these legal duties the Council must in making
decisions have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful
discrimination (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good
relations on the basis of protected characteristics
Protected characteristics are:










Age
Gender reassignment
Sex
Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality
Disability
Pregnancy and maternity
Marriage and civil partnership
Sexual orientation
Religion or belief – including lack of belief

Page 286

Page 10 of 13

64.

The Equality Impact Assessment which has been undertaken ensures
that the Council has properly understood and assessed the potential
impacts of the proposals in terms of equality. As stated in the Report, the
conclusion is that the proposals would not adversely affect a particular
group in society.

65.

The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 places a ‘wellbeing duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving seven national well-being
goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, healthier, more
equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and thriving Welsh
language, and is globally responsible.

66.

In discharging its duties under the 2015 Act, the Council has set and
published well being objectives designed to maximise its contribution to
achieving the national well being goals. The well being objectives are set
out
in
Cardiff’s
Corporate
Plan
2018-21:
http://cmsprd.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-andpolicies/Corporate-Plan/Documents/Corporate%20Plan%202018-21.pdf

67.

When exercising its functions, the Council is required to take all
reasonable steps to meet its well being objectives. This means that the
decision makers should consider how the proposed decision will
contribute towards meeting the well being objectives and must be
satisfied that all reasonable steps have been taken to meet those
objectives.

68.

The well being duty also requires the Council to act in accordance with a
‘sustainable development principle’. This principle requires the Council
to act in a way which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are
met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their
own needs. Put simply, this means that Council decision makers must
take account of the impact of their decisions on people living their lives in
Wales in the future. In doing so, the Council must:






69.

Look to the long term
Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of problems
Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the seven national wellbeing goals
Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable solutions
Involve people from all sections of the community in the decisions
which affect them

The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposed decision accords
with the principles above; and due regard must be given to the Statutory
Guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers, which is accessible using the
link below: http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/futuregenerations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en

HR Implications
70.

The Governing Bodies of Glan-yr-Afon Primary School and the school
the approach with regard to federation will be provided with support and

Page 287

Page 11 of 13

advice from HR People Services to assess the individual HR implications
of a federation proposal.
71.

Should a federation be established, staff employed by the current
governing bodies would continue to be employed by any new federated
governing body, but there may be opportunities for shared working
across the two schools and for any newly appointed staff to be appointed
to work across the federation. A joint committee will need to be formed
comprised of governors from both governing bodies and will need to
consider the leadership arrangements for the federation, in light of the
current interim arrangements and federation proposals. Support will be
provided to the joint committee in line with the SOP HR Framework.

Transportation
72.

Transport observations provided for the Cabinet report ‘School
Organisation Planning: The Provision of English-medium primary school
places in the Llanrumney area’ dated 12 July 2018, highlighted the
importance of all schools affected by organisational changes in
educational provision and new school developments being supported by
the development and implementation of Active Travel Plans. Such plans
will include educational and training activity to promote active travel to
school and, where necessary, the development of physical improvements
within the neighbourhoods surrounding school premises to make active
journeys to school easier and safer.

73.

The proposals for Federation outlined in this report have no strategic
transport implications.

74.

Detailed transport comments have been provided for the separate report
being considered by Cabinet: ‘New School Provision to Serve parts of
Pontprennau and Old St Mellons’. They consider the school travel
implications of the transfer of English medium places currently provided
at St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School in Llanrumney to the new
primary school that will be built within the St Ederyn’s development.

75.

This highlights the importance of the St Ederyns School being supported
by a robust Travel Plan/Active Travel Plan. A range of measures will
need to be considered including the feasibility of a establishing and
operating a walking bus from the Llanrumney area, which could help to
minimise demand for car travel to school.

76.

The master plan for the St Ederyns development includes active travel
links to the proposed school site. Measures to deter residents from
driving to the school will need to be built into the design of the access
arrangements for the new school. The Council’s transport team will work
closely with colleagues within the Planning and Education teams to
develop the right solutions and support the development of the Travel
Plan/Active Travel Plan.

Page 288

Page 12 of 13

Equality Impact Assessment
77.

An initial Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out and
concluded that these proposals would not adversely affect a particular
group in society. This assessment will be reviewed if the proposal to
federate were to proceed.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Cabinet is recommended to:


Note that the process of federation is to be pursued by Glan Yr Afon
Primary School with another Cardiff primary school (to be determined) as
part of a wider strategic solution to both reduce surplus places in
Llanrumney and to improve pupil outcomes at Glan Yr Afon Primary
School.



Agree to Officers exploring appropriate capital investment sources routes
to consolidate and co-locate Early Years services delivered in the
Llanrumney area onto the Glan Yr Afon site

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER

NICK BATCHELAR
Director of Education & Lifelong
Learning
15 March 2019

The following appendices are attached:
Appendix 1: Equality Impact Assessment
:

Page 289

Page 13 of 13

This page is intentionally left blank

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title:
New/Existing/Updating/Amending:
Who is responsible for developing and implementing the
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function?
Name: Janine Nightingale
Job Title: Head of School Organisation, Access
and Planning
Service Team: SOAP
Service Area: Education
Assessment Date: February 2019
1.

What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/
Service/Function?

To inform members regarding the background and strategic solution identified to
reduce the surplus places in Llanrumney as set out in the Cabinet’s
recommendations at its meeting December 2018.
The Cabinet is recommended to:


note that the process of federation with another Cardiff English-medium
primary school (to be determined) is being pursued by Glan Yr Afon
Primary School as part of a wider strategic solution to both reduce
surplus places in Llanrumney and to improve pupil outcomes at Glan Yr
Afon Primary School.



agree to Officers exploring appropriate capital investment sources to
consolidate and co-locate Early Years services delivered in the
Llanrumney area onto the Glan Yr Afon site

Any proposal to federate English-medium primary schools in the area would be
subject to consultation by the Governing Bodies of the schools concerned under
the Federation of Maintained Schools (Wales) Regulations 2014 (Welsh
Statutory Instrument 2014 No.1132 (W.111)).
2.

Please
provide
background
information
on
the
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done
etc.]

The Llanrumney area is served by Bryn Hafod, Glan-yr-Afon, Pen-y-Bryn, St
Cadoc’s Catholic and St Mellon’s CiW English-medium Primary Schools. Welsh
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 291

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 1

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
medium provision is available at Ysgol Bro Eirwg and Ysgol Pen y Pil, which
serve parts of Llanrumney, Rumney, Trowbridge and Old St Mellons.
Current English-medium primary school capacity in the Llanrumney area can
accommodate up to 1,342 pupils (age 4-11). In January 2018, the number of
primary aged pupils on roll (excluding nursery) was 1073, resulting in an overall
surplus capacity of 261 places (19.4%).
Where there is a higher than necessary number of school places, resources that
are being deployed inefficiently could be better used to improve the quality of
education for all learners. Whilst this report recommends federation there
remains HR implications for the Governing Body of Glan-yr-Afon Primary School
(or Governing body of any federation that may be pursued) to consider in
addressing their budget deficit position whilst reviewing their staffing
establishment alongside the decline of the number of pupils currently on roll.
This will require full staff and trade union consultation and support will be
provided by HR People Services.
3

Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics

3.1
Age
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people?
Yes
Up to 18 years
18 - 65 years
Over 65 years

No
X
X

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The Council’s aim is to improve the match between the supply of and demand
for English-medium schools places within the Llanrumney area.
The proposal to federate Glan-yr-Afon Primary School with another Englishmedium primary school is not expected to have any differential impact as pupils
can continue to access the school as currently albeit under a different
governance arrangement.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Any future proposals would need to ensure an appropriate balance of places
and provide the opportunity for children to attend schools with good quality
accommodation and a high standard of education provision.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 292

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 2

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

3.2
Disability
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?
Yes
Hearing Impairment
Physical Impairment
Visual Impairment
Learning Disability
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition
Mental Health
Substance Misuse
Other

No
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The proposal to federate Glan-yr-Afon Primary School with another Englishmedium primary school would not have a differential impact as the school will
continue to be able to meet the needs of any children with a disability.
Any future proposals would include an assessment on the accessibility of any
changes to school accommodation. This would take into account policies such
at the Equality Act 2010, TAN12: Design June 20019 as well as building
regulations such as BS8300, Part M and relevant Building Bulletins.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.3
Gender Reassignment
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?
Yes
Transgender People
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex)

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 293

No
X

Authorised: Rachel Jones

N/A

Page 3

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The proposal to federate Glan-yr-Afon Primary School with another Englishmedium primary school would not have a differential impact as the school will
continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.
Any future proposals proposal would need to ensure compliance with the
Council’s policies on equal opportunities.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.4. Marriage and Civil Partnership
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership?
Yes

No

N/A

Marriage
Civil Partnership
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The proposal to federate Glan-yr-Afon Primary School with another Englishmedium primary school would not have a differential impact as the school will
continue to be apply the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.5
Pregnancy and Maternity
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity?
Yes
Pregnancy
Maternity
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 294

No
X
X

Authorised: Rachel Jones

N/A

Page 4

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The proposal to federate Glan-yr-Afon Primary School with another Englishmedium primary school would not have a differential impact as the school will
continue to be apply the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.
Any future proposals would include an assessment on the accessibility of any
changes to school accommodation. This would take into account policies such
at the Equality Act 2010, TAN12: Design June 20019 as well as building
regulations such as BS8300, Part M and relevant Building Bulletins.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.6
Race
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?
Yes
White
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups
Asian / Asian British
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British
Other Ethnic Groups

No
X
X
X
X
X

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The proposal to federate Glan-yr-Afon Primary School with another Englishmedium primary school would not have a differential impact as the school will
continue to be apply the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.
Any future proposals would not have a differential impact upon one particular
ethnic group as the provision would be available to all.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.7
4.C.400

Religion, Belief or Non-Belief
Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 295

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 5

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?
Yes
Buddhist
Christian
Hindu
Humanist
Jewish
Muslim
Sikh
Other

No
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The proposal to federate Glan-yr-Afon Primary School with another Englishmedium primary school would not have a differential impact as the school will
continue to be apply the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.8
Sex
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women?
Yes
Men
Women

No
X
X

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The proposal to federate Glan-yr-Afon Primary School with another Englishmedium primary school would not have a differential impact as the school will
continue to admit children of both sexes.
Maintained primary school provision admits pupils of both sexes and any future
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 296

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 6

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
proposals would be developed on this basis.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.9
Sexual Orientation
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?
Yes
Bisexual
Gay Men
Gay Women/Lesbians
Heterosexual/Straight

No
X
X
X
X

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The proposal to federate Glan-yr-Afon Primary School with another Englishmedium primary school would not have a differential impact as the school will
continue to be apply the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.10 Welsh Language
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language?
Yes

No

N/A

Welsh Language

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The proposal to federate Glan-yr-Afon Primary School with another Englishmedium primary school would not have a differential impact on the Welsh
language.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 297

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 7

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Welsh-medium education is available at Ysgol Bro Eirwg and Ysgol Pen y Pil,
which service parts of Llanrumney, Rumney, Trowbridge and Old St Mellons.
Council officers monitor birth rates, the number of extra pupils that may come
from new housing and how many pupils wish to attend Welsh-medium schools.
This allows the Council to bring forward suitable plans to deal with any increase
in demand.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

4.
Consultation and Engagement
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities
Groups?
The proposal to federate Glan-yr-Afon Primary School with another Englishmedium primary school is subject to consultation with a range of stakeholders
including staff, parent, children.

5.

Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above]

Groups
Age
Disability
Gender Reassignment
Marriage & Civil
Partnership
Pregnancy & Maternity
Race
Religion/Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation
Welsh Language
Generic Over-Arching
[applicable to all the
above groups]
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Actions

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 298

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 8

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
6.
Further Action
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.
7.
Authorisation
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each
Service Area.
Completed By : Rosalie Phillips
Designation: School Organisation Planning
Approved By: Brett Andrewartha
Designation: SOP Team Manager
Service Area: Education
7.1

Date: February 2019

On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on
your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken
in the Council.

For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029
2087 2536 / 3262 or email equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 299

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2019
NEW SCHOOL PROVISION TO SERVE
PONTPRENNAU AND OLD ST MELLONS

PARTS

OF

EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT & SKILLS (COUNCILLOR SARAH
MERRY)
AGENDA ITEM: 6
Reason for this Report
1.

For Cabinet to note the proposal that St Mellons Church in Wales
Primary School would transfer to the new school site on the new housing
development at St Edeyrn’s (Local Development Plan Strategic Site G),
expand from 105 places to 210 places and extend its age range from 411 to 3-11 by incorporating a nursery for 48 part time places.

2.

For Cabinet to note the revenue implications and potential capital
implications arising from additional school provision, and potential VAT
implications that may arise from the current land ownership
arrangements and plans for the existing St Mellons Church in Wales
Primary School site.

Background
3.

At its meeting on 12 July 2018, the Council’s Cabinet agreed a
recommendation to hold public consultation on proposals to rationalise
English-medium primary school places in the Llanrumney area, including
a proposal to close Glan-yr-Afon Primary School in August 2019.

4.

In view of the responses received during the consultation and other
considerations, the Council’s Cabinet agreed at its meeting on 13
December 2018 that the proposal to close Glan yr Afon Primary School
from 31 August 2019 is not progressed.

5.

However the issue of surplus capacity in the Llanrumney area, with a
greater number of places in primary schools than children who wish to
attend those schools remains.

6.

At January 2018, there were 261 surplus places (19.4%) in English
medium primary schools serving the area. The number of surplus places
at Glan-yr-Afon Primary School was 140 (47.9%).

Page 301

Page 1 of 22

7.

The Cabinet therefore authorised officers to explore the viability of
modified proposals to the closure of Glan-yr-Afon Primary School, and to
bring a further report to Cabinet for consideration setting out details of
how the provision of community English-medium primary school places
in the Llanrumney area could be addressed.

8.

The report of 13 December 2018 set out that any future proposals
brought forward to ensure a better match between the supply of and
demand for English-medium places in the Llanrumney area would need
to consider:







The need to reduce the number of surplus English-medium primary
school places;
The organisation of primary school places in the Llanrumney area;
How high quality early years education provision could best be
provided and enhanced in the area;
How high quality primary education can be sustainably and
economically provided through leadership and governance
arrangements;
The impact of housing developments in the local and wider area,
including primary school provision to serve the new housing
development at St Edeyrns;
The financial implications.

New housing developments in Old St Mellons and Llanrumney
9.

A number of new housing developments have been proposed in
Llanrumney and in Old St Mellons in recent years which will increase the
number of children in the area seeking school places, and will impact on
the availability of school places

10.

The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance sets out the
circumstances in which the Council could seek s106 contributions from
developers towards school facilities. In order to achieve contributions
from developers, the Council would be required to evidence that any
obligation meets the following criteria:



Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
Directly related to the development; and
 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.
11.

S106 contributions would not allow the Council to invest in schools to
resolve existing needs that have been identified. Contributions can only
be sought when the schools local to a development will continue to be
fully subscribed, and there is a need to expand provision either by
expanding existing schools or building new schools. Land, building or
financial contributions must be directly proportionate to the needs arising
from a development.

12.

The Council’s Education Infrastructure Plan, included in the Deposit LDP
in 2013, highlights planned investment / development proposals and

Page 302

Page 2 of 22

identifies future infrastructure requirements based on Cardiff’s projected
level and distribution of growth.
13.

The St Edeyrn’s site, to the East of the Pontprennau Link Road and
entirely within Old St Mellons, was identified as a strategic housing site in
Cardiff’ Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006 – 2026. A new primary
school to serve the development was detailed in the Local Development
Plan as a policy requirement for essential infrastructure necessary to
support the development.

14.

Outline planning consent for the construction of up to 1,020 dwellings on
the St Edeyrn’s site was granted by the Council’s Planning Committee on
11 December 2013.

15.

A s.106 agreement negotiated with the developer of St Edeyrn’s in 2014
provides the Council with the following:




A site assigned within the development for a school;
A new build one form entry primary school or, subject to additional
resources being identified, a two form entry primary school to be
constructed by the developer;
Financial contributions ring-fenced towards the provision of additional
secondary school places within three miles of the development.

16.

To date, approximately 350 houses have been completed and are
occupied on the St Edeyrn’s development.

17.

A number of new housing developments have been proposed in
Llanrumney through the Cardiff Housing Partnership in recent years,
including:




the new housing development totalling 106 dwellings at Braunton
Crescent and Clevedon Road, following the demolition of 121
apartments;
the new housing development at the former Llanrumney Housing
Depot resulting in a net increase of 32 dwellings; and
a planning application proposing 98 dwellings on the Llanrumney
High School site received by the Council in October 2018.

Issues
Current Capacity/ schools serving the areas
18.

The Llanrumney area is served by Bryn Hafod, Glan-yr-Afon, Pen-yBryn, St Cadoc’s Catholic and St Mellon’s CiW English-medium Primary
Schools. Welsh medium provision to serve Llanrumney is available at
Ysgol Bro Eirwg and Ysgol Pen y Pil, which serve parts of Llanrumney,
Rumney, Trowbridge and Old St Mellons.

19.

Old St Mellons is served by Glan-yr-Afon, Pen-y-Bryn, Willowbrook,
Oakfield, St Cadoc’s Catholic, Bishop Childs CiW and St Mellon’s CiW
English-medium Primary Schools. Welsh medium provision to serve Old

Page 303

Page 3 of 22

St Mellons is available at Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Pen Y Groes, Ysgol
Bro Eirwg and Ysgol Pen y Pil, which serve parts of Llanrumney,
Rumney, Trowbridge, Pontprennau, Old St Mellons and Pentwyn.
Establishing local demand for primary school places
20.

Projections based upon NHS data received in 2018, the latest year for
which data are available, indicate that the number of English-medium
community pupils entering Reception from existing housing is not
expected to reach the peak intake of September 2015 and 2016.

21.

When considering likely demand for places across the area a number of
factors have been used to inform projections and forecasts, including:




22.

Forecasts are prepared based on:





23.

Recent and historic populations known to be living in each area
utilising NHS data;
Recent and historic Numbers on roll taken from verified PLASC (Pupil
Level Annual Census) for Cardiff schools;
Recent and historic percentages of children attending Englishmedium and Welsh-medium community and faith places.

current residential populations;
likely populations from the future residential developments currently in
construction and proposed;
likely demand if take up patterns were to remain consistent with the
most recent years applying these trends to the relevant populations
entering primary education in future years;
Potential changes to take up patterns which may increase demand in
one type of provision but reduce another.

Full information regarding projections and forecasts prepared relevant to
the area and the methodology used to establish likely demand are set
out in Appendix 1.

Summary forecasts of demand for places at entry to Reception
24.

The work undertaken to establish the likely demand for places in Englishmedium primary schools across the Llanrumney and Old St Mellons
areas shows that there will be an overall projected surplus of
approximately 63 Reception places in the area based on existing
housing. However, if the pattern of take up of places in recent years
continues, where a significant proportion of pupils in Llanrumney take up
places elsewhere, projected surplus is expected to be greater than 63
places.

25.

A map indicating the location of, and catchment areas of, Englishmedium primary schools is attached as Appendix 2. A map indicating the
location of, and catchment areas of, Welsh-medium primary schools is
attached as Appendix 3.

Page 304

Page 4 of 22

26.

When compared to the existing supply of places at Reception age,
projections for years 2019 to 2021 indicate:




27.

a surplus of 29 English-medium community primary school places in
2018/19, rising to a surplus of 32 in 2020/21, in the combined
catchment areas of Bryn Hafod, Glan Yr Afon and Pen Y Bryn
primary schools, should the take-up of places continue at existing
levels;
a fluctuating surplus of 21, 47 and 31 English-medium community and
faith school places in years 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21, in the St
Mellons Church in Wales, Oakfield and Willowbrook primary school
catchment areas.

This excludes the yield of pupils from the St Edeyrn’s development which
is projected at an average of 31 pupils per year group when the
development is complete.

New build 1 FE primary school on the St Edeyrn’s development
28.

A new school is being provided by the site developer as part of the
planning agreement with the Council to meet the needs of the local
community. The primary purpose of new school provision is to serve
pupils who would be resident within the development – the new provision
being necessary and directly proportionate to the projected yield of pupils
from the development.

29.

At the time of establishment, the housing development would not be fully
complete. It is anticipated that the housing development would be
complete and all dwellings occupied between 2021 and 2023.

30.

The housing developer for the St Edeyrn’s development proposes to
construct a new one form entry school building in a single phase to serve
the development. This would provide sufficient places for the number of
pupils expected to reside on the development who require places in an
English-medium primary school, when the planned 1,020 dwellings are
completed.

31.

In order to ensure a suitable primary school site able to not only
accommodate a school to serve the development but also of sufficient
size to be ‘future-proofed’ and able to sustain a two-form entry primary
school, the s106 agreement for the St Edeyrn’s development allows for a
site of c2 hectares in size.

32.

This school site is therefore sufficient in size for a two form entry primary
school with on-site pitch, and would enable the expansion of the school
on its existing site in the event of further housing.

33.

The new build school provides a timely opportunity to consider
reorganisation of school provision serving the community of Old St
Mellons and adjacent communities. The catchment areas of existing
primary schools serving Old St Mellons extend into other communities.

Page 305

Page 5 of 22

Long term options
34.

It is proposed that St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School is
transferred to the new school building and site on the St Edeyrn’s
development, and expanded from 105 places (0.5 forms of entry) to 210
places (1 form of entry) plus 48 part-time nursery places.

35.

Whilst the school is fully subscribed at present and has been for a
number of years, small schools such as St Mellons Church in Wales
Primary School face significant financial challenges in balancing their
budget. The annual revenue funding allocation for each individual school
comprises a combination of fixed lump sum elements and per pupil
funding amounts based on the number of pupils within the school.

36.

The proposed transfer and expansion would provide a sustainable
balance in the supply of and demand for places on the St Edeyrn’s
development, and through reducing the overall number of school places
within the Llanrumney area would reduce surplus and improve the
balance in the supply of and demand for places in Llanrumney.

37.

Pupils on the roll of St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School at the
time of transfer (1 September 2021) would remain on the roll unless they
wish to transfer to an alternative school. The school could therefore
expect to have approximately 90 pupils on roll in years 1-6, in addition to
the September 2021 Reception and Nursery class intakes.

38.

The school would therefore be well placed to increase its Number on
Roll, admitting pupils from the St Edeyrn’s development, the St Mellons
community and other areas subject to parental preference and
availability of places.

39.

The Cabinet Report of 13 December 2018 proposed to reduce the
capacity of Glan-yr-Afon Primary School from 292 places (1.4 forms of
entry) to 210 places (1 form of entry) from September 2020. This would
reduce the number of surplus places serving the Llanrumney area.

40.

Consultation on the 2020/ 2021 admission arrangements for community
schools, including a proposal to reduce the Published Admission Number
(PAN) from 41 to 30 places for Glan-yr-Afon Primary School, took place
in January and February 2019.

41.

The Cabinet will receive a report on School Admission Arrangements on
21 March 2019 indicating that there were no responses to the
consultation that raised any concern about the proposed reduction, and it
is therefore recommended within that report that the arrangements,
including the PAN of 30 for Glan Yr Afon Primary School, are approved.

42.

The combined transfer of St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School
and reduction in Published Admission Number of Glan-Yr-Afon Primary
School would reduce the number of surplus places serving Llanrumney
by 187 places (0.9 Forms of entry).

Page 306

Page 6 of 22

43.

As set out in the School Organisation Code (011/2018), the governing
bodies of voluntary schools may make proposals to make a regulated
alternation to their school. The proposed transfer, increase in capacity
and expansion of the age range of St Mellons Church is Wales Primary
School would constitute a regulated alteration. The Governing Body of
the school would therefore be required to undertake a public consultation
prior to the publication of any proposal.

44.

The Governing Body of the school has agreed that the consultation
process required for the proposed regulated alterations be supported by
the Council. Following consultation, the Governing Body would be
required to issue a consultation report, responding to issues raising
during the consultation, and may then proceed to publish its statutory
proposals.

Proposed changes to admission arrangements and catchment areas
45.

The Published Admission Number for St Mellons Church in Wales
Primary School is set at 15 places, based on the accommodation
currently available. If the school were to transfer to the new buildings on
the St Edeyrn’s site, the Published Admission Number would increase to
30 places at entry. The Admission Number for the new Nursery provision
would be set at 48 part time places.

46.

School Admissions arrangements for Voluntary Controlled schools are
normally administered by Local Authorities. Arrangements for the
admission of pupils to St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School were
delegated to the school many years ago and this has been unchanged
since.

47.

The Governing Body of the school has agreed that the Council take back
responsibility for admission arrangements, and has requested a
transition period of three years from the time of the proposal being
implemented in September 2021, during which 15 of the 30 places at
entry to Reception year would be administered by the Council, as
Admissions Authority, using the school’s existing oversubscription
criteria.

48.

The existing oversubscription criteria of St Mellons Church in Wales
Primary School gives highest priority, following the admission of Looked
After Children, to siblings of children in attendance at the school,
followed by children resident within the community of Old St Mellons.
Although the oversubscription criteria does not refer to a designated
catchment area, the high priority given to children resident within the
community of Old St Mellons, and inclusion of distance from the school
as a tie-breaker, provides assurance that in the event of the school being
highly subscribed sufficient priority would be given to children resident on
the St Edeyrn’s development.

49.

During the transition period, the remaining 15 places per year group
would administered by the Council in accordance with the admissions

Page 307

Page 7 of 22

policy applicable to community schools in Cardiff for whom the Council is
the Admissions Authority.
50.

At the end or the transition period, from 2024/25, all places at the school
would be administered by the Council in line with the admissions policy
of community schools in Cardiff.

51.

Consideration would need to be given to the revision of catchment areas
served by St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School and neighbouring
schools in Llanrumney at the appropriate time.

52.

Consultation on admission arrangements for the 2021/2022 school year
would take place between 1 September 2019 and 1 March 2020 in
accordance with the requirements of the Welsh Government’s
Admissions Code.

53.

There are no plans to change the Council’s policy on the admission of
children to community schools as a result of this proposal. In accordance
with the requirements of the Admissions Code, Admissions
arrangements for the 2021/2022 school year would be subject to
consultation in the period between 1 September 2019 and 1 March 2020,
and determined 15 April 2020.

54.

Detailed information regarding admission arrangements is contained in
the Council’s Admission to Schools booklet, and this information can be
viewed on the Council’s website (www.cardiff.gov.uk).

Land matters
55.

The legal status of school sites of Voluntary Controlled schools, such as
St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School, is that the school site is
owned by the relevant Trust / Diocese and playing fields are owned by
the Local Authority.

56.

If the proposal were to proceed, valuation of the existing school site
would need to be undertaken. In transferring from the site, the net value
of the site would be deemed to accrue to the trustees and used as their
capital contribution to the build cost of the new school.

Impact of new schools on existing primary school provision
57.

Whilst the provision of a new one form entry primary school would
provide additional school places in high quality accommodation, this may
have a differential impact on other local schools.

58.

The establishment of new school provision, particularly in new build
facilities, inevitably attracts pupils from other areas. This could
significantly impact the rolls of existing schools. Careful consideration
must therefore be given to the timing, scale and type of provision
established in order to avoid destabilising or undermining other schools.

Page 308

Page 8 of 22

59.

At the time of the first pupils being admitted to the new school buildings
at St Edeyrn’s there could be significant surplus capacity within a building
capable of accommodating up to 210 primary school pupils and 48 parttime nursery pupils. The establishment of a new school in any area
where the local demand for places would not immediately fill the school
would either result in surplus places within the new school or it may
attract pupils from other areas to attend the school, and thus result in
surplus places elsewhere.

60.

The arrangements for establishing new schools in Cardiff as ‘starter
schools’ would normally allow admissions to Nursery and Reception
years only, at the time of opening. Pupils would not be admitted to Year
groups 1-6 at the time of opening. The school would grow and admit
pupils to these year groups over a seven year period. This limits the
impact of new school provision on neighbouring schools and allows
stable growth of a new school.

Transfer of St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School pupils and growth
of new school
61.

The transfer of St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School into the new
build school would allow for approximately 15-18 pupils in each year from
Years 1-6 to transfer from the existing St Mellons site to the new St
Edeyrn’s site.

62.

The numbers of pupils enrolled in the current year groups who are
assumed to transfer to the school in September 2021, if the proposal
were to proceed, are as follows:

Current Year group
(2018/19 school year)
Reception
Year 1
Year 2
Year 3
Year 4
Year 5
Year 6

Year group as at
September 2021
Year 3
Year 4
Year 5
Year 6
Year 7
Year 8
Year 9

Pupils enrolled at 20
November 2018
18
18
17
16
N/a - not transferring
N/a - not transferring
N/a - not transferring

63.

The Reception Year intake in September 2021 would admit all pupils
from the St Edeyrn’s development and places would also be taken up by
pupils from other parts of Old St Mellons and elsewhere.

64.

The proposed transfer of pupils to take up some of the places in Years 16 would therefore mitigate the immediate impact of the proposal on
existing schools and provide an opportunity to admit pupils from the new
development to some other year groups at an earlier stage than if
admissions to all year groups were phased over seven years.

65.

Whilst the new school buildings are provided to serve the new
development, this does not prevent places being taken up at the new

Page 309

Page 9 of 22

school ahead of the development being complete. In accordance with the
Welsh Government’s statutory School Admissions Code, the Council is
unable to either restrict admission to a school to those pupils living within
the designated catchment area or to reserve places in a school for any
pupils who may subsequently move into the area.
66.

It is therefore an inevitable risk that some families moving into new
housing on the St Edeyrn’s development beyond September 2021 may
be unable to attend the school.

67.

In November 2018, there were 63 Pupils of primary school age (Nursery
– Year 6) who were resident on the St Edeyrn’s development. These
pupils attend 24 primary schools throughout the city. At this time, the
maximum number of pupils attending a specific school was seven. The
majority of these schools enrolled three pupils or fewer.

68.

It is therefore considered that there are two potential options for the
admission of pupils to the expanded St Mellons Church in Wales Primary
School from September 2021.


Option 1 - The increase of the Admission Number to be implemented
on a phased basis; with Reception admitting up to 30 pupils and
years 1-6 retaining an Admission Number of 15 in September 2021.
Implementing the increased admission number on a phased basis
would allow the school to retain its existing class structure of mixedage classes in older age groups. This would also limit the impact of
the proposal on other schools, as children would be unable to
transfer from other schools into these age groups at the school.
However, this would prevent primary school pupils resident in St
Edeyrn’s who are above Reception age at September 2021 from
taking up places at the local primary school. Local pupils above
Reception age would be required to take up places at schools
elsewhere and it is likely that many journeys to school for those
resident on the development would be by inactive modes of travel.



Option 2 - The increase of the Admission Number to be implemented
throughout the school from September 2021.
Implementing the increased admission number throughout the school
would not allow the school to retain its existing class structure of
mixed-age classes in older age groups. The impact of the proposal
on other schools would be greater as children would be able to
transfer from other schools into these age groups at the school.
This would, however, allow primary school pupils resident in St
Edeyrn’s who are above Reception age at September 2021 to taking
up places at the local primary school. As the number of pupils
attending other primary schools does not exceed seven per school,
the effect would be limited.

Page 310

Page 10 of 22

The expected completion of development between 2021 and 2023
could mean that a greater number of children moving to the
development would benefit directly from being able to attend the
school under this option.
69.

As Option 2 would better meet the needs of the community that the
school would serve, it is proposed that the Admission Number of 30
places in Years Reception – 6 is implemented.

Educational benefits of proposed transfer of St Mellons Church in Wales
Primary School
70.

The following benefits would be expected to result from this proposal:








Sufficient capacity to meet the English-medium community pupil
demand within the St Edeyrn’s development;
Pupils will be educated in high quality, modern buildings which will be
able to support the delivery of a broad and balanced curriculum;
When compared with the existing school, the scale of a one form
entry primary school permits greater flexibility and opportunity for
pupils owing to an extended, more enhanced and secure financial
resource base;
A one form entry school, future-proofed to allow for potential
expansion to a two form entry school, can provide a greater degree of
stability at all levels of leadership including maintaining a full and
stable complement of school governors;
The ability to employ more teaching and support staff would allow the
one form entry school to cover a wider range of curriculum expertise
than a half form entry school.

Design and build of new school
71.

New schools in Cardiff have in recent years been funded wholly by
Cardiff Council or have been part funded by Cardiff Council and Welsh
Government. Tendering and procurement of new schools has been
undertaken by the Council, and contractors appointed to build new
schools on the Council’s behalf.

72.

The new primary school on the St Edeyrn’s development is to be
procured by the developer and construction is proposed to be completed
in Summer 2021.

73.

The Council has worked closely with the housing developer and its
partners to deliver a clear vision and design brief which will enable
contractors to design a school which will meet the Council’s
requirements.

74.

An optimised design approach has been adopted for the design of Cardiff
primary schools, applying good practice and lessons learnt from new
builds in recent years, which in turn provides efficiencies in resourcing
and operationally.

Page 311

Page 11 of 22

75.

The design supports strengthening the role of schools at the heart of
their community through co-location of community services within school
sites and integrated services where appropriate.

Community facilities
76.

The section 106 agreement with the developer allows for a new
community facility to be built which forms part of the proposed primary
school building at the St Edeyrn’s development. The positioning of the
facility, size, layout and specification are to be finalised. It is proposed
that the facility will be physically linked to the school.

77.

St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School would benefit during school
hours from being able to access the community hall, subject to
availability.

78.

The management arrangements for the facility would need to be agreed
with the Governing Body of the school at the appropriate time. The
management of the facility cannot incur net costs for the school.

Implications for secondary school provision
79.

The St Edeyrn’s development falls within the catchment areas of Eastern
High and Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Bro Edern. The development is also
served by St Teilo’s Church in Wales Primary School, Corpus Christi
High School and St Illtyd’s Catholic High School, although admissions to
these schools give priority to criteria that are faith-based and/ or based
on attendance at a school of the same faith.

80.

Demand from within the catchment area for English-medium places at
entry to secondary education at Eastern High was below the Published
Admission Number off 240 places for a number of years but has recently
increased.

81.

Eastern High was oversubscribed in Year 7 at the start of the 2018/19
academic year, and in the initial round of allocations for the 2019/20
intake all places were offered to children resident with the catchment
area of the school. Whilst the pattern of parental preferences has
changed recently, there is no significant increase in population projected
in existing housing in the school’s catchment area.

82.

St Teilo’s Church in Wales High school offers 240 places at entry to year
7, including 160 foundation places and 80 open places. The school has
also been fully subscribed in recent years.

83.

As many pupils from St Mellons Church in Wales primary school
currently promote at age 11 to St Teilo’s Church in Wales High School,
this would be expected to continue. Children who meet lower
oversubscription criteria for admission to the school may be unable to be
admitted to the school but could be accommodated in community
schools elsewhere in Cardiff.

Page 312

Page 12 of 22

84.

Corpus Christi Catholic High School offers 215 places at entry to year 7.
The school has been fully subscribed in recent years.

85.

St Illtyd’s Catholic High School offers 176 places at entry to year 7. The
school has also been fully subscribed in recent years.

86.

However, as the admissions arrangements for faith-based schools
serving the area are determined by the Governing Body of each school,
the arrangements that prioritise the admission of children attending a
Church in Wales primary school may be subject to change.

87.

Based on recent trends, demand for Welsh-medium places at entry to
secondary education within the catchment area of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg
Bro Edern is not expected to exceed the 180 places before September
2024, the latest date for which secondary catchment projections are
available.

88.

Combined demand across the three Welsh-medium high school
catchment areas is projected to exceed overall capacity at Year 7 in
2021/2022.

89.

Proposals will be brought forward in good time to ensure that there are
sufficient places to meet the demand for English-medium places within
the Eastern High School catchment area, and to meet the demand for
Welsh-medium places in each Welsh-medium secondary school
catchment area.

90.

The English-medium and Welsh-medium secondary school catchment
areas will face challenges without re-organisation of provision. The large
scale housing developments underway and proposed in the North of the
city of the will require additional secondary school places.

91.

Any proposals brought forward to expand secondary school provision to
meet the demand from additional housing could impact on the existing
organisation and pattern of schools.

92.

Officers are monitoring birth rates, the yield from proposed housing and
the patterns of take up in English-medium, Welsh-medium and Faith
provision at primary and secondary age with a view to bringing forward
appropriate plans to meet the increased demand.

Future use of current St Mellons CiW Primary School site
93.

The proposed transfer of St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School
from its current site would allow the Council to investigate options to
utilise the vacated buildings from September 2021.

94.

The school buildings are rated as Category C (Exhibiting major
defects/Not operating as intended) for overall condition and Category B
(Satisfactory - Performing as intended but does not effectively support
the delivery of the curriculum in some areas) for suitability as a primary
school.

Page 313

Page 13 of 22

Local Member Consultation
95.

Llanrumney members welcomed proposals that would balance the
supply of and demand for places across Llanrumney and which seek to
increase school rolls in the area.

96.

Local Members for Pontprennau and Old St Mellons welcomed the
Council bringing forward a proposal for a new school to serve the St
Edeyrn’s development and supported the proposal for St Mellons Church
in Wales Primary School to transfer to the new school site.

Reason for Recommendations
97.

To respond to demand for additional English-medium primary school
places to serve Pontprennau and Old St Mellons.

Impact of the proposal on the Welsh Language
98.

It is not anticipated that there will be any negative impact on the Welsh
Language, as a result of this proposal.

99.

The Council works closely and constructively with partners on its Welsh
Education Forum, which includes representatives of nursery, primary,
secondary and further education, childcare, RhAG and the Welsh
Government. The Forum actively informs the planning of Welsh-medium
places, to continue to drive the Council’s plan to sustainably increase the
number of learners within Welsh-medium schools and those learning
Welsh in English-medium schools.

100.

The Council, and its partners on the Welsh Education Forum, are
committed to driving the increase in number of pupils educated through
the medium of Welsh, to meet the targets within Cardiff’s WESP, and to
meet the targets set out in the Welsh Government’s Cymraeg 2050
strategy.

101.

The Council monitors birth rates, the yield from proposed housing and
the patterns of take-up in Welsh-medium provision at primary and
secondary age, with a view to bringing forward appropriate plans to meet
any increased demand.

102.

The Council must ensure that the expansion of school provision is
brought forward in a strategic and timely manner, which does not
compromise existing provision. Expanding Welsh-medium primary school
provision would, inevitably, have an impact on the take-up of places in
other schools, and in turn on the ability of schools to balance budgets
and to attract or retain staff.

103.

The Council’s aspirations for increasing the number of Welsh speakers,
and the Welsh Government’s Cymraeg 2050, propose a significant
change. Cymraeg 2050 sets national targets of educating 40% of
learners in Welsh-medium schools, and a further 30% of learners being
educated in English-medium schools being fluent in Welsh. At present,

Page 314

Page 14 of 22

c17% of Cardiff children entering primary education are educated in
Welsh-medium schools or classes.
104.

This proposal does not seek to change the number of Welsh-medium
primary or secondary school places available in the area.

105.

The provision of 105 additional English-medium primary school places at
St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School, compared to the reduction
of 82 English-medium places at Glan Yr Afon Primary School, would
mean that that the overall proportion of Welsh-medium places city wide is
marginally reduced. The St Edeyrn’s development will continue to be
served by Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Pen y Groes.

106.

The potential provision of additional Welsh-medium primary school
places on the St Edeyrn’s school site, within the catchment area of and in
close proximity to Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Pen Y Groes at this time
would likely inhibit the growth of Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Pen Y Groes,
and has therefore been discounted.

107.

In November 2017, 17% of primary age children and 13% of secondary
age children resident on the St Edeyrn’s development were enrolled in
Welsh-medium schools in Cardiff. This is broadly consistent with citywide averages.

108.

The teaching of Welsh within an English medium setting is subject to the
requirements of the National Curriculum. This would not change with the
transfer of the school to new build accommodation.

Learner Travel Arrangements
109.

There are no plans to change the Council’s transport policy for school
children.

110.

Any pupils affected by the proposals would be offered the same support
with transport as is provided throughout Cardiff in line with the same
criteria that apply across Cardiff.

111.

There are no children transported by the Council to St Mellons Church in
Wales Primary School at present and it is considered unlikely that many
Llanrumney pupils, if any, would qualify for free transport to the new
school.

112.

The Council’s transport policy for school children can be viewed on the
Council’s website www.cardiff.gov.uk/schooltransport.

Community impact
113.

The following are taken into account when considering a proposal: Public
Open Space, parkland, noise and traffic congestion. Officers will work
with schools and any community group to make sure that the proposal
avoids negative impacts if possible.

Page 315

Page 15 of 22

114.

A key objective of the Council is to enable third party access the sports
facilities at schools, on a sustainable financial basis. Welsh
Government’s aim for shared facilities in community-focussed school are
to:








Provide opportunities for the local community and sports
organisations to participate in sport and physical activity for health
improvement and development of their skills, particularly amongst
low participant groups;
Operate in line with the national agenda for sport taking into account
nationally adopted strategies;
Generate positive attitudes in sport and physical activity by young
people and reducing the dropout rate in sports participation with age;
Increase the number of people of all ages and abilities participating in
sport and physical activity including people with disabilities;
Use the facilities to encourage the range, quality and number of
school sports club links and to stimulate competition that is inclusive
of young people and adults;
Provide affordable access to the facilities and to be self-financing and
cost neutral in the first instance, generating sustainable income for
the school in the future.

Wellbeing of Future Generations
115.

In line with the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act, the Council is
committed to providing local schools for local children, together with
encouraging use of sustainable modes to travel to schools, such as
walking and cycling. Each school project takes into account key transport
issues when they are being designed and the firm need to provide safer
routes to encourage walking, cycling and other active travel modes to
schools.

116.

With the current investments in ICT across the city, student movements
may be further reduced as mobile technology develops further allowing
for flexible teaching methods. These have the potential to result in a
more efficient Travel Plan and further contribute to the Council’s targets
to reduce its carbon emissions.

117.

In order to maximise the long-term impact of this significant investment,
any design taken forward in this proposal would be developed to ensure
the delivery of high quality modern facilities that are able to respond to
the current pupil population needs and support the delivery of effective
teaching and learning methods. They would also incorporate the
flexibility to take account of changes depending on need as time
progresses, such as changing demographics and pupil numbers,
changing curriculum and changing types of pupil needs.

Scrutiny Consideration
118.

The Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee consider this
issue on 12 March 2019. The letter from the Chair of the Committee is
attached at Appendix 5.

Page 316

Page 16 of 22

Financial Implications
119.

This report outlines a proposal to transfer, and expand, St Mellons CiW
Primary School to a new site within the St Edeyrn’s development. This
transfer will give rise to revenue implications and, potentially, capital
implications. Regarding revenue, it will be necessary to ensure that the
annual budget allocated to the school reflects the size and structure of
the school. School budgets are predominantly predicated on pupil
numbers and, therefore, it will be necessary to increase the school
budget in line with the annual growth in pupil numbers. To enable this to
be achieved, without financial detriment to other individual school
budgets, it will be necessary to factor the projected growth in pupil
numbers into the Council’s annual budget setting process and medium
term financial planning. It is not currently anticipated that there will be an
impact in terms of school transport, however this will need to be kept
under review as the school grows.

120.

Regarding capital implications, further work is required to fully assess the
likely cost of the new school building and whether the s106 contributions
sufficiently cover the cost of this development. Should it be determined
that the cost exceeds the agreed level of contribution, it will be necessary
to consider the financial implications that arise from this. Should the
Council be required to make a contribution towards the overall cost, this
will need to be funded from within existing approved resources or
factored into future iterations of the Council’s Capital Programme. As part
of the further evaluation that is required, it will be necessary to consider
VAT implications arising from the current land ownership arrangements
and plans for the existing school site. Should there be any cost
associated with the required VAT treatment, these will need to be
included within the overall financial envelope of the scheme.
Furthermore, the ongoing ownership and maintenance responsibilities
will need to be assessed and factored into the overall capital cost of the
scheme and ongoing revenue requirements.

Legal Implications
121.

Under the Education Act 1996, the Council has a general statutory
obligation to promote high standards of education and to provide
sufficient school places for pupils of compulsory school age.

122.

The governing body of a voluntary school may make proposals to make
regulated alterations to the school. The proposals set out in the report in
respect of St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School are regulated
alterations under Schedule 2 of the School Standards and Organisation
(Wales) Act 2013.

123.

The governing body is required, prior to publishing its proposals, to
undertake a consultation on those proposals in accordance with section
48 of that Act and the School Organisation Code 2018. The Code
contains a mixture of legal requirements and guidance, and includes
factors to be taken into account in developing and considering proposals

Page 317

Page 17 of 22

and the consultation process to be followed. The consultation period
must be at least 42 days, including at least 20 school days.
124.

The Council, as the local authority responsible for maintaining the school,
is one of the statutory consultees with whom the governing body must
consult on its proposals.

125.

Following the public consultation, the governing body will be required to
issue a consultation report, responding to issues raising during the
consultation; and may then proceed to publish its statutory proposals. If
no objections are received during the statutory objection period (28 days)
following publication of the proposals, the governing body may
implement its proposals. If, however, objections are received, the
proposals will be referred to the Council for determination. The Cabinet
is responsible for determining any such proposals referred to the Council.

126.

The Council is the Admissions Authority for voluntary controlled schools
(although it can delegate this responsibility to the governing body, with its
agreement, or revoke any such delegation). Catchment areas and
published admission numbers of schools are part of the Council’s
admission arrangements and therefore the statutory consultation process
set out within the School Admission Code and the Education
(Determination of Admission Arrangements) (Wales) Regulations 2006
would need to be followed if, following consultation, these proposals are
taken forward.

127.

The admission arrangements determined by the Council as Admissions
Authority for a designated religious school may make provision for faith
based oversubscription criteria, subject to compliance with the Code and
equalities legislation.

128.

In considering the proposals, the Council must have regard to its public
sector equality duties under the Equality Act 2010 (including specific
Welsh public sector duties). Pursuant to these legal duties, Councils
must in making decisions have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate
unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster
good relations on the basis of protected characteristics. The Protected
characteristics are: age, gender reassignment, sex, race – including
ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality, disability, pregnancy and
maternity, marriage and civil partnership, sexual orientation, religion or
belief – including lack of belief. Due regard should be given to the
outcomes of the Equalities Impact Assessment.

129.

The Council must also be mindful of the Welsh Language (Wales)
Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards and consider the
impact of its decisions upon the Welsh language.

130.

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the
Council to consider how the proposed decision will contribute towards
meeting its well being objectives (set out in the Corporate Plan).
Members must also be satisfied that the proposed decision complies with
the sustainable development principle, which requires that the needs of

Page 318

Page 18 of 22

the present are met without compromising the ability of future
generations to meet their own needs.
HR Implications
131.

The proposed increase in pupil numbers of St Mellons Church in Wales
Primary School will require the Governing Body and Senior Leadership
Team to plan for workforce requirements in readiness for the expansion.
HR People Services will provide advice, support and guidance to the
Governing Body for this in line with the SOP HR Framework. Where
there are new vacancies which arise as a consequence of an increase in
the numbers on roll, this will provide opportunities for any candidates
within the redeployment pool.

132.

As the proposal also includes the relocation of the school, this will require
high levels of staff and trade union consultation; clear communication
plans regarding the arrangements for the transition from one site to
another; in addition to staff involvement in the development of building
specifications or designs.

Transportation
133.

The Council’s Local Development Plan (2006-2026) includes a target of
50% of all journeys to be made by sustainable transport. Minimising the
proportion of school journeys made by car and maximising opportunities
for travel to school by active and sustainable modes can make an
important contribution to achieving this target and reducing pressures on
the transport network at peak times. Increasing travel to school by active
modes will have a positive impact on children’s health and wellbeing and
will support the delivery of key actions and outcomes under Goal 5 the
Council’s Child Friendly City Strategy (2018), which relates to ensuring
access to safe outdoor environments for formal and informal play,
walking, cycling and scooting and active travel to school.

134.

The Council’s current Corporate Plan includes a commitment to every
school in Cardiff developing an Active Travel Plan. Such a plan will
identify actions by the school to support and encourage active travel to
school and also any improvements to on-site and off-site infrastructure
required to facilitate active journeys. .

135.

The provision of new schools and the relocation of existing schools
provides a clear opportunity to address travel behaviour in the context of
a new setting. The Council’s approach to this for the new St Mellons
Church in Wales primary school will need to address the following
issues.

136.

The new school site is located further away from the homes of most of
the existing pupils than St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School.
There are 26 current pupils who live within one mile of the new school
site while 89 pupils (of whom 8 live outside of catchment) live over one
mile away.

Page 319

Page 19 of 22

137.

Data from the annual Hands Up survey (2017) for St Mellons Church in
Wales Primary School indicates that 43% of pupils were driven to school
by car, 38% of pupils walked, 5% parked and walked and 2% cycled.
Only 2% travelled by bus.

138.

Given that more pupils will live further away from the new school than the
existing site, some parents may feel a greater need to drive their children
to school. However, it will not be possible to drive directly to the site as
vehicular access to the site via Bridge Road will not be permitted. This is
because, as part of the new housing development, access to the site via
Bridge Road will be restricted to buses only via a bus gate.

139.

The only other driving route to the site from Llanrumney would be via a
lengthy detour, along Newport Road, Southern Way, the A48 and the
A4232 Pentwyn Link Road. This would be neither convenient for parents
nor sustainable.

140.

The lack of an easy driving option will thus make walking to school the
most practical option for the Llanrumney-based pupils who live nearer to
the new school site. For this reason, it is essential that good walking
routes are available between Llanrumney and the new school site and
that every effort is made to facilitate travel to the site from Llanrumney by
sustainable modes.

Walking Routes
141.

In terms of off-site infrastructure, the new school site is linked to the
Llanrumney area by a pedestrian route which follows a section of Bridge
Road and Ruperra Close before connecting to Ty Winch Road. Works to
complete the safe walking route from the proposed new school site to
Llanrumney are due to be implemented in the near future and will be in
place by the time that the new school building is open in September
2021.

142.

The master plan for the St Edeyrn’s development includes active travel
links to the proposed school site. As the development is relatively
compact, the school will be within a reasonable walking distance for most
residents. Measures to deter residents from driving to the school will
need to be built into the design of the access arrangements for the new
school. The Council’s transport team will work closely with colleagues
within the Planning and Education teams to develop the right solutions
and support the development of the site travel plan which will incorporate
and Active Travel Plan.

Active Travel Plan
143.

The Active Travel Plan will be developed in conjunction with the planning
design and delivery of the new school facility and is likely to be made a
condition of the planning consent.

144.

Officers from the transport team will work closely with colleagues within
the planning and education teams to develop the Active Travel Plan and

Page 320

Page 20 of 22

to ensure it is fully tailored to the setting of the school and its future
needs. Development of the plan is likely to include the following activities


Early engagement with the school’s headteacher, governing body
and ward councillors to identify key issues and potential solutions



Engagement with parents
personalised travel planning



Identification of essential infrastructure within the school site to
support active travel, such as bicycle and scooter stands



Specification of supporting off-site engineering measures to
facilitate walking and cycling to the site



Support from the Council’s Road Safety Team to deliver active
travel-supporting activities including national standards cycle
training, Junior Road Safety Officers, Kerbcraft and Streetwise,
and working with Welsh Cycling Go Ride team to deliver cycling
skills



Encouraging and supporting the school to implement walking
buses

of

pupils

including

help

with

145.

As the new school site will be a greater distance away than the existing
school for many pupils, a number of parents of Llanrumney-based pupils
may want to drive their children to the new school. It may, therefore, be
necessary to consider the introduction of parking restrictions on Bridge
Road to mitigate problems with congestion and nuisance parking in the
area at school start and finish times. These matters need to be
considered as part of design of the school and associated highway
infrastructure and as part of the Active Travel Plan.

146.

Any on-site car parking should not exceed limits included in the Council’s
adopted parking standards included in the Managing Transport Impacts
Supplementary Planning Guidance (2018).

147.

Parking restrictions will be implemented within the immediate vicinity of
the site, where this is necessary to prevent problem parking and for
safety reasons.

Equality Impact Assessment
148.

An Equality Impact Assessment on this proposal has been carried out.
The assessment concluded that this proposal would not adversely affect
a particular group in society (details of the Equality Impact Assessment
can be seen at Appendix 4).

Page 321

Page 21 of 22

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Cabinet is recommended to:
1.

note the proposal for St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School to
transfer to the new school site on the new housing development at St
Edeyrn’s (Local Development Plan Strategic Site G), expand from 105
places to 210 places and extend its age range from 4-11 to 3-11 by
incorporating a nursery for 48 part time places.

2.

note that the statutory consultation process is to be undertaken by the
school governing body, and instruct officers to provide all reasonable
assistance in this regard.

3.

agree, in principle, to the provision of the new school site on the new
housing development at St Edeyrn’s, subject to appropriate terms being
agreed, with advice from the Section 151 Officer and Director of
Governance and Legal Services; and

4.

authorise the Director of Education & Lifelong Learning to formally
respond on behalf of the Council to the public consultation issued by the
school governing body in due course.

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER

NICK BATCHELAR
Director of Education & Lifelong
Learning
15 March 2019

The following appendices are attached:
Appendix 1: Projections and forecasts
Appendix 2: English-medium primary school catchment areas
Appendix 3: Welsh-medium primary school catchment areas
Appendix 4: Equality Impact Assessment
Appendix 5: Letter from Chair of Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee

Page 322

Page 22 of 22

Appendix 1

Projections and Forecasts
Establishing local demand for English-medium school places in Llanrumney
and Old St Mellons
In order to calculate the likely demand for the Llanrumney and Old St Mellons areas,
historic trends specific to the established school catchment areas have been used.
The following paragraphs give details of these catchment areas, the data used and
the methodology applied.
The geographical units that are most suitable to analyse the recent and future demand
for English-medium primary school places in the combined areas of Llanrumney and
Old St Mellons are the discrete catchment areas of Bryn Hafod, Glan-yr-Afon,
Oakfield, Pen Y Bryn, Willowbrook and St Mellons CiW Primary Schools (attached as
Appendix 2).
Projected demand takes account of the recent proportionate demand for places and
pre-school population data supplied by the NHS. Forecast demand considers these
data and factors in other contextual information.

Page 323

Primary school capacity and take up of places in the Llanrumney and Old St
Mellons areas
Table 1 below/ overleaf sets out the numbers of pupils on roll in English-medium
primary schools serving the Llanrumney and Old St Mellons areas and the level of
surplus capacity at each school at January 2018 (most recent verified school census
data).
Table 1 – Number on Roll and total surplus capacity – Reception to Year 6
(PLASC January 2018)
Surplus % Surplus

School

R

1

2

3

4

5

6

Total

Capacity

Bryn Hafod Primary
School

49

45

47

50

45

55

48

339

420

81

19.3%

Glan-Yr-Afon
Primary School

19

22

24

15

25

20

27

152

292*

140

47.9%

Oakfield Primary
School

40

52

54

57

60

52

60

375

388

13

3.4%

Pen-Y-Bryn Primary
School

21

34

29

30

33

33

24

204

210

6

2.9%

St Cadoc's Catholic
Primary School

32

38

48

36

39

41

38

272

315

43

13.7%

St Mellons CiW
Primary School

18

17

16

18

16

14

15

114

105

-9

-8.6%

Willowbrook Primary
School

39

60

54

57

57

60

60

387

420

33

7.8%

Grand Total

218 268

272

263

275

275

272

1,843

2,150

307

14.3%

*The Council has proposed to reduce the capacity of Glan-yr-Afon Primary School from 292
places (1.4 forms of entry) to 210 places (1 form of entry) from September 2020. This would
reduce the number and percentage of surplus places serving the Llanrumney area.

The catchment areas of Oakfield Primary School and Willowbrook Primary School
overlap the community boundary of Old St Mellons and Trowbridge, but do not serve
Llanrumney. Taking account of the remaining five English-medium primary schools
serving Llanrumney the aggregate level of surplus places serving Llanrumney alone,
based on capacity at January 2018, amounted to 19.4% (261 places of 1342).
Current take up of places at primary schools serving Llanrumney and Old St
Mellons
Table 2 below/ overleaf sets out the number of pupils resident in January 2018 within
the catchment areas serving the above English-medium primary schools, enrolled in
any English-medium primary schools in Cardiff.

Page 324

Table 2 – Take up of places at Llanrumney primary schools, Reception to Year 6 (PLASC
January 2017)
Catchment area

Oakfield
Primary
School

Pen-YBryn
Primary
School

St
Mellons
CiW.
Primary
School

Primary
School

Other
areas

Number
on roll

58

11

22

1

7

71

339

8

128

0

10

0

0

6

152

Oakfield
Primary School

5

6

162

13

7

67

115

375

Pen-Y-Bryn
Primary School

37

59

14

67

1

2

24

204

St Cadoc's
Catholic
Primary School

39

156

6

43

0

7

21

272

St Mellons CiW
Primary School

15

11

11

48

7

6

16

114

Willowbrook
Primary School

3

2

82

3

7

149

141

387

Pupils from
this
catchment
area attending
these schools

276

420

286

206

23

238

-

1449

Pupils from this
catchment
area attending
other EM
schools

105

63

215

55

51

182

-

671

381

483

501

261

74

420

-

2120

Bryn
Hafod
Primary
School

GlanYr-Afon
Primary
School

Bryn Hafod
Primary School

169

Glan-Yr-Afon
Primary School

School
attended

Willowbrook

Subtotal:

Total:
Pupils
resident in
each
catchment
area attending
EM primary
schools

Page 325

The number of primary age pupils resident in the catchment areas of the above
schools, attending English-medium schools, totals 2,120 pupils. This exceeds the
combined capacity of the schools by 52 places. However, as 671 pupils in the above
catchment areas attend other English-medium community or faith based schools
elsewhere, compared to 394 pupils attending these schools from other areas, there
is a significant level of surplus across the area.

Projection methodology for existing and new schools
Cardiff employs a robust projection methodology for planning school places which
takes account of NHS GP registration data and school census data submitted by and
verified by all Cardiff schools. As projections can only take account of historic and
current information the Council also identifies trends within projections, and analyses
school preference data and other contextual information to produce forecasts on a
city wide basis and in each locality.
Projected demand for places on new housing developments are based on calculated
average yields per dwelling. Average yields, detailed with the Education
Supplementary Guidance, are in turn based on the most recent Census data.
At present, places within primary schools in Cardiff are apportioned approximately
64% in English-medium community schools, 18% in Welsh-medium community
schools and 18% in Church in Wales or Catholic Schools.

Recent and projected demand for English-medium community primary school
places within the English-medium catchment areas in/ serving Llanrumney and
Old St Mellons
The recent and projected demand for English-medium community school places in
each of the primary school catchment areas within varies, but does not reach nor
exceed the number of places available.
Table 3 overleaf sets out the recent and projected demand for places at entry to
Reception year in the English-medium community primary school catchment areas in/
serving Llanrumney and Old St Mellons, from existing housing.

Page 326

Table 3 – Recent and projected demand for English-medium community school
places at entry to Reception within each catchment area
Catchment
area

Published
Admission
Number

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

Bryn Hafod
Primary
School

60

51

45

40

47

38

45

Glan-YrAfon
Primary
School*

41*

37

42

39

32

38

33

Oakfield
Primary
School

60

53

53

41

55

44

55

Pen-Y-Bryn
Primary
School

30

16

27

19

23

26

21

St Mellons
CiW Primary
school**

15

9

12

9

12

9

16

Willowbrook
Primary
School

60

58

36

49

47

35

33

266/

224

215

197

216

190

203

42

51

69

50

76

63

(16%)

(19%)

(26%)

(19%)

(29%)

(24%)

Total

255*
Surplus/
Projected
surplus

* Assuming current Published Admission Number at Glan Yr Afon Primary School; proposed
reduction to 30 places at entry to be implemented in the 2020-21 school year would reduce
surplus from 63 places to 52 places.
**Includes demand for faith places within catchment, but excludes yield from St Edeyrn’s
development

The above table takes account of places taken up at, and projected to be taken up at,
any English-medium school in Cardiff and therefore represents the maximum
projected number of pupils who may wish places of that type if pupils in the area took
up places in the catchment area of their home address. However, as evidenced in
table 2, a significant proportion of pupils take up places elsewhere and it is expected
that many of these would continue to do so.

Page 327

When compared to the existing supply of places at Reception age, projections for
years 2019 to 2021 indicate:


a surplus of 29 English-medium community primary school places in 2018/19,
rising to a surplus of 32 in 2020/21, in the combined catchment areas of Bryn
Hafod, Glan Yr Afon and Pen Y Bryn primary schools, should the take-up of
places continue at existing levels.



a fluctuating surplus of 21, 47 and 31 English-medium community and faith
school places in years 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21, in the St Mellons Church
in Wales, Oakfield and Willowbrook primary school catchment areas.

The projected demand for English-medium community primary school places across
the combined catchment areas of Bryn Hafod, Glan-yr-Afon, Oakfield, Pen Y Bryn,
Willowbrook and St Mellons CiW Primary Schools at entry to Reception is significantly
less than the combined Published Admission Numbers in future years until 2020-21,
the last year for which projection data are available.
The Council is, as part of its annual consultation on school admission arrangements,
consulting on a reduction in the Published Admission Number of Glan yr Afon Primary
School to 30 from September 2020. This would assist with reducing the number of
surplus places serving the area, but the number of surplus places would remain high.
The most recent data update from the NHS also indicates that the cohort of pupils in
the Llanrumney area that would enter Reception Year in 2021-22 will be fewer in
number than recent cohorts.
Projected yield of pupils from St Edeyrn’s housing development
The proposed St Edeyrn’s housing development was evaluated in 2013/14 under the
2007 Supplementary Planning Guidance in place at that time. The proposed
development was planned to include 867 houses and 153 apartments.
The total yield of pupils (including pupils who may wish to attend either language
medium school) was calculated under the 2007 Supplementary Planning Guidance
as:




276 primary school pupils (39 pupils per year group)
196 secondary school pupils (39 pupils per year group)
36 sixth form pupils (18 pupils per year group)

Projections at this time indicated that there would not be sufficient places available in
the local English-medium primary school, St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School,
nor in the local English-medium secondary school Eastern High to accommodate the
projected yield of pupils who may require an English-medium school place.
St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School, with a maximum 0.5 form entry intake,
was fully subscribed in 2013/14 and this continues to be the case. Whilst Eastern High
was not fully subscribed in 2013/14, a new eight form entry Eastern High, capable to

Page 328

expansion, was planned to meet the projected demand for places from existing
housing in the local area.
Projections at this time indicated that there would be sufficient places available in the
local Welsh-medium primary school, Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Pen-y-Groes, and in
the local Welsh-medium secondary school, Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Bro Edern, to
accommodate the projected yield of pupils who may require a Welsh-medium school
place.
Ysgol Gymraeg Pen Y Groes was newly established as a one form entry primary
school in September 2009 and had 160 surplus places in 2013/14. Ysgol Gyfun
Gymraeg Bro Edern was established in September 2012, transferring to its current site
in September 2013, and had 960 surplus places in 2013/14.
In accordance with the Supplementary Planning Guidance adopted in 2007, the
Council sought contributions from the developer to provide additional English-medium
primary, secondary and sixth form places to serve the new housing development. As
the demand for Welsh-medium primary and secondary school places could be met by
existing schools, contributions towards providing Welsh-medium school places could
not be sought.
The net yield of pupils, those who require places at English-medium schools was
calculated under the 2007 Supplementary Planning Guidance as:




221 primary school pupils (31 pupils per year group)
157 secondary school pupils (31 pupils per year group)
29 sixth form pupils (14 pupils per year group)

Following adoption of a Local Development Plan for Cardiff in 2016, a revised
Education Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) was formally adopted in 2017.

Projected yield of pupils from Llanrumney housing developments
As outlined in the Cabinet Report of 13 July 2018, a number of new housing
developments have been proposed in Llanrumney through the Cardiff Housing
Partnership in recent years. The net yield of pupils from these developments is not
expected to have a significant impact on the number of pupils requiring places at
primary schools in Llanrumney.
The new housing developments at Braunton Crescent and Clevedon Road, following
the demolition of 121 apartments, would result in a net decrease in the number of
dwellings and a projected pupil yield of fewer than 3 pupils per year group, on average.
The new housing development at the former Llanrumney Housing Depot site, resulting
in a net increase of 32 dwellings, is projected to yield one pupil per year group, on
average.

Page 329

The proposed new housing development at the former Llanrumney High School
site, resulting in a net increase of 98 dwellings, is projected to yield three pupils per
year group, on average.
The combined averaged yield of fewer than ten additional pupils per year group could
be accommodated in the surplus places available in English-medium primary schools
in Llanrumney (assuming the reduction in the Published Admission Number at Glan
Yr Afon Primary School).
In the event that the number of additional pupils within the new developments
significantly exceeded the city-wide average yield of pupils per equivalent household,
the level of surplus places in the Llanrumney area, and in the wider East Cardiff area,
is sufficient to ensure that local places are available for all children in the area.

Page 330

Pontprennau
Ward
Old St Mellons Ward

Pentwyn Ward
Llanrumney
Ward

Trowbridge Ward

Page 331

This page is intentionally left blank

Pontprennau Ward
Old St Mellons Ward

Pentwyn
Ward

Llanrumney
Ward

Trowbridge Ward

Page 333

This page is intentionally left blank

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
Appendix 4

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title:
New school provision to serve parts of Pontprennau and Old St Mellons

New/Existing/Updating/Amending
Who is responsible for developing and implementing the
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function?
Name: Janine Nightingale

Job Title: Head of School Organisation,
Access & Planning
Service Team: School Organisation, Directorate: Education & Lifelong
Access & Planning
Learning
Assessment Date: 22/02/2019

1.

Aims and Objectives

What are the objectives of the Policy / Strategy / Project /
Procedure / Service / Function?
The provision of school places to serve parts of Pontprennau and Old St
Mellons.

2.

Background Information

Please provide background information on the Policy /
Strategy / Project / Procedure / Service / Function and any
research done [e.g. service users data against demographic
statistics, similar EIAs done etc.]
At its meeting on 12 July 2018, the Council’s Cabinet agreed a recommendation
to
hold
public
consultation
on
proposals
to
rationalise
English-medium primary school places in the Llanrumney area, including
a proposal to close Glan-yr-Afon Primary School in August 2019.
In view of the responses received during the consultation and other
considerations, the Council’s Cabinet agreed at its meeting on 13 December
that the proposal to close Glan yr Afon Primary School from 31 August 2019 is
not progressed.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 335

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 1

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
However the issue of surplus capacity in the Llanrumney area, with a greater
number of places in primary schools than children who wish to attend those
schools remains.
At January 2018, there were 261 surplus places (19.4%) in English medium
primary schools serving the area. The number of surplus places at Glan-yr-Afon
Primary School was 140 (47.9%).
The Cabinet therefore authorised officers to explore the viability of modified
proposals to the closure of Glan-yr-Afon Primary School, and to bring a further
report to Cabinet for consideration setting out details of how the provision of
community English-medium primary school places in the Llanrumney area could
be addressed.
The report of 13 December 2018 set out that any future proposals brought
forward to ensure a better match between the supply of and demand for
English-medium places in the Llanrumney area would need to consider:







The need to reduce the number of surplus English-medium primary school
places;
The organisation of primary school places in the Llanrumney area;
How high quality early years education provision could best be provided and
enhanced in the area;
How high quality primary education can be sustainably and economically
provided through leadership and governance arrangements;
The impact of housing developments in the local and wider area, including
primary school provision to serve the new housing development at St
Edeyrns;
The financial implications.

3

Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics

3.1

Age

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older
people?
Yes




Up to 18 years
18 - 65 years
Over 65 years

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 336

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 2

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
The impact overall will be positive as the school will transfer to a new building
and will provide more school places in a high quality learning environment.
However, whilst the provision of a new one form entry primary school would
provide additional school places in high quality accommodation, this may have a
differential impact on other local schools. The transfer of an existing primary
school, to utilise some of this surplus, would have a lesser impact.
At the time of the first pupils admitted to the new school buildings at St Edeyrns
there would be significant surplus capacity within a building capable of
accommodating up to 210 primary school pupils and 48 part-time nursery pupils.
The arrangements for establishing new schools would ordinarily allow
admissions to Nursery and Reception years only at the time of opening. Pupils
would not be admitted to Year groups 1-6 at the time of opening. The school
would grow and admit pupils to these year groups over a seven year period.
This limits the impact of new school provision on neighbouring schools and
allows stable growth of a new school.
The establishment of a new school in any area where the local demand for
places would not immediately fill the school would either result in surplus places
within the new school or it may attract pupils from other areas to attend the
school, and thus result in surplus places elsewhere.
The transfer of St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School into the new build
school would allow for approximately 15 pupils in each year from Years 1-6 to
transfer from the existing St Mellons site to the new St Edeyrn’s site.
The Reception Year intake in September 2021 would admit all pupils from the St
Edeyrn’s development and places would also be taken up by pupils from other
parts of Old St Mellons and elsewhere.
Implementing the increased admission number throughout the school would,
however, primary school pupils resident in St Edeyrn’s who are above
Reception age at September 2021 to taking up places at the local primary
school. As the number of pupils attending other primary schools does not
exceed seven per school, the effect would be limited.
The expected completion of development between 2021 and 2023 could mean
that a greater number of children moving to the development would benefit
directly from being able to attend the school under this option.
Whilst the new school buildings are provided to serve the new development, this
does not prevent places being taken up at the new school ahead of the
development being complete. It is therefore an inevitable risk that some families
moving into new housing on the St Edeyrn’s development beyond September
2021 may be unable to attend the school.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 337

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 3

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
The proposal may result in longer travel distances for children currently
attending St Mellon’s Church in Wales Primary School.
It is possible that the younger of children currently attending St Mellons church
in Wales Primary School may not be successful in gaining a places at the
school if the number of applications is greater than the number of places
available.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
The proposed transfer of pupils to take up some of the places in Years 1-6
would therefore mitigate the immediate impact of the proposal on existing
schools and provide an opportunity to admit pupils from the new development to
some other year groups at an earlier stage than if admissions to all year groups
were phased over seven years.
Alternative primary school provision would be available for any children who did
not gain a place at the school.
The School Transport Team have advised that it is likely that the travel distance
for those children who are not entitled to free home to school transport is likely
to remain within two miles of the school.

3.2

Disability

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?
Hearing Impairment
Physical Impairment
Visual Impairment
Learning Disability
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition
Mental Health
Substance Dependence
Other

Yes









No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
If the proposal were to proceed, an equality impact assessment would be
carried out to identify the accessibility of the new school building. The equality
impact assessment would take into account policies such as the Equality Act
2010, TAN 12: Design 2014 as well as building regulations such as, BS8300,
Part M and relevant Building Bulletins.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 338

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 4

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
None

3.3

Gender Reassignment

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?
Yes
Transgender People
(People who are proposing to undergo, are
undergoing, or have undergone a process [or part of a
process] to reassign their sex by changing
physiological or other attributes of sex)

No

N/A



Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The proposal would need to ensure compliance with policies on equal
opportunities.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
N/A

3.4. Marriage and Civil Partnership
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil
partnership?
Yes

No

Marriage
Civil Partnership

N/A



Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The proposal would need to ensure compliance with policies on equal
opportunities.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
N/A
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 339

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 5

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
3.5

Pregnancy and Maternity

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and
maternity?
Yes
Pregnancy
Maternity

No



N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The proposal would need to ensure compliance with policies on equal
opportunities.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
N/A

3.6

Race

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?
Yes
White
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups
Asian / Asian British
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British
Other Ethnic Groups

No


N/A






Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The proposal would need to ensure compliance with policies on equal
opportunities.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
N/A

3.7

4.C.400

Religion, Belief or Non-Belief

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 340

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 6

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on people with different
religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?
Yes
Buddhist
Christian
Hindu
Humanist
Jewish
Muslim
Sikh
Other

No









N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The proposal would need to ensure compliance with policies on equal
opportunities.
Under the proposal, additional primary school places would be provided at St
Mellons Church in Wales Primary School. Whilst the school is a voluntary
aided church school, children of other faiths/no faith also attend the school.
As with any school, parents can withdraw their children from religious
education if they chose to do so. Alternatively, parents can apply for places
at primary community schools. The proposed expansion of St Mellons
Church in Wales Primary School is a proportionate means of achieving a
legitimate aim to provide for pupils in financially viable schools able to
provide a high standard of education.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
None

3.8

Sex

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function
have a differential impact [positive/negative] on men and/or
women?
Yes
Men
Women
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 341

No



Authorised: Lynne David

N/A

Page 7

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The proposal would need to ensure compliance with policies on equal
opportunities.
The school would continue to admit pupils of both sexes.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
N/A

3.9

Sexual Orientation

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on the following people?
Yes
Bisexual
Gay Men
Gay Women/Lesbians
Heterosexual/Straight

No





N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The proposal would need to ensure compliance with policies on equal
opportunities.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
N/A

3.10 Welsh Language
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have
a differential impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language?
Yes
Welsh Language

No


N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide
supporting evidence, if any.
The demand for places at Welsh-medium primary schools remains at a
high level. In the first round of admissions for entry in September 2017
and 2018 all pupils resident within the Welsh-medium primary schools
serving the area were able to be allocated a place at their catchment
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 342

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 8

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
school, if this was their stated preference.
The Council will continue to monitor demand for Welsh-medium primary
school places in the local area and bring forward proposal to balance the
supply of and demand for places at the appropriate time.
.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Continue to review the obligation to promote Welsh-medium education via the
WESP.

4.

Consultation and Engagement

What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various
Equalities Groups?
The proposal would be subject to full public consultation.

5.

Summary of Actions To Be Taken [from the
Actions listed in the Sections above]

These actions should be included in your Directorate’s Equality Action Plan
for the year, monitored on a regular basis and reported in your Directorate
Equality Annual Report.
Groups
Age

Actions
The proposed transfer of pupils to take up some of the
places in Years 1-6 would therefore mitigate the
immediate impact of the proposal on existing schools
and provide an opportunity to admit pupils from the
new development to some other year groups at an
earlier stage than if admissions to all year groups were
phased over seven years.
Alternative primary school provision would be available
for any children who did not gain a place at the school.
The School Transport Team have advised that it is
likely that the travel distance for those children who are
not entitled to free home to school transport is likely to
remain within two miles of the school.

Disability
None
Gender Reassignment None
4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 343

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 9

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
Marriage & Civil
Partnership
Pregnancy &
Maternity
Race
Religion/Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation
Welsh Language

None
None

Generic Over-Arching
[applicable to all the
above groups]

4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

None
None
None
None
Continue to review the obligation to promote Welshmedium education via the WESP.
None

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 344

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 10

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment
Corporate Assessment Template
6.

ACTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE FUTURE

List here any actions that you could not take in the immediate future, but
which have arisen as issues to be considered for future service developments

7.

Authorisation

The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in
each Service Area.
Completed By : Rosalie Phillips
Designation: Senior School Organisation Governance
and Compliance Officer
Approved By: Michele Duddridge Hossain
Designation: Operational Manager, Planning and
Provision
Service Area: Education and Lifelong Learning
7.1

Date: 22/02/2019

On completion of this Assessment, please send it to
equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk, who will publish it on the Council’s
Website.

For further information or assistance, please contact the Equality Team 029
2087 2536 or email equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Jan 13

Process Owner: Lynne David

Page 345

Authorised: Lynne David

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 5

My Ref: Scrutiny/Correspondence/MJH

14 March 2019

Councillor Sarah Merry
Cabinet Member - Education and Skills
County Hall
CARDIFF
CF10 4UW
Dear Sarah
On behalf of the Committee, I would like to thank you for attending the Children and
Young People Scrutiny Committee on 12 March 2019, to provide an opening
statement and answering questions on the School Organisation Proposals: New
school provision to serve parts of Pontprennau and Old St Mellons– verbal
briefing on the draft Cabinet Report

I would also like to thank Nick Batchelar, Director of Education and Lifelong Learning
and Michele Duddridge-Hossain, Operational Manager Planning and provision, for
the verbal briefing and answers to Members questions.

Following the Members consideration of the verbal briefing and answers to questions
the Committee agreed to support the report to Cabinet on 21 March 2019.

The Committee also wished to thanks you for attending the meeting for this item and
wished to inform you that this letter does not require a formal response.

Yours sincerely

COUNTY COUNCILLOR LEE BRIDGEMAN
Chairperson – Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee
CC:

Nick Batchelar, Director of Education and Lifelong learning
Jo Watkins – Cabinet Business Manger
Michele Duddridge-Hossain, Operational Manager Planning and provision

Page 347

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2019
21ST CENTURY SCHOOLS BAND B FUNDING
EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT & SKILLS (COUNCILLOR SARAH
MERRY) AND FINANCE, MODERNISATION & PERFORMANCE
(COUNCILLOR WEAVER)
AGENDA ITEM: 7
Reason for this Report
1.

To seek Cabinet approval to enter into discussions with the Welsh
Government (WG) regarding participation in the Mutual Investment
Model (MIM) funding route for two schemes within Cardiff’s 21st Century
Schools Band B Programme.

Background
2.

At its meeting on the 14th December 2017, the Cabinet received a report
which:



Outlined the priority schemes to be undertaken as part of Cardiff’s
Band B 21st Century Schools Programme
Requested members note the approval in principle by WG of the
Strategic Outline Case submitted by Cardiff Council for Band B of
the 21st Century Schools Programme and to authorise discussion
with the WG to secure business case approval for individual
schemes

3.

This report set out the sufficiency, suitability and condition issues in
Cardiff and which form were the basis of the funding request from Cardiff
to WG under the Band B programme.

4.

Support for Cardiff’ programme was secured in principle to enable the
Council to:




Remove all “D” condition, end of life, school properties;
Address the 8 form of entry sufficiency issue in the English
medium secondary sector in the central area of the City;
Address the sufficiency, condition and suitability issues in the
Special Sector, in both primary & secondary settings;
Address local sufficiency issues in Welsh medium primary schools
in the East & West of the City;

Page 349

Page 1 of 9



Address local sufficiency issues in English medium primary
schools in Cardiff Bay & West of the City.

5.

In developing its outline programme for 21st Century Schools Band B, the
Council considered a range of options and prioritised a list of projects
and schemes. This work was undertaken in conjunction with external
cost consultants to ensure the robustness of indicative costs. The
Council utilised standardised construction cost rates as provided by WG.

6.

The indicative cost of the Council’s outline Band B programme was £284
million. This cost represented the full “rolled-up” cost of all schemes
within the preferred programme. At the point of submission, external cost
consultants confirmed that delivering the programme was possible within
the overall envelope identified.

7.

As set out in the December 2017 report, the WG’s approach to Band B is
slightly different to Band A as there are two funding models available to
support Local Authorities to finance their investment. There continues to
be the option of the traditional capital grant funding model along with the
offer of the MIM as an alternative revenue funded option. This latter
option took the form of a public-private partnership, in which the WG
would hold a stake, whereby local authorities would not be required to
finance the capital outlay associated with the construction of new schools
buildings. Instead, local authorities would fund 25% of the revenue cost
of leasing the new school buildings over a period of 25 years, with WG
funding the balance.

8.

At the outset of Band B, WG confirmed that the following intervention
rates would apply for capital funded schemes:




Mainstream Schools – 50:50
Special Schools / PRUs – 50:50
Voluntary Aided Schools – 85:15

9.

Cardiff Council’s submission indicated and received in principle
agreement to a £284 million programme. This equated to a Cardiff
Council contribution of circa £139 million, (slightly less than 50% overall
owing to to the inclusion of St Mary the Virgin Primary School in the
programme funded at an 85:15 rate specific to investment in faith
schools). Consistent with the approach taken to Band A, the Council’s
funding contribution would have predominantly taken the form of external
prudential borrowing together with capital receipts to the value of £25
million, as outlined in the Council’s 2018/19 budget report.

10.

As set out in the December 2017 Cabinet report, the Cabinet’s initial
position regarding MIM (following consideration of the overall cost of
MIM; the WG’s proposed contribution rate at 75:25 and the overall level
of risk exposure) was to express an interest in the traditional capital
funding model only, when submitting its Strategic Outline Business Case.

Page 350

Page 2 of 9

Issues
11.

As a result of representations made by numerous local authorities
around the affordability of Band B, the WG have recently confirmed that
the capital funding intervention rates will change. The new rates are as
follows:
 Mainstream Schools – 65:35
 Special Schools / PRUs – 75:25
 Voluntary Aided Schools – 85:15

12.

Where local authorities have schemes that combine both mainstream
and special schools, these are to be split into their constituent parts so
that the relevant intervention rates can be applied (an assumed 70%
intervention rate has been assumed for the purposes of this report). This
is particularly relevant to Cardff’s largest scheme where it is proposed
that Cantonian High School be rebuilt at 8FE together with the expansion
and relocation of both Woodlands High School and Riverbank Special
School to the Cantonian High School site. If agreed to proceed to
implementation, this scheme will account for almost a quarter of the
value of the Cardiff Band B investment programme.

13.

The rate of intervention for MIM has also been revised and is proposed
to be 81:19 cost sharing arrangement in the favour of local authorities.
WG have suggested that the increased MIM intervention rate equalises
the potential cost to local authorities across both funding options.

14.

The WG are clear that there is still support for the schemes outlined in
each Local Authority’s initial Strategic Outline Programme. However,
they have also confirmed that the change in intervention rates will result
in the need to slow down the pace of delivery of capital funded schemes
to align with the availability of funding in each financial year. This is a
direct result of increasing their share of the funding, without a
commensurate increase in the total amount of funding being made
available.

15.

As a consequence of the need to change the pace of delivery of capital
funded schemes, the WG have asked local authorities whether they
would like to reconsider their stance in relation to schemes delivered via
MIM. This is of particular relevance to Cardiff, due to the urgent need to
progress schemes as soon as possible, particularly those in connection
with Condition D schools. A robust pipeline of schemes is required for the
Private Sector Delivery Partner Procurement, which will commence in the
first half of 2019.

16.

Local authorities that have already submitted an interest in MIM will be
given priority for consideration under this option. However, the WG have
confirmed that there is still scope for others to secure funding through
this funding model within the £500 million funding envelope allocated.

Page 351

Page 3 of 9

Evaluation of the MIM model and Cardiff Schemes that could be suited to
this funding route
17.

Evaluating the full financial and non-financial impact of funding projects
via the MIM route is challenging and the following is largely based on
information and financial modelling provided by WG. The anticipated
benefits of MIM are as follows:

Potential for earlier delivery of schemes, particularly in the context
of the slowdown of the traditional capital funded model schemes.

Earlier delivery would assist with the avoidance of part of the
significant cost that will be required to maintain Condition D
schools before the new schools are constructed.

A school asset that is maintained at a high level during the 25year lease period, with the WG contributing towards 81% of the
maintenance costs.

The Council and schools concerned will have full control over the
day to day operation of the building, including soft facilities
management and use of the building and its facilities.

Engagement with the MIM route may provide an opportunity to
reconsider the scope of schemes that could potentially be funded
via MIM.

18.

There are also potential limitations of the MIM funding model, these are
set out below:

The suitability of MIM is limited to complete new builds only,
projects that include refurbishment or extensions are not deemed
suitable.

Projects (or a group of similar projects in a local authority area)
would need to have a capital value of £15 million or more to be
funded through this route.

MIM is not deemed suitable for small primary schools, PRUs or
special schools.

Statutory consultation needs to have been completed beforehand
with no outstanding or complicated land issues.

The scope of schemes needs to be clearly defined in advance of
commencing a MIM scheme with changes to scope being
problematic once the scheme is underway.

Councils will still need to undertake and fund some capital works,
including work to enable the schedule of accommodation to be
worked up, and they will also be required to fund some works
connected to FFE and ICT.

Potential Cardiff MIM Schemes
19.

Cardiff Council has only two schemes that would meet the WG’s criteria
for inclusion as a MIM scheme. These are set out below:



The first is Cathays High School, which is intended to be a rebuild
scheme for an 11-18 school expanding from 6FE to 8FE with 6th form.
Willows High School, which could be rebuilt either as an 11-16 8FE
school or in conjunction with a new build primary provision



Page 352

Page 4 of 9

20.

The other schemes included in Cardiff’s Band B submission are either
too small in capital value, are too far progressed or relate to special
schools.

Capital and MIM Financial Comparison
21.

An evaluation, based on the available information, has been undertaken
to assess the estimated cost of delivering a scheme via the MIM route,
compared to via the traditional, capital route. This evaluation has taken
account of intervention rate changes to both funding routes and has been
based on the two schemes (Willows and Cathays) outlined previously.
The comparison has been predicated on MIM financial information
provided by WG, cost estimates from external advisors and current
interest rates being incurred by the Council.

22.

The analysis has taken a view of the total revenue cost that would be
incurred by the Council over a 25 year period. In the case of capital
funded schemes, this incorporates the annual capital financing charges
associated with the repayment of external borrowing and the estimated
annual cost of repairs and maintenance to each school. With regards to
MIM, the analysis incorporates the annual unitary charge that would be
incurred for the 25 year period, the capital financing charges associated
with the works required outside of the MIM arrangement and an estimate
of annual repairs and maintenance that would remain the responsibility of
the Council and school.

23.

When comparing the two options in totality, the total revenue cost over
the 25 year period is broadly similar, with the estimates suggesting that
MIM would result in slightly lower costs overall. This includes the higher
level of maintenance that would be undertaken as part of the MIM
arrangement. In terms of affordability, the revenue saving that would
arise from favourable intervention rates, and two schemes being
removed from the capital funding envelope and implemented as MIM
schemes, would be sufficient to fund the 19% contribution that the
Council would be required to make to the annual unitary charges for MIM
schemes.

Summary
24.

The WG have confirmed that the original delivery profile of schemes will
be difficult to support via the capital funded route.

25.

The financial evaluation, despite its limitations, indicates that the total
cost of MIM schemes are not substantially different to the costs of capital
funded schemes.

26.

In addition, the level of maintenance that would be ensured via a MIM
scheme is beneficial.

27.

On this basis, it can be concluded that the MIM route would secure
delivery close to the required timetable for Cardiff, at no greater cost to
the Council. The broader scope, including primary provision as part of

Page 353

Page 5 of 9

the Willows development, could only be delivered via MIM. In contrast,
the capital route would not be able to secure delivery of these two
schemes until a later stage of the Band B programme and could not
include a primary school without potential impact upon other schemes
within the programme.
Local Member Consultation
28.

Consultations have taken place with a range of stakeholders about the
Band B priorities and aims of the 21st Century school strategy. These
included Local Members, Diocese, Arch Diocese, Head Teachers and
Governing Bodies.

Reason for Recommendations
29.

Owing to changes to the intervention rates by the WG on its national 21st
Century Schools Investment Programme and the potential benefits for
Cardiff in terms of time and increased scope to include for a larger
Willows scheme the Cabinet is recommended to reconsider its decision
specific to the pursuing MIM funding for part of the Cardiff programme.

Financial Implications
30.

This report recommends that Cabinet approve the pursuit of a dual
funding strategy for the 21st Century Schools Band B Programme,
including two potential schemes to be delivered under the MIM funding
route. This represents a change of position compared to the December
2017 report and there are both capital and revenue implications arising
from this. In terms of capital schemes, as well as an increased
contribution from WG, progressing two schemes under MIM will result in
a reduction in capital funding required by the Council. This reduction will
result in reduced external borrowing and a reduction in capital financing
charges associated with the repayment of that borrowing. The saving
that arises from these changes would be required to fund the annual
costs of undertaking any MIM schemes. In addition, a level of capital
funding will need to retained to finance the investment that does not form
part of the MIM arrangements.

31.

The financial analysis undertaken has indicated that the annual cost of
MIM schemes is not substantially different to that associated with
schemes funded via capital. On this basis, it is assumed that the saving
that would arise from a reduced capital programme would be sufficient to
fund the costs of the annual unitary charge associated with MIM
schemes. However, this assumption is potentially limited by the quality of
information that has been made available via WG in relation to MIM and
further detailed work will need to be undertaken to fully assess the costs
and benefits of entering into a MIM arrangement.

32.

In addition to the further work required, there are a number of
considerations that will need to be made when entering into a MIM
arrangement. The first of these is the need to be clear on the scope and
scale of projects. In comparison to capital schemes, there will be less

Page 354

Page 6 of 9

flexibility to change the scope of projects once a scheme is underway
and there may be financial penalties associated with any changes
required. Furthermore, in order to comply with procurement timescales, it
will be necessary for land and consultation issues to have been resolved
in advance of commencing schemes, particularly to avoid delays and the
financial cost that could be associated with this. A further consideration is
that, whilst the Council will be lease the new school once completed, the
asset and corresponding liability will form part of the Council’s balance
sheet, with the liability forming part of the Council’s overall level of
external debt. At the end of the 25 year lease period, the ownership of
the asset will transfer to the Council.
33.

Overall, of most critical importance is recognition of the fact that the
arrangement that may be entered into is for a period of 25 years. On this
basis, there is an inherent risk to the Council’s financial resilience and it
will be critical that value for money is ensured for the Council as part of
the further due diligence that will need to be undertaken before a final
commitment to a MIM scheme is made.

Legal Implications
34.

Under the Education Act 1996, the Council has a general statutory
obligation to promote high standards of education and to consider
parental preference which includes preference for Welsh medium
education. The Council also has obligations under the School Standards
and Framework Act 1998 and School Funding Regulations 2010 to
provide capital funding for maintained schools.

35.

Section 84 and 85 of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act
2013 and the Welsh in Education Strategic Plans and Assessing
Demand for Welsh Medium Education (Wales) Regulations 2013, set out
the statutory obligations for all local authorities to prepare, submit,
publish and revise Welsh in Education Strategic Plans (WESPs).

36.

The Council also has to satisfy its public sector duties under the Equality
Act 2010 (including specific Welsh public sector duties). Pursuant to
these legal duties, Councils must in making decisions have due regard to
the need to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of
opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of protected
characteristics. The Protected characteristics are:
• Age
• Gender reassignment
• Sex
• Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality
• Disability
• Pregnancy and maternity
• Marriage and civil partnership
• Sexual orientation
• Religion or belief – including lack of belief

Page 355

Page 7 of 9

37.

The Council also has to consider its obligation under section 88 and
schedule 10 of the Equality Act 2010 to prepare and implement an
accessibility strategy. The strategy should increase disabled pupils’
access to the curriculum and improve the physical environment and the
provision of information.

38.

The report identifies that the Equality Impact Assessment has been
completed. The purpose of the Equality Impact Assessment is to ensure
that the Council has understood the potential impacts of the proposal in
terms of equality so that it can ensure that it is making proportionate and
rational decisions having due regard to its public sector equality duty.
The Council has to be mindful of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure
2011 and the Welsh Language Standards when making any policy
decisions and consider the impact upon the Welsh language, the report
and Equality Impact Assessment deals with all these obligations

HR Implications
39.

HR People Services will work with the Governing Body of all schools
within Band B on any HR matters arising from the expansion of individual
schools. In line with the SOP HR Framework, the Headteacher and the
Governing Body of the schools concerned will be encouraged in to
undertake a review of their staffing structure and assess the workforce
requirements required for the increase in pupil numbers. This will have to
be balanced against the forecasted school budget. However, it is likely
that the permanent expansion schools within Band B will result in the
creation of new posts in each of the schools concerned.

40.

HR People Services will also provide support for the additional
recruitment. This will take into account the School Redeployment and
Redundancy Policy and Procedure whereby new posts may provide
opportunities for any school based staff on the school redeployment
register at that particular time

Equality Impact Assessment
41.

An Equality Impact Assessment for the 21st Century Schools Band B
Programme has been carried out. The assessment concluded that the
programme would not adversely affect a particular group in society. Any
proposals brought forward following this report would be subject to
further equality impact assessments including an assessment on any
changes to accommodation.

Transport Matters
42.

High level transportation issues have been reviewed for the sites in
question to ensure that consideration is given to the ability of the
potential locations to support Active Travel, in terms of pedestrian and
cycle access to the sites.

43.

All new developments will require a Transport Assessment to be
undertaken, this will determine whether any changes are deemed

Page 356

Page 8 of 9

necessary to the immediate highway network to enable pupils and staff
to access the schools using Active Travel modes. All schools within
Cardiff are also encouraged to develop robust Travel Plans which will
help them address issues relating to how their staff and pupils travel to
school, with the emphasis on encouraging and promoting Active Travel
such as walking and cycling.
44.

Any highway improvement works identified from the Transport
Assessments will be have to be funded and delivered as part of the 21st
Century Schools Programme.

Community Impact
45.

The Welsh Assembly Government School Organisation Code 2018
requires local authorities to conduct a Community Impact Assessment
and a Welsh Language Impact Assessment when proposing changes to
school organisation.

46.

The following are taken into account when developing proposals
 Public Open Place/parkland
 Noise and traffic congestion
 School designation
 School links to the local community
 Impact on parents and families
 Travelling implications for pupils/families
 Impact on community activities, impact on community facilities

RECOMMENDATIONS:
The Cabinet is recommended agree to pursue a dual funding model strategy to
fund the 21st Century Schools Programme to include the MIM route for the
delivery of our proposed Band B schemes at Cathays and Willows (including
3FE primary).
SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICERS

CHRISTOPHER LEE
Corporate Director of Resources
NICK BATCHELAR
Director of Education & Lifelong
Learning
15 March 2019

Page 357

Page 9 of 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CABINET MEETING : 21 MARCH 2019
PAY POLICY 2019/2020
FINANCE, MODERNISATION AND PERFORMANCE
(COUNCILLOR CHRIS WEAVER)
AGENDA ITEM: 8
Reason for this Report
1.

To ask the Council to agree a Pay Policy Statement for 2019/20, in
accordance with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011.

Background
2.

Cardiff Council understands the importance of having a clear written
policy on pay for employees. The policy statement will provide a
framework to ensure that employees are rewarded fairly and objectively
without discrimination.

3.

The Council also has a statutory requirement under the Localism Act
2011 to prepare a pay policy statement on an annual basis. The first
statement was in place by 31st March 2012 and they have been
produced annually since. Agreement (and subsequent publication) of the
2019/20 Pay Policy Statement will ensure continued compliance with this
legislation.

4.

The focus of the legislation is about transparency of pay for Chief
Officers and how their pay compares with lower paid employees in the
Council. However, in the interests of transparency and accountability the
Council has chosen since 2011 to take a broader approach and produce
a policy statement covering all employee groups with the exception of
teachers (as the remuneration for this latter group is set by the Secretary
of State and therefore not in local authority control). This policy also
excludes Members of the Council as they are not employees and are
governed by separate legislation via the Independent Remuneration
Panel for Wales.

Voluntary Redundancy Scheme
5.

The legislation also requires the Council to provide information about
redundancy payments that are made to employees who leave the
organisation. The current Voluntary Redundancy Policy has been in
place since 3rd April 2015, and annual reviews since then have resulted
in no further changes. There will be no change to the Voluntary
Page 1 of 4

Page 359

Redundancy Policy for 2019/20.
6.

Redundancy payments made under the Policy are calculated with
reference to a week’s pay up to a maximum of £508.00. Since 13th June
2017, as a result of a ruling by an Employment Appeal Tribunal (EAT) in
the case of University of Sunderland v Drossou, in June 2017, employers
must ensure that a week’s pay includes remuneration ‘payable by the
employer under the contract of employment’ and that this value should
not be limited by what the employee directly receives. The rationale
offered by the EAT was that employer’s pension contributions formed
part of the overall package of ‘remuneration’ offered to an employee in
return for their services. The result of this is that where appropriate, the
employer’s pension contributions are included in the calculation of an
employee’s weekly pay, subject to the £508 maximum stated in the
Voluntary Redundancy Policy.

Chief Officer Pay
7.

In line with the Standing Orders (Wales) Amendment Regulations 2014
and a Council resolution effective since the 2015/16 Pay Policy
Statement, the pay award for Chief Officers employed under JNC terms
and conditions will be automatically applied , once agreed by the national
employers.

Local Government Services Pay Award 2019
8.

The National Joint Council for Local Government Services (the NJC) pay
agreement for 2018/20 includes the introduction of a new pay spine on
1st April 2019.

9.

The NJC pay agreement dated 10th April 2018 is set out in Appendix 1
(Annex 1).

10.

The new pay spine entirely replaces the current pay spine and it is for
employers to determine their approach to implementing the changes
effective from 1st April 2019, subject to local negotations with the
recognised trade unions, which for this purpose are the GMB, UNISON
and UNITE.

11.

Local negotiations have taken place and agreement reached on the
process for implementing the new pay spine, with no implications on the
Single Status Collective Agreement between the Council and the
recognised trade unions.

12.

As a result, the Council’s new pay spine is set out in Appendix 1
(Annex 2).

UK Government Changes
13.

The Council reports accompanying the Pay Policy Statements since
2015/16 have described proposed UK Government changes concerning:
Page 2 of 4

Page 360

14.

(i)

an Exit Payment Cap,

(ii)

a wider review of Public Sector Exit Payment Schemes

(iii)

recovery of exit Payments (Clawback)

At this point these proposed changes have not been finalised and the
position remains as reported to Council in 2017.

Gender Pay Gap
15.

The Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities)
Regulations 2017, which relate to public sector employers in England
and Wales, requires the publication of gender pay gap data based on a
‘snapshot’ date of 31st March.

16.

Since the publication of the regulations it has been clarified that local
authorities in Wales are not covered by the requirement to formally
publish a Gender Pay Gap report, but instead must manage gender pay
differences. On this basis, there is no requirement on the Council to
publish anything other than the data we have published to date.

17.

With more public sector employers being required to report on their
Gender Pay Gap, and in line with the Council’s commitment to fairness
and transparency, it is proposed that the Council continues to voluntarily
publish its Gender Pay gap report as part of the annual Pay Policy
Statement, to be published by 31st March 2019.

Non-Guaranteed Working Hours
18.

In December 2016 the Welsh Government issued principles and
guidance on the appropriate use of non-guaranteed hours arrangements
in the devolved public services in Wales. These principles and guidance
were developed by the Public Services Staff Commission in social
partnership with the Welsh Government’s Partnership Council and its
sector groups. The Council is committed to the principles determined by
Welsh Government which apply to those employees who are employed
on a relief, ‘casual’ or sessional basis. These employees are used in
services within the Council where there is either a need to bring in an
additional workforce in order to cover peaks in workload, or where the
workload is on a one off basis, such as Events.

Reasons for Recommendations
19.

To respond to the legal requirement under the Localism Act 2011 but the
production of the policy statement will also provide openness and
accountability in how the Council rewards its employees.

Legal Implications
20.

Under Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 the Council must prepare a
Pay Policy Statement for each financial year before the commencement
Page 3 of 4

Page 361

of that year. The Pay Policy Statement for 2019/20 must therefore be
approved by 31st March 2019.
21.

The Act requires the Pay Policy Statement to cover certain specific
matters and the Welsh Government has issued statutory Guidance in
relation to Pay Policies.

22.

The proposed Pay Policy Statement for 2019/20 meets the requirements
of the Act and Welsh Government Guidance.

23.

The Pay Policy must be published in such manner as the Council thinks
fit, which must include publication on the Council’s website.

24.

The Council’s pay structures are considered to be compliant with
Equalities legislation.

Financial Implications
25.

The rates of pay and conditions set out in the Pay Policy Statement are
reflected in the Council’s budget for 2019/20.

HR Implications
26.

The recommendation will not impact on employees across the Council as
it merely outlines in one policy, existing and agreed arrangements for pay
and remuneration of employees.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Cabinet is recommended to approve the attached Pay Policy Statement
(2019/20) for consideration by Council
SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER

CHRISTOPHER LEE
Corporate Director Resources
15 March 2019

The following Appendix is attached:
Appendix 1: Pay Policy Statement 2019/20, together with Annex1 and 2.

Page 4 of 4

Page 362

Appendix 1
CARDIFF COUNCIL
PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2019/20
INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE
1.

Cardiff Council recognises the importance of managing pay fairly and consistently in a
way that motivates employees to make a positive contribution to the Council’s
business. The decisions that are taken regarding pay are crucial to maintaining
equality across the Council. The production of a Pay Policy Statement supports this
approach and will provide transparency.

SCOPE
2.

The Localism Act 2011 requires authorities to develop and make public a pay policy
statement on all aspects of Chief Officer remuneration (including on ceasing to hold
office), and that pertaining to the ‘lowest paid’ in the authority, explaining their policy
on the relationship between remuneration for Chief Officer and other groups.
However, in the interests of transparency and accountability the Council has chosen
to take a broader approach and produce a policy statement covering all employee
groups with the exception of teachers (as the remuneration for this latter group is set
by the Welsh Government and therefore not in local authority control). This policy
does not apply to Members of the Council as they are not employees and are
governed by separate legislation via the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales.

LEGISLATION
3.

In determining the pay and remuneration of all its employees, the Council will comply
with all relevant legislation. This includes the Equality Act 2010, Part Time
Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000, Agency
Workers Regulations 2010 and where relevant the Transfer of Undertakings
(Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006. With regard to the Equal Pay
requirements contained within the Equality Act, the Council will ensure there is no pay
discrimination within its pay structures and that all pay differentials can be objectively
justified through the use of equality proofed Job Evaluation mechanisms which
directly relate salaries to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of the role.

4.

This policy statement incorporates the Cardiff Council’s Pay Policy Statement as
required by the Localism Act 2011.

RESPONSIBILITY AND SCOPE
5.

The Council is directly responsible for a budget of £609 million (2018/19) and for the
employment of 13,271 employees (as at December 2018). The Council provides
services to a total population of 362,800 (rounded to the nearest 100) according to the
Office for National Statistics’ latest (mid-2017) population estimates. The Council was

Page1363

recorded as having a Council housing stock of 13,478 and in October 2018 there
were 54,434 pupils enrolled in our schools.
DEFINITIONS
6.

Chief Officer – the Localism Act 2011 defines Chief Officer as:
 Head of Paid Service - in Cardiff this is the Chief Executive
 Monitoring Officer – in Cardiff this is the Director of Governance & Legal Services
 Statutory Chief Officers – in Cardiff these are o Director for Education and Lifelong Learning,
o Director of Social Services
o Corporate Director Resources who undertakes the role of Section151 Officer
 Non-statutory Chief Officers – this refers to non-statutory posts that report directly
to the Head of Paid Service so in Cardiff this would be –
o Corporate Director for People and Communities
o Director for Economic Development
o Director for Planning, Transport and Environment
 Deputy Chief Officers – this refers to officers that report directly to statutory or
non-statutory Chief Officers. In Cardiff this includes –
o Assistant Director for Education and Lifelong Learning
o Assistant Director for Children’s Services
o Assistant Director for Corporate Landlord
o Assistant Director for Housing and Communities
o Assistant Director for Street Scene
o Head of Service for Finance
o Head of Performance and Partnerships
o Head of Democratic Services – statutory role which reports to the Monitoring
Officer
o Chief Officer for HR People Services
o Chief Digital Officer


There are also some Operational Managers that report directly to statutory or
non-statutory Chief Officers (Corporate Director Resources, Directors of
Economic Development; Governance and Legal Services; Social Services) and
so for the purposes of this policy these posts are included within this definition.
Operational Managers are employed on the same terms and conditions as the
Council’s Heads of Service and Chief Officers as indicated in paragraph 16.

7.

Lowest Paid Employees – the Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to define its
‘lowest paid employee’ within the pay policy statement. Within the Council the lowest
paid employees are those appointed on SCP6 of the NJC nationally agreed pay
spine. However, with effect from 1st September 2012 the Council adopted the
Voluntary Living Wage for its employees. Therefore, the minimum pay is currently
£8.75 per hour. This is to rise to £9.00 per hour from 1st April 2019.

8.

The National Joint Council for Local Government Services (the NJC) pay agreement
for 2018-20 (Annex 1) includes the introduction of a new pay scale with effect from 1st
April 2019. The minimum point on the new pay scale is Point 1 which equates to an
hourly rate of pay of £9.00, which is equivalent to the Voluntary Living Wage. The

2
Page 364

Council remains committed to the payment of the Voluntary Living Wage, and will
review future changes to the National Pay Agreement to determine if the Voluntary
Living Wage supplement needs to be reintroduced.
9.

Pay – the Localism Act 2011 defines remuneration as ‘salary, bonuses, charges, fees
or allowances payable, any benefits in kind, increase or enhancement of pension
entitlement. This definition is adopted for the term pay used in this policy.

KEY PRINCIPLES
10. This policy statement aims to ensure that all employees are rewarded fairly and
without discrimination for the work that they do. It reflects fairness and equality of
opportunity, the need to encourage and enable employees to perform to the best of
their ability and the commitment to operate a transparent pay and grading structure.
11. The Council recognises that pay is not the only means of rewarding and supporting
employees and offers a wider range of benefits, such as flexible working
arrangements, access to learning and development, a Health and Wellbeing Charter
and an Employee Assistance Programme, etc.
12. To ensure these principles are embedded the Council will ensure that there are clear
and rational processes for setting and reviewing salaries for all employees, and that
there is sufficient flexibility to take into account the pay market and recruitment and
retention factors.
13. Any policy statement on pay has to be affordable and support the provision of high
quality public service.
PAY DETAILS
Pay Ranges – previous ‘NJC Green Book’ and ‘JNC Craft’ Employees
14. All former NJC Green Book and JNC Craft positions within the Council went through a
job evaluation (JE) process using the Greater London Provincial Council (GLPC)
scheme, and the Council has Collective Agreements in place with UNISON, GMB and
Unite.(NJC Green Book) and UNISON, GMB, Unite and UCATT (JNC Craft). The JE
process is also used to determine the grades for all new posts in these employee
groups and ensures that men and women receive equal pay for work of equal value.
15. The Council’s pay and grading structure links the scores from the job evaluation
process directly to the NJC pay structure. This national pay structure with effect from
1st April 2019 ranges from spinal column point (SCP) 1 to 49 which equates to
£17,364 to £45,591. Within Cardiff we have in place 10 grades that span across
SCPs 1-40 which equates to £17,364 to £42,683, at 1st April 2019. Each grade has a
number of incremental points. More information about the GLPC Scheme and the
grades of the Council can be found in the Council’s Single Status Collective
Agreement. The agreed grades can be seen at Annex 2.

Page3365

Pay Ranges – Chief Officers and Operational Managers
16. Posts at Operational Manager and above are employed on JNC Chief Officer terms
and conditions, and pay levels for these posts have been evaluated using the Korn
Ferry Hay (formerly Hay) Job Evaluation Scheme since 1999.
17. The JNC for Chief Officers negotiates on national (UK) annual cost of living pay
increases for this group, and any award of same is determined on this basis. Chief
Officers employed under JNC terms and conditions are contractually entitled to any
national JNC pay rises. This Council will therefore pay these nationally agreed pay
awards as and when determined, unless full Council decides otherwise.
18. The following table shows the pay for the Senior Management structure:
Level
Salary*
Chief Executive
£180,423
Corporate Director for Resources £137,970
and Corporate Director for People
and Communities
Directors
£127,357
Chief Digital Officer
Chief Officers, Assistant Directors

£102,240
£86,603

Operational Managers

Level 1
5 points from £56,881 - £69,318
Level 2
5 points from £46,552 - £56,233

* Effective from 1st April 2019 in line with JNC for Chief Officers and JNC Chief Executive 2018/2019
two year national pay agreement.

19. When evaluating Chief Officer posts, Korn Ferry Hay are asked to provide information
on salary levels based on their assessment of relative job sizes and benchmarking
against market comparisons for posts of similar size and complexity. Any report from
Korn Ferry Hay on changes to salary levels would be presented to the Council’s
Employment Conditions Committee (ECC) which has the following functions
delegated to it under the Council’s Constitution:
(i) To consider and determine policy and issues arising from the organisation, terms
and conditions of Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers (as defined in the Local
Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006), together with any other
category of employee specified in Regulation from time to time where this is
necessary, subject to the approval of Council in respect of any determination or
variation of the remuneration of Chief Officers.
(ii) To decide requests for re-grading of Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers (as
defined in the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006),
together with any other category of employee specified in Regulation from time to
time, whether by way of appeal by an employee against a decision to refuse a regrading application or to decide applications for re-grading which are supported,
4
Page 366

subject to the approval of Council in respect of any determination or variation of
the remuneration of a Chief Officer.
20. Since 2009/10 the Council has published pay details for Chief Officer posts on its
website. Previous to this, the number of officers at each salary band over £60,000
were set out. The information can be found in the ‘Statement of Accounts’ which is
accessed via the tab ‘Your Council’ and then the link to ‘Council Finance’. The Chief
Executive pay has been published on the website since 2010.
21. The current pay levels within the Council define the multiple between the lowest paid
(full time equivalent) employee (£16,881) and the Chief Executive (£176,885) as
[1:10] and; between the lowest paid employee (£16,881) and median Chief Officer
(£84,905) as [1:5].
The multiple between the median full time equivalent earnings (£23,720) and the
Chief Executive (£176,885) is [1:7] and; between the median full time equivalent
earnings (£23,720) and median Chief Officer (£84,905) is [1:4].
These figures are based on basic salary on 1st April 2018.
22. The Council does not use performance related pay or bonuses for Chief Officers.
Pay Ranges – Employees other than Chief Officer and previous ‘Green Book’ and ‘Craft’
employees
23. The Council also has employees on other national terms and conditions, i.e. JNC
Youth and Community, Soulbury, and School Teacher terms and conditions. Pay for
these employees is based on the relevant nationally agreed rates of pay. Pay rates
are included in Annex 1 for information.
Incremental Progression – all employees
24. Incremental progression for ‘Green Book’, ‘Craft’ employees and Operational
Managers is not automatic but is dependent upon a successful performance review.
Following a successful performance review, increments are normally effective from
the 1st April each year. For ‘Green Book’ and ‘Craft’ employees, this requirement is
detailed in the relevant Single Status Collective Agreement, and for Operational
Managers this is contained within their terms and conditions.
Salary on Appointment – all employees
25. Posts are advertised on the agreed grade and the minimum and maximum salary is
stated. In practice, most appointments are made at the bottom of the range, but there
is discretion to appoint at a higher point on the range. This would usually be to match
a candidate’s current level of pay or in particular circumstances.
Pay Review – all employees

Page5367

26. All pay is reviewed in line with the national pay awards negotiated by the Local
Government Employers in conjunction with the recognised Trade Unions at a national
level. Please see paragraph 16 in relation to JNC for Chief Officer national pay
awards.
Market Supplements – all employees
27. It is recognised that there will be exceptional occasions where the market rate for
certain key jobs is higher than that provided for by the new pay and grading structure.
In these circumstances, the grading of the post will be reviewed in accordance with
the new Market Supplement Scheme agreed as part of the Council’s single status
package. The scheme is applicable to all those covered by the green book, Craft
employees, JNC for Chief Officers, JNC for Youth & Community Workers and those
on Soulbury terms and conditions. Proposals to pay a Market Supplement must be
supported by a full evidence based business case, and follow the agreed decision
making processes of the Council.
ADDITIONAL PAYMENTS
28. Employees employed under the previous ‘Green Book’ and ‘Craft’ terms and
conditions are paid on the same terms and conditions and pay scales through Single
Status. However, a tool allowance has been retained for relevant craft posts.
NJC ‘Green Book’ and JNC ‘Craft’ Employees
29. Additional payments are made as detailed in their respective Collective Agreements.
The types of additional payments made include: overtime and Saturday and Sunday
working at time and a half, recalls to work attract a minimum payment of 2 hours
payment, public holiday payments, car allowances, motorcycle and bicycle
allowances, stand by and call out payments, night /evening /unsocial hours payments,
shift work allowance, sleeping in duty payment, first aid allowance, relocation
payment and payment for professional subscriptions. In order to manage an ongoing
budgetary pressure, in the financial year 2019/20 payments for interview expenses,
relocation expenses and professional subscriptions (which are not legal requirements
of a post) will not be made. This has consistently been applied since the 2014/15
financial year.
Chief Officers and Operational Managers
30. Additional payments made include car, motorcycle and bicycle allowances which
have been harmonised for all Council employees using the single rate based on the
HMRC arrangements paid for business mileage, i.e. currently 45p per mile.
31. Interview Expenses and Relocation Assistance – Consistent with a decision applied
since the 2014/15 financial year, these payments will not be made for the 2019/20
financial year.

6
Page 368

32. Professional Subscriptions – For the financial year 2019/20 these will continue to only
be paid by the Council where it is an essential requirement of the post.
33. Returning Officer Fees - The appointment of Electoral Registration Officer is required
by S8 Representation of the People Act 1983, and the appointment of Returning
officer by S35 Representation of the People Act, 1983. In Cardiff, whilst the role of
Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officer is part of the job description of the
Chief Executive, it continues to be carried out by the Corporate Director Resources.
The fee for parliamentary, European Union, Welsh Government, Police and Crime
Commissioner elections and all referenda are set by legislation. For these externally
sponsored elections the fee is funded through grant awarded by the Welsh
Government in respect of its election, and by Central Government in respect of the
other elections. Local authorities have the discretion to set the fee for local elections.
In the Council the fee for local elections (including ordinary and casual) is set in line
with the fee agreed for the Welsh Government elections.
Other Employees
34. The Council is looking to negotiate with trade unions to harmonise the additional
payments for JNC Youth and Community and Soulbury employees with those paid to
‘Green Book’ and ‘Craft’ employees. The Council’s intention is to commence
negotiations in the next financial year.
HONORARIA AND ACTING UP SCHEMES
35. The Council has schemes for payment where an employee acts up into a post at a
higher level of pay (Acting Up Scheme) or where they undertake additional duties at a
higher level of responsibility (Honoraria Scheme). These schemes are applicable for
all Council employees, excluding teachers, however for the financial year 2019/20 use
of the Honoraria Scheme will continue to be withdrawn in order to manage an ongoing
budgetary pressure.
ANNUAL LEAVE
Green Book and Craft employees, Chief Officers and Operational Managers
36. The annual leave entitlement is 27 days, rising to 32 days after 5 years’ service. Plus
8 bank holidays.
Other Employees
37. The annual leave entitlement for JNC Youth & Community is 30 days, rising to 35
days after 5 years’ service. The Soulbury entitlement is 25 days rising to 30 days
after 5 years’ service. Plus 8 bank holidays and 4 extra statutory days for both groups.
38. The entitlements to annual leave are pro rata for part time employees.
39. The Council has in place an Annual Leave Purchase scheme, whereby employees
can purchase up to 10 days annual leave, which is then payable by monthly

Page7369

deductions during the leave year. As at January 2018, 192 employees had accessed
the scheme in the 2017/18 annual leave year.
GENDER PAY GAP REPORT
40. The Council has published a Gender Pay Gap report as part of its Annual Equalities
Monitoring Report. The Council has a Job Evaluation process to determine the
grades for all posts which ensures that men and woman receive equal pay for work of
equal value. The following Gender Pay Gap information sets out the differences in
the average pay between men and women (excluding schools) as at 31st March 2018,
compared with 31st March 2017:

Male
Female
Pay Gap

2017
Mean Hourly
Rate
13.40
12.97
3.21%

2017
Median Hourly
Rate
12.01
11.27
6.16%

2018
Mean Hourly
Rate
13.65
13.21
3.22%

2018 Median
Hourly Rate
12.32
11.74
4.71%

41. The mean average involves adding up all of the hourly rates and dividing the result by
how many numbers were in the list. The median average involves listing all of the
hourly rates in numerical order. If there is an odd number of results, the median
average is the middle number. If there is an even number of results, the median will
be the mean of the two central numbers.
42. The difference in the median pay gap from 6.16% to 4.71%, a decrease of 1.45%.
The mean average has stayed relatively the same between 2017 and 2018. The
median average of 6.16% in 2017 compared with 4.71% in 2018 gives and overall
decrease of 1.45%. This decrease is due to a slight reduction in the number of
females, and slight increase in the number of males, employed by the Council.
43. When schools are included, the Gender Pay Gap information as at 31st March 2018,
compared with 31st March 2017 is as follows:

Male
Female
Pay Gap

2017
Mean Hourly
Rate
14.93
14.48
3.01%

2017
Median Hourly
Rate
12.78
12.19
4.62%

2018
Mean Hourly
Rate
14.98
14.56
2.80%

2018 Median
Hourly Rate
12.61
12.13
3.81%

The UK Government’s Equalities Office recently stated that women working in the
public sector are paid on average 19.0% less than men compared to 23.8% less for
women in the private sector
44. The quartile table below shows the proportion of male and female full-pay relevant
employees (excluding schools) in four quartile pay bands, which is calculated by
8
Page 370

dividing the workforce into four equal parts. If there are number of employees on the
same hourly rate of pay crossing two of the quartiles, males and females are split as
evenly as possible across the quartiles.
2017
Quartiles
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4

2018

Male

Female

Male

Female

Male
Difference

Female
Difference

24.40%
30.20%
33.80%
28.10%

75.60%
69.80%
66.20%
71.90%

24.44%
30.02%
34.42%
28.83%

75.56%
69.98%
65.58%
71.17%

0.04%
-0.18%
0.62%
0.73%

-0.04%
0.18%
-0.62%
-0.73%

PENSIONS AND REDUNDANCY/SEVERANCE PAYMENTS
45. All Council employees (with the exception of teachers) are entitled to join the local
government pension scheme (LGPS) which is offered by the Local Government
Employers. If employees are eligible they will automatically become a member of the
scheme (to join they must have a contract for at least 3 months duration and be under
the age of 75). Employees can decide to opt out of the scheme. The benefits and
contributions payable under the Fund are set out in the LGPS regulations.
46. The current level of contribution to the scheme by employees is:

Band

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

Contribution table since 2017/18
Actual pensionable Contribution rate for that
pay for an
employment
employment
Main
50/50 section
Up to £14,100
5.50%
2.75%
£14,101 to £22,000
5.80%
2.90%
£22,101 to £35,700
6.50%
3.25%
£35,701 to £45,200
6.80%
3.40%
£45,201 to £63,100
8.50%
4.25%
£61,301 to £89,400
9.90%
4.95%
£89,401 to £105,200 10.50%
5.25%
£105,201 to
11.40%
5.70%
£157,800
£157,801 or more
12.50%
6.25%

47. Teachers are entitled to join the Teachers’ Pensions scheme. As the Teachers
Pensions scheme is operated externally further information can be found on
www.teacherspensions.co.uk.
48. The Council’s current published statement relating to pensions was agreed by the
Cabinet on 12th June 2014 for implementation in 30th June 2014 and the relevant
document is available on the Council’s website. A change to the way redundancy

Page9371

payments are calculated was agreed by Cabinet on 26th January 2015 as part of the
Voluntary Redundancy Policy, and is detailed below in paragraph 51.
49. The document provides details of the Council’s policy on making discretionary
payments on early termination of employment under Regulation 7 of the Local
Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation)
(England and Wales) Regulations 2006. The document also provides details of the
Council’s policy on increasing an employee’s total pension scheme membership and
on awarding additional pension under Regulation 66 of the Local Government
Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008.
50. The arrangements set out in the document referred to in paragraph 49 apply to all
employees of the Council irrespective of grade or status. The most relevant sections
are detailed below:
(i) The power to pay lump sum compensation of up to 104 weeks - the Council’s
policy for utilising this discretion is that the statutory redundancy table is multiplied
by a factor of 1.5 subject to a maximum of 45 weeks from 3rd April 2015.
(ii) The power to Increase a Statutory Redundancy Payment – the Council’s
policy for utilising this discretion is that redundancy payments to be based on
actual week’s pay up to a maximum of £508 per week (as at 6th April 2018) or
actual pay whichever is the lesser. The maximum figure to be adjusted by the
statutory amount for a week’s pay, as announced annually by the Department of
Business Innovation and Skills.
51. The policy effective since 5 April 2015 has been amended to take account of the
decision of an Employment Appeal Tribunal (EAT) in the case of University of
Sunderland v Drossou (13 June 2017). The EAT ruled that employer’s pension
contributions should be included in the calculation of a week’s pay for calculations
made under the Employment Rights Act 1996 (ERA). Sections 220-229 of the ERA
set out the rules regarding the ‘week’s pay provisions’ and the way a week’s pay is
used, which includes the calculation of redundancy pay.
52. The EAT held that a week’s pay should include remuneration ‘payable by the
employer under the contract of employment’ and that this value should not be limited
by what the employee directly receives. The rationale offered by the EAT was that
employer’s pension contributions formed part of the overall package of ‘remuneration’
offered to an employee in return for their services. The result of this is that, where
appropriate, the employer’s pension contributions are been included in the
calculation, subject to the £508 maximum.
RE-EMPLOYMENT OF STAFF
53. Since 1st April 2015, the Council has had a policy regarding re-employment of
employees (at any level) who take voluntary redundancy from the Council which was
agreed at Cabinet on 26th January 2015.

10
Page 372

54. The Council’s agreed policy is that employees requesting voluntary redundancy have
to agree to the condition that given the Council’s obligation to safeguard public funds,
they will be precluded from returning to employment (which includes permanent,
temporary, casual and agency) within the Council (including schools) for a period of
12 months from the date of their termination.
55. The Council does not believe that it employs any individual in a manner that seeks to
avoid tax.
56. Within the Council, under the pension fund discretionary policies there is generally no
abatement of pension following re-employment except under the following
circumstances:
(i)

Where a person has been awarded compensatory added years (CAY's) under the
LGPS Compensation Regulations the pension may be abated. This is a
requirement of the compensation regulations but these will be historical cases as
CAY's can no longer be granted.

(ii)

Where a person has retired under tier 1 ill health provisions and is subsequently
re-employed. This is because the certification for tier 1 supposes that the person
is permanently unfit for all work. Other tiers of ill health or other retirements would
not lead to abatement on re-employment.

57. Abatement, where it applies, would be based on non betterment that is the pension
together with the pay in the new employment should not exceed the pay at the point
of retirement (adjusted for pension increases). Under (i) the abatement would only
apply to the pension from CAY's.
NON GUARANTEED WORKING HOURS
58. In December 2016 the Welsh Government issued principles and guidance on the
appropriate use of non-guaranteed hours arrangements in the devolved public
services in Wales. These principles and guidance were developed by the Public
Services Staff Commission in social partnership with the Welsh Government’s
Partnership Council and its sector groups. The Council is committed to the principles
determined by Welsh Government which apply to those employees who are
employed on a relief, casual or sessional basis. These employees are used in
services within the Council where there is either a need to bring in an additional
workforce in order to cover peaks in workload or where the workload is on a one off
basis.
ACCOUNTABILITY AND DECISION MAKING
59. In accordance with the Constitution of the Council the Cabinet are responsible for
decision making in terms of pay, terms and conditions and redundancy arrangements
in relation to employees of the Council. The exception to this is that the Employment
Conditions Committee is responsible for posts at Chief Officer level and above.

Page11373

60. In accordance with the Localism Act 2011 redundancy packages above £100,000 for
Chief Officers must be agreed by full Council. The redundancy package includes any
redundancy payment (from 3 April 2015, statutory redundancy pay of 30 weeks plus
an additional 15 weeks), contractual notice period and full cost of early release of
pension (as required under Regulation 68(2) of the Local Government Pension
Scheme).
61. An updated Pay Policy Statement will be agreed by the full Council annually in line
with the legislation and full Council will ensure compliance with the Pay Policy
Statement.
REVIEW OF THE POLICY
62. This Pay Policy Statement will be kept under review and developments considered in
the light of external best practice and legislation. The Pay Policy Statement may also
be reviewed as part of the Council’s existing Scrutiny arrangements. The Council will
ensure the Pay Policy Statement is updated on an annual basis in line with the
requirement of the Localism Act 2011. The annual Pay Policy Statement will be
submitted to Cabinet, and then full Council by March of each year.

12
Page 374

National Joint Council for Local Government Services
Employers’ Secretary:
Simon Pannell

Trade Union Secretaries
Rehana Azam, GMB
Jim Kennedy, Unite
Heather Wakefield, UNISON

Address for correspondence:
Local Government Association
18 Smith Square
London SW1P 3HZ
Tel: 020 7187 7373
info@local.gov.uk

To:

Address for correspondence:
UNISON Centre
130 Euston Road
London NW1 2AY
Tel: 0845 3550845
localgovernment@unison.co.uk

Chief Executives in England, Wales and N Ireland
(copies for the Finance Director and HR Director)
Members of the National Joint Council

10 April 2018

Dear Chief Executive,

2018 and 2019 PAYSCALES & ALLOWANCES
Agreement has been reached between the National Employers and the NJC Trade Union
Side on rates of pay applicable from 1 April 2018 and 1 April 2019.
UNISON and GMB both voted to accept whilst Unite voted to reject. However, in line with the
Constitution of the NJC, Unite accepts the collective majority decision of the other unions
that the pay award should now be implemented.
The new pay rates are attached at Annex 1.
The new rates for allowances up-rated by two per cent in each year are set out at Annex 2.

Yours sincerely

Simon

Rehana

Jim

Pannell

Azam

Kennedy

Simon Pannell

Rehana Azam

Jim Kennedy

Joint Secretaries

Page 1 of 5
Page
375

Heather Wakefield

ANNEX 1
1 April 2017

1 April 2018

1 April 2019

SCP
£ per
annum

£ per
hour*

£ per
annum

£ per
hour*

6

£15,014

£7.78

£16,394

£8.50

7

£15,115

£7.83

£16,495

£8.55

8

£15,246

£7.90

£16,626

£8.62

9

£15,375

£7.97

£16,755

£8.68

10

£15,613

£8.09

£16,863

£8.74

11

£15,807

£8.19

£17,007

£8.82

12

£16,123

£8.36

£17,173

£8.90

13

£16,491

£8.55

£17,391

£9.01

14

£16,781

£8.70

£17,681

£9.16

15

£17,072

£8.85

£17,972

£9.32

16

£17,419

£9.03

£18,319

£9.50

17

£17,772

£9.21

£18,672

£9.68

18

£18,070

£9.37

£18,870

19

£18,746

£9.72

20

£19,430

£10.07

Old
SCP[s]

New
SCP

£ per
annum

£ per
hour*

1

£17,364

£9.00

6/7

2

£17,711

£9.18

8/9

3

£18,065

£9.36

10/11

4

£18,426

£9.55

12/13

5

£18,795

£9.74

14/15

6

£19,171

£9.94

16/17

£9.78

7

£19,554

£10.14

18

£19,446

£10.08

8

£19,945

£10.34

19

£19,819

£10.27

9

£20,344

£10.54

20

10

£20,751

£10.76

21

£20,138

£10.44

£20,541

£10.65

11

£21,166

£10.97

21

22

£20,661

£10.71

£21,074

£10.92

12

£21,589

£11.19

22

13

£22,021

£11.41

23

£21,268

£11.02

£21,693

£11.24

14

£22,462

£11.64

23

24

£21,962

£11.38

£22,401

£11.61

15

£22,911

£11.88

24

16

£23,369

£12.11

17

£23,836

£12.35

18

£24,313

£12.60

25

£22,658

£11.74

£23,111

£11.98

25

26

£23,398

£12.13

£23,866

£12.37

19

£24,799

£12.85

26

27

£24,174

£12.53

£24,657

£12.78

20

£25,295

£13.11

27

21

£25,801

£13.37

28

£24,964

£12.94

£25,463

£13.20

22

£26,317

£13.64

28

29

£25,951

£13.45

£26,470

£13.72

23

£26,999

£13.99

29

30

£26,822

£13.90

£27,358

£14.18

24

£27,905

£14.46

30

31

£27,668

£14.34

£28,221

£14.63

25

£28,785

£14.92

31

32

£28,485

£14.76

£29,055

£15.06

26

£29,636

£15.36

32

33

£29,323

£15.20

£29,909

£15.50

27

£30,507

£15.81

33

34

£30,153

£15.63

£30,756

£15.94

28

£31,371

£16.26

34

35

£30,785

£15.96

£31,401

£16.28

29

£32,029

£16.60

35

36

£31,601

£16.38

£32,233

£16.71

30

£32,878

£17.04

36

Page 2 of 5
Page
376

1 April 2017

1 April 2018

1 April 2019

SCP

Old
SCP[s]

£ per
annum

£ per hour

£ per
annum

£ per
hour

New
SCP

£ per
annum

£ per
hour

37

£32,486

£16.84

£33,136

£17.18

31

£33,799

£17.52

37

38

£33,437

£17.33

£34,106

£17.68

32

£34,788

£18.03

38

39

£34,538

£17.90

£35,229

£18.26

33

£35,934

£18.63

39

40

£35,444

£18.37

£36,153

£18.74

34

£36,876

£19.11

40

41

£36,379

£18.86

£37,107

£19.23

35

£37,849

£19.62

41

42

£37,306

£19.34

£38,052

£19.72

36

£38,813

£20.12

42

43

£38,237

£19.82

£39,002

£20.22

37

£39,782

£20.62

43

44

£39,177

£20.31

£39,961

£20.71

38

£40,760

£21.13

44

45

£40,057

£20.76

£40,858

£21.18

39

£41,675

£21.60

45

46

£41,025

£21.26

£41,846

£21.69

40

£42,683

£22.12

46

47

£41,967

£21.75

£42,806

£22.19

41

£43,662

£22.63

47

48

£42,899

£22.24

£43,757

£22.68

42

£44,632

£23.13

48

49

£43,821

£22.71

£44,697

£23.17

43

£45,591

£23.63

49

*hourly rate calculated by dividing annual salary by 52.143 weeks (which is 365 days divided by 7) and then divided by 37 hours (the
standard working week in the National Agreement ‘Green Book’)

Page 3 of 5
Page
377

ANNEX 2

Part 3 Paragraph 2.6(e) Sleeping-in Duty Payment:
1 April 2018
£35.37

1 April 2019
£36.08

RATES OF PROTECTED ALLOWANCES AT 1 APRIL 2018 and 1 APRIL 2019
(FORMER APT&C AGREEMENT (PURPLE BOOK))
Paragraph 28(3) Nursery Staffs in Educational Establishments - Special Educational
Needs Allowance
1 April 2018
£1,264

1 April 2019
£1,289

Paragraph 28(14) Laboratory / Workshop Technicians
City and Guilds Science Laboratory Technician’s Certificate Allowance:
1 April 2018
£205

1 April 2019
£209

City and Guilds Laboratory Technician’s Advanced Certificate Allowance:
1 April 2018
£149

1 April 2019
£152

Paragraph 32 London Weighting and Fringe Area Allowances £ Per Annum
Inner Fringe Area:
1 April 2018
£857

1 April 2019
£874

Outer Fringe Area:
1 April 2018
£597

1 April 2019
£609

Paragraph 35 Standby Duty Allowance - Social Workers (1)(a)(i) Allowance - Per
Session
1 April 2018
£28.46

1 April 2019
£29.03

Page 4 of 5
Page
378

FORMER MANUAL WORKER AGREEMENT (WHITE BOOK)
Section 1 Paragraph 3 London and Fringe Area Allowances £ Per Annum
Inner Fringe Area:
1 April 2018
£857

1 April 2019
£874

Outer Fringe Area:
1 April 2018
£597

1 April 2019
£609

Page 5 of 5
Page
379

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 381

Page 382

Page 383

Page 384

Agenda Item 9
CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2019
CARDIFF COUNCIL ENERGY (ELECTRICITY AND GAS)
PROCUREMENT – PURCHASING STRATEGY FOR 2020-2021
FINANCE, MODERNISATION AND PERFORMANCE
(COUNCILLOR CHRIS WEAVER)
AGENDA ITEM: 9
Reason for this Report
1.

To enable Members to consider and approve a minor change to the way
in which the Council purchases energy (electricity and gas) supply for the
period 2020/21 which will allow a continuation of the supply through the
Crown Commerical Servcies (CCS) framework agreement, which is
managed by the National Procurement Services. The contracted value is
£9million per annum

Background
2.

Cardiff Council currently purchases energy (electricity and gas) using the
Crown Commercial Services (CCS) framework agreement, which is
managed by National Procurement Service (NPS) Wales.

3.

The Council is part of a very large portfolio of public sector bodies in this
framework, and this collective customer base has enabled the NPS to
negotiate very favourable terms compared to those available to individual
purchasers. We have been a member of the portfolio for around 12
years.

4.

CCS currently purchase electricity and gas on behalf of participants using
a “trading floor” arrangement. This seeks optimal prices across a 6 month
buying period in advance of the energy supply start date. The tariffs
secured during this period apply for the whole of the following financial
year.

5.

The drawback of this approach is that the final costs are not published
until the close of the six month trading period which is on 31st March
each year, the day before the following year’s supply contract
commences.

Page 385

Page 1 of 5

Issues
6.

At the end of February 2019, a new option was made available to
members of the NPS with regard to forward purchasing of energy for the
2020/21 financial year. In this option the “trading floor” buying period will
be extended to a ten month window during 2019/20, closing at the end of
January 2020 and fixing prices for 2020/21.

7.

One of the benefits of this ten month option is that it is likely to result in
lower wholesale energy costs by providing a longer period during which
to seek optimum price points. Another important benefit is that it also
provides scope for better budget forecasting internally as prices are fixed
in the February prior to the next financial year as opposed to March 31st
under the current arrangement.

8.

Whilst we can opt not to take the ten month option, most other NPS
participants have already opted in. Staying with our current six month
arrangement therefore would leave us in a much smaller pool of
purchasers which is unlikely to attract the most competitive prices.

9.

Signing up to the ten month purchasing strategy now will trigger an
extension to the current framework agreement for an additional one year
period up until March 2021.

10.

The present arrangement was due to end in 2019/20 with a new NPS led
tender process commencing during the financial year, with contracts in
place for the start of 2020/21. This re-tendering process would be
delayed for one year under the new ten month option.

11.

This means that the Council would be committing to spend an estimated/
indicative budget of £9million (Electricity £7million, Gas £2million) for
energy during 2020/21 under the terms of the current contract (as
amended) rather than through a newly procured arrangement as
planned.

12.

The extension is required to allow for the ten month period to operate
fully, but is also partly motivated by a range of other uncertainties,
including the implications of Brexit. The extension therefore provides an
opportunity to avoid new contractual negotiations during this period of
uncertainty.

13.

On balance, therefore, the new ten month option appears to be a
sensible amendment for the Council, which will bring greater cost
certainty and forecasting capability in the short to medium term, pending
the full re-tendering of the NPS contract.

Page 386

Page 2 of 5

Reason for Recommendations
14.

To ensure continuity of energy (electricity and gas) supplies until March
2021.

Financial Implications
15.

Energy price inflation is provided for, each year, in the Council’s budget.
Given that a 5% change in prices results in a £450,000 change in budget
requirement (all other things being equal), any change to procurement
that brings about an increased level of price certainty is welcomed.

16.

From a financial perspective the move to a ten month purchasing
arrangement, which commences in April and concludes in the January
prior to the financial year, is a positive step. Whilst January is still late in
the overall budget process, the fact that the new arrangement starts six
months earlier (in addition to being extended) makes it more likely that a
significant proportion of energy will have been purchased earlier in the
year. As a result, it would be anticipated that the proposed change
should provide a degree of certainty in the forecasting of energy costs
which is lacking under the current arrangement.

17.

It is noted that the proposed arrangements are for one year only. It is
therefore hoped that work will be undertaken as early as possible to
identify the proposed strategy and procurement arrangements moving
forwards, in order that the benefits to the budget process brought about
by this change are not one-off in nature.

Legal Implications
18.

With regards the extension of the Framework, legal services are
instructed that this is being managed by the CCS/NPS and legal services
has not advised in this respect.
Any Call off contract must be carried out in accordance with the Call Off
Process set out in the Framework Agreement. Legal Services are
instructed that the process proposed accords with the Framework
Agreement and call off process. It should be noted that the terms and
conditions will be those as set down by the Framework Agreement and
the client department should satisfy themselves as to whether they are
suitable for their requirements.
Equalities Duties.
In considering this matter the decision maker must have regard to the
Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010. Pursuant to these legal
duties Councils must, in making decisions, have due regard to the need
to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of
opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of protected
characteristics. Protected characteristics are: (a). Age,( b ) Gender
reassignment( c ) Sex (d) Race – including ethnic or national origin,
colour or nationality, (e) Disability, (f) Pregnancy and maternity, (g)

Page 387

Page 3 of 5

Marriage and civil partnership, (h)Sexual orientation (i)Religion or belief –
including lack of belief.
The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’) places
a ‘well-being duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national wellbeing goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, healthier,
more equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and thriving
Welsh language, and is globally responsible.
In discharging its duties under the Act, the Council has set and published
well being objectives designed to maximise its contribution to achieving
the national well being goals. The well being objectives are set out in
Cardiff’s Corporate Plan 2018-21: http://cmsprd.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/YourCouncil/Strategies-plans-and-policies/CorporatePlan/Documents/Corporate%20Plan%202018-21.pdf When exercising
its functions, the Council is required to take all reasonable steps to meet
its well being objectives. This means that the decision makers should
consider how the proposed decision will contribute towards meeting the
well being objectives and must be satisfied that all reasonable steps have
been taken to meet those objectives.
The well being duty also requires the Council to act in accordance with a
‘sustainable development principle’. This principle requires the Council
to act in a way which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are
met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their
own needs. Put simply, this means that Council decision makers must
take account of the impact of their decisions on people living their lives in
Wales in the future. In doing so, the Council must:
a) Look to the long term
b) Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of problems
c) Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the 7 national well-being
goals
d) Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable solutions
e) Involve people from all sections of the community in the decisions
which affect them
The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposed decision accords
with the principles above; and due regard must be given to the Statutory
Guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers, which is accessible using the
link below: http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/futuregenerations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en
The decision maker should be satisfied that the procurement is in
accordance within the financial and budgetary policy and represents
value for money for the council.
RECOMMENDATIONS
Cabinet is recommended to

Page 388

Page 4 of 5

1.

Approve an extension of the Council’s energy (electricity and gas) supply
arrangements with Crown Commercial Services and the National
Procurement Services until March 2021

2.

Approve that the Council opt into the ten month advance purchasing
arrangements for the 2020/21 supply arrangements,

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER

CHRISTOPHER LEE
Corporate Director Resources
15 March 2019

Page 389

Page 5 of 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2019
CARDIFF OLDER PERSONS’ HOUSING STRATEGY 2019-2023
HOUSING & COMMUNITIES (COUNCILLOR LYNDA THORNE)
AGENDA ITEM: 10
Reason for this Report
1.

To seek approval for the Cardiff Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 20192023.

2.

To seek approval for amendments to the Cardiff Housing Allocation
Scheme in connection with the objectives of the Older Persons’ Housing
Strategy.

Background
3.

By 2037 the number of people in Cardiff aged 65 to 84 will increase by
42%, while those aged 85 and over will nearly double. The number of
people in Cardiff with dementia is projected to increase by 67% for those
aged 65+ and by 85% for those aged 85+ over the period 2015 to 2035.
Population ageing and higher incidence of age-related health conditions
and mobility issues will put major pressures on Social Care services and
budgets and is likely to result in more people needing specialist
accommodation or assistance that cannot be delivered in their current
homes.

4.

It is clear from a range of studies that appropriate older persons’ housing
can help people to stay independent for longer, reduce the pressure on
health and social care budgets, and help meet the needs of the
increasing population of older people.

Research into Housing Needs
5.

During 2018 the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Partnership
Board commissioned independent research to identify the future housing
and associated care requirements of older people across the region and
to inform future capital investment programmes for housing. This
research was carried out by The Housing Learning and Improvement
Network (LIN), a network that brings together housing, health and social
care professionals in England and Wales to exemplify innovative housing
solutions for an ageing population.

Page 391

Page 1 of 9

6.

The research reviewed the current provision of older persons’ housing
and modelled likely future demand, based on demographic change. A
recommended number, location and type of housing required over the
next 20 years was identified. The research findings provide the evidence
base upon which the Cardiff Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 2019-2023
has been developed.

7.

As part of this research a survey of older residents was carried out, to
identify future housing plans and aspirations and to capture the views of
those already living in older persons’ accommodation.

Issues
Current Provision
8.

Overall there is a range of housing for older people in Cardiff (in terms of
both type and tenure), however provision is limited outside the north and
west of the city. In particular there is limited extra care / housing with
care. Extra care housing is fully accessible, self-contained
accommodation with 24 hour on-site personal care support, with
communal facilities and activity rooms, designed with the needs of older
people with higher levels of care and support in mind.

9.

Specialised older persons’ housing of this type can help sustain
independent living and in some cases prevent the need for residential
care. Comparison of the cost of general residential care for people aged
65+ and extra care housing indicates that extra care housing is on
average 57% of the weekly cost of residential care. There is potential to
increase the provision of extra care housing going forward, and use this
as a direct alternative to the use of general residential care beds.

10.

Extra Care facilities can however be expensive both to build and to
operate and it is possible that with some adaptation, the current sheltered
housing schemes could offer a lower cost alternative and still meet the
needs of the frail elderly. Funding changes have however resulted in
some reduction in the on-site support available in sheltered schemes.
There is a need to review the provision of this support to meet future
needs and explore upgrading some existing sheltered housing schemes
to “Sheltered Plus” or “Extra Care Light”.

11.

More work is also needed to better understand how well other existing
properties can meet the future needs of the older population, in terms of
condition, facilities and location.

Estimated Future Need
12.

There is an estimated need for an additional 3,051 units of older persons’
accommodation by 2035. This is based on demographic change and
projected population growth. The increase is broken down as follows:
 Older persons’ housing (Care Ready / Sheltered and Private
Retirement Housing) – 1,787 units (353 rental, 1,434 ownership)

Page 392

Page 2 of 9





Extra Care/Housing with care – 609 units (232 rental, 377
ownership)
Residential care – 0 beds
Nursing care – 655 beds.

Meeting Future Need
Rented Provision
13.

The Council and partner RSLs are committed to continuing to deliver new
affordable housing to meet need, including accommodation specifically
for older people and accessible/flexible accommodation that allows for
‘ageing in place’.

14.

A development plan has been prepared to reduce the gap between
supply and demand. Approximately 700 units of affordable older persons’
accommodation are planned over the period 2020 to 2030, of which
approximately 600 will be for rent. This will deliver purpose built, ‘care
ready’ accessible and sustainable community living schemes, providing a
‘home for life’ which enables a resident to live independently.

15.

If all planned schemes proceed, this could meet the identified need for
rented accommodation of 585 units, if designed appropriately. However,
it is unlikely that all existing older persons’ provision will meet future
requirements and some may need to be decommissioned. Therefore,
there is an ongoing need to seek future development opportunities. The
Council will work with key partners to develop a full plan for future
development.

Private Provision
16.

Previous planning policy, while allowing for the development of new older
persons’ housing, has not been proactive in encouraging additional
provision. The new version of Planning Policy Wales is far clearer in the
role planning should play in promoting older persons’ housing and
requires the authority to set specific targets for older persons’ housing
and to work with developers to achieve this. Focus on promoting private
older persons’ housing will be needed if the estimated additional 1,811
‘for sale’ homes are to be delivered.

Nursing Care Provision
17.

The estimated need for 655 additional nursing home beds, is equally very
challenging. There is a need to review current models of care home
provision, and models of workforce, to develop innovative and creative
accommodation, care and health services which can meet the needs of
our most frail and vulnerable residents.

People
18.

Cardiff’s Independent Living Services provides a wide range of support
focused on helping older people to stay independent at home.

Page 393

Page 3 of 9

Considerable success has been achieved to date. To the end of
December, 75% of clients who had contacted Independent Living
Services had been supported to stay at home without Social Services
intervention. Currently these services are partially funded by ICF grant.
There is a need to ensure that future funding for these services is
maintained. Cardiff has also invested in disabled adaptations to support
independence. There is a need to ensure that best use is made of
adapted homes and to monitor the level of funding needed going foward.
19.

There are considerable advantages to older people in downsizing to
more appropriate accommodation and this can play a significant part in
helping them to stay independent at home. When asked as part of the
Housing LIN survey, older people were often unaware of the different
housing options available and concerned about the financial, legal and
practical issues associated with moving. There is a need going forward to
improve the specialist housing advice and support available to older
people. The development of an Older Persons and Accessible Homes
Unit is proposed to provide specialist housing advice for all older people,
support people with disabilities to access adapted properties and assist
older people to downsize to more appropriate accommodation.

20.

While it is possible to bring together existing services to form this new
Unit, some additional investment is needed to take this forward and a
pressures bid has been made for this funding. There may also be TUPE
implications, as part of this change includes bringing into the Council
services currently provided by a partner RSL. This has been discussed
with the organisation concerned and no issues have been raised. A
number of other RSLs have expressed interest in contributing funding
towards this service subject to agreement on the detailed service design.

21.

The current social housing allocation process does not take into account
the housing choices of older applicants and wellbeing issues such as
social isolation and the need for safety and security are not fully recorded
or reflected in the allocation process. There is a need to review the
waiting list and allocation arrangements for older persons’, extra care and
adapted accommodation to ensure that those most in need are
prioritised, to fully reflect the housing choices and wider needs of older
people and to support those who wish to downsize.

Community
22.

Connection to the community is key to the wellbeing of many older
people. Social isolation is comparable to health risks such as smoking
and alcohol consumption. The Council already has a number of plans to
support older people to engage in their community, including the
development of Community Wellbeing Hubs in the north and west of the
city. The Strategy sets out a number of proposals to build on this using
the Council’s community living schemes for wider community use,
providing health and wellbeing events and activities across the city, and
further development of a dementia friendly approach.

Page 394

Page 4 of 9

The Cardiff Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 2019-2023
23.

Responding to these key issues, the Cardiff Older Persons’ Strategy
2019-2023 has been developed and is attached at Appendix 1. The
Strategy sets out the responses required to achieve a suitable supply of
different accommodation types to enable older people to live
independently. It also sets out the services and support that are currently
in place and the changes that will be needed to meet the needs of the
aging population and address wider health and social care priorities.

24.

Vision
The Strategy includes an overarching vision ‘to deliver the best
housing outcomes for all older people in Cardiff’.

25.

Key Aims
Supporting this are a number of key aims, to:
 Deliver new homes that meet older persons’ housing needs and
aspirations
 Improve our existing homes to ensure they are fit for purpose and
support independent living
 Plan new homes and communities to address future housing and
care needs across all tenures
 Provide person-centred information, advice and assistance
 Help older people to maintain their independence for longer
 Ensure the needs of the most vulnerable are met
 Build stronger, inclusive communities and tackle social isolation.

26.

‘We Will’ Commitments
A number of “We Will” commitments have been identified to meet the
requirements set out in this report, and these are outlined in the Strategy
at pages 9 to 11.

27.

Action Plan
Going forward, a full action plan is under development with partners to
implement these commitments over the life of the Strategy.

Proposed Changes to the Cardiff Housing Allocation Scheme
28.

A number of the findings from the Housing LIN report and subsequent
Strategy could be addressed through amendments to the Cardiff Housing
Allocation Scheme. To ensure that the needs of older people and those
with specific needs are met, the following changes to the Scheme are
proposed:
Social Isolation
Where a person indicates that they are suffering social isolation, feel
unsafe in their current accommodation or are at risk of falls, they will be
considered for Community Living/Sheltered Accommodation before other
older people with similar housing needs in the same band who do not
have these concerns.

Page 395

Page 5 of 9

Need to Remain within the Community


The majority of applicants on the Housing Waiting List are eligible for
2 reasonable offers of accommodation. Where an older person (60+)
wishes to stay within the community or move to a community to be
nearer their support/family networks, further offers will be made to
find the right housing solution for them.



Older People (60+) who have an assessed need to stay in a specific
area will be given prior consideration for properties in that area
before others in the same band with similar housing needs who have
no need to live in that area.



Transfers within Community Living/Designated Older Persons
housing schemes can be arranged outside of the Allocation Scheme
at management discretion, providing the person has a need for that
type of accommodation (e.g. accessible or adapted accommodation).

Downsizing


Older people (60+) who want to downsize will be allowed more than
2 reasonable offers to allow for greater flexibility in type, size and
location of properties.



Where the transfer of an older tenant (60+) would result in releasing
a property to rehouse another applicant/s on the waiting list in
immediate or urgent priority a flexible approach will be taken to
facilitate this move.
This may include offers of accommodation
larger than the older person requires (subject to affordability
assessment) or in a specific location. This will be balanced against
the needs of other applicants on the waiting list.

This more person centred approach will be facilitated by the new Older
Persons and Accessible Homes Unit. The changes will help address
immediate issues relating to older people and it is recommended that
these are implemented as soon as possible. A full review of the Cardiff
Housing Allocation Scheme is planned for 2019/20.
Consultation and Equality Impact Assessment
29.

As part of the Housing LIN research a survey was carried out, to identify
the future housing plans and aspirations of older people in the city and to
capture the views of those already living in older persons’
accommodation. This was undertaken through a postal survey and a
number of focus groups, with the methodology adopted ensuring the
exercise was representative of Cardiff’s diverse older population. The
findings of this exercise have informed the Older Persons’ Housing
Strategy.

30.

44% of older people surveyed were considering a move in the future. The
main reasons given were to live in a smaller or more accessible home. Of
the respondents considering a move, 46% expressed a preference for a

Page 396

Page 6 of 9

bungalow, whilst 58% wanted a 2 bedroom property. The safety and
security of any future accommodation was an important consideration. A
move to specialist older persons’ accommodation was more popular
among those who were renting than those who owned their own home.
31.

Consultation on the draft strategy document was conducted with
Members and stakeholders including Health, Adult Social Care, RSLs
and the Cardiff 50+ Forum in February 2019.

32.

An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out on the Strategy, a
copy of which can be found at Appendix 2.

Scrutiny Consideration
33.

The Community and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee considered this
issue on 6 March. Their comments are included at Appendix 3.

Reason for Recommendations
34.

The Cardiff Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 2019-2023 will ensure that
the Council has current and relevant strategic plans in place to meet the
housing needs of older people.

35.

To amend the Cardiff Housing Allocation Scheme to better reflect the
needs and wishes of older people.

Financial Implications
36.

A revenue budget pressure bid has been agreed to support the
development of an older persons and accessible homes unit as part of
the budget proposals for 2019/20.

37.

Any specific proposals developed as part of the strategy will need to
consider the detailed capital programme and revenue budget implications
as part of detailed business cases or viability assessments as part of
housing schemes and be included in the Medium Term Financial Plan
and Budget Framework. Where such commitments are funded by grants,
this will need consideration of the detailed terms and conditions.

Legal Implications
38.

All decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council must (a) be within the
legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement
imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person
exercising powers on behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in
accordance with the procedural requirements imposed by the Council; (e)
be fully and properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken
having regard to the Council’s fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be
reasonable and proper in all the circumstances.

39.

The Council must provide an allocation scheme for determining priorities
between qualifying persons. The Council must afford all registered

Page 397

Page 7 of 9

providers of social housing and registered social landlords with whom it
has nomination arrangements the opportunity to comment on an
allocation scheme before it is altered in any way that reflects a major
change of policy.
40.

The Council has to satisfy its public sector duties under the Equalities Act
2010 (including specific Welsh public sector duties). Pursuant to these
legal duties Councils must in making decisions have due regard to the
need to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of
opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of protected
characteristics.

41.

The report identifies that an Equality Impact Assessment has been
carried out and is appended at Appendix 2. The purpose of the Equality
Impact Assessment is to ensure that the Council has understood the
potential impacts of the proposal in terms of equality so that it can ensure
that it is making proportionate and rational decisions having due regard
to its public sector equality duty. The decision maker must have due
regard to the Equality Impact Assessment in making its decision.

42.

The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’) places
a ‘well-being duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national wellbeing goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, healthier,
more equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and thriving
Welsh language, and is globally responsible.

43.

The well-being duty also requires the Council to act in accordance with a
‘sustainable development principle’. This principle requires the Council to
act in a way which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own
needs. Put simply, this means that Council decision makers must take
account of the impact of their decisions on people living their lives in
Wales in the future.

HR Implications
44.

There are a number of HR implications for the proposals set out in the
report, both for Council employees and potentially employees within an
external organisation. With this in mind there has been initial consultation
with Trade Unions and the employees potentially affected both within and
outside of the Council. This consultation will continue once a decision
has been made.

45.

Any changes for Council employees will be managed within our
corporately agreed restructure processes which will support employees
through any potential changes in structures. Any new roles will follow the
agreed job evaluation process and the Council’s recruitment and
selection processes.

46.

The proposal does include potential possible transfer of employees to the
Council from an external organisation. If this is the case then it will be
managed within the requirements of the Transfer of Undertakings

Page 398

Page 8 of 9

(Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE). Full consultation
will take place with the affected employees and their contractual terms
and conditions will be protected.
RECOMMENDATIONS
Cabinet is recommended to agree
1.

the Cardiff Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 2019-2023 as set out at
Appendix 1.

2.

the proposed changes to the Cardiff Housing Allocation Scheme as set
out at paragraph 28.

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER

SARAH MCGILL
Corporate Director People &
Communities
15 March 2019

The following appendices are attached:
Appendix 1 - The Cardiff Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 2019-2023
Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment
Appendix 3 - Letter from Chair of Scrutiny
The following background papers have been taken into account:
Assessment of Older Persons’ Housing and Accommodation including with
Care and Care Ready (Housing LIN)

Page 399

Page 9 of 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Cardiff Older Persons
Housing Strategy [DRAFT]
2019-2023

Page 401

“This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg.”

Contents
Contents
Chapter

Page

Introduction

3

Implementing the Older Persons
Housing Strategy

4

Key Findings

5

Summary of Commitments

9

National Policy Context

12

Local Policy Context

14

Cardiff’s Older Population

15

Types of Older Persons’ Housing

18

How Can Housing Help? - Key
Messages from Research

20

The Comparative Benefits of Older
Persons’ Housing

21

Understanding Housing Need

22

Meeting Future Demand

30

People

41

The Importance of Community

63

Equalities

69

Page 402

2

Introduction
This Older Persons’ Housing Strategy sets out
how the Council and partners will shape and
deliver housing and related services for older
people that meet a variety of needs and
aspirations, and how this provision can help
address wider health and social care priorities.
The age at which someone is defined as ‘older’
varies between national, regional and local
contexts. It is acknowledged that many people
defined as older do not consider themselves to
be ‘old’, however some will begin to
experience physical decline or deterioration in
their 50’s and may begin to actively plan for
their retirement, including considering more
suitable accommodation. This strategy covers
those aged 50 and above, with a focus on the
older age ranges and people with specific
needs.

Housing Challenges of an Ageing
Population
Like many other areas, Cardiff’s older
population
is
projected to increase
considerably over the next 20 years. This
presents a number of housing challenges.
Increased incidence of age-related conditions
such as mobility or sensory impairment, frailty
and chronic diseases, means that more
residents are likely to require specialist
accommodation or additional assistance to
remain living in their current homes.

maintained environment increases the risk of
trips and falls, whilst a damp or cold home can
cause or exacerbate respiratory conditions.

Accommodation that is difficult to access or
which is located away from friends, family or
services can reduce mobility and the ability to
participate in the community, contributing to
loneliness and social isolation.
Housing choices are often influenced by a
range of factors including physical health; care
and support needs; finances; and current
accommodation. This strategy acknowledges
the diversity of older peoples’ housing
aspirations and wants. However, increasingly
constrained resources and rising demand for
services mean that the rehousing needs of
vulnerable older people, and those living in
accommodation that is detrimental to their
quality of life, must be prioritised.

This Strategy brings together the responses
required to address these challenges and
Poor or unsuitable housing can impact
achieve a suitable supply and balance of
disproportionately on older peoples’ physical
accommodation types, enabling older people
and mental health, independence and wellto live independently for as long as possible,
being. For example, a badly designed or
with access to appropriate services and
Pagesupport.
403
3

Implementing the Older Persons’ Housing Strategy
Partnership working will be integral to taking
forward this Strategy. This will include
collaboration between Housing, Social Care
and Planning within the Council, and with
other key partners including Health,
Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) and housing
developers. An action plan will be developed
to monitor progress. This will be updated
regularly, feeding into the Cardiff Housing
Strategy annual report.

Vision and Key Aims
In implementing this Strategy, the vision of the Council and partners is:

‘To deliver the best housing outcomes for
all older people in Cardiff’.
Supporting this vision are a number of key aims:



Deliver new homes that meet older persons’ housing needs and
aspirations;



Improve our existing homes to ensure they are fit for purpose;



Plan new homes and communities to address future housing and care
needs across all tenures;



Provide person-centred information, advice and assistance;



Help older people maintain their independence for longer;



Ensure the needs of the most vulnerable are met;



Build stronger, inclusive communities and tackle social isolation.

Page 404

4

Key

Key Findings
AN INCREASING AGING POPULATION
By 2037 the number of people aged 65 to 84 will increase by 42% while those
aged 85 and over will nearly double. This is likely to result in more people
needing specialist accommodation or assistance that cannot be delivered in
their current homes.
The number of people in Cardiff with dementia is projected to increase by 67%
for those aged 65+ and by 85% for those aged 85+ over the period 2015 to
2035. This together with higher incidence of age-related health conditions and
mobility issues will put major pressures on Social Care services and budgets.
The findings from a range of research clearly show the benefits of suitable older
persons’ housing in supporting independence and reducing the need for
residential care, with associated savings to Health and Social Care budgets.

THE COMPARITIVE BENEFITS OF OLDER PERSONS’
HOUSING
The cost of extra care housing is on average 57% of the weekly cost of
residential care.
There is a need to maximise the preventative benefits of housing and optimise
use of specialist accommodation to make more effective use of the resources
available.

UNDERSTANDING HOUSING NEED
There is a range of social rented and private retirement housing offers for older
people in Cardiff; however provision is limited outside the north and west of
the city. There is limited extra care housing/housing with care provision and this
will restrict the potential cost reductions that can be achieved for Social Care
and Health commissioners.
There is an estimated additional need for 3,051 units of older persons’
accommodation by 2035. This increase is broken down as follows:
Older persons’ housing – 1,787 units (353 rental, 1,434 ownership)
Housing with care – 609 units (232 rental, 377 ownership)
Nursing care – 655 beds
There is uncertainty about the condition of current older persons’ housing in the
social sector and the facilities that are offered, more work is needed to
understand how well these properties can meet the future needs of the older
Page 405
population.

5

UNDERSTANDING HOUSING NEED continued...
28% of older people surveyed were planning a move within the next 5 years,
most wanted a 2 bedroom property (58%). Specialist older persons’
accommodation was more popular among those who were renting than those
who owned their own home.

MEETING FUTURE DEMAND
A range of schemes for building new older person/care ready affordable homes
are already planned and these will deliver 741 new homes by 2030 of which 434
will be Council homes, 207 RSL homes and 100 for private ownership.
If all schemes go ahead this will exceed the estimated additional need for rented
accommodation of 585 units however, it is unlikely that all existing older
persons’ accommodation will meet future requirements and some may need to
be decommissioned. Therefore, we will continue to seek opportunities to
develop future housing.
Previous planning policy, while allowing for the development of new older
persons’ housing, has not been proactive in encouraging additional provision.
The new version of Planning Policy Wales is far clearer in the role planning
should play in promoting older persons’ housing and requires the authority to
set specific targets for older persons’ housing and to work with developers to
achieve this.
Focus on promoting private older persons’ housing will be needed if the
estimated additional 1,811 ‘for sale’ homes are to be delivered.

SUPPORTING INDEPENDENCE
Cardiff’s Independent Living Services provide a wide range of support focused
on helping older people to stay independent at home. Considerable success has
been achieved with 75% of clients supported to stay at home without the need
for Social Services intervention.
The Independent Living Service is largely funded by Welsh Government grant
and the future of this this funding is uncertain. The continuation of this service
could be threatened if future funding is not secured.

Cardiff Council has invested in the provision of home adaptations. The Disabled
Facilities Service is working well, delivering adaptations in a timely and cost
effective way which compares well with the rest of Wales.
Demand for disabled adaptations is likely to continue to increase putting
pressure on existing resources. There is a need to understand future costs of
the service and to ensure that adapted homes and equipment are used
Page
406
effectively to meet future
needs.

6

PROVIDING HOUSING ADVICE
When asked, older people were often unaware of the different housing options
available and concerned about the financial, legal and practical issues
associated with moving. There is a need going forward to improve the
specialist housing advice available to older people.

SUPPORTING DOWNSIZING
There are considerable advantages to older people in downsizing to more
appropriate accommodation and this can play a significant part in helping them
to stay independent at home.
There are large numbers of older people under-occupying social housing.
Offering them attractive housing options could encourage them to downsize,
providing them with more sustainable accommodation while also freeing up
much needed family accommodation.
There has been some success in assisting older social tenants to downsize,
however further work is needed to expand on this success, removing barriers
and providing better choice to encourage downsizing. There is limited support
available for home owners and those in the private rented sector to help them
to downsize.

SHELTERED HOUSING SCHEMES
The provision of on-site support in sheltered schemes will be important in
meeting the increasing needs of the older population. Funding changes have
already resulted in some reduction in the support available and if this
continues it will impact on the ability of sheltered schemes to meet the
growing needs of older clients.
There is an opportunity to provide different models of support such as
“Sheltered Plus” or “Extra Care Light” as options to meet the range of needs of
the older population.

Page 407

7

SOCIAL HOUSING ALLOCATION
The current social housing allocation process does not take into account the
housing choices of older applicants and wellbeing issues such as social
isolation and the need for safety and security are not fully recorded or
reflected in the allocation process. There is a need to review the waiting list
and allocation arrangements to fully reflect the housing choices and wider
needs of older people.

RESIDENTIAL AND NURSING CARE
Residential care placements have decreased markedly over the last five years
due to services now being available in the community to support increasingly
frail people at home. Nursing home placements however are higher than
anticipated and if this trend continues an extra 655 nursing home beds will be
required in Cardiff by 2035, a sector that faces challenges in recruiting the
right staff.
While current telecare services are helping many people to stay independent,
there is an opportunity to make greater use of new technology to support
people to stay in their own homes.

THE IMPORTANCE OF COMMUNITY
Connection to the community is key to the wellbeing of many older people.
Social isolation is comparable to health risks such as smoking and alcohol
consumption. Cardiff has a wide range of services to help prevent social
isolation and promote wellbeing; many are based around the Council’s
Community Hubs.
A number of new initiatives are being developed to further this, including new
Community Wellbeing Hubs in the north and west of the city and proposals to
open the facilities in older persons’ housing complexes to the wider
community.

Page 408

8

Summary of Commitments

1

Deliver new homes that meet older persons’ housing
needs and aspirations.
Work in partnership with Health and RSL partners to develop an evidence-based city
wide plan for the future development of affordable housing for older people, including
those living with dementia and with a wide range of care needs.
Deliver a minimum of 741 new homes for older people by 2030 of which 434 will be
Council homes, 207 RSL homes and 100 for private ownership, and develop additional
proposals as part of the Council’s commitment to building 2,000 new homes.
Increase the provision of extra care housing, and use this as a direct alternative to the
use of general residential care beds.
Increase the supply of ‘care ready’ housing for older people that is suitable for ageing in
place and which allows domiciliary care to be provided as required.

2

Improve our existing homes to ensure they are fit for
purpose and support independent living.
Work with RSL partners to better understand the condition of existing older persons’
housing in the city and its potential future use. Review all Council “age designated”
properties to improve accessibility.

Continue the refurbishment of the Council’s sheltered stock on a scheme by scheme
basis, securing RNIB accreditation for refurbished schemes.

3

Plan new homes and communities to address future
housing and care needs across all tenures.
Work towards full implementation of the new Planning Policy Wales as it relates to
older persons’ housing, including the use of Supplementary Planning Guidance where
appropriate.
As part of the preparation for the next Local Development Plan, set out a target for the
delivery of older persons’ housing and work with developers to achieve this target.
Continue to work with market house builders to deliver new affordable older persons’
homes close to or within the new local centres.

Page 409

9

4

Provide person-centred
assistance.

information,

advice

and

Develop a new “Older Persons’ and Accessible Homes Unit” to:
Provide specialist housing advice for all older people, to help them better understand
their housing options.
Ensure that high quality advice and information is available on the Council’s websites, in
Hubs and through information sessions and events.
Support people with disabilities to access adapted properties.

Actively promote extra care housing as an alternative to residential care and as step
down from hospital, raising awareness of the advantages with both older people and
professionals.
Support older people to downsize to more appropriate accommodation.
Facilitate exchanges between social tenants through information held on the Housing
Waiting List.

5

Help older people to maintain their independence for
longer.
Continue to develop the Independent Living Service to help older people remain
independent at home and work with the Welsh Government to ensure that funding for
the service is maintained.
Continue the Council’s commitment to the delivery of disabled adaptations to ensure
that older people can remain independent at home.
Work to ensure the best use of adapted homes and to recycle equipment wherever
possible. Also review likely future demand on the service to inform future funding
arrangements.
Better reflect the housing choices and wider social needs of older people within the
social housing allocation policy, taking into account social isolation, support networks
and the need to remain within their community. Ensure the policy supports those who
wish to downsize.

Work to better understand how religion affects housing need.

Page 410

10

6

Ensure the needs of the most vulnerable are met.

Improve the allocation of older persons’, extra care and adapted accommodation,
increasing the information available about individual needs and aspirations and
ensuring that those most in need are prioritised.
Review the provision of support in sheltered schemes to ensure it meets the future
needs of the older population and explore the opportunity to upgrade some existing
sheltered housing schemes to “Sheltered Plus” or “Extra Care Light”, to a greater level
of need.
Develop innovative models of care and support and nursing services which enable
people to remain in their own homes and communities and provide the very highest
standard of care homes for people with the most complex needs.
Further explore the use of new technology to help people remain independent at home
for longer.
Future sample checking of floating support cases will be undertaken to fully
understand the individual support needs of those with mental health issues.

7

Build stronger, inclusive communities and tackle social
isolation.
Make better use of the Council’s Community Living Schemes to offer services to the
wider community, in partnership with Health, Social Care and third sector partners.
Provide a new Health and Wellbeing service: working through the Hubs and with
partners to develop events, activities and a range of health advice to meet wellbeing
needs of older people.
Pilot a new approach to social prescribing ensuring that individuals and professionals
have easy access to wellbeing services in the community.
Continue to be a dementia friendly organisation by ensuring all Hub staff receive
Dementia Friends awareness training and delivering dementia cafes and support
sessions within Hubs.

Page 411

11

National Policy Context
The Social Services & Well
-being (Wales) Act 2014
provides
the
legal
framework for improving
the well-being of people
who need care and
support, including older
people with complex
needs and long-term
conditions. The Act requires local authorities
and health boards to work together to assess
care and support needs and provide
integrated, sustainable services. Fundamental
principles include supporting and measuring
well-being, service user voice and control and a
focus on prevention and early intervention.

A number of key policy and legislative
documents frame the housing agenda for older
people in Wales. The Welsh Government’s
Strategy for Older People in Wales 2013-23
recognises the importance of older people
having the resources to age well, including
access to housing and services that support
their needs and promote independence.
Complementing the Strategy, the Ageing Well
in Wales Programme focuses on practical
measures such as developing age friendly and
dementia supportive communities, reducing
the risk of falls and tackling loneliness and
isolation.

The Well-being of
Future
Generations
(Wales) Act 2015
focuses on improving
the social, economic,
environmental
and
cultural well-being of
Wales. Public bodies
are
required
to
consider the long-term
well-being
of
the
population and to work sustainably to prevent
persistent problems such as poverty, health
inequalities and climate change. The Act
establishes 7 national well-being goals – good
housing has a key role to play in addressing a
number of these, including achieving a
healthier Wales and a Wales of cohesive
communities.

Page 412

12

National Policy Context

Welsh Government’s National Dementia Action
Plan 2018-2022 sets out the vision for Wales
to be a ‘dementia friendly nation that
recognises the rights of people with dementia
to feel valued and to live as independently as
possible in their communities’.
Housing partners are seen as key to helping
people with dementia live independently in a
way that provides a good quality of life. This
can be achieved through the provision of a
range of housing choices such as supported
housing or extra care facilities and access to
physical adaptations in existing homes.
Housing staff (including those in extra care and
sheltered accommodation) should have access
to training to enable them to support people
with dementia to live well.

Planning Policy Wales
Edition 10, issued in
December
2018,
recognises the important
role the planning system
can play in delivering older
persons’ housing and
accommodation. Planning
authorities must identify sufficient sites
suitable for a full range of housing types to
address the identified needs of communities,
including the needs of older people.
Development plans must clearly set out local
housing requirements, including those for
older people.
In relation to design, development proposals
must address the issues of inclusivity and
accessibility for all, including making provision
to meet the needs of older people. The
planning system should also assist in the
delivery of cohesive communities which will
meet the needs and are accessible to all
members of society.

Published in October 2017, the UK
Government’s Funding Supported Housing:
Policy Statement and Consultation sets out a
proposed policy and funding model for
supported housing from April 2020. Previous
proposals to apply a Local Housing Allowance
‘cap’ to supported housing are not to be taken
Welsh Government commits to working with forward. Sheltered and extra care housing
social care, health services and housing specifically will continue to be funded through
providers and involving people with dementia, Housing Benefit. A proposed ‘sheltered rent’
their families and carers to strengthen model will set the upper limit for rent/service
collaboration on a strategic approach to charges. It is as yet uncertain how these
housing to enable people to stay in their proposals will impact on older persons’ housing
in Wales.
homes.
Page
413

13

Local Policy Context
The Cardiff and Vale of
Glamorgan Integrated
Health and Social Care
Partnership’s Market
Position
Statement
and
Commissioning
Strategy: Care and Support Services for Older
People 2017-2022 sets out how the Health
Board, social services, third sector and other
partners will work together to improve the
health and well-being of older people in the
region.
Of particular relevance is the ‘Home First’
objective to ‘Enable people to live at home, or
as close to home as possible, in
accommodation appropriate to their needs
and where they can live well, thrive and
remain independent’.
The Cardiff and Vale of
Glamorgan
Dementia
Strategy 2018-2028 sets out
how partners across the
region will work together to improve the lives
of people with dementia and their carers. The
Strategy was producing following a Dementia
Needs Assessment and development event and
calls for improved coordination of health;
social care; third sector and housing services. It
recognises the role of dementia friendly
environments in making life easier for people
with dementia and prioritises making all new
buildings dementia friendly, through working
with planners and designers. Also prioritised is
exploration of a range of suitable
accommodation options for people living with
dementia, such as shared living schemes.

Page

More locally, the Cardiff
Housing Strategy 20162021 identified a number
of commitments specific to
older people, which are taken forward in this
Strategy.
The Cardiff Local Development
Plan 2006 - 2026 was prepared
prior to the latest version of
Planning Policy Wales and
therefore does not include
specific targets for providing
older persons’ housing within
the overall dwelling requirement for 41,415
homes. However, the Plan does seek to ensure
a range of dwelling sizes, types and
affordability is provided in terms of both
market and affordable housing to meet
identified needs (including supported and
sheltered housing and other special needs
where appropriate) (Policy KP13). This
provides the necessary framework to
encourage an element of older peoples’
housing on suitable development sites where a
need exists. In addition, the Plan seeks to
‘foster inclusive design, ensuring buildings,
streets and spaces are accessible to all users
and are adaptable to future changes in
lifestyle’ (Policy KP5).
As detailed in Cardiff’s Planning Obligations
Supplementary Planning Guidance, reduced
contributions are required on certain types of
older peoples’ housing, for example to reflect a
lesser demand on functional open space by
future occupiers, or where such developments
provide a significant element of communal
facilities on site.
414

14

Cardiff’s Older Population
Location of Older People.
The adjacent map
shows the distribution
of older people living
in Cardiff, with the
highest
concentrations found
in the north and west
of the city.

In total, 82% of
Cardiff’s
older
population aged 65+
are owner-occupiers,
13% live in the social
rented sector and 5%
live in the private
rented sector. This tenure split varies considerably by ward. A third of residents aged 65+ live in a
single person household.

Population Projections
People aged 50 and over made up 30% of Cardiff’s total population in 2016. Numbers of older
people (50+) in Cardiff are projected to increase by 26% over the next 20 years. However, the rate
of increase varies greatly by older age group, as shown below:

Page 415



Those aged 50-64 increase
by 4% from 58,300 to
60,800 people;



Those aged 65-84 increase
by 42% from 43,900 to
62,400 people;



Those aged 85+ increase by
94% from 7,600 to 14,700
people.

15

Cardiff’s Older Population
Care and Support Needs
Life expectancy is increasing in Cardiff. Parallel to this, a range of health and care-related
conditions are set to rise significantly over the next 20 years:

Projected Number of People Aged 65+ in Cardiff
Year
Health Condition
2015
2035
Limiting long term illness
17,811
27,525
Obesity
10,704
15,989
Diabetes
7,925
12,253
Dementia
3,598
6,012
Care-related
Unable to manage at least 1 mobility activity
9,374
15,076
Unable to manage at least 1 domestic task
20,619
32,677
Unable to manage at least 1 self-care activity
16,945
26,770

Increase
55%
49%
55%
67%
61%
58%
58%

Source: Daffodil Cymru (2017).

Dementia
The overall number of
people in Cardiff aged 65+
with dementia is projected
to increase by 67% over the
period 2015 to 2035. This
increase rises to 85% for
those aged 85+, as shown
opposite.

Source: Daffodil Cymru (2017).

Frailty
Frailty is commonly associated with ageing. People who are frail experience physical weakness,
often have complex medical conditions, have a lower ability for independent living and require
assistance with everyday tasks.
A modelling exercise undertaken in 2015 projected that, based on frailty, demand for social care
and support services will increase by 25% in Cardiff North and West and 18% in Cardiff South and
East between 2014 and 2024.

Page 416

16

Cardiff’s Older Population

Findings
By 2037 the number of people aged 65 to 84 will
increase significantly from 43,900 to 62,400, (42%) while
those over aged 85 will nearly double from 7,600 to
14,700. The projected sharp increase in the over 85 age
group and the sustained increase in those aged 65-84 is
likely to result in more people needing specialist
accommodation or assistance that cannot be delivered
in their current homes.
Increasing life expectancy is leading to higher incidence
of age-related health conditions and mobility limitations;
assistance with self-care and domestic tasks is estimated
to increase significantly.
The number of people in Cardiff with dementia is
projected to increase by 67% for those aged 65+ and by
85% for those aged 85+ over the period 2015 to 2035.
The impact of this change will put major pressures on
social care services and budgets and there is a need to
maximise the preventative benefits of housing and
optimise use of specialist accommodation.

Page 417

17

Schemes typically offer self-contained
accommodation, usually supported by a
part-time/visiting scheme manager and
24-hour emergency help via an alarm.
There are often communal areas and
some
arranged
activities.
Most
accommodation is offered for rent, based
on need, by the Council or Registered
Social Landlords.

Private sector retirement housing usually built by private developers or in
some cases by RSLs. Once all the
properties have been sold, the scheme is
usually run by a separate management
company who employ the scheme
manager and organise maintenance and
other services.

Often referred to as ‘assisted living’
when provided by private sector
providers, it is designed with the needs
of older people, some with higher levels
of care and support, in mind. Extra care
schemes provide fully accessible, selfcontained accommodation with access
to 24 hour on-site domestic and personal
care support, communal facilities and
activity rooms. Individual flats have level
access
bathrooms
and
kitchens,
emergency alarms and other assistive
technology as standard. Most schemes
have eligibility criteria.

Page 418

(Housing with Care)

18

A residential setting where older
people live and have access to care
and support services to meet their
assessed personal care requirements.

A residential setting for older people
that provides specialist care and
support to people whose personal care
needs cannot be met by a residential
home.

Usually flats or bungalows where all
tenants are over a certain age (generally
age 50 or 55 for flats and 60 for
bungalows). There are no staff available
on site (hence no support offer) and
usually there are no arranged activities.
However, there may be a communal
lounge.

Page 419

19

How Can Housing Help? - Key Messages from Research
A review of current research on older persons’
housing and support highlighted a number of
key messages which have informed the
development of this Strategy.
The health and well-being benefits of suitable
older
persons’
housing
are
clearly
documented, with associated potential savings
to Health and Social Care budgets. For
example, well designed housing can help
prevent falls, reduce the need for personal
care and assist with hospital discharge.
Accessible, well-located accommodation can
aid independence and mobility, helping to
address social isolation and loneliness. The
research also confirms the role of more
specialist ‘housing with care’ in reducing or
delaying the need for residential care.
A consistent message is the need to
comprehensively assess and understand older
persons’ housing needs and requirements as
the basis for future accommodation options
and service provision. There is also a role for
timely
and
comprehensive
housing
information and advice to enable older
people to make informed choices and plan for
future needs. Research emphasises the
positive impact of practical support, aids and
adaptation
services
in
promoting
independent living and enabling older people
to ‘stay put’ or move to a more suitable
environment.

community. There is however scope to further
capitalise on the opportunities offered by
communal facilities. The importance of wider
neighbourhood conditions, local facilities and
amenities to older persons’ well-being is fully
established.
Existing older persons’ housing stock
represents a significant resource. There is
however a need to assess whether current
provision is ‘fit for purpose’, as part of a
strategic approach to investment or
disinvestment. New-build housing (both social
and private development) has a part to play
in increasing supply and choice. There is a role
for stronger and clearer planning policies and
guidance in facilitating a wider range of
housing for older people and for more
ambitious, evidence-based design standards
(such as Lifetime Homes, HAPPI) in providing
‘age-sustainable’ housing across all tenures.

It is noted that many older persons’ housing
schemes hold strong links with their local
area, acting as a locus for events and
activities that benefit residents and the wider

Page 420

Findings
The findings from a range
of research clearly show
the benefits of suitable
older persons’ housing in
supporting independence
and reducing the need for
residential care, with
associated savings to
Health and Social Care
budgets.

20

The Comparative Benefits of Older Persons’ Housing
There is a general desire among older people to
remain independent at home. Care ready,
sheltered and extra care housing can help
sustain independent living for longer and
prevent the need for residential care.
Care ready and sheltered housing can provide
accommodation that adapts as the needs of the
older person change to help them maintain
their independence, allowing those with
mobility issues to manage without care for
longer. Properly designed care ready schemes
can allow those with care needs to stay at
home for longer with the effective use of
domiciliary care.

Comparison of the cost of general residential
care for people aged 65+ and extra care
housing indicates that extra care housing is on
average 57% of the weekly cost of residential
care. This cost comparison does assume an
equivalent profile of care needs of individuals
using residential care and extra care housing,
which may not always be the case, and careful
targeting will be needed if avoidance of the
use of residential care is to be achieved.

Designed to promote independent living, extra
care housing in particular can support those
with significant care needs to retain their
independence. The model is based on
accessible, self-contained properties offering
individual tenancies or home ownership
options. It can help to keep couples together
and prevent the concerns that arise over the
loss of homeownership. The ability to deliver
care to residents in their own homes, can in
some cases eliminate the need to move to
residential care. This type of housing can also
be a much more cost effective method of
providing care than residential accommodation
if used appropriately, as the table below shows:

Findings
The cost of Extra Care housing
is on average 57% of the
weekly cost of residential care.

Average Weekly Cost Average total cost per
of general residential
unit per week for
care for people aged
extra care housing
65+

£631.33
NB. Cost assumed to be gross

£364.42
Page 421

21

Understanding Housing Need
Current Provision and Future
Demand
Assessment of Older Persons’ Housing and
Accommodation
During 2018 the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan
Regional Partnership Board commissioned
independent research to identify the future
housing and associated care requirements of
older people across the region and to inform
future capital investment programmes for
housing. This research was carried out by The
Housing Learning and Improvement Network
(LIN) a network that brings together housing,
health and social care professionals in England
and Wales to exemplify innovative housing
solutions for an ageing population.
This research reviewed the current provision of
older persons’ housing; the care and support
needs of those currently living in or on waiting
lists for older persons’ accommodation and
current access arrangements. Engagement
with residents took place in the form of a
survey and focus groups, to identify the
outcomes that matter to people in old age.
Modelling of future population demand was
undertaken to produce a recommended
number, location and type of housing required
over the next 20 years, alongside specifications
for each type of accommodation.

Page 422

22

2018
Older
Persons’
Survey
% 77%

Current
Housing
Threatened
with Status
Homelessness
7%

Social Housing

15%
504 responses from people
aged 50+ representing the
diverse older population of
Cardiff

Renting
Privately

Owner
Occupier

Housing Status

14% of respondents had already moved for age related reasons:

%

50

34 %
Moved to a
smaller home

Moved to a more
accessible home

33%

Moved to be
closer to a
town centre

The adaptations planned or made to respondents’ current homes include:

Grab rails
22%

Bathroom
23%

44

%

of respondents
are considering a
move in the
future

Improved access
9%

Installation of stairlifts/lifts
8%

Main Reasons for Considering a Move:

Move to a
smaller home
40%

Move to a more
accessible home
25%

To be closer to
family and 17%
Page 423
friends

To have access to
care services
15%

23

Housing
Types
Threatened
with Homelessness
Respondents considering a move expressed a preference for the
following types of housing:

46

Bungalow

58

%

29

21

House

Flat

expressed a preference for moving to a
property with at least 2 bedrooms
Only

expressed a
preference for a 3
bedroom property

%

%

%

%

10

%

29

expressed a
preference for a 1
bedroom property

Those considering a move whose preference is for designated older persons’ housing:

%

45

of those renting would
consider designated
older persons’ housing

Page 424

%

23

of homeowners would
consider designated
older persons’ housing

24

Understanding Housing Need
Existing Provision of Older Persons’ Housing
Current older persons’ accommodation provision is broken down by location, type and tenure as
follows:
Localities

City
East
North
South East
South West
West
Total

Existing Older Persons’ Accommodation in Cardiff
Sheltered
Private
Extra care Extra care Residential
housing retirement
housing housing for care home
(units)
housing
for rent
sale (units)
(beds)
(units)
(units)
247
0
0
0
123
143
70
15
0
91
398
380
102
110
257
437
83
0
0
70
372
107
0
0
122
250
382
40
0
48
1847
1022
157
110
711

Nursing
care
home
(beds)
49
188
221
180
200
213
1051

Sheltered housing provision exists across the
city but is concentrated in the south-east,
north and south-west localities. 82% of
sheltered housing is provided by RSLs and 18%
by the Council. Private retirement provision is
concentrated in the north and west, with 69%
of units provided by private operators and 31%
of leasehold retirement housing owned and
operated by RSLs.

Overall there is a range of social rented and
private retirement housing for older people in
the city. The most prevalent type of older
persons’ housing is sheltered and other agedesignated housing in the social rented sector.
There is also a mix of private retirement
housing choices for different equity and
income groups, however provision is limited
outside the north and west of the city.

There are 157 units of social rented housing
with care (‘extra care’), concentrated in the
north and west, and 110 units of private
provision (‘assisted living’) in the north. 55% of
residential care beds are in the north, city and
south-west, whilst 60% of nursing care beds
are in the north, west and south-west.

There is limited extra care housing/housing
with care provision compared with the
prevalence of residential care beds. This is
limiting the cost reductions that could be
made by social services and health by better
use of this type of accommodation.

In addition to the accommodation set out
above there are a further 1,423 units of agedesignated housing provided by both the
Council and RSLs. These are a mix of flats and
bungalows, dispersed throughout the city.

The current condition of the social housing
stock of both Sheltered and age designated
properties is uncertain in many cases and the
accessibility and facilities offered in these
properties is unclear.

Page 425

25

Understanding Housing Need
While some sheltered housing schemes may offer the
opportunity to provide more services to meet the need of
the aging and increasingly frail population, others may
need significant work if they are to continue to provide
older persons’ accommodation.
Only around 20% of existing older peoples’ units are
wheelchair accessible and approximately 50% of schemes
do not have a lift. Increased prevalence of mobility and
care-related needs indicates that there will be an increased
need for wheelchair adapted and lift accessible units.
Further work is needed to fully understand how well
existing social housing meets the need of the older
population.

Findings
Overall there is a range of social rented and private retirement
housing offers for older people in the city.

There is a mix of private retirement housing choices for
different equity and income groups; however provision is
limited outside the north and west of the city.
There is limited extra care housing/housing with care provision
compared with the prevalence of residential care beds. This
limited supply restricts the potential cost reductions that can
be achieved for social care and health commissioners.
There is uncertainty about the condition of current older
persons housing in the social sector and the facilities that are
offered, more work is needed to understand how well these
properties can meet the future needs of the older population.

Page 426

26

Understanding Housing Need

WE WILL
Aim to secure greater cost effectiveness from the supply of older persons’ housing
and to help older people to maintain their independence for longer by:
Increasing the provision of extra care housing, and using this as a
direct alternative to the use of general residential care beds.
Increasing the supply of ‘care ready’ housing for older people that is
suitable for ageing in place and which allows domiciliary care to be
provided as required.
Reviewing the suitability of existing older persons’ housing and
consider the potential for some sheltered housing schemes (for
example that have greater space standards, are larger in scale, and/
or have a relatively higher prevalence of tenants with packages of
domiciliary care), to become housing with care services.

Estimated Future Need
As part of the research by Housing LIN an estimate of future need for older persons’
accommodation was developed. This is based on demographic change and projected population
growth to 2035, and works on an assumption of increased need for housing with care over time
in direct proportion to an assumed decrease in the use of residential care. The research estimates
the following future need for housing and accommodation for older people, in addition to
current provision:
Need for Additional Older Persons’ Accommodation in Cardiff
Localities

City
East
North
South East
South West
West
Total

Sheltered
housing
(units)

Private retirement housing
(units)

Extra care housing for rent
(units)

Extra care housing for sale
(units)

Nursing care home
(beds)

22
89
19
-15
149
89
353

131
44
466
339
149
305
1434

39
55
13
36
63
26
232

19
34
124
36
31
133
377

30
117
138
112
125
133
655

The research identified that the current provision of sheltered housing in the South East of Cardiff
is currently sufficient and exceeds the estimated future need to 2035 by 15 units.
The current amount of sheltered housing in the South East is high compared with other areas of
the city, the majority being RSL stock. The concentration of people aged over 65 in this area is
relatively low (under 30%) and population projections show that the increase of older people in
this area is also low when compared to otherPage
parts of427
the city.

27

Understanding Housing Need
The following graph shows current provision of
housing and accommodation for older people
against estimated future need:

The estimated increased need for nursing care
provision reflects the increasing population of
older people and the evidence for a future
increase in the personal care needs amongst
the older population for example, the
increasing prevalence of older people living
with dementia and/or chronic conditions.

Findings
There is an estimated additional
need for 3,051 units of older
person’s accommodation by
2035. This increase is broken
down as follows:


Older people’s housing
(Care Ready/Sheltered and
Private Retirement Housing)
1787 units
(353 rental ,
1434 ownership)



Extra Care/Housing with
Care
609 units
(232 rental, 377 ownership)



Residential care
0 beds



Nursing care
655 beds

The need for contemporary sheltered housing/
private retirement housing is estimated to
increase significantly by 2035 due to the
projected growth in the population of older
people, with the greatest increase needed in the
private sector.
There is significant estimated need for housing
with care (extra care housing and assisted
living). This aligns with the policy objectives of
reducing the inappropriate use of longer term
and more intensive residential care and
providing
a
range
of
housing
and
accommodation options that enable people to
remain living in their own homes.
The estimated increases in housing need reflect
the requirement for ‘downsizer’ housing options
of all tenures to meet the needs of older people
who are owner occupiers as well as older people
who wish to rent or part-buy.
Page 428

28

Understanding Housing Need
Older Persons’ Views and
Perspectives
77% of respondents to the older persons’
survey were homeowners. 15% of respondents
were renting from either a housing association
or local authority and 7% were renting
privately. 28% of respondents said they were
planning to move within the next 5 years
however amongst respondents who were
renting, the equivalent figure was higher at
40%.

Downsizing, particularly from social housing,
can free up much needed family homes while
also
providing
more
sustainable
accommodation solutions for older people.
More flexibility in the allocation of older
persons social housing, particularly with regard
to the number of bedrooms could increase
downsizing.

Housing Designated for Older People
Survey respondents who were considering
moving home, were asked whether their
preference would be to live in housing
designated for older people. Amongst
respondents renting their home approximately
45% would consider moving to age designated
housing, significantly higher than the figure for
homeowners, which was around 23%.

Housing Types
There was strong preference amongst survey
respondents overall for a move to a bungalow
(46%), significantly higher than preferences for
a move to a house (29%) or a move to a flat
(21%).
Amongst all respondents considering a move
there was a preference for moving to a
property with at least 2 bedrooms (58%)
compared with one bedroom (10%). 29% of
respondents were seeking to move to a
property with 3 bedrooms. This confirms the
findings of other published research that most
older people will only be attracted to downsize
to a property with at least 2 bedrooms.

Findings
28% of older people surveyed
were planning a move within the
next 5 years, most wanted a 2
bedroom
property,
(58%).
Specialist
older
persons’
accommodation
was
more
popular among those who were
renting than those who owned
their own home.

Page 429

29

Meeting Future Demand
Learning from Good Practice
The following examples of good practice demonstrate how other housing providers are
developing innovative and effective ways of providing appropriate housing and support to older
people.

Urban retirement community providing
apartments , roof gardens, restaurant
and
social
activities/events
for
residents.
On-site care team to provide support
with companionship, preparing meals
or more complex needs.
Activities range from walking to new
age curling as well as social gatherings
and volunteer befriending schemes.

Extra
care
apartments
and
bungalows
alongside
specially
adapted accommodation for people
with dementia.




24hr on site care provided by
Flintshire County Council.
Restaurant and Lounge areas
including a guest suite.
Regular on site communal
activities

Page 430

30

Meeting Future Demand

High Specification Housing
Scheme of Lifetime Homes and
wheelchair
accessible
properties designed to meet the
inclusive demands of the aging
population. Disabled and nondisabled people can live as
neighbours

New-build mixed-tenure older
peoples’
housing for
the
‘downsizer market’.





Designed to HAPPI principles
Care Ready
Design promotes well-being
Extensive use of technology
throughout to support lifestyle
and care needs.

Page 431

31

Meeting Future Demand
Reviewing Existing Accommodation
As set out previously, there is a range of
existing accommodation for older people and
this represents a significant resource. In light of
increasing demand from an ageing population,
there is a strong case for making the best use
of this provision. However, with approximately
50% of older persons’ stock across Cardiff and
the Vale being more than 30 years old, the
need to review its suitability to meet current
and future needs is clear.

CASE STUDY—Sandown Court
Community Living

Refurbishment of Council Sheltered
Schemes
A ‘fit for purpose’ review of the Council’s
sheltered housing stock has been undertaken,
which considered condition; location; physical
accessibility and proximity to services /
facilities. The review identified that many
sheltered housing schemes were dated and
poorly laid out, with a high number of bedsits
and underused communal spaces. The schemes
were, however, well located close to facilities
and public transport. A refurbishment
programme has begun across Council sheltered
stock to provide flexible, accessible and
sustainable homes that meet the current and
future needs of older people. Rebranded as
‘Community Living’, these schemes will:

Refurbishment of Sandown Court
sheltered housing complex was
completed in May 2017. Key features
include:
 offer homes that are safe and fit for purpose;
 Fully wheelchair accessible ground
 meet current design standards, including
floor flats with wider corridors, wet
visually impaired and dementia-friendly
features;
rooms, height adjustable kitchens.
 More accessible upper floor flats,
 where possible provide open plan living
with larger shower rooms and
space and increased storage;
more space.
 offer flexible communal space, providing a
 Dementia
friendly ‘wayfinding’
hub of services for older people living within
features.
the scheme and the wider community;
 RNIB
housing sight standard
compliance.
 Accessible,
upgraded external
space.
 Flexible,
upgraded communal
spaces, including a medical room,
enabling partners and service
providers to use the building,
whilst recognising the scheme as a
Sandown Court
home setting.
Page 432

32

Meeting Future Demand

WE WILL

Refurbishment of Other Sheltered
Schemes
United Welsh Housing Association has
embarked on a five year plan to update all
their sheltered housing for older people to
modern standards. Work to refurbish their
scheme at Ifor Jones Court in Llanedeyrn is well
underway with completion expected in March
2019. The work has seen all communal areas
refurbished with new flooring installed plus
new furniture and furnishings. The decoration
and lighting in the communal areas have also
been upgraded to RNIB standards.
Special attention has been paid to safety and
security with new fire doors installed
throughout and new panel door entry systems
to all flats. The external areas have been
upgraded and a scooter store room has been
built. The final stage of the work will see a lift
installed and Wi Fi networked throughout the
scheme.

Age-designated Flats and Bungalows
A ‘fit for purpose’ review of Council older
people’s stock found that approximately 50%
of age-designated bungalows and 58% of flats
do not currently have level access. These
properties will be assessed at change of
tenancy, and works undertaken to improve
accessibility wherever possible.

Page 433

Continue
the
refurbishment of the
Council’s
Council
Sheltered stock on a
scheme by scheme basis.
Securing
RNIB
accreditation
for
refurbished schemes.
Review all Council “age
designated” properties
at change of tenancy and
undertake works to
improve
accessibility
wherever possible.
Work with RSL partners
to better understand the
condition of the older
persons housing in the
city and its potential
future use.

Sandown Court
33

Meeting Future Demand
Developing Additional
Accommodation
Social
and
Development

Affordable

HAPPI Principles
The HAPPI principles are based on 10 key
design criteria and have particular
relevance to the spectrum of older
persons' housing which needs to both
offer an attractive alternative to the family
home, and be able to adapt over time to
meet changing needs.

Housing

Responding to the Evidence
Developing additional accommodation in line
with identified need will involve a range of
partners, including Planning, social housing
providers and open market developers.
New Social Housing Provision
The Council and partner RSLs are committed to
continuing to deliver new affordable housing to
meet
need,
including
accommodation
specifically for older people and accessible/
flexible accommodation that allows for ‘ageing
in place’. A development plan has been
prepared to reduce the gap between supply
and demand. Approximately 700 units of
affordable older persons’ accommodation are
planned over the period 2020 to 2030. The
development programme will deliver purpose
built, accessible & sustainable community living
schemes providing a ‘home for life’ which
enables a resident to live independently. A
specification has been developed for new
council schemes which will focus on;




Providing a flexible home, able to adapt
around a person’s changing needs reducing
the requirement for future adaptations; this
includes wider doorways, level shower
rooms, open plan living-dining space,
increased storage, direct access (where
possible) from the bedroom to shower room,
access to outdoor space.

Providing larger flats which will be attractive
to down-sizers, releasing larger family homes
Page
for rent.

They reflect:


Space and flexibility



Daylight in the home and in shared
spaces



Balconies and outdoor space



Adaptability and 'care ready' design



Positive use of circulation space



Shared facilities and 'hubs'



Plants, trees,
environment



Energy efficiency and sustainable
design



Storage for belongings and bicycles



External shared surfaces and 'home
zones'

and

the

natural



Providing flexible, accessible communal
spaces in order that services for older
people (both within the building and within
the wider community) can be run from the
building, helping to tackle social isolation in
the wider community.



A building design which achieves the HAPPI
standards for older persons’ housing with
focus on dementia friendly design.



Being future proofed to enable care staff to
operate from the building.



A building design with a focus on assisted Sandow
technology
34

434

Meeting Future Demand
The following chart shows the proposed schemes:
Area

Type

Total
Units

Developed By

Current Status

Grangetown

Care Ready*

60

Cardiff Council

Concept Stage

Butetown

Care Ready

54

Cardiff Council

Design Stage

St Mellons

Care Ready*

82

Cardiff Council

Design Stage

Rumney

Care Ready*

45

Cardiff Council

Design Stage

Llanedeyrn

Care Ready*

45

Cardiff Council

Design Stage

Llanishen

Extra Care/Care Ready

60

Cardiff Council/
Hafod

Concept Stage

Llanishen

Care Ready Over 50

82

Wales & West

On Site. Estimated
Completion Date April
2020

Care Ready Over 50

45

Wales & West

Land Purchased. Start on
Site 19/20

Designated Older
Persons’
Retirement Village*

18

Cardiff Council

On Site

250

Cardiff Council/
RSL/Partner/
Market

Potential

City & South

East

North

South East

Roath
South West
Caerau

Ely/Caerau

*potential for Extra Care

If all the above schemes go ahead this will exceed the estimated additional need for rented
accommodation of 585 units however, it is unlikely that all existing older persons’
accommodation will meet future requirements and some may need to be decommissioned.
Therefore, we will continue to seek opportunities to develop future housing.

Page 435

35

Meeting Future Demand
Planned Schemes
Four key Council schemes are planned which will specifically deliver new community living
developments. Each scheme offers flexible, accessible living accommodation and communal space
providing a hub of services for older residents living in the development and in the wider
community.

The Rumney Scheme proposes 45 flats, a
communal garden, day rooms as well as other
communal flexible space. This forms part of a
development of over 200 new build properties
being delivered through the Council’s Cardiff
Living Programme. The building is located at the
entrance to the new development within close
proximity to public transport and a proposed
new retail provision.

The Llanedeyrn Scheme proposes 45
flats with day rooms, communal roof garden
and a new link through to the existing agedesignated high-rise block. This is ideally
located next to the new Hub, the health
centre and the new shops and community
space being provided by the Maelfa
Regeneration Programme.

The St. Mellons Scheme is the biggest
proposal offering around 80 flats, a vast range of
communal facilities and private garden space.
The flats are delivered over 3 blocks connected
via ground floor communal facilities.

The Butetown Scheme will offer around 50 new older persons’ flats with ground floor
communal space and a resident’s day room facility on the 5th floor.

Page 436

36

Meeting Future Demand
Other Developments
Thornhill Road - Remodelling of a former
children’s home to create 8 Council-owned
‘Independent Living’ older people’s flats is now
complete. Features include a communal room;
wet rooms in all flats; level access throughout;
a lift to upper floors and fully accessible
grounds.
Cathedral View, Gabalfa - is a development by
Hafod Housing Association of 22 close care
apartments comprising of sixteen 1-bedroom
and six 2-bedroom units of accommodation
which is due for completion in February
2019. All apartments are built specifically for
the elderly and are capable of being converted
for wheelchair use or by severely disabled
residents and are designed in full accordance
with RNIB Wales’ ‘Visibly Better’ requirements.
Cathedral View is a gated, secure development
with warden support and a telecare call
system fitted. The apartments are based on
the ‘extra-care’ size to provide turning circles
and
shower
rooms
adjacent
to
bedrooms. Features of the scheme include a
kitchen area and communal lounge promoting
social interaction, Wifi and a secure cycle/
buggy storage area.

Overall, current plans for new build affordable
council housing will deliver around 2200 units
over the next 10 years of which 416 will be
older persons’ housing and suitable for
housing with care and a further 18 will be
designated older persons’ housing. Of these,
317 units are at the initial concept stage and
117 units have been submitted for planning
approval. These schemes have been informed
by best practice from elsewhere and
will provide a variety of accommodation across
the areas where unmet need is greatest.
Although ambitious these plans will fall short
of the 585 properties (353 older persons
housing and 232 Housing with Care) which are
required by 2035 and further development of
affordable older persons’ housing will be
required. To take this forward a city wide plan
will be developed which takes into account the
current provision, established plans and the
future need for older persons’ accommodation
on an area and needs informed basis.

Findings
A range of schemes for building
new older person/care ready
affordable homes are already
planned and these will deliver
741 new homes by 2030 of which
434 will Council homes, 207 RSL
homes and 100 for private
ownership.

Page 437

37

Meeting Future Demand

WE WILL
Work in partnership with
Health and RSL partners
to develop an evidencebased city wide plan for
the future development of
affordable housing for
older people, including
those living with dementia
and a wide range of care
needs.

Deliver a minimum of 741
new homes for older
people by 2030 of which
434 will be Council homes,
207 RSL homes and 100
for private ownership, and
develop
additional
proposals as part of the
Council’s commitment to
building 2,000 new homes.

Planning and Development in the
Private Sector

This focus will ensure that the appropriate
affordable homes are delivered where they
are most needed and will ensure that tenants
are living within easy reach of the services
they need in the new local centres.

Adopted Local Development Plan
The current LDP states that the Council will
seek to ensure a range of dwelling sizes,
types and affordability is provided in terms
of both market and affordable housing to
meet identified needs (including supported
and sheltered housing and other special
needs where appropriate), in safe
neighbourhoods. This therefore provides the
necessary framework to encourage an
element of older persons’ housing on
suitable where a market need exists.
The policy background provides a framework
for the planning system to positively
consider proposals for older persons’
housing and accommodation on sites which
are judged appropriate. This has enabled
private sector sites to come through the
planning system as evidenced by schemes
completed by McCarthy and Stone who have
recently developed sheltered housing in the
Roath and Llanishen areas of the city.

Building New Communities
The large new developments taking place as
part of the Local Development Plan (LDP)
provide an opportunity to work with
developers to build older persons’ housing
located close to or within new local centres.
Work is being undertaken with market house
builders to deliver new affordable older
persons’ homes on the LDP sites.
Page

438

38

Meeting Future Demand
Ilex Close, Llanishen
A private, speculative development by
McCarthy & Stone of 36 Retirement Living
apartments and 49 Assisted Living Extra
Care apartments. Retirement Living is
designed for the more independent older
person, with apartments arranged around
a central core of communal facilities,
level/lift access; Careline facilities; and
supervision by a house manager. Lease
conditions require the accommodation be
occupied by persons over 60 years.

Assisted Living is a form of Extra care
accommodation providing independent
living for the frail elderly with day to day
assistance in the form of domestic help
and domiciliary care tailored to owners’
needs. Fundamental to this is the
provision of 24 hour care in a barrier-free
environment
which
is
wheelchair
accessible to both communal and private
areas. Entry age is set at 70 years.

address the issues of inclusivity and
accessibility for all, including older people.
The policy has informed a number of
recommendations which will be implemented
over the coming years:


Prepare/review evidence base setting
out future needs for older persons’
housing and accommodation to inform
future review of LDP.



Incorporate specific targets for older
persons’ housing and accommodation in
the future review of the LDP and identify
appropriate sites to meet these targets.



Investigate whether there is scope to
prepare
Supplementary
Planning
Guidance (SPG) on sites for older
persons’ housing and accommodation in
advance of the review of the LDP.



Engage with developers of older
person’s housing and accommodation to
facilitate the delivery of sites across the
city.



Discuss with developers of the strategic
housing sites the need for older persons’
housing and accommodation and the
scope for identifying sites within the
strategic housing sites to meet this need.

National Planning Policy
The new version of Planning Policy Wales
issued in December 2018 is much clearer than
previous policy in recognising the important
role that the planning system can play in
delivering older persons’ housing. It states
that planning authorities must identify
sufficient sites suitable for a full range of
housing types to address the identified needs
of communities including the needs of older
people. In relation to design the guidance
states that development proposals must

Page 439

39

Meeting Future Demand

Findings
Previous planning policy, while allowing for the development of new
older persons’ housing, has not been proactive in encouraging
additional provision. The new version of Planning Policy Wales issued
in December 2018 is far clearer in the role planning should play in
promoting older persons’ housing and requires the authority to set
specific targets for older persons’ housing and to work with developers
to achieve this.

WE WILL
Work towards the full implementation of the new Planning
Policy Wales as it relates to older persons’ housing, including
the use of Supplementary Planning Guidance where
appropriate.
As part of the preparation for the next LDP, set out a target
for the delivery of older persons’ housing and work with
developers to achieve this target.
Continue to work with market house builders to deliver new
affordable older persons’ homes close to or within the new
local centres.

Page 440

40

People
Supporting Independence
Information, Advice and
Assistance
Independent Living Services is an
innovative approach to helping older
people remain independent and
delivering services based on what
matters to the individual older person.
Driven by a person centred approach
and aligned to the principles of the
Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales)
Act 2014, the Service has evolved to
incorporate a range of functions as
seen below. Full service integration has
enabled better access to Council
services, assisting more older people to
live independently in their own homes
and leading to a reduction in the
demand for Social Care.

Independent Living Services Clients within Cardiff

First Point of Contact
The Independent Living Service’s First Point
of Contact team provides a telephone-based
triage for new referrals into the service.
Through the provision of information, advice
and assistance, and using better outcome
conversations, the team works to find the
best solution for the older person.

Page 441

41

People
Independent Living Visiting Team
In more complex cases, multi-skilled
Independent Living Visiting Officers complete
holistic assessments in the client’s home.
Consideration is given to all factors that
contribute to independence and a sense of
wellbeing.

CASE STUDY
Mrs I contacted Independent Living
Services as she felt that she needed a
social worker and possibly a care package
to help her. She was struggling with
mobility in and around the home and
also had issues with her hearing. The First
Point of Contact Team arranged for a
joint visit with an Independent Living
Officer and an Occupational Therapist to
undertake a full holistic and wellbeing
assessment.
Following the assessment:

During the period April to September 2017,
74% of new cases received the help they
needed from First Point of Contact and the
wider Independent Living teams, with only
26% being referred on to Social Care, showing
the success of the service in finding
community based solutions to meet the needs
of older people.

Page 442



Hand rails were installed, allowing
Mrs I to leave her home and access
her garden without support.



Mr and Mrs I were assisted in
making a claim for Attendance
Allowance.



Following a hearing assessment,
Mrs I was provided with a loud and
light up doorbell and vibrating fire
alarm.



Telecare has been arranged to
monitor Mrs I when alone at home
making her feel safer.

42

People

Findings
Cardiff’s Independent Living Services provide a wide range of support
focused on helping older people to stay independent at home.
Considerable success has been achieved with 75% of clients supported
to stay at home without the need for social services intervention.
The Independent Living Service is largely funded by Welsh Government
grant and the future of this this funding is uncertain. The future of this
service could be threatened if future funding is not secured.

WE WILL
Continue to develop the Independent Living Service to help
older people remain independent at home and work with the
Welsh Government to ensure that funding for the service is
maintained.

Support to Stay at Home
A range of support is available to help make the physical environment of an older persons’ home
more suitable to their needs:

Joint Equipment Service
The Joint Equipment Service provides an
efficient community equipment loan service to
residents of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.
The service delivers equipment to a person’s
home following a referral from community or
hospital clinicians. It also arranges the
collection and refurbishment of used
equipment. The service now offers same or
next day delivery.

Page 443

43

People
Disabled Adaptations
The Disabled Facilities Team
delivers a means-tested grant
service
providing
major
adaptations to the client’s home,
to improve movement and access
around the house. The Team also
provide preventative, low level
works such as hand and grab rails.
More significant works will be
assessed by an Occupational
Therapist who will ensure the
adaptation fully meets the needs
of the older person, while for
smaller works Independent Living
Officers carry out a trusted
assessor role in assessing the
needs of the client.
Cardiff’s performance for speed
of completion of adaptations is
good - third in Wales at 274 days
to deliver and average costs
compare very favourably with
other councils at £6200, the
second lowest in Wales. This
shows the good value for money
that is being achieved with the
funding provided.
Cardiff Council has recognised the important role that adaptations play in keeping older people
independent for longer and increasing their well-being. In 2016/17 an additional £1.9 million was
allocated to the adaptations budget.
Cardiff now carries out significantly more adaptations than any other council in Wales, despite
this, demand continues to increase and there is need for ongoing commitment to the funding of
adaptations if need is to be met. There is also a need to ensure that all equipment and
adaptations are recycled when no longer needed to make best use of the funding available.

Page 444

44

People
For social housing there is a need to ensure
that adapted homes are allocated to those
who need them most and that new properties
are built with future needs in mind. All new
Council houses are now built with the potential
for through floor lifts and with downstairs
facilities, allowing them to be more easily and
quickly adapted for the disabled.

Older Persons’ Views
Respondents to the older persons’ survey
were asked to identify any changes and
adaptations which they have made, or are
planning to make to their current home that
would enable them to remain living there. The
adaptations that were most prevalent were:


To date, 23% of the newly built Council
properties have been allocated to households
where a family member has a physical
disability.

CASE STUDY
Mr B was discharged from hospital to
Residential Care but subsequently
decided that he wanted to return to
his own home. The Review
Occupational Therapist conducted an
assessment with Mr B and staff at the
care home and at his home with his
daughter to check his needs could be
met with the use of appropriate
equipment and ensured that he was
making an informed decision about
returning home.
It was established that with the
correct package of care and the
support of his family Mr B would be
able to return home. This has resulted
in financial benefits to the Council,
but has also enabled Mr B to achieve
his desire of remaining in his own
home, enhancing his well-being.





Adaptations to bathrooms (23%)
Grab rails (22%)
Improved access such as ramps (9%)
Installation of stair lifts/lifts (8%)

This provides evidence of the types of
adaptations that are likely to see growth in
demand as the older population increases.

Findings
Cardiff Council has invested in the
provision of home adaptations.
The Disabled Facilities Service is
working
well,
delivering
adaptations in a timely and cost
effective way which compares
well with the rest of Wales.

Demand for disabled adaptations
is likely to continue to increase
putting pressure on existing
resources. There is a need to
understand future costs of the
service and to ensure that
adapted homes and equipment
are used effectively to meet
future needs.

Page 445

45

People

WE WILL
Continue the Council’s commitment to the delivery of
disabled adaptations to ensure that older people can remain
independent at home.
Work to ensure the best use of adapted homes and to recycle
equipment wherever possible. Also review likely future
demand on the service to inform future funding
arrangements.

Housing Related Support
For older people living in the community, in standard or age-designated housing, assistance can
be accessed through floating support services, Meals on Wheels and Telecare (community alarm
and mobile warden services).

Floating Support
Floating support is available to vulnerable older
people to help them maintain their
accommodation. The type of support provided
includes help with tenancy issues, claiming
applicable benefits, as well as assistance to
access appropriate health services.

Between April 2017 and March 2018, 515
individuals over the age of 55 received floating
support.
The lead and secondary needs of all floating
support clients over the age of 55 are recorded
in categories set by the Welsh Government and
are shown in the adjacent chart.
‘People over the age of 55 with support needs’
was the greatest lead need for all clients, however mental health issues were also significant with
98 cases recorded as a lead need and 77 recorded as a secondary need.

Page 446

46

People

Finding

For those cases where clients had “Over 55
with support needs” the secondary needs
recorded are set out below:

A significant number of older
people receiving floating support
had issues with mental health.

WE WILL
Future sample checking of
floating support cases will be
undertaken to fully
understand the individual
support needs of those with
mental health issues.

As would be expected, people with physical
and sensory disabilities are a notable group,
however mental health issues generated the
most significant support needs with 40 cases
recorded (32% of all recorded secondary
needs).

Those clients with mental health issues
recorded as a lead or secondary need would
include some older people with dementia who
require housing-related support; however they
are not distinguished from clients with other
mental health needs. Further exploration,
including sample checking of data would be
beneficial to fully understand the individual
support needs of this group and ensure that
referrals are made to appropriate services.

Meals
Wheels

on

Meals
on
Wheels is a
service helping elderly and vulnerable
residents to live independently by delivering
hot, nutritious meals across the city on an
income recovery basis.
The drivers build up a respectful rapport with
clients, providing a welcome and a familiar
face and in some instances offering clients a
lifeline to the outside world.
Between April and December 2018, 48,610
meals have been delivered and 96% of
customers agree the service has helped them
remain independent at home.

Page 447

47

People
Telecare
A
specially
trained team
of operators
and mobile
wardens provide help and support so that
older people can continue to live safely and
independently in their own homes.

Over 4,500
Customers receive Telecare Services
within Cardiff

From April to December 2018

State of the art, easy to use equipment is
installed in a customer’s home, including a
pendant with a push button alarm and a small
base unit to contact the team who are
available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. If
direct assistance is required, mobile wardens
are on hand to provide emergency assistance.

193,672
Telecare calls were received

There is an opportunity to extend the use of
care enabled technology both in individual
dwellings and in older persons’ housing
schemes to help support independence and
wellbeing.

Mobile Warden Callouts

There has been a £301,200 cost avoidance for the Welsh Ambulance Service so far this financial
year.

Finding
Of 3,771 Mobile Warden callouts, less than 218 (6%) resulted in an ambulance
being called out saving the Welsh Ambulance Service an estimated £301,200 so
far this financial year.

Page 448

48

People
Help to Return Home from Hospital
Step Down
Step Down accommodation offers an interim
solution between hospital and home and
promotes independent living in an adapted
environment. It can offer a short term home
solution in a range of adapted flats and can
help to reduce hospital bed blocking by
enabling medically fit people to leave hospital
if adaptions or work is required at their current
home, or a re-housing alternative is needed.
It can also assist people who need to
temporarily leave their current home whilst
home adaptions are done. Step Up
accommodation can be used to assess a
person’s physical needs in an adapted
environment and allow adaptation work to be
completed more efficiently. There are
currently 5 flats available with a further 2
ground floor flats in development.

Get Me Home Service
Building on the
achievements
of the First
Point
of
Contact
in
Cardiff,
the
new Get Me Home Service is a single access
point within the hospital. Working in
partnership with Health, Social Care and 3rd

CASE STUDY—Get Me Home Service
Mr D was admitted to the University
Hospital Wales following a fall.
The Get Me Home Officer established that
what mattered to Mr D was ‘feeling safe in
his own home’. Mr D explained that his
family did not live in Cardiff, so he had no
local support. He felt that his only option
was a residential placement, to help him
feel safe.
Multiple services were identified that could
be put in place to meet Mr D’s needs at
home, while
also
promoting
his
independence and well-being.
This
included:
 Referral to Telecare
 Referral to

Independent Living Services
Visiting Team- to carry out an income
maximisation assessment. Also to discuss
sheltered accommodation options to
combat loneliness.
Day Opportunities Team- to build Mr D’s
confidence in accessing the community
independently.
 Referral to the Community Resource
Team – to assist Mr D back to his
previous independence through reenablement services.

Referrals were also made to combat social
Sector in the provision of community based
isolation and for
help managing
services, the team are on hand to meet
medication.
patients using ‘What Matters’ conversations to
These referrals prevented the need for
provide holistic tailored support that meets
Social Care , reduced hospital bed days and
the well-being needs of the individual. They
assisted Mr D to continue to live
provide preventative interventions, support
independently and safely.
independent living, patient discharge and
Page 449
reduce the risk of readmission.

49

People
Support to Move
Understanding
Aspirations

Older

Persons’

Of respondents to the older persons’ survey,
44% (221) said they were expecting to move
and those who took part in focus groups were
asked what they thought were the most
important aspects of the housing they may be
considering moving to. These were:


Safety/security (67%).



Having a private garden (66%).



Adequate storage (62%).



Having a garage or parking (62%).



Moving to an area with cafes/shops
(61%).

Other important factors included:


Having social opportunities (41%)



Ability to bring pets (39%)



A more accessible home (37%)

There were however mixed views about
moving to older persons’ housing. Some
participants said they would like to live in
housing for older people, but definitely
wanted to remain living in a mixed-age
community.
Some participants felt strongly about having a
garden. Private outdoor space was important,
especially as people become less mobile with
age.
Those focus group participants who were
owner-occupiers said that even if they were
interested in downsizing in general, they were
put off by what they perceive to be a lack of
attractive housing choices. There was interest
in extra care housing, but typically as a later
move, with concerns raised about the
affordability of current models. Some
participants expressed concerns about the
suitability of retirement housing as people
develop more significant care needs.
For those participants who did express an
interest in moving to housing designated for
older
people,
the
adjacent chart identifies
that having an alarm is
the most important
service that older people
are seeking.

Page 450

50

People
Advice and Support to Help to
Move
The evidence from the primary research
with older people indicates that they are
seeking:


Comprehensive information about the
full range of housing options for older
people, i.e. in addition to renting from
social landlords.



Expert advice in relation to older
persons’ housing options as well as
information.



Access to online and paper-based
resources that allow them to weigh up
the advantages and disadvantages of
different housing options.

There is currently a lack of knowledge and
understanding of older persons’ housing
options. This was re-enforced by the
participants of the older persons’ focus
groups who identified that there are
financial, legal and practical issues
associated with moving or downsizing and
the process can be long, so different help
is needed at different stages. They also
stressed that that many people do not
know about sheltered or extra care
housing so may miss out on opportunities
and there was a need to better promote
the services available.
Amongst owner occupiers there was a
desire for comprehensive information and
face-to-face advice about different
housing options that may be suitable for
older people.

Findings
44% of those who responded to
the survey said that they expected
to move to more suitable
accommodation.
Demand for disabled adaptations is
likely to continue to increase
putting pressure on existing
resources.
There is a need to
understand future costs of the
service and to ensure that adapted
homes and equipment are used
effectively to meet future needs.
When asked, older people were
often unaware of the different
housing options available and
concerned about the financial, legal
and practical issues associated with
moving. There is a need going
forward to improve the specialist
housing advice available to older
people.

Page 451

51

People
Downsizing
44% of all respondents to the survey stated
they were considering a move in the future,
and of these 40% were considering downsizing.
Of those considering downsizing, 48% were
homeowners compared to just 20% of those
respondents currently renting
There are significant benefits to downsizing to
appropriate accommodation, not only does this
reduce fuel bills and other costs, moving to
more accessible accommodation with level
access and/ or ground floor facilities can help
the older person to stay independent at home
for longer. A move to a more central location or
nearer to social networks can reduce the risk of
social isolation and for homeowners it may
release capital.

Downsizing and Social Housing
Downsizing from social housing has added
benefits as it can free up much needed family
accommodation for those on the waiting list.
Many families are living in overcrowded or
temporary accommodation and it is estimated
that for each person that downsizes, 2.5
households can benefit from the properties
that become available.
At the beginning of December 2018 there were
147 households on the waiting list for social
housing who were actively seeking to downsize
where the whole household was aged 50+. In
addition to those actively seeking a move it is
estimated that a further 2,300 social housing
tenants aged 65 + are under- occupying their
current home by at least 1 bedroom. While the
potential housing needs and wants of this

group are unknown, it is clear that there are a
significant number of older social housing
tenants living in homes that are too big and/
or unsuitable for their current needs.
Facilitating moves by under-occupying
tenants to more suitable accommodation
could help better address their housing needs
and promote independent living, whilst
freeing up larger properties for families on
the Housing Waiting List.
Under the Cardiff Housing Allocation Scheme,
priority is awarded to those who wish to
downsize. However current restrictions on
the choice available may be preventing many
from considering a move. The client survey
showed that many older people would prefer
to downsize to a 2 bedroom property,
although their need may be for 1 bedroom
accommodation. Other older people may
want more flexibility to move within their
own neighbourhood or within their current
building or housing scheme. There is a need
to consider offering more flexibility and
choice to older people who want to downsize.
Also while there is help available for social
tenants who wish to move or downsize there
is a recognised gap in support for private
owners and those renting privately. This will
need to be explored further to ensure tenure
type is not a barrier to moving to suitable
accommodation for older people.

Page 452

52

People
CASE STUDY
A pilot Accommodation Solutions Team was set up in 2017, to provide assistance to council
tenants who need or want to downsize and who may find the whole process daunting.
Tailored solutions are offered, including advice on how to apply for rehousing; home visits;
financial incentives and support with removal arrangements. The team also works to proactively identify under-occupiers not already on the Housing Waiting List that may be
considering a move. 46 tenants were assisted to downsize, over half of these to older
persons’ housing. Properties released as a result included 31 three bed houses, 1 four bed
house; 2 two bed houses. In addition to helping those on the waiting list the team has also
proactively contacted tenants who are under-occupying and as a result 10 tenants have
joined the list; 3 tenants have moved.

Findings
There are considerable advantages to older people in downsizing to more
appropriate accommodation and this can play a significant part in helping them
to stay independent at home.
There are large numbers of older people under-occupying social housing
whose housing needs and aspirations are unknown, providing them with
attractive housing options could encourage them to downsize, providing them
with more sustainable accommodation while also freeing up much needed
family accommodation.
There is limited support available for home owners and those in the private
rented sector to help them to downsize.
There has been some success in assisting older social tenants to downsize.
However further work is needed to expand on this success, removing barriers
and providing better choice to encourage downsizing.

Page 453

53

People

WE WILL
Develop an “Older Persons’ & Accessible Homes Unit” to:
Provide specialist housing advice for all older people, to help
them better understand their housing options
Ensure that high quality advice and information is available on
the Council’s websites, in Hubs and through information
sessions and events.
Support people with disabilities to access adapted properties
Support older people
accommodation

to

downsize

to

more

appropriate

Facilitate exchanges between social tenants through information
held on the Housing Waiting List.

Page 454

54

People
Meeting the Needs of the Most Vulnerable
Understanding the Needs of the Frail Elderly
As highlighted in the
Introduction, the numbers
of older people with needs
relating to dementia, frailty
and physical disabilities is
set to rise significantly.
Numbers of older people
(50+) in Cardiff
are
projected to increase by
26% overall during the next
20 years, with those in the
85+ category increasing
significantly by 94% from
7,600 to 14, 700 people.

Projected Number of People Aged 65+ in Cardiff
Year
Increase
2015
2035
Health Condition
Limiting long term illness
17,811
27,525
55%
Obesity
10,704
15,989
49%
Diabetes
7,925
12,253
55%
Dementia
3,598
6,012
67%
Care-related
Unable to manage at least 1
mobility activity
9,374
15,076
61%
Unable to manage at least 1
domestic task
20,619
32,677
58%
Unable to manage at least 1
self-care activity
16,945
26,770
58%

Parallel to this, with life expectancy increasing, a range of health and care-related conditions is
also set to rise significantly over the next 20 years. The below table highlights a rise in dementia
as a particular issue with a 67% increase in people over 65 suffering from the disease by 2035.
Older persons’ mobility is also set to worsen with a 61% rise in the numbers unable to manage at
least one mobility activity.

Effective Targeting of Social Housing
Demand for social housing by older people is high. At the beginning of December 2018, there
were 1,736 applicants on the Cardiff Housing Waiting List where the whole household was aged
50+ and 1,108 of these had expressed an interest in older persons’ accommodation. Of these
more than half had clear need to move, most for medical reasons, and were prioritised on the
waiting list. However on average there are only 237 lets of older persons’ housing per year. There
is a clear need to prioritise social housing for those most in need.

Page 455

55

People
Adapted and Accessible Housing

Sheltered Housing

There were 533 people aged 50+ on the
Waiting List who were assessed as requiring
some form of adapted or accessible housing –
486 needed ‘easy access’ accommodation, 33
needed partially adapted accommodation and
14 needed fully adapted, wheelchair
accessible accommodation. This need is likely
to grow in the coming years with the increase
in frailty of the older population.

The facilities most commonly found in existing
sheltered housing provision are alarms;
communal lounges; laundries; guest rooms and
lifts, reflecting the historic design of the stock.
Less prevalent are restaurants, activity rooms
and assisted bathrooms, features typically
found in extra care housing.

The Cardiff Accessible Homes Service matches
those needing accessible properties with the
homes that become available to ensure that
best use is made of the properties available.
Work has been undertaken recently to
mainstream the waiting list for adapted
homes, ensuring that there is no duplication
and that clients with a disability can be
considered for all suitable homes, not only
those that have already been adapted.
Adapted properties are now categorised into
3 levels to better identify suitable properties
and when a property becomes vacant
consideration is given to the potential for
further adaptations to meet the increasing
demand for fully adapted accommodation.
Tenants living in properties with adaptations
that they no longer require are given priority
on the Waiting List and assisted to find more
suitable
accommodation,
to
increase
movement and the availability of adapted
accommodation for those who need it.

Extra Care facilities can be expensive both to
build and to operate and it is possible that with
some adaptation the current sheltered housing
schemes could offer a lower cost alternative
and still meet the needs of the frail elderly.
This could involve the development of
“Sheltered plus” or “Extra Care Light” either
using existing scheme or in the new build
developments.
Provision of on-site support in sheltered
housing varies. While previously a typical
sheltered housing scheme would have offered
day time warden support, this is no longer the
case. This change is largely due to funding
changes in relation to the Supporting People
programme and a move away from funding
support linked to specific types of
accommodation.

While Cardiff Council has committed to
maintaining the presence of a scheme
manager at its sheltered housing and has
recently enhanced the support provided at
these schemes, some other social landlords are
reviewing and withdrawing their on-site
support. The changes to on-site support
provision may reduce the ability of sheltered
housing schemes to meet the growing needs of
the older population and further work is
needed to identify the impact of this.

Page 456

56

People
Future provision of support may be influenced
by the UK Government’s funding proposals for
sheltered and extra care housing with housing
costs continuing to be met through housing
benefit but with a yet to be determined ‘cap’
on overall rent and service charges, and
specifically the extent to which the Welsh
Government will have discretion about how
such a policy is to be implemented in Wales;
and also the extent to which residents are
willing to pay for additional support services,
which are not eligible for housing benefit.

Red Sea House
Red Sea House is a Taff Housing Association
scheme comprising of 15 self-contained flats,
specifically designed and run for the needs of
older people from Black Asian & Minority
Ethnic (BAME) communities. Staff are able
communicate with the tenants in their
primary language, religious needs are
catered for in the design of the building and
support service and staff have enhanced
cultural awareness.

Findings
The provision of on-site support in
Sheltered
Schemes
will
be
important in meeting the increasing
needs of the older population,
funding changes have already
resulted in some reduction in
support available and if this
continues it will impact on the
ability of sheltered schemes to
meet the growing needs of older
clients.
There is an opportunity to provide
different models of support such as
“Sheltered Plus” or “Extra Care
Light” as options to meet the range
of need of the older population.

Red Sea House was originally developed to
provide a service for Somali Elders close to
their community and established networks in
order to meet their specific needs. The
scheme
has
developed
over time and
is now open to
individuals and
all
genders
from
Black,
Asian and Minority Ethnic groups provided
they meet the requirements for retirement
housing.

Page 457

WE WILL
Review the provision of
support in sheltered schemes
to ensure it is meeting the
future needs of the older
population and explore the
opportunity to upgrade some
existing sheltered housing
schemes to “Sheltered Plus”
or “Extra Care” Light, to a
greater level of need.

57

People
Allocation of Sheltered Housing
Some older people have shown a preference to
move to older person housing for reasons of
safety and security and sheltered housing has a
key role to play in meeting these needs,
however while considerable information is
held about the physical needs of older people
on the waiting list there is limited information
relating to social isolation and wellbeing and
these are currently not recognised for
allocation purposes.
There is also a lack of information on the
housing aspirations of older people in terms of
type of accommodation that they would wish
to live in. While demand for social housing is
high it takes on average 3 offers to let age
designated properties and 4 offers to let
sheltered housing, showing that offers made
are not meeting the needs or aspirations of
older people.

Effective, face to face advice during the
application process should help ensure that
older applicants make more informed housing
choices.
Changes to the Allocation Scheme will be
considered to better reflect the wider needs
of older people, while this will still include age
criteria and medical needs, social isolation,
and the need for safety and security would
also be considered. The older persons social
care needs and frailty will also be recorded
and taken into account.

Changes are proposed to the management of
the social housing waiting list to better reflect
the housing choices (in terms of property type)
and needs (in terms of social isolation, safety
and security). Additional information will be
sought from both new and existing applicants
so that properties can be better targeted
toward those who need them most for both
physical and wider wellbeing reasons.
To assist with this, clear descriptions
accommodation types and what they offer will
be developed, together with an interactive
map showing the location of and facilities
offered in each sheltered housing complex.

Page 458

A
pilot
exercise
was
undertaken in which older
housing applicants were asked
to provide more information
about
the
type
of
accommodation that they
wanted to be considered for.
76% of applicants actively
chose
general
needs
accommodation, 81% chose
Independent
Living
(age
designated) and 29% chose
Community Living (sheltered).
Reasons given for choosing
Community Living included the
services on offer; social
opportunities; security and
mobility/safety.

58

People

Findings
The current social housing allocation process does not take into account
the housing choices of older applicants and wellbeing issues such as social
isolation and the need for safety and security are not fully recorded or
reflected in the allocations process. There is a need to review the waiting
list and allocation arrangements to fully reflect the housing choices and the
wider needs of older people.

WE WILL
Improve the allocation of older persons’, extra care and
adapted accommodation, increasing the information available
about individual needs and aspirations and ensuring that
those most in need are prioritised.

Better reflect the housing choices and wider social needs of
older people within the social housing allocation policy, taking
into account social isolation, support networks and the need
to remain within their community. Ensure the policy supports
those who wish to downsize.

Page 459

59

People
Extra Care Accommodation
Housing with Care or “Extra Care”
accommodation in Cardiff is currently let under
separate arrangements to other social housing
stock and separate waiting lists are held and
maintained by the RSL landlords. Applications
are considered from people aged 60+ including
those referred by the Council’s Adult Services,
the RSL landlord or any other party (including
self-referrals). Applicants not already in receipt
of support from Adult Services are assessed to
establish their housing circumstances and care
and support needs and to confirm their
eligibility to join the waiting list.
Eligibility is based on a need for services which
cannot be provided within the community,
without which support in a residential setting
would be required. Applicants not currently be
in receipt of a formal package of care may still
be eligible if care is provided informally.

Linc Cymru’s Extra Care Scheme’s
Plas Bryn and Llys Enfys

Application and waiting list arrangements for
extra care accommodation need to be
reviewed to ensure that the demand for this
type of accommodation across the city is fully
understood and that availability is promoted to
make best use of this important resource.

Allocations are made by a panel consisting of
Adult Services and landlord representatives.
Adult Services’ current clients with the most
immediate rehousing needs are considered
before other applicants on the waiting list.

Due to the separate waiting list arrangements
the information available about those waiting
for housing and their needs is not readily
available. The Housing Lin review found that “
there is an ongoing issue in relation to the
accuracy and use of waiting list data for extra
care housing”. It is unclear whether needs
could be met through sheltered or other
accommodation. It is also unclear whether
extra care housing is actively promoted as an
alternative to residential accommodation.

Page 460

WE WILL
Carry out a review of the
allocation of Extra Care
Housing, including the
introduction of a central
waiting list and clear
allocation policies.

Actively promote Extra Care
Housing as an alternative to
residential care and as step
down from hospital.

60

People
Residential and Nursing Care
Residential and nursing care is provided in care homes registered with and regulated by Care
Inspectorate Wales. It provides accommodation, care, support and health services (in the case of
nursing homes) for people with high levels of disability and ill health. A significant proportion of
people living in care home accommodation will be living with advancing dementia, often in
addition to physical frailties. Care home residents either move into care homes under private
arrangements, or as a consequence of assessments and care planning undertaken by Social
Services and for health services.

Local Authority Funded Care Placements

As at 27/10/2018, there were 455
funded nursing placements and 374
funded residential placements. The
average age of people in receipt of
nursing care was 83 years, whilst the
average age of people in receipt of
residential care was 71 years. Adults
aged 65 years or over were on average
supported for 657 days in nursing care
and 949 days in residential care.
Over the last 5 years, the actual number
of nursing care placements has
increased beyond the level that would
have been anticipated, based on
projected population increases.
The actual number of residential care
placements has decreased markedly
over the period, in contrast to the
projected numbers. The fall in the
numbers entering residential care is the
result of services now being available in
the community to keep people out of
institutionalised care for longer. The
Council is able to support increasingly
frail people at home until the point
where they require nursing care.

Page 461

61

People
Future Provision

Residential Care and Nursing Homes in Cardiff
Top: Sunrise of Cardiff & Woodcroft
Bottom: Ty Dinas & Heol Don Care Home

The needs assessment undertaken for this
strategy estimates a need for 655 additional
nursing home beds, if current models of
provision do not change. This is very
challenging as the residential and nursing care
sector, in common with the NHS, experiences
significant difficulties in recruiting and
retaining the right quantum and quality of
nursing workforce. There is a need to review
current models of care home provision, and
models of workforce, to develop innovative
and creative accommodation, care and health
services which can meet the needs of our most
frail and vulnerable residents. Additionally,
there is a need to ensure people who can be re
-abled to live more independently with
support are assisted to do so.

WE WILL
Develop residential re-ablement provision to ensure no-one
moves into long term residential care without thorough
assessment of their needs in a short term residential setting.
Undertake a detailed review of creative options for
accommodation, care, support and nursing for Cardiff's most frail
and vulnerable residents.
Develop innovative models of care and support and nursing
services which enable people to remain in their own homes and
communities and provide the very highest standard of care
homes for people with the most complex needs.
Further explore the use of new technology to help people
remain independent at home.
Page 462

62

The Importance of Community
The Impact of Social Isolation
Various factors such as disability and the loss of
friends and family can make older people
especially vulnerable to loneliness and social
isolation and this can have a detrimental effect
on their health and wellbeing. Research has
highlighted social isolation as comparable to
health risks such as smoking and alcohol
consumption. A range of services targeted at
alleviating social isolation have been developed
by Cardiff Council.

Community Hubs
Cardiff’s Community Hub project has joined up
Council and partner services to provide
comprehensive local provision based on the
needs of the area. Cardiff Council has 12 Hubs
within the city. Central Library Hub is based in
the city centre, with a further 11 Community
Hubs based throughout the city in the areas of
greatest need.

As well as providing advice the Hubs have an
important role to play in encouraging
community participation and there are a
variety of activities held in the Community
Hubs that are targeted towards Cardiff’s older
population.
Studies have shown that
intergenerational contact is very effective in
combatting loneliness and social isolation.

CASE STUDY

Wellbeing Wednesday
Llandaff North and Gabalfa Hub hosts a
Wellbeing Wednesday every week, with
activities that are specifically aimed at
the over 50’s. This includes a gardening
and lunch club, an over 50’s weights class
and a stroke clinic. Age Connect also
facilitate a nail care service. Information
is also provided regarding meals on
wheels, the community nursing team and
Telecare. United Welsh Housing provide
wellbeing sessions in which customers
are assisted to make connections with
the community and with recreational
activities and hobbies they may be
interested in. There are also plans to
deliver intergenerational yoga classes in
the near future.

Both older people
and children have
benefited from the
interaction
during
intergenerational
parties and events
held in the Hubs.

Page 463

63

The Importance of Community
Community Wellbeing Hubs
It is recognised
that
with
the
increasing
older
population
and
problem
of
isolation there is a
need to extend the
Hub programme to
other areas of the
city with a focus on
wellbeing,
community
engagement and
independent living.
The current branch
libraries in the
north and west of
the city will be
used as a base for the The map above shows the existing community hubs and sites of potential
new services.
wellbeing hubs.
Community Wellbeing Hubs will:


Offer advice on Independent Living



Engage the community through events and
activities for older people



Involve partner organisations, community
groups and volunteers to enhance service
provision



Play a lead role in social prescribing for GP’s

As well as the Community/Well-being hubs
development, four new Community Inclusion
Officers will be employed to provide ‘hands on
support’ for local groups based/anchored at
the Hubs to:


Co-ordinate engagement opportunities



Build local knowledge and networks



Help develop ‘active citizen’ opportunities



Link with other community based services

Page 464

64

The Importance of Community
Health and Wellbeing
A new Health and Wellbeing service will be
provided, developing events and activities
targeting the wellbeing needs of Cardiff’s
citizens. The service will also support Cardiff’s
Hubs to positively impact on the Aging Well
agenda and support the aims of the Dementia
Friendly city approach. This will include:









Dementia Information points to be
created in all Hubs in collaboration with
Alzheimer’s Society
Implementation of Dementia Support
sessions within Community Hubs, in
collaboration with Health partners, to
provide informal opportunities to those
affected by dementia and their carers to
receive help and effective referral in
order to enable individuals to “live well
with dementia”.
Hub staff to receive Dementia Friends
awareness training
Delivery of Dementia Cafés within Hubs
Providing access to resources and
information including Reading Well
Books on Prescription (Dementia) as well
as Reading Well Books on Prescription
(Mental Health) which will launch in
19/20

The Alzheimer’s
Society’s
Dementia Friends
programme is an
initiative designed to change people’s
perceptions of dementia. It aims to
transform the way people think, act and talk
about the condition.
Public understanding of dementia can be
poor and people with dementia can often
feel misunderstood, marginalised and
isolated. Becoming a Dementia Friend
simply means finding out more about how
dementia affects a person and, armed with
this understanding, doing small everyday
things that help.

Day Centres
Cardiff Council operates three day centres that
provide services to older people with high care
and support needs.
Minehead Road Day
Centre in Llanrumney
was the first centre to
benefit
from
refurbishment
works
under
the
Day
Opportunities Strategy.

Grand Avenue Day Centre in Ely has recently
been refurbished to create a specialist
dementia centre, in partnership with Cardiff &
Vale
University
Health Board. It now
provides improved
support
to
individuals and their
carers.

The service will also facilitate the Hubs to
provide further bespoke advice and support
services for older people. This will include
health
information
and
resources,
intergenerational activities and support for
carers to maintain their own wellbeing through
providing events and activities. Priority will be
given to tackling the social isolation that can Refurbishment works commenced at Fairwater
negatively affect this demographic and Day Centre in January 2019 and it is due to reactivities to bring networks of people together open in Summer 2019.
Page 465
65
will be delivered.

The Importance of Community
Day Opportunities Team

Befriending Services

The
Day
Opportunities
Team
within
the
Independent
Living Service
provides one to
one support to
help older people to reconnect and remain
part of their community. The team helps
clients to find and participate in activities that
they are interested in, through the provision of
short-term
assistance
and
targeted
intervention.

Charities
and
organisations
provide
befriending or similar services that can help to
reduce a person’s loneliness or social
isolation. Some services are aimed at specific
groups including people suffering from
Alzheimer’s or dementia, those affected by
sight or hearing loss, veterans and their
families, and members of the Black, Asian and
Minority Ethnic community in Wales.

Social Prescribing and Wellbeing
Services
Social Prescribing Services allow medical and
other professionals to “prescribe” community
based solutions for their clients, often to
combat low level mental wellbeing issues or
social isolation.

During 2018/19 a new approach to social
prescribing will be piloted in Cardiff and the
Vale to increase the accessibility of the
services available. The Independent Living
Service will provide a new, single point of
entry for social prescribing in Cardiff. This web
and telephone based service will enable
individual people or professionals to search for
relevant well-being services. This new service
will include 24 hour access to a ‘chatbot’
function on the website and also secure
community access points in GP practices,
pharmacies, hubs and other community
buildings for people to self-refer where
appropriate.

Age Connect Befriending
Service
Cardiff Council funds a befriending
service for older people through Age
Connect.
For the period April to
September 2018, 166 clients were
assisted by this service. Some of these
clients have described what the service
means to them.

Page 466

“It’s made a big difference. I like
to go out walking, and my
family don’t like me to go on my
own. It’s something to look
forward to”

“It has improved my selfesteem and confidence”
“It has made a big difference to
me as I hardly saw anybody”

66

The Importance of Community
Community Living Schemes
The opportunity to use Council Community
Living schemes as a locality ‘hub’ for
residents and older people in the surrounding
area is being piloted at the refurbished
Sandown Court complex. The remodelled
communal space will offer a range of services
and activities for older people living in and
around the scheme, provided in partnership
with Health and Social Care and aimed at
promoting independence; enhancing quality
of life; keeping residents fit and healthy and
reducing social isolation and loneliness.
This will include visiting services such as
health (blood pressure checks, sight and
hearing tests, chiropody); hairdressing and
drop-in surgeries on topics such as budgeting,
energy efficiency and Council services.
Classes may be offered, for example basic
computer skills, fitness and first aid. Health
activities have already begun at Sandown
Court with eye tests being carried out at the
scheme via Specsavers. To aid and assist
residents with movement and falls
prevention, Tai Chi and low impact fitness
training is being delivered on site.

Councillor Thorne and
residents in one of the
communal areas at
Sandown Court

Residents of Worcester Court enjoying Gardening
Club
Page

CASE STUDY
Mr M has lived in Sandown Court
for 15 years. When he moved into
the complex he lived in a bedsit,
but he has now moved to a flat
and
since
the
recent
refurbishment the size of his flat
has increased. “I was over the
moon, I now have a flat and a half!
I can’t fault the finish”.
Mr M said that there have been
new people moving in, they are
welcomed into the community
“we have breakfast club, the
afternoon movie club it helps
people gel, I’m hoping we do some
bingo as well.”
Each flat is connected to the CCTV
cameras and Tunstall Care-line
intercom system, the system is
also connected to smoke and heat
detectors. “If someone knocks my
door I can quickly check on the
CCTV who they are. If I don’t know
them I’m not letting them in!”
There is a community spirit in the
complex and Mr M is very well
known “I painted the benches in
the gardens when the complex
refurbishment
was
officially
opened and if someone needs help
with flat pack building or to
change a lightbulb I’m always
happy to help.”

467

67

The Importance of Community

Findings
Connection to the community is key to the wellbeing many of older people.
Cardiff has a wide range of services to help prevent social isolation and
promote wellbeing; many of these are based around the Council’s
Community Hubs.
A number of new initiatives are being developed to further this, including
new community wellbeing hubs in the north and west of the city and
proposals to open the facilities in older persons housing complexes to the
wider community.

WE WILL
Make better use of Council Community Living schemes to
offer services to the wider community, in partnership with
Health, Social Care and third sector partners.
Build on the Community Hub programme by developing
Community Wellbeing Hubs in the north and west of the city
providing a range of advice and social activities for older
people.

Pilot a new approach to social prescribing ensuring that
individuals and professionals have easy access to wellbeing
services in the community.
Continue to be a dementia friendly organisation by ensuring
all hub staff receive Dementia Friends awareness training.

Page 468

68

Equalities
Age
In September 2017 a profiling exercise of
sheltered accommodation tenants was
undertaken. The adjacent table shows a
breakdown of the age of the tenants profiled,
compared with the wider Cardiff population.
More than half of the tenants were over the
age of 70 showing that the accommodation is
meeting the needs of the older elderly
population.

Sheltered Housing
Population

Cardiff Population

AGE

Number

%

Number

%

50-59

93

8%

41,200

38%

60-69

365

32%

31,800

29%

70-79

347

30%

21,200

20%

80-89

256

23%

11,800

11%

90+

71

6%

2,700

3%

Older Applicants by Age and Gender
Cardiff Housing Waiting List
920

900
14
880

860

840

820
880

30

800

780
795
760

740
Male

Female
Aged 50+

Aged 85+

Waiting List Applicants
There are currently (December 2018) 1,719 households on the waiting list where every member
is aged 50 or over and therefore eligible for older persons’ housing (22%). This shows that older
people are well represented on the waiting list. 18% of all lets were made to this group.
Of the 1719 households, only 44 are aged 85 and over (1% of the waiting list). This compares to
2% of the Cardiff population aged 85 and over. The Older Persons’ and Accessible Homes unit
will help ensure that the housing needs of the older elderly population are fully considered.

Page 469

69

Equalities
Ethnicity

Religion

The tables below show the ethnicity of the
Cardiff Population taken from the 2011 Census
and the results of the 2017 profiling exercise of
sheltered accommodation tenants. We cannot
directly compare this to the ethnicity of the
Cardiff Population due to the differing
ethnicity categories, however it does broadly
demonstrate that BAME citizens are well
represented within the schemes.

The adjacent table shows a breakdown of the
religion of waiting list applicants aged 50+ and
the Cardiff population aged 50+. There are
some significant differences, not least the high
number of waiting lists applicants for whom
religion is not stated.

Analysis of the Cardiff Housing Waiting List
(and subsequent lets) data also broadly mirrors
the diversity of the Cardiff population.
Ethnicity of Population Aged 50+
Number
%
Ethnicity
93,096
93.5%
White
Mixed/multiple ethnic
1157
1.2%
group
3471
3.5%
Asian/Asian British
Black/African/Caribbean/
1154
1.2%
Black British
740
0.7%
Other ethnic group
99,618
100%
Total aged 50+
Source: 2011 Census, Table LC2101EW

Ethnicity of Residents living in Cardiff’s Sheltered
Schemes aged 50+

ETHNICITY*
White British
White Other
Black/Black British
Asian/Asian British
Any other mixed
Other
Not stated

Number
926
20
48
26
6
30
61

%

There is a need to improve the recording of
religion on the waiting list. There is also a need
to better understand how religion affects
housing need.

Waiting
List

%

Cardiff
Population

%

Christian

477

28.0

69,747

70.0

Buddhist

4

0.2

345

0.3

Hindu

3

0.2

724

0.7

Jewish

3

0.2

405

0.4

Muslim

34

2.0

2,503

2.5

Sikh

1

0.1

197

0.2

Other
religion
No religion

32

2.0

322

0.3

211

12.0

16,728

16.8

954

55.0

8,647

8.7

1719

100.0

99,618

100.0

Religion

Religion
not stated
Total

85%

4%
2%
1%
3%
5%

Page 470

WE WILL
Work to better understand
how religion affects housing
need.

70

Equalities
Physical Health
The numbers of older people in Cardiff with physical disabilities are projected to increase
significantly, with numbers unable to manage at least one mobility activity set to rise by 61%
over the period 2015 to 2035.
As at December 2018, there were 533 (31%) people aged 50+ on the Cardiff Housing Waiting
List assessed as requiring some form of adapted or accessible housing – 486 needed ‘easy
access’ accommodation, 33 needed partially adapted accommodation and 14 needed fully
adapted, wheelchair accessible accommodation.
In 2017/18, 49 (19%) of the 258 lets made from the Cardiff Housing Waiting List to disabled
applicants aged 50 and over were adapted or easy access properties.
As set out in the strategy, the Older Persons’ and Accessible Homes Unit will support people
with disabilities to access adapted properties.
The Council‘s new build plans include a commitment to ensure all developments provide
flexible, accessible homes that are able to adapt around a persons’ changing needs.

Mental Health
In 2017/18 for those people over the age of 55 receiving
floating support, mental health issues were a significant
support need with 98 cases (18%) recorded as a lead need
and 77 (23%) recorded as a secondary need.
Mental health issues were also the greatest secondary need
of clients whose main reason for requiring support was that
they were over the age of 55, with 40 cases recorded.
There is a need going forward to examine this data further
to ensure that individual support needs are identified and
that appropriate referrals are made.
A significant number of older people receiving floating
support had issues with mental health. Future sample
checking of cases will be undertaken to fully understand the
individual support needs of this group to inform future
services.

Page 471

71

Next Steps
The ‘We Will’ objectives found throughout this strategy will form the
basis of a five-year action plan, to be developed with partners. The
action plan will provide details of the key activities to be carried out
and identify clear outcomes, along with lead responsible officers and/
or organisations. Implementation will be closely monitored and the
action plan reviewed and updated as necessary. The Council cannot
deliver the strategy in isolation and partnership working will be
essential to ensure that the best outcomes and solutions can be
reached.

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

Page 472

Vision and Summary of
Key Commitments

1

outcomes for all older people in
Cardiff’

Better reflect the housing choices and wider social needs of older people within the social housing allocation
policy, taking into account social isolation, support networks and the need to remain within their
community. Ensure the policy supports those who wish to downsize.

Deliver new homes that meet older persons’ housing needs and aspirations.

Increase the supply of ‘care ready’ housing for older people that is suitable for ageing in place and which
allows domiciliary care to be provided as required.

Page 473

Improve our existing homes to ensure they are fit for purpose and support
independent living.
Work with RSL partners to better understand the condition of existing older persons housing in the city and its
potential future use. Review all Council “age designated” properties to improve accessibility.

Continue the refurbishment of the Council’s Council Sheltered stock on a scheme by scheme basis, securing
RNIB accreditation for refurbished schemes.

Plan new homes and communities to address future housing and care needs across
all tenures.
Work towards full implementation of the new Planning Policy Wales as it relates to older persons’ housing,
including the use of Supplementary Planning Guidance where appropriate.
As part of the preparation for the next Local Development Plan, set out a target for the delivery of older
persons’ housing and work with developers to achieve this target.
Continue to work with market house builders to deliver new affordable older persons’ homes close to or within
the new local centres.

4

Continue to develop the Independent Living Service to help older people remain independent at home and
work with the Welsh Government to ensure that funding for the service is maintained.
Continue the Council’s commitment to the delivery of disabled adaptations to ensure that older people can
remain independent at home.

Deliver a minimum of 741 new homes for older people by 2030 of which 434 will be Council homes, 207 RSL
homes and 100 for private ownership, and develop additional proposals as part of the Council’s
commitment to building 2,000 new homes.

3

Help older people to maintain their independence for longer.

‘To deliver the best housing

Work in partnership with Health and RSL partners to develop an evidence-based city wide plan for the
future development of affordable housing for older people, including those living with dementia and with a
wide range of care needs.

2

5

Provide person-centred information, advice and assistance.

Develop a new “Older Persons and Accessible Homes Unit” to:
Provide specialist housing advice for all older people, to help them better understand their housing
options.
Ensure that high quality advice and information is available on the Council’s websites, in Hubs and through
information sessions and events.

Work to better understand how religion affects housing need.

6

Ensure the needs of the most vulnerable are met.

Improve the allocation of older persons’, extra care and adapted accommodation, increasing the information
available about individual needs and aspirations and ensuring that those most in need are prioritised.
Review the provision of support in sheltered schemes to ensure it meets the future needs of the older population
and explore the opportunity to upgrade some existing sheltered housing schemes to “Sheltered Plus” or “Extra
Care Light”, to a greater level of need.
Develop innovative models of care and support and nursing services which enable people to remain in their own
homes and communities and provide the very highest standard of care homes for people with the most complex
needs.
Further explore the use of new technology to help people remain independent at home for longer.
Future sample checking of floating support cases will be undertaken to fully understand the individual support
needs of those with mental health issues.

7

To build stronger, inclusive communities and tackle social isolation

Make better use of the Council’s Community Living Schemes to offer services to the wider community, in
partnership with Health, Social Care and third sector partners.
Provide a new Health and Wellbeing service: working through the Hubs and with partners to develop
events, activities and a range of health advice to meet wellbeing needs of older people.
Pilot a new approach to social prescribing ensuring easy access to wellbeing services in the community.
Ensure all Hub staff receive Dementia Friends awareness training and delivering dementia cafes and
support sessions within Hubs.

Older
Persons’
Survey
Threatened
with
Homelessness

44%

Survey respondents considering a move in the future
expressed a preference for the following types of housing:

Of clients asked
are considering
a move in the
future

%

46

Bungalow

29 21
House

Flats

Support people with disabilities to access adapted properties.

Actively promote Extra Care Housing as an alternative to residential care and as step down from hospital,
Support older people to downsize to more appropriate accommodation.
Facilitate exchanges between social tenants through information held on the Housing Waiting List.

45

would consider a move
% Of those
renting

to designated
persons’ housing

%

%

older

23

%

58

Would prefer at
least 2
bedrooms
% Of home
owners

Key Findings of the Older Persons
Housing Strategy

Older Persons Housing Strategy
2018-2023
SUPPORTING INDEPENDENCE
Cardiff’s Independent Living Services provide a wide range of support focused on helping older people to stay independent at
home. 70% of clients were supported to stay at home without the need for Social Services intervention.
The Independent Living service is largely funded by Welsh Government grant and the continuation of this service could be
threatened if future funding is not secured.

AN INCREASING AGING POPULATION

Cardiff Council has invested in the provision of home adaptations. The Disabled Facilities Service is working well, delivering
adaptations in a timely and cost effective way which compares well with the rest of Wales. Demand for disabled adaptations
The number of people in Cardiff with dementia is projected to increase by 67% for those aged 65+ and by 85% for is likely to increase, putting pressure on existing resources.
those aged 85+ over the period 2015 to 2035. This together with higher incidents of age-related health conditions and PROVIDING HOUSING ADVICE
mobility issues will put major pressures on Social Care services and budgets.
When asked, older people were often unaware of the different housing options available and concerned about the
The findings from a range of research clearly show the benefits of suitable older persons’ housing in supporting financial, legal and practical issues associated with moving. There is a need going forward to improve the specialist housing
advice available to older people.
independence and reducing the need for residential care, with associated savings to Health and Social Care budgets.
By 2037 the number of people aged 65 to 84 will increase by 42% while those over aged 85 will nearly double.

SUPPORTING DOWNSIZING
THE COMPARATIVE BENEFITS OF OLDER PERSONS’ HOUSING
Page 474

The cost of Extra Care housing is on average 57% of the weekly cost of residential care.
There is a need to maximise the preventative benefits of housing and optimise use of specialist accommodation to
make more effective use of the resources available.

UNDERSTANDING HOUSING NEED
There is limited extra care housing outside the north and west of the city.
There is an estimated additional need for 3,051 units of older person’s accommodation by 2035. This increase is broken
down as follows:

There are considerable advantages to older people in downsizing to more appropriate accommodation and this can play a
significant part in helping them to stay independent at home.
There are large numbers of older people under-occupying social housing, providing them with attractive housing options
could encourage them to downsize, providing them with more sustainable accommodation while also freeing up much
needed family accommodation.
There has been some success in assisting older social tenants to downsize however, there is limited support available for
home owners and those in the private rented sector to help them to downsize.

SHELTERED HOUSING SCHEMES

The provision of on-site support in Sheltered Schemes will be important in meeting the increasing needs of the older
population. Funding changes have already resulted in some reduction in support available and if this continues it will
 Housing with care – 609 units (232 rental, 377 ownership)
impact on the ability of sheltered schemes to meet the growing needs of older clients.
 Nursing care – 655 beds
There is an opportunity to provide different models of support such as “Sheltered Plus” or “Extra Care Light” as options to
There is uncertainty about the condition of current older persons’ housing in the social sector and the facilities that are
meet the range of need of the older population.
offered, more work is needed to understand how well these properties can meet the future needs of the older population.
 Older Persons’ housing – 1787 units (353 rental, 1434 ownership)

SOCIAL HOUSING ALLOCATION

28% of older people surveyed were planning a move within the next 5 years, most wanted a 2 bedroom property, (58%).
Specialist older persons’ accommodation was more popular among those who were renting than those who owned their
own home.

MEETING FUTURE DEMAND
A range of schemes for building new older person/care ready affordable homes are already planned and these will deliver 741
new homes by 2030 of which 434 will be Council homes, 207 RSL homes and 100 for private ownership.
If all schemes go ahead this will exceed the estimated additional need for rented accommodation of 585 units however, it is
unlikely that all existing older persons’ accommodation will meet future requirements and some may need to be
decommissioned. Therefore, we will continue to seek opportunities to develop future housing.
The new version of Planning Policy Wales is far clearer in the role planning should play in promoting older persons’ housing
and requires the authority to set specific targets for older persons’ housing and to work with developers to achieve this.
Focus on promoting private older persons’ housing will be needed if the estimated additional 1811 ‘for sale’ homes are to be
delivered.

The current social housing allocation process does not take into account the housing choices of older applicants and
wellbeing issues such as social isolation. There is a need to review the waiting list and allocation arrangements to fully
reflect the housing choices and the wider needs of older people.

RESIDENTIAL AND NURSING CARE
Residential care placements have decreased markedly over the last five years due to services now being available in the
community to support increasingly frail people at home. Nursing home placements however are higher than anticipated and
if this trend continues an extra 655 nursing home beds will be required in Cardiff by 2035, a sector that faces challenges in
recruiting the right staff.
While current telecare services are helping many people to stay independent, there is an opportunity to make greater use of
new technology to support people to stay in their own homes.

THE IMPORTANCE OF COMMUNITY
Connection to the community is key to the wellbeing many of older people.
Cardiff has a wide range of services to help prevent social isolation and promote wellbeing; many of these are based around
the Council’s Community Hubs.
A number of new initiatives are being developed to further this, including new community wellbeing hubs in the north and
west of the city and proposals to open the facilities in older persons housing complexes to the wider community.

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title:
Cardiff Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 2019-2023
New/Existing/Updating/Amending: New
Who is responsible for developing and implementing the
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function?
Name: Jane Thomas
Job Title: Assistant Director (Housing &
Communities)
Service Team: Housing & Communities Service Area: People and Communities
Assessment Date: January 2019
1.

What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/
Service/Function?

The Cardiff Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 2019-2023 sets the strategic direction for
older persons’ housing and related support services over the next 5 years. It sets out an
overarching vision ‘to deliver the best housing outcomes for all older people in Cardiff’,
supported by the following high level aims:


To deliver new homes that meet older persons’ housing needs and aspirations;



To improve our existing homes to ensure they are fit for purpose and support
independent living;



To plan new homes and communities to address future housing and care needs
across all tenures;



To provide person centred information, advice and assistance;



To help older people to maintain their independence for longer;



To ensure the needs of the most vulnerable are met;



To build stronger, inclusive communities and tackle social isolation.

The Strategy identifies how the Council and partners will shape and deliver housing and
related services for older people that meet a variety of needs and aspirations, and how
this provision can help address wider health and social care priorities. The aim is to
improve and increase the quality of and access to a full range of housing and housing
related services.
The Strategy recognises and responds to the diversity of housing needs of older people
in Cardiff, including those with physical and sensory impairments and mental health
needs. Whilst the Strategy covers those aged 50 and above, there is a particular focus
on the older age ranges and people with specific needs.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 475

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 1

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
2.

Please provide background information on the Strategy Function and any
research done [e.g. service users data against demographic statistics,
similar EIAs done etc.]

Background
Housing LIN Research
During 2018 the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board
commissioned independent research to identify the future housing and associated
care requirements of older people across the region and to inform future capital
investment programmes for housing. The research was carried out by The Housing
Learning and Improvement Network (LIN), a network that brings together housing,
health and social care professionals in England and Wales to exemplify innovative
housing solutions for an ageing population.
The research reviewed the current provision of older persons housing; the care and
support needs of those currently living in or on waiting lists for older persons’
accommodation and current access arrangements. Engagement with residents took
place in the form of a survey and focus groups, to identify the outcomes that matter
to people in old age. Modelling of future population demand was undertaken to
produce a recommended number, location and type of housing required over the
next 20 years, alongside specifications for each type of accommodation.
The research findings provide the evidence base upon which the Cardiff Older
Persons’ Housing Strategy 2019-2023 has been developed.

Age & Gender
Population Projections
Population projections for Cardiff show a 26% growth in the 50+ age group over the
term 2017–2037, compared to 20% growth in all age groups. The rate of increase
varies greatly between age groups, with the greatest increase being in the over 85s:

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 476

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 2

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template





Those aged 50-64 increase by 4% from 58,300 to 60,800 people;
Those aged 65-84 increase by 42% from 43,900 to 62,400 people;
Those aged 85+ increase by 94% from 7,600 to 14,700 people.

Longer term there is potential for the strategy to have a differential impact on the 6584 and 85+ age groups as these see the largest increase in numbers.
Tenant Profiling
In September 2017 a profiling exercise of sheltered accommodation tenants was
undertaken. The following table shows a breakdown of the age and gender of the
tenants profiled, compared with the wider Cardiff population.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 477

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 3

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Sheltered Housing
Population
Number
%

AGE

Cardiff Population

50-59

93

8%

Number
41,200

60-69

365

32%

31,800

29%

70-79

347

30%

21,200

20%

80-89

256

23%

11,800

11%

90+

71

6%

2,700

3%

Number

%

Male

603

53%

Number
50,700

%
47%

Female

545

47%

58,200

53%

GENDER

%
38%

Source: Cardiff Sheltered Accommodation Profiling Data 2017 & mid-2017 population
estimates

The higher percentages of sheltered residents aged 70-79, 80-89 and 90+ indicates that
the accommodation is meeting the needs of the ‘older’ elderly population. There is a
slightly higher percentage of males and lower percentage of females living in sheltered
schemes than the Cardiff-wide population.
Waiting List Applicants
Equal opportunities monitoring data is requested from all applicants for rehousing
with the aim of gathering the protected characteristics set out in Equality Act 2010.
Information relating to age, sex, medical conditions/disability and pregnancy is
required from all applicants to inform the assessment of the household makeup and
the size and type of housing that the applicant may be offered. Information regarding
the remaining characteristics is requested, but is not obligatory, and is not used to
directly inform the allocation of accommodation.
There are currently (December 2018) 2,339 applicants aged 50 and over on the
Cardiff Housing Waiting List (30% of all applicants). This is comparable to the 30% of
residents aged 50+ in Cardiff as whole (mid-2017 population estimate).
There are 1,719 households on the waiting list where every member is aged 50 or
over and therefore eligible for older persons’ housing (22% of the entire waiting list).
This is the figure used in the Older Persons’ Housing Strategy to represent numbers
of 50+ on the housing waiting list. Of these applicants, only 44 people are aged 85
and over (1% of the waiting list). This compares to 2% of the Cardiff population aged
85 and over (mid-2017 population estimate).

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 478

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 4

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
The following chart shows the split of older waiting list applicants by age and gender:

Older Applicants by Age and Gender
Cardiff Housing Waiting List
920

900
14
880

860

840

820
880

30

800

780
795
760

740
Male

Female
Aged 50+

Aged 85+

The higher number of females aged 85+ may reflect women’s longer life expectancy.
Life expectancy in Cardiff at age 65 was 83.1 years for males and 85.8 years for
females in 2014-16 (Life Expectancy at Age 65, ONS).
In December 2018 48 % (825) of waiting list applicants aged 50 and over were female
with 52% (894) being male. This differs slightly from the Cardiff-wide gender split of
53% females to 47% males.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 479

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 5

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

Social Lets to Older People
From April 2017 to March 2018 18% (258) of the 1,454 total lets made from the
Cardiff Housing Waiting List were to applicants aged 50 and over. This is in contrast to
the 22% of the total waiting list who are aged 50 or over.
Of these 258 lets 57% (148) were made to males and 43% (110) to females. This
differs slightly from the waiting list gender split of 52% males and 48% female. The
slight under representation of females in terms of lets is not a cause for concern and
is likely to indicate simply a differing preference for the types of property they wish
to accept. This is supported by the data on offers made by gender split, which closely
mirrors the gender split of those on the waiting list, with 53% of offers made to males
and 47% made to females.

Ethnicity
The following tables show the ethnicity of the Cardiff Population taken from the 2011
Census and the results of the 2017 profiling exercise of sheltered accommodation
tenants. These cannot be directly compared due to the differing ethnicity categories
used, however it does broadly demonstrate that Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic
(BAME) citizens are well represented within the sheltered schemes.
Analysis of the Cardiff Housing Waiting List (and subsequent lets) data also broadly
mirrors the ethnic diversity of the Cardiff population.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 480

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 6

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Ethnicity of Cardiff Population Aged 50+
Ethnicity

Number

%

93,096

93.5%

Mixed/multiple ethnic group

1157

1.2%

Asian/Asian British

3471

3.5%

Black/African/Caribbean/ Black British

1154

1.2%

Other ethnic group

740

0.7%

99,618

100%

White

Total aged 50+
Source: 2011 Census, Table LC2101EW

Ethnicity of Residents living in Cardiff’s Sheltered Schemes aged 50+
Ethnicity

Number

White British

%

926
85%

White Other

20

Black/Black British

48

4%

Asian/Asian British

26

2%

Any other mixed

6

1%

Other

30

3%

Not stated

61

5%

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 481

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 7

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Religion
Religion

Waiting List

%

Cardiff
Population

%

Christian
Buddhist
Hindu
Jewish
Muslim
Sikh
Other religion
No religion
Religion not stated
Total

477
4
3
3
34
1
32
211
954
1,719

28.0
0.2
0.2
0.2
2.0
0.1
2.0
12.0
55.0
100.0

69,747
345
724
405
2,503
197
322
16,728
8,647
99,618

70.0
0.3
0.7
0.4
2.5
0.2
0.3
16.8
8.7
100.0

The table above shows a breakdown of the religion of waiting list applicants aged 50+
and the Cardiff population aged 50+. There are some significant differences, not least
the high number of waiting lists applicants for whom religion is not stated.

Disability
The 2011 Census indicates that 18% of the Cardiff population have a long term
limiting illness.
Physical Health
The numbers of older people in Cardiff with physical disabilities are projected to
increase significantly, with numbers unable to manage at least one mobility activity
set to rise by 61% over the period 2015 to 2035.
In 2017/18 for those people over the age of 55 receiving floating support, physical
and/or sensory disabilities were a significant support need with 53 cases (10%)
recorded as a lead need and 66 (20%) recorded as a secondary need.
As at December 2018, there were 533 (31%) people aged 50+ on the Cardiff Housing
Waiting List assessed as requiring some form of adapted or accessible housing – 486
needed ‘easy access’ accommodation, 33 needed partially adapted accommodation
and 14 needed fully adapted, wheelchair accessible accommodation. In 2017/18, 49
(19%) of the 258 lets made from the Cardiff Housing Waiting List to applicants aged
50 and over were adapted or easy access properties.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 482

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 8

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Mental Health
In 2017/18 for those people over the age of 55 receiving floating support, mental
health issues were a significant support need with 98 cases (18%) recorded as a lead
need and 77 (23%) recorded as a secondary need.
Mental health issues were also the greatest secondary need of clients whose main
reason for requiring support was that they were over the age of 55, with 40 cases
recorded. There is a need going forward to examine this data further to ensure that
individual support needs are identified and that appropriate referrals are made.
Of those respondents to the Housing LIN older persons’ survey who identified that
they had a disability, 16% stated that they had mental health issues.
Dementia
In 2017, the percentage of people in Cardiff over 65 with dementia was 7%. This was
in line with the all-Wales figure, also 7% of the population (Source:
www.daffodilcymru.org.uk).
The overall number of people in Cardiff aged 65+ with dementia is projected to
increase by 67% over the period 2015 to 2035. This increase rises to 85% for those
aged 85+, as shown below:

Source: Daffodil Cymru 2017

Health and Care-related Conditions
A range of health and care-related conditions are projected to rise significantly in
Cardiff over the next 20 years, with implications for the type of accommodation and
related supported that will be required:

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 483

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 9

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Projected Number of People Aged 65+ in Cardiﬀ
Year
Health Condi�on
2015
2035
Limi�ng long term illness
17,811 27,525
Obesity
10,704 15,989
Diabetes
7,925
12,253
Demen�a
3,598
6,012
Care-related
Unable to manage at least 1 mobility ac�vity
9,374
15,076
Unable to manage at least 1 domes�c task
20,619 32,677
Unable to manage at least 1 self-care ac�vity 16,945 26,770

Increase
55%
49%
55%
67%
61%
58%
58%

Source: Daﬀodil Cymru (2017).

Equalities Data from the Housing LIN Client Survey.
The data below demonstrates that the demographics of the 458 respondents to the
Housing LIN report survey represent a broad selection of the Cardiff Population,
being broadly comparable to the Cardiff Population data.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 484

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 10

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Disability – Self-identification by participants

Disability – Self-identification by participants
154 responses (respondents could choose more than one option)

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 485

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 11

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Ethnicity – 453 Respondents

3

Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics

3.1
Age
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people?
Yes
Up to 18 years
18 - 65 years
Over 65 years

No

N/A
x

x
x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The Strategy has been developed to address the housing needs of those aged 50+, with
a focus on the older age ranges and people with specific needs. It brings together the
responses required to address the challenges of population ageing and achieve a
suitable supply and balance of accommodation, enabling older people to live
independently for as long as possible.
Overall there is a range of social rented and private retirement housing for older
people in the city. The most prevalent type of older persons’ housing is sheltered and
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 486

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 12

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
other age-designated housing in the social rented sector. The data detailed above
suggests this accommodation is catering for a diverse range of older age groups and
that older people receive a proportionate number of social housing lets.
Older persons’ social housing in Cardiff is subject to age criteria. The majority of
retirement flats are available to people aged 50+ or 55+, whilst the Council’s
retirement bungalows are let to people aged 60+. Most RSL sheltered complexes are
let to people aged 55+, whilst the Council applies a 60+ age restriction. These criteria
may be relaxed however for younger applicants with a disability or medical need.
The Housing LIN assessment that underpins the Strategy identified an estimated
additional need for 3,051 units of older persons accommodation by 2035, broken down
as follows:
 Older people’s housing (Care Ready/Sheltered and Private Retirement Housing)
- 1787 units (353 rental, 1434 ownership)
 Extra Care/Housing with Care - 609 units (232 rental, 377 ownership)
 Residential care - 0 beds
 Nursing care - 655 beds
The Council and partner RSLs are committed to continuing to deliver new affordable
housing to meet need, including accommodation specifically for older people and
accessible/flexible accommodation that allows for ‘ageing in place’. A development
plan has been prepared to reduce the gap between supply and demand. Approximately
700 units of affordable older persons’ accommodation are planned over the period
2020 to 2030. The development programme will deliver purpose built, accessible &
sustainable community living schemes providing a ‘home for life’ which enables a
resident to live independently.
The primary research undertaken by Housing LIN highlighted a lack of knowledge and
understanding amongst older residents of their housing options. Creation of an ‘Older
Persons and Accessible Homes Unit’ will improve the specialist advice available to older
people, allowing them to make more informed choices about meeting their future
accommodation needs.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
A positive impact on older people is expected across all elements of the Strategy – this
will be monitored through the Strategy’s action plan.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 487

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 13

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
3.2
Disability
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?

Hearing Impairment
Physical Impairment
Visual Impairment
Learning Disability
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition
Mental Health
Substance Misuse
Other

Yes
X
X
X

No

N/A

X
X
X
X
X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
Only around 20% of existing older persons’ units are wheelchair accessible and
approximately 50% of schemes do not have a lift. Increased prevalence of mobility and
care-related needs indicates that there will be an increased need for wheelchair
adapted and lift accessible units.
Following a ‘fit for purpose’ review of the Council’s sheltered stock, a refurbishment
programme has begun. Once refurbished, schemes will better meet the needs of
disabled or sensory impaired residents, including:
 Visually impaired and dementia friendly features
 Fully accessible ground floor flats and more accessible upper floor flats
 RNIB Sight standard compliance.
Further work is needed to fully understand how well other existing social housing can
meet the future needs of the older population.
Cardiff Council has invested in the provision of home adaptations. The Disabled
Facilities Service is working well, delivering adaptations in a timely and cost effective
way which compares well with the rest of Wales. However, demand for disabled
adaptations is likely to continue to increase putting pressure on existing resources.
There is a need to understand future costs of the service and to ensure that adapted
homes and equipment are used effectively to meet future needs.
For social housing there is a need to ensure that adapted homes are allocated to those
who need them most and that new properties are built with future needs in mind.
Creation of an ‘Older Persons and Accessible Homes Unit’ will support people with
disabilities to access adapted properties, whilst all new Council houses are now built
with the potential for through floor lifts and with downstairs facilities, allowing them to
be more easily and quickly adapted for the disabled.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 488

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 14

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
A significant number of older people receiving floating support had issues with mental
health. Future sample checking of cases would be beneficial to fully understand the
individual support needs of this group to inform future services.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
A positive impact on disabled people is expected – this will be monitored through the
Strategy’s action plan.
3.3
Gender Reassignment
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?
Yes
Transgender People
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex)

No
X

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
No negative impact anticipated.
3.4. Marriage and Civil Partnership
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership?
Yes
X
X

Marriage
Civil Partnership

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
Extra care housing is based on accessible, self-contained properties, offering the ability
to deliver care to residents in their own homes. This can in some cases eliminate the
need to move to residential care and thereby help to keep couples together where one
or both parties’ health or care needs increase.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
A positive impact on couples is expected through the increased provision of extra care
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 489

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 15

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
housing – this will be monitored through the Strategy’s action plan.
3.5
Pregnancy and Maternity
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity?
Yes
Pregnancy
Maternity

No
x
x

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
No negative impact anticipated.
3.6
Race
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact on the following groups?
Yes
x
x
x
x
x

White
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups
Asian / Asian British
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British
Other Ethnic Groups

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The percentage of older people from BAME backgrounds within older persons’ social
housing compares favourably with the Cardiff Population make-up. This indicates that
schemes are catering for the diverse needs of Cardiff’s older citizens.
In addition to the range of generic older persons’ accommodation, Taff Housing
Association’s Red Sea House sheltered scheme comprises 15 self-contained flats,
specifically designed and run for the needs of older people from
BAME communities. Staff are able communicate with the tenants in their primary
language, religious needs are catered for in the design of the building and support
services and staff have enhanced cultural awareness.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
No negative impact anticipated.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 490

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 16

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
3.7
Religion, Belief or Non-Belief
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?
Yes
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Buddhist
Christian
Hindu
Humanist
Jewish
Muslim
Sikh
Other

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
There are some significant differences in the recorded religion of waiting list applicants
aged 50+ and the Cardiff population aged 50+, not least the higher number of waiting
lists applicants for whom religion is not stated. There is little information on how
religious belief affects housing need and further monitoring of this would be useful.
Closer monitoring of waiting list applicants’ religious beliefs is required to better
understand how religion affects housing need.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
A positive impact on religion is expected – this will be monitored through the Strategy’s
action plan.
3.8
Sex
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women?
Yes
Men
Women

No
x
x

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
There is a slight under representation of females according to social housing lets data
(as detailed above). However, this is not a cause for concern and is likely to indicate
simply a differing preference for the types of property they wish to accept. This is
supported by the data on offers made by gender split, which closely mirrors the
gender split of those on the waiting list, with 53% of offers made to males and 47%
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 491

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 17

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
made to females.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
No negative impact anticipated.
3.9
Sexual Orientation
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?
Yes
Bisexual
Gay Men
Gay Women/Lesbians
Heterosexual/Straight

No
X
X
X
X

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
No negative impact anticipated.
3.10 Welsh Language
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language?
Yes
Welsh Language

No
x

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
All Welsh language policies will be followed. Service users should be able to express a
language preference upon first contact with services.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
No negative impact anticipated.
4.
Consultation and Engagement
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities
Groups?
As part of the Housing LIN research a survey was carried out, to identify the future
housing plans and aspirations of older people in the city and to capture the views of
those already living in older persons’ accommodation. This was undertaken through a
postal survey (458 respondents) and a number of focus groups, with the
methodology adopted ensuring the exercise was representative of Cardiff’s diverse
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 492

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 18

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
older population. The outcomes of this exercise have been incorporated into the
strategy.
The Cardiff 50+ Forum was contacted at the start of the strategy development and
then consulted on the draft document.
5.

Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above]

Groups
Age
Disability
Gender Reassignment
Marriage & Civil
Partnership
Pregnancy & Maternity
Race
Religion/Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation
Welsh Language
Generic Over-Arching
[applicable to all the
above groups]

Actions

Closer monitoring of waiting list applicants’ religious beliefs
is required to better understand how religion affects
housing need.

A positive impact on older people is expected across all
elements of the Strategy – this will be monitored through
the Strategy’s action plan.

6.
Further Action
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.
7.
Authorisation
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each
Service Area.
Completed By :
Designation:
Approved By:
Designation:
Service Area:
4.C.400

Issue 1

Date:

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 493

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 19

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
7.1

On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on
your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken
in the Council.

For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029
2087 2536 / 3262 or email equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 494

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 20

My Ref: Scrutiny/Correspondence/Cllr McGarry
15 March 2019

Councillor Lynda Thorne, Cabinet Member Housing & Communities and
Councillor Susan Elsmore, Cabinet Member Social Care, Health & Well-Being.
County Hall
Cardiff
CF10 4UW
Dear Lynda and Susan,
COMMUNITY & ADULT SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 6 MARCH 2019 – OLDER
PERSONS HOUSING STRATEGY 2019 – 2023 AND HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
(HRA) BUSINESS PLAN 2019-2020

As Chair of the Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee, I wish to thank you
and officers for attending Committee and providing Members with an opportunity to
consider the Older Persons Housing Strategy 2019 – 2023, and the Housing Revenue
Account (HRA) Business Plan 2019-2020 prior to Cabinet consideration by later this
year. Members of the Committee have requested that I feed back the following
comments and observations to you.

Older Persons Hpousing Strategy 2019 – 2023

The Committee considered the strategy which described how the accommodation
needs and concerns of older residents in Cardiff would be addressed over the next 5
years. The committee welcomed the strategy and the outcomes that were expected.

One of the key elements of the strategy was the consideration of communal facilities,
local amenities and support arrangements when developing suitable accommodation
for older persons. The committee highlighted the importance of easy access to local
facilities such as shops and post offices for older people. The research in the report

Page 495

indicated that many older people had moved closer to town centres to gain easier
access to shops and to maintain their independence.

The committee were keen to ensure that all future accommodation for older persons
would equitably support diverse communities and meet their cultural, religious and
social care needs. These communities required access to a range of inclusive
services and appropriate facilities to ensure that they can live independently as
identified in the strategy

The Committee were aware of the current financial position of the Council and that
future financial challenges may have an impact on its ability to provide new
accommodation. It was suggested that the use of the private public partnership,
which supported the sale and rent of properties, could be enhanced to enable the
Council to sell some of the properties that it built. This would provide a potential
source of income to offset the cost for building council accommodation although the
committee were aware that this proposal had some inherent risks.

The Committee commended the Independent Living Service, which provided advice
and information to residents, and welcomed the inclusion in the strategy of a new
Older Peoples Advice Unit that would extend the range of information which they
provided to include; the eligibility criteria for homeowners planning for the future, how
quickly older people can be progressed on the housing register and advice regarding
the options for downsizing from private properties. Information should also be
shared with the private sector to advise estate agents and potential landlords of
property options to assist in meeting the private sector housing targets. To share
this information effectively, a wider range of engagement would be needed rather
than information just being provided in the Community Hubs.

The preference of older person’s for 2 bedroom accommodation was identified in the
survey. The breakdown of 2 bedroom properties in the 741 properties being
developed was queried. It was explained that the detailed plans for each
development were still to be finalised. The committee would welcome the opportunity
to view the show home that was being provided.

Page 496

The Committee requested that Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) should be
consulted on proposed changes for allocation policy. It was also suggested that an
accessible homes register be created to ensure that when adapted homes became
vacant they could be allocated to those who needed similar adaptations. The
improvements in the monitoring of voids with adaptations was seen as a positive
step to ensure the best use of available resources.
The committee were pleased to hear that Cabinet Members were working together to
plan and connect services across their portfolios and to meet the range of support for
the differing groups in communities. Access to local amenities often required access
to good transportation links but with the recent reduction in bus services it was
considered by the committee as having a detrimental impact on the older persons in
Cardiff. The Committee requested that a letter be sent to the Cabinet Member for
Strategic Planning & Transport asking him to utilise any funding allocated in the
recent budget to support bus routes and in particular those local transport links which
were essential to older persons.

The Committee commended the strategy and I would like to thank you again for your
attendance at the meeting...

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUSINESS PLAN 2019-2020
Cardiff Council is required to present an “acceptable” Housing Revenue Account
(HRA) Business Plan to the Welsh Government each year in order for them to
assess the maintenance of the Welsh Housing Quality Standards (WHQS) in order
to be eligible for the Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) Grant.

The committee commended the Business Plan; however, they requested that the
following feedback be considered by Cabinet.

The Committee welcomed the examples of innovative housing, which had been
developed in partnership with Cadwyn. The committee concluded that this
partnership arrangement should be enhanced to ensure that innovative housing
opportunities continued to be provided in the future.

Page 497

The ambition of the service to provide an in-house solution rather than contracting
out the services for building developments was seen as a positive step, which would
be supported by the committee.

The committee were supportive of the actions that were being undertaken to address
the problems with damp in those blocks of flats where the cladding had been
removed. The committee would welcome a briefing when the moisture content
report had been provided and options identifying how the current situation could be
improved for residents.

The Committee requested that details of the number of true fails relating to the
WHQS be clarified and the level at which the number of fails affected the
achievement of the WHQS and the eligibility for the Major Improvement grant from
the WAG.

Members of the Committee were reassured with the plans to reduce the
improvement works and cut back the staff budget to protect borrowing.

The Committee acknowledged concerns regarding the difficulties with the
procurement process and would consult with the Policy Review and Performance
Scrutiny Committee to determine if there was an appropriate way forward to review
the procurement process.

I hope you find the Committee’s comments useful and hope that you are able to
provide a response to the queries identified above.

Yours sincerely,

COUNTY COUNCILLOR MARY MCGARRY
Chairperson - Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee

Page 498

Cc:

Cllr David Walker, Chairperson, Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny
Committee
Sarah McGill, Corporate Director, People and Communities
Claire Marchant, Director of Social Services
Jane Thomas, Assistant Director, Housing & Communities
Colin Blackmore, Operational Manager Building Improvement & Safety
Gill Brown, Accountant
Cabinet Support

Page 499

My Ref: Scrutiny/Correspondence/Cllr McGarry
15 March 2019

Councillor Caro Wild,
Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning & Transport,
County Hall,
Cardiff
CF10 4UW.
Dear Caro,
COMMUNITY & ADULT SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 6 MARCH 2019 – OLDER
PERSONS HOUSING STRATEGY 2019 – 2023

As Chair of the Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee, I was requested to
inform you of the concerns raised by the committee during its consideration of the
Older Persons Housing Strategy 2019 – 2023.

The Committee considered the strategy, which described how the accommodation
needs and concerns of older residents in Cardiff would be addressed over the next 5
years. One of the key elements of the strategy was the consideration of communal
facilities, local amenities and support arrangements when developing suitable
accommodation for older persons.

The committee highlighted the importance of easy access to local facilities such as
shops and post offices for older people. The research in the report also indicated
that many older people had moved closer to town centres to gain easier access to
shops and to maintain their independence.
The committee were pleased to hear that Cabinet Members were working together to
plan and connect services across their portfolios and to meet the range of support for
the differing groups of the communities.

Page 500

Access to local amenities often required access to good transportation links but with
the recent reduction in bus services, the committee considered that this was having
a detrimental impact on the older persons in Cardiff.

The Committee requested that as the Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning &
Transport you ensure that the funding allocated in the recent budget be used to
effectively support bus routes and in particular those local transport links which were
essential to older persons.
I hope you find the Committee’s comments useful.
.

Yours sincerely,

COUNTY COUNCILLOR MARY MCGARRY
Chairperson - Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee

Page 501

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2019
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUSINESS PLAN
HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES (COUNCILLOR LYNDA THORNE)
AGENDA ITEM:11
Reason for this Report
1.

To seek Cabinet approval for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
Business Plan 2019-2020.

Background
2.

All Local Authorities in Wales have the responsibility to plan for the
housing needs of their population in their role as Strategic Housing
Authority. However only 11 of the 22 authorities in Wales have retained
their council housing stock and consequently play a role in the direct
delivery of affordable, good quality homes as a social housing landlord.

3.

The Council’s landlord functions are managed within a ring-fenced
Housing Revenue Account. Since 2015 stock retaining authorities have
operated on a self-financing basis following a “buy-out” from the previous
HRA subsidy system. A borrowing cap was imposed by UK Treasury as
part of the buy-out arrangements which restricted the Council’s ability to
build new homes despite having already achieved the Welsh Quality
Housing Standard (WHQS) for its existing properties.

4.

The UK Government announced plans to lift the Housing Revenue
Account Borrowing Cap at the Autumn Budget on 29 October 2018 and
agreed for the Cap to be fully abolished in Wales. It is anticipated that
this will be in place by 31st March 2019.

5.

The 11 stock remaining authorities in Wales are required to present an
“acceptable” Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (including
a 30 year financial model) to the Welsh Government each year in order
that the Welsh Government can assess the progress of local authorities
towards meeting and/or maintaining the WHQS in order to be eligible for
the Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) Grant (currently £9.5m).

6.

The Plan must conform to a structure and Business Plan parameters as
set out by the Welsh Government.

7.

This plan also provides the link with the Service Delivery Plan.

Page 503

Issues
Housing Revenue Account Business Plan
8.

The HRA Business Plan attached in appendix 1 aims to;







9.

set out Cardiff’s purpose and vision as a social housing landlord;
set out it’s objectives and standards for the service;
plan how the service aims to achieve the objectives and standards
set out (the strategies);
plan resource and financial requirements;
provide a framework for monitoring and evaluating the progress of
the housing ‘business’;
communicate Cardiff’s plans to its tenants, members, the Welsh
Government, other key stakeholders, partners and the wider
community.

The Business Plan ensures;




efficient use of housing assets;
increased transparency of the HRA;
precise planning of our housing management strategy;

10.

The Welsh Government rent policy and the 5 year rent uplift formula
agreement ended in March 2019. An independent rent policy review is
underway which will consider issues such as affordability and
comparisons with rents in England. 2019/20 is a transitional year and the
Welsh Government has set a recommended rent increase of CPI only
(2.4%). This increase is less than anticipated and will impact on the
Council’s ability to maximise investment in new build & existing housing
as well as improving housing services and neighbourhoods. Cardiff is
working with the Welsh Government and the Welsh Local Government
Association to raise awareness of potential issues.

11.

It should be noted that future rent policy decisions resulting in lower
increases than the 2.5% assumed within the plan will have a significant
impact on the available revenue resources to support the plan and
deliver key commitments. There is a risk that the level and quality of
service provision to tenants could be affected as well as a potentially very
significant impact on plans for new build affordable housing programmes
and other capital expenditure aspirations.

12.

Rent increases/decreases via the rent policy impact directly on the
affordability of new housing. In broad terms for every £1m extra income
in rent after all additional costs are met, circa 100 properties can be built
through additional borrowing. The Council will continue to maximise its
ambition to deliver new affordable housing but will also ensure any plans
are financially viable.

13.

Cardiff will apply the full increase to all tenants for 2019/20 and this was
agreed at Budget Council on 28th February 2019.

Page 504

14.

Cardiff Council was the first authority in Wales to declare achievement of
the Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS), almost two months ahead
of the Welsh Government deadline date of December 2012.

15.

Following the completion of the WHQS for existing council housing, the
Business Plan ensures the maintenance of the WHQS and sets out the
Council’s objective to deliver high quality and sustainable housing. The
individual component details of every council property is held on a stock
condition database which includes dates of installation or upgrade with
associated component lifespan e.g. kitchen lifespan of 15 years. This
enables planned programmes of work to be developed for future works
and the setting aside of sufficient financial budgets.

16.

A new build housing programme is being undertaken which will deliver
2,000 new council housing units, of which 1,000 will be completed by
May 2022.

17.

A partnership with a national housing developer is already in place via
the Cardiff Living innovative building partnership. This 10 year
development programme will deliver around 1,500 new homes in total
with a minimum of 40% being affordable housing. These homes will be
built over 40 sites across Cardiff split into 3 phases of development.

18.

Other new build housing projects (outside of the Cardiff Living
scheme) are being developed in order to achieve the overall target of
building 1,000 new council homes by 2022 and 2,000 in the long term.
22 Development sites have already been identified which vary in density
from 16 to 250 units. One such scheme which has recently undertaken
public consultation is the proposed redevelopment of the Channel View
estate in Grangetown. It will replace existing housing with new,
sustainable, energy efficient homes.

19.

The Council’s buy-back policy sets out the criteria for the purchase of
properties (both flats and houses) from the market. Often these
properties will be ex-Council properties, although this will not always be
the case. In determining which properties to purchase there is a focus on
those in high demand and where the new build programme is unlikely to
meet the need, such as larger 3 or 4 bedroomed family homes, which
would be costly to build, as well as adapted properties and ground floor
flats suitable for tenants who are less mobile. It is planned that
approximately 20 properties will be bought each financial year subject to
affordability. Properties will also be purchased where necessary to
deliver redevelopment or improvement schemes and to meet social care
needs. The properties are all surveyed and valued by an independent
surveyor before purchase to ensure value for money.

20.

A summary of the various delivery streams is highlighted in the table
below:

Page 505

Scheme
Cardiff Living
Other New Build
Buying Property from the Market
Package Deals
Converting Buildings
Meanwhile Use of Land
Totals

Target Number
Within 5 years
300
400
100
100
50
50
1,000

Complete
(as at Jan 19)
13
0
32
0
8
0
53

21.

Package deals are where the Council buys new properties straight from
a developer.

22.

Meanwhile use of land includes temporary accommodation solutions
located on land awaiting permanent development.

23.

As part of the overall strategy to build 2,000 new homes, work is
underway to identify suitable Council owned land or property for Council
house development. In the case where Council land or property is
identified as being suitable for development, consideration will be given
to the appropriation of this land/property from the General Fund into the
Housing Revenue Account. Each case will be considered on its merits
and, if approved, an assessed price representing a market value will be
transferred.

24.

The application to suspend the Right to Buy in Cardiff was approved by
the Welsh Government in July 2017 which meant that any properties
purchased or built will remained available for those in housing need in
Cardiff.

25.

Delivering energy efficiency has been a key part of the HRA Business
Plan in recent years with the upgrading of boilers in the housing stock
being a key focus. 98% of all council homes have “A” rated energy
efficient boilers delivering energy cost savings for tenants. The energy
efficiency of a property is assessed using a government approved
Standard Assessment Rating (SAP). Cardiff’s average SAP rating is 71.2
which is well above the Welsh Government good practice level of 65.

26.

The Business Plan also sets out plans for:


The Remodelling and Refurbishment of existing homes over the
life of the plan. Following a review of the suitability of the Council’s
sheltered housing accommodation a phased plan to upgrade the
schemes has been agreed. One sheltered block (Sandown Court)
was refurbished and rebranded as the Council’s first Community
Living Scheme. The scheme offers a modern and welcoming
environment which allows older persons living outside of the
scheme to access the health care and social activities on site.
Similar works are now progressing in two other Community Living
Schemes at Brentwood Court and Clos Y Nant.

Page 506

27.



Major Neighbourhood Regeneration, works are underway at
Anderson Place and Galston Street in Adamsdown and Belmont
Walk and Alice Street in Butetown. Other smaller scale projects are
planned throughout the city and include garage sites, courtyard
improvements, gullies and alley gating schemes.



Large scale Capital Improvement Works continue to be
implemented including roofing to houses, front door upgrades to
flat, window replacements to both flats and houses and high-rise
safety works.



Fire Safety works - following the tragic events in London the
cladding has been removed from 5 of our 6 high-rise blocks. The
cladding from the final block will be removed in 2019 and all high
rise blocks in Cardiff will be fitted with sprinklers and 60 minute fire
doors.



The continued delivery of Community Benefits in partnership with
our external building contractors, delivery of apprenticeships for
people living in Cardiff communities and the volunteering of staff
time.

The Business Plan also sets out how the Council manages its homes as
effective housing management is a key part of WHQS. This includes:


Using key Performance Indicators and Tenant Satisfaction
Surveys to measure the success of services.



Focusing on improving Tenant Participation and Consultation
including examples of community projects, information on grants
available and advice on how to make a difference in a community.



Supporting vulnerable tenants, assisting the elderly with
independent living services, housing vulnerable homeless people
through hostels and rough sleeping projects, and providing
additional support to help them sustain their tenancies.

28.

Providing advice and information to tenants is a key focus of the
Business Plan. Community Hubs are designed to bring together
services, share resources and enable integrated investment in better
quality facilities. Services delivered through the Community Hubs are
responsive to the needs and priorities of individual neighbourhoods with
housing services being a key component. During 2018/19 St Mellon’s
Hub was the latest to bring services and facilities to the heart of the
community.

29.

The impact of Welfare Reform has been taken into account in
developing the Business Plan. Financial modelling has been carried out
to account for significant increases in rent arrears and the additional
costs of collection. The service has put in place various measures to
minimise this impact: tenants have been provided with detailed
information about the changes that may affect them and their options

Page 507

have been set out including home swapping and property transfers for
those tenants who need to downsize. Assistance has been made
available to tenants who transfer to Universal Credit and there has been
an increase in staffing to assist and advise tenants with debt
management and budgeting, minimising the impact of the change as far
as possible. This support is available from the Welfare Liaison Team
which has increased staffing numbers from 5 to 14 in order to deal with
the volume of complex cases.
Scrutiny
30.

The draft HRA Business Plan was presented at Communities and Adult
Services Scrutiny Committee on 6th March 2019. The letter from Scrutiny
is attached at Appendix 2.

Reasons for Recommendations
31.

To comply with the requirement to forward the HRA Business Plan to the
Welsh Government.

Legal Implications
32.

There are no direct legal implications but the requirement for a plan is set
out in the body of the report. The approval of the Business Plan is an
executive function which does not have to be referred to Council.

Financial Implications
33.

The financial model includes many assumptions, particularly in respect of
expenditure forecasts, capital financing, projected income levels and
inflation rates. Due to the long term nature of the forecasts within the
Business Plan, the uncertainty of the economic climate and the demands
on the housing environment generally, these assumptions are extremely
sensitive to change.

34.

A number of crucial assumptions are, as follows:


Rent increases of 2.5% are forecast for the financial years 2020/21
through to 2048/49.
 Service charges are increased for future years in line with inflation
for full cost recovery.
 Void rent loss projections vary within a range of 1.45% to 2%.
 Bad debts vary within a range of 1.29% and 2.5% over the life of the
plan. This takes into account the potential impact of Welfare
Reform and the transfer to Universal Credit.
 CPI is estimated to be at 2% and RPI at 2.9% throughout the model
 The Welsh Government Major Repairs Allowance receivable is
assumed to remain at previous levels of £9.5 million per annum.
35.

Future rent policy decisions resulting in lower increases than the 2.5%
assumed within the plan will have an impact on the available revenue
resources to support the plan and deliver key commitments. There is a

Page 508

risk that the level and quality of service provision to tenants could be
affected as well as a potentially significant impact on plans for new build
affordable housing programmes and other capital expenditure
aspirations.
36.

Whilst the Council recognises that preparation of a thirty year Business
Plan is best practice, in addition to future rent policy decisions, other key
risks to the plan remain outside of the control of the Council. The risks
include the certainty and level of Major Repairs Allowance. The Business
Plan includes a risk assessment setting out a number of key variables
and any changes in these are likely to necessitate a review of priorities
both in capital investment and for revenue budgets.

37.

The Business Plan details the capital and revenue funding implications of
the proposed Capital Programme. The Programme assumes a
significant increase in additional borrowing to be undertaken in order to
build new housing and support investment in the existing stock, following
the proposed removal of the debt cap. This will result in additional
revenue implications in terms of interest payments and provision of
repayment for borrowing.

38.

Viability or payback assessments should be undertaken before approval
of new developments or acquisitions in line with an approved governance
process. This should be against set benchmarks to ensure value for
money for rent payers and to ensure investment is repaid over a prudent
period.

39.

Consideration will be given to bringing forward future year’s budget to
allow flexibility to acquire sites and buildings at an earlier stage as part of
the overall programme. This would only be after consideration of viability
and affordability. Any increase in costs of capital schemes must be
managed within the medium term HRA Capital Programme approved by
Council in February 2019.

40.

The thirty year Business Plan should be subject to regular review to
ensure new expenditure to be paid for by borrowing is for essential
improvements or for schemes that have an element of pay back so that
there are no long term issues of affordability and sustainability in respect
of borrowing.

41.

Any financial deficit and liabilities of the HRA are ultimately liabilities of
the Council.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Cabinet is recommended to approve the HRA Business Plan 2019-2020.
SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER

SARAH MCGILL
Corporate Director People &
Communities
15 March 2019

Page 509

The following Appendix is attached:Appendix 1 - HRA Business Plan 2019-2020
Appendix 2 – Letter from Chair of Scrutiny
The following Background Papers have been taken into account:


Communities, Housing and Customer Services Directorate Delivery Plan
30 Year Business Plan for Welsh Housing Revenue Accounts - Financial
Model

Page 510

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
Business Plan
2019-20

Gweithio dros Gaerdydd, gweithio gyda’n gilydd
Working for Cardiff, working together

Page 511

Contents

Page Number

Foreword
Housing and Communities Notice Board
Welsh Housing Quality Standard
Welsh Housing Quality Standard and Beyond
WHQS Attainment Tracker
WQHS review by Wales Audit Office
Capital Ambition
Typology of the Housing Stock
New Homes Ambition
Housing Development, New Homes Ambition Ambition
Capital Ambition - New Homes Progress to Date
Cardiff Living
Cardiff Living - Phase 1 List of Sites
Can we afford to build?
Managing Our Homes
Performance Indicators
Maintaining our Homes
Damp & Condensation Strategy
Managing Anti-Social Behaviour
Caretaking Services
Advice and Information
Hubs:Working For You
Community Hubs - Map
Community Hubs
Into Work Service
Impact of Welfare Reform
Impact on Rent Arrears
Homelessness and Housing Need
The Scale of Rough Sleeping in Cardiff
Demand for Social Housing
Number of Properties and Availability
Tenant Participation
Helping Tenants Take Control
Effective Consultation and Communication
Keeping in Touch
Tenant Satisfaction
Independent Living Services
Independent Living
Land and Asset Improvement
Land and Asset Schemes
Community Living Refurbishment Schemes
Neighbourhood Regeneration
Programmes of Work Spend 2019-2020
Planned Maintenance Works
Health & Safety
Customer Engagement
Equalities
Compliments and Complaints
Community Benefits
Financial Planning
Financial Resources & Planning
Housing Revenue Account Business Plan Risk Matrix
Capital and Revenue Budgets

Page 512
2

3
4
6
7
8
10
12
14
16
18
20
22
23
24
26
28
30
31
32
34
38
40
42
44
46
48
50
52
54
56
59
60
62
64
66
68
70
72
74
75
76
80
82

Foreword
Building new Council homes in Cardiff is really gathering pace now with
work well underway and developments progressing across the city.
The new Council homes at Ty To Maen in Old St Mellons are the first of
around 60 completions due by March 2019.

New developments dovetail into existing communities
We understand the importance of having good quality, affordable homes
and with a very long housing waiting list in the city, we are doing everything
we can provide decent homes for the people who need them.
We aim to ensure our new developments dovetail into existing
communities and help to regenerate and enhance the
environment for all local residents.

Councillor Lynda Thorne

Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities

I understand that having a good-quality home, in a community where people
feel safe and connected is essential. Secure, good quality housing is vital to
the health and well-being of the communities we serve, housing services have
an important contribution to make in responding to those pressures.

A community where people feel safe and connected
I am committed to responding to the challenge with a step change in how we
deliver health and social care in Cardiff, including new models of seamless
local health and social care, support for people to live independently and
access to a wide range of services in our Community Hubs. Housing needs to
be at the heart of this work.
Homelessness is a concern and we want to ensure that we
have effective and efficient measures in place to support
those who are homeless and help prevent homelessness in
the future.

Sarah McGill

Corporate Director People and Communities
Page 513
3

Housing and
Communities
Notice Board
As at September
2018 the Council’s

housing stock
consisted of 13,421
properties.

Tenancy
Management
officers completed
over 2,000 proactive
visits to assess
property condition
in 2017-2018.

Applying for housing,
the Cardiff Housing website
www.cardiffhousing.co.uk
has been developed to help
applicants look at all the
options available.

Hub Contact Details:
Central Library Tel: 029 2087 1000
The Hub at Butetown Tel: 029 2053 7060
The Hub at St Mellons Tel: 029 2078 0992
The Hub at Llanrumney Tel: 029 2078 0994

The Independent
Living Team
made over 400
visits in 20172018.

Rumney Partnership Hub Tel: 029 2233 0661
Ely and Caerau Hub Tel: 029 2087 3800
Grangetown Hub Tel: 029 2078 0966
The Powerhouse Tel: 029 2233 0201
Fairwater Hub Tel: 029 2078 5583
Llandaff North and Gabalfa Hub Tel: 029 2078 5588
STAR Hub Tel: 029 2078 8505
Llanishen Hub Tel: 029
2078 514
1060
Page
44

12 HUBs have been
opened across the city
providing advice and
support to the whole
community.

The Community
Living Team manage

10 schemes, across the
city, providing 24/7
assistance, in order to
help older people live
more independently.

So far Housing
Development have
built and let 53 new
council properties in
2018-2019

Responsive
Repairs Unit
completed over
11,300 emergency
repairs.
2017-2018

Into Work
Advice Services
assisted 561 people
into employment.
Since April 2018

The Caretaking

Services Team
100% of offensive
graffiti is removed
within 24 hours.

The Social Lettings
Unit manages the
common waiting list of
over 7,900 households
for both the Council and
its partner Housing
Associations.

The Welfare Liaison
Team dealt with
over 3,600 cases in
2017 –2018 helping
gain access to
£1.8m in benefits

The Tenant Participation
website
www.cardifftenants.co.uk
provides lots of
information about events
in communities.

Page 515
5

5

The Welsh Housing Quality Standard and Beyond
Introduction to the Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS)
The WHQS arose from the National Housing Strategy for Wales ‘Better Homes for
People in Wales’. The Standard was developed by the Welsh Government to provide a
common target standard for the condition of all housing in Wales.
The Welsh Housing Quality Standard states that all households should have the
opportunity to live in good quality homes that are:
In a good state of repair.
Safe and secure.
Adequately heated, fuel efficient and well insulated.
Contain up-to-date kitchens and bathrooms.
Well managed.
Located in attractive and safe environments.
As far as possible suit the specific requirements of the household, (e.g.
specific disabilities).









In September 2012 Cardiff was the first Council in Wales to achieve full 100% WHQS
accreditation.
The Welsh Government has recognised that the standard cannot always be reached
because of issues outside of the control of the Council. It has therefore introduced the
concept of “Acceptable Fails” into the Welsh Housing Quality Standard revised
guidance in order to recognise legitimate areas which would restrict a Council from
reaching the required standard. We have a number of acceptable fails, (largely due to
Resident’s Choice) and have implemented measures in order to re-visit and maximise
achievement of the Standard.
There are four elements:



Cost of remedy



Timing of remedy



Resident’s choice



Physical constraint

We review the standard when properties become vacant and are working closely with
the Tenants Participation Team to enable tenants that have not received WHQS works
or have changed their minds to contact us.
The Council engaged independent surveying consultants to carry out WHQS audit
checks, 98.7% of properties inspected were found to be compliant.

Page 516
66

Welsh Housing Quality Standard Attainment Tracker
WHQS Standard
achieved

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Roofs

Windows

97%

99%

External
Doors

93%

98% 100%

Door Entry
Systems

99%

100%

Kitchens

23%

26%

43%

71% 100%

Bathrooms

24%

28%

44%

72% 100%

Energy
Efficiency
Pass

0%

0%

48%

52% 100%

73% 100%

Central
Heating

99% 100%

100%

Electrical
Systems

0%

0%

50%

Smoke
Detectors

99%

99%

98% 100%

Environmental
51%
Works

52% 67% 79% 100%
Page 517
7

2014Date

WQHS review by Wales Audit Office
As part of their 2017-18 performance audit
programme the Welsh Audit Office (WAO) reviewed
the Council’s arrangements to maintain the Welsh
Housing Quality Standard (WHQS).
The review sought to determine whether the Council
has effective arrangements in place to enable it to
maintain the Welsh Housing Quality Standard
(WHQS) and address the number of acceptable fails.
The auditors carried out fieldwork between March
and May 2018. They undertook document reviews,
interviewed a number of key officers and members,
and ran focus groups with a sample of frontline staff.
As part of the review, the auditor commissioned a
research company to carry out a telephone survey of
a sample of the Council’s housing tenants and
commissioned Tai Pawb, Diverse Cymru and Ethnic
Minorities and Youth Engagement (EYST) Wales to
undertake two focus groups: one with disabled
Council tenants and one with BME council tenants.
The auditor concluded that the Council met the
WHQS in 2012, and its arrangements to maintain compliance with the WHQS are
effective and making a positive difference to residents’ lives. WAO came to this
conclusion because:







The Council’s approach to the WHQS is well-integrated into its strategic housing
function.
The Council has comprehensive information on the condition of the whole of the
housing stock to direct investment priorities.
A financed and deliverable programme is in place for the repair and improvement
of the housing stock, including addressing acceptable fails.
The Council has effective arrangements to monitor and scrutinise its progress to
maintain the WHQS and has learnt from its progress to date.
The Council has a strong customer care focus to the way it interacts with its
tenants.
The Council’s integrated approach to the WHQS is making a positive difference
to the lives of its housing tenants.

The Council has robust, comprehensive and wide-ranging plans in place to support its
ambitions in maintaining its achievements against the WHQS. These include the
Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021, annual Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
business plans, and annual WHQS Compliance Policies. There is clear evidence in
these plans of the position and compliance against the Welsh Housing Quality
Standard.

Page 518
88

Wales Audit Office said:


The Council has an holistic approach to housing
with clear links between the Council’s plans for the
WHQS and other aspects of housing plans and
strategies. The Council’s Cardiff Housing Strategy
–
2016-2021,
is
an
overarching
and
comprehensive ‘whole service’ strategy which
embraces all aspects of the housing agenda, and
how the service can shape the future of the City.



Independent external validation of the housing
stock condition information was carried out in
2015. The validation exercise found that 98.7
percent of property elements were compliant with
the WHQS.



Average tenants’ homes are easier to keep warm
in cold weather, helping to reduce energy bills and
protect the environment.



The Council has made improvements to nonWHQS elements of its housing stock on a regular
and sustained basis.



The telephone survey found that 6% of
respondents said that they had refused to have
improvement works done. Of those who declined
improvement works, the main reason for refusing
works was because they are happy with the
existing state of their home.



The Council has a strong customer care focus to
the way it interacts with its tenants, the Council
has effective arrangements and actions to support
sound tenant involvement and participation.



The Council has arrangements are in place to
maintain community cohesion. For example, the
Council’s Caretaking Services Team ensure that
100% of offensive graffiti is removed within 24
hours. During a recent case of racist graffiti in
Grangetown, the Council ensured that it was
removed immediately, and was working the local
police to ensure that community cohesion was
maintained.

Page 519
9

Capital Ambition
Cardiff Council’s ‘Capital Ambition’ sets out a programme of action to
continue to drive Cardiff forward whilst ensuring that the benefits of success
are felt by all residents.
In delivering its Capital Ambition, the administration propose to focus on
four main areas:


Working for Cardiff – Making sure that everyone who lives here can
contribute to and benefit from, the city’s success.



Working for Wales – A successful Wales needs a successful capital
city.



Working for the Future – Managing the city’s growth in a sustainable
way.



Working for Public Services – Making sure public services are
delivered efficiently, effectively and sustainably in the face of rising
demand and reducing budgets.

The Future Generations Act
The Well-being of Future Generations Act gives us the ambition, permission
and legal obligation to improve our social, cultural, environmental and
economic well-being. The Act is unique to Wales attracting interest from
countries across the world as it offers a huge opportunity to make a longlasting, positive change to current and future generations. The Act puts in
place seven well-being goals:








A prosperous Wales
A resilient Wales
A more equal Wales
A healthier Wales
A Wales of cohesive communities
A Wales of vibrant culture & Welsh language
A globally responsible Wales

It sets out five was of working:






Look to the long term.
Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of issues.
Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the 7 well-being goals.
Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable solutions.
Involve diverse populations in decisions that affect them.

Cardiff’s housing service has fully adopted these 5 ways of working.
Page 520
10

Capital Ambition—Housing and Communities

Page 521
11

Typology of the Housing Stock
Building Type

1900-1944
(3,138)

Detached
(20)

Semi-Detached
(3,333)

Terraced
(4,508)

Flats and
Maisonettes
(5,560)
Page 522
12

1945-1964
(4,925)

1965-1989
(5,223)

1990-Date
(135)

By 2022
(Target of 1,000)

No plans
plans
No
at present
present
at

Page 523
13

Housing Development, New Homes Ambition
Cardiff Council has set a target of building at least 1,000 new Council
homes by May 2022 and at least 2,000 new council homes in the longer
term to meet the increasing demand for good quality, affordable social
housing.
The need for housing is increasing year on year and the Council is
committed to delivering new Council housing schemes and finding new
and innovative ways of doing this. Our programme currently represents
the largest council house build programme in Wales and will see around
£350 million invested into delivering new council homes in volume and at
pace.
Our aspiration to build Council homes directly complements the Welsh
Government’s target of delivering 20,000 affordable homes throughout
Wales over this term of government.
The first completed council properties in Ty-To Maen

Page14524
14

January 2019

We have been successful in our bids for the Welsh Government’s
Innovative Housing Programme with around £3.8 million of the grant
being awarded to Cardiff Council to deliver 4 new build schemes using
innovative techniques.
The first 2 schemes refurbishing shipping containers to provide
temporary accommodation for homeless families are due to be
completed in May 2019. These will deliver 21 new flats.
A scheme to deliver highly energy efficient homes built to PassivHaus
standards will start on site early 2019 and the final scheme will deliver
17 new homes using a ‘modular’ system – the units will be built off-site
which vastly reduces construction time and improves the quality of the
build.
The diagram above identifies the different routes we intend to use to
meet our target.

Page 525
15

Capital Ambition – New Homes Progress to Date
Capital Ambition Update TTD (Counil Homes)
Deliver 2,000 new Council Homes, 1,000 by May 2022
In planning

Planning
approved

At
procurement
stage (out to
tender)

On site

Complete

Totals

1216

41

97

16

8

0

1378

284

102

24

158

13

581

6

32

38

30

0

89

8

8

0

13

53

2107

Target Number
(within 5 years)

Pipeline

Other New Build

400

Cardiff Living

300

Buying property from the
market

100

Package deals

100

Converting buildings

50

Meanwhile use of land

50

Scheme

Totals

1000

10

49

13
1510

192

121

29

202

Updated: January 2019
The diagram above shows our development pipeline and our ability to
meet our targets. Not only have we implemented the innovative Cardiff
Living Programme in Partnership with Wates Residential, we also have a
number of other delivery routes that we are using to provide new council
homes.
Our Additional Build programme currently includes 22 development sites.
Schemes vary in density from 16 units to 250 units and through this
programme we are able to deliver a complete mix of council properties,
targeting the specific housing needs of the area. We have a real focus on
delivering exciting new independent living ‘care-ready’ schemes offering
quality, flexible homes for older people which in turn will help free up
family homes for rent.
Proposed Care-ready scheme at St. Mellon’s community site

Page16526
16

Image of proposed new development at Channel View, Grangetown

Our scheme in Caldicot Road, Caerau is out to tender for a contractor and
a number of projects already have planning consent in place.
We are also bringing forward a number of developer lead ‘Package Deal’
arrangements and our first scheme with Cadwyn Housing Association for
the delivery of 30 flats at Courtney Road is on site with an anticipated
completion date of January 2020.
We have recently undertaken public consultation on exciting
redevelopment proposals for the Channel View estate in Grangetown,
replacing the existing housing stock with new, sustainable, energy efficient
homes.
It’s early days for this project but initial feedback from residents has been
largely positive and we will now progress with an outline planning
submission and continue detailed consultation with residents.

Page 527
17

Cardiff Living
The
Council’s
innovative
development
partnership with Wates Residential continues
to go from strength to strength. This
partnership, known as Cardiff Living, will see
around 1,500 new homes built across the city
on council land with at least 600 of these being new council homes.
The programme is split into three phases of development with work on
phase 1 having commenced in June 2017. There are six development
schemes actively on site at Willowbrook West, Braunton Crescent, Mount
Pleasant Lane Llanrumney, Walker House in Llanishen, Snowdon Road in
Ely and Ty Newydd in Caerau.
Phase 1 will deliver 195 new council homes in total including older person
independent living units and a small number of wheelchair accessible
bungalows and flats.

Cardiff Living Captains Walk, Clevedon Road

Page18528
18

Street Scenes at Rumney High school site, Cardiff Living Phase 2

Our scheme at Ty-To-Maen was completed in December 2018, 13 new
council homes have been completed through the Cardiff Living Programme
with around 60 new homes earmarked for hand over by 31st March 2019.
The first 2 schemes to be delivered through phases 2 & 3 of the programme
were approved by Planning Committee in January 2019. The third scheme is
currently being considered, if approved these 3 developments will deliver a
further 104 new council homes.
Not only is Cardiff Living delivering high quality, much needed new council
homes, it is also providing wide ranging community benefits, providing
training opportunities, apprenticeships, local jobs and promoting the use of
local supply chains.

Page 529
19

Cardiff Living - Phase 1 List of Sites

Page 530
20

Date: February 2019

Page 531
21

Can we afford to build?
When considering new council housing developments its vitally important
that we ensure the schemes are financially viable and that the rental
income from the properties can pay back the capital investment over a set
period. In order that we can demonstrate scheme viability we have
purchased a viability assessment tool.

An assessment is made for every scheme regarding the cost of
development, the on-going responsive and planned maintenance costs
and the management costs and this is considered along with the rental
income and value of the properties being built.
Whilst a scheme may be viable, its affordability and whether it progresses
depends on the overall affordability of the business plan which is subject to
a number of parameters including future rent levels, operating costs and
other risks in the business plan. Caution will be adopted to ensure
commitments including land holding in advance of development is
managed in order to ensure any borrowing undertaken for development
remains, affordable, prudent and sustainable.
The new build board meets every quarter to review new projects and
progress against targets. The board is chaired by the Corporate Direct for
People & Communities and includes officers from Finance, Legal,
Procurement & Housing. The Board will not only review individual
development schemes, it will also have an overview of the entire new-build
programme.

Project viability is assessed at the key stages of scheme development
including;


Stage 1: Land appraisal & feasibility.



Stage 2: Scheme options appraisal.



Stage 3: Concept design.



Stage 4: Planning.



Stage 5: Contractor procurement.

Page22532
22

Managing Our Homes

Community gardening at the STAR Hub, Splott

Performance Indicators
The performance of the Housing Management Service is monitored through
a range of performance indicators. Results for December 2018 in a range of
key areas are shown below:

Indicator

Target

Result

Percentage of general clean and clears
completed within 10 working days.

95%

99.5%

The percentage of emergency repairs
completed within target time (24 hrs).

95%

98.5%

Vacant Council stock as a percentage of
overall stock.

1.5%

1.7%*

The percentage of people who feel reconnected
into their community, through intervention from
Independent Living Services.

70%

86%

* Performance in completing works on vacant properties declined after a contractor withdrew their
services. Work is underway to improve performance in this area.

Page 533
23

Maintaining Our Homes
The Responsive Repairs Unit have arranged for more repairs to be undertaken
by in-house operatives instead of external contractors. This means the service
is able to retain more oversight of the jobs reported and take ownership of
reported issues. These changes have reduced costs and improved the service
to our tenants, which is clearly demonstrated by a significantly reduced number
of complaints.




93% responsive repairs carried out by the in-house workforce - Target 90%
97% of 11,372 emergency repairs were completed in 24hrs - Target 95%
Overall customer satisfaction was 90% March 2018—Target 85%.
Tenant wanted to thank the
operative who put up her
gate/fence. She says he
did a lovely job and she
feels much safer now.

He was "lovely and
polite" and left the
tenant with a nice
warm house.

RRU electrician Nathan in Llanishen

Page24534
24

“very happy with the work
that was carried out and he
left the property tidy
afterwards.”

Apprentice Owain fixing a leaking pipe

Developing the Workforce

Cardiff Council is committed to developing its workforce. The Council
recognises that its employees are the single most important part of its
capability to successfully deliver its aims and aspirations, and to deliver the
best services possible for the citizens and communities of Cardiff. The
Council works closely with the Cardiff and Vale College in Dumballs Road to
give learners the opportunity to work for the unit. The Responsive Repairs
Unit has a long history of apprenticeships going back almost 30 years.

Its great working with the Responsive Repairs Unit
Owain is 17 and is now in his 2nd year of apprenticeship with the Council.
Owain is a full time apprentice and is able to attend college one day a week
to complete his NVQ level 2 course in plumbing. Owain has been working
with different plumbers learning the ropes.
“I really enjoy the work, I’m looking forward to being fully qualified so I can
work for the Council full time, the mentors have all said if I need any help or
advice to give them a ring and they will help. Its great working with the
Responsive Repairs Unit, I have learnt loads and they are all a good laugh, it
makes the day pass much quicker.”

After his apprenticeship Owain will be fully qualified as a plumber and will be
offered the opportunity to train up as a gas engineer. “I just need to fit a full
bathroom suite to finish my training folder, when I’m fully qualified I want to
Page 535
keep training to be a multi-skilled technician.”
25

Damp & Condensation Strategy
In the recent Welsh Audit WHQS report some tenants reported damp in their
homes. Cardiff Council have commissioned independent specialist consultants
to review our properties and living conditions. They will be focusing on property
types that report higher then usual damp and condensation issues. Results of
the study are due in Spring 2019 and appropriate action will be taken to rectify
any issues identified.
The Responsive Repairs Unit have specialist Technical Managers that can give
advice to help lower condensation, which can be a cause of damp and mould.
Articles on combatting damp and condensation are in issues of the Tenants
Times, below is an example of advice given to tenants:

It is unlikely that any home can be
totally free of condensation but
there are a few small changes that
you can make to reduce it.
Produce Less Moisture







Put lids on pans while
cooking.
Use an extractor fan if you
have one.
Dry clothes outdoors
whenever possible. If you
have no alternative, dry them
inside on an airer rather than 
on radiators.
Wipe any moisture appearing 
on walls, window sills and
other surfaces on a regular
basis.

or shower, open the window
for a short time and close the
door to the room.
Make sure vents are not
blocked.
eep trickle vents in windows
open, they are designed to
ventilate without causing
draughts.

Increase Ventilation
If the condensation is left on

Open a small window for 15 surfaces, it can lead to mould.
minutes when you get up in
Mould can cause considerable
the morning. This will get rid damage to surfaces in the home
of the moisture produced
including rotting wood, crumbling
26 plaster and peeling wallpaper and
overnight.

After cooking or taking a bath
26

Page 536
26

New properties in Clevedon Road, Llanrumney
27

Page 537
27

Managing Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)
As a landlord we will take firm action to eliminate ASB. We have a dedicated
Antisocial Behaviour Team.
Cardiff council is working in partnership with South Wales Police, Welsh
Government and Trivallis on ‘Review Together’ project. This is a victim lead
approach to dealing with antisocial behaviour, focusing on what really matters
to tenants.
Our ASB teams:
 Provide support to victims.
 Work with perpetrators to help them change their behaviour.
 Act against perpetrators who continue to be anti-social.
Council action from April 2017 to March 2018:




41 notices seeking possession served on tenants for ASB.
7 evictions for anti social behaviour.
2 prison sentences.

In 2017-2018, 100% of urgent cases tenants were contacted within 24 hours.
(Target 95%).

PCSO officer enjoying a Tenant Participation community day

Page 538
2824
28

Community gardens tour

Tenancy Management
We aim to ensure that our tenants and leaseholders have the advice and
information they need to maintain their tenancy or lease conditions, ensuring
that properties are kept in good condition; preventing tenancy fraud and
ensuring any pets are appropriate and well controlled.
The team carry out proactive visits to provide advice and remind tenants of
their obligations. Where necessary the team gather evidence and take
appropriate action including obtaining orders and carrying out evictions.
Action from April 2017 to March 2018:






2,000 Proactive visits were carried out - inspecting houses for property
and garden condition.
258 Abandoned Properties were reported and investigated.
976 Overdue gas service cases dealt with and access obtained.
713 Property and garden condition problems were addressed.
270 Completed checks from referrals to the Tenancy Fraud Hotline.

The Tenancy Team also provide additional help to vulnerable people such as
hoarders, young people leaving care or moving on from hostels and others
who need more help to maintain their tenancies.
This will be the focus of our work during 2019/2020, a new Tenancy
Sustainment Team will work with our more vulnerable tenants to ensure they
remain housed and to prevent eviction and homelessness.
Page 539
29

Caretaking Services
Caretaking Services provides cleaning and caretaking services for
tenants and leaseholders.
This includes:


Cleaning and safety inspections for the communal areas of 852 lowrise blocks and 9 High-rise blocks. All blocks are cleaned fortnightly.



Clearances of empty properties, garden and overgrowth clearance,
including tree cutting.



Cleaning of courtyards by high pressure water to provide a deep
clean once a year.



Graffiti removal over the whole of Cardiff. 100% of abusive or
offensive graffiti is removed within 24 hours and other graffiti in 10
working days. In 2017-2018 the team dealt with over 800 cases of
graffiti.

Council operatives removed far right, racist graffiti as soon as it was
reported in Grangetown
2018removing
as part graffiti
of a joint
operation
with South
Graffiti Team
in an
underpass
Wales Police.
Page26540
30 30

Hubs: Working For You - 2018
Alzheimer’s Society started its 8
week taster session at Llandaff
North & Gabalfa Hub.
Alzheimer’s society are there
for anyone who is affected by
dementia and do everything
they can to keep people with
dementia connected to their
lives.

New partner United Welsh
provide Wellbeing drop in
sessions & events within the
Hubs, also linking in with the
North Cardiff ‘Getting Together’
scheme aimed at older members
of the Community.

111,000 people
received advice
at Hubs

42,000 people
received Into
Work advice

2.5 million
people visited
the Hubs &
Libraries
£19 million
claimed in
weekly benefit

1,400 people
attended Into
Work training
sessions

The Ely & Caerau Hub held a
set of gardening workshops
run by the tenant participation
team where people learnt how
to grow salad leaf, the best
time to plant vegetables and
how to build your own raised
bed.

A variety of Exercise &
Dance classes are held
within Community Hubs,
Including Tai Chi, Yoga,
Keep fit with weights
and Line Dancing.

Page 541
31

Community Hubs—Map

Page 542
32

The Community Hubs development programme has delivered a
network of 12 Hubs in priority neighbourhoods providing better
customer services through investment in high quality community
buildings.

Page 543
33

Community Hubs
The St Mellons Hub is Cardiff’s latest Hub bringing services and facilities to
the heart of the community, it opened its doors in August 2018. The building
has been extended and underwent major refurbishment to provide a wide
range of services and improved facilities to local people.

The community is excited about the opening
Cllr Lynda Thorne said, “I am delighted that our latest community hub is ready
for the public and I know, from the high level of interest we have already
received, that the community is excited about the opening too.”
“Having visited the new building, I have experienced first-hand the huge
benefits it will bring to St Mellons and surrounding areas. It will build on the
success of other Community Hubs around the city and is tailored to the
specific needs of this area. I would encourage residents to drop-in and see
for themselves what the Hub has to offer.”
St Mellons Hub cafe

Page34544
32 34

Newly opened Powerhouse Hub

Newly refurbished St Mellons Hub

St Mellons Hub
The new Hub includes a community café, large community hall, multi-purpose
rooms, interview rooms, library area, drop-in IT facilities, youth den, music
studio, childcare provision for Flying Start, a police office, changing rooms
and multi-use games area. The provision of joined-up services all under one
roof in a modern community setting has enabled two surplus sites to be
released for affordable housing development.
Feedback from the community on services and facilities provided at the St
Mellons Hub has been very positive.
Over 70,000 customers have visited St Mellons Hub since opening on 20th
Aug 2018 customer quotes include –


Very helpful, very impressed. I will make sure I visit very regularly!
Excellent service - thank you.



Very much appreciate the services on offer at the hub and especially the
staff.



I'm very pleased with the hub to be honest St Mellons has been crying out
for this for quite some time.
Page 545
35

Celebrating Chinese new year in Llanishen Hub

Trained staff are on hand to help access a wide range of facilities and services at all
the city Hubs, including:

















Applying for social housing.
Housing, benefit and advice services.
Library service including space for community events.
Free internet and Wi-Fi access.
Free phones to contact council and other services.
Into Work Advice and training courses.
IT Training Suite/ Private interview rooms.
Rooms for community meetings and events.
Modern Community Café.
Partner organisations providing specialist help and
advice.
Community Hall.
Job Club.
Wellbeing Tuesday services for over 50’s.
Dementia Friendly Archives.
Youth Activities.
Fitness Classes.

All the Hubs activities are on their Facebook pages—@StarcommHub,
@GrangetownHub, @RumneyHub, @StMellonsHub, @LlanrumneyHub,
@CentralLibraryHub, @ElyandCaerauHub, @LlanedeyrnHubPowerhouse,
@FairwaterHub, @LlandaffNorthHub, @LlanishenHubCardiff

Page 546
36

Central Library Hub

Page 547
37 37

Into Work Advice Service
The new Into Work Advice Service launched officially on 1st April 2018.
The new team combines income from different funders to offer help for
everyone across the city whether they are in work or out of work, need
some support or more intensive mentoring. Funding is available, where
eligible, to pay for childcare, travel and training to support people into work
and help remove the barriers that may be stopping them form getting a job.
Since the launch, the team has experienced great successes and have
supported at least 561 people into work.
A Gateway has made access to the service easier for customers looking for
work and for organisations who need to refer their clients in for support.
The Gateway ensures the person is able to find the correct support first
time, every time. To date 29,059 people have accessed the Gateway.
Customers are able to access the Gateway through a variety of methods,
including the Advice Telephone Line, email, face to face job clubs, (which
are situated in over 45 locations across the city), website, social media and
Webchat. Job clubs offer drop in, light touch help with CV’s, job
applications and support with making and maintaining Universal Credit
claims.
The Employer engagement / Work placement officers work with employers
to access new job vacancies and work experience opportunities. They also
arrange jobs fairs with real job vacancies. Our Adult Learning team can
also provide training to help people who need qualifications to get a job.
The team has a self employment advisor. In May 2018, the Pop Up
Business School came to Cardiff, funded by the Council and other partners
to provide a 2 week intensive course on how to set up a business. This
proved hugely popular with 62 new start up businesses being created.
Compliment received via Twitter: “Into
Work Cardiff team are amazing. Helping
Cardiff residents get into work. I Met the
lovely Val today at Careers Wales day in
St.Teilos. She speaks Italian, Urdu, Punjab,
English, Sanscrit and is learning Welsh”.

Page 548
38
38

Money Advice Team
The Money Advice Team are based in Central Library Hub but also provide
services to 22 locations across the city, including community hubs,
foodbanks and Job Centres. The team help customers with budgeting, debt
advice, applying for benefits and assisting with claims for grants and
discounts. For clients that need extra support from their failed applications
for benefits, the Money Advice team can prepare mandatory
reconsiderations, which is the first stage in the appeal process. To date the
team have seen over 12,000 people and have helped to claim over
£10million of previously unclaimed benefits.
The team also have specialist advisors that can help those whose families
have a child with a disability, or families affected by the benefit cap.
Central Library Hub also offers services from partner organisations
including, Cardiff Advice Service (made up of Citizens Advice and the
Speakeasy Advice Centre), Cardiff and Vale Credit Union. Other partners
also provide drop in services on a timetabled basis.

Advice team at Central Hub
39

Page 549
39

Impact of Welfare Reform
Universal Credit Full Service has arrived in Cardiff. Universal Credit is a working age
benefit that is replacing 6 means tested benefits and tax credits.
Most working age people will need to make a claim for Universal Credit instead of
claiming the benefits listed below.

Not everyone will be required to make a new claim at the same time. Some of the
changes in circumstances that could mean a new claim for Universal Credit may be
required include (but are not limited to):
 Move

into or out of work
 Becoming sick
 Becoming fit for work
 Gaining or losing a partner

 Becoming

a carer
 Having a first child
 Youngest child turning 5
 Child leaving school

Anyone who is unsure if they should claim Universal Credit can access advice at their
closest Hub or by calling the dedicated advice line.
The Business Plan has given consideration to the ongoing impact of Welfare Reform
and there has already been an increase in the cost of collection and arrears for those
affected by the changes. Financial modelling has also been carried out in an attempt
to understand how these costs may alter in the future, as these reforms are
implemented in Cardiff and increased provision has been made for bad debt.

Page 550
40

Universal Credit Key Changes
Universal Credit key changes

How can Cardiff Council Help?

Universal Credit will be claimed and New self-service section in Central Library Hub. The
Into Work Advice team can help to make & maintain a
maintained online
Universal Credit claim online.
Universal Credit will be paid in
arrears

Money Advice Team can assist with accessing
emergency local welfare provision such as issuing
foodbank vouchers and making claims from
Discretionary Assistance Fund.

Universal Credit will be paid into a
bank account

Support available across the city to open a
transactional bank account.
Trained staff can assist with setting up direct debits

Universal Credit will include any help and standing orders to pay rent and can liaise with
landlords to agree rent payments whilst waiting for
towards rent
first Universal Credit payment .

Universal Credit will be paid monthly
and as a single payment to the
household
Universal Credit payments may be
reduced or stopped through a
sanction

Money Advice Team can help with monthly budgeting
and basic debt advice.
The Money Advice team can help to request the
decision about a sanction be looked at again by the
DWP. The Into Work Advice team can help make and
maintain a claim for Universal Credit.

To help with these challenges we have rolled out online access across the city, giving
budgeting advice in all the Hubs and we have enhanced our Welfare Liaison Team to
provide support to Council Tenants via a home visiting service.

Benefit Cap
The Benefit Cap is a limit placed on the total amount of benefits a working age household
can receive.
January 2019

Example of Financial Support: Mr J was affected by the Benefit Cap. “He attended a local
Hub and was given financial help towards his rent while he engaged with the Into Work
Advice Service.” This meant the shortfall in his rent was paid by a Discretionary Housing
Payment.
Mr J is now in work and is over £130 a week better off and no longer affected by the
benefit cap.
Page 551
41

Impact on Rent Arrears
Universal Credit is having a significant impact. There are more tenants in
arrears and the amount of the average arrear is much higher for Universal
Credit claimants than for those on Housing Benefit: Of the 1,332 council
tenants receiving Universal Credit, 1,094 (82%) are in rent arrears (This
compares with 22% of tenants on Housing Benefit). It is estimated that 801
more tenants are in rent arrears than would have been the case if it were
not for Universal Credit.
The average rent arrear for tenants on Housing Benefit is £384, while the
average for tenants affected by Universal Credit is £1,006. Arrears for
Universal Credit claimants are therefore £622 higher on average than for
tenants on Housing Benefit. Overall it is estimated that £988,052 of current
rent arrears is due to Universal Credit.

Welfare Liaison Team

A dedicated Welfare Liaison Team was developed in 2015 to assist council
tenants with welfare reform, they visit tenants in their own homes to assist
those affected by the Bedroom Tax, Universal Credit and the Benefit Cap.
They help with:

Advice and assistance to downsize.

Provide advice about the Benefit Cap and the schemes available to
help tenants get back to work.

Provide budgeting and basic debt advice.

Provide digital and budgeting support to assist tenants to adjust to
Universal Credit.

Assess income and outgoings so that affordable repayment
arrangements can be made.

Demand for this service is increasing steadily as additional tenants migrate
onto Universal Credit.
The Welfare Liaison Team has increased from 5 to 14 officers including 2
new Senior Officers to support the manager and to deal with the
increasingly complex cases.
 82.0% are happy that their rent is value for money.
A new rent arrear recovery procedure has been introduced with an
increased emphasis on:

Early intervention and prevention.

Focus on having an open conversation with the tenant to understand
underlying causes of arrears.

Extra support targeted towards
tenants
Page
552 facing change / crisis.
42

Page 553
434343

The Scale of Rough
Homelessness
and Housing
SleepingNeed
in Cardiff
The number of applicants who were found to be threatened with
homelessness increased from 762 to 1,544 (103%) between 2015 and
2018, whilst those found to be homeless rose from 1,274 to 1,976 (55%)
and the number found to be homeless and in priority need rose from 571 to
669 (17%). The Council developed a new strategy in 2018 to address the
growing issue of homelessness.
If projected increases in current trends continue there is a risk that services
will not be able to keep pace with demand. Cardiff has recognised the
need to invest in more early intervention to address increasing
homelessness. In 2018-2019 additional funding has been made available
for homelessness services and will be focussed on advice and prevention
work. Partners have raised concerns about the stability and continuation of
funding.
Cardiff Council is committed to providing a holistic housing service in which
help is readily available and not only provided at the point of crisis. A joined
up, person–centred service is integral to delivering the best outcomes for
clients. Any underlying issues that may be contributing or will contribute in
future to a person’s housing situation are considered.
Early intervention has been identified as key to successfully tackling
homelessness and it is therefore vital that people are aware of the services
and help available. More homelessness advice will be given in the Hubs
from 2019.
Greenfarm family hostel

Page42
44554
44

Early morning breakfast run

Frontline Services
Cardiff has a comprehensive range of frontline services working with its rough
sleepers: The Council’s Homeless Outreach Team undertakes day-time and
evening outreach 7 days a week, engaging with people sleeping rough or who
are at risk of sleeping rough.
The team has recently been expanded and trained to undertake statutory
homelessness assessments on the streets.
Rough Sleeper Project
Cardiff Council’s Rough Sleeper Project offers an alternative accommodation
model based on Housing First principles. Direct referrals are made into selfcontained accommodation, without preconditions or the need to move through
a staged approach to independent living. Since its establishment, 26 clients
who had previously failed to engage or maintain other homeless provision
have been positively resettled.
The project uses council flats and the number of properties made available has
been expanded from August 2017 to help address the growing issue of rough
sleeping.
The Council operates two hostels, Ty Greenfarm helps homeless families,
while Ty Tresillian helps single homeless people. A new night shelter and
supported housing complex has been developed in Litchfield Court, to assist
with the growing problem of homelessness. The Council also recently secured
funding to operate its own Housing First
Pagescheme.
555
45

Demand for Social Housing

There is a high demand for social housing in Cardiff and a limited number of
properties become available to let each year. Cardiff Council, Cadwyn,
Cardiff Community, Hafod, Linc Cymru, Newydd, Taff, United Welsh and
Wales & West Housing Associations operate a Common Housing Waiting
List for social housing, from which suitable applicants are identified to be
offered available properties.
In order to offer applicants the widest choice of accommodation applicants
are considered for suitable properties regardless of landlord. All applicants
are given the opportunity to express preferences about the areas of the city
in which they want to live and will be offered up to date information about
likely waiting times for social housing in their preferred areas.
All applicants wanting to join the Housing Waiting List are invited to an
interview and given full advice about their housing options. Applicants can
register for as many preferred areas as they wish, some areas have more
availability of social housing than others, applicants are encouraged to take
this into consideration when they register as this can affect how long
someone may have to wait for accommodation. Applicants are also
encouraged to consider private sector rented accommodation as this may
be more suitable for their needs.
The partners aim to assist applicants who are in housing need before those
without identified need.
The level of housing need is used as one of the measures to determine an
applicant’s position on the Waiting List :


Immediate, urgent, high and medium levels of housing need are
recognised and used to inform applicants’ position on the Waiting List.



Applicants with no identified housing need may be admitted to the
Housing Waiting List, but will be registered in a lower Band than those
with identified housing need.

Where it becomes apparent during the application interview that the
applicant may be homeless / threatened with homelessness a referral is
made to the Housing Options Service. Homeless advice will be provided in
the Hubs from 2019, increasing the accessibility of services.
No of applicants
on Common
Housing waiting
List: 7,971 (Nov
2018)

No of applicants
identified as
homeless: 682
(Nov 2018)

Page 556
4646

Number of properties
let October 2017 –
September 2018:
1,488 (721
Council/767 partner
housing associations)

Finding Accommodation Solutions

The Accommodation Solutions team was set up to provide assistance for
those who are looking to downsize from larger family accommodation.
Particularly older people who wish to move to more appropriate
accommodation for their needs and who may find the whole process a bit
daunting.
The Team are available to assist from the time a tenant joins the waiting list
until after they have moved in, ensuring they have settled in comfortably.
The aim is to give people the peace of mind of having one single contact
and a face they know when taking on the task of moving from their current
accommodation.
Accommodation Solutions officers understand that moving can be a big
decision for tenants, especially if this has been their long term family home.
The aim is to make the process as easy as possible.
The Accommodation Solutions team can help tenants think about how they
will move, what to do with any unwanted items and give the support the
tenant may need following the move. They can also offer financial
assistance to help towards moving costs or to decorate their new home.
£15,502.50

“Happy with
everything.
I’m very happy in my
new place, best thing
I’ve ever done.”

Visits

Total
Incentives
Given

1

31

4 bed parlour
House

3 bed
Houses

8

44
ACCOMMODATION
SOLUTIONS TEAM

530

1
1 bed
retirement
Bungalow

“I wouldn’t have been
able to move without the
help.”

2 bed
Houses

Properties
freed up

3
2 bed
flat

“This is the best
decision I have
made, and the fact
that I had help all
along the way made
everything so much
easier.”

Referrals
Completed

89
Page 557
47

Number of Properties and Availability During 2017 - 2018

Number of
Ward
properties
134
Adamsdown
Butetown
618
Caerau
996
Canton
174
Cathays
70
Creigiau and St. Fagans
11
Ely
2546
Fairwater
1128
Gabalfa
154
Grangetown
495
Heath
80
Lisvane
8
Llandaff
1
Llandaff North
652
Llanishen
623
Llanrumney
1261
Pentwyn
1147
Pentyrch
104
Penylan
2
Plasnewydd
129
Pontprennau and Old St. Mellons
26
Radyr and Morganstown
20
Rhiwbina
20
Riverside
321
Rumney
482
Splott
685
Trowbridge
1022
Whitchurch and Tongwynlais
512
Grand Total
13421

Voids
2017/2018
17
47
49
9
6
2
129
83
3
35
4
0
0
27
48
67
77
7
0
10
0
2
1
17
29
35
50
33
787

Page 558
48

Number of Available Properties

100+
50-100
1-50

0
© Crown copyright and database rights (2011)
Ordnance Survey 100023376

Page 559
49

Council property

Tenant Participation
The Tenant Participation Team is dedicated to engaging with the tenants
and leaseholders of Cardiff Council, and the wider community, on all the
issues affecting them. They run various events and initiatives across the
city. The team have a dedicated website informing of upcoming events
and issues that impact on tenants: www.cardifftenants.co.uk.
Growing Together and Blooming Marvellous
The Tenant Participation Team’s city-wide gardening project ‘Growing
Together’ encourages tenants and residents to start community gardens,
Tenants are given expert advice, access to tools and equipment through
our special project grant.
Gardens have now been set up in different areas across the city to be
used by council tenants and leaseholders including in residential areas,
sheltered living complexes and schools.
As part of the Growing Together theme we also ran our Blooming
Marvellous competition, a gardening competition open to all tenants and
leaseholders of Cardiff Council. This competition has proved very popular
and has encouraged our tenants to look after their gardens and add
colour to their communities.
The winners are announced at our annual tenant’s conference where
different teams in the Council and other council tenants get to hear about
each garden’s background and story.
Hub Community Gardens
At the beginning of the year tenant participation launched a new
gardening project ‘Ready Set Grow’, with the aim of opening up
community gardens across our city hubs. Part of the project was set out
to teach people how to grow and harvest their own fruit and veg, for a
cheaper and healthier lifestyle. We also wanted to bring local
communities together. So far we have set up 3 gardens and groups in
the Hubs including Llandaff North/Gabalfa Hub (Fork and Trowels
Group), The Star Hub (Star Community Garden Group) and The
PowerHouse Hub (Powerhouse Gardeners).

Page 560
50
50

Blooming Marvellous Winners 2018

Hanging Basket
Hanging basket events are held in Roath Park run by a member of staff from
the Parks department. The residents who attended received a free hanging
basket and had the opportunity to create their own hanging basket at the
event. Dave the member of staff from parks also gave tips and tricks
throughout the day to help maintain the basket throughout the colder month
to ensure they bloom again in the early summer.
Community Garden Tour
Tenant Participation’s annual Community garden tour was held at Roath Park
this year. The residents we guided around the park by a member of the Parks
team, where they got to visit the botanical and rose gardens.
Special Project Grants
The Tenant Participation Team offer a grant of up to £1,000 for constituted
groups of council tenants and leaseholders to support community projects or
activities such as street parties, crafting groups and other community led
events.

Page 561
51

Effective Consultation and Communication
Dog Days
The Tenant Participation team has teamed
up with Dog Trust to give residents from
all areas of Cardiff free health checks
for their dogs. So far they have
visited 4 hubs and they have been
very successful with many of the
dogs that attended are now
chipped and healthy.
Dogs Trust give the dog owners
lots of advice and goodie bags
that they can go away with.
More health day events are
planned in the future in many
different hubs and communities.
Community Living
A very successful Big Lunch event
took place in Butetown Community
Centre this summer for sheltered
Coco enjoying
scheme residents where they enjoyed a
a Dog Day
buffet and a disco, the theme this year was
Hawaii. Every year by bringing the sheltered
communities together they are able to get to
know each other and this gives some of the residents
the opportunity to meet new people.
Passport to work
The Tenant Participation Team work alongside Into Work Services, Job
Centre, the Hub and the Money Advice Team to provide and fund courses
for council tenants to find work. The Tenant Participation Team places
emphasis on the importance of the tenant sourcing the course
themselves so they can pick a career path which suits them in the future.
The Council tenant only needs to attend a week long course with Into
Work Services to prove their commitment to the training.
Tenants have gone onto courses for forklift licences, HGV Licences,
Asbestos Removal, Carpet fitting courses and many more.

Page 562
52

2018 Tenants Conference

Tenants Conference
A very successful Tenants Conference was held September 2018. The
theme of this year’s conference was ‘Harvest Festival’. Over 100 Tenants
and leaseholders attended the event. They were shown presentations on
Hubs, Councils new build program and Community Group. Over 20
organisations came from within the Council and outside to take questions
and inform council tenants of the services available as well as hosting
workshops throughout on a variety of subjects including; First Aid, Credit
Union, Downsizing, Green Cities crafts, Fire Safety and Rempod.
Following the Tenants' Conference at City Hall, an attendee sent a text to the
Tenant Participation Team to thank them for organising the event. She wrote,
"What a great day it was. I haven’t laughed so much in ages. Thanks to all
on Tenants Participation, a great team indeed. Proud to know you all."
Bus Tour
The team organised the annual Tenants’ Bus Tour during which tenants and
leaseholders were taken around the city to be shown examples Cardiff Living
Housing Development Projects. They were shown new homes on sites at
Silver Vale Park and Captains View which are based in St Mellons and
Llanrumney.
They were then taken to the new Powerhouse Hub in Llanederyn where they
were given a tour of the new renovated hub and information on the activities
and events they could attend.
Page 563
53

eeping in Touch
We aim to keep our residents informed of all issues and campaigns that may affect them
by making use of different methods of communication in the most effective way
possible. Tenants Times is a magazine that we send out twice a year to all tenants and
leaseholders. It is used to provide tenants with information about community services,
campaigns and initiatives.
Tenants Times is also the main way that we inform our tenants about major works and
general improvements to housing stock. A reading group made up of tenants and
council officers make sure that the articles are relevant to our customers. We also run
competitions in the magazine that give tenants the opportunity to win prizes like a digital
camera and vouchers.
Social Media Presence
The Cardiff tenant website, (www.cardifftenants.co.uk) and Facebook pages,
(www.facebook.com/TPCardiff) are continually evolving and developing. Our website
has become an important communication tool for us over the past year, allowing our
tenants to see what we are doing, such as events, money saving ideas and council
projects. There is also a Facebook page is updated on a daily basis, with council and
local information provided and shared. Additionally there is content in the form of
informative videos on varied subjects.

Page50564
54 54

Prize winner at Tenants Conference

Page
51 565
5555

Tenant Satisfaction
Annual Tenants Survey
Every year we send out a Tenants Satisfaction Survey, this is looking for
opinions and feedback from the residents. If the tenants and leaseholders
complete the survey and send it back to us they will be put into a draw to
win a £200 cash prize.
The October Annual Tenants Satisfaction Survey 2018 was issued to all
tenants & leaseholders in Cardiff with the autumn edition of Tenant’s Times.
The survey was also available to complete online with the link being
advertised via social media and in council buildings across Cardiff. At the
close of the survey a total of 887 valid returns had been received.
The principle aims of the survey are to:
• Find out whether tenants were satisfied with the housing services.
• Monitor the City of Cardiff Council’s performance as a landlord, and
• Find out what improvements tenants would like to be made.
Tenants were asked, if your home needs improvements, please tell us what
they are?
The table below shows that the most common improvement required*:
180

160

140

120

100

80

60

40

20

0
Windows

Gutters and
downpipe

Doors

Garden

Bathrooms

External
painting

Kitchens

Fencing

Paths

Central
heating

Communal
areas

Roof

Electrical
wiring

Cavity wall
insulation

Loft
insulation

Other

*Page 66 and 67 shows upcoming programmes of works to address the
above tenant feedback.

Page 566
56

Tenants were asked: How satisfied are you with the following services
provided by us?
Dealing with anti-social behaviour
Dealing with complaints
Transfers and exchanges
Cleaning
Repairs
Support provided to new tenants
Support provided to vulnerable tenants
General tenancy matters
Maintenance of communal area - flats only
Advice about rent account isues
0

10

40

30

20

50

60

70

80

90

100

% Respondents satisfied

 86% of tenants were happy with the way we responded to repairs and
maintenance.

 After contacting us over 77% of tenants were happy with the final
outcome.
 71% are happy with their local neighbourhood as a place to live.
 86% of tenants were happy with the way in which they were kept
informed.
Tenants were asked: Which methods would you prefer us to use to keep you
informed or to ask for your opinions?

Letter

35%

Website

2%

Tenant Times/
Newsletter

27%

Cardiff Tenants
Website

2%

Telephone call

11%

Public meetings

1%

Email

11%

Residents Groups/
1%
Forums

Personal visit

5%

Twitter/Facebook

Text/Whatsapp

4%

Page 567
57

1%

Residents of Sandown Court competing with students of a local primary
school as part of our inter-generational project

Page58568
58

Independent Living
Independent Living Services
Focusing on the elderly and disabled people, our Independent Living
Services can help residents to access a wide range of support to help them
live as independently as possible.
Independent Living Services has a team of multi-skilled visiting officers who
complete holistic assessments in the client’s home. They provide help and
advice on benefits to maximise the client’s income. The team also help
reduce outgoings by advising on how to make homes more energy-efficient
and informing about any grants or discounts residents may be entitled to.
The offices can also advise about equipment and adaptations and provide
options to help prevent social isolation.
Adaptations to the home can help the tenant improve their movement in
and around your home. The types of adaptations provided include:





Better heating and lighting system and controls
Additional bathing facilities, e.g. a level access showers
Easier cooking facilities, e.g. providing low level units
Improved movement around the house and access to rooms and
facilities, e.g. widening doors, installing ramps or stair lift

In 2017-2018 - 403 disabled adaptations were carried out helping tenants
stay independent at home.
75%

Performance Figures 2017-2018:


3,734 visits undertaken.



305 clients referred for assistive
technology.



247 clients provided with Fire Safety support.



513 Clients received general Life
improvement.



144 people have been enabled by the Day
Opportunities Team to reconnect with their
community.
Page 569

100%

59

Asset and Regeneration Schemes
The Land and Asset team develops strategies and delivers effective
management of housing land, assets and sustainable housing solutions for
mainstream and specialist accommodation. These include:




Community Living refurbishment schemes
Garage site improvement projects
Courtyards and defensible space improvement projects

The Land and Asset programme focuses on identifying and delivering
schemes that enhance the external fixtures such as courtyards and
boundaries to houses, flats and land.
The improvement programme aims to tackle community safety issues, lack of
defensible space and waste storage areas for flats. The overall aim is to
provide estates that are safe and attractive places to live in as social housing
has a unique and positive part to play in housing people and helping thriving
communities.

Clos-y-Nant sheltered housing, proposed design

Page60570
60

Oak House courtyard improvements

Working with the Hollybush Estate Tenants and Residents Association
(HETRA) the Land and Asset team identified a number of improvements
required at Hollybush Estate. These range from problems with parking,
overgrown trees, bin stores and the difficulties that waste management have
collecting bins. Following the issues raised by HETRA, solutions were
identified and a plan was developed to improve Hollybush Estate.
The improvements included:

Creation of a one-way system around Sycamore and Larch House to
improve the safety of the estate

Increasing the number of parking spaces

Renewal of footpaths to and around the residential buildings

Improving Waste Management arrangements

Provide defensible space

Improve the rear area and provide more sheds to Oak House
Residents were consulted with and as a result, some amendments were
made to the plans.

Phase 1 improvement works were completed between April and October
2018 and phase 2 is currently under way, creating the one-way system.

Page 571
61

Community Living Refurbishment Schemes
Following the success of the pilot scheme for Sandown Court and as part of
the Council’s commitment to improving all of the community living
accommodation, the refurbishments for Brentwood Court and Clos Y Nant
are well underway which include:

Upgrading of communal lounges, communal kitchens and bathrooms.



Upgrading of laundry facilities.



Creation of Wellness Suite.



Creation of scooter charging room.



New manager’s office.



Improved access into and around building (including power assisted
doors).



Upgrading CCTV.



Upgrading Telecare/Tunstall system.



New flat doors.



New decoration of communal areas with new flooring and lighting.



Improved signage and wayfinding.



Improvements to roof and rainwater goods.



Improved waste management arrangements.



Improvements to external appearance of building and external areas,
parking areas and footpaths.

The residents have been involved with the refurbishments from the concept
of the scheme and there has been many consultation events throughout,
which have included coffee mornings and, “meet and greet the contractor“
days.

The residents have had the opportunity to choose the colour schemes for
the communal area and they have also had the opportunity to try out the
new furniture before choosing which tables and chairs will be in these areas.
Page 572
62 62

Brentwood Court open day

These schemes will be completed to the Royal National Institute for the
Blind, (RNIB) Visibly Better standards, which ensures that the schemes and
refurbishments enable residents with sight loss and dementia to navigate
independently around the building. Cardiff are also working towards
receiving accreditation of a RNIB Platinum standard award for these
schemes.
These refurbishments to the communal facilities will provide a modern and
welcoming environment that enhances the resident experience and
improves the community living feeling. More activities will be arranged,
which will enable the older residents living outside the schemes to share
these activities in a safe, secure and welcoming environment that can be
enjoyed by all.
Future Schemes
As part of the Council’s commitment to improving all of the Sheltered
Accommodation. Brentwood Court, Clos-y-Nant and Nelson House will
have large scale refurbishments to the communal areas. The
refurbishments to these schemes will encompass the same principles that
Page
we have used in the communal areas
of 573
Sandown Court.
63

Neighbourhood Regeneration
The estate regeneration programme aims to create better and safer places
to live. Consultation with tenants and residents is undertaken to identify
priorities in each neighbourhood. These could include defensible space
improvements, on-plot parking, better lighting, improved footpaths and
gulley closures.
In 2018-2019, estate regeneration schemes are being implemented in the
Belmont / Alice Street area of Butetown and Anderson Place / Galston
Street in Adamsdown. Residents are also being consulted on proposals for
schemes in Round Wood, Llanedeyrn and Bronte Crescent / Arnold
Avenue, which are planned for 2019-2020.
Local Improvements
One-off improvements to address specific environment issues are also
undertaken in response to requests from residents and councillors. In
Fairwater, redesign of Clover Grove has enabled an increased number of
parking spaces to be provided. In Caerau, a well-used pedestrian cutthrough from Tidenham Road to Ogmore Road has been resurfaced. In
Grangetown, boundary railings are being renewed at Taff Terrace.

Garage improvement
scheme
Belmont
Walk defensible
spaceSudcroft Street

Page64
44574
64

Maelfa flats refurbishment

High-Rise Refurbishment
An external refurbishment programme is being undertaken at Maelfa flats in
Llanedeyrn. Works include the renewal of windows and balconies, cleaning
brickwork and roofing improvements. The remodelling of the ground floor of
the building has provided a new front entrance, which is now level access
and links directly with the new car park and shopping parade which has
been built to replace the old Maelfa Shopping Centre. The spaces either
side of the entrance lobby have been utilised to create a communal lounge
area for residents and a retail unit that will be occupied by a local
community group as a charity and coffee shop. The provision of the
communal lounge will also enable the Council to carry out a range of
engagement work with residents of the block.
The principal contractor, Bouygues U Ltd, has been liaising closely with
tenants to minimise disruption during the works and has delivered a range
of community benefits, including support for the Powerhouse Hub Garden
Group and a works to create and equip a Workshop at Llanedeyrn Primary
Page
575community.
School, for use by the school and the
wider
65

Programmes of Work Spend 2019-2020
Gullies
£150,000

Whole Estate
Regeneration
£1,500,000

Regeneration
and Area
Improvement
Strategies
£3,250,000

Garages and
Asset
Improvement
£1,500,000

High Rise
Upgrades
£1,600,000

Front
Doors to
Flats
Sheltered
Accommodation
Upgrades
£1,150,000

Energy
Efficiency
£100,000

Roofs
£2,300,000

£1,600,000

Door
Entry
Sys tem

External and
Internal
Improvements
to Buildings
£13,550,000

Kitchens &
Bathrooms
£1,000,000

£200,000

CCTV
£250,000

BISF Refurbishments
£1,000,000

Fenci ng
£250,000

Boi lers
£500,000

Rewiring
£1,000,000
Lift
Upgrades
£1,000,000

Structural
Works
£700,000

Page 576
66

Conti ngency
£500,000

Windows
& Doors
£500,000

Disabled
Adaptations
£2,900,000

Housing
Capital Spend
£47,385,000

Willowbrook
West

Braunton
&
Clevedon

Open
Market
Acquisitions
£2,750,000

New Build
Housing
£27,685,000

Caldicot
Road
£1,800,000

Innovative
Housing
Schemes
£6,495,000

Ty
Newydd

Llanrumney
Depot

Cardiff Living

£9,300,000
Ll a ndudno
Roa d

Highfields

Snowden
and
Wilson
Roads

Briardene
Walk

Walker
House

Page 577
67

Package
Deals
£7,340,000

Planned Maintenance Works 2018/19

Planned Maintenance Works 2019-2020
Roofs: £2.3m
High Rise
Upgrades:
£1.6m
Lift
Upgrades:
£1m

Structural:
£700k

Front doors to
Flats:
£1.6m
itchens &
Bathrooms:
£1m

Windows &
Doors:
£500k

Sheltered
Accommodation
£1.15m

BISF:
£1m

Boilers:
£500k

Fencing:
£250k

Rewiring:
£1m

CCTV:
£250k

Door Entry:
£200k

Now that Cardiff has met the Welsh Housing Quality Standard it is
important to ensure the standard is maintained and investment is
planned accordingly. The level of actual investment required will vary
year on year and consequently detailed programmes of work require
adjustment on a yearly basis. A detailed draft programme of works for
the next five financial years is included on the Five Year Capital and
Revenue Budgets pages.
The Business Plan includes a provision for kitchens and bathrooms that
are deemed as acceptable fails, e.g. tenant refusal. These will be
improved as properties become vacant or tenants change their minds.
Despite publishing articles in the Tenant Times there has been limited
take up in respect of acceptable fails.
30 Year Plan
The 30 year plan incorporates life cycles of property elements and
budgetary commitments. Due to the high amount of work completed on
properties in the run up becoming WHQS compliant a large number of
elements become due for renewal in a short space of time. To ease
budget constraints and improve efficiency of renewal the 30 year plan
Page 578
goes through a smoothing process.
68

Cladding removal Lydstep Flats

Component Lifespan
Typical
Components
Average Lifespan
(Years)
Average cost of
replacement

Roof

Wiring
Bathroom Windows
systems

Boiler

Doors

Door
entry
systems

Kitchen

Smoke
alarms

Painting

40

30

25

25

20

20

15

15

10

8

£7,000

£1,300

£1,000

£2,500

£3,000

£1,500

£5,000

£1,500

£250

£400

The Council’s stock condition database provides details of the improvements
carried out to each individual property, block of flats or maisonette within the
Council. This will provide more accurate forecasts and will allow for the
programmed works to be planned and costed accordingly. The Council will
seek to achieve value for money in all respects by the most efficient, effective
and economic use of resources.

Sustainability

The Council works in partnership with suppliers and contractors to acquire the
best quality materials for the best value. We ensure that environmental
criteria are used in the award of contracts, when assessing value we consider
the whole life cycle of a material, including installation, maintenance and final
disposal. The Council will source green energy wherever possible and
consider suppliers environmental credentials. This means that the cheapest
product does not necessarily deliverPage
the best
579 value.
69

Health & Safety
The safety of residents across the city is a key concern. The Compliance
Team ensure that all blocks of flats have annual Fire Safety Reports and
identify and manage asbestos in our properties. The team are working on
several schemes to improve fire safety and work closely with residents to
ensure they remain safe within their homes.
Some of the actions identified for 2019-2020:

Cladding has been removed from high rise blocks as a priority. Loudoun
House is to due to be completed in 2019.

Sprinkler systems to be installed in all high rise flats.

Fire doors to flats will be completed, 1 hour doors to be fitted to high rise
flats, 30 minutes to all other flats.

Continuing compartmentation surveys to high rise blocks, these surveys
make sure smoke and fire is contained and does not spread.

New Fire action notices have been designed and are being put up in flat
communal areas, informing residents what to do in case of fire.

The team will continue to work with the South Wales Fire & Rescue
service carrying out fire drills on the high rise blocks.

Monitoring the removal of asbestos across the city.

Compliance officers carrying out fire safety surveys

Page 580
70 70

South Wales Fire & Rescue Service practice a fire drill in Lydstep Flats,
February 2019

Page 581
71

71

Equalities
Cardiff is Wales’ largest city and home to over a third of a million people
from a wide range of backgrounds. We have a long and proud history of
welcoming people to our city and value the diversity that this has brought
and continues to bring to Cardiff and the City Region.
In December Butetown Pavilion
hosted its first winter fair on
Wednesday
19th
which
saw
approximately 500 pass through the
doors, a large majority from the BME
community. In order to be incorporate
cultural needs of the community the
fair was not themed in any religious
setting and was promoted as a family
fun event. This included: Pottery
making, dance classes, face painting,
graffiti art, stories and stalls by
Techniquest and others were offered.
The event was a huge success and
many businesses including our local
primary school and councillor Saeed
Ebrahim tweeted about the numbers
in attendance. There are plans to
host a similar spring and summer.
All our new build properties meet the Lifetime Homes requirements set out
in the Welsh Government Design quality requirements. This means level
access, wheelchair turning circles throughout the ground floor, downstairs
toilet and future shower (level access) provision on the ground floor as well
as ability to fit a through floor lift from lounge into main bedroom. We are
also providing a fuse spur for a future stair lift.
Ground floor flats: move accessible with wider door widths, larger footprint
for improved accessibility, level access front door and rear, fuse spurs for
future automatic door opener and level access showers.
Improving our engagement with all our tenants particularly those who are
harder to reach will be a key aim in 2019-2020.

Page 582
72
72

New build houses will have the ability to install an internal lift for disabled
family members.

Central Library Hub Translations 2018
Officers working with the Hubs can speak a wide range of languages,
ensuring all customers get the help they need. The table below shows a
snapshot of translations in November 2018
Arabic

Bengali

Farsi

107

51

42

Lithuanian

Italian

20

18
Middle East
Africa Other
Other
9
9

Czech

Portugese

Polish

Eastern
Mandarin
Europe other
22
22

38
Central
Asia Other
Europe Other
17
16

32

24

Kurdish

Slovak

Spanish

Somali

13

12

11

Romanian

Urdu

French

Greek

Russian

9

9

6

12
Far East
other
5

5

5

Welsh

Amharic

BSL

Punjabi

German

Gujarati

Hindi

Scandinavia

5

3

3

3

2

2

2

1

Page 583
73

Compliments and Complaints
Customer feedback is important to us, it helps provide valuable information
about how we are performing and what our customers, Cardiff citizens and
communities think about our services. We use this information to improve
our services, strengthen our relationships with other customers and make
better use of our resources.
We deliver a number of different services and during the period from April
2017 to the end of March 2018, the Housing and Communities section
received a total of 440 complaints. Housing and Communities also received
549 compliments for staff and services provided in the same period.
All the feedback received does make a difference, helping us improve our
services. Any lessons that can be learned from a complaint are used to
deliver service improvements.
A service user was quite anxious going to the hub but was calmed
significantly as soon as they sat with Luke. Luke gave her all the time
they needed, they didn’t feel in any way as if they were being rushed
they felt that they were: “not just another customer and that he
genuinely cared and wanted to help, he was very calm throughout
which made me feel there was nothing to worry about and that
everything was ok”.

In reference to the
homeless outreach
team: “Absolutely
amazing
team.
Nothing is ever too
much trouble and
they always go
over and above”
“Anna was
wonderful and kind
in helping me with
my Council Tax
needs”.

Customer
wished
to
compliment
the
graffiti
cleaning team who visited
Richmond Road, “they were
very
professional
and
courteous.”
Mr N emailed to commend
Emile for his service during
out of hours. Mr N stated '
the level of customer
service
should
be
commended and the overall
service was 10/10'.

Page74584
74

Service user
phoned to thank
the
Assisted
Living
team,
“Tanya
is
amazing, treating
me with respect
always…
extremely
kind
and has gone out
of her way to help
me".

Community Benefits

Graduates of Building Futures programme

Wates contractors deliver new build housing and building maintenance for
council properties. As part of their community benefit commitment to Cardiff
a free two-week course, was held, providing basic construction training and
helping unemployed adults develop skills to help them make the transition
into employment or further training. The programme saw 13 people
graduate with all of the participants received a BTEC Level 1 Certificate in
Construction and Health and Safety.
To date, 47 local people have benefitted from training and employment
opportunities. Activities have included on-site apprenticeships, work
experience placements and structured training programmes.
LCB Construction also work with the Council to deliver building
maintenance. LCB undertook the refurbishment works on a property that is
now used as a One Stop Shop forvictims of Violence Against Women,
Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence services in the city.
Provided by Women's Aid in partnership with BAWSO and Llamau, LCB
refurbished the reception area as part of their community benefits provision
under their contract.

Page 585
75

Financial Resources & Planning
A thirty year financial Business Plan model has been produced reflecting
the Housing Revenue Account capital and revenue estimated income and
expenditure over the period.
Where historic trends can be identified, the estimates reflect these trends
and any additional initiatives and known commitments. The model is also
aligned to Business Plan parameters as advised by the Welsh
Government.
The Welsh Government rent policy and the 5 year rent uplift formula
agreement ends in March 2019. An independent rent policy review is
underway which will consider issues such as affordability and
comparisons with rents in England. 2019-2020 is a transitional year and
the Welsh Government has set a recommended rent increase of CPI only
(2.4%). This increase is less than anticipated and will impact on the
Council’s ability to maximise investment in new build & existing housing
as well as improving housing services and neighbourhoods. Cardiff is
working with the Welsh Government and the Welsh Local Government
Association to raise awareness of potential issues.
Rent increases/decreases via the rent policy impacts on affordability of
new housing. In broad terms for every £1m extra income in rent after all
additional costs are met, circa 100 properties can be built through
additional borrowing. The Council will continue to maximise its ambition
to deliver new affordable housing but will also ensure any plans are
financially viable.
Cardiff will apply the full increase to all tenants for 2019-2020 and this
was agreed at Budget Council on 22nd February 2019. For 2020-2021
onwards, the model assumes rent increases of 2.5% per annum. (CPI
+0.5%)
With respect to other assumptions within the model, service charges are
assumed to increase for future years in line with inflation for full cost
recovery.
Voids and bad debts are currently 1.45% and 1.29%
respectively and are assumed to increase to 2% and 2.5% by year 6 of
the plan and are fixed at this level over the remainder of the 30 year
period. Consumer and retail price indexes are estimated to be within a
range of 2% and 2.9% throughout the model.

Page76586
76

Analysis of Items Included in the HRA
Management and Service Costs
•
•
•
•

Community Hubs
Anti Social Behaviour Unit
Waiting List Management & Advice
General Management & Tenancy
Services
• Caretaking & Cleaning Services

Repairs and Maintenance
• Planned Repairs
• Responsive Repairs
• Routine Repairs

•
•
•
•
•

Jet Spraying & Graffiti Removal
Sheltered Housing Unit
Concierge Service
Grounds Maintenance
Pest Control

HRA

Misc/Other Revenue spend
•
•
•
•

Housing Development
Insurances
Central Support Costs
Central Transport Services

The items above are in accordance with relevant legislation and other guidance
including the Welsh Office Circular 33/95.

Capital Programme
Planned capital investment and resources assumed to pay for the
investment are identified within the model. The thirty year plan assumes
that the Council continues to receive the Major Repairs Allowance (MRA)
grant from the Welsh Government at existing levels of £9.5 million per
annum for the term of the plan. Any reductions in this grant will have an
impact on affordability and the level of borrowing required to fund
expenditure on the maintenance of the Welsh Housing Quality Standard.
The investment programme includes significant investment in new
affordable housing from a number of measures, with major developments
at sites including Channel View and Dumballs Road subject to viability
assessments.
How do we fund our Capital improvements programme 2019-2020?
Other
Direct Revenue £3.9m
Financing
£6.4m
Major Repairs
Allowance Welsh
Government
£9.5m

Borrowing
£27.5m

Page 587
77

Sensitivity Analysis
The table below sets out a number of scenarios for key variables within the plan and
measures the potential impact on those variables over the first ten year period as
compared to the base model.
This is on the assumption that all other factors remain constant and no mitigation/
offsetting actions are in place. In reality, as set out within the Risk Matrix table above,
mitigation would take the form of numerous and varied measures to bring the model back
into a viable financial position.
Impact
Key Variables

Rent uplifts and rental income due
RPI inflation and non employee
costs
Pay award agreement and staffing
costs
Construction price inflation and
revenue repairs and maintenance
costs
Percentage empty (void)
properties and rental loss

Base Plan

Base

Base
+0.5%

£m

on HRA
£m(over
10 yrs)

£m

-1%

2.50%

900.89

1.50%

860.36 -40.53

3.00%

921.98 +21.09

2.90%

131.48

1.90%

125.57

+5.91

3.40%

134.55

-3.07

2.00%

221.32

1.00%

211.39

+9.93

2.50%

226.48

-5.16

4.00%

232.41

3.00%

224.00

+8.41

4.50%

240.11

-7.70

Up to 2%

18.19

Up to 1%

9.59

+8.60

Up to 2.5%

22.49

-4.30

* assume CPI @ 2%

£m

on HRA
£m (over
10 yrs)

Impact

*- negative impact on HRA, + positive impact on HRA

Rent increases
Rent increases of 2.5% (CPI+0.5%) are assumed within the base plan from 2020/21
onwards. This is considered a prudent approach whilst the new Social Housing rent
policy is being finalised by WG. A reduction in the rent to 1.5% (CPI -0.5%) would reduce
rental income due by £40.53 million which would have a significant impact on planned
development and new build aspirations, unless mitigating actions were taken.
Conversely, an increase of 3% (CPI +1%) would generate an additional £21.09 million.
Rent increases/decreases via the rent policy impacts on affordability of new housing. In
broad terms for every £1m extra income in rent after all additional costs are met, circa 100
properties can be built through additional borrowing. The Council will continue to
maximise its ambition to deliver new affordable housing but will also ensure any plans are
financially viable.
RPI inflation
RPI inflation within the base plan is assumed at 2.9% throughout the model. A decrease
to 1.9% would reduce costs by £5.91 million whereas an increase to 3.4% would increase
related costs by £3.07 million thus impacting on budget pressures going forward.
Employers pay award
The Employers pay award for 2019/20 is agreed at 2% and, in the absence of any future
years’ agreement is assumed to remain at this level. A decrease of 1% would result in
reduced staffing costs of £9.93 million. Conversely, an increase of 0.5% to 2.5% would
result in increased funding requirements of £5.16 million.
Construction Price Inflation for revenue repairs and maintenance
CPI as related to the costs of materials and labour for revenue repairs and maintenance is
assumed at 4% within the model. A reduction to 3% results in savings of £8.41 million
whilst an increase to 4.5% would require additional funding of £7.7 million.
Void property percentage
The level of void properties is assumed to increase to 2% by year ten within the base
plan. An improvement in this level to 1% would reduce rental income loss by £8.6 million
whilst a deterioration in the level of void properties to 2.5% of standard housing stock
would increase rental income loss by £4.3
million.
Page
588
78

Cardiff Living, Willowbrook West Site October 2017

Cardiff Living, Willowbrook West Site October 2018

Page 589
79

81

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan Risk Matrix
Risk Matrix
Due to the long term nature of the Business Plan, many variables and assumptions are
included which are subject to a high degree or risk and uncertainty.
The Risk Matrix below details a number of key risks and sets out the potential impact,
pre and post mitigation risk and appropriate mitigating controls.

Risk Description

Pre Mitigation
Risk Analysis

Impact

Ineffective governance leads to
non compliance with regulatory
Governance Arrangements
requirements, inappropriate
decision making and a failure to
deliver expected outcomes.
Inadequate asset management
leads to a decline in stock
Asset Management
condition and/or a failure to
maximise income from assets.

Amber

Amber

Business Continuity

Failure to prevent or recover
quickly from significant loss of
service.

Amber

Disaster Recovery

Failure to prevent or respond
appropriately to a major
incident affecting our assets.

Red

Welfare Reform and
Universal Credit

Impact on tenants ability to pay
rent, resulting in increased rent
arrears, requirement for bad
debt provision and increased
debt collection and recovery
costs.

Amber

Contractor availability
and capacity

Failure to carry out planned
revenue repairs and planned
capital programmes and to
bring vacant properties back
into use.

Amber

Page 590
80

Mitigating Controls
Effective control measures are in
place to ensure compliance via
specific targets. Increased
transparency ensures outcomes are
met in a timely manner consistent
with policies and procedures.
Business plan resources and property
improvement plans are based on
periodically reviewed and tested stock
condition data.
Robust facilities management and
health and safety regimes are in place.
Data protection policies and
procedures to ensure safety and
security with robust cyber security
arrangements.
Emergency contact arrangements are
in place for key staff and partners.
Robust emergency plans including fire
safety assessments and clear
evacuation guidance.
Understanding of the Welfare Reform
regime and risks. Information and
advice to tenants, for example
through Into Work Services.
Maximisation of funding for
promotion of available benefits and
specific support e.g the Hardship
Fund and Discretionary Housing
Payments grant. Regular review of
bad debts provision.
Upskilling of existing internal
workforce through staff development
programme with additional
recruitment to specialist posts.
Allocation of works to other
contractors within existing
frameworks.

Post Mitigation

Green

Green

Green

Green

Amber/Green

Amber/Green

Risk Description

Health and Safety
requirements

Impact
Regulations resulting in
additional works / cost.
Examples include sprinkler
systems for new build,
statutory maintenance
programmes e.g. gas safety
works and scaffolding.

Significant reduction in available
revenue resources to support
the HRA business plan and key
commitments impacting on
Uncertainty over future
level and quality of service
rent policy beyond one
provision to tenants and capital
year when we are
schemes that can be taken
required to produce a 30
forward . Affordability,
year business plan
prudence and sustainability of
additional borrowing. Impact
on Local and national affordable
housing targets.

Cost inflation increase
above rent uplifts

A reduction in the
(£9.5m p.a) Welsh
Government Major
Repairs Allowance
(MRA) grant following
the conclusion of the
Affordable Housing
Supply review.

Failure to meet new
build housing
programme targets

Increase in costs of supervision,
management and repairs and
maintenance.
Lack of funding for maintaining
WHQS. A significant reduction
or removal of the grant would
necessitate a review and
reduction of capital programme
priorities including new build
strategy to prevent
deterioration in condition of
stock. Increase in revenue costs
of repairs in long term. Major
set back in Council's
achievement of WG WHQS
standards in 2012.
Non achievement of Capital
Ambition targets. Failure to
reduce housing waiting list and
impact on temporary
accommodation and
homelessness. Holding costs of
vacant sites and revenue costs
of development teams.

Treasury Management

Increased costs of interest and
prudent repayment of any
borrowing undertaken to pay
for capital expenditure
proposed in the HRA capital
prgramme.

Financial Viability

Failure to react to adverse
financial events resulting in
significant increases in costs
arising from Capital Programme
schemes or other projects
undertaken.

Pre Mitigation
Risk Analysis

Mitigating Controls

Post Mitigation

Amber

Ensure awareness of and compliance
with new and updated regulations
and standards. Training and
development of staff

Green

Red

Lobbying of Welsh Government for
long term certainty of future rent
policy in line with aspirations for new
build affordable housing
programmes. Ongoing mulitvariate
sensitivity and stress testing to
determine potential impact. Revise
business plan including operating
costs and avoid over commitment of
new build programme until rent policy
provides more certainty.

Red/Amber

Amber

Review and reprioritise revenue
operating costs and consider
reductions in any planned expenditure
proposed to be funded by borrowing.

Green

Red

Lobbying of Welsh Government for
long term certainty of Major Repairs
Allowance in future years. Review/ reprioritisation of planned maintenance
programme with a view to managed
decline in condition. Review existing
revenue and capital budgets and
commitments to allow focus on
existing housing stock rather than
new build units.

Amber

Red

Contractual commitments are closly
monitored by the New Build Board.
Individual project viability is reviewed
at all key stages of the scheme
development.

Amber

Amber

Integrated Council wide Treasury
Management policies and strategy.
Regular reporting in line with best
practice and independent treasury
advice. Review of programme in line
with affordability and government
policy changes such as rent.
Commitment to welbeing and future
generations (Wales) Act.

Green

Robust approach to business cases
and viability assessments to inform
decision making prior to
implementation. Review of Earmarked
/ general reserve balances.

Amber

Red

Page 591
81

Capital and Revenue Budgets
Capital Spend
2019/20

Scheme Title
PUBLIC SECTOR HOUSING Regeneration and Area Improvement Strategies
External and Internal Improvements to Buildings
Central Heating Boilers
Roofs
Rewiring & Emergency Lighting
Fencing & Defensible Space
Door Entry Systems
Front Door Upgrades to Flats
Lift Upgrades & Renewals
Windows & Door Upgrades
Highrise Upgrades - (inc. fire safety works)
itchens & Bathrooms
C.C.T.V. & Equipment
Structured Works Underpinning
B.I.S.F. Refurbishments
Sheltered Accommodation Improvement Strategy
Contingency
New Build
Disabled Facility Works
Total Programme

Funded
Resources Basic Programme
Additional Borrowing
Major Repairs Allowance
Direct Revenue Financing - Benefit Post HRAS
Resources New build
Additional Borrowing
Direct Revenue Financing
nown External Grants
S106 and other Conts to new build
Cardiff Living land value
Cardiff Living LCHO income
Capital Receipts - RTB
Capital Receipts - Other Land
Total Funding

Subject to inflation and timing of spend

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget
£,000
£,000
£,000
£,000
£,000
3,250
2,750
2,750
2,750
2,750
500
2,300
1,000
250
200
1,600
1,000
500
1,600
1,000
250
700
1,000
1,150
500
28,185
2,900
47,385

(6,800)
(9,500)
(3,400)

1,000
3,000
1,000
250
200
0

1,500
2,500
500
250
200
0

1,500
2,500
500
250
200
0

1,000
5,600
2,500
0
100
0
500
500
43,360
2,750
64,510

1,000
3,300
500
250
200
0
500
2,000
0
2,500
0
0
0
0
500
63,500
2,750
79,750

2,000
0
3,000
250
0
0
0
500
52,550
2,750
68,750

2,000
0
3,000
0
0
0
0
500
38,400
2,750
54,350

(8,250)
(9,500)
(3,400)

(3,350)
(9,500)
(3,400)

(3,300)
(9,500)
(3,400)

(3,050)
(9,500)
(3,400)

(20,765) (38,630) (56,400) (48,700) (31,900)
(3,000)
(500)
0
0
0
(1,100)
(520) (1,130) (5,300) (2,000) (3,700)
(300)
(800)
(800) (1,000) (1,100)
(500)
(800)
0
(350) (1,200)
(1,500) (1,000)
(500)
0
0
0
(500)
(500)
(500)
(500)
(47,385) (64,510) (79,750) (68,750) (54,350)

Page 592
82

Revenue Spend
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
Employees
17,640 18,421 19,293 20,593 21,423
Premises - Council House Repairs
18,300 19,032 19,793 20,585 21,229
Premises - Other Repairs and Maintenance
1,240
1,260
1,277
1,302
1,328
Premises - Other Premises Costs
2,830
2,876
2,914
2,972
3,032
Transport
203
206
209
213
218
Supplies & Services
3,535
3,935
4,028
4,580
4,735
Support Services
6,180
6,281
6,362
6,490
6,620
Interest on Borrowing & Other Capital Charges
25,514 28,322 30,365 31,250 33,959
Funding for Capital Schemes
6,400
3,900
3,400
3,400
3,400
Housing Revenue Account

Gross Expenditure

81,842

84,233

87,641

91,385

95,944

Rents
Other Income

(78,781) (81,125) (84,493) (88,173) (92,668)
(3,061) (3,108) (3,148) (3,212) (3,276)

Total Income

(81,842) (84,233) (87,641) (91,385) (95,944)

Revenue (Surplus)/Deficit
Balance Brought Forward
Revenue (Surplus)/Deficit

0
(8,983)
(8,983)

Page 593
83

0
(8,983)
(8,983)

0
(8,983)
(8,983)

0
(8,983)
(8,983)

0
(8,983)
(8,983)

This page is intentionally left blank

My Ref: Scrutiny/Correspondence/Cllr McGarry
15 March 2019

Councillor Lynda Thorne, Cabinet Member Housing & Communities and
Councillor Susan Elsmore, Cabinet Member Social Care, Health & Well-Being.
County Hall
Cardiff
CF10 4UW
Dear Lynda and Susan,
COMMUNITY & ADULT SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 6 MARCH 2019 – OLDER
PERSONS HOUSING STRATEGY 2019 – 2023 AND HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
(HRA) BUSINESS PLAN 2019-2020

As Chair of the Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee, I wish to thank you
and officers for attending Committee and providing Members with an opportunity to
consider the Older Persons Housing Strategy 2019 – 2023, and the Housing Revenue
Account (HRA) Business Plan 2019-2020 prior to Cabinet consideration by later this
year. Members of the Committee have requested that I feed back the following
comments and observations to you.

Older Persons Hpousing Strategy 2019 – 2023

The Committee considered the strategy which described how the accommodation
needs and concerns of older residents in Cardiff would be addressed over the next 5
years. The committee welcomed the strategy and the outcomes that were expected.

One of the key elements of the strategy was the consideration of communal facilities,
local amenities and support arrangements when developing suitable accommodation
for older persons. The committee highlighted the importance of easy access to local
facilities such as shops and post offices for older people. The research in the report

Page 595

indicated that many older people had moved closer to town centres to gain easier
access to shops and to maintain their independence.

The committee were keen to ensure that all future accommodation for older persons
would equitably support diverse communities and meet their cultural, religious and
social care needs. These communities required access to a range of inclusive
services and appropriate facilities to ensure that they can live independently as
identified in the strategy

The Committee were aware of the current financial position of the Council and that
future financial challenges may have an impact on its ability to provide new
accommodation. It was suggested that the use of the private public partnership,
which supported the sale and rent of properties, could be enhanced to enable the
Council to sell some of the properties that it built. This would provide a potential
source of income to offset the cost for building council accommodation although the
committee were aware that this proposal had some inherent risks.

The Committee commended the Independent Living Service, which provided advice
and information to residents, and welcomed the inclusion in the strategy of a new
Older Peoples Advice Unit that would extend the range of information which they
provided to include; the eligibility criteria for homeowners planning for the future, how
quickly older people can be progressed on the housing register and advice regarding
the options for downsizing from private properties. Information should also be
shared with the private sector to advise estate agents and potential landlords of
property options to assist in meeting the private sector housing targets. To share
this information effectively, a wider range of engagement would be needed rather
than information just being provided in the Community Hubs.

The preference of older person’s for 2 bedroom accommodation was identified in the
survey. The breakdown of 2 bedroom properties in the 741 properties being
developed was queried. It was explained that the detailed plans for each
development were still to be finalised. The committee would welcome the opportunity
to view the show home that was being provided.

Page 596

The Committee requested that Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) should be
consulted on proposed changes for allocation policy. It was also suggested that an
accessible homes register be created to ensure that when adapted homes became
vacant they could be allocated to those who needed similar adaptations. The
improvements in the monitoring of voids with adaptations was seen as a positive
step to ensure the best use of available resources.
The committee were pleased to hear that Cabinet Members were working together to
plan and connect services across their portfolios and to meet the range of support for
the differing groups in communities. Access to local amenities often required access
to good transportation links but with the recent reduction in bus services it was
considered by the committee as having a detrimental impact on the older persons in
Cardiff. The Committee requested that a letter be sent to the Cabinet Member for
Strategic Planning & Transport asking him to utilise any funding allocated in the
recent budget to support bus routes and in particular those local transport links which
were essential to older persons.

The Committee commended the strategy and I would like to thank you again for your
attendance at the meeting...

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUSINESS PLAN 2019-2020
Cardiff Council is required to present an “acceptable” Housing Revenue Account
(HRA) Business Plan to the Welsh Government each year in order for them to
assess the maintenance of the Welsh Housing Quality Standards (WHQS) in order
to be eligible for the Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) Grant.

The committee commended the Business Plan; however, they requested that the
following feedback be considered by Cabinet.

The Committee welcomed the examples of innovative housing, which had been
developed in partnership with Cadwyn. The committee concluded that this
partnership arrangement should be enhanced to ensure that innovative housing
opportunities continued to be provided in the future.

Page 597

The ambition of the service to provide an in-house solution rather than contracting
out the services for building developments was seen as a positive step, which would
be supported by the committee.

The committee were supportive of the actions that were being undertaken to address
the problems with damp in those blocks of flats where the cladding had been
removed. The committee would welcome a briefing when the moisture content
report had been provided and options identifying how the current situation could be
improved for residents.

The Committee requested that details of the number of true fails relating to the
WHQS be clarified and the level at which the number of fails affected the
achievement of the WHQS and the eligibility for the Major Improvement grant from
the WAG.

Members of the Committee were reassured with the plans to reduce the
improvement works and cut back the staff budget to protect borrowing.

The Committee acknowledged concerns regarding the difficulties with the
procurement process and would consult with the Policy Review and Performance
Scrutiny Committee to determine if there was an appropriate way forward to review
the procurement process.

I hope you find the Committee’s comments useful and hope that you are able to
provide a response to the queries identified above.

Yours sincerely,

COUNTY COUNCILLOR MARY MCGARRY
Chairperson - Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee

Page 598

Cc:

Cllr David Walker, Chairperson, Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny
Committee
Sarah McGill, Corporate Director, People and Communities
Claire Marchant, Director of Social Services
Jane Thomas, Assistant Director, Housing & Communities
Colin Blackmore, Operational Manager Building Improvement & Safety
Gill Brown, Accountant
Cabinet Support

Page 599

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2019
CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT AND MOVING TRAFFIC
OFFENCES - CHALLENGES, REPRESENTATIONS AND
APPEALS POLICY
STRATEGIC PLANNING & TRANSPORT (COUNCILLOR CARO
WILD)
AGENDA ITEM: 12
Reason for this Report
1.

To consider the introduction of a new policy for challenges,
representations and appeals policy associated with Civil Parking
enforcement and Moving Traffic Offences.

Background
2.

In the summer of 2010, Cardiff Council took on the responsibility for
enforcing a range of parking contraventions. This is contributes towards
the transportation policy objectives by addressing illegal parking which
causes unnecessary congestion and traffic delays.

3.

In 2013, new legislation was made available in Wales to allow local
authorities to enforce bus lanes, yellow box junctions and a range of
other moving traffic contraventions.

4.

The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (General
Provisions) (Wales) Regulations 2013 (“the 2013 Regulations”) were
passed and came into force on 25th March 2014. These regulations
enable the Council to assume responsibility for enforcement of bus lane
and some moving traffic offences, pursuant to Part 6 of the Traffic
Management Act 2004 (“the 2004 Act”).

5.

By having access to these powers, Cardiff Council now has a full suite of
legal powers to control parking and travel along the highway. This gives
the Council maximum control in terms of deploying its enforcement
resource in support of its transportation policies, with the intention of
assisting the movement of public transport and generally keeping traffic
moving.

6.

The 2004 Act imposes a duty on the Council as highway authority to
ensure the smooth flow of traffic. Whilst roads may appear capable of
accommodating parking, the Council may deem this does not facilitate

Page 601

Page 1 of 6

meeting the requirements of the 2004 Act and therefore may find it
necessary to restrict parking.
7.

Cardiff Council operates a number of different types of parking across the
city including on street and off street resources. This includes
2,000 spaces in off-street car parks,
2,500 on-street pay and display spaces, and around 1,000 spaces
at its Cardiff East Park and Ride facility.



8.

The 2013 Regulations enable the Council to assume responsibility for
enforcement of bus lane and some moving traffic offences (MTOs),
pursuant to Part 6 of the Traffic Management Act 2004. The Traffic
Management Act 2004 indicates the range of road signs which will be
enforceable under this new legislation. These include enforcement
of:





9.

Directed and prohibited movement
Pedestrian precincts
Bus and Cycle provisions and
Yellow Box Junctions

These powers particularly assist:
i.
ii.
iii.

10.

Enforcement of Bus Lanes - preventing the blocking of bus
lanes, especially at the approach to traffic signals.
Enforcement of Yellow Box Junctions - reducing illegal queuing
across the boxes, particularly during peak hours, preventing
congestion and delay to all vehicles.
Enforcement of turning movement bans - enhancing public
safety, by preventing conflict with pedestrian crossing
movements, and by reducing the use of weak bridges by lorries
ignoring weight restrictions.

Penalty Charge Notices can be appealed within 28 days of the date
the ticket was issued and can be challenged for the following
reasons:
i.
ii.

iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.

The alleged parking offence did not happen
The vehicle was never owned by the appellant; had stopped
being the owner of the vehicle before the alleged parking
offence; or that they became the owner of the vehicle after the
date of the alleged parking offence
The vehicle was parked by someone else without the
permission of the owner (e.g. if it was stolen)
The vehicle was being driven by someone else under a hire
arrangement (this is for use by car hire companies only)
The penalty exceeded the amount applicable for the offence
type quoted
The Council has not followed the correct procedure
The parking limit where the alleged parking offence took place
was not valid

Page 602

Page 2 of 6

Cardiff Council also considers other mitigating circumstances on a
case by case basis.
Issues
11.

A sample analysis of 250 appeals identified a potential to improve the
management of appeals by having a policy to ensure consistency and
adherence to current legislation.

12.

Welsh Government Guidance on the Traffic Management Act 2004 –
Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions: Parking, Bus Lane and
Moving Traffic Enforcement Operational Guidance to Local Authorities
December 2014 – Ch. 11 states ‘Authorities should formulate (with
advice from their legal department) and then publish their policies on the
exercise of discretion. They should apply these policies flexibly and
judge each case on its merits, and be ready to depart from policies if the
particular circumstances of the case warrant it’.

Resources
13.

The implementation of a policy has limited resource implications
concerning the cost of implementation of the policy apart from additional
training to all officers managing the appeal process.

14.

The policy will ensure Cardiff Council processes for pursuing outstanding
penalties are efficient, effective and impartial. Any additional revenue will
support delivering highway and environmental improvements in Cardiff
as allowed in legislation.

Reason for Recommendations
15.

The policy will ensure Cardiff Council processes for pursuing outstanding
penalties are efficient, effective and easy to understand.

16.

The policy sets out Cardiff Council’s consideration of challenges,
representations and appeals against the issuing of Penalty Charge
Notices (PCNs) as well as determining enforcement processes to be
followed to ensure consistency and adherence to current legislation.

17.

The Council is under a legal duty never to fetter its discretion so this
policy is only guidance and all considerations of challenges,
representations and enforcement measures in general will be considered
on their own merits, provided legislation is observed to at all times.

Financial Implications
18.

The costs of introducing the new policy for challenges and appeals will
not be significant and will be funded from the Civil Enforcement Account.
Any increase in net income following the introduction of this new policy
will be earmarked to fund highway and environmental improvements.

Page 603

Page 3 of 6

Legal Implications
19.

The Council, as the ‘Traffic Authority’, has the power to make ‘Traffic
Regulation Orders’ (TROs) and powers to enforce certain TROs. The
legal powers are referred to in the body of the report.
In developing the proposed policy and when considering these matters
generally regard must be had:(i)

20.

to the provisions of the Traffic Management Act 2004 Act (“the
2004 Act”). The purpose of the 2004 Act is to provide the basis
for improving conditions for all road users through management of
the national and local road networks. Part 2 of the 2004 Act
imposes a duty on all Local Traffic Authorities to secure the
expeditious movement of traffic on their road networks and to
facilitate such movement on other authorities’ networks,

(ii)

the fact that the powers as regards the making of TROs and
enforcement are not intended and should not be viewed as a
means of raising revenue for the Council,

(iii)

the enforcement of parking and moving traffic contraventions will
inevitably involve the processing and storage of data some of
which may be personal and/or sensitive and the Council should
ensure that such data is processed in line with current data
protection legislation,

(iv)

the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, which imposes a general duty
on the Council, when exercising its functions, to take account of
community safety dimension, with a view to reduce local crime
and disorder in its area,

(v)

the Council duties under The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 (“the
2013 Act”), which makes provisions requiring local authorities to
take reasonable steps to enhance the provision made for, and to
have regard to the needs of walkers and cyclists, for requiring
functions under the 2013 Act to be exercised so as to promote
active travel journeys and secure new and improved active travel
routes and related facilities

In considering this matter, the decision maker must have regard to the
Council’s duties under:

the Equality Act 2010. Pursuant to these legal duties Councils
must, in making decisions, have due regard to the need to (1)
eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of
opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of protected
characteristics. Protected characteristics are: (a) Age, (b) Gender
reassignment, (c) Sex, (d) Race – including ethnic or national
origin, colour or nationality, (e) Disability, (f) Pregnancy and
maternity, (g) Marriage and civil partnership, (h) Sexual orientation
and (i) Religion or belief – including lack of belief.

Page 604

Page 4 of 6

The decision maker should consider the EQIA set out in appendix B


the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 The decision
maker should also have regard, when making its decision, to the
Council’s wider obligations under The Well-Being of Future
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’). The Act places a ‘wellbeing duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national wellbeing goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient,
healthier, more equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture
and thriving Welsh language, and is globally responsible. In
discharging its duties under the Act, the Council has set and
published well being objectives designed to maximise its
contribution to achieving the national well being goals. The well
being objectives are set out in Cardiff’s Corporate Plan 2018-21:
http://cmsprd.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plansand-policies/CorporatePlan/Documents/Corporate%20Plan%202018-21.pdf #
When exercising its functions, the Council is required to take all
reasonable steps to meet its well being objectives. This means that
the decision makers should consider how the proposed decision will
contribute towards meeting the well being objectives and must be
satisfied that all reasonable steps have been taken to meet those
objectives. The well being duty also requires the Council to act in
accordance with a ‘sustainable development principle’.
This
principle requires the Council to act in a way which seeks to ensure
that the needs of the present are met without compromising the
ability of future generations to meet their own needs. Put simply,
this means that Council decision makers must take account of the
impact of their decisions on people living their lives in Wales in the
future. In doing so, the Council must:
 Look to the long term
 Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of
problems
 Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the 7 national wellbeing goals
 Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable
solutions
 Involve people from all sections of the community in the
decisions which affect them
The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposed decision
accords with the principles above; and due regard must be given to
the Statutory Guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers, which is
accessible using the link below: http://gov.wales/topics/people-andcommunities/people/future-generations-act/statutoryguidance/?lang=en


the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 which imposes duties
on public organisations to comply with the standards of conduct on
the Welsh language which must treated no less favourably than the
English in Wales.

Page 605

Page 5 of 6

HR Implications
21.

There are no HR implications to this report regarding changes to current
staffing levels. However, it is expected that there will need to be changes
to ways of working which will be consulted on with trade unions and
affected employees.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Cabinet is recommended to:
1.

approve the new policy (attached as Appendix A) for considering
Challenges, Representations and Appeals associated with Civil Parking
enforcement and Moving Traffic Offences .

2.

delegate authority to the Assistant Director Street Scene in consultation
with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning & Trasnport to update
the policy, from time to time, relating to any changes in legislation,
related case law and good practice .

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE
OFFICER

ANDREW GREGORY
DIRECTOR OF PLANNING, TRANSPORT
AND ENVIRONMENT
15 March 2019

The following appendices are attached:
Appendix A – Challenges, Representations and Appeals Policy.
Appendix B – EqIA for the Challenges, Representations and Appeals Policy.
The following background papers have been taken into account:
The Traffic Management Act 2004
The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (General Provisions)
(Wales) Regulations 2013
The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Representations and
appeals) (Wales) Regulations 2013
The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Guidelines on Level of
Charges) (Wales) Order 2013
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984
Road Traffic Act 1988
The Road Traffic Offenders Act 1988
The Road Traffic (Owner Liability) Regulations 2000
The Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2016
The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions: Parking, Bus Lane and
Moving Traffic Enforcement Operational Guidance to Local Authorities
December 2014
Statutory Guidance to Local Authorities on the Civil Enforcement of Bus Lane
and Moving Traffic Contraventions July 2014
The Civil Procedure Rules 1998

Page 606

Page 6 of 6

Cardiff Council
Parking Services, PO Box 47, Cardiff, CF11 1QB
www.cardiff.gov.uk
029 2087 2087

CHALLENGES, REPRESENTATIONS AND
APPEALS POLICY
THE TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT ACT 2004

V.4 11/03/2019
Creating Fair and Transparent Enforcement to Keep Cardiff Moving

Page 607

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Table of Contents
Introduction ______________________________________________________________________________________________ 1
Purpose of this Policy _____________________________________________________________________________________________1
Corporate Priorities _______________________________________________________________________________________________1
Applicable Legislation and guidance ____________________________________________________________________________1

Collecting Penalty Charges ______________________________________________________________________________ 3
Owner liability_____________________________________________________________________________________________________3
What happens if i was not the owner at the time? ______________________________________________________________3
Hirer liability ______________________________________________________________________________________________________3
Process for collecting parking PEnalty Charges served by a CEO______________________________________________4
Process for collecting PEnalty Charges served by post _________________________________________________________4
Penalty amounts __________________________________________________________________________________________________4
What happens if i do not pay the penalty? ______________________________________________________________________5
What happens if i do not pay the enforcement agents? ________________________________________________________5
What happens to any monies raised from enforcement________________________________________________________5

Considering appeals against Penalty Charge Notices _________________________________________________ 6
Who can consider your challenge or representations __________________________________________________________6
Our consideration Principles _____________________________________________________________________________________6
Our consideration of Mitigation and mistakes __________________________________________________________________7
Medical Emergencies _____________________________________________________________________________________________7
Blue badges ________________________________________________________________________________________________________7
Paying then appealing ____________________________________________________________________________________________8
Payment Plans _____________________________________________________________________________________________________8
Charge Certificates ________________________________________________________________________________________________9
Alleged Non-Receipt of Documents ______________________________________________________________________________9
How long will it take me to receive an answer to my challenge or representation? _________________________9

Making an Informal Challenge _________________________________________________________________________ 11
How do i challenge a PCN? _____________________________________________________________________________________ 11
Process for making an informal challenge against a PCN served by a CEO _________________________________ 11

Page 608

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Who can challenge a parking PCN? ____________________________________________________________________________ 11
When you cannot challenge a parking PCN ___________________________________________________________________ 12
Reoffering the discount _________________________________________________________________________________________ 12
Notice to Owners ________________________________________________________________________________________________ 12

Making Formal Representations _______________________________________________________________________ 13
Who can Make formal representations? _______________________________________________________________________ 13
When you cannot make formal representations ______________________________________________________________ 13
Process for making Formal Representations against a Notice to Owner or PCN served by Post __________ 13
The Council decision ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 14
The Traffic Penalty tribunal ____________________________________________________________________________________ 15
What happens after an adjudicator has made a decision ____________________________________________________ 15

Appendix 1. Common Scenarios for Parking Challenges and Representations ____________________ 16
Appendix 2. Common Scenarios for Bus Lane and Moving Traffic Representations_______________ 20
Definitions _______________________________________________________________________________________________ 24

Page 609

INTRODUCTION
Introduction
Parking, bus lane and moving traffic enforcement plays a key role in allowing Cardiff to cope with the rising
demands upon its transport network and helps promote the use of sustainable travel. To ensure Cardiff
remains one of the country’s most liveable cities the Council aims to encourage a 50/50 modal shift away
from the private motor vehicle towards greener travel alternatives by 20261. Enforcement is needed to
ensure compliance with regulations in order to keep the highway network working and tackle dangers to
other road users and pedestrians.

PURPOSE OF THIS POLICY
It is essential that authorities should make sure their processes for pursuing outstanding penalties are
efficient, effective and impartial.
This document sets out our consideration of challenges, representations and appeals against the issuing of
Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) as well as determining enforcement processes to be followed to ensure
consistency and adherence to current legislation. It remains applicable in its current version until it is
replaced or revoked.
The Council is under a legal duty not to fetter its discretion. The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance.
All considerations of challenges, representations and enforcement measures in general will be considered
on their own merits, provided legislation is observed to at all times.

CORPORATE PRIORITIES
This policy contributes to the Council’s aims to create a safe and vibrant city and to keep Cardiff moving by
removing hazards and obstructions to the transport network by creating fair and transparent enforcement.
It further compliments the guidance released by the Welsh Ministers2 and the Council’s Parking Strategy
2016. For the purpose of this policy any reference to the “council” or “we” is to be taken to mean The County
Council of the City and County of Cardiff .

APPLICABLE LEGISLATION AND GUIDANCE
The Traffic Management Act 2004
The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (General Provisions) (Wales) Regulations 2013
The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Representations and appeals) (Wales) Regulations
2013
The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Guidelines on Level of Charges) (Wales) Order 2013
Cardiff Council Corporate Plan, 2015-2017
The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions: Parking, Bus Lane and Moving Traffic Enforcement Operational Guidance to
Local Authorities December 2014
1
2

Page 1

Page 610

INTRODUCTION
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984
Road Traffic Act 1988
The Road Traffic Offenders Act 1988
The Road Traffic (Owner Liability) Regulations 2000
The Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2016
The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions: Parking, Bus Lane and Moving Traffic Enforcement
Operational Guidance to Local Authorities December 2014
Statutory Guidance to Local Authorities on the Civil Enforcement of Bus Lane and Moving Traffic
Contraventions July 2014
Statutory Guidance to Local Authorities on the Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions: Parking
July 2014
The Civil Procedure Rules 1998
Any reference to an act of Parliament, statutory provision, regulation or statutory instrument includes a
reference to that act, provision, regulation or instrument as amended, extended or re-enacted.

Page 2

Page 611

COLLECTING PENALTY CHARGES
Collecting Penalty Charges
A penalty charge is usually payable by the owner of the vehicle, unless the vehicle was on hire at the time of
the contravention, in which case the hirer becomes liable3. Unlike a speeding ticket this means that it is the
owner or hirer of the vehicle that would be liable for the penalty charge even if they were not driving.

OWNER LIABILITY
The owner of the vehicle is presumed to be the person in whose name the vehicle is registered in accordance
with the Vehicle Excise and Registration Act 1994, unless proven otherwise4. This is called “owner liability”
and means that the starting point of any enforcement action is taken against the registered keeper.
If the vehicle is on long term lease for over 6 months and is not subject to an extended hire agreement then
for section 66 of the Road Traffic Offenders Act 1988 the leasee is to be considered the owner of the vehicle.

WHAT HAPPENS IF I WAS NOT THE OWNER AT THE TIME?
The Traffic Management Act 2004 puts the responsibility firmly on the person/company who’s registered
with the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA) to prove that they were not the owner. This means that
if you sold the vehicle before the contravention you must provide proof to the Council to suspend any
enforcement action taken against you. Acceptable proof could be:





Receipt of sale
A signed V5c showing the transfer of the vehicle
Receipt of part exchange
Confirmation from the DVLA

Cancellation of insurance will not normally be accepted as this does not confirm that the vehicle was sold.
You should also always provide the name and address of the person or company that you sold the vehicle to
if known.

HIRER LIABILITY
If the vehicle was on hire at the time of the contravention then the hirer becomes liable, provided that they
have signed an agreement stating that they will become responsible for any penalty charges incurred.
A valid hire agreement must be produced to confirm that the hirer had signed such an agreement before
the Council will transfer liability. The Council will not transfer liability unless the information required by
the Road Traffic (Owner Liability) Regulations 2000 is provided:

3
4

Part 2, Regulation 4 and 5 of the Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (General Provision) (Wales) Regulations 2013
“Minor definitions” - The Traffic Management Act 2004

Page 3

Page 612

COLLECTING PENALTY CHARGES





The name and address of the hirer
The dates of the hire period (start date and end date)
The vehicle registration mark that the hire agreement relates to
The statement of liability for any penalty charges issued under the Traffic Management Act 2004

PROCESS FOR COLLECTING PARKING PENALTY CHARGES SERVED BY A CEO
If a contravention is observed by a Civil Enforcement Officer (CEO) then normally the PCN will be attached
to the vehicle or handed to the driver.

PROCESS FOR COLLECTING PENALTY CHARGES SERVED BY POST
If a CEO starts to prepare the service of a PCN and the vehicle is driven away or if there is a threat of violence,
or if the contravention is observed by CCTV then the PCN will be sent by post.

PENALTY AMOUNTS
The amount of the penalties are set in legislation5 and there are two bands; higher contraventions where
parking is not normally permitted and lower contraventions when parking is normally permitted. All bus
lane and moving traffic penalties are set at the higher rate.

5

The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Guidelines on Level of Charges) (Wales) Order 2013

Page 4

Page 613

COLLECTING PENALTY CHARGES
TABLE 1.3

PAYABLE PENALTY CHARGES
DISCOUNT
PENALTY

Higher
contraventions
Lower
contraventions

FULL
PENALTY

SURCHARGE
PENALTY

Court Fees

£35

£70

£105

£8

£25

£50

£75

£8

WHAT HAPPENS IF I DO NOT PAY THE PENALTY?
If you ignore the PCN or fail to successfully appeal, then we will have the outstanding surcharge penalty, plus
court feeds, registered as a debt with Northampton County Court’s Traffic Enforcement Centre (TEC). If TEC
permit the registering of the debt then it will become recoverable as if it were payable under a county court
order and enforcement agents (formally known as bailiffs) will be instructed to recover the debt under
warrant.

WHAT HAPPENS IF I DO NOT PAY THE ENFORCEMENT AGENTS?
If a warrant has been issued to recover what you owe but you still do not pay then several other options may
be open to the Council6. We may have the debt attached to your earnings, which means your employer will
be forced to deduct the debt from your wages, or apply for a Third Party Debt Order, which means your bank
account may be frozen until the debt is paid. Not paying the PCN can lead to serious financial difficulties.

WHAT HAPPENS TO ANY MONIES RAISED FROM ENFORCEMENT
Money surpluses can only be used for the purposes set out in Part 6 of the Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic
Contraventions (General Provisions) (Wales) Regulations 2013 and Section 55 of the Road Traffic Regulation
Act 1984. These provisions only allow any income raised to be used for the provision of public parking places
(in the case of parking surpluses), highway or road improvement, environmental improvement, highway
projects or the provision of public transport services.

6

Part 75 of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998

Page 5

Page 614

CONSIDERING APPEALS AGAINST PENALTY
CHARGE NOTICES
Considering appeals against Penalty Charge Notices
Appealing against a penalty charge notice is not only a legal right7 but is also an essential part of a fair and
transparent enforcement process. There are two stages to appealing a parking PCN depending on the legal
stage; making an informal challenge and making formal representations. If the PCN was sent by post then
there is no informal challenge stage and the legal process goes straight to formal representations.

WHO CAN CONSIDER YOUR CHALLENGE OR REPRESENTATIONS
Only fully authorised staff may consider challenges or representations. The Council has its own dedicated
team and only members of that team may make any decision as to enforcement of a penalty charge. This
means other Council staff or elected members cannot legally play or attempt to play any part in the
enforcement process or in the decision making of challenges or representations.
This is supported by the Statutory Guidance where the Welsh Ministers believe that ‘Elected members and
unauthorised staff should not, under any circumstances, play a part in deciding the outcome of individual
challenges or representations. This is to ensure that only fully trained staff make decisions on the facts
presented’8.
While we will still consider supporting information from members on behalf of an appellant.

OUR CONSIDERATION PRINCIPLES
Our consideration of all challenges and representations are underpinned by our “consideration principles”.
Merits of the case
The circumstances surrounding a particular PCN are unique and therefore each PCN will be considered on
its own merits.
Council Policy
While the circumstances surrounding all PCNs are unique, due regard will be given to this policy to ensure
fair and consistent approach to deciding challenges and representations.
Statutory obligations
We will always ensure that our processes for the consideration of challenges and representations comply
with legislation at all times as well as any statutory guidance or operational guidance released by the Welsh

The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contravention (Representations and Appeals) (Wales) Regulations 2013
The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions: Parking, Bus Lane and Moving Traffic Enforcement Operational Guidance to
Local Authorities December 2014/(88) of the Statutory Guidance to Local Authorities on the civil enforcement of bus lane and moving
traffic contraventions.
7
8

Page 6

Page 615

CONSIDERING APPEALS AGAINST PENALTY
CHARGE NOTICES
Ministers. Should any element of this policy conflict with statutory provisions, the statutory provision will
prevail.

Driver/vehicle history
Both driver and vehicle histories will be checked to see if either has a history of incurring similar PCNs and
whether discretionary cancellations have been granted previously. If you have already received a
discretionary cancellation for another case it is highly unlikely that the Council will cancel any further PCNs.

OUR CONSIDERATION OF MITIGATION AND MISTAKES
Any PCN can be cancelled if the mitigation put forward is deemed strong enough to warrant it. Cases will be
considered objectively and discretion can be given where it is evident that a parking contravention occurred
due to circumstances beyond the motorist’s reasonable control or due to a medical emergency, which must
be proved by you.
Unfortunately mistakes made in reading parking and traffic signs, accidentally breaching restrictions do not
provide suitable mitigation and the PCN will not normally be cancelled. All parking and traffic signs can be
found in the Highway Code, along with other advice to ensure that restrictions can be adhered to at all times.
It is the responsibility of the motorist to be fully aware of all signs and regulations and the advice in the
Highway Code.

MEDICAL EMERGENCIES
It is appreciated that medical emergencies are difficult to gauge so each case turns on its own merits
depending on the quality of the proof provided. If a medical emergency is claimed proof MUST be provided
on every occasion and this must be sufficient to confirm that the emergency was a serious one and would
have affected the driver/motorist at the time of the contravention.
Moving traffic contraventions will not normally be accepted when claims of a medical emergency are made.
If the emergency is severe enough to warrant breaching traffic restrictions then the driver is expected to pull
over immediately rather than cause safety issues to other motorists by being unwell behind the wheel and
consequently driving dangerously – which is a criminal offence.

BLUE BADGES
There are certain occasions when legislation requires that exemptions for blue badge holders are
incorporated into Traffic Regulation Orders. Some examples are;



On yellow line restrictions without kerb blips they are permitted to park for up to 3 hours, with no
return within 1 hour
In on-street pay and display bays they are permitted to park for as long as they require without
payment

Page 7

Page 616

CONSIDERING APPEALS AGAINST PENALTY
CHARGE NOTICES


In limited waiting bays they are permitted to park for as long as they require, provided that the
regulatory signs do not state otherwise

There are also some discretionary occasions when Traffic Regulation Orders exempt blue badge holders. For
example in resident’ permit holder only bays/zones they are permitted in Cardiff to park for up to 3 hours
with no return within 1 hour.
Blue badges must be clearly and properly displayed whilst the vehicle is parked. The blue badge must be on
the dashboard or the fascia of the vehicle where all the details can be seen through the windscreen. If you
fail to do so you may receive a PCN. Blue badge exemptions may not apply in car parks, so always check the
signs.
The Council appreciates that a blue badge can be essential to help remove certain barriers for people with
chronic mobility issues that may otherwise impact significantly on their quality of life and all appeals will be
considered with this in mind. However, the blue badge booklet clearly informs the blue badge holder of their
lawful responsibilities. The blue badge does not apply to many parking restrictions where it is dangerous or
obstructive to park. For this reason incorrectly using a blue badge will not normally constitute reasonable
grounds to cancel a PCN. Where parking with a blue badge would otherwise be permitted, the Council will
take into consideration all the facts and will normally issue a discretionary cancellation when it is deemed
appropriate.
If a blue badge is not in the vehicle at all when it should be clearly displayed, it is highly unlikely that the PCN
will be cancelled as it must be displayed to ensure that it is not being misused by someone else. Blue badge
misuse is a serious criminal offence so the Council takes the enforcement of blue badge fraud very seriously.

PAYING THEN APPEALING
If you decide to challenge or make representations against a PCN then once it is received then the case will
be put on hold pending a decision from a PCN Appeals Officer. The penalty will not increase in the meantime.
You should not pay and appeal. If payment is received for a Penalty Charge then the case will be promptly
closed.

PAYMENT PLANS
It is appreciated that financial difficulties can sometimes make it difficult to pay your penalty charge;
however, it must be remembered that it would be better not to incur a PCN in the first place. We will consider
requests for payment plans when you can prove that you are experiencing financial difficulties and when
court action has not already started. This is because payment plans should not be used simply as a way of
managing your illegal parking or traffic activities but are only for those in genuine financial difficulty.
We may not consider a payment plan request if:



You cannot provide proof that are experiencing financial difficulties
You have received an Order for Recovery of Unpaid Penalty Charge

Page 8

Page 617

CONSIDERING APPEALS AGAINST PENALTY
CHARGE NOTICES




You wish to make part payments. The Council will only accept payment for a penalty charge in full
You have already previously been offered a payment plan and you have defaulted
If you have previously been offered a payment plan but have incurred further PCNs

If a previous payment plan has already been set up and you have either defaulted or received more PCNs,
then a request for a payment plan may be denied as it is expected that you should have ensured you did not
receive any further PCNs.
If you receive a Notice of Enforcement or have received a visit from enforcement agents then you must
contact the recovery team. They can be contacted on 029 2087 2087 or you can write to PO Box 9000, Cardiff,
CF10 3ND.

CHARGE CERTIFICATES
When a Charge Certificate (CC) has been sent you no longer have the right to challenge or make
representations against the PCN. This is because you did not respond to any initial documents we sent you
or any challenges or representations you already made were rejected but payment was still not received.
The Charge Certificate will provide you with 14 days to pay an increased penalty. After this time the Council
will start court action. Once court action has started you will be sent court paperwork and one final chance
to pay the increased penalty (plus court costs). Alternatively you may wish to proceed with the court action.
If you attempt to make representations once a Charge Certificate has been sent you will need to provide good
reasons why you made your representations late. This could be, for example, that you were in hospital.
Without good reason it is unlikely that your representations will be considered.

ALLEGED NON-RECEIPT OF DOCUMENTS
The Council ensures that all documents are issued correctly. When a PCN is affixed to the vehicle photographs
will normally be taken by the CEO at the time to show that it was correctly served. If the CEO has shown that
they correctly served the PCN, and there are no other good reasons to cancel the PCN such a strong mitigating
circumstances, the reduced penalty will not normally be reoffered.
If a PCN or NtO has been sent by post the Council will keep records of the date and time when it was sent. It
is then presumed served 2 working days after the date of issue unless proven otherwise. This means that,
without you proving that it was not received, we will not normally reoffer the discount unless legally obliged
to.

HOW LONG WILL IT TAKE ME TO RECEIVE AN ANSWER TO MY CHALLENGE OR
REPRESENTATION?
We will try to respond to your informal challenge or formal representations within 21 days from the date of
its receipt. However, for a variety of reasons this may not be possible but we will always try to respond to
your challenge or representations within 56 days.

Page 9

Page 618

CONSIDERING APPEALS AGAINST PENALTY
CHARGE NOTICES
If we receive your informal challenge within the permitted timeframes (please see “Making an Informal
Challenge” below) and we do not answer your informal challenge within 6 months from the date of the
contravention, we will cancel the PCN.
Where formal representations have been made legislation dictates9 that we have to serve an answer within
56 days from the date of receipt of the representations. If we do not provide an answer in this timeframe, or
if our answer is after this 56 day period, then we will cancel the PCN.

9

The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Representations and Appeals) (Wales) Regulations 2013

Page 10

Page 619

MAKING AN INFORMAL CHALLENGE
Making an Informal Challenge
Unless the Penalty Charge Notice (PCN) was sent to you by post, you are permitted to initially challenge the
issuing of the PCN by making an informal challenge. The Council provides 28 days beginning with the date
of service of the PCN to make an informal challenge. The date of service will be shown on the PCN.

HOW DO I CHALLENGE A PCN?
Unlike formal representations, there are no specific grounds that you must make an informal challenge.
However, like representations, if any of the following grounds are met then the Council will cancel the PCN:






The contravention did not occur
There has been a procedural impropriety by the Council
The Traffic Regulation Order under which the PCN was issued is invalid
The PCN has already been paid in full and you have provided evidence to confirm this
The penalty exceeds the amount set by legislation

If any of the above grounds have not been then the Council will cancel the PCN only if strong mitigating
circumstances are put forward; for example there was a legitimate emergency that you have provided proof
to confirm was happening at the time of the contravention. Informal challenges to the Council must either
be made online or made by post. The Council WILL NOT consider informal challenges over the phone or in
person. DO NOT PAY if you intend to make an informal challenge as if you do the case will be promptly closed.
You can easily challenge a PCN online at www.cardiff.gov.uk. Otherwise you can challenge you PCN by writing
to the PCN Appeals Team, PO Box 47, Cardiff, CF11 1QB.

PROCESS FOR MAKING AN INFORMAL CHALLENGE AGAINST A PCN SERVED BY A CEO

WHO CAN CHALLENGE A PARKING PCN?
Unlike formal representations anyone can challenge the issuing of a PCN that has been attached to your
vehicle or handed to you as the driver or person appearing to be in charge of the vehicle.

Page 11

Page 620

MAKING AN INFORMAL CHALLENGE
WHEN YOU CANNOT CHALLENGE A PARKING PCN
We may not consider any challenges made to the Council if you have:





Received a Notice to Owner. You must then make formal representations.
Received a Charge Certificate
Received an Order for Recovery of Unpaid Penalty Charge
Recovery agents have been instructed by warrant to recover the debt

REOFFERING THE DISCOUNT
When a parking PCN is affixed to your vehicle or handed to the driver, it provides 14 days from its service to
pay a 50% reduced penalty. If you decide to challenge the PCN and your challenge is received by the Council
within this 14 day period, we will reoffer the discount amount for a further 14 days should your challenge
be rejected.
If your challenge is received by us after the 14 day period we will not normally reoffer the discount amount.
It is your responsibility to ensure your challenge is received within the correct timeframes. If challenging by
post please allow 2 working days for 1st class or 5 working days for 2nd class.

NOTICE TO OWNERS
If your informal challenge is rejected and we decide not to cancel the PCN, there will be two options:
1) Pay the penalty charge. If your challenge was received by us within the initial reduced penalty
period we will reoffer you the opportunity to pay the reduced penalty amount again for a further 14
day. Please see above.
2) Await the service of the Notice to Owner.
If the penalty is still not paid within a further 28 days then the Council will contact the DVLA for the
registered keeper/owners details. This is because it is the registered keeper/owner who then becomes liable
for payment of the penalty, even if they were not driving at the time. Once a Notice to Owner has been served
you will not be entitled to pay the reduced penalty amount.
When these details are returned the Council will then send them a legal document called a Notice to Owner.
This then starts the formal representations process which is set by the Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic
Contraventions (Representations and appeals) (Wales) Regulations 2013.

Page 12

Page 621

MAKING FORMAL REPRESENTATIONS
Making Formal Representations
If you have received a Notice to Owner or a Penalty Charge Notice through the post then you have the right
to make formal representations within 28 days from the date of service of that NtO or PCN. The date of
service will be 2 working days after the date of posting unless proven otherwise10.

WHO CAN MAKE FORMAL REPRESENTATIONS?
Unlike an informal challenge only the person who the NtO or postal PCN was sent to can make formal
representations. However, the Council will consider representations made on behalf of the recipient but only
with their authorisation. Representations in these circumstances will not be considered without
authorisation.
If formal representations are made on behalf of the recipient of the NtO or PCN and they are rejected then
the person who made the representations will receive the response11. As the person named on the NtO or
PCN remains liable it is essential that you make them aware of the decision so that they are aware of their
legal rights and what enforcement action may be taken against them. As ultimately enforcement agents may
be engaged to seize their possession it is very important that you take steps to inform them of the decision.

WHEN YOU CANNOT MAKE FORMAL REPRESENTATIONS
We may not consider any representations made to the Council if you have:




Received a Charge Certificate
Received an Order for Recovery of Unpaid Penalty Charge
Recovery agents have been instructed by warrant to recover the debt

PROCESS FOR MAKING FORMAL REPRESENTATIONS AGAINST A NOTICE TO OWNER OR PCN
SERVED BY POST

10

Regulation 3 the Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (General Provisions) (Wales) Regulations 2013

11

The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions: Parking, Bus Lane and Moving Traffic Enforcement Operational Guidance to
Local Authorities December 2014

Page 13

Page 622

MAKING FORMAL REPRESENTATIONS

THE COUNCIL DECISION
We will try to respond to your representations within 14 days from the date of its receipt. However, for a
variety of reasons this may not be possible but legislation states we have 56 days12 to respond. If we respond
to you after 56 days we will cancel the PCN.
When you have made representations to the Council and you have shown good reasons to cancel the Penalty
Charge Notice, it will do so and you will be sent a letter explaining why the PCN has been cancelled. You will
then have nothing to pay and we will consider the matter concluded.
When you have made representations to the Council, but you have not provided sufficient reasons to cancel
the PCN, then the Council will serve you with a document called a Notice of Rejection of Representations
(Notice of Rejection or NoR). This will be sent to you within 56 days from the date we receive your
representations. On some occasions the Council may extend the deadline for paying the reduced penalty, but
it is normally under no legal obligation to do so (unless the contravention is for a moving traffic or bus lane
PCN when the reduced penalty will be reoffered for a further 21 days).
Please note: If formal representations are made on behalf of the recipient of the NtO or PCN and they are
rejected then the person who made the representations will receive the response13. As the person named on
the NtO or PCN remains liable it is essential that you make them aware of the decision so that they are aware
of their legal rights and what enforcement action may be taken against them. As ultimately enforcement
agents may be engaged to seize their possession it is very important that you take steps to inform them of
the decision.

12

The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Representations and Appeals) (Wales) Regulations 2013

13

The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions: Parking, Bus Lane and Moving Traffic Enforcement Operational Guidance to
Local Authorities December 2014

Page 14

Page 623

MAKING FORMAL REPRESENTATIONS
THE TRAFFIC PENALTY TRIBUNAL
If you receive a Notice of Rejection of Representations you will
be provided with the opportunity to appeal to the independent
adjudicator. Please note that if you appeal to the adjudicator
you will no longer be entitled to pay the reduced penalty if they
find you liable, even if you had been offered the opportunity
again in the NoR.
The independent adjudicators work for the Traffic Penalty
Tribunal which is separate from the Council. They are a legal body set up specifically to decide if someone
should pay the penalty for parking, traffic or bus lane PCNs cases. While they do have the powers to award
costs in certain circumstances, it is very rare that this happens.
You can appeal to the adjudicator on the following grounds.









The penalty exceeded the amount set by law
The contravention did not occur
The relevant Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) was invalid
There has been a procedural impropriety by the Council (e.g. the Council did not follow correct legal
procedures)
You did not own the vehicle
The vehicle was taken without the owner’s consent (e.g. it was stolen)
You are a vehicle hire firm and in the particular circumstances you are not liable for the PCN
The penalty has already been paid

Adjudicators have no powers to quash a PCN based on mitigating circumstances or compelling
reasons alone.
They are granted their powers under the Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Representations
and Appeals) (Wales) Regulations 2013 and their decision is usually final. However, if you believe there has
been an error of law in their decision you can appeal their decision to the High Court .

WHAT HAPPENS AFTER AN ADJUDICATOR HAS MADE A DECISION
If the adjudicator has found in your favour the case has been “allowed” and you have nothing to pay. The
Council is bound by that decision and must close the case and immediately stop any enforcement action that
may have commenced. The matter is then concluded.
If the adjudicator has found in the Council’s favour then the case has been “dismissed” and you are required
to pay the penalty as directed. If you fail to pay the penalty then the Council will issue a Charge Certificate
increasing the amount due by a further 50% and if the increased amount is not paid within 14 days a number
of options will be open to the Council. If you do nothing your possessions may be seized and sold to cover
what is owed, we may have the debt attached to your earnings, which means your employer will be forced
to deduct the debt from your wages, or apply for a Third Party Debt Order, which means your bank account
may be frozen until the debt is paid. Not paying the penalty can lead to serious financial difficulties.

Page 15

Page 624

APPENDIX 1. COMMON SCENARIOS FOR PARKING
CHALLENGES AND REPRESENTATIONS
Appendix 1. Common Scenarios for Parking Challenges and
Representations
The circumstances surrounding a particular PCN are unique and therefore each PCN will be considered on
its own merits. The following is therefore only for informational purposes to provide an indication of
whether we may cancel your PCN. You may still be made to pay the penalty even if the below indicates it is
likely the PCN will be cancelled.
Scenario

I was not the driver at the time of
the parking contravention

I was feeling unwell

Likely the PCN
will be
cancelled
No

Reason (if applicable)

Legislation makes the owner liable for the penalty
charge not the driver. If the vehicle was on hire
then the hirer becomes liable.

No

If you are so unwell you feel you would have to
breach a parking restriction you will need to
provide evidence of a genuine medical emergency
before the Council will consider cancelling the PCN

Yes

If suitable proof is provided

This was my first PCN

No

You are required to abide by parking rules at all
times.

I was loading / unloading when I
was permitted to do so (for
example on yellow lines where
yellow kerb ticks are not in force)

No

Civil Enforcement Officers observe any vehicle
where there is an exemption for loading /
unloading to see if these activities were taking
place. They would not issue a PCN if they observed
loading / unloading then the PCN will not normally
be cancelled. The PCN may be cancelled however if
you can provide proof to the Council.

Yes (if suitable
proof is
provided

I was late returning to my car as
my meeting overran

No

It is the responsibility of the motorist to make sure
that they obtain enough parking time to cover any
eventualities.

I placed my pay and display ticket
upside down or it blew off the
dashboard when closing the door,
but I had paid for the correct
amount of time

No

If there is a requirement to display a valid pay and
display ticket then it is the responsibility of the
person placing it in the car to check through the
windscreen of their vehicle that their ticket is
clearly visible

Page 16

Page 625

APPENDIX 1. COMMON SCENARIOS FOR PARKING
CHALLENGES AND REPRESENTATIONS
When obtaining a ticket or
cashless stay I entered the wrong
vehicle registration

No

The full correct registration mark must be entered
to stop potential abuse of pay and stay parking
places and car parks

The pay and display machine was
not accepting change or was not
accepting card, or MiPermit was
not working properly

No

There are many methods available in Cardiff to
obtain parking time, including cashless parking
where you can pay by text, app or by phone. On all
pay and display machines where there will be
instructions on alternative methods of payment.
Just because a particular method of payment is not
working that does not mean you do not have to
obtain parking time by alternative means.

The Council did not follow correct
procedures when issuing or
enforcing the PCN

Yes

The Council is under a legal obligation to follow
correct procedures. If it does not the PCN is invalid.

I did not notice or understand the
parking signs or road markings

No

It is the responsibility of the motorist to be fully
aware of the rules of the Highway Code and all
drivers are obliged to understand and act upon all
parking signs and road markings to ensure that
they are adhered to.

The parking signs or
markings were in Welsh

No

The Council is under a legal obligation to provide
bilingual signs and road markings. The Welsh will
always be followed by the English this does not
provide an exemption.

I was parking in accordance with
an exemption, for example I was
loading/unloading goods where I
was permitted to do so

Yes (if suitable
proof is
provided)

If you have a valid reason to be parked in the place
where the contravention was observed then the
PCN will be cancelled. However, Civil Enforcement
Officers often observe vehicles for a period of time
to ensure that a permitted activity is not being
carried out. If the evidence provided by the Officer
is sufficient to rebut any claims of an exemption
then the PCN will not be cancelled.

I cannot afford to pay the penalty

No

As the penalty should not have been incurred in the
first place this does not provide good grounds to
cancel the PCN. However, if proved, certain
financial circumstances may lead to the Council
providing a payment plan. However, this is purely
discretional. If you have already requested a
payment plan in the past, but defaulted, then it is
highly unlikely that another payment plan will be
allowed.

road

Page 17

Page 626

APPENDIX 1. COMMON SCENARIOS FOR PARKING
CHALLENGES AND REPRESENTATIONS
I returned to my car but there was
no PCN on my windscreen

No

Civil Enforcement Officers make notes to confirm
that the PCN was served correctly and, if attached
to the windscreen, often take photographs to prove
this. For this reason, if it is claimed that a PCN was
not received and we can prove that it was correctly
served, the PCN will not usually be cancelled or the
reduced penalty reoffered. If a PCN is removed by a
third party then this does not cancel any liability
for payment.

You have breached the bill of
rights

No

This argument has been put before the High Court
and has been described as “completely hopeless”.

I did not agree to a contract with
you therefore you were not
entitled to issue the PCN

No

This is not a contractual matter but a matter set in
statutory legislation. Therefore the Council does
not need to enter into a contract with you to
enforce the PCN

I parked on yellow lines with my
blue badge but my time clock was
not displayed, or not set correctly

No

The blue badge booklet states that a time clock
must be clearly and correctly displayed for the
yellow line exemption to apply.
Yellow lines are there for safety and traffic
management and without correctly displaying a
valid time clock a parking enforcement officer has
no way of determining if the vehicle has been
parked beyond the permitted time.

I have a resident parking permit
but forgot to display it in my
vehicle or displayed it incorrectly

No

If there is a requirement to display a permit then it
is the responsibility of the person placing it in the
car to check through the windscreen of their
vehicle that their permit is clearly visible. All
permit holders are informed of this when they
apply for their permit.

My vehicle was being driven
without my consent

Yes (if proof is
provided)

I parked where I did (for example
on yellow lines) because there
was nowhere else to park
I have been fined for parking next
to a dropped kerb, but there were

No

If you can prove that your vehicle had been taken
without your consent (e.g. stolen) then the PCN will
be cancelled. However, you will need to provide a
valid crime reference number and any other
evidence to show that this was the case.
You must park correctly at all times and if your
preferred parking place is unavailable you must
find a lawful alternative
A vehicle is not permitted to park adjacent to a
kerb that has been lowered to aid pedestrians or
wheelchair users , or where they have been

No

Page 18

Page 627

APPENDIX 1. COMMON SCENARIOS FOR PARKING
CHALLENGES AND REPRESENTATIONS
no lines or signs to say I could not
park there?

I had to stop to use the toilet

The vehicle had broken down

lowered to allow vehicles to cross the footway.
Motorists are informed of this in the Highway Code
so there is no legal requirement for regulatory
signs or lines to accompany a dropped kerb.
No
Yes (if suitable
proof is
provided
Yes (if suitable
proof is
provided

The PCN will not usually be cancelled but may be if
suitable evidence is provided that confirms a
medical emergency of that nature at the time of the
contravention
If the vehicle had broken down then the PCN will
be cancelled if suitable evidence has been
provided. Suitable evidence of a breakdown
should not be hard to come by so without suitable
evidence the PCN will not normally be cancelled.

My parking did not inconvenience
anyone or cause an obstruction

No

It is the responsibility of the motorist to park
correctly at all times, regardless of if they believe
that it may not be a nuisance to others

The colour or make of my vehicle
is incorrect on the PCN

No

It is not a legal requirement for the make or the
colour to be correct on the PCN. Provided that the
Vehicle Registration Mark is correct and that this
is corroborated by the photographs taken by the
CEO then the PCN will not normally be cancelled. If
there are no photographs and there is a dispute
over the make of the vehicle the Council may
cancel the PCN.

Page 19

Page 628

APPENDIX 2. COMMON SCENARIOS FOR BUS LANE
AND MOVING TRAFFIC REPRESENTATIONS
Appendix 2. Common Scenarios for Bus Lane and Moving Traffic
Representations
The circumstances surrounding a particular PCN are unique and therefore each PCN will be considered on
its own merits. The following is therefore only for informational purposes to provide an indication of
whether we may cancel your PCN. You may still be made to pay the penalty even if the below indicates it is
likely the PCN will be cancelled.
Scenario
I was not the driver at the time

Likely the PCN
will be cancelled
No

Reason (if applicable)
Legislation makes the owner liable for the
penalty charge not the drive. If the vehicle
was on hire then the hirer becomes liable.

I was following my Sat Nav

No

Sat-Navs are advisory guides and it is still the
responsibility of the driver to pay sufficient
attention to the road ahead to comply with
any traffic restrictions.

I had only just passed my driving
test

No

Any motorist driving on the road is expected
to be aware of the meanings of all traffic
restrictions regardless of the length of time
that they have been driving for

I was feeling unwell

No

If you are feeling unwell it is still down to you
to drive correctly. If you are so unwell you feel
you would have to breach a traffic restriction
you should instead pull over immediately and
call the emergency services.

This was my first PCN

No

I was pulling into the bus lane to
allow an emergency service vehicle
on call to pass

Yes

If your vehicle is observed pulling over
immediately in this fashion then the PCN may
be cancelled.
You are required to abide by the rules of the
road at all times.
The Council will not enforce any PCN where it
is clear the bus lane was used to allow an
emergency service vehicle on call to pass as it
is essential these vehicles can reach their
destination as quickly as possible.

Page 20

Page 629

APPENDIX 2. COMMON SCENARIOS FOR BUS LANE
AND MOVING TRAFFIC REPRESENTATIONS
The Council did not follow correct
procedures when issuing or
enforcing the PCN

No

The Council ensures it follows the correct
procedure at all times.

Yes (if proved)
However, the Council is under a legal
obligation to follow correct procedures. If on
a particular occasion it does not then PCN is
invalid and will be cancelled.

I did not notice or understand the
signs or road markings

No

It is the responsibility of the motorist to be
fully aware of the rules of the Highway Code
and, during the course of their journey, all
drivers are obliged to understand and act
upon all traffic signs and road markings to
ensure that they are adhered to.

The traffic signs or road markings
were in Welsh

No

The Council is under a legal obligation to
provide bilingual signs and road markings. As
the Welsh will always be followed by the
English this does not provide an exemption.

I entered the box junction when
traffic was flowing smoothly but it
then came to a sudden stop. This
was not my fault.

No

You are entitled to enter a box junction when
traffic is flowing but you run the risk of a
contravention if it then comes to a halt. The
best way to ensure you do not stop in a box
junction illegally is to follow the advice in rule
174 of the Highway Code.

I entered the bus lane as I was
turning left at the next junction

No

Drivers intending to turn left should stay in the
unrestricted lane until there is a full break, or
broken white line in the bus lane markings, at
which point they are permitted to cross the bus
lane in order to turn left. Otherwise they must
wait for the directional arrow and signs showing
the end of the bus lane before they can
manoeuvre to turn left.

I was in the bus lane for less than 20
meters. Drivers are permitted to
use bus lanes for less than 20
meters!

No

This is a common “ticketfighter” myth. There
is no 20 meter rule and the legal position is
that there is no minimum distance that a
vehicle has to travel before it can be
considered in breach of the governing Traffic
Regulation Order. Any case where the
distance travelled is disputed or questioned
will turn on its own merits and particular
facts.

Page 21

Page 630

APPENDIX 2. COMMON SCENARIOS FOR BUS LANE
AND MOVING TRAFFIC REPRESENTATIONS
I was an emergency service worker
but not on call

No

Unless a valid exemption has been provided
by the Council, or included in the relevant
Traffic Regulation Order, unless you are on
call or are required by law to breach the traffic
restriction you are not permitted to ignore
traffic restrictions – such as stopping in box
junctions.

There were no signs advising of
traffic enforcement, so how was I to
know I would receive a PCN?

No

There are traffic enforcement signs situated at
many locations around Cardiff, however they
are not a legal requirement and you must not
breach traffic regulations simply because you
think you will not be fined. The Police may
also still fine you at any location, even where
Council enforcement is not taking place.

I was driving in accordance with an
exemption/my
vehicle
was
permitted to make the otherwise
banned turn or be in a bus lane

Yes

If you have a valid reason to ignore the
restriction, for example to be in a bus lane for
the purposes of loading or unloading when a
loading ban is not in force, a PCN will not
usually be issued. If it is, then it will be up to
you to prove that you were carrying out a
permitted activity upon appeal

I was not the owner or hirer of the
vehicle at the time of the alleged
contravention

Yes

Welsh regulations state that the owner of the
vehicle is liable for the PCN, unless the vehicle
was on hire when it is the hirer that becomes
responsible. However, if you were not the
owner of the vehicle you will be required to
prove that you were not.

Yes (if proof is
provided)

If you can prove that your vehicle had been
taken without your consent (e.g. stolen) then
the PCN will be cancelled. However, you will
need to provide a valid crime reference
number and any other evidence to show that
this was the case.
As the penalty should not have been incurred
in the first place this does not provide good
grounds to cancel the PCN. However, if
proved, certain financial circumstances may
lead to the Council providing a payment plan.
However, this is purely discretional.

My vehicle was being
without my consent

driven

I cannot afford to pay the penalty

No

If you have already requested a payment plan
in the past, but defaulted, then it is highly

Page 22

Page 631

APPENDIX 2. COMMON SCENARIOS FOR BUS LANE
AND MOVING TRAFFIC REPRESENTATIONS
unlikely that another payment plan will be
allowed.
I did not receive the PCN

No

Yes (if suitable
proof is provided)

The Council keeps postal records of all PCNs
sent. If we have followed our correct
procedures the law the states that the PCN is
deemed served unless you are able to prove
otherwise.
If you are able to prove otherwise then this
proof must be provided as evidence to the
Council.

You have breached the bill of rights

No

This argument has been put before the High
Court and has been described as “completely
hopeless”.

I did not agree to a contract with
you therefore you were not entitled
to issue the PCN

No

This is not a contractual matter but a matter
set in statutory legislation. Therefore the
Council does not need to enter into a contract
with you to enforce the PCN

The make of my vehicle is incorrect
on the PCN

Yes

It is not a legal requirement for the make or
the colour to be correct on the PCN; however,
with a moving traffic or bus lane PCN if the
make is incorrect and is proven to be
incorrect then the PCN may be cancelled.

Page 23

Page 632

DEFINITIONS
Definitions
DESCRIPTION

DEFNITION

Approved device

A camera that has been approved by the Welsh
Ministers for use in the detection of parking, bus
lane and/or moving traffic contraventions
Charge Certificate
Civil Enforcement Officer
The informal challenge against the issuing of a
Penalty Charge Notice issued by a Civil
Enforcement Officer
either £25 or £35 depending on the type of
contravention
either £50 or £70 depending on the type of
contravention
either £75 or £105 depending on the type of
contravention
the contractor we use for the issuing of cashless
parking stays or virtual permits/waivers
Notice to Owner
a document sent by TEC to inform the recipient
that the increased penalty amount has been
registered as a debt with Northampton County
Court
Penalty Charge Notice
the formal challenge against a Notice to Owner or
postal Penalty Charge Notice
Traffic Enforcement Centre at Northampton
County Court that authorises Order for Recoveries
and Warrants
a document sent with a TE3 providing the
recipient the chance to appeal to the court against
the issuing of the TE3

CC
CEO
Challenge

Discount penalty amount
Full penalty amount
Increased penalty amount
MiPermit
NtO
Order for Recovery (TE3)

PCN
Representations
TEC

Witness Statement (TE9)

Page 24

Page 633

This page is intentionally left blank

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Appendix B
PARKING ENFORCEMENT AND MOVING TRAFFIC OFFENCES - CHALLENGES,
REPRESENTATIONS AND APPEALS POLICY
New Policy and Guidance
Who is responsible for developing and implementing the
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function?
Name: Matthew Wakelam
Job Title: Assistant Director – Street Scene
Service Team: Street Scene
Service Area: Planning, Transport &
Environment
Assessment Date: 28th February 2019
1.

What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/
Service/Function?

To introduce a new policy for challenges, representations and appeals policy associated
with Civil Parking enforcement and Moving Traffic Offences.
The policy will ensure Cardiff Council processes for pursuing outstanding penalties are
efficient, effective and easy to understand.
The policy sets out Cardiff Council’s consideration of challenges, representations and
appeals against the issuing of Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) as well as determining
enforcement processes to be followed to ensure consistency and adherence to current
legislation.
The Council is under a legal duty never to fetter its discretion so this policy is only
guidance and all considerations of challenges, representations and enforcement
measures in general will be considered on their own merits, provided legislation is
observed to at all times.
2.

Please
provide
background
information
on
the
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done
etc.]

The 2013 Regulations enable the Council to assume responsibility for enforcement of
bus lane and some moving traffic offences (MTOs), pursuant to Part 6 of the Traffic
Management Act 2004. The Traffic Management Act 2004 indicates the range of road
signs which will be enforceable under this new legislation. These include enforcement
of:
 Directed and prohibited movement
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 635

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 1

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template




Pedestrian precincts
Bus and Cycle provisions and
Yellow Box Junctions

These powers particularly assist:
 Enforcement of Bus Lanes - preventing the blocking of bus lanes, especially at
the approach to traffic signals.
 Enforcement of Yellow Box Junctions - reducing illegal queuing across the
boxes, particularly during peak hours, preventing congestion and delay to all
vehicles.
 Enforcement of turning movement bans - enhancing public safety, by
preventing conflict with pedestrian crossing movements, and by reducing the
use of weak bridges by lorries ignoring weight restrictions.
Penalty Charge Notices can be appealed within 28 days of the date the ticket was
issued and can be challenged for the following reasons:
 The alleged parking offence did not happen
 The vehicle was never owned by the appellant; had stopped being the owner of
the vehicle before the alleged parking offence; or that they became the owner
of the vehicle after the date of the alleged parking offence
 The vehicle was parked by someone else without the permission of the owner
(e.g. if it was stolen)
 The vehicle was being driven by someone else under a hire arrangement (this is
for use by car hire companies only)
 The penalty exceeded the amount applicable for the offence type quoted
 The Council has not followed the correct procedure
 The parking limit where the alleged parking offence took place was not valid
Cardiff Council also considers other mitigating circumstances on a case by case basis.
The current legislation for dog fouling, The Dog (Fouling of Land) Act 1996, are
currently not supported via Magistrates Courts and will eventually be completely
repealed due to there being more up to date legislation that the Council should be
utilising, specifically the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 636

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 2

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
3

Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics

3.1
Age
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people?
Yes




Up to 18 years
18 - 65 years
Over 65 years

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The policy is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Age. All age groups will benefit from having policy and guidance
relating to challenges, representations and appeals of parking and moving traffic
offence fines. The policy will ensure Cardiff Council processes for pursuing outstanding
penalties are efficient, effective and easy to understand.
Individuals may have physical limitations relating to their eyesight and the team will
provide large print and easy read versions of correspondence on request. Connect 2
Cardiff is available to discuss any concerns and the service will provide a call back
service for individuals confused by the enforcement notices who are unable to be
assisted by C2C.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Management of large print and easy read format policy and penalty notices, including
clear notification these are available on request.
 Good clear information in the Policy, on the Website and on the penalty notices (Plain
English)
 Training of staff at C2C and in the Appeals team with regards management of
vulnerable individuals.
The Council is under a legal duty never to fetter its discretion so this policy is only
guidance and all considerations of challenges, representations and enforcement
measures in general will be considered on their own merits, provided legislation is
observed to at all times.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 637

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 3

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
3.2
Disability
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?

Hearing Impairment
Physical Impairment
Visual Impairment
Learning Disability
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition
Mental Health
Substance Misuse
Other

Yes









No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The policy is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Disability. All groups will benefit from having policy and guidance
relating to challenges, representations and appeals of parking and moving traffic
offence fines. The policy will ensure Cardiff Council processes for pursuing outstanding
penalties are efficient, effective and easy to understand.
Individuals may have physical limitations relating to their eyesight and the team will
provide large print and easy read versions of correspondence on request. Individuals
may have limitations relating to understanding penalty notices and the policy and
guidance will provide further explanation. Connect 2 Cardiff is available to discuss any
concerns and the service will provide a call back service for individuals confused by the
enforcement notices who are unable to be assisted by C2C.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Management of large print and easy read format policy and penalty notices including
clear notification that these are available on request.
• Good clear information in the Policy, on the Website and on the penalty notices
(Plain English)
 Training of staff at C2C and in the Appeals team with regards management of
vulnerable individuals.
The Council is under a legal duty never to fetter its discretion so this policy is only
guidance and all considerations of challenges, representations and enforcement
measures in general will be considered on their own merits, provided legislation is
observed to at all times.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 638

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 4

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

3.3
Gender Reassignment
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?
Yes
Transgender People
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex)

No


N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The policy is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Gender Reassignment. This group will benefit from having policy and
guidance relating to challenges, representations and appeals of parking and moving
traffic offence fines. The policy will ensure Cardiff Council processes for pursuing
outstanding penalties are efficient, effective and easy to understand.
Consideration is required relating to individuals legally changing their gender as this as
this can be overly bureaucratic and invasive.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Management of large print and easy read format penalty notices and clear
notification these are available on request.
• Good clear information in the Policy, on the Website and on the penalty notices
(Plain English)
• Training of staff at C2C and in the Appeals team with regards management of
vulnerable individuals.
The Council is under a legal duty never to fetter its discretion so this policy is only
guidance and all considerations of challenges, representations and enforcement
measures in general will be considered on their own merits, provided legislation is
observed to at all times.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 639

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 5

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
3.4. Marriage and Civil Partnership
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership?
Yes
Marriage
Civil Partnership

No



N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The policy is not expected to have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Marriage and Civil Partnership.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
The Council is under a legal duty never to fetter its discretion so this policy is only
guidance and all considerations of challenges, representations and enforcement
measures in general will be considered on their own merits, provided legislation is
observed to at all times. .
3.5
Pregnancy and Maternity
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity?
Yes



Pregnancy
Maternity

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The policy is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Pregnancy and Maternity. These groups will benefit from having
policy and guidance relating to challenges, representations and appeals of parking and
moving traffic offence fines. The policy will ensure Cardiff Council processes for
pursuing outstanding penalties are efficient, effective and easy to understand.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Management of large print and easy read format penalty notices and clear
notification these are available on request.
• Good clear information in the Policy, on the Website and on the penalty notices
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 640

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 6

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
(Plain English)
• Training of staff at C2C and in the Appeals team with regards management of
vulnerable individuals.
The Council is under a legal duty never to fetter its discretion so this policy is only
guidance and all considerations of challenges, representations and enforcement
measures in general will be considered on their own merits, provided legislation is
observed to at all times.

3.6
Race
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?

White
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups
Asian / Asian British
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British
Other Ethnic Groups

Yes






No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The policy is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Race. This group will benefit from having policy and guidance
relating to challenges, representations and appeals of parking and moving traffic
offence fines. The policy will ensure Cardiff Council processes for pursuing outstanding
penalties are efficient, effective and easy to understand.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Management of large print and easy read format penalty notices and clear
notification these are available on request.
• Good clear information in the Policy, on the Website and on the penalty notices
(Plain English)
• Training of staff at C2C and in the Appeals team with regards management of
vulnerable individuals.
The Council is under a legal duty never to fetter its discretion so this policy is only
guidance and all considerations of challenges, representations and enforcement
measures in general will be considered on their own merits, provided legislation is
observed to at all times.
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 641

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 7

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

3.7
Religion, Belief or Non-Belief
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?
Yes









Buddhist
Christian
Hindu
Humanist
Jewish
Muslim
Sikh
Other

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The policy is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Religion, Belief, Non-Belief. These groups will benefit from having
policy and guidance relating to challenges, representations and appeals of parking and
moving traffic offence fines. The policy will ensure Cardiff Council processes for
pursuing outstanding penalties are efficient, effective and easy to understand.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Management of large print and easy read format penalty notices and clear
notification these are available on request.
• Good clear information in the Policy, on the Website and on the penalty notices
(Plain English)
• Training of staff at C2C and in the Appeals team with regards management of
vulnerable individuals.
The Council is under a legal duty never to fetter its discretion so this policy is only
guidance and all considerations of challenges, representations and enforcement
measures in general will be considered on their own merits, provided legislation is
observed to at all times.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 642

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 8

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

3.8
Sex
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women?
Yes
Men
Women

No



N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The policy is not expected to have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Sex.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
The Council is under a legal duty never to fetter its discretion so this policy is only
guidance and all considerations of challenges, representations and enforcement
measures in general will be considered on their own merits, provided legislation is
observed to at all times.
3.9
Sexual Orientation
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?
Yes
Bisexual
Gay Men
Gay Women/Lesbians
Heterosexual/Straight

No





N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The policy is not expected to have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Sexual Orientation.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 643

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 9

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
The Council is under a legal duty never to fetter its discretion so this policy is only
guidance and all considerations of challenges, representations and enforcement
measures in general will be considered on their own merits, provided legislation is
observed to at all times.

3.10 Welsh Language
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language?
Yes


Welsh Language

No

N/A

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.
The policy is expected have a positive differential impact on all Protected
Characteristics of Welsh Language. These groups will benefit from having policy and
guidance relating to challenges, representations and appeals of parking and moving
traffic offence fines. The policy will ensure Cardiff Council processes for pursuing
outstanding penalties are efficient, effective and easy to understand.
The policy is a public document and will be available in Welsh and English.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Any media to be bilingual.
 Support Welsh Language training and look at improving the number of bilingual
Officers in C2C and the Appeals Team.

4.
Consultation and Engagement
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities
Groups?
Engagement and communication of the new policy and guidance will take place
following Cabinet Approval to introduce the new Policy / guidance.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 644

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 10

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

5.

Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above]

Groups
Age
Disability
Gender Reassignment
Marriage & Civil
Partnership
Pregnancy & Maternity
Race
Religion/Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation
Welsh Language
Generic Over-Arching
[applicable to all the
above groups]

Actions

 Welsh media
 Welsh language training for Enforcement Officers.
Further (generic) consideration needs to be given to:• Management of large print and easy read format penalty
notices and clear notification these are available on request.
• Good clear information in the Policy, on the Website and
on the penalty notices (Plain English)
• Training of staff at C2C and in the Appeals team with
regards management of vulnerable individuals.

6.
Further Action
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.
7.
Authorisation
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each
Service Area.
Completed By : Matthew Wakelam
Designation: Assistant Director – Street Scene
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 645

Date:

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 11

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Approved By:
Designation:
Service Area: Planning Transport & Environment
7.1

On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on
your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken
in the Council.

For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029
2087 2536 / 3262 or email equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 646

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 12

Agenda Item 13
CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2019
IMPROVING PUBLIC TRANSPORT-RESPONSE TO WELSH
GOVERNMENT WHITE PAPER CONSULTATION
STRATEGIC PLANNING
CARO WILD)

AND TRANSPORT

(COUNCILLOR

AGENDA ITEM: 13
Reason for this Report
1.

To agree the Council’s response to the Welsh Government’s White
Paper Consultation, “Improving Public Transport”.

Background
2.

Welsh Government has set out proposals to legislate for reforming the
planning and delivery of local bus services and licencing of taxis and
private hire vehicles. The closing date for responses in 27th March 2019.

3.

The consultation is a welcome opportunity for Cardiff to engage in the
start of a major national conversation about bus transport that will lead to
the development of a high quality integrated system across Wales.

Issues
4.

Having awarded the new Wales and Borders rail franchise, Welsh
Government is turning its attention to bus services and taxi and private
hire vehicle (PHV) licencing.

5.

Welsh Government recognises that local scheduled bus services will
continue to be the foundation of the public transport system, delivering
100 million journeys per annum (more than three times the 30 million rail
journeys per annum). Welsh Government provides a significant but
limited measure of financial support to bus operators in the form of Bus
Service Support Grant (BSSG) and reimbursement for concessionary
fare revenue foregone, and is seeking to influence the provision of
improved bus services more directly.

6.

The White Paper highlights some of the challenges and issues around
the current provision of bus services in Wales including:


De-regulated industry with over 80 bus operators in Wales;

Page 647

Page 1 of 10


















7.

Bus operators choosing to operate urban routes on a commercial
basis supported by mandatory concessionary fare reimbursement
and Bus Services Support Grant;
Local authorities contracting for rural or non-commercial routes
with top-up subsidy in addition to mandatory concessionary fare
reimbursement and Bus Services Support Grant;
Evening and weekend services often needing additional subsidy;
Marginal services switching between commercial and noncommercial over time;
Lack of co-ordination – between routes, ticketing, rail and active
travel networks that can be confusing for passengers;
Unreliable timetables caused by congestion;
Routes need to respond to changing passenger needs – away
from short/ retail based journeys to longer journeys;
Declining passenger numbers;
Variable standards – branding, vehicles, infrastructure;
Bus drivers ageing – potential lack of skilled workforce in future;
Real-time travel information improvements needed;
Skills and knowledge available within local authorities to
effectively discharge their transport functions successfully is
diminishing;
Lack of opportunity to realise economies of scale/purchasing
power;
Improvement of fleet to deliver air quality and decarbonisation
targets;
The nature of road use is evolving and the implications for future
bus use are highly uncertain at present; and
The legislative framework currently governing bus services in
Wales does not provide the flexibility that Welsh Government and
local authorities need to help shape and influence the provision of
bus services.

The long-term vision is to deliver a more effective integrated network of
buses as part of a seamless public transport service that is accessible to
all with a collaborative approach across government and in partnership
with local authorities and the private sector. Reviewing this vision there
exists substantial alignment with the current CCC transport objectives
and this is to be welcomed. The key aims of the Welsh Government as
explained in the White Paper are as follows:





Integrated public transport network that is safe, reliable, punctual,
environmentally sustainable and accessible, and that meets the
needs of the travelling public;
Public transport to operate as one seamless service that is
accessible to all;
Providing older and disabled people and more recently some
veterans, universal access to free bus travel anywhere in Wales
on local scheduled bus services.
Identify how we can better use the current £220 million per year of
Welsh Government support provided each year for bus services
across Wales and at the same time, improve services for

Page 648

Page 2 of 10












passengers (Note: the new Wales and Borders rail franchise has a
commitment to invest approximately £333 million per year over the
next 15 years);
Increase the number of people using public transport by
encouraging travellers to switch to it from private car use, thereby
reducing pollution and congestion;
Encourage access to and from the public transport network by
active travel modes such as walking and cycling;
Focus on buses and taxis now the rail franchise is awarded to
design bus services to meet the specific needs of each locality,
stimulating passenger-demand, connecting more people and
reducing reliance on private cars;
Action to address weaknesses in deregulated bus market-lack of
control over services/networks/fares;
Collaborative approach with local authorities and bus operators to
deliver improved bus services;
Influence the provision of improved bus services more directly;
Ensure taxis and private hire are safer and contribute to a
connected and sustainable society and consistency in standards
across Wales; and
Ensure that all taxis in Wales have a zero carbon footprint within
10 years; and
Improve the legislative framework to give local authorities the tools
and flexibility to tailor their approach and target limited resources
more effectively to meet those local needs and circumstances.

8.

To support this vision, new legislative tools need to be put in place to
provide the opportunity to respond to local needs. It should be noted that
a promised Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) by the Welsh
Government that is intended to inform this process in terms of likely
costs, impacts and benefits of proposed legislative changes had not been
published at the time of writing this report. It is understood that the delay
is due to the complexities of the proposed legislation and that there will
be an opportunity to comment on the draft RIA when it is published.

9.

The consultation document identifies the key methods to achieve the
vision that are briefly summarised below. These include:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Establishing a Joint Transport Authority (JTA)
Enhanced Quality Partnerships (EQP)
Bus Service Franchising
Taxi Licencing

1. Establishing Joint Transport Authorities (JTA)
10.

A JTA would be a legally constituted body using powers under the
Transport (Wales) Act 2006, with minor changes to the existing
provisions through a Bill, which would have local authority powers over
buses, and would include Welsh Government representation. The
functions would be discharged by way of Order(s). Two options are
presented. Either scenario would be likely to involve pooling of some
existing Local Authority staff resources. Such an arrangement could

Page 649

Page 3 of 10

enable bus services to be more integrated over a wider area and make
integrated ticketing easier to implement. Although integrated ticketing
features prominently in Transport for Wales’ (TfW) remit, it is largely
absent from this consultation. The JTA options given in the White paper
are as follows:
Option 1: A single JTA for the whole of Wales with regional delivery
boards (ie committees of the national JTA).

The JTA would be

responsible for discharging all functions specified in the Establishing
Order, and would be enabled/required to make arrangements for the
discharge of certain functions, such as regional or locally specific
functions, by committees of the authority (i.e. regional delivery boards):
or
Option 2: A national JTA that would be required to discharge specified
national/strategic functions, and three separate regional JTAs that would
be required to discharge specified regional/implementation functions (i.e.
4 JTAs in total).

11.

The White Paper proposes options 1 and 2 to reflect the Welsh Ministers’
substantial commitment to the delivery of bus services in Wales, both in
terms of annual spend and their ambition to secure the delivery of an
integrated public transport system across Wales. It is also proposed that
the Welsh Ministers be provided with powers to issue guidance and
directions to JTAs in relation to the exercise of the functions in the
Order(s) and intervene should a JTA fail to discharge its functions
effectively.

12.

It is unclear whether a JTA would have highway authority powers to
enable them to provide public transport infrastructure on the highway, or
whether local authorities in a JTA would lose their public transport
powers. JTAs would be established by secondary legislation that
requires a dedicated formal consultation that may be issued in autumn
2019.
2. Enhanced Quality Partnerships (EQP)

13.

Local authorities in Wales can establish voluntary and statutory Quality
Partnership Schemes QPSs. The statutory schemes are provided for
within the Transport Act 2000.

14.

They are a formal voluntary or statutory agreement between a local
authority and one or more bus operators where the local authority
provides infrastructure and facilities and operators agree to provide
services of a particular standard. The limiting factor for local authorities

Page 650

Page 4 of 10

is funding and organisational capacity to provide the infrastructure and
facilities. They have been effective in Nottingham, Birmingham and
Liverpool as they are well supported financially.
15.

A local authority seeking to make a Statutory QPS must follow the
consultation process set out in the 2000 Act, and compliance with the
quality standards in a statutory scheme is enforced through the bus
registration system, which is overseen by the Traffic Commissioner who
has powers to impose financial penalties and restrictions on an
operator’s licence.

16.

Building on existing Quality Partnership legislation EQPs would be
agreements between local authorities and bus companies on routes,
frequencies, timing, ticketing, emission standards and quality of vehicles.
The latter category would be particularly useful in addressing urban air
quality concerns.

17.

Traffic Commissioners would have powers to refuse or revoke
registrations of non-compliant operators. This power could be important
for managing city centre clean air zones if required in the future.

18.

There would be no requirement for local authorities to provide improved
infrastructure. Therefore, there would be little incentive for operators to
enter into an EQP.
3. Bus Service Franchising

19.

It is the intention of the Welsh Government that local authorities should
determine the most appropriate model for delivering bus services in their
area. This is likely to depend on the nature of the bus market in the area,
the priorities for the authority and their approach to the management of
risk. The Welsh Government believes that a viable form of franchising
should be one of the delivery options available. Therefore, the Welsh
Government will consider a Bill to introduce an improved franchising
option, which is suitable for Welsh circumstances.

20.

Services would be designed and specified by local authorities (or JTAs)
to meet local needs and allocated to operators, presumably by some
tender mechanism. Other operators would not be permitted to operate
these routes. However, it is proposed that legislation would allow a
franchising authority to issue permits to allow commercial services to
operate in a franchised area. It is anticipated that these are most likely to
be issued in connection with bus services that need to enter a franchising
area but which are not ‘local services’ and which do not form part of any
franchise contract, for example cross-boundary routes.

21.

It is unclear whether this power would apply to non-commercial routes or
extend to routes currently operating on a commercial basis, such as is
overwhelmingly the case in Cardiff. It will be for the franchising authority
to determine how they contract for the franchised services bearing in
mind the funding available to them, and their objectives.

Page 651

Page 5 of 10

22.

Other Bus Proposals
 Local authorities could operate bus services.
 Local authorities could set up new, arm’s length bus companies
(cf Cardiff Bus, Newport Transport).
 Concessionary pass eligibility to be linked to women’s
pensionable age to maintain gender equality of entitlement.
 Bus companies to be required to provide information on services
and fares.
4. Taxi Licencing

23.

National standards for taxi and PHV vehicles and licencing Local
authorities to be able to enforce against any licenced driver operating in
its area, not just those that it has licenced. Possible National Licencing
Authority, possibly the All Wales JTA referred to above.

Summary of Proposed Response
24.

The full response is attached to this report as Appendix A.

Joint Transport Authorities Summary of Response
25.

The council agrees that local authorities should work together where
necessary to improve local bus services. The current legal regime
results in fragmented, uncoordinated services with little integrated
ticketing. The principal of establishing a JTA structure is supported.

26.

Assessing all the information Cardiff Council proposes to support the JTA
model presented in Option 1.
Advantages of Option 1: National JTA/Regional Delivery Bodies

27.

There are clear benefits of Option 1 being supported.
i. There is potential for better-integrated multi-modal public
transport. A national JTA structure with responsibility for
standardised and improved bus quality standards for
infrastructure, services, vehicles, branding, ticketing and
partnership working to be introduced and consistently
applied across Wales. Working in partnership in this way
would improve the consistency of offer for users
ii. It would allow economies of scale and planning that are
essential to maximise wider benefits, network integration
and cost effectiveness.
iii. This approach could potentially link better with Metro/TfW
proposals to provide an integrated multi-modal public
transport offer across Wales including Cardiff – the key
delivery agency
iv. It would allow more national integration/planning – reduces
fragmentation
v. Supports Great Western City - major Welsh conurbation
integration

Page 652

Page 6 of 10

vi. It would also be an opportunity to rationalise standing
orders, supplier frameworks, administrative efficiencies and
economies of scale to achieve better value from the funding
available.
vii. A national JTA structure also provides the opportunity for a
centralised regime for taxi and PHV licencing.
Option 2: A regional JTA for south east Wales is not supported for the
reasons given below:
i)

There is risk that it could merely create an extra level of
administration and business support needing a higher level
of scrutiny to ensure local democratic accountability leading
to duplication of effort at National, Regional and Local
levels .
ii) Without knowledge of the governance structure of a
regional JTA, it is not possible to know whether Cardiff
could obtain the level of funding proportionate to its position
as the main engine of growth in the region under this
model.
It is estimated that Cardiff provides for at
approximately 20% of the bus passengers in Wales and
just under 40% of the bus passengers in the Cardiff City
Region (estimated from the Department for Transport,
National Trip End Model). Almost all of the bus services in
Cardiff are commercial.
iii) The objectives of the current informal Regional Transport
Authority, which has been suggested as the basis for a
JTA, do not currently have Cardiff Council endorsement.
For this reason, it would not be appropriate for the JTA to
be based on this model.
28.

The full extent of JTA powers or their governance structure is not detailed
in the consultation document and the Regulatory Impact Assessment has
not yet been published. It is therefore not clear which or whether local
authority powers on buses would be taken by JTAs or retained with JTAs
also having powers. We await to receive this important information in due
course.

Enhanced Quality Partnerships Summary of Response
29.

The proposal to give the Traffic Commissioner powers to revoke or
refuse bus service registrations of non-compliant operators is welcomed.

30.

The lack of obligation on local authorities to provide infrastructure
improvements, which in effect places the entire onus for improvement on
the bus operators is a weakness. It is unlikely that operators would be
willing to enter into such agreements on this basis.

31.

Existing Quality Partnership regimes are in place in some UK cities, such
as Nottingham, Birmingham and Liverpool. The substantial level of
investment in these schemes have delivered improved bus service
quality and associated infrastructure resulting in significant increases in

Page 653

Page 7 of 10

patronage. However, it should be noted that the funding regime in
England is both different and more generous than that currently in place
in Wales.
Bus Service Franchising Summary of Response
32.

Bus Service Franchising is supported in principle. However Cardiff could
not commit to full support in the absence of any details concerning the
planning, managing and funding of any franchise arrangements..

33.

Franchising has the potential to create a better, more integrated network
if supported by an appropriate level of funding. However the issue is
complex and there are potentially unintended impacts on the market and
risks that the operators are not incentivised to increase patronage.
Without sight of the Regulatory Impact Assessment, it is not possible to
assess what powers Welsh Government has in mind with regard to this
proposal. It is not possible therefore; to assess what impact franchising
might have on Cardiff Bus.

34.

Currently London is the only region of the UK to have a franchising
regime in place. Despite having on-bus revenues of £1 billion pa the
system still requires around £500m subsidy per year. This is more than
double the amount of bus funding for Wales as a whole.

35.

In congested areas, the significant difference between franchising buses
versus rail is that rail has a travel time advantage over general traffic
because it is not impacted by congestion on the highway. This is less
important for long-distance/rural services that do not experience a
significant proportion of congestion on their routes. Therefore, greater
investment in bus priority measures that give bus services this travel time
advantage over general traffic accompanied with high quality vehicles
and facilities would be needed in order to make franchising effective in
Cardiff.

36.

The effectiveness of franchising may be undermined or weakened by
new emerging technology such as mobility as a service or app based
service providers.

Taxi Licencing Summary of Response
37.

Proposal to standardise licencing and operating standards is broadly
welcomed, as is the proposal for strengthening local authority
enforcement powers over any taxi drivers operating in a local authority
area. However Cardiff has a significant cross-border operator problem,
which the current proposals do not appear to address.

Reason for Recommendations
38.

To enable the council’s response to Welsh Government’s white paper to
be made.

Page 654

Page 8 of 10

Financial Implications
39.

There are no direct financial implications from the submission of the
Council’s response to the Welsh Government Welsh Paper. Further,
future analysis will be required to identify the implications that arise from
any proposals that arise following the completion of the consultation.

Legal Implications
40.

The report seeks approval to a draft response to be submitted to WG on
its White Paper –‘Improving Public Transport’. It is understood that
given matters are at consultation stage only, detailed legal advice has
not been sought on any legal implications that may arise from the models
proposed and suggestions in the draft response . As proposal are
developed, it is understood that further reports will be prepared to
update Members , at which stage detailed legal advice will be sought .

41.

Equality Duty . The Council has to satisfy its public sector duties under
the Equalities Act 2010 (including specific Welsh public sector duties) –
the Public Sector Equality Duties (PSED). These duties require the
Council to have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful
discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good
relations on the basis of ‘protected characteristics’. The ‘Protected
characteristics’ are: • Age • Gender reassignment • Sex • Race –
including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality • Disability •
Pregnancy and maternity • Marriage and civil partnership • Sexual
orientation • Religion or belief – including lack of belief .

42.

It is noted that Equality Impact Assessments is attached at appendix B .
The decision maker must consider and have due regard to the Equality
Impact Assessment prior to making the decisions recommended in the
report.

43.

The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’)
places a ‘well-being duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national
well-being goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient,
healthier, more equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and
thriving Welsh language, and is globally responsible. In discharging its
duties under the Act, the Council has set and published well being
objectives designed to maximise its contribution to achieving the national
well being goals. The well being objectives are set out in Cardiff’s
Corporate Plan 2019-22 . When exercising its functions, the Council is
required to take all reasonable steps to meet its well being objectives.
This means that the decision makers should consider how the proposed
decision will contribute towards meeting the well being objectives and
must be satisfied that all reasonable steps have been taken to meet
those objectives.

44.

The well being duty also requires the Council to act in accordance with a
‘sustainable development principle’. This principle requires the Council
to act in a way which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are
met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their

Page 655

Page 9 of 10

own needs. Put simply, this means that Council decision makers must
take account of the impact of their decisions on people living their lives in
Wales in the future. In doing so, the Council must:
•
•
•
•
•
45.

Look to the long term
Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of problems
Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the 7 national wellbeing goals
Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable
solutions
Involve people from all sections of the community in the decisions
which affect them

The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposed decision accords
with the principles above; and due regard must be given to the Statutory
Guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers, which is accessible using the
link below: http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/futuregenerations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en

RECOMMENDATIONS
Cabinet is recommended to
1.

Note the content of the Welsh Government’s White Paper-Improving
Public Transport

2.

Approve the response to Welsh Government’s White Paper-Improving
Public Transport (attached as Appendix A) for submission to the Welsh
Government by 27th March 2019.

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER

ANDREW GREGORY
Director of Planning, Transport &
Environment
15 March 2019

The following appendices are attached:
Appendix A-Response to Consultation document
Appendix B-Equality Impact Assessment
The following background papers have been taken into account
Welsh Government Consultation Document- “Improving Public Transport, A
Welsh Government White Paper on proposals to legislate for reforming the
planning and delivery of local bus services and licensing of taxis and private
hire vehicles”, Issued December 2018.

Page 656

Page 10 of 10

Appendix A

Consultation response form
Name:
Organisation (if
applicable):
e-mail

John Gibson
Cardiff Council
j.gibson@cardiff.gov.uk

Responses to consultations are likely to be made public, on the internet or in a
report.
If you would prefer your response to remain anonymous, please tick here: ☐
Please ensure you are satisfied with the answers you have provided before sending.

Improving public transport
A Welsh Government White Paper on proposals to legislate for reforming the
planning and delivery of local bus services and licensing of taxis and private hire
vehicles

1

Page 657

Part 1 – Bus services
Joint Transport Authorities (JTAs)
Q1. Do you agree that it is important for local authorities to work together with regard
to local bus services?
Yes
No

n/a
n/a

Please explain your answer.
It would not be appropriate to provide a binary answer to this question. The key
issue is to ensure that an effective governance and implementation structure is put
in place with full local authority representation.
Once in place there are potential benefits of local authorities sharing best practice.
However, matters related to local services are best dealt with by the local authority
that will have local knowledge about the complexities of the issues that need to be
addressed and detailed awareness of the priorities for local investment and
competing demands on resources. A local authority without the local knowledge
would add little if any value to the decisions that need to be made. If local
authorities are given appropriate powers, they will be best placed to work
effectively with local bus operators, key stakeholders and developers to deliver
and improve local bus services.
It is important that local authorities work together where they need to improve local
bus services. However, local authorities working together should be a means to
achieve outcomes, not an end in itself. In this respect, there are questions
regarding whether or not Joint Transport Authorities, comprising multiple local
authorities and covering contrasting geographies would represent the most
effective and economical use of scarce local authority officer capacity and skills.

Q2. Please provide comments on the proposed organisational structures. Which is
your preferred option and why?

Overall we strongly support Option 1 in which a national JTA is established with
local or regional implementation for the following reasons;
2

Page 658

.
i. There is potential for better-integrated multi-modal public
transport.
A national JTA structure with responsibility for
standardised and improved bus quality standards for
infrastructure, services, vehicles, branding, ticketing and
partnership working to be introduced and consistently applied
across Wales. Working in partnership in this way would
improve the consistency of offer for users
ii. It would allow a clear and positive dialogue between local and
national organisations – that occurs at present – and avoid
duplication of structures and levels – at a regional basis.
iii. It would allow economies of scale and planning that are
essential to maximise wider benefits, network integration and
cost effectiveness.
iv. This approach could potentially link better with national
Metro/TfW structure and proposals to provide an integrated
multi-modal public transport offer across Wales including
Cardiff – the key delivery agency
v. It would allow more national strategic integration/planning –
reduces fragmentation
vi. It would support Great Western City (inter-regional planning) major Welsh conurbation integration
vii. It would also be an opportunity to rationalise standing orders,
supplier frameworks, administrative efficiencies and economies
of scale to achieve better value from the funding available.
viii. A national JTA structure also provides the opportunity for a
centralised regime for taxi and PHV licencing
Overall, the transport needs of Cardiff differ from the surrounding region because
of Cardiff’s position as the major regional employment centre and its continuing
growth. It is estimated that Cardiff provides approximately 20% of the bus
passengers in Wales and just under 40% of the bus passengers in the Cardiff City
Region (estimated from the Department for Transport, National Trip End Model). It
is essential that Cardiff is effectively represented on a proposed national JTA.
The local input is also essential to this model to tailor bus services to the sociodemographic needs of the local population.
In practical terms, a high quality integrated public transport system needs to be
well resourced in order to be successful. It also needs to be responsive in order to
take effective action in often fast changing circumstances.
The ability of public transport to grow the economy has been undervalued
particularly with regards to sustainability and equality of opportunity. Trends and
changes in culture and socio-demographics indicate that public transport will be
increasingly important in the future whereas private car travel is likely to continue
to decline. Courage is needed by decision makers to apportion funding where it
will provide greatest benefit long-term in the interests of future generations and
grow the economy of Wales. It is more important that sustainable funding models
are identified and explored rather than organisational structures.
3

Page 659

Q3. Is there another organisational structure for JTAs that we should consider?
Please explain your answer.
NA

Q4. Do you have any comments on the proposal that the Welsh Ministers should be
represented on a JTA or any committees of a JTA?
This is a positive proposal and supported. The inclusion of WG representation will
ensure an effective strategic perspective and will integrate planning,
implementation and funding programmes.

Q5. Do you have any comments on the proposals that the Welsh Ministers should
have powers to issue guidance and directions, and to intervene where a JTA is
failing to exercise its functions effectively?

4

Page 660

See responses to Q4. This should be supported where the core strategic priorities
are not being addressed.

Proposed JTA Functions in relation to buses
Q6. Is the proposed division of national and regional functions appropriate?
A national JTA structure with responsibility for standardised and improved bus
quality standards for infrastructure, services, vehicles, branding, ticketing and
partnership working to be introduced and consistently applied across Wales.
Working in partnership in this way would improve the consistency of offer for
users.
The local JTA functions could create conflict with the highway authority and the
decision-making associated with prioritising investment. Establishing JTAs would
make local preferences for how the highway is used difficult to resolve. For
example, the local preference may be to provide active travel improvements, which
could require reallocating road space to provide improved facilities for walking, and
cycling based on a local understanding of needs.
How would the Traffic Regulation order process be affected? This could conflict
with the JTA preference to provide bus lanes based on a regional or national need.
These conflicting preferences and priorities are likely to be difficult if not impossible
to resolve ensuring that the JTAs fail in delivering their obligations.
Without sight of the Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) it is difficult to
understand potential conflicts of powers and interests that may arise.

Q7. Should any other transport functions be transferred to a JTA? Please describe.
Any additional powers needed would be replicating the existing powers of local
authorities at the expense of diminishing the ability of providing transport
infrastructure and services that are appropriately tailored to local needs.
5

Page 661

Without sight of the Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) it is difficult to
understand potential conflicts of powers and interests that may arise

6

Page 662

Enhanced Quality Partnerships (EQP)
Q8. Do you think that legislation is required to secure the benefits of enhanced
partnership working?
Yes
No

X

Please explain your answer.
Without legislation there can be no enforceable sanctions on operators who fail to
comply with the provisions of a Quality Partnership. To give the Traffic
Commissioner powers to refuse or revoke registrations of non-compliant operators
would be a major step forward.
Whilst it is noted that there would be no obligation under the present proposals for
local authorities to provide any enhanced facilities, the Council considers that
operators would be far less likely to agree to an EQP if no enhancements were
forthcoming and all the improvements were required from them.

Q9. Do you agree with our proposals for EQPs, in particular the proposed process
for developing and making EQPs?
Yes
No

X

Please explain your answer.
Broadly speaking yes, although there is a danger that the process could become
somewhat unwieldy and over bureaucratic, with successive rounds of consultation,
voting by operators followed (if sufficient operators are in favour) by public
consultation again involving operators.
Any changes resulting from the consultation then has to be put to operators again,
who could effectively walk away from the scheme.

7

Page 663

Franchising
Q10. Do you think that the proposed scheme provides a more workable option for
the franchising of local bus services?
Yes
No

n/a
n/a

Please explain your answer.
Bus Service Franchising is supported in principle. However, Cardiff could not
commit full support in the absence of details concerning the planning, managing
and funding of these arrangements.
Franchising has the potential to create a better, more integrated network if it is
supported by an appropriate level of funding particularly in large conurbations.
Less funding may be needed where there is a growing market. However, there
are potentially unintended impacts on the market and there are risks that the
operators are not incentivised to increase patronage. The issues are complex.
There is the potential that interventions could destabilise commercial services. For
example, a franchise based on a subsidised revenue cap could counter-intuitively
lead to fares being raised thereby reducing patronage leading to a vicious circle
and an unsustainable position for the operator.
There is also the possibility of unintended local political pressure on any franchise
to cap the fares that users are charged which would increase the level of subsidy
that would be required.
There could also be local political pressure to provide bus services that are not
commercially viable. If subsidy is not increased, the only option would be to
remove services from commercial areas of the network which would have the
compounded impact of reduced patronage, less revenue and a requirement for
more subsidy with the added risk of potentially undermining commercial routes.
As discussed in the House of Commons Library briefing paper, “Buses:
franchising” dated 19th April 2012, there are two key points of view to consider:
1. Deregulation has not necessarily meant healthy competition in the bus market.
Larger operators dominate the market effectively running monopolies in many
areas of the UK. Where there is competition, it has not always led to
streamlined services and cheaper fares. For example, without integrated
8

Page 664

ticketing, two competing operators providing 4 buses per hour on a route does
not provide a usable service frequency of 8 buses per hour for the users. This
engenders frustration for users as they may often see a bus arrive that their
ticket does not allow them to use meaning they have to wait longer for their bus
to arrive. In the vast majority of Urban Areas in the UK a substantial proportion
of services do not face effective head-to-head competition (source: “Local bus
services market investigation”, Competition Commission, 20th Dec 2011). The
bus operating companies have little option but to avoid competing directly with
other operators, particularly in a shrinking market, in the knowledge that one
operator will lose out over the other resulting in business failure. This typically
results in geographic market segregation. The idea that healthy competition
grows a local market is an admirable aim but in reality appears to be
impossible to achieve, without other interventions such as congestion charging.
2. The level of subsidy required to support bus services varies significantly
between urban and rural areas. Remote areas of low population density are
more likely to require close to 100 percent subsidy.
It is worth noting that London commits significant funding on its franchising system.
Transport for London has a strategic transport role, including highways powers on
“red routes” which enable it to make other interventions such as extensive bus
priority measures and congestion charging.
Without sight of the Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) it is difficult to
understand potential conflicts of powers and interests that may arise.

Q11. Do you think there should be a requirement for the assessment to be subject of
to an independent audit?
Yes
No

X

Please explain your answer.
Yes, it is critically important that transparency and fairness is demonstrated
through any franchising procurement process. This would give competing
operators added confidence that their bids will be given a reasonable and fair
chance on an equitable basis. Therefore, more bids are likely to be received and
better value for money is possible.

9

Page 665

Q12. Do you have any other comments on the proposed process for franchising?
The effectiveness of franchising could be undermined or weakened by new
emerging technology such as mobility as a service, app based service providers
and/or improved competing public transport options or investment in other modes
of travel.
Depending on the working arrangements and governance, it could be
advantageous if Local Authorities could potentially appoint Transport for Wales to
run any franchise and/or quality partnership arrangements. This would enable
consistency across Wales and ensure a sustainable resource of expertise and
knowledge for planning and operating improved bus services.

Franchising in practice and Permits
Q13. Do you have any comments in relation to the proposals for the issuing of
permits in circumstances where franchising arrangements are in place?
Some practical arrangements would need to be put in place to allow operators who
are not part of the franchise to operate services outside the franchise remit such
as inter-urban or regional services.

10

Page 666

Impacts of franchising on small and medium sized bus operators (SMEs)
Q14. Do you agree that as part of any arrangements to let franchise contracts,
specific consideration should be given to how SMEs can be enabled to be involved
in the procurement process?
Yes
No
Please explain your answer.
It is difficult to see how this could be achieved without it being open to legal
challenge by unsuccessful operators.

Franchising Transition Arrangements
Q15.What transitional arrangements should be considered in order to ensure that
bus services are not compromised during the process of preparing to franchise?
It took London some years to complete their transition. There were also difficulties
experienced getting a balance between revenue support and incentives for
investment in improved services. London buses started with gross cost basis
tendering and then introduced net cost contracting in the mid 1990’s before
reverting to gross cost contracts with a modification to include a direct link between
quality of service (reliability) and contract payments (quality incentive contract).
Franchising through a JTA could also make it difficult to secure Section 106
contributions which are payable to the Local Planning Authority. There is a risk
that existing Section 106 agreements for new or improved bus services would not
be deliverable by the local authority. How would infrastructure be supported by
pump-primed services under a franchise approach?
The legal implications of this matter needs further consideration.
Without sight of the Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) it is difficult to
understand potential conflicts of powers and interests that may arise

11

Page 667

Local authority bus services
Q16. Do you think that local authorities should be able to run bus services directly
(i.e. in-house services)?
Yes

Q16a. In what circumstances do you think this would be appropriate?
Where the market has failed to provide viable services, and the normal
tendering/de minimis arrangements have not proved effective.
However it should be noted that this option is unlikely to be cheaper than
alternative arrangements and would involve considerable set-up costs for most
local authorities, who do not currently run in-house bus fleets. A reliable revenue
and capital funding programme would be needed.

Q16b. What, if any, safeguards do you feel ought to be put in place with in-house
services to ensure that no operator local authority has an unfair advantage in a
deregulated market, and why?
In the above situations the deregulated market would have failed so there would
be no advantage to be gained.
Local authority operators should not be allowed to compete on commercial routes
under the current legislation.

Q17. Do you think that local authorities should be able to set up arm’s length
companies to operate local bus services?
12

Page 668

Yes, although this option allows the arm’s length operator to behave commercially,
but sets them financially at a disadvantage with other bus operators, as they are
prevented by current legislation from using many of the financial mechanisms
open to private operators.

Q17a. In what circumstances do you think this would be appropriate?
Where the market has failed to provide viable services, and the normal
tendering/de minimis arrangements have not proved effective.

Q17b. What, if any, safeguards to you think should be put in place with arms length
bus companies to ensure that no operator local authority has an unfair advantage in
a deregulated market, and why?
The current legislation ensures transparency, although it gives private bus
companies a financial advantage in that arm’s length local authority companies
can only borrow money from that local authority rather than other financial
providers..

Eligibility age for the mandatory concessionary fares
Q18. Do you agree with the Welsh Minister’s proposal to align entitlement to a
mandatory concessionary fares pass with a woman’s pensionable age?
Response to the previous consultation is given below.

No change should be made without an analysis of the impact. For example, it needs
to be understood how many 60-65 year old are using the system, for what type of
13

Page 669

trips do they use it (full-time work, part-time work, shopping, personal business,
escort, etc), during what times (peak, off-peak), what is their socio-economic status,
how additional accessibility do they get from the scheme, how does all of this differ
from >65 year olds, how many 60-65 year old pass holders would otherwise be
eligible for disabled passes? Without such data it is difficult to see whether there is
any case for a change or whether it would cause more hardship than benefit.
A different approach might be to retain the current age qualification but consider
time restrictions such as after 09.30 as is used in the English scheme.

Q19. Do you agree that an incremental change is the most appropriate method?
See above

Public transport information and monitoring
Q20. Do you agree with our proposal to require the release of open data on routes,
timetables, fares and tickets?
Yes
No

X

Please explain your answer.
In order to make bus services attractive it is vital that this information is as widely
disseminated as possible. It is also vital that the information is in a form that is
easily understandable for both existing and potential users.

Q21. Do you agree with our proposal to enable local authorities to have the power to
obtain information on services that are to be cancelled or varied, and where
appropriate, disclose this information as part of tendering process?
Yes
No

X

Please explain your answer.
14

Page 670

This should improve local authority decision making in this process, and enable
better value for money to be obtained by local authorities.

Part 2 – Taxis and private hire vehicles (PHV)
National standards
Q22. Do you agree with our proposal to introduce national standards, which will
apply to all taxis and PHVs in Wales?
Yes
No

X

Please explain your answer.
National standards would ensure that taxi services are administered consistently
across Wales and deal with any perceptions of any unnecessary variation across
Councils. This is consistent with the previous work undertaken between the Local
Authority Licensing Expert Panel and Welsh Government lead on taxi reform in
Wales during 2017/18. Consequently, the Council would support this proposal and
in particular support the introduction of a vehicle emission standard. Other areas of
harmonisation might be best prioritised through consultation with stakeholders to
understand what aspects of licensing policies are deemed to cause most concern.

Q23. Are there any matters, which you would like to see contained in any national
standards?
The introduction of a vehicle emission standard. Other areas of harmonisation
might be best prioritised through consultation with stakeholders to understand
what aspects of licensing policies are deemed to cause most concern

15

Page 671

Q24. Are there any matters, which you think should be excluded from any national
standards?

16

Page 672

Q25. What practical obstacles might there be to setting common national standards
for both taxis and PHVs?
Q26. What would be the best approach for determining the content of national
standards?
Q27. Please provide any other comments or proposals around national standards
that were not covered in the above questions.

17

Page 673

Enforcement
Q28. Should a local authority be able to revoke or suspend a licence relating to any
vehicle operating in its area, even if it did not issue the original licence?
Yes
No

X

Please explain your answer.
We believe that a change to the current enforcement regime is appropriate. We
would advocate that revocation of a vehicle licence should be the sole
responsibility of the “home” licensing authority. Having issued the licence, the
authority will have invaluable local knowledge about the licence holder, the history
of the vehicle and any complaints received.

Q29. Should a local authority be able to issue a lesser sanction in relation to any
vehicle operating in its area, even if it did not issue the original licence?
Yes
No

X

Please explain your answer.
it is considered appropriate that any duly authorised officer from any Licensing
Authority area should have the power to suspend immediately a licence of any
vehicle operating in their area (irrespective of where it was licensed) where there is
an immediate public safety risk e.g. defective tyre, or potentially where the vehicle
fails to meet the national standards e.g. missing door signs / back plates.

Q30. Please provide any other comments or proposals around enforcement that
were not covered in the above questions.
18

Page 674

There is scope for other enforcement provisions to be introduced such as where a
driver refuses a fare due to the short distance involved, or for cases of overcharging,
and a power for officers to stop and issue direction orders to a driver and his vehicle
where public safety is at risk.
Finally, while enhancing enforcement capacity is undoubtedly a positive
development, the Welsh Government should revisit the provisions of Section 53 of
the 1976 Act and expand the fee recovery regime to include enforcement against
taxi drivers (currently this only extends to inspection of vehicles c/w Section 70).
Failure to do so will only add to the pressures on the public purse.

Information-sharing
Q31. Do you agree with our proposal to create a database or make other
arrangements for relevant safeguarding information to be shared?
Yes
No

X

Please explain your answer.
The establishment of a mandatory national database for licensed drivers would be
an important addition to the current regime and should be expanded to include
vehicles, operators, proprietors and dispatchers to support stronger enforcement

Q32. Please provide any other comments or proposals around information-sharing
that were not covered in the above questions.
The current use of the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) currently provides an
online register of taxi and private hire drivers who have been refused or had their
licence revoked. The database includes the reasons for any refusal or revocation,
along with the relevant licensing authority details. This is not used by all councils at
19

Page 675

present, but is a clear way forward for more effective administration and public
protection.

Q33. Do you agree with our proposal to redirect all of the existing taxi and PHV
licensing functions away from local authorities and into a national licensing authority
(Option A)?
Yes
No

X

Please explain your answer.
The creation of a JTA (Option A) is the most controversial of the four proposals
and one that the Council cannot support for the delivery of taxi licensing. The
administration of the taxi industry is without doubt in need of reform, but it is not an
administration in crisis, it simply needs reform and Councils have been asking for
that reform for many years.

Q34. Do you think that local authorities should continue to have responsibility for taxi
and PHV licensing (Option B)?
Yes
No

X

Please explain your answer.
The current delivery mechanism (Option B) through local authorities continues to be
the best way to manage taxi licensing. Taken in conjunction with the first three
proposals there will be an enhanced enforcement regime that will do away with
much of the perceived inconsistency.

20

Page 676

Q35. Please provide any other comments or proposals around responsibility for
taxi/PHV licensing that were not covered in the above questions.
There is little detail contained within this white paper as to how the JTA would
undertake the licensing function and therefore it is very difficult to provide a detailed
response. What is clear is that the scope and complexity of the licensing system has
not been understood fully by the Welsh Government. If there is a desire to reduce
the number of licensing authorities, it may be possible to consider regional delivery
models, such as our own Shared Regulatory Service, or a single council delivery
model such as RentSmart Wales. However, a move to one of these models would
take time to develop and deliver.
We would suggest the Welsh Government progress the first three proposals in this
consultation document and reconsider the role of administering the system once
these changes have become embedded into the taxi licensing regime.

Q36. We would like to know your views on the effects that the legislative proposals
set out in this paper would have on the Welsh language, specifically on opportunities
for people to use Welsh and on treating the Welsh language no less favourably than
English.

21

Page 677

Q36a. What effects do you think there would be? How could positive effects be
increased, or negative effects be mitigated?
Q37. Please also explain how you believe the proposals could be formulated or
changed so as to have positive effects or increased positive effects on opportunities
for people to use the Welsh language and on treating the Welsh language no less
favourably than the English language, and no adverse effects on opportunities for
people to use the Welsh language and on treating the Welsh language no less
favourably than the English language.
Q38. We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have any related issues,
which we have not specifically addressed, please use this space to report them:
Cardiff Council fully supports Welsh Government’s (WG) vision Option 1 JTA
based on a national JTA, WG and effective Cardiff, major conurbation,
representation. This will enable the city to continue to be the engine of growth for
south east Wales. Cardiff’s LDP is predicated on a 50:50 modal split of public
transport and to achieve this bus patronage must be doubled from existing levels,
and the council will be using developer contributions through s106 agreements to
work towards this goal. However to achieve this ambition in Cardiff WG needs to
address structural and legislative weaknesses in the current bus service regime.
The transport needs of Cardiff differ from the surrounding region because of
Cardiff’s position as the major regional employment centre and its continuing
growth. . It is estimated that Cardiff provides approximately 20% of the bus
passengers in Wales and just under 40% of the bus passengers in the Cardiff City
Region (estimated from the Department for Transport, National Trip End Model).
It is crucial that JTA are able to prioritise investment to meet the needs of Cardiff.
The Option 1 needs to ensure the strategic priorities are addressed.
How would a JTA ensure that bus services support growth areas?
How would the transitional arrangements from s106 funding be managed?
Current s106 funding agreements with the local Planning Authority would become
obsolete.
Without sight of the Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) it is difficult to
understand potential conflicts of powers and interests that may arise.
In terms of integrated ticketing the council believes that the model (for multi
operator bus services at least) already exists in the form of the All Wales
concessionary fares scheme, which should be expanded to enable daily capped
contactless bank card payments to be used.
The current Traffic Commissioners six minute window (5 minutes late/1 minute
early) for punctuality of 95% of services is unworkable in a congested urban
22

Page 678

environment. Operators should be able to control headways in real time to ensure
reliability as perceived by passengers is maintained, rather than strict adherence
to timetables where services run more frequently than half-hourly.
In summary;
What Cardiff needs:
1. Option 1 national JTA and effective Cardiff/major conurbation
representation
2. Secure funding mechanism
3. Control over the quality of bus services
4. Control over infrastructure investment
5. Ability to enforce non-compliance
6. Integrated ticketing including rail and other forms of public transport

23

Page 679

This page is intentionally left blank

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Appendix B
Procedure: Provide response to Welsh Government White Paper Consultation
Document-Improving Public Transport
New/Existing/Updating/Amending: New
Who is responsible for developing and implementing the Procedure?
Name: John Gibson
Job Title: Team Leader
Service Team: Transport Policy and
Service Area: Planning ,Transport &
Vision
Environment
Assessment Date: 12/03/2019
1.

What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/
Service/Function?

Provide response to Welsh Government White Paper Consultation DocumentImproving Public Transport

2.

Please
provide
background
information
on
the
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done
etc.]

Welsh Government has set out proposals to legislate for reforming the planning
and delivery of local bus services and licencing of taxis and private hire
vehicles. The closing date for responses in 27th March 2019.
The consultation is a welcome opportunity for Cardiff to engage in the start of a
major national conversation about bus transport that will lead to the
development of a high quality integrated system across Wales which will have
benefits for all.
The decision maker must consider and have due regard to the Equality Impact
Assessment prior to making the decisions recommended in the report. However
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 681

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 1

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

as matters are at consultation stage only, a detailed EIA has not been prepared
on any implications that may arise from the models proposed and suggestions
contained in the draft response being implemented . As proposals are
developed, it is understood that further reports will be prepared to update
Members, at which stage detailed EIAs will be prepared.

3

Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics

3.1
Age
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people?
Yes

No

N/A

Up to 18 years
18 - 65 years
Over 65 years
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.2

4.C.400

Disability

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 682

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 2

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?
Yes

No

N/A

Hearing Impairment
Physical Impairment
Visual Impairment
Learning Disability
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition
Mental Health
Substance Misuse
Other
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.3
Gender Reassignment
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?
Yes

No

N/A

Transgender People
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex)
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 683

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 3

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

3.4. Marriage and Civil Partnership
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership?
Yes

No

N/A

Marriage
Civil Partnership
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.5
Pregnancy and Maternity
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity?
Yes

No

N/A

Pregnancy
Maternity
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 684

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 4

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.6
Race
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?
Yes

No

N/A

White
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups
Asian / Asian British
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British
Other Ethnic Groups
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.7
Religion, Belief or Non-Belief
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?
Yes

No

N/A

Buddhist
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 685

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 5

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
Christian
Hindu
Humanist
Jewish
Muslim
Sikh
Other
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.8
Sex
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women?
Yes

No

N/A

Men
Women
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 686

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 6

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
3.9
Sexual Orientation
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?
Yes

No

N/A

Bisexual
Gay Men
Gay Women/Lesbians
Heterosexual/Straight
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.10 Welsh Language
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential
impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language?
Yes

No

N/A

Welsh Language

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting
evidence, if any.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 687

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 7

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template

4.
Consultation and Engagement
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities
Groups?

5.

Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above]

Groups
Age
Disability
Gender Reassignment
Marriage & Civil
Partnership
Pregnancy & Maternity
Race
Religion/Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation
Welsh Language
Generic Over-Arching
[applicable to all the
above groups]

Actions

6.
Further Action
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.
7.
Authorisation
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each
Service Area.
Completed By : John Gibson
Designation: Team Leader-Transport Policy and Vision
Approved By:
Designation:
Service Area:
4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 688

Date: 12/03/2019

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 8

CARDIFF COUNCIL
Equality Impact Assessment

Corporate Assessment Template
7.1

On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on
your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken
in the Council.

For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029
2087 2536 / 3262 or email equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk

4.C.400

Issue 1

Nov 11

Process Owner: Rachel Jones

Page 689

Authorised: Rachel Jones

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14
CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2019
AIR QUALITY FEASIBILITY STUDY OUTLINE BUSINESS CASEWELSH GOVERNMENT DIRECTION
STRATEGIC PLANNING & TRANSPORT (COUNCILLOR CARO
WILD)
AGENDA ITEM: 14
Reason for this Report
1.

This report outlines the results of the next phase of the Clean Air
Feasibility Study, which is the Outline Business Case setting out a
preferred option to demonstrate the steps the Council will undertake to
ensure compliance with the legal direction.

Background
2.

In response to a legal direction Cardiff Council received from Welsh
Government- Environment Act 1995 (feasibility study for Nitrogen Dioxide
Compliance) Air Quality Direction 20181- the Council must:





Submit “initial scoping proposals”- by March 2018- to set out how
Cardiff Council would undertake a feasibility study.
Submit an “initial plan”, by September 2018, to set out the case for
change and develop options for measures that the local authority will
implement to deliver compliance with Clean Air targets in the shortest
possible time.
Submit the “final plan”, no later than the 30th June 2019, to set out in
detail the preferred option for delivering compliance in the shortest
possible time, including a full business case

The Council has been following a legal process to comply with the
direction. As part of this process the Council submitted its “initial scoping
proposals” in March 2018 and its Initial Plan, to Welsh Government in
September 2018, as approved by Cabinet 15th November 2018 which
presented the results of the initial baseline assessment of the Clean Air
Feasibility Study.
Whilst the Direction itself does not specifically require the Council to
submit an Outline Business Case (OBC) the development of a Full
Business Case (FBC) cannot be achieved without first assessing the OBC.
1 Environment Act 1995 (Feasibility Study for Nitrogen Dioxide Compliance) Air Quality Direction
2018 14th Feb 2018

Page 691

Page 1 of 16

The OBC sets out a preferred option for the Council to implement to
achieve compliance in the shortest possible time and this preferred option
needs to be approved by Cabinet in order for the Council to progress to
the FBC.
3.

The European Union Ambient Air Quality Directive (2008/50/EC)2 sets
legally binding limits for concentrations of certain air pollutants in outdoor
air, termed ‘limit values’ for the protection of human health. The Directive
requires that Member States report annually on air quality within zones
designated under the Directive and, where the concentration of pollutants
in air exceeds limit values, to develop air quality plans that set out
measures in order to attain the limit values. The only limit values that the
UK currently fails to meet are those set in respect of nitrogen dioxide
(NO2).

4.

In regards to the European Union Ambient Air Quality Directive (Directive
2008/50/EC) levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and Particulate Matter
smaller than 10μm (PM10) must not exceed 40μg/m3 as an annual
average (i.e. measured over a calendar year).

5.

Annex III of the European Directive details specific criteria for the locality
of where such limit values apply. Limit Value applies at locations which are
accessible, including footpaths but exclude areas within 25m from major
road junctions.

6.

In order to comply with the AAQD the UK government published its action
Plan in December 2015. This Plan was successfully challenged in High
Court by Client Earth in 20163 for not meeting the requirements of the
Directive, and specifically Article 23 of the Directive. This case is widely
referred to ClientEarth 2.

7.

As a result of the High Court Ruling the UK Government had to redraft and
publish a new UK Action Plan for tacking NO2 concentrations. This was
published in July 20174 and identified Cardiff as an area with persistent
non-compliance beyond 2022. However this plan was further challenged
by Client Earth, and as a result in January 2018 Welsh Government
agreed to a legally-binding ‘consent order’ with Client Earth. This resulted
in a Legal direction being served on Cardiff Council under Part IV of the
Environment Act 1995, Section 85(7).

Key Issues : - Results of the Initial Plan September 2018
8.

The results of the local modelling differed to that undertaken by Defra
using the Pollution Climate Mapping model. DEFRA’s modelling identified
two road links under baseline conditions which were projected to show
non-compliance beyond 2021 as detailed in Figure 1. The roads that were
modelled as exceeding the NO2 annual limit value for by 2021 using the
DEFRA Model were, the A48 and the A4232.

2

https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:02008L0050-20150918&from=EN
ClientEarth (No. 2) https://www.judiciary.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/clientearth-v-ssenviron-foodrural-affairs-judgment-021116.pdf
4 Defra UK Action Plan for Tackling Roadside NO Concentrations – July 2017
2
3

Page 692

Page 2 of 16

Figure 1 - Defra PCM Modelling NO2 Forecast Results 2021

9.

The localised modelling as reported in the Initial Plan identified only one
road link under baseline conditions projected to show non-compliance
beyond 2021, this being the A4161 Castle Street as detailed in Figure 2.
Figure 2 - Local Modelling Results NO2 Forecast Results 2021

Page 693

Page 3 of 16

10.

In assessing the model data the main reason for this exceedance relates
to very high traffic flows, some 32,000 vehicles a day and accompanying
slow speeds of around 11mph on this specific road link. The main
reasons for the differences between the local model results and the PCM
results is primarily down to the fact that the local model has a far greater
level of detail which is based on local data, and not national
assumptions, and thus can be seen to be a better representation of local
circumstances. The key aspects of the local model that influence the
results are as follows:
•
•
•
•

11.

Traffic flows are based on a local traffic model;
Traffic speeds are based on a local model and local traffic master;
Local fleet data from the ANPR, not just national averages; and
Local topology is accounted for in terms of gradient, canyons,

Within the Initial Plan Report a long list of measures developed from the
Draft Clean Air Strategy and Action Plan (CASAP) were qualitatively
assessed against a primary objective of achieving compliance with set air
quality objectives in the shortest possible time. The measures were
considered against secondary objectives and were subjected to further
qualitative assessments against the WelTAG Well-being Aspects. As a
result of this analysis the following shortlist of measures was assessed
and is summarised in Table 1.
Table 1 - Initial Shortlist of Measures
Measure Description
CASAP 1
Implement further speed restrictions and enhance already established 20mph Zones.
Development of Cycling Superhighways infrastructure and Expansion of Next bike
Scheme
Implement Zero Emission Buses on Cardiff Network
Revision to Taxi Licensing Policy to include emissions standards
CASAP 2
Bus Network Programme- Strategic Bus Network to improve bus networks and
efficiency of the services via increased and improved bus lanes
Accelerate Park and Ride (P & R) programme in NW & NE of Cardiff. NW;
Implement new Park and Ride facilities at Junction 33 (750 Spaces) and Llantrisant
Road (250 Spaces). NE; expansion of P & R on the A48.
City Centre West and Central Interchange and Eastside City Centre Schemes
Improve and promote the uptake of low emission vehicles by enhancing Cardiff’s EV
infrastructure
Review and implement car parking and car permit charges.

12.

It must be noted that the above shortlist of measures were initially
identified as measures that would likely have the greatest impact on the
road links identified by the PCM modelling as being non-compliant,
namely the A48 and A4232 near Cardiff Bay.

13.

Prior to commencing the assessment of the above measures, further
additional measures were also identified owing to the results of the local
modelling. These additional measures have been assessed to include a
wider Bus Retrofitting Programme, further network improvements on the
A470 and a bus based P&R at Nantgarw. These additional measures

Page 694

Page 4 of 16

were assessed as a CASAP 3 package combined with CASAP 1 and 2 to
provide an overall package of measures.
14.

In addition to assessing the package of measures, as required by the
Government Guidance5 the Council has assessed the effectiveness of a
charging Clean Air Zone (CAZ) in terms of whether compliance could be
achieved quicker than the proposed measures.

15.

Government Guidance6 is clear that a charging CAZ should only be
considered as a preferred option/ implemented if non-charging
alternatives have been found to be insufficient to bring about
compliance with air quality limits in the shortest possible time.

16.

As a result the OBC has assessed two CAZ options for benchmarking
purposes. Both options focussed on a small city centre zone, as detailed
on page 36 of the OBC report. In summary the two CAZ options were
assessed as follows:
• CAZ 1 – Private cars which did not meet Euro 4 (petrol) or Euro
6(diesel) emission standards would be charged a £10 daily fee
for entering the CAZ. No other vehicles were included in the
CAZ.
• CAZ 2 – Commercial vehicles – HGVs, LGVs, did not meet Euro
4 (petrol) or Euro 6 (diesel) emission standards, would be
charged daily rates for entering the CAZ. For HGVs the daily
charge was set at £50 and for LGVs £10.

Results of the Shortlist of Measures and CAZs on Achieving Compliance
14.

Using independent analysis from external consultants with recognised
expertise and a proven track record of supporting other UK Core Citieslocalised air quality modelling and transport modelling was undertaken
to establish the impact of the CASAP measures and CAZ as to whether
compliance could be achieved by 2021. As detailed in the Initial Plan
baseline assessment shows that by 2021 only Castle Street would
breach the EU limit value for NO2 with concentrations of 41.1 µg/m3
being predicted.

15.

The full details of how each of the measures have been assessed in
terms of the transportation and air quality modelling are detailed with
the in the OBC, but are summarised as follows in Table 2.

5
6

JAQU Options Appraisal Guidance
JAQU Guidance – Evidence Based Approach to Setting Clean Air Zone Charges

Page 695

Page 5 of 16

Table 2 - Summary of Modelling Assumptions of Measures
Measure Description

Modelling Methodology Employed

Active
travel
packages,
covering two areas close to
the city centre

For each of the locations a 3.5%-point reduction in the car
driver mode share was assumed for trips entirely within the
given area, and the car vehicle demand matrices adjusted
accordingly

Cycling programme to end of
2020, covering a corridor
north from the city centre
New 50mph speed limit on
A4232 (Culverhouse Cross
to Butetown Tunnels)

The representation of the affected section of the A4232 was
changed from a national speed limit link type to a 50mph
speed limit link type

Westgate Street mid-point
closure to general traffic

The central section of Westgate Street was closed to all
cars and goods vehicles to prevent through-movements
whilst maintaining local access

East side scheme, reducing
through traffic movements
on Station Terrace

Links were opened/closed as appropriate and junctions
edited to reflect the proposed scheme.

A48 St Mellons bus-based
park and ride

For trips in nearby corridors with a trip end in the city
centre, a proportion to be intercepted at the new P&R site
was assumed, based upon evidence from existing sites.
One of the trip ends for these trips was then reassigned
from the city centre to the location of the P&R site.

J33 park and ride

As above, except that the number of trips to be intercepted
was calculated using an assumed occupation level (broadly
equivalent to current occupation of the East P&R site).

Parking
charges
and
controls, affecting vehicles
with non-compliant engines.

UK government Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) guidance on
option appraisal was used to provide estimates of the effect
on trip making of implementing charging zones for noncompliant vehicles. A proportion of vehicles affected by
increased parking charges was calculated using parking
“event” data provided by Cardiff Council. Non-compliant
vehicle trips were then moved to the compliant matrix,
removed from the matrices altogether, or left unaltered
accordingly.

Smart expressway & traffic
management measures on
the A470 South (Upper Boat
to Coryton) and Traffic
management and control
measures
at
Coryton
Interchange

Narrow lanes to give extra lane, reallocation of southbound
lane to 2 lanes off to Coryton, 1 lane ahead into Cardiff (and
this could include better provision for bus going A470 into
Cardiff); also looking at speed limit reduction and VMS
gantry signage to improve traffic management and air
quality.

16.

In addition to the modelling assumptions detailed above in Table 2,
additional modelling assumptions have been applied to the measures
that can only be modelled in terms of improvements to NOx emissions in
the air quality model and these are detailed in Table 3.

Page 696

Page 6 of 16

Table 3 - Emission Based Measures
Measure
ULEB application for 36
electric buses

Taxi licensing requiring a
10 year age limit and all
new renewal or grants
2019 to be minimum Euro
6
Retro-fit programme to
convert remaining buses
to Euro 6

17.

Description
The 36 buses were allocated to routes 27, 49/50,
44/45, with the related bus AADT removed as these
are now zero emission. The remaining bus fleet is
then adjusted to reflect the removal of 36 older Euro3
vehicles.
Taxi fleet adjusted to remove all vehicles over 10
years old and replace these by new Euro 6 vehicles

Retro-fit programme to convert remaining buses to
Euro 6, similar to Clean Bus Technology Fund
(CBTF)

The package of measures have been assessed accumulatively in terms
of combining the measures identified in CASAP 1 with CASAP 2 and
finally all measures have been assessed together as a final package,
CASAP 3. The results of the measures in terms of delivering compliance
on Castle Street are summarised as follows:
• CASAP 1 by 2021
- Implementation of 36 Electric Buses;
- Impact of revised Taxi Licensing Policy ;
- Active travel package;
- Cycling programme to end of 2020; and
- 50mph on A4232
NO2 concentrations on Castle Street have been modelled to reduce from
41.1 µg/m3 to 37 µg/m3 by the implementation of the above measures.
• CASAP 2 – all of CASAP 1 +
- City Centre West and East Schemes;
- A48 P&R;
- J33 P&R; and
- Revised Parking Charges at Council Car Parking Spaces.
NO2 concentrations on Castle Street have been modelled to reduce from
41.1 µg/m3 to 36 µg/m3 by the implementation of the above measures.
•

CASAP 3 – all of CASAP 1 +2
- Retrofit Programme for Buses;
- A470 additional southbound traffic lane; and
- Nantgarw P&R.

NO2 concentrations on Castle Street have been modelled to reduce from
41.1 µg/m3 to 35 µg/m3 by the implementation of the above measures
18.

In addition to achieving compliance on Castle Street, the impact of the
package of measures has also been modelled at local air quality
monitoring locations, include those locations within existing Air Quality

Page 697

Page 7 of 16

Management Areas (AQMAs). The results of the modelling indicate that
all monitoring locations are expected to have concentrations below the
40 µg/m3 which further demonstrates that the package of measures will
improve local air quality including within existing AQMAs.
19.

It should be noted that the CASAP results do not include the impact of
the City Centre North (Castle Street) proposals, as the detailed modelling
work commenced prior to understanding the outline design of this
scheme, and thus the impact of this scheme has not currently been
assessed in the current package of measures.

20.

The ruling of the Client Earth 23 set out three tests that Clean Air Plans
(the Feasibility Study) must meet in order that they are seen to comply
with Article 23 of the EU Directive. The third test states that the plans
must demonstrate that compliance with the limit values is not just
possible, but likely.

21.

As summarised above through the implementation of the full CASAP 3
measures the level of compliance that is modelled to be obtained on
Castle Street, is the greatest with NO2 concentrations reduced from
41.1 µg/m3 to 35 µg/m3. Owing to the level of uncertainty in the air quality
modelling achieving a level of 35 µg/m3 or better is an important target
for the Council to obtain. Probability analysis undertaken by our
consultants, indicates that modelled levels of 35 µg/m3 or less gives a
greater than 80% probability that compliance with the limit value will
actually be achieved, when the measures are implemented.

22.

As a comparison the results of the modelling undertaken on the CAZ
scenarios are summarised as follows:
• CAZ 1 – Private cars - achieves compliance on Castle Street –
32.5 µg/m3 .
• CAZ 2 – Commercial vehicles – achieves compliance on Castle
Street NO2 – 35.3 µg/m3

23.

The results for CAZ 1 and 2 show that NO2 concentrations are estimated
to be lower than the baseline 2021 scenario at most links, but with CAZ 1
showing increases on 6 links and Caz 2 showing increases on 4 links.
The largest decrease observed in both CAZ 1 and 2 is on Castle Street,
as might be expected for a measure that is specifically targeting the city
centre.

24.

However, compared to CASAP 3, most links show higher NO2
concentrations in the CAZ 1 and 2 scenarios. But this is to be
expected, as the CAZ scenarios do not include any of the CASAP
measures and targets a smaller geographical area.

25.

As previously stated Government guidance is quite clear that a charging
CAZ should only be considered as a preferred option if other noncharging measures are not sufficient to bring about compliance in the

Page 698

Page 8 of 16

shortest possible time. Given that the modelling undertaken has
demonstrated that a package of measures achieves compliance in the
same period as charging CAZ, then ultimately the Council can justify
implementing a package of measures as a preferred option rather than a
CAZ. Further as detailed above in paragraph 23 the implementation of
the non-charging measures provides wider air quality improvements
across Cardiff as a whole, including within the existing AQMAs.
26.

Additional qualitative assessment undertaken by the project team and
our consultants on the initial shortlist measures, has concluded that a
number of the measures should be removed from the assessment as
they are not considered feasible, in terms of them being fully
implemented by the end of 2020 and also that the measures only have a
minimal direct impact on NO2 concentrations on Castle Street. The
following measures have therefore been removed from further
assessment in the OBC:







50mph on A4232 (CASAP1)
A48 Park & Ride (CASAP 2)
J33 Park & Ride (CASAP 2)
A470 additional southbound traffic lane (CASAP 3)
Nantgawr Park & Ride (CASAP 3)
Review of Car Parking Charges

27.

In order to develop a final revised package of measures to be assessed
in the Full Business Case for the Final Plan, further assessment in terms
of air quality and transportation modelling will be undertaken and the
impact of the final package of measures will undergo detailed economic
assessment as part of the Full Business Case requirements.

28.

The Full Business Case will also assess any appropriate mitigation
measures that the Council may be required to implement in order to
reduce the impact of any traffic displacement effects that the measures
may have on surrounding communities. Further the assessments will
assess further mitigation that may be required to ensure that the
measures, particularly the City Centre Schemes, do not cause significant
displacement of poor air quality as a result of their implementation.

Wider Measures – Clean Air Strategy
29.

As the Initial Plan and OBC for the feasibility study have been developed
from the long list of measures set out in a draft Clean Air Strategy and
Action Plan, it is felt that it is important to include a finalised Clean Air
Strategy with the OBC to further support the longer term ambition of the
Council to reduce NO2 levels as low as reasonable practicable.

30.

The strategy coincides with Cardiff’s Capital Ambition report and will help
implement and deliver the Capital Ambition with an overarching aim to
improve air quality to protect and improve public health in Cardiff. The
Clean Air Strategy will appoint strategic measures that will look to

Page 699

Page 9 of 16

generate a positive impact to citywide air quality levels, in particular traffic
derived NO2 levels.
31.

As such Appendix C of the OBC included in Appendix 1 of this report,
details the Councils, wider Clean Air Strategy. This document sets out
additional longer term strategic measures that, whilst not necessarily
delivering compliance with the limit value in the shortest possible time,
are further measures that implemented through an Action Plan will
contribute to wider air quality improvements, specifically in the AQMAs.
The key theme of the measures is to increase the uptake of sustainable
and active travel modes by influencing behavioural change in Cardiff.
Some of the measures detailed in the Clean Air Strategy include:







Implementation and Enforcement of Non Idling Zones;
Installation of Living Walls and other Green Infrastructure;
EV Infrastructure and Council Fleet Measures;
Car Clubs with Low Emission/ Zero Emission Vehicles;
Air Quality Planning Guidance; and
Schools Active Travel Programmes

Engagement Exercise
32.

A detailed within Section 6.6 of the OBC, a detailed engagement/
communication strategy has been developed in order to inform the key
stakeholders, businesses, and the wider community on how the OBC has
developed a preferred option. The communications strategy sets out the
following objectives;
 To advise the public and stakeholders on the process that has to be
followed to develop the OBC to meet the requirements of the Welsh
Government;
 To provide information on the measures that are being proposed in
the OBC, what these measures are and how these measures will
be benchmarked against a variety of possible Clean Air Zones in
terms of the timescales for achieving compliance; and
 To give the public and stakeholders the opportunity to ask any
questions through the engagement process and receive responses
from the project team.

33.

The proposed strategy is a high level communication exercise, which is
ultimately a pre-engagement exercise in relation to the Council’s clean air
feasibility study. Further detailed statutory consultation will be
undertaken, specifically on the City Centre Schemes separately as
their design and implementation are approved and taken forward as
separate detailed schemes.

34.

It is proposed to run the engagement exercise, from the Wednesday
April 3rd 2019 and will end six weeks later on Wednesday May 15th 2019.
This will enable the Council to consider feedback that will be received
during the engagement exercise as the FBC is developed and finalised.

Page 700

Page 10 of 16

35.

This timeframe is seen as the maximum that can be allowed for, owing to
the short timescales for the Council to complete the FBC in order to
comply with the required legal deadline of 30th June 2019, set out in the
Direction. Similar engagement timescales have been followed by other
LAs, who have also been progressing Clean Air Feasibility Studies under
Legal Direction.

Refined Package of Measures to be Assessed in Full Business Case
36.

The OBC has proposed a refined package of measures as the Councils
preferred option which includes the following measures:






Electric Buses – 36 Electric Buses to be implemented on a
number of routes within the City Centre;
Bus Retro Fitting Programme –Target up to 94 buses that
currently do not meet latest Euro 6 emission standard;
Taxi Licensing Policy and Mitigation Scheme;
City Centre Loop Schemes, inclusive of Castle Street ; and
Active Travel Measures

Funding for Measures
37. Within the letter from Hannah Blythyn, Minster for the Environment that
accompanied the formal direction it was confirmed that finance would be
made available for the production of the feasibility study and for the
implementation of the chosen scheme. The Welsh Government has also
stated in its Final Supplemental NO2 Plan7 that it has allocated over £20
million for an Air Quality Fund through to 2021 to help accelerate
compliance with NO2 limits and improve air quality in Wales. The Welsh
Government has also stated that this fund will primarily be used to provide
on going support, guidance and finance to enable Cardiff Council (and
Caerphilly County Borough Council) to take action to achieve compliance
in the shortest possible time. It further states that the fund will be used to
‘deliver the options which will achieve compliance with limit values in the
shortest possible time.’
38. With regards to the revised shortlisted measures detailed in paragraph 33
above the required funding to implement these measures is detailed as
follows:
Electric Buses
39. Cardiff Council and Cardiff Bus, bid jointly to the Department of Transport
(DfT) Ultra Low Emission Bus (ULEB) Grant fund for funding of up to
£5.7M for 36 electric buses and associated charging infrastructure. The
Grant Funding contributes 75% of the cost difference between the
purchase of conventional diesel buses and their electric equivalent and
75% of the capital for the required infrastructure.

Welsh Government supplemental plan to the UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide
concentrations 2017
7

Page 701

Page 11 of 16

40. The full of the implementation of this measure will be developed further
and detailed as such in the Full Business Case.
Bus Retro-Fitting Programme
41. In 2017, Cardiff Council and Cardiff Bus submitted a joint bid to the DfTs
Clean Bus Technology Fund (CBTF) for the retrofitting of some 94 buses
that do not meet the latest Euro 6 diesel emission standards. This
programme would look to fit approved technology to older buses, rather
than having to fully replace them with Euro 6 or E-Buses. In terms of
costs the initial funding bid calculated a cost of £1.36M (ex VaT) to
complete the retro fit on all 96 buses.
42. This scheme will be open to all bus operators who may wish to apply to
the scheme for funding to support the retrofitting of suitable buses using
approved technology.
Taxi Licensing Policy and Mitigation Measures
43. On the 5th March the Public Protection Committee approved for Shared
Regulatory Services to consult on the proposals to amend the Council’s
taxi licensing policy which would see the introduction of new emissions
and age requirements for the granting of new licenses and/ or change of
vehicle applications on new existing licenses. The proposals would
require that any vehicle included on the application for a new grant is a
minimum Euro 6 emission standard (petrol and diesel) as part of the
license application. The same emission standard would also apply for any
change of vehicle on an existing license.
44. Following the detailed consultation on this proposal the Public Protection
Committee will then be asked to approve the revisions of the Councils
licensing policy, with an implementation date to be agreed. Whilst there is
no direct cost the Council for implementing the revised license conditions,
the economic assessment will include for the provision of mitigating
measures for the taxi trade. A number of Councils in the UK have already
introduced similar vehicle emission standards on taxis, but in doing so
they have worked to assist the taxi trade by offering incentive schemes.
Once such scheme is that offered by Southampton City Council.
45. Southampton provide a grant to taxi drivers to assist them in upgrading
their vehicles. For Fully EVs Southampton provide a £3k and for plug in
hybrids, £2.5k is offered.
46. If Cardiff Council was to provide a similar grant scheme, through the Air
Quality Fund, based on the number of private hire vehicles and hackney
carriages that do not meet the latest Euro 6 emission standards (~1800
vehicles) further funding of between £5.5M (Fully EV) and £3.6M (Plugin
hybrids) would be required to support a grant scheme. The provision of
such scheme will therefore be included as part of the Councils OBC and
the full details of such a scheme developed for the FBC.

Page 702

Page 12 of 16

City Centre ‘Loop’ Schemes
47. In identifying the required funding for City Centre Transport improvement
Schemes, only those schemes that are likely to be implemented up to the
end of 2021, have been included for consideration. Currently it is
forecasted that these schemes could cost in the region of £18.9M, subject
to appropriate detailed designs.
The breakdown of these costs is presented in
Table 4, and gives the
project total costs excluding any existing match funding bids.
Table 4 - Funding for City Centre Schemes
Name of Scheme
City Centre West (Westgate St/ Wood St & Ctrl Sq
City Centre North (Castle St) and Bldv de Nantes
Eastside Phs 1 –

Required Funding
to
Complete Schemes up to
end of 2021
£7.6M
£7.1M
£4.2M
Total £18.9M

48. Further detailed local modelling of the above schemes is ongoing in terms
of both transportation and air quality impacts. The results of this additional
modelling/ assessment will be used to further enhance the Full Business
Case for these schemes measures.
Active Travel Measures
49. The total projected costs to complete a wider 20mph area/Active Travel
role out (2 additional areas of Grangetown and SE Cardiff
(Splott/Adamsdown)), and completion of the CS1 to University Hospital
Wales (UHW) is forecasted at £7.3M. To date £3M has been bid for from
the Active Travel Fund for CS1, with a remaining funding deficit to
compete CS1 of £2.8M and £1.4M for the Active Travel/ 20 mph areas
required.
50. Excluding existing funding bids the estimated OBC costs to implement
the package of measures as a preferred option is summarised below in
Table 5.
Table 5 - Final Preferred Package of Measures Funding Costs
Measure

Est. Funding Requirements £M

Measure
Electric Buses

£1.8M

Bus Retrofit

£1.4M

Taxi Mitigation Schemes

£5.5*

City Centre Schemes

£18.9M

Active Travel and CS1 Completion

£4.2
Total:£31.8M

51. In addition to the above funding mechanisms, the Council will continue to
work collaboratively with Welsh Government officials to identify all
available and an appropriate funding mechanisms including the Air Quality
Fund, Local Transport Fund and Active Travel Fund in order to maximise

Page 703

Page 13 of 16

the financial contribution from Welsh Government towards the
implementation of the measures to be included in the Final Business
Case.
Next Steps
52. The revised package of measures will be further assessed both in terms of
transport and air quality modelling, as a final package of measures to
enable the Council to develop the Full Business Case. This will include
the full detailed socio-economic distribution of the measures and a
distributional analysis to understand the extent to which these measures
may impact on the residents of Cardiff and those that travel in to the city.
For the final business assessment these additional considerations will be
assessed in more detail in terms of a health impact assessment and a
distributional impact assessment.
53. The results of this assessment will then demonstrate the level of
compliance that will be achieved by implementing the preferred option on
Castle Street, and elsewhere across the City including within the existing
AQMAs. This report will be reviewed and assessed by the Welsh
Government’s Expert Review Panel, prior to final approval of the preferred
option being provided from Welsh Government.
Reason for Recommendations
54.

To enable Cardiff Council to identify a preferred option in order to meet
the requirements of the Welsh Government Legal Direction, in achieving
compliance with NO2 legal limits in the shortest possible time.

Financial Implications
55. As set out in the body of the report funding has been made available by
the Welsh Government to the Council in order to carry out the feasibility
study. In addition the Welsh Government has created an Air Quality Fund
with earmarked funding of £20m to deliver measures required to ensure
compliance with air quality standards. Table 5 indicates that the cost of
the Preferred Package is in excess of this sum. The Council will continue
to work collaboratively with Welsh Government officers to maximise the
financial contribution from the Welsh Government towards the
implementation of any measures.
56. On that basis the current assumption is that the implementation costs of
any measures required to ensure compliance will be directly funded by the
Welsh Government with no direct financial implications for the Council as a
consequence. The development of the Full Business Case will require
more detailed costings of the proposed measures including the
identification of any recurring operational or lifecycle costs.
Legal Implications
57.

Section 85(7) of the Environment Act 1995 states that it is the duty of a
local authority to comply with any Direction given to it under that Act. The

Page 704

Page 14 of 16

Council therefore has a statutory duty to comply with the Direction, which
could be enforced through a Court order in the event of default.
59.

60.

Any specific proposals which are developed will require appropriate
consultation. The consultation which is proposed is set out in paragraphs
33 – 36 of this Report. The Council will be obliged to consider feedback
from the consultation.
The Council has to satisfy its public sector duties under the Equality Act
2010. Pursuant to these legal duties the Council must in making
decisions have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful
discrimination (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good
relations on the basis of protected characteristics
Protected characteristics are:
 Age
 Gender reassignment
 Sex
 Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality
 Disability
 Pregnancy and maternity
 Marriage and civil partnership
 Sexual orientation
 Religion or belief – including lack of belief

61.

It is important that the Council should undertake an Equality Impact
Assessment or Assessments in order to ensure that the Council has
properly understood and assessed the potential impacts of the proposals
in terms of equality, so that it can ensure that it is making proportionate
and rational decisions having due regard to its public sector equality
duty.

62.

The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 places a ‘wellbeing duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving seven national wellbeing goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, healthier,
more equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and thriving
Welsh language, and is globally responsible.

63.

In discharging its duties under the 2015 Act, the Council has set and
published well being objectives designed to maximise its contribution to
achieving the national well being goals. The well being objectives are set
out
in
Cardiff’s
Corporate
Plan
2018-21:
http://cmsprd.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-andpolicies/Corporate-Plan/Documents/Corporate%20Plan%202018-21.pdf
When exercising its functions, the Council is required to take all
reasonable steps to meet its well being objectives. This means that the
decision makers should consider how the proposed decision will
contribute towards meeting the well being objectives and must be
satisfied that all reasonable steps have been taken to meet those
objectives.

Page 705

Page 15 of 16

64.

The well being duty also requires the Council to act in accordance with a
‘sustainable development principle’. This principle requires the Council
to act in a way which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are
met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their
own needs. Put simply, this means that Council decision makers must
take account of the impact of their decisions on people living their lives in
Wales in the future. In doing so, the Council must:






65.

Look to the long term
Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of
problems
Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the seven national
well-being goals
Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable
solutions
Involve people from all sections of the community in the
decisions which affect them

The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposed decision accords
with the principles above; and due regard must be given to the Statutory
Guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers, which is accessible using the
link below: http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/futuregenerations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en

RECOMMENDATIONS
Cabinet is recommended to:
1.

Approve the Clean Air Feasibility Study Outline Business Case Report
produced by the Council which recommends that the Council’s preferred
option to achieve compliance in the shortest possible time, is a package
of measures, rather than a Charging Clean Air Zone.

2.

Approve the engagement exercise to inform key stakeholders,
businesses and the wider public on the Council’s preferred option being
a package of measures which will be developed into a Full Business
Case.

3.

Note the package of measures will be further assessed and developed
into a Full Business which will be brought to Cabinet for approval prior to
submitting to Welsh Government no later than the 30th June 2019, to
comply with the requirements of a Final Plan as per the legal direction1.

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER

ANDREW GREGORY
Director of Planning, Transport &
Environment
15 March 2019

The following appendix is attached
Appendix 1 - Cardiff Council Clean Air Feasibility Study – Outline Business
Case March 2019

Page 706

Page 16 of 16

Cardiff Council Clean Air Feasibility Study

Interim Plan - Outline Business Case

March 2019

Page 707

SECTION 1 INTRODUCTION

1

1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4

CARDIFF
OVERVIEW OF STUDY
PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
SUMMARY OF INITIAL PLAN

1
1
2
2

SECTION 2 STRATEGIC CASE

7

2.1 BACKGROUND AND STRATEGIC CONTEXT
2.1.1 UK AIR QUALITY STRATEGY
2.1.2 EUROPEAN AIR QUALITY DIRECTIVES
2.1.3 AIR QUALITY OBJECTIVES AND LIMIT VALUES
2.2 PUBLIC HEALTH IMPACTS
2.3 AIR QUALITY IN CARDIFF
2.3.1 MONITORING
2.3.2 AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT AREAS
2.3.3 IMPROVEMENTS TO AIR QUALITY -PROGRESS TO DATE
2.4 EARLY INTERVENTIONS
2.4.1 ON STREET RESIDENTIAL CHARGING POINTS
2.4.2 ELECTRIC CHARGING POINTS AT COUNCIL FACILITIES
2.4.3 PLANNING GUIDANCE FOR THE PROVISION OF ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POINTS
2.4.4 EXPANSION OF NEXTBIKE SCHEME
2.4.5 PUBLIC SERVICE BOARD TARGETS
2.5 WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015
2.5.1 CARDIFF WELL-BEING PLAN 2018-2023
2.5.2 NATIONAL WELL-BEING GOALS AND THE FIVE WAYS OF WORKING
2.6 CONSISTENCY AND RELEVANCE WITH OTHER POLICIES
2.6.1 LOCAL POLICY
2.6.1.1 Local Transport Plan
2.6.1.2 Cardiff’s Local Development Plan 2006-2026
2.6.1.3 Capital City Regional Deal
2.6.2 NATIONAL POLICY
2.6.2.1 Prosperity for All
2.6.2.2 Welsh Transport Policy
2.6.2.3 Planning Policy Wales
2.6.2.4 Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013
2.7 STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
2.7.1 CONSULTATION ON THE GREEN PAPER ON TRANSPORT AND CLEAN AIR
2.7.2 ENGAGEMENT ON PREFERRED OPTION
2.8 THE CASE FOR CHANGE
2.8.1 PRIMARY OBJECTIVE
2.8.2 SECONDARY OBJECTIVES

7
7
7
8
8
10
10
10
12
13
13
13
13
14
14
14
15
16
17
17
17
18
20
20
20
21
21
21
21
22
22
23
23
23
Page|i

Page 708

SECTION 3 ECONOMIC CASE

24

3.1 INTRODUCTION
3.2 MODELLING OF THE SHORTLIST OF MEASURES
3.2.1 CLEAN AIR STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN (CASAP) PACKAGE INTERVENTIONS
3.3 LOCAL AIR QUALITY MODELLING RESULTS FOR CASAP MEASURES
3.3.1 MODELLED RESULTS ON PCM ROAD LINKS
3.3.2 RESULTS AT LOCAL MONITORING LOCATIONS
3.3.3 MODELLING UNCERTAINTY
3.4 CHARGING CLEAN AIR ZONE – BENCHMARKING EXERCISE
3.4.1 CLEAN AIR ZONE SCENARIOS
3.4.2 MODELLING ASSUMPTION OF CAZS
3.4.3 COMPARISON WITH PCM RESULTS
3.4.4 RESULTS AT LOCAL MONITORING LOCATIONS
3.5 FURTHER QUALITATIVE ASSESSMENT OF MEASURES
3.6 REVISED WELTAG APPRAISAL
3.6.1 ENVIRONMENTAL APPRAISAL
3.6.2 SOCIAL AND CULTURAL APPRAISAL
3.6.2.1 Physical Activity
3.6.2.2 Journey Times
3.6.3 ACCIDENTS
3.6.3.1 Access to Employment and Services
3.6.4 ECONOMIC APPRAISAL
3.6.4.1 Journey Time and Journey Time Reliability Changes
3.6.4.2 Capital Costs
3.6.4.3 Land
3.6.5 VALUE FOR MONEY
3.6.6 SUMMARY APPRAISAL TABLES
3.7 CONCLUSION ON THE ASSESSMENT OF MEASURES

24
25
25
26
27
30
33
35
35
36
38
40
44
46
46
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
48
48
48
53

SECTION 4 COMMERCIAL CASE

54

4.1 INTRODUCTION
4.2 MARKET ASSESSMENT
4.3 PROCUREMENT OPTIONS
4.3.1 EXISTING COUNCIL FRAMEWORKS
4.3.2 NATIONAL PROCUREMENT SERVICES
4.3.3 OJEU ROUTE

54
54
55
56
56
56

SECTION 5 FINANCIAL CASE

57

5.1 FUNDING
5.2 COST ASSUMPTIONS
5.2.1 ELECTRIC BUSES
5.2.2 RETRO-FIT SCHEME FOR BUSES

57
57
57
57
Page|ii

Page 709

5.2.3 TAXI LICENSING POLICY AND MITIGATION MEASURES
5.2.4 CITY CENTRE SCHEMES
5.2.5 ACTIVE TRAVEL MEASURES
5.2.6 MONITORING AND EVALUATION
5.3 CONTINGENCY
5.4 ASSURANCE OF COST ESTIMATES
5.5 BUDGET AND RISK MANAGEMENT
5.6 OTHER FUNDING OPTIONS

58
60
62
63
65
65
65
65

SECTION 6 MANAGEMENT CASE

66

6.1 INTRODUCTION
6.2 PROJECT MANAGEMENT
6.2.1 PROJECT BOARD
6.2.2 PROJECT EXECUTIVE (PEXEC)
6.2.3 SERVICE AREA REPRESENTATIVE (SENIOR USER)
6.2.4 SENIOR SUPPLIER
6.2.5 PROJECT MANAGER
6.2.6 PROJECT ASSURANCE
6.2.7 PROJECT SUPPORT
6.2.8 AUDIT COMMITTEE
6.2.9 SENIOR MANAGEMENT
6.2.10 INVESTMENT REVIEW BOARD
6.2.11 ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT BOARD
6.3 FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
6.3.1 FINANCIAL REPORTING
6.3.2 VARIATION MONITORING
6.4 PROJECT PLAN
6.5 RISK MANAGEMENT
6.6 COMMUNICATIONS STRATEGY
6.6.1 AIMS
6.6.2 OBJECTIVES
6.6.3 STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT

66
66
66
66
67
67
67
67
68
68
68
68
69
70
70
70
71
71
71
71
71
72

SECTION 7 SUMMARY AND NEXT STEPS

76

7.1
7.2

76
77

RESULTS OF ASSESSMENT OF OPTIONS
NEXT STEPS

Appendix A - Air Quality Modelling Methodology Report
Appendix B - Transport Modelling Technical Approach
Appendix C - Clean Air Strategy
Appendix D - Project Risk Register
Appendix E - Communication Strategy
Page|iii

Page 710

LIST OF FIGURES
Figure 1 - PCM Road Links Results 2021 .................................................................................................3
Figure 2 - Local Modelling Baseline Results 2021...................................................................................4
Figure 3 - Source Apportionment Analysis 2021 ....................................................................................5
Figure 4 – 2017 Monitored NO2 Results and Existing AQMAs in Cardiff...............................................11
Figure 5 - The Well- being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Matrix.........................................15
Figure 6- PCM Links Local Model Results for CASAP 3 Package- 2021 .................................................29
Figure 7 - Probability Distribution Analysis...........................................................................................35
Figure 8 - CAZ Boundary for Benchmark Exercise ................................................................................36
Figure 9 - PCM Links Colour Coded With CAZ 1 Results In 2021...........................................................42
Figure 10 - PCM Links Colour Coded With CAZ 2 Results In 2021.........................................................43
Figure 11 - Locations of Proposed Air Quality Monitoring Network ....................................................64
Figure 12 - Updated Project for Delivery of Final Plan .........................................................................74
Figure 13 - Implementation Plan of Preferred Options ........................................................................75
List of Tables
Table 1 - Initial Shortlist of Measures .....................................................................................................5
Table 2 - UK and EU Air Quality Objectives for NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 ..................................................8
Table 3- Five Year Dataset For Monitored Annual Average NO2 Levels At Residential Facades. .........12
Table 4 - Council Expectations on the Provision of EV Charging Points ...............................................13
Table 5 - Shortlist of Measures Detailed in Initial Plan.........................................................................24
Table 6 - CASAP Measures Transportation Modelling Methodologies.................................................25
Table 7 - Emission Based Modelling Assumptions................................................................................26
Table 8 - PCM and local model NO2 concentration results for 2015 and 2021 (NO2 in µgm-3) ...........27
Table 9 - Predicted NO2 Annual Mean Concentrations at Monitoring Site Locations in 2015 & 2021.30
Table 10 - CAZ Modelling Assumptions ................................................................................................37
Table 11 - PCM and Local Model NO2 Concentration Results for CAZ 1 and 2 .....................................38
Table 12 - Predicted NO2 Annual Mean Concentrations at Monitoring site Locations in 2021 with CAZ
1 and CAZ 2...........................................................................................................................................40
Table 13 - Revision of Initial Measures against Primary Success Factor...............................................44
Table 14 - Revised Assessment of Options Against Primary and Secondary Objectives ......................45
Table 15– WelTAG Well-being Aspects ................................................................................................46
Table 16 - CASAP Measures Summary Appraisal..................................................................................49
Table 17 - CAZ Scenario 1 Summary Appraisal Table ...........................................................................51
Table 18 - Summary of WelTAG Well-being Aspects Appraisals ..........................................................52
Table 19 - Bus Retrofit Scheme Costs ...................................................................................................58
Table 20 - Taxi Incentive Grant Scheme Spend Forecast......................................................................59
Table 21 - City Centre West Scheme Expenditure Forecast .................................................................61
Table 22 - City Centre North Scheme Expenditure Forecast ................................................................61
Table 23 - Eastside Phs 1 Scheme Expenditure Forecast......................................................................61
Table 24 - Expenditure Forecast for the 20 Mph Areas........................................................................62
Table 25 - Expenditure Forecast for Completion of Cycle Way 1 .........................................................62
Table 26 - Final Preferred Package of Measures Estimated Costs........................................................63
Table 27 - Cost Estimates for an Equivalent AURN Monitoring Station ...............................................64
Table 28 - Cost Estimate for Additional Near Real-time Air Quality Analysers.....................................65
Table 29 - Stakeholder Interest Groups Matrix ....................................................................................73
Page|iv

Page 711

Acronyms, Definitions and Notes
AADT

Annual Average Daily Traffic

ANPR

Automatic Number Plate Recognition

AQAP

Air Quality Action Plan

AQMA

Air Quality Management Area

CASAP

Clean Air Strategy and Action Plan

CAZ

Clean Air Zone

CCBTF

Cardiff Clean Bus Technology Fund

CCR

Cardiff Capital Region

CCW

City Centre West

CCN

City Centre North

CO

Carbon Monoxide

CSF

Critical Success Factor

Defra

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

DfT

Department of Transport

DIA

Distributional Impact Assessment

DPFs

Diesel Particulate Filters

EV

Electric Vehicle

FBC

Full Business Case

fNO2

NO2 Fraction

HGV

Heavy Goods Vehicle

HIA

Health Impact Assessment

JAQU

Joint Air Quality Unit

LAQM

Local Air Quality Management

LES

Low Emission Strategy

LEV

Low Emission Vehicle

LGV

Light Goods Vehicle

LowCVP

Low Carbon Vehicle Partnership

LTP

Local Transport Plan

NO2

Nitrogen Dioxide

NPV

Net Present Value

O3

Ozone

ODB

Organisational Development Board
Page|v

Page 712

OBC

Outline Business Case

OLEV

Office for Low Emission Vehicles

PM2.5

Particulate matter with a size (diameter) generally less than 2.5 micrometres (2.5
thousandths of a millimetre)

PM10

Particulate matter with a size (diameter) generally less than 10 micrometres (10
thousandths of a millimetre)

PCM

Pollution Climate Mapping

PPW

Planning Policy Wales

PSB

Public Service Board

PQA

Project Quality Assurance

PMO

Project Management Office

SCR

Selective Catalytic Reduction

SEWTM

South East Wales Transport Model

SO2

Sulphur Dioxide

TRC

Traffic Regulation Condition

ULEV

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle

WFG

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

µgm-3

Micrograms per cubic metre

Definitions
“CASAP measures” is also referred to as “CASAP Package” & “CASAP 3”. All refer to a final package of
non-charging mitigation measures which are an accumulation of identified mitigation measures
developed from the long list of measures outlined in the Clean Air Strategy and Action Plan, as well
as from followed up detailed air quality modelling.
CAZ 1 & 2 are both variants of a Charging Clean Air Zone.
Cardiff Council is normally referred to in this OBC as “Cardiff Council”, but sometimes as “the
Council”.
Welsh Government- Environment Act 1995 (feasibility study for Nitrogen Dioxide Compliance) Air
Quality Direction 2018- referred to as “the direction” throughout this OBC.

Notes regarding appendices
Please note that appendices will comprise separate documents for the OBC, due to their size. They
will be available as separate documents via the Council’s website, following publication of this OBC.
Consideration will be given to providing a summary of them in the FBC, within the respective
appendices.

Page|vi

Page 713

Executive Summary
Background
In response to a legal direction Cardiff Council received from Welsh Government- Environment Act
1995 (feasibility study for Nitrogen Dioxide Compliance) Air Quality Direction 2018- the Council must:


Submit “initial scoping proposals”- by March 2018- to set out how Cardiff Council would
undertake a feasibility study.



Submit an “initial plan”, by September 2018, to set out the case for change and develop
options for measures that the local authority will implement to deliver compliance with
Clean Air targets in the shortest possible time.



Submit the “final plan”, no later than the 30th June 2019, to set out in detail the preferred
option for delivering compliance in the shortest possible time, including a full business case

The Council has been following a legal process to comply with the direction. As part of this
process the Council submitted its “initial scoping proposals” in March 2018 and its Initial Plan,
to Welsh Government in September 2018, as approved by Cabinet 15th November 2018 which
presented the results of the initial baseline assessment of the Clean Air Feasibility Study.
Whilst the Direction itself does not specifically require the Council to submit an Outline Business
Case (OBC) the development of a Full Business Case (FBC) cannot be achieved without first
assessing the OBC. The OBC sets out a preferred option for the Council to implement to achieve
compliance in the shortest possible time.
Results of Initial Plan
The results of the local modelling presented in the Initial Plan, differed to that undertaken by Defra
using the Pollution Climate Mapping model. DEFRA’s modelling identified two road links under
baseline conditions which were projected to show non-compliance beyond 2021, namely the A48 and
the A4232.
The localised modelling identified only one road link under baseline conditions projected to show noncompliance beyond 2021, this being the A4161 Castle Street, in the City Centre. In assessing the model
data the main reason for this exceedance relates to very high traffic flows, some 32,000 vehicles a day
and accompanying slow speeds of around 11mph on this specific road link.
Within the Initial Plan Report a long list of measures developed from the Draft Clean Air Strategy and
Action Plan (CASAP) were qualitatively assessed against a primary objective of achieving compliance
with set air quality objectives in the shortest possible time. The measures were considered against
secondary objectives and were subjected to further qualitative assessments against the WelTAG Wellbeing Aspects.
The shortlist presented in the Initial Plan was as follows:
 Implement further speed restrictions and enhance already established 20mph Zones.
 Development of Cycling Superhighways infrastructure and Expansion of Next bike Scheme
 Implement Zero Emission Buses on Cardiff Network
 Revision to Taxi Licensing Policy to include emissions standards
 Bus Network Programme- Strategic Bus Network to improve bus networks and efficiency of
the services via increased and improved bus lanes
Page|vii

Page 714






Accelerate Park and Ride (P & R) programme in NW & NE of Cardiff. NW; Implement new Park
and Ride facilities at Junction 33 (750 Spaces) and Llantrisant Road (250 Spaces). NE;
expansion of P & R on the A48.
City Centre West and Central Interchange and Eastside City Centre Schemes
Improve and promote the uptake of low emission vehicles by enhancing Cardiff’s EV
infrastructure
Review and implement car parking and car permit charges.

Prior to commencing the assessment of the above measures, further additional measures were also
identified owing to the results of the local modelling. These additional measures have been assessed
to include a wider Bus Retrofitting Programme, further network improvements on the A470 and a bus
based P&R at Nantgarw.
In addition to assessing the package of measures, as required by the Government Guidance the
Council has assessed the effectiveness of a charging Clean Air Zone (CAZ) in terms of whether
compliance could be achieved quicker than the proposed measures.
Government Guidance is clear that a charging CAZ should only be considered as a preferred option/
implemented if non-charging alternatives have been found to be insufficient to bring about
compliance with air quality limits in the shortest possible time.
As a result the OBC has assessed two CAZ options for benchmarking purposes. Both options focussed
on a small city centre zone, as detailed on page 36 of this report. In summary the two CAZ options
were assessed as follows:
•

•

CAZ 1 – Private cars which did not meet Euro 4 (petrol) or Euro 6(diesel) emission
standards would be charged a £10 daily fee for entering the CAZ. No other vehicles
were included in the CAZ.
CAZ 2 – Commercial vehicles – HGVs, LGVs, did not meet Euro 4 (petrol) or Euro 6
(diesel) emission standards, would be charged daily rates for entering the CAZ. For
HGVs the daily charge was set at £50 and for LGVs £10

Results of Assessments
Localised air quality modelling and transport modelling was undertaken to establish the impact of the
CASAP measures and CAZ as to whether compliance could be achieved by 2021.
The CASAP measures have been assessed accumulatively in terms of combining the measures
identified in CASAP 1 with CASAP 2 and finally all measures have been assessed together as a final
package, CASAP 3.
Unsurprisingly the full CASAP package achieves the greatest level of compliance on Castle Street, with
a concentration of 35 µg/m3 forecasted as a result of the implementation of the measures. In addition
to achieving compliance on Castle Street, the impact of the package of measures has also been
modelled at local air quality monitoring locations, including those locations within existing Air Quality
Management Areas (AQMAs). The results of the modelling indicate that all monitoring locations are
expected to have concentrations below 40 µg/m3 which demonstrates that the package of measures
will improve local air quality including within existing AQMAs.
The ruling of the Client Earth 2 set out three tests that Clean Air Plans (the Feasibility Study) must meet
in order that they are seen to comply with Article 23 of the EU Directive. The third test states that the
plans must demonstrate that compliance with the limit values is not just possible, but likely.
As
summarised above through the implementation of the full CASAP measures the level of compliance
Page|viii

Page 715

that is modelled to be obtained on Castle Street, is the greatest with NO2 concentrations reduced from
41.1 µg/m3 to 35 µg/m3.
Owing to the level of uncertainty in the air quality modelling achieving a level of 35 µg/m3 or better is
an important target for the Council to obtain. Probability analysis undertaken, indicates that modelled
levels of 35 µg/m3 or less gives a greater than 80% probability that compliance with the limit value will
actually be achieved, when the measures are implemented.
As a comparison the results of the modelling undertaken on the CAZ scenarios are summarised as
follows:
•
•

CAZ 1 – Private cars - achieves compliance on Castle Street – 32.5 µg/m3;
CAZ 2 – Commercial vehicles – achieves compliance on Castle Street NO2 – 35.3
µg/m3

The results for CAZ 1 and 2 show that NO2 concentrations are estimated to be lower than the baseline
2021 scenario at most links, but with CAZ 1 showing small increases on 6 links and Caz 2 showing
increases on 4 links. The largest decrease observed in both CAZ 1 and CAZ 2 is on Castle Street, as
might be expected for a measure that is specifically targeting the city centre.
Compared to the CASAP measures, most links show higher concentrations of NO2 in the CAZ 1 and 2
scenarios. But this is to be expected, as the CAZ scenarios do not include any of the CASAP measures
and targets a smaller geographical area. Overall the CASAP measures provide wider overall
improvements to air quality across Cardiff.
Funding and Implementation Costs
The Welsh Government has stated that it has allocated over £20 million for an Air Quality Fund
through to 2021 to help accelerate compliance with NO2 limits and improve air quality in Wales. Welsh
Government have stated that this fund will primarily be used to provide on-going support, guidance
and finance to enable Cardiff Council (and Caerphilly County Borough Council) to take action to
achieve compliance in the shortest possible time.
Within the Minister’s letter that accompanied the formal direction it was confirmed that finance
would be made available for the production of the feasibility study and for the implementation of the
chosen scheme.
In addition to the above funding mechanisms, the Council will continue to work collaboratively with
Welsh Government officers to identify all available and an appropriate funding mechanisms including
transportation funds, to maximise the financial contribution from Welsh Government towards the
implementation of any measures.
The proposed implementation costs of the preferred package is summarised as follows:
Measure

Est. Funding Requirements £M

Electric Buses

£1.8M

Bus Retrofit

£1.4M

Taxi Mitigation Schemes

£5.5M*

City Centre Schemes
Active Travel and CS1 completion

£18.9M
£4.2M
Total: £31.8M

Page|ix

Page 716

Next Steps
Government guidance is quite clear that a charging CAZ should only be considered as a preferred
option if other non-charging measures are not sufficient to bring about compliance in the shortest
possible time. Given that the modelling undertaken has demonstrated that a package of measures
achieves compliance in the same period if not sooner than a charging CAZ, then ultimately the Council
is justified in implementing a package of measures as a preferred option rather than a CAZ. Further
as detailed above in the implementation of the non-charging measures provides wider air quality
improvements across Cardiff as a whole, including within the existing AQMAs.
This OBC therefore proposes that a refined package of measures is taken forward as the Councils
preferred option. This refined package of measures includes the following:






Implementation of Electric Buses – 36 Electric Buses to be implemented on a
number of routes within the City Centre;
Bus Retro Fitting Programme –Target up to 94 buses that currently do not meet
latest Euro 6 emission standard;
Taxi Licensing Policy and Mitigation Scheme;
City Centre Loop Schemes, inclusive of Castle Street ; and
Active Travel Measures

The revised package of measures will be further assessed both in terms of transport and air quality
modelling, as a final package of measures to enable the Council to develop the Full Business Case. This
will include the full detailed socio-economic distribution of the measures and a distributional analysis
to understand the extent to which these measures may impact on the residents of Cardiff and those
that travel in to the city. For the full business case these additional considerations will be assessed in
more detail in terms of a health impact assessment and a distributional impact assessment.
The results of this assessment will then demonstrate the level of compliance that will be achieved by
implementing the preferred option on Castle Street, and elsewhere across the City including within
the existing AQMAs. The preferred option will be subject to a full economic assessment following
appropriate guidance to demonstrate the full impact of implementing the preferred option. This
report will be reviewed and assessed by the Welsh Government’s Expert Review Panel, prior to final
approval of the preferred option being provided from Welsh Government.

Page|x

Page 717

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Section 1
1.1

Outline Business Case

Introduction

Cardiff
As the capital city of Wales, Cardiff has a population of 346,100 people, and is a base for many
of the country’s political, cultural, sporting and commercial institutions. Principal destinations
include the Principality Stadium in the City Centre, the St David’s shopping centres, and the
historic Cardiff Castle. To the south of the city, Cardiff Bay (in the Butetown and Grangetown
Wards) houses the Senedd, Wales Millennium Centre, BBC studios. Cardiff City Football Club
and rugby union side Cardiff Blues are also both based in the capital.
Cardiff is located within a well-defined landscape setting with prominent ridges to the west and
north and Severn Estuary to the south. The Western, Northern and Eastern areas of the City are
mainly residential, with the main commercial areas being in the City Centre and to the south.
Cardiff is currently the most populated Welsh local authority, with approximately 361,468
inhabitants and this is predicted to grow to between 395,000 and 413,000 by 2026. Therefore,
the Local Development Plan 1 calls for 41,100 new dwellings and 40,000 new jobs to be created.
Such population growth is likely to place additional strain on the transport network,
exacerbating existing problems of congestion and harmful emissions across the urban area.
In 2013 around 217,600 commuters travelled to work in Cardiff daily, with 83,100 commuting
from outside of the city and 134,500 Cardiff residents travelling within the city to their place of
work2. The city’s travel to work area extends to the whole of South East Wales with an
increasingly significant number of people arriving from Rhondda Cynon Taf, the Vale of
Glamorgan and beyond.
Moreover, although there has been an increase in the use of active and sustainable modes of
travel in recent years, the most used mode of travel in Cardiff both within and into the city is by
the private car. The dominance of the private car leads to congestion and the associated
adverse impacts on the environment, including air quality, greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and
noise pollution.
The countryside and urban area contains a wealth of natural and historic interests. For example,
there are almost 1,000 Listed Buildings, 27 Conservation Areas, 2 sites noted for their
international biodiversity (Cardiff Beechwoods SAC and Severn Estuary SAC/SPA/RAMSAR)
The city has a particularly rich Victorian and Edwardian legacy.
Cardiff has over 400 hectares of recreational open space and 2000 hectares of amenity space.
The four river valleys of the Ely, Taff, Rhymney and Nant Fawr provide extensive and continuous
blue corridors running from the countryside and through the urban area.

1.2

Overview of Study
The UK has in place legislation passed down from the European Union, to ensure that certain
standards of air quality are met, by setting Limit Values on the concentrations of specific air
pollutants. In common with many EU member states, the EU limit value for annual mean
nitrogen dioxide is breached in the UK and there are on-going breaches of the nitrogen dioxide
limit value in Cardiff. The UK and Welsh Government is taking steps to remedy this breach in as
short a time as possible. Within this objective, the UK and devolved governments published a
plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide in July 2017. 3

1

Cardiff Council Adopted Local Development Plan 2006-2026

2

Annual Population Survey 2014

3

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017

Page|1

Page 718

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Due to modelled air quality exceedances Cardiff Council has been directed 4 by the Minister to
produce a feasibility study, to identify the option which will deliver compliance with legal limits
for nitrogen dioxide in the area for which the authority is responsible, in the shortest possible
time.
The Direction specified that Cardiff Council was required to produce an Initial Scoping Proposal,
which required the Council to set out its proposed approach to the feasibility study and included
a scope of work, governance, resourcing, procurement approach, indicative costs and timings.
This report was required to be submitted, to Welsh Government no later than the 31st March
2018. Cardiff Council submitted this proposal to Welsh Government in March 20185.
The Direction subsequently requires two further aspects of the feasibility study. Firstly an Initial
Plan, setting out the case for change and identifying, exploring, analysing and developing
options for measures which the local authority will implement to deliver compliance in the
shortest possible time, with indicative costs for those options. The Direction required this report
be submitted to Welsh Government no later than the 30th September 2018. This report was
submitted to Welsh Government in line with the timelines of the direction.
This report acts an Interim Plan, setting out an Outline Business Case (OBC) for a preferred
option. This will enable the Council to develop a Final Plan, which as part of the Direction
requires the Council to identify in detail the preferred option for delivering compliance in the
shortest possible time, including a Full Business Case (FBC) setting out value for money
considerations and implementation arrangements and timings. The Direction requires this
report be submitted to Welsh Government no later than the 30th June 2019.
The focus of the Feasibility Study is on achieving results in the shortest time possible, and in
accordance with the High Court Order in November 20166 will only consider cost when
comparing between two equally quick schemes.

1.3

Purpose of This Report
As detailed above this report is an Interim Initial Plan setting out an OBC which follows the
requirements of an Outline Case for a preferred option which will bring about compliance with
the Limit Value for annual mean NO2 in the shortest time possible in Cardiff.
It has been produced where feasible in line with the Inception, Evidence and Options Appraisal
packages of Guidance issued by the Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) in 2017, and the HM Treasury
Green Book7. It also reflects the requirements of the Welsh Transport Appraisal Guidance
(WelTAG).8

1.4

Summary of Initial Plan
The results of the local baseline modelling results are presented in detail in the Initial Plan
Report9 submitted to Welsh Government on the 30th September 2018. The results of the local
modelling differed to that undertaken by Defra using the Pollution Climate Mapping model.

Environment Act 1995 (Feasibility Study for Nitrogen Dioxide Compliance) Air Quality Direction 2018 14th Feb
2018
5 Cardiff Council Initial Scoping Report for Feasibility Study
6 November 2016 in R (Client Earth) (NO ) V Secretary of State for Environment Food and Rural Affairs [2016]
2
EWHC 2740 (Admin).
7 HM Treasury Green Book
8 https://beta.gov.wales/welsh-transport-appraisal-guidance-weltag
9 Cardiff Council, Clean Air Feasibility Study – Initial Plan, September 2018.
4

Page|2

Page 719

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

DEFRA’s modelling identified two road links under baseline conditions which were projected to
show non-compliance beyond 2021 as detailed in Figure 1. The roads that were modelled as
exceeding the NO2 annual limit value for by 2021 using the DEFRA Model were the A48 and the
A4232.
Figure 1 - PCM Road Links Results 2021

The localised modelling as reported in the Initial Plan identified only one road link under
baseline conditions projected to show non-compliance beyond 2021, this being the A4161
Castle Street as detailed in Figure 2.
Figure 2 - Local Modelling Baseline Results 2021

Page|3

Page 720

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

In assessing the model data the main reason for this exceedance relates to very high traffic
flows, some 32,000 vehicles a day and accompanying slow speeds of around 11mph on this
specific road link.
The main reasons for the differences between the local model results and the PCM results is
primarily down to the fact that the local model has a far greater level of detail which is based
on local data, and not national assumptions, and thus can be seen to be a better
representation of local circumstances. The key aspects of the local model that influence the
results are as follows:
•
•
•
•

Traffic flows are based on a local traffic model;
Traffic speeds are based on a local model and local traffic master;
Local fleet data from the ANPR, not just national averages; and
Local topology is accounted for in terms of gradient, canyons,

In 2021 the main contribution to pollution on Castle Street, is anticipated to be road traffic
(73 – 78 %), with diesel cars still contributing the largest proportion of emissions (36%) to the
total road NOx emissions. The proportion of emissions from HGVs and buses is expected to
reduce to 10% and 11% respectively. Figure 3 shows the source apportionment analysis on
Castle Street for the baseline assessment for the forecasted year of 2021.

Figure 3 - Source Apportionment Analysis 2021

Page|4

Page 721

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Within the Initial Plan Report a long list of measures were qualitatively assessed against a
primary objective of achieving compliance with set air quality objectives in the shortest
possible time. The measures were considered against secondary objectives and were subjected
to further qualitative assessments against the WelTAG Well-being Aspects. As a result of this
analysis the following shortlist of measures was decided upon and summarised in Table 1.
Table 1 - Initial Shortlist of Measures
Measure
reference:
M8
M13
M14
M21
M11
M12

M10
M18
M23

Scheme Description
Implement further speed restrictions and enhance already established 20mph Zones.
Development of Cycling Superhighways infrastructure and Expansion of Next bike
Scheme
Implement Zero Emission Buses on Cardiff Network
Revision to Taxi Licensing Policy to include emissions standards
Bus Network Programme- Strategic Bus Network to improve bus networks and
efficiency of the services via increased and improved bus lanes
Accelerate Park and Ride (P & R) programme in NW & NE of Cardiff. NW; Implement
new Park and Ride facilities at Junction 33 (750 Spaces) and Llantrisant Road (250
Spaces). NE; expansion of P & R on the A48.
City Centre West and Central Interchange and Eastside City Centre Schemes
Improve and promote the uptake of low emission vehicles by enhancing Cardiff’s EV
infrastructure
Review and implement car parking and car permit charges.

It must be noted that the above shortlist of measures were initially identified as measures
that would likely have the greatest impact on the road links identified by the PCM modelling
as being non-compliant, namely the A48 and A4232 near Cardiff Bay. However, the measures
were also assessed in terms of their likely impact on improving air quality within the Councils
existing Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs). As detailed in the Initial Plan Report, the
results of the local modelling demonstrated that compliance issues are not forecasted to occur
on the A48 or the A4232. Non-compliance issues are now predicted to only occur on Castle
Street which is immediately adjacent to the boundary of the City Centre AQMA, and measures
put forward to address air quality in this AQMA will likely have an impact on this road link.
The above measures have been grouped together as a package of measures to assess their
effectiveness in achieving compliance. In addition to the above measures, the Council is
required as part of a benchmarking exercise to assess the effectiveness of a Charging Clean
Air Zone (CAZ) as a separate measure.
As detailed in the Initial Plan, the modelling of charging CAZ undertaken by Defra focussed on
delivering compliance on the road links identified by the PCM model as being non-compliant.
The local baseline modelling has demonstrated that non-compliance issues were not
projected on the A48 or A4232 but where restricted to the City Centre with only Castle Street,
A4161 projected to be non-compliant.
This report presents the findings of local air quality and transport modelling of the shortlist of
measures identified in the Initial Plan and these measures have been benchmarked against a
Charging Clean Air Zone. The result of these assessments will enable the Council to identify
our preferred option, which will be refined into a Full Business Case to be presented in the
Final Plan, which must be submitted to Welsh Government no later than the 30th June 2019.
Page|5

Page 722

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Page|6

Page 723

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Section 2
2.1

Outline Business Case

Strategic Case

Background and Strategic Context
The Initial Plan report presented a detailed baseline assessment of the existing situation,
including an overview of legislation and policies and a description of the current EU Limit Value
compliance status for Cardiff as well as a summary of the current local air quality management
issues within Cardiff, and a summarised version is presented below.

2.1.1

UK Air Quality Strategy
The UK Air Quality Strategy10 identifies nine ambient air pollutants that have the potential to
cause harm to human health. These pollutants are associated with local air quality problems,
with the exception of ozone, which is instead considered to be a regional problem.
The Air Quality (Wales) Regulations and subsequent amendments (National Assembly for
Wales, 2000 and 2002) set objectives for the seven pollutants that are associated with local
air quality. The objectives aim to reduce the health impacts of those pollutants to negligible
levels as part of the Local Air Quality Management in Wales
Welsh Ministers have a responsibility to ensure air quality levels in Wales comply with air
quality limit values in accordance with the Air Quality Standards (Wales) Regulations, 2010.
Cardiff Council has a statutory duty under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 & Air Quality
Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland 2007 to manage local air quality.
The Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) process places an obligation on all local authorities
to regularly review and assess air quality in their areas, and to determine whether or not air
quality objectives are likely to be achieved.

2.1.2

European Air Quality Directives
Air Quality Framework Directive (96/62/EC) on ambient air quality assessment and
management defines the policy framework for 12 air pollutants known to have a harmful
effect on human health and the environment. The limit values for the specific pollutants are
set through a series of Daughter Directives. European Directive 2008/50/EC consolidates
existing air quality legislation (apart from the 4th Daughter Directive) and provides a new
regulatory framework for PM2.5.
The UK and Welsh Governments have an obligation to achieve European Air Quality Limit
Values (Directive 2008/50/EC, Annex III). The most relevant are limits for nitrogen dioxide
(NO2) and Particulate Matter smaller than 10 µm (PM10) which must not exceed 40 μg/m3 as
an annual mean (i.e. measured over a calendar year). There are a number of requirements of
the Directive, including that the Limit Value applies at locations which are accessible, including
footpaths but excluding areas within 25m from major road junctions.
In 2015, 37 of the 43 monitored areas across the country were in exceedance of the annual
mean Limit Value for NO2. One of these 43 areas includes the Cardiff Urban Agglomeration
where the Government has forecast that exceedances will remain beyond 2021.
The Government assesses air quality compliance with the European Directive in 43 areas
across the country at single locations, using both monitoring and modelling. It uses Defra’s
Pollution Climate Mapping (PCM) model to forecast exceedances, which is adjusted based on

10

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-air-quality-strategy-for-england-scotland-wales-andnorthern-ireland-volume-1

Page|7

Page 724

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

the monitored data. This is the approved means of reporting air quality information to assess
legal compliance with the European legislation.
2.1.3

Air Quality Objectives and Limit Values
The air quality objectives and limit values currently applicable to the UK can be split into two
groups. UK air quality objectives set down in regulations for the purposes of local air quality
management which are targets; and EU Limit Values transcribed into UK legislation which are
mandatory.
A summary of the UK Air Quality Objective and EU Limit Values for NO2 and particulate
matter (PM10 and PM2.5) is given in Table 2.
Furthermore, the UK has a target to reduce average concentrations of PM2.5 at urban
background concentrations by 2 µg/m3 by 2020.
Table 2 - UK and EU Air Quality Objectives for NO2, PM10 and PM2.5
Pollutant

UK Air
Quality
Objectives

Nitrogen Dioxide

Particulate Matter (PM 10)

EU Limit
Values

Particulate Matter (PM 2.5)
Nitrogen Dioxide

Particulate Matter (PM 10)

Particulate Matter (PM 2.5)

2.2

Standard/
Concentration

Measured As

200 µg/m3 not to be
exceeded more than 18
times per annum

1 Hour Mean

Date to be
achieved and
maintained
thereafter
31.12.2005

40 µg/m3
50 µg/m3 not to be
exceeded more than 35
times per annum

Annual Average
24 Hour Mean

31.12.2005
31.12.2004

40 µg/m3
25 µg/m3
200 µg/m3 not to be
exceeded more than 18
times per annum

Annual Average
Annual Average
1 Hour Mean

31.12.2004
2020

40 µg/m3
50 µg/m3 not to be
exceeded more than 35
times per annum

Annual Average
24 Hour Mean

01.01.2010

40 µg/m3
25 µg/m3

Annual Average
Annual Average

01.01.2010
2015

Public Health Impacts
There is clear scientific evidence which shows that air pollution exposure reduces life
expectancy by increasing mortality and morbidity risk from heart disease, and strokes,
Page|8

Page 725

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

respiratory diseases, lung cancer and other conditions11. Public Health Wales have stated that
poor air quality is probably the second greatest health concern after smoking and is the most
significant environmental determinant of health.
In the UK it has been estimated that an equivalent of 29,000 deaths are attributed to long term
exposure to fine particulate air pollution exposure each year and an equivalent of 23,500 deaths
are attributed to long term exposure to nitrogen dioxide (NO2) exposure each year12. There is
an overlap between the effects of both pollutants; as such, it has been estimated that the
equivalent of 40,000 deaths occur each year in the UK as a result of exposure to outdoor
pollution13. On average, exposure reduces the life expectancy of every person in the UK by 7 to
8 months14. It has been estimated that reducing particulate air pollution by 10 µg/m3 in the UK
would extend lifespan by five times more that eliminating casualties on the roads or three times
more that eliminating passive smoking15.
In Wales, based on data for the period 2011-2012, it has been estimated that an equivalent of
1,604 deaths can be attributed to fine particulate exposure each year, and 1,108 deaths can be
attributed to nitrogen dioxide exposure each year16. Accounting for the pollutant effect overlap,
it is estimated that an equivalent of around 2,000 deaths occur each year in Wales as a result
of exposure to fine particulate and NO2 exposure each year.
A study undertaken in 2014 published by Public Health England estimated that in Cardiff 143
deaths were attributable to exposure to fine particulate air pollution.17 More recent work by
Public Health Wales estimates that the equivalent of over 220 deaths each year among people
aged 30 and over in the Cardiff and Vale area that can be attributed to NO218 with many more
citizens suffering ill health as a consequence of poor air quality.
In 2012, the International Agency for Research on Cancer listed diesel exhaust pollution as a
Class 1 carcinogen and extended this to all ambient air pollution in 2013.
For particulate air pollution and nitrogen dioxide there is no safe level of exposure and any
initiatives to reduce air pollution will have positive health benefits. Welsh Government have
indicated that the national air quality objectives used to identify Air Quality Management Areas
(AQMAs) should not be seen as ‘safe’ levels and impacts are observed below levels permitted
by current legal limits. Air pollution can cause adverse effects on health and quality of life at
lower exposures, depending on the circumstances of the exposed individual. As a consequence,
the majority of the avoidable health burden associated with air pollution in Wales is the result
of population exposures outside AQMAs.
Although air pollution is a public health priority in Wales, its management needs to be a
collaborative approach between public bodies, private companies, third sector partners and the
public, all whom have important roles to play in addressing this pressing issue.

WHO. Review of evidence on health aspects of air pollution-REVIHAAP. 2013. Copenhagen: WHO.
Defra. Draft plans to improve air quality in the UK: tackling nitrogen dioxide in our towns and cities. UK overview document. 2015.
London: Defra.
13 Royal College of Physicians and Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (2016). Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air
pollution. From: https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution
14 Defra. The air quality strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland (vol. 1). 2007.
15 Defra (2017) Air Quality: Public Health Directors briefing. From https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/assets/63091defraairqualityguide9web.pdf
16 Brunt. H and McCarthy J., (2017). Estimating the mortality burden of air pollution in Wales
17 Gowers. A. M, Miller., BG, Stedman., JR. Estimating local mortality burdens associated with particulate air pollution. 2014. London:
Public Health England
18 Estimating the mortality burden of air pollution in Wales, Public Health Wales
11
12

Page|9

Page 726

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Poor air quality does not only have a significant health impact but it also has a wider societal
cost. Accounting for health service costs and reduced productivity through lost work-days in the
UK this is significant, standing at around £20b every year.19
Widespread air pollution is associated with routine car use for journeys within, into and out of,
Cardiff. Well-designed measures to reduce air pollution will also increase active travel rates.
Reducing reliance on the car as the primary mode of transport will have co-benefits of increased
physical activity, mental well-being, and improved productivity and reduced stress, and will play
a vital role in reducing carbon emissions which contribute to climate change.
The Director of Public Health’s Annual Report 2017 highlights how our built environment has
become increasingly shaped around car use over the last 50 years, with journeys made by car
across the UK increasing from 27% to 83% over that period, while journeys made by bus have
fallen from 42% to 5%, and by cycling from 11% to 1%. Over half of adults in our area are
overweight or obese. To help reduce these levels, as well as levels of cardiovascular disease and
type 2 diabetes, we need active travel to become the default for short journeys once again.

2.3

Air Quality in Cardiff

2.3.1

Monitoring
Currently there are 75 locations across Cardiff where monitoring for annual nitrogen dioxide
(NO2) concentrations is undertaken with the use of passive diffusion tubes. In addition,
automated AURN monitoring stations are located on Frederick Street in the City Centre and
Newport Road, which provide continuous monitoring for Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2), Particulate
Matter (PM10 & PM2.5), Sulphur Dioxide (SO2), Carbon Monoxide (CO) & Ozone (O3).

2.3.2

Air Quality Management Areas
Based on monitoring results and further detailed assessments there are currently 4 Air Quality
Management Areas (AQMAs) declared across the authority which were all declared due to
exceedances of the annual mean NO2 Air Quality Standard (40 µg/m3), known to be derived
from road transport.
Two AQMAs are primarily focused in Cardiff City Centre (Cardiff City Centre AQMA
established: 01/04/2013 & Stephenson Court AQMA established: 01/12/2010).
North of the City Centre, lies the Llandaff AQMA established: 01/04/2013 and to the west of
Cardiff is the Ely Bridge AQMA established: 01.02.2007.
Figure 4 details the location of the AQMAs and the results of the latest 2017 monitoring for
NO2 monitoring across Cardiff as reported in the Councils 2018 Annual Progress Report20. As
yet the 2018 data has not been finalised and reported in the 2019 Annual Progress Report so
these values have not been reported in this report.

19 Royal College of Physicians and Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (2016). Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air
pollution.

20

Cardiff Council 2018 Local Air Quality Management Annual Progress Report

Page|10

Page 727

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Figure 4 – 2017 Monitored NO2 Results and Existing AQMAs in Cardiff

Page 728
Page|11

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study
2.3.3

Outline Business Case

Improvements to Air Quality -Progress to Date
The Council has a statutory requirement to produce an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) for each
identified AQMA within the local authority area. However previous experience in
implementing singular actions plans in Cardiff has not proven to be sufficiently successful. The
main issue with this particular approach is that the AQAP focuses on introducing local
measures to individual road links/ areas, which only targets at improving air quality within the
identified AQMA itself.
Whilst such measures have been successful in improving air quality within the individual
AQMA (High Street/ St Mary’s Street Action Plan) such localised measures can ,and have led,
to an adverse impacts on air quality in surrounding areas and result in more widespread air
quality issues. These plans have not been sufficient enough in looking at the primary cause of
the problem, this being road traffic derived emissions, resulting in air quality levels being
detrimentally increased in neighbouring areas.
The Council recognise that there is no defined “safe level” when describing levels of NO221.
The Council is committed to achieving NO2 levels as low as reasonably practicable.
Datasets for annual average NO2 levels recorded at relevant public exposure locations within
the AQMAs do display signs of improvement. However, levels are consistently elevated and
are seen to be either exceeding or encroaching on the annual average NO2 objective. Table 3
draws upon ratified NO2 datasets monitored via passive diffusion tubes at most relevant
sensitive receptor locations, i.e., residential facades within each AQMA.
Table 3- Five Year Dataset For Monitored Annual Average NO2 Levels At Residential
Facades.
AQMA
City Centre
Stephenson Court
Ely Bridge
Llandaff

Site ID
143
131
117
161

Bias Adjusted Annual Average NO2 Concentration (µg/m3)
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
41.5
42.1
42.1
38.2
38.7
38.2
47.9
43.9
41.2
39.5
39.6
36.7
42.6
44.9
42.3
39.5
41.3
38
43.0
39.1
37.2
32.3
35.0
32.5

Bold -= exceedance of the Air Quality Standard for NO2 as an annual average (40 µg/.m3)
As displayed by Table 3, although it can be suggested that compliance is being met in the
existing AQMAs, the Council do not consider these levels as low as reasonably practicable.
With Cardiff’s expected future growth and approved development works already in progress,
further work is needed to ensure compliance with the air quality objectives and EU Limit
Values is of a greater magnitude.
In order to monitor the Council’s identified strategic measures and their effectiveness, the
Council will continue to monitor levels of NO2 at various relevant exposure locations citywide.
The Council will look at improving the network of monitoring across the city by examining
ways of increasing monitoring capabilities, for example looking at personal air quality
monitoring for the public and purchasing automatic monitoring equipment to provide a
further understanding of air quality trends. The Council will also design a transport monitoring
programme which will look to examine different modes of transport trends, undertaken on a
yearly basis. The scope for such a transport study would include examining figures for cycle
trips, school journey mode determination, bus patronage, trends in peak traffic flow times

21

Local air quality management in Wales Policy guidance June 2017

Page|12

Page 729

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

and fleet composition analysis using routes through AQMAs and surrounding tributary road
networks.

2.4

Early Interventions
Since producing the Initial Plan the Council has made progress on a number of initiatives in
Cardiff to promote and encourage modal shift to active travel and additional measures to
increase the uptake of low emission vehicles (LEVs) which will ultimately lead to further
improvements in air quality and these are summarised below.

2.4.1

On Street Residential Charging Points
The Council has been successful in obtaining a bid from the Office of Low Emission Vehicles
(OLEV) 36 charge points in 21 locations across the city and accessible to the public by 31st
March 2019. The Council will aim to submit a further bid in 2019/20 to further increase the
network of residential charging points.
In addition to the above the Council will also be launching a rapid charge pilot with a
commercial provider to assess the viability of undertaking a wider implementation project.

2.4.2

Electric Charging Points at Council Facilities
The Council has made progress in terms of increasing electric charging infrastructure at four
main employment hubs. It has been agreed that in 2019/20 for 8 electric vehicle chargers
each at County Hall, Lamby Way, Wilcox House and Coleridge Road (i.e., total of 32 chargers).
In conjunction with this the proposals are in place for the Council to fund the hire lease costs
of 56 new EVs in 2019/20 (replacing existing petrol/diesel vehicles) and 37 vehicles in 2020/21.

2.4.3

Planning Guidance for the Provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Points
In November 2018, the Council published a guidance documents for developers on the
provision of charging points in new developments. This document sets out the Councils
expectations on the minimum number of electric charging points that should be provided
depending on the nature of the development. The expectations are summarised in Table 4 as
follows:
Table 4 - Council Expectations on the Provision of EV Charging Points
Development Type

Provision

Houses

One electric vehicle dedicated charging point (up to 7kW (32A)
where possible) or installation of passive wiring to allow future
charging point connection per house with garage or driveway.
At least 10% of parking bays should be provide with dedicated
electric vehicle weatherproof charging points.
At least 10% of parking bays should be provided with dedicated
electric vehicle weatherproof charging points.
Charging infrastructure will be required to facilitate the conversion
of bus and taxi fleet, using appropriate technological solutions at
suitable locations across the city.
Subject to agreement with the Local Planning Authority standard
provision may also require installation of groundwork/passive
wiring at the outset to enable further future installation to match
demand.

Flats
Commercial Car Parks
and Community Facilities
Public Transport Facilities
and Taxi Ranks
Future Proofing

Page|13

Page 730

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

2.4.4

Expansion of Nextbike Scheme
Since the introduction of the Nextbike scheme in March 2018, the Cardiff scheme has become
the UKs most successful22, with over 150,000 rentals since March 2018. As a result the scheme
is set to double with an increase of a further 500 bikes bring the total number of bikes available
to 1,000 bikes by the summer of 2019.

2.4.5

Public Service Board Targets
Working initially through Cardiff Public Services Board, a Healthy Travel Charter for Cardiff has
been developed with major public sector employers which will be launched in April 2019.
Signatories to the Charter make 14 commitments on improving access to active and
sustainable travel for staff and visitors to their main sites, and jointly commit to three targets
namely:




Reduce the proportion of commuting journeys made by car;
Increase the proportion of staff cycling weekly; and
Increase the proportion of vehicles used for business purposes which are
plug-in hybrid or electric.

The Charter will be signed by 11 public sector organisations at launch in April 2019, employing
over 33,000 staff, with additional public and private sector organisations subsequently invited
to sign up to the Charter.

2.5

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WFG) is a significant enabler to
improve air quality as the Act calls for sustainable cross-sector action based on the principles of
long-term, prevention-focused integration, collaboration and involvement. It intends to
improve economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being in Wales to ensure the needs
of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their
own needs. The Act places responsibilities on public bodies in Wales to work in new ways
(including via Public Services Boards) towards national Well-being goals. Progress is measured
against a suite of well-being and Public Health Outcomes Framework indicators; there is one
specifically concerned with air pollution.
As Figure 5 illustrates, the Act is the legislative vehicle for “Health in all Policies in Wales” and
provides the underpinning principles for all policy and decision making, including economic
development, in Wales. Reducing air pollution, health risks and inequalities can help contribute
to most, if not all, of the well-being goals. As such, the Act presents excellent opportunities to
change policy and practice to enhance air quality management arrangements across Cardiff
(and wider).

22

NextBike In Depth Review 2018

Page|14

Page 731

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Figure 5 - The Well- being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Matrix

2.5.1

Cardiff Well-Being Plan 2018-2023
Under the Act the Cardiff Public Services Board (PSB) has produced
its Well-Being Plan for 2018-202323, which sets out the Cardiff PSB’s
priorities for action over the next 5 years, and beyond. The Plan
contains Well-being Objectives, high-level priorities that the Cardiff
PSB have identified as being most important. It also contains
‘Commitments,’ or practical steps that the city’s public services,
together, will deliver over the next 5 years. The Well-Being Plan has
set out Well-Being Objectives as follows:








Objective 1 - A Capital City that Works for Wales;
Objective 2 - Cardiff grows in a resilient way;
Objective 3 -Safe, Confident and Empowered Communities
Objective 4 - Cardiff is a great place to grow up;
Objective 5 - Supporting People out of poverty;
Objective 6 - Cardiff is a great place to grow older; and
Objective 7 -Modernising and Integrating Our Public Services

Within the Well-Being Plan Objective 2 details the following; Cardiff is one of Britain’s fastest
growing cities, and is by far the fastest growing local authority area in Wales. Successful cities
are those in which people want to live and this growth is welcomed and a sure sign of strength
for the city. However, this growth will bring challenges too, putting pressure on both the city’s
physical infrastructures, community cohesion, its natural environment and public services.
Managing the impacts of this population growth and of climate change in a resilient and
sustainable fashion will be a major long term challenge for Cardiff.
Improving levels of NO2 and particulate matter (PM10, 2.5) is a City level outcome indicator that
the PSB will seek to impact in order to meet this specific Objective. The Plan forecasts a
future Cardiff with improved air quality and has committed to taking ‘a city-wide response to
air pollution through supporting the development and delivery of a Cardiff Clean Air Strategy.’
Given the primary critical success factory of this feasibility study is achieve compliance with
Limit Value for NO2, it is fairly obviously that this study will fully compliment and assist the PSB
23

Cardiff Well-Being Plan 2018-2023

Page|15

Page 732

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

in achieving their Objective. The work to develop a Clean Air Strategy has been fundamental
in developing this study, and enabled the development of a long list of measures that was
assessed in the Initial Plan in terms of the measures meeting the primary success factory. The
Clean Air Strategy is included in Appendix C.
2.5.2

National Well-Being Goals and the Five Ways of Working
The feasibility study will ensure that future decision making in terms of air quality will comply
with the WFG in terms of ensuring that meets the five ways of working as set out below.
Long term – The feasibility study will balance short-term needs of achieving
compliance with the limit value in the shortest possible time, with the need to
safeguard the ability to ensure longer term continued improvement in air
quality within Cardiff. Whilst the measures assessed later in this report provide
potential solutions to the identified compliance issues, the Council has longer
term ambitions to improve air quality in Cardiff beyond legal limits, in order to
reduce public exposure to as low as reasonable practical. This is demonstrated
in the full Clean Air Strategy as detailed in Appendix C which sets out further
measures that are not intended to achieve compliance in the shortest possible
time, but provide further initiatives to ensure that once compliance is achieved
the focus of the Council is to provide wider improvements in air quality thus
fulfilling one of the aims for Objective 2 of the Well-Being Plan for Cardiff.
Prevention –By implementing the preferred option identified by this study, the
Council will ensure improvements in air quality are achieved, as demonstrated
by the modelling work reported in Section 3.3. This will ensure that
preventative action is taken by the Council to address the air quality issues in
terms of not only achieving compliance in the shortest possible time, but
implementing wider measures as detailed in the Clean Air Strategy and Action
Plan to prevent air quality getting worse in the future, thus protecting public
health and the wider environment.
Integration–The development of a preferred option in the Final Plan will take
into consideration other public body’s well-being objectives and will assess how
the preferred option may impact upon each of the well-being goals, or on the
objectives of other public bodies. The Council has worked with the PSB in
developing this study and has ensured the PSB has been fully informed on the
development of the study.
Collaboration –The development of the shortlist of measures and preferred
option detailed within this report has been done so in collaboration with many
departments within the Council and other external organisations, e.g., Public
Health Wales. This collaborative approach will be taken forward in the
development of the preferred option in the Final Plan.
Involvement –Prior to developing the Final Plan the preferred option as set out
by this report, will be subject to an appropriate level of public engagement (see
Section 2.7) which will ensure that the most relevant stakeholders and interest
groups have an opportunity be fully involved and their opinions on the
preferred option considered as the Council develops our Full Business Case to
be presented in the Final Plan.

Page|16

Page 733

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Overall, improving air quality and developing a preferred option to achieve compliance with the
NO2 limit value, contributes significantly to the majority of the well-being goals, but specifically
as follows:
A Globally Responsible Wales – Poor air quality is recognised globally as a
major health and environmental issue that needs urgent action. The
development of a preferred option and its subsequent implementation will
see Cardiff Council work towards improving air quality and leading the way
for Wales.
A Healthier Wales – As detailed in Section 2.2 air quality is now considered
the greatest environmental risk to health with proven detrimental impacts on
human health. The development and implementation of our preferred option
will ultimately improve the air quality within Cardiff, which will provide overall
public health benefits. The inclusion of measures to increase active travel and
behavioural change will lead to a more active and healthier population in
Cardiff, and cleaner air will ultimately encourage further uptake of active
travel.
A Prosperous Wales – As detailed in Section 2.2 the
impact of poor air quality has a secondary impact on productivity due to days
lost and thus an impacts on the health service costs. The implementation of
the preferred option to address the compliance issues and to improve air
quality will have additional benefits in terms of productivity and a reduction
in health service costs.

2.6

Consistency and Relevance with Other Policies

2.6.1
2.6.1.1

Local Policy
Local Transport Plan
Cardiff Council’s longstanding vision for transport in the city is for:
“An integrated transport system that offers safe, efficient and sustainable travel for all,
where public transport, walking and cycling provide real and desirable alternatives to car
travel, which contributes to making Cardiff Europe’s most liveable capital city.”
Our priorities to achieve this are:
1. Widening travel choices making it practical for most daily trips to be made by
alternatives to the car, such as public transport, walking and cycling;
2. Demand management taking steps to reduce the demand for travel overall, and
particularly by car ; and
3. Network management using technology to make best use of the existing highway
network, rather than building new roads that would generate more traffic.
As a result, it is necessary to assess how the various options considered to improve the air
quality in Cardiff will align with, and support, the realisation of the strategic objectives
contained within the emerging policy documents.

Page|17

Page 734

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

The key strategic themes and principles of the existing policies overlap with several of the
critical success factors used in the economic assessment, including those related to air
quality improvements, benefits to the economy, social inclusion and public health benefits.
Cardiff is growing and changing, and this brings more journeys and more pressures on
Cardiff’s transport network. Reducing the number of car journeys made in the city, and
promoting the use of active and sustainable modes of travel, is central to Cardiff Council’s
Transport Strategy and in improving air quality in the city. Our Local Development Plan (LDP)
provides for 41,000 new homes and up to 40,000 new jobs up to 2026. The LDP sets the
target of achieving a 50:50 modal split – this means that 50% of all journeys need to be made
by sustainable transport by 2026 in order to accommodate the future development set out
in the LDP. Our policies set out in the LDP support the need to secure significant
improvements to the public transport and active travel networks in combination with new
developments.
Cardiff’s Local Transport Plan (LTP) was approved by the Welsh Government in May 2015.
The LTP sets out our main transport infrastructure proposals which will support this
significant modal shift. The Local Transport Plan recognises the need to improve air quality
and in doing so its programme prioritises:








Development of active travel networks to increase walking and cycling for local
journeys;
The provision of cycling infrastructure;
The bus network;
Reduced speed limits;
Reducing congestion;
Improving transport efficiency and reliability; and
Bus based park and ride

The LTP has been used to help develop a number of the measures which have been assessed
by this study.
2.6.1.2

Cardiff’s Local Development Plan 2006-2026
Cardiff’s Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2026, forms the basis for decisions on land use
planning in Cardiff up to 2026 and assumes that, within the plan’s time frame, approximately
40,000 new jobs and 41,100 new dwellings will be developed in Cardiff as a direct response
to Cardiff’s role as the economic driver of the City-region.
In addition to its independent examination, the LDP was subject to a Strategic Environmental
Assessment (SEA) to ensure that the policies reflect sustainability principles and take into
account environmental impacts.
Policy KP2 of the LDP allocates 8 Strategic Sites to help meet the need for new dwellings and
jobs. These strategic allocations on both Greenfield and brownfield sites will include 500
homes or more and/or include significant employment/mixed uses which will bring
significant benefits to the city. The sites are:
(i)
Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone;
(ii)
Former Gas Works, Ferry Road;
(iii)
North West Cardiff;
(iv)
North of Junction 33 on the M4;
(v)
South of Creigiau;
(vi)
North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau);
Page|18

Page 735

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study
(vii)
(viii)

Outline Business Case

East of Pontprennau Link Road; and
South of St. Mellons Business Park – Employment Only.

The LDP identifies that sustainable transportation solutions are required in order to respond
to the challenges associated with new development by setting out an approach aimed at
minimising car travel, maximising access by sustainable transportation and improving
connectivity between Cardiff and the wider region.
The Plan sets out a strategy to achieve this by making the best use of the current network,
managing demand and reducing it where possible by widening travel choices. The aim is to
secure a modal split of 50% car and 50% non-car modes.
The following LDP policies are of relevance to air quality;
KP8: SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT
Development in Cardiff will be integrated with transport infrastructure and services in order
to:
i. Achieve the target of a 50:50 modal split between journeys by car and journeys by walking,
cycling and public transport;
ii. Reduce travel demand and dependence on the car;
iii. Enable and maximise use of sustainable and active modes of transport;
iv. Integrate travel modes;
v. Provide for people with particular access and mobility requirements;
vi. Improve safety for all travellers;
vii. Maintain and improve the efficiency and reliability of the transport network;
viii. Support the movement of freight by rail or water; and
ix. Manage freight movements by road and minimise their impacts
For Cardiff to accommodate the planned levels of growth, existing and future residents will
need to be far less reliant on the private car. Therefore, ensuring that more everyday
journeys are undertaken by sustainable modes of transport, walking, cycling and public
transport, will be essential.
KP14: HEALTHY LIVING
Cardiff will be made a healthier place to live by seeking to reduce health inequalities through
encouraging healthy lifestyles, addressing the social determinants of health and providing
accessible health care facilities. This will be achieved by supporting developments which
provide for active travel, accessible and useable green spaces, including allotments.
KP18: NATURAL RESOURCES:
In the interests of the long-term sustainable development of Cardiff, development proposals
must take full account of the need to minimise impacts on the city’s natural resources and
minimise pollution, in particular the following elements......minimising air pollution from
industrial, domestic and road transportation sources and managing air quality.
EN13: AIR, NOISE, LIGHT POLLUTION AND LAND CONTAMINATION
Development will not be permitted where it would cause or result in unacceptable harm to
health, local amenity, the character and quality of the countryside, or interests of nature
conservation, landscape or built heritage importance because of air, noise, light pollution or
the presence of unacceptable levels of land contamination.

Page|19

Page 736

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

C6: HEALTH
Priority in new developments will be given to reducing health inequalities and encouraging
healthy lifestyles through:
i. Identifying sites for new health facilities, reflecting the spatial distribution of need, ensuring
they are accessible and have the potential to be shared by different service providers; and
ii. Ensuring that they provide a physical and built environment that supports
interconnectivity, active travel choices, promotes healthy lifestyles and enhances road safety.
The LDP also outlines the approach the Council will take to increase the proportion of people
travelling by sustainable modes and to achieve the 50:50 modal split target. This will involve:
 enabling people to access employment, essential services and community facilities by
walking and cycling through, for example, high quality, sustainable design and
measures to minimise vehicle speed and give priority to pedestrians and cyclists;
 developing strategic bus and rapid transit corridor enhancements and facilitating their
integration with the wider transport network;
 facilitating the transfer between transport modes by, for example, improving existing
interchanges and developing new facilities such as strategically located park and ride
facilities; and
 maximising provision for sustainable travel within new developments and securing
infrastructure investment which can support modal shift within existing settlements.
2.6.1.3

2.6.2

2.6.2.1

24

Capital City Regional Deal
The Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) City Deal is a programme agreed in 2016 between the UK
Government, the Welsh Government and the ten local authorities in South East Wales to
bring about significant economic growth in the region through investment, upskilling, and
improved physical and digital connectivity.
One of the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR)’s objectives is to connect communities, business,
jobs, facilities and services in the area. The CCR Transport Authority, working closely with
the Welsh Government, Transport for Wales and others, has been established as a subcommittee by the CCR Cabinet to facilitate the City Deal by coordinating transport planning
and investment across the region. The transport improvements underlying the CASAP
measures to be assessed later in this report will be fundamental to delivering this objective
of CCR.
National Policy
There are a number of key Welsh Government Policy strands that our feasibility study directly
relate to and compliment and thus the outcomes of this study should act as a catalyst to
achieving a number of these policies.
Prosperity for All
In September 2017, the Welsh Government published a national strategy, Prosperity for All24
to deliver its key priorities during the latest term of the Assembly. One of the key themes
of this strategy is to build healthier communities and better environments, and a key aspect
of this theme is to reduce emissions in order to deliver improvements to air quality. The
Councils Feasibility Study and identification of a preferred option to deliver legal compliance
will work towards this building healthier communities and better environments by ensuring
compliance with the Ambient Air Quality Directive is achieved in the shortest possible time.

Welsh Government, 2017 – Prosperity for All

Page|20

Page 737

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

2.6.2.2

Welsh Transport Policy
A revised Wales Transport Strategy is due to be published by the end of the 2019, and it is
understood that Improving air quality by reducing emissions will be key pillar within this
strategy. Many of measures within the CASAP package of measures which will be assessed
in detail later in this report aim to reduce emissions, through vehicle upgrades/ retro fitting
existing bus fleets, and increasing the uptake of active travel. The implementation of a
preferred package of measures which priorities such measures will ensure consistency with
the

2.6.2.3

Planning Policy Wales
Welsh Government have stated in the most recent Planning Policy Wales (PPW)25 that it is s
committed to reducing reliance on the private car and supporting a modal shift to walking,
cycling and public transport. Delivering this objective will make an important contribution to
decarbonisation, improving air quality, increasing physical activity, improving the health of
the nation and realising the goals of the Well-being of Future Generations Act.
PPW further states that Air just barely compliant with these objectives is not ‘clean’ and still
carries long-term population health risks, and thus it is desirable to keep levels of pollution
as low as possible.
The Councils feasibility study, therefore fully compliments PPW in terms of implementing
measures that look to reduce the reliance on the private car and increasing modal to active
and public transport. Such measures will be assessed in terms of not only achieving
compliance but reducing levels of NO2 to as low as reasonable practical.

2.6.2.4

Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013
This Act26 came into force in September 2014 and requires local authorities to map and
continuously improve routes and facilities for cycling and walking. Reducing road traffic
emissions will be a key aspect of the measures being taken forward and thus the increase in
modal shift to active travel will be a key component of the Councils preferred option to
achieve compliance. The increase in active travel will be assessed as part of the CASAP
measures.

2.7

Stakeholder Engagement
In order to ensure that Cardiff Council implements a solution that not only delivers compliance
in the shortest possible time, but ensures that such a solution is supported and welcomed by
citizens, businesses and visitors to Cardiff it will be vitally important to fully engage and work
with the public and businesses to ensure that the preferred option implemented meets the
citizens expectations.

2.7.1

Consultation on the Green Paper on Transport and Clean Air
At the end of March 2018 the Council launched a Green
Paper on Transport and Clean Air27. The paper set out a
number of proposals/ ambitions termed as ‘Big Ideas’ on
measures to improve transport and air quality in Cardiff.

Planning Policy Wales – 10th Edition December 2018
Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013
27 https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Parking-roads-and-travel/transport-and-clean-air-greenpaper/Documents/Cardiff%27s%20Transport%20and%20Clean%20Air%20Green%20Paper.pdf
25
26

Page|21

Page 738

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Fundamentally the paper focused on the need to tackle congestion and offer active travel
options to discourage unnecessary private car use, keeping the city moving and ensuring the
health of citizens. The paper enabled members of the public, businesses and other
organisations a chance to score the proposals in terms of preference of them being
implemented in Cardiff.
Consultation on the Cardiff’s Transport and Clean Air Green Paper was open from the 26th
March to the 1st July 2018.
The consultation centred on an electronic survey, with a communication campaign conducted
via social media.
The survey received 3,580 total valid survey responses (including 266 partial responses)
The total number of surveys collected from schools was 285. At the time of writing this report
the full detailed assessment of the consultation responses is ongoing but some key headline
data can be extracted from this survey.
The Top 3 ‘Big Ideas’ were:





Integrated Ticketing
Zero Carbon Bus Fleet
Improving the digital network and user information (for public transport).

The lease favourable ‘Big Ideas’ were:





Autonomous Vehicles
Parking Levies (increase parking charged and or work place parking levies)
A Total City 20mph Zone

The information above does indicate that there is a desire for an increase use in Public
Transport given that the ‘top 3’ all relate to improvements in public transport measures.
Consideration of the outcome of this consultation has informed the refinement of the shortlist
of measures that have been fully assessed as detailed in Section 3.3.
2.7.2

Engagement on Preferred Option
The Council will launch an engagement exercise on our preferred option to enable appropriate
views of the citizens of Cardiff and specifically key groups on the preferred option to be
considered.
In designing this engagement exercise it is important, to understand that the length of
engagement is severely restricted by the requirements of the Direction to produce a final plan
no later than the 30th June 2019. Owing to the fact that the feedback from the consultation
will need to be considered when developing the FBC, the time period of the consultation has
been reduced to a maximum 6 weeks. Similar engagement periods have been undertaken by
other UK cities under legal Direction to produce a feasibility study.
Further details on the Communication strategy are detailed in Section 6.6 with the full
Communication Strategy presented in Appendix E.

2.8
2.8.1

The Case for Change
Primary Objective
The primary objective of the feasibility study is to deliver a scheme that leads to compliance
with the EU AAQD annual average NO2 limit value in the shortest possible time and thus to
identify a preferred option to achieve this.
Page|22

Page 739

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study
2.8.2

Outline Business Case

Secondary Objectives
JAQU’s Options Appraisal Package 28document states that while the primary CSF allows
appraisers to test whether an option meets the minimum requirements, other secondary CSFs
are needed to undertake a comparative assessment of the options. The guidance states that
these may include factors such as value for money, distributional impacts, wider strategic air
quality policy alignment, affordability and achievability.
Following this guidance, a number of secondary CSFs have been defined for the Plan for which
options that have been assessed as achieving the Primary CSF have been further assessed
against. Further, this study contributes to the strategic priorities for Cardiff Council, including
that of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. As such, based on the Future
Generations Act and the further recommendations within The National Institute for Health
and Care Excellence (NICE)29 on air quality guidelines and health, the following are considered
as secondary objectives in the appraisal process:







Section 3
3.1

Will the measure deliver an overall reduction in NO2 emissions to air;
Will the measure result in additional benefits or other environmental
improvements;
Will the measure contribute to well-being goals:
- Will the measure have a positive impact on wider public health;
- Mitigate financial impact on low income households and reduce inequalities;
Does the option fit or compliment other local policies;
Value for Money - Do the likely benefits of this option exceed the costs; and
Are there constraints that prevent/ impact on the implementation of the
measure.

Economic Case

Introduction
As detailed above in Section 1.4 the Council reported on a shortlist of measures that were
assessed against the primary and secondary objectives of the study. For reference the shortlist
of measures are detailed in Table 5 as follows;

Table 5 - Shortlist of Measures Detailed in Initial Plan
Measure
reference:
M8
28
29

Scheme Description
Implement further speed restrictions and enhance already established 20mph Zones.

Joint Air Quality Unit - OPTIONS APPRAISAL GUIDANCE 2017
NICE (2017). Air pollution: outdoor air quality and health. NICE Guideline NG70

Page|23

Page 740

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study
M13

Outline Business Case

Development of Cycling Superhighways infrastructure and Expansion of Next bike
Scheme
Implement Zero Emission Buses on Cardiff Network
Revision to Taxi Licensing Policy to include emissions standards
Bus Network Programme- Strategic Bus Network to improve bus networks and
efficiency of the services via increased and improved bus lanes
Accelerate Park and Ride (P & R) programme in NW & NE of Cardiff. NW; Implement
new Park and Ride facilities at Junction 33 (750 Spaces) and Llantrisant Road (250
Spaces). NE; expansion of P & R on the A48.
City Centre West and Central Interchange and Eastside City Centre Schemes
Improve and promote the uptake of low emission vehicles by enhancing Cardiff’s EV
infrastructure
Review car parking and car permit charges.

M14
M21
M11
M12
M10
M18
M23

The results of baseline modelling showed there to be NO2 exceedances in different areas to
those shown by the national PCM model. In particular, the baseline results showed that
concentrations were higher in the city centre than previously shown in the PCM model, and
with levels close to the limit value on the A470. Hence a further modelling scenario was
developed – labelled CASAP 3 – to address these road links, focusing specifically on the city
centre and the A470. As such and following the submission of the Initial Plan further potential
shortlisted measures have been considered in CASAP 3 as follows:




Impact of a Clean Bus Technology (Retrofit) Scheme on buses operating in Cardiff. The
modelling assumed 94 Cardiff Buses based on a previous grant application;
Additional general traffic lane (Nantgarw to Tongwynlais) on A470 created by
narrowing other lanes; and
New bus-based Park and Ride close to A470/A468/A4054 junction at Nantgarw.

In addition to the above and in line with the Joint Air Quality Units (JAQU) Options Appraisal
Guidance, a Charging Clean Air Zone (CAZ), has also been taken forward as a benchmarking
option, as the guidance clearly states that ‘local authorities are required to shortlist, and take
forward for full modelling, the lowest class of charging Clean Air Zone that will deliver
compliance in the year after implementation, as the benchmark option.’
However, with regard to the benchmarking exercise the Council is mindful, of further JAQU
guidance, ‘Evidence Based Approach to Setting Clean Air Zone Charges’ which clearly states on
a number of occasions that ‘The Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) is clear that charging Clean Air
Zones (CAZs) should only be implemented if non-charging alternatives have been found to be
insufficient to bring about compliance with air quality limits in the shortest possible time.
In light of this it is the Council’s opinion that should the measures achieve compliance, in the
same time as a charging CAZ then the likely preferred option that the Council will develop
further will be a package of measures.
As detailed in the Initial Plan, in order for the study to provide a robust assessment of the
impacts of these measures, that they be modelled as a package of measures rather than
individual measures. The rest of this section provides the methodology and results of the
transportation and air quality modelling results of the package of measures and a Clean Air Zone
scenario.

Page|24

Page 741

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

3.2

Outline Business Case

Modelling of the Shortlist of Measures
The section outlines the transport modelling work undertaken by Mott MacDonald to assess
the transportation impacts of the proposed measures to develop the evidence base to progress
this study. Transport modelling has been undertaken using the South East Wales Transport
Model (SEWTM) using methods that are appropriate for a high-level feasibility study. The full
details of the transport modelling are included in Appendix B of this Report.

3.2.1

Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan (CASAP) Package Interventions
The CASAP Package transport interventions have been assessed using the 2021 baseline as a
starting point and applying highway network and trip matrix adjustments using methods set
out in Table 6. The full details of the full transportation modelling methodologies are detailed
in full in Appendix B.
Table 6 - CASAP Measures Transportation Modelling Methodologies
CASAP
Measure

Measure Description

Modelling Methodology Employed

Active travel packages, covering two
areas close to the city centre
Cycling programme to end of 2020,
covering a corridor north from the city
centre
New 50mph speed limit on A4232
(Culverhouse Cross to Butetown
Tunnels)

For each of the locations a 3.5%-point
reduction in the car driver mode share was
assumed for trips entirely within the given
area, and the car vehicle demand matrices
adjusted accordingly
The representation of the affected section of
the A4232 was changed from a national speed
limit link type to a 50mph speed limit link type

4

Westgate Street mid-point closure to
general traffic

5

East side scheme, reducing through
traffic movements on Station Terrace

6

A48 St Mellons bus-based park and ride

7

M4 J33 park and ride

8

Parking charges and controls, affecting
vehicles with non-compliant engines.

The central section of Westgate Street was
closed to all cars and goods vehicles to prevent
through-movements whilst maintaining local
access
Links were opened/closed as appropriate and
junctions edited to reflect the proposed
scheme.
For trips in nearby corridors with a trip end in
the city centre, a proportion to be intercepted
at the new P&R site was assumed, based upon
evidence from existing sites. One of the trip
ends for these trips was then reassigned from
the city centre to the location of the P&R site.
As item 6, except that the number of trips to
be intercepted was calculated using an
assumed occupation level (broadly equivalent
to current occupation of the East P&R site).
UK government Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU)
guidance on option appraisal was used to
provide estimates of the effect on trip making
of implementing charging zones for noncompliant vehicles. A proportion of vehicles
affected by increased parking charges was
calculated using parking “event” data provided
by Cardiff Council. Non-compliant vehicle trips
were then moved to the compliant matrix,
removed from the matrices altogether, or left
unaltered accordingly.

1
2
3

Page|25

Page 742

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study
CASAP
Measure
9

Outline Business Case

Measure Description

Modelling Methodology Employed

Smart
expressway
&
traffic
management measures on the A470
South (Upper Boat to Coryton) and
Traffic management and control
measures at Coryton Interchange

Narrow lanes to give extra lane, reallocation of
southbound lane to 2 lanes off to Coryton, 1
lane ahead into Cardiff (and this could include
better provision for bus going A470 into
Cardiff); also looking at speed limit reduction
and VMS gantry signage to improve traffic
management and air quality.

From Table 6, it is evident that not all the CASAP measures previously detailed are included in
in the SEWTM. This is owing to the fact that these measures are purely emission based
interventions which can only be modelled in the air quality dispersion model. These measures
are the Electrification of and retrofitting of Buses, and the revised taxi licensing policy being
based on emission standards. The impacts of these measures are therefore only considered
once the results of the transportation model are inputted into the air dispersion model.

3.3

Local Air Quality Modelling Results for CASAP Measures
In line with the detailed modelling exercise that was undertaken to report on the baseline
position, as detailed in the Initial Plan, the same modelling has been undertaken to assess the
CASAP measures. The full methodology for the air quality modelling is presented in Appendix
A. In addition to the modelling assumption detailed above for the transportation model, the
following assumptions have been made for the measures that can only be modelled in terms of
emissions as detailed in Table 7.

Table 7 - Emission Based Modelling Assumptions
Measure

Description

ULEB application for 36 electric
buses

The 36 buses were allocated to routes 27, 49/50, 44/45, with the related
bus AADT removed as these are now zero emission. The remaining bus
fleet is then adjusted to reflect the removal of 36 older Euro3 vehicles.

Taxi licensing requiring a 10
year age limit and all new
renewal or grants 2019 to be
minimum Euro 6.

Taxi fleet adjusted to remove all vehicles over 10 years old and replace
these by new Euro 6 vehicles.

Retro-fit programme to convert
remaining buses to Euro 6

Retro-fit programme to convert remaining buses to Euro 6, similar to
Clean Bus Technology Fund (CBTF)

3.3.1

Modelled Results on PCM Road Links
In line with the modelled baseline results, detailed in the Initial Plan, the results for the CASAP
packages of measures have been generated for each of the PCM road links. This has been
done using the exact same modelling principles as per the baseline assessment and three sets
of results have been calculated.
The CASAP 1 scenario shows a general reduction in concentrations across the links, with an
average of about 1 µgm-3. The links where the largest reductions are being seen are those
directly affected by the measures such as the electric bus measure. The largest reduction is
actually on Castle Street where the electric buses will operate. This is also the exceedance
link of concern and this scenario brings it down from 41.1 µgm-3 to 37.3 µgm-3. Therefore,
the CASAP 1 scenario is enough to bring all the PCM links into compliance.
Page|26

Page 743

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

CASAP 2 provides some further benefit in terms of NO2 concentrations with some links
improving although some links do see a small increase in concentrations. This appears to be
driven by changes in the traffic flows caused by vehicles rerouting because of the city centre
traffic management schemes and the parking controls. This will also have impacts on vehicle
speeds which also affected emissions and hence concentrations.
A full list of tabulated results for the PCM road links for the modelled year of 2021 is shown in
Table 8. Mapped results for CASAP3 are shown in Figure 6.
Unsurprisingly, the CASAP 3 package provides the greatest improvements in concentrations,
with an average of decrease of 1.3 µgm-3. However there are a number of links were larger
reductions are seen, and those road links are directly affected by the specific measures such
as the electric bus measure.
The largest reduction is actually achieved on Castle Street where non-compliance was forecast
for 2021 under base line conditions, with NO2 concentrations reduced by 6 µgm-3, from
41.1 µg/m-3 to 35.0 µg/m-3. However, it is apparent from the results that on some road links
there is a very marginal increase in NO2 concentrations, and this would appear to be as a result
of the changes in the traffic flows caused by vehicles rerouting because of the city centre
traffic management schemes and the parking controls. This will also have impacts on vehicle
speeds which also affected emissions and hence concentrations at these locations.
Table 8 - PCM and local model NO2 concentration results for 2015 and 2021 (NO2 in µgm-3)
Road
A4119
A4054
A4119
A4161
A48
A4119
A470
A4160
A4161
A4161
A469
A4160
A4119
A4232
A48
A4160
A469
A4161
A4161
A48
A469
A4119
A4161
A470

PCM Baseline
2015
2021
22.4
17.9
19.1
15.0
29.9
24.0
40.3
32.7
27.9
22.3
27.2
21.8
31.1
25.2
32.2
25.7
43.7
33.8
37.5
29.7
33.1
27.1
30.4
25.0
31.9
25.9
47.3
37.7
48.8
39.1
28.2
22.7
28.5
22.4
29.5
23.3
24.9
20.1
31.9
25.7
31.8
25.5
28.4
22.9
40.9
33.4
40.8
32.5

Local Baseline
2015
2021
37.1
30.7
25.3
19.5
34.4
24.4
34.9
26.2
32.9
25.4
23.8
18.8
45.4
30.6
36.7
26.9
42.2
30.8
43.9
30.4
27.2
21.5
30.4
23.7
36.6
29.0
34.3
29.5
40.0
30.6
24.2
19.3
33.0
25.8
26.5
20.3
26.6
20.2
29.4
22.7
32.2
24.7
31.6
24.5
43.7
29.6
38.1
27.6

CASAP 1
2021

CASAP 2
2021

29.7
19.1
23.6
25.5
24.1
18.2
27.5
25.5
28.8
28.1
20.7
22.6
27.5
28.0
31.3
18.9
24.8
19.6
19.5
21.9
24.5
23.5
28.1
26.1

30.2
19.2
27.6
25.5
24.1
18.2
26.5
25.1
28.3
27.3
20.7
22.3
27.5
28.3
31.6
18.6
24.8
19.6
19.9
22.0
24.3
23.9
28.0
25.6

CASAP 3
2021
29.73
17.92
26.77
25.31
23.99
17.75
25.09
24.94
27.84
26.92
20.36
22.25
26.77
28.23
31.45
18.49
24.59
19.26
19.78
21.72
24.02
23.76
27.59
25.23

Page|27

Page 744

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

A48
A4160
A4232
A4055
A470
A470
A48
A4232
A4119
A4161
A4055
A4234
A4232
A4232
A4160
A470
A470

PCM Baseline
2015
2021
45.3
37.1
38.3
32.1
43.1
34.3
34.9
28.4
35.6
28.5
31.3
24.6
59.6
45.4
52.5
40.7
27.5
21.6
41.2
31.9
35.8
29.1
44.6
36.8
33.6
26.4
42.2
29.9
26.9
21.2
26.5
22.2
35.4
25.3

Local Baseline
2015
2021
37.1
28.8
40.0
28.8
32.1
27.5
31.4
25.5
37.3
29.1
41.3
30.0
36.4
27.9
30.1
24.8
28.8
22.3
55.7
41.1
31.6
24.5
38.2
26.3
21.7
17.5
35.3
28.9
21.0
18.1
26.9
21.8
34.8
25.2

A4050

30.2

32.5

Road

23.1

25.0

CASAP 1
2021

CASAP 2
2021

28.0
27.8
26.8
24.0
28.3
27.9
27.6
22.9
21.6
37.3
23.4
25.4
17.3
29.6
16.3
21.4
23.3
24.1

28.2
30.0
27.2
24.1
28.2
27.8
27.6
23.0
21.7
36.0
23.4
26.3
17.4
29.8
16.4
21.9
23.0
24.3

CASAP 3
2021
28.01
29.75
27.09
24.06
27.96
27.32
27.48
22.99
21.42
35
23.34
26.16
17.31
29.68
16.3
21.66
22.42
24.19

Note: local results are colour coded as green for less than 35µgm-3, amber between 35µgm-3 and 40 µgm-3 and red
for greater the 40µgm-3 (the compliance threshold). Numbers are rounded to the nearest integer, hence any values
less than 40.5 µgm-3 are not counted as exceedances

Page|28

Page 745

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Figure 6- PCM Links Local Model Results for CASAP 3 Package- 2021

Page 746
Page|29

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study
3.3.2

Outline Business Case

Results at Local Monitoring Locations
Modelled 2021 NO2 concentration results for the CASAP packages of measures scenario at
each of the monitoring locations used for reporting on Local Air Quality Management
purposes have been calculated, and are detailed in Table 9 below. The baseline 2021 data has
been provided for reference.
These results provide an indication of whether compliance is predicted at monitoring locations
in 2021 following implementation of the CASAP measures. The implementation of the CASAP
package indicates that our local monitoring locations, compliance with the 40 µg/m3 limit
value for is achieved at all sites by 2021, including all those sites in the existing AQMAs. The
results are presented in Table 9 . This is an important aspect of the assessment as it further
demonstrates that the CASAP measures not only deliver compliance but further improve and
reduce relevant exposure in terms of LAQM across Cardiff as whole, which provides further
public health benefits.

Table 9 - Predicted NO2 Annual Mean Concentrations at Monitoring Site Locations in 2015 & 2021
Annual Average NO2 µg/m3
Monitoring site name

Site ID

Site type

Ninian Park Road

16

Ninian Park Road

14.2

Mitre Place

33

Mitre Place

City Road

44

Mackintosh Place

Baseline
2021

CASAP 1
2021

CASAP 2
2021

CASAP 3
2021

14.4
29.8

14.3

31.5

14.0
29.9

City Road

20.4

19.8

19.8

19.7

45

Mackintosh Place

23.4

49

Penarth Road

17.1

Birchgrove Village

56

Birchgrove Village

17.1

Westgate Street

58

Westgate Street

30.3

Stephenson Court

81

Stephenson Court

25.3

23.0
16.6
16.5
26.3
24.1

22.8

Penarth Road

23.2
16.6
16.6
24.9
24.3

104 Birchgrove Road

82

104 Birchgrove Road

18.0

17.5

17.5

17.1

497 Cowbridge Road West

85

15.2

14.6

14.6

14.4

19 Fairoak Road

86

497 Cowbridge Road
West
19 Fairoak Road

19.0

96

Manor Way Junction

23.2

18.7
22.4

18.7

Manor Way Junction

18.7
22.5

Newport Road (premises)

97

21.4

20.8

20.8

20.6

18.2

17.6

17.7

17.5

27.8

26.3
17.5
17.5
17.5
23.6

25.6

29

16.5
16.3
25
23.8

22

99

Newport Road
(premises)
Western Avenue
(premises)
Cardiff Road Llandaff

Cardiff AURN

101

Cardiff AURN

18.4

Cardiff AURN

102

Cardiff AURN

18.4

Cardiff AURN

103

Cardiff AURN

18.4

30 Caerphilly Road

106

30 Caerphilly Road

24.6

26.3
17.7
17.7
17.7
23.7

Lynx Hotel

107

Lynx Hotel

21.6

21.1

21.0

20.9

98 Leckwith Road

111

98 Leckwith Road

15.3

112

17 Sloper Road

17.2

14.9
17.2

14.8

17 Sloper Road

14.8
16.8

Western Avenue
(premises)
Cardiff Road Llandaff

98

17.3
17.3
17.3
23.4

17.1

Page|30

Page 747

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Annual Average NO2 µg/m3
Monitoring site name

Site ID

Site type

21 Llandaff Road

115

21 Llandaff Road

15.2

25 Cowbridge Road West

117

25 Cowbridge Road West

20.0

Havelock Street

119

Havelock Street

287 Cowbridge Road East

124

Westgate Street Flats

126

287 Cowbridge Road
East
Westgate Street Flats

117 Tudor Street

128

117 Tudor Street

Stephenson Court 2

129

Burgess Court

Baseline
2021

CASAP 1
2021

CASAP 2
2021

CASAP 3
2021

14.9
19.2
20.0

14.8

22.3

14.9
19.2
20.6

14.4

14.3

14.3

14.1

27.6

24.1
16.9

23.1

16.1

23.0
15.8

Stephenson Court 2

23.9

23.0

22.9

22.6

130

Burgess Court

24.5

131

Dragon Court

24.7

23.4
23.6

23.1

Dragon Court

23.5
23.7

St Mark's Avenue

133

St Mark's Avenue

28.1

134

Sandringham Hotel

18.8

27.0
16.9

26.8

Sandringham Hotel

27.0
17.8

Lower Cathedral Road

139

Lower Cathedral Road

19.8

19.0

20.8

20.6

Clare Street

140

Clare Street

21.2

20.4

22.3

22.1

Fairoak Road 2

141

Fairoak Road 2

18.9

143

Windsor House

27.9

Marlborough House

144

Marlborough House

26.6

Tudor Street Flats

145

Tudor Street Flats

24.3

18.4
24.5
21.7
27.3

18.4

Windsor House

18.4
22.9
22.4
23.7

Neville Street

146

Neville Street

19.8

147

211 Penarth Road

17.5

161 Clare Road

148

161 Clare Road

18.0

10 Corporation Road

149

10 Corporation Road

16.5

James Street

152

James Street

22.0

Magic Roundabout

153

Magic Roundabout

21.6

2a/4 Colum Road

156

2a/4 Colum Road

18.5

47 Birchgrove Road

157

47 Birchgrove Road

20.8

64/66 Cathays Terrace

158

64/66 Cathays Terrace

18.0

IMO façade replacement

159

IMO façade replacement

22.6

High Street Zizzi

160

High Street Zizzi

20.6

19.4
16.7
17.6
16.1
21.7
21.4
17.9
20.2
17.5
21.9
18.9

19.1

211 Penarth Road

18.9
17.0
17.4
16.1
21.4
21.3
18.0
20.2
17.5
22.0
19.1

52 Bridge Road

161

52 Bridge Road

18.9

18.2

18.2

17.8

58 Cardiff Road

162

58 Cardiff Road

18.0

17.3

17.3

16.9

118 Cardiff Road

163

118 Cardiff Road

19.4

18.7

18.8

18.7

725 Newport Road

164

725 Newport Road

16.6

16.2

16.2

16.1

6 Heol Tyrrell

165

6 Heol Tyrrell

13.2

166

163 Lansdowne Road

16.9

359 Lansdowne Road

167

17.0

570 Cowbridge Road East

168

359 Lansdowne Road
570 Cowbridge Road
East

12.8
16.5
16.5

12.8

163 Lansdowne Road

12.8
16.5
16.5

18.7

18.1

18.1

17.8

18.8
19.2

16.7

23.3
16.6

23.3
20.8
26.3
16.6
17.5
16
21.6
21.3
17.7
19.9
17.4
21.7
18.5

16.4
16.2

Page|31

Page 748

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Annual Average NO2 µg/m3
Monitoring site name

Site ID

Site type

11 Pengam Green

170

11 Pengam Green

17.6

17.4

17.4

17.3

23 Tweedsmuir Road

171

23 Tweedsmuir Road

17.9

17.7

17.8

17.7

Ocean Way 1

172

Ocean Way 1

18.9

18.7

18.9

18.9

Ocean Way 2

173

Ocean Way 2

19.6

174

76 North Road

23.9

19.6
22.2

19.5

76 North Road

19.4
22.6

Castle Arcade

176

Castle Arcade

42.7

38.8

37.5

36.4

Angel Hotel

177

Angel Hotel

33.1

28.0

28.4

27.3

32.0

28.4

27.3

24.5

26.3

23.9
25.3

23.6

32.1

24.6
29.6

29.3

26.5

25.5

24.2

Park Street/Westgate
Street
Altolusso, Bute Terrace

178
179

Station Terrace

183

Hophouse, St Mary Street

184

Park Street/Westgate
Street
Altolusso, Bute Terrace

Baseline
2021

CASAP 1
2021

CASAP 2
2021

CASAP 3
2021

21.9

27.2

25.2

25.2

24.5

40.5

36.6

35.4

34.4

32.8

27.6

28.1

26.9

35.1

30.5

28.3

25.4

190

Station Terrace
Hophouse, St Mary
Street
Northgate House, Duke
Street
Dempsey’s Public House,
Castle Street
Angel Hotel
Westgate Street (45
Apartments)
3 Pearson Street

16.5

191

7 Mackintosh Place

23.7

3 Cowbridge Road West

192

3 Cowbridge Road West

18.8

24 Kings Road

193

20.1

115 Cowbridge Road West

194

16.6

16.0

16.0

15.8

244 Newport Road

195

24 Kings Road
115 Cowbridge Road
West
244 Newport Road

16.2
23.3
18.0
20.4

16.1

7 Mackintosh Place

16.2
23.4
18.0
20.0

24.8

196

2 Pencisely Road

18.1

GFF 369 Newport Road
Next Building to
Stephenson Court
157 Newport Road

197

20.1
20.0

19.5

19.4

19.3

199

GFF 369 Newport Road
Next Building to
Stephenson Court
157 Newport Road

24.0
17.5
19.7

23.8

2 Pencisely Road

24.1
17.4
19.7

20.0

200

350 Whitchurch Road

25.7

19.4
24.7

19.3

350 Whitchurch Road

19.5
24.7

23 Lower Cathedral Road

201

23 Lower Cathedral Road

18.4

17.8

19.1

18.9

22 Clare Street

202

22 Clare Street

19.6

18.9

20.4

20.2

10 Fairoak Road

203

10 Fairoak Road

16.3

15.8

15.8

15.7

53 Neville Street

204

53 Neville Street

16.8

16.2

16.6

16.4

Fitzalan Court, Newport
Road

205

Fitzalan Court, Newport
Road

22.1

21.3

21.6

21.3

Windsor House, Windsor
Lane

206

Windsor House, Windsor
Lane

21.9

21.0

20.6

20.3

Northgate House, Duke
Street
Dempsey’s Public House,
Castle Street
Angel Hotel
Westgate Street (45
Apartments)
3 Pearson Street

185
186
187
188

198

24.6

23
17.7
20.3

17.4
19.6

24.5

Page|32

Page 749

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Annual Average NO2 µg/m3
Monitoring site name

Site ID

Site type

42 Waungron Road

207

42 Waungron Road

15.6

15.3

15.3

15.1

2 Llantrisant Road

208

2 Llantrisant Road

17.7

17.2

17.2

16.9

178 North Road

209

178 North Road

22.7

21.5

21.2

20.9

485 Caerphilly Road

210

485 Caerphilly Road

19.6

19.0

19.0

18.7

19 Well Wood Close,
Penylan

211

19 Well Wood Close,
Penylan

17.2

17.4

17.5

17.4

62 Bridge Road

212

62 Bridge Road

22.9

22.0

21.9

21.3

3.3.3

Baseline
2021

CASAP 1
2021

CASAP 2
2021

CASAP 3
2021

Modelling Uncertainty
The city-wide model used to predict NO2 concentrations is a large and complex model
comprising many thousands of road links, a large amount of input data and a number of
modelling assumptions. Both the transport and air quality modelling teams have followed all
the appropriate guidance to produce as robust a model as possible. However, it needs to be
recognised there is always inherent uncertainly in such models and this needs to be taken in
consideration when interpreting the results.
Both the transport and air quality models have been validated. In terms of the air quality
model a direct assessment of uncertainty is carried out for the baseline model year (2015) as
part of the validation process against monitored air quality data. In this process model
performance and uncertainty is assessed using the Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) for the
observed vs. predicted NO2 annual mean concentrations, as detailed in Technical Guidance
LAQM.TG (16). In this case the RMSE was calculated at 5.1 µg.m-3. This can then be used as
a measure of error on forecast results for future years. This error metric has been used when
considering the results by considering locations over 35 µg.m-3 as being at risk of exceedance.
More details on this validation exercise can be found in Appendix A.
However, when assessing future years there will also be uncertainty related to the forecast
assumptions we have made in modelling future years. The key assumptions relate to:



The forecast of traffic activity in the traffic model which is related to local development
factors and national growth factors;
Forecasting the local fleet composition from the ANPR data to future years, this has
been done using national trends.

One particular area of forecasting that bears further exploration is the use of the split
transport model in 2021 with compliant and non-compliant vehicles. This split is not used for
the 2015 traffic modelling. As such we are not strictly comparing like with like going from 2015
to 2021. However, going forward an assessment of additional scenarios taking account of
expected policy options will be carried out, and for this we will need to use the split matrix
transport model. It will therefore be more robust to compare these option results with the
baseline 2021 results using the split model as well. Splitting the transport model in this way
can influence both the traffic flows and speeds and the fleet composition on individual links
when comparing with an un-split model. To assess the impact of this we plan to do a
sensitivity test by running the un-split 2021 transport model results through the air quality
model and comparing this with the current 2015 and 2021 results.
Page|33

Page 750

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Another area of uncertainly is the emissions data used in the modelling. We have used the
latest COPERT emission factors available in line with guidance, however, we are aware that
these do not always reflect ‘real world’ vehicle performance accurately. For example, remote
sensing work carried out by Ricardo has shown that LGV emissions, particularly for Euro 5
vehicles, can be significantly higher than the standard emission factors. There is also
significant variation within a Euro class. This uncertainty also relates to the primary NO2
fraction (fNO2) which can have implications for the NOx to NO2 conversion process used in the
modelling as it can be quite sensitive to fNO2. Again, we have followed the current guidance
on this and used a link-specific fNO2 derived from modelled primary NO2 and NOx
concentrations at each location.
Lastly, the PCM results have been extracted using the 4m buffer as described above, as per
guidance. However, in defining relevant receptors along the 4m buffer we also have to
account for several other key criteria:




The receptor location should be representative of 100m length of road;
It should not be closer than 25m to a major road junction;
There must be public access – such as a footpath or building.

The sampling is done automatically in a GIS system and the above exceptions removed
manually. However, there is some subjectivity around these exceptions such as what
constitutes a major junction and how publicly accessible are certain locations. The final results
allocated to any given PCM link can be quite sensitive to the final selection of receptors.
However, we have taken all endeavours to ensure the final set of receptors used is a reasonable
interpretation of the criteria given in the guidance.
With the above detailed it is apparent then that the measures should ensure the greatest level
of certainty in terms of achieving compliance. As detailed below in Figure 7, where modelled
concentrations are recorded at 35 µg/m3 or less, the probability of achieving actual compliance
is greater than 80%. This is vitally important in terms of complying with the High Court legal
ruling which requires demonstrate that compliance is not only obtained in the shortest possible
time but that it is likely.

Page|34

Page 751

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Figure 7 - Probability Distribution Analysis

3.4

Charging Clean Air Zone – Benchmarking Exercise
As previously detailed, the assessment of the above package in terms of achieving compliance
in the shortest possible time will be benchmarked against a charging CAZ. However as
previously detailed, JAQU guidance indicates that a charging CAZ should only be considered if
other measures are unable to achieve compliance. The previous section clearly shows that the
CASAP package achieves compliance by 2021. Therefore the benchmarking exercise will need
to demonstrate that a CAZ can:
a) Achieve compliance and;
b) Be implemented in a timeframe quicker that than the proposed measures.
In terms of this timeframes for implementation this will need to include all provisions for
designing, consulting and implementing a CAZ (including procurement of all necessary
hardware and software and the development of appropriate operational capabilities, including
recruitment of necessary back office staff).

3.4.1

Clean Air Zone Scenarios
On the 16th November 2018, the Council held an internal workshop with officers and cabinet
members with the purpose of gaining an understanding of CAZs, and the potential options
that could be taken forward for full transportation and AQ modelling and economic
assessment.
The workshop assumed that the draft CAZ framework for Wales, produced by the Welsh
Government30 would form the basis for the proposed benchmark CAZ. Having considered the

30

WG Draft CAZ Framework link needed

Page|35

Page 752

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

results of the baseline do nothing scenario, the consensus of the workshop was that the most
effective CAZ to model would be a Small City Centre zone, with only private cars that did not
meet the emission standards laid out in the draft CAZ framework would be affected. It was
agreed that a nominal £10 daily charge would be applied to all non-compliant private vehicles.
Figure 8 below details the extent of the CAZ that was modelled.
Figure 8 - CAZ Boundary for Benchmark Exercise

Following additional internal discussions after the completion of the workshop, it was further
agreed that a second CAZ option should also be assessed as a comparison for the
benchmarking exercise. As a consequence a further scenario which focused on commercial
vehicle classes, namely HGVs and LGVs, has been modelled, within the same boundary as
detailed in Figure 8 above.
3.4.2

Modelling Assumption of CAZs
The components of the CAZ 1 and CAZ 2 scenarios and a summary of the modelling
assumptions used to represent them are shown in Table 10 below.

Page|36

Page 753

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Table 10 - CAZ Modelling Assumptions
Measure
CAZ1
City
centre
charging
CAZ for
private
cars

Modelling assumptions
Assumes £10 charge for private cars.
Defra’s joint air quality unit (JAQU) has developed behavioural responses to charges on
private car. These have been adopted by the transport and air quality modelling used
in this project. See section 6 within the transport report for the traffic modelling
methodology31. In summary, transport modellers applied linear interpolation to JAQU’s
£12.50 behavioural responses to establish responses to a £10 charge.
As the transport modellers have provided the % split of compliant and non-compliant
cars in response to CAZ, only an update to the fleet mix within the CAZ was necessary.
To prevent a step change in concentrations occurring with the implementation of a
separate fleet mix for compliant/non-compliant cars, a compliant/non-compliant fleet
mix was used in the future baseline (2021). Consequently, for CAZ 1 the change in
number of compliant cars was achieved by applying the updated CAZ 1 compliant/noncompliant % split to traffic flows (AADT).
There are no JAQU upgrade assumptions for non-compliant vehicles to a specific euro
standard or fuel type. There is only a % upgrade assumption to compliant vehicles and
those which will switch from non-compliant diesel to compliant petrol. As the traffic
modellers have already included the % upgrade within their traffic modelling, the only
adjustment made to the fleet mix used for pollutant emission calculations is the split
between petrol and diesel cars. Consistency was maintained between air quality
modelling and transport modelling, and linear interpolation of JAQU behavioural
responses was applied to the % upgrade from diesel to petrol. This adjusts JAQU’s
£12.50 % upgrade from 64.3 to 51.44%.
Assumes £10 charge for LGVs and £50 for HGVs.

CAZ 2
City
centre
charging
CAZ for
light
goods
and
heavy
goods
vehicles
(CAZ 1)

31

JAQU has developed behavioural responses for LGV and HGV car charges. These have
been adopted by transport and air quality modelling. The traffic modelling
methodology can be found within the transport report. In summary, the transport
modellers applied linear interpolation to JAQU’s £12.50 (LGV) and £100 (HGV)
behavioural responses. This establishes responses to a £10 and £50 charge for LGVs
and HGVs, respectively.
As the transport modellers have provided the % split of compliant and non-compliant
cars for responses to CAZ, only an update to the fleet mix assumed within the CAZ is
necessary. To prevent a step change in concentrations occurring with the
implementation of a separate fleet mix for compliant/non-compliant LGVs and HGVs, a
compliant/non-compliant fleet mix was used in the future baseline (2021).
Consequently, for CAZ 2 the change in number of compliant LGVs/HGVs was achieved
by applying the updated CAZ 2 compliant/non-compliant % split to traffic flows (AADT).
There are no JAQU upgrade assumptions for non-compliant vehicles to a specific euro
standard or fuel type. There is only a % upgrade assumption to compliant vehicles and
those which will switch from diesel to petrol. As the traffic modellers have already
included the % upgrade within their traffic modelling, the only adjustment made to the
fleet mix used for pollutant emission calculations is the split between petrol and diesel
LGVs. No fuel type switch for HGVs was calculated as diesel is the only fuel type for
HGVs. Consistency was maintained between the air quality modelling and the transport
modelling and linear interpolation of JAQU behavioural responses was applied to the
% upgrade from diesel to petrol. This adjusts JAQU’s £12.50 % upgrade from 75 to 60%.

367590 Air Quality Transport Modelling Technical Note CASAP CAZ.pdf

Page|37

Page 754

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study
3.4.3

Outline Business Case

Comparison with PCM Results
In line with the modelled baseline and CASAP results, the results for the CAZ scenarios have
been generated for each of the PCM road links. A full list of tabulated results for the PCM
road links for the modelled year of 2021 is shown in Table 11, along with the baseline results
and results from the three CASAP scenarios, for comparison. Mapped results of the two CAZ
scenarios are shown are shown in Figure 9 and
Figure 10.
The results for CAZ 1 and 2 show that NO2 concentrations are estimated to be lower than the
baseline 2021 scenario at most links, but with CAZ 1 showing increases on 6 links and Caz 2
showing increases on 4 links. The largest decrease observed in both CAZ 1 and 2 is at link ID
30665 (A4161, Castle Street), as might be expected for a measure that is specifically targeting
the city centre.
Compared to CASAP 3, most links show higher concentrations in the CAZ 1 and 2 scenarios.
But this is to be expected, as the CAZ scenarios do not include any of the CASAP measures and
targets a smaller geographical area. CAZ 1 achieves larger reductions along roads within the
clean air zone, although CAZ 2 is estimated to have lower concentrations on most other links
(32 in total).
To summarise, CAZ 1 is the most effective at addressing city centre air quality issues but does
not have as big an impact elsewhere as the CASAP scenarios or CAZ 2.

Table 11 - PCM and Local Model NO2 Concentration Results for CAZ 1 and 2
PCM
Baseline

Census ID

30660
10629
50647
10660
522
30659
77018
99955
50660
70055
99671
10659
10655
80898

Road
Name

A4119
A4054
A4119
A4161
A48
A4119
A470
A4160
A4161
A4161
A469
A4160
A4119
A4232

Local Baseline

Clean Air Strategy Action Plan
(CASAP)

Charging Clean Air
Zones

2015

2021

2015

2021

2021
CASAP 1

2021
CASAP 2

2021
CASAP 3

CAZ 1

22.4
19.1
29.9
40.3
27.9
27.2
31.1
32.2
43.7
37.5
33.1
30.4
31.9
47.3

17.9
15.0
24.0
32.7
22.3
21.8
25.2
25.7
33.8
29.7
27.1
25.0
25.9
37.7

37.1
25.3
34.4
34.9
32.9
23.8
45.4
36.7
42.2
43.9
27.2
30.4
36.6
34.3

30.7
19.5
24.4
26.2
25.4
18.8
30.6
26.9
30.8
30.4
21.5
23.7
29.0
29.5

29.7
19.1
23.6
25.5
24.1
18.2
27.5
25.5
28.8
28.1
20.7
22.6
27.5
28.0

30.2
19.2
27.6
25.5
24.1
18.2
26.5
25.1
28.3
27.3
20.7
22.3
27.5
28.3

29.7
17.9
26.8
25.3
24.0
17.8
25.1
24.9
27.8
26.9
20.4
22.3
26.8
28.2

30.7
19.3
23.5
25.6
25.1
18.4
28.2
25.4
25.8
27.8
21.1
22.6
27.9
29.5

CAZ 2

30.6
19.0
23.6
25.2
24.7
18.5
28.7
24.9
27.9
28.0
20.7
22.3
27.6
28.6
Page|38

Page 755

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study
PCM
Baseline

Census ID

20527
40655
50580
50657
10661
10527
40582
50651
40656
40549
50527
642
80899
99960
50541
20548
50524
74101
638
30665
73233
99956
78439
70056
73232
80896
80726
78435

Road
Name

A48
A4160
A469
A4161
A4161
A48
A469
A4119
A4161
A470
A48
A4160
A4232
A4055
A470
A470
A48
A4232
A4119
A4161
A4055
A4234
A4232
A4232
A4160
A470
A470
A4050

Outline Business Case

Local Baseline

Clean Air Strategy Action Plan
(CASAP)

Charging Clean Air
Zones

2015

2021

2015

2021

2021
CASAP 1

2021
CASAP 2

2021
CASAP 3

CAZ 1

48.8
28.2
28.5
29.5
24.9
31.9
31.8
28.4
40.9
40.8
45.3
38.3
43.1
34.9
35.6
31.3
59.6
52.5
27.5
41.2
35.8
44.6
33.6
42.2
26.9
26.5
35.4
30.2

39.1
22.7
22.4
23.3
20.1
25.7
25.5
22.9
33.4
32.5
37.1
32.1
34.3
28.4
28.5
24.6
45.4
40.7
21.6
31.9
29.1
36.8
26.4
29.9
21.2
22.2
25.3
23.1

40.0
24.2
33.0
26.5
26.6
29.4
32.2
31.6
43.7
38.1
37.1
40.0
32.1
31.4
37.3
41.3
36.4
30.1
28.8
55.7
31.6
38.2
21.7
35.3
21.0
26.9
34.8
32.5

30.6
19.3
25.8
20.3
20.2
22.7
24.7
24.5
29.6
27.6
28.8
28.8
27.5
25.5
29.1
30.0
27.9
24.8
22.3
41.1
24.5
26.3
17.5
28.9
18.1
21.8
25.2
25.0

31.3
18.9
24.8
19.6
19.5
21.9
24.5
23.5
28.1
26.1
28.0
27.8
26.8
24.0
28.3
27.9
27.6
22.9
21.6
37.3
23.4
25.4
17.3
29.6
16.3
21.4
23.3
24.1

31.6
18.6
24.8
19.6
19.9
22.0
24.3
23.9
28.0
25.6
28.2
30.0
27.2
24.1
28.2
27.8
27.6
23.0
21.7
36.0
23.4
26.3
17.4
29.8
16.4
21.9
23.0
24.3

31.5
18.5
24.6
19.3
19.8
21.7
24.0
23.8
27.6
25.2
28.0
29.8
27.1
24.1
28.0
27.3
27.5
23.0
21.4
35.0
23.3
26.2
17.3
29.7
16.3
21.7
22.4
24.2

31.5
18.8
25.5
19.6
19.6
22.2
24.5
25.1
27.8
25.5
28.4
28.2
27.4
24.8
28.2
25.9
27.7
24.1
21.3
32.5
23.8
26.1
17.5
30.1
17.9
22.0
21.6
25.0

CAZ 2

30.8
18.4
25.2
19.6
19.3
21.6
24.5
24.6
27.5
25.3
27.7
28.6
27.1
24.4
27.8
27.1
26.9
23.7
21.0
35.3
23.2
26.2
17.4
29.5
17.7
21.9
22.7
24.7

Note: local results are colour coded as green for less than 35µgm-3, amber between 35µgm-3 and 40
µgm-3 and red for greater the 40µgm-3 (the compliance threshold). Numbers are rounded to the
nearest integer, hence any values less than 40.5 µgm-3 are not counted as exceedances.

Page|39

Page 756

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study
3.4.4

Outline Business Case

Results at Local Monitoring Locations
Modelled NO2 concentrations for CAZ 1 and 2 have been calculated for each of the monitoring
locations, and are shown in Table 12 below.
These results provide an indication of whether compliance is predicted at monitoring locations
in 2021. In this case CAZ 1 and 2 shows compliance with the 40 µg/m3 limit value for all sites
by 2021.
Table 12 - Predicted NO2 Annual Mean Concentrations at Monitoring site Locations in 2021
with CAZ 1 and CAZ 2
NO2 annual mean (µg.m-3)

Monitoring site name

Site ID

Site type

Baseline
2021

CAZ 1
2021

CAZ 2
2021

2015 sites used for model verification

Ninian Park Road
Mitre Place

16
33

Roadside
Kerbside

14.2
31.5

13.9
30.3

13.8
29.9

City Road

44

Kerbside

20.4

19.7

19.9

Mackintosh Place
Penarth Road
Birchgrove Village
Westgate Street
Stephenson Court

45
49
56
58
81

Kerbside
Roadside
Roadside
Kerbside
Roadside

23.4
17.1
17.1
30.3
25.3

23.1
16.5
16.7
24.5
24.1

23.2
16.6
16.5
25.2
24.3

104 Birchgrove Road

82

Roadside

18

17.5

17.4

85

Roadside

15.2

15

14.7

86
96

Roadside
Roadside

19
23.2

18.8
22.2

18.9
21.9

97

Roadside

21.4

20.8

20.4

497 Cowbridge Road
West
19 Fairoak Road
Manor Way Junction
Newport Road (premises)
Western Avenue
(premises)
Cardiff Road Llandaff
Cardiff AURN
Cardiff AURN
Cardiff AURN
30 Caerphilly Road

98

Roadside

18.2

17.8

17.8

99
101
102
103
106

Roadside
Urban Centre
Urban Centre
Urban Centre
Roadside

27.8
18.4
18.4
18.4
24.6

26.7
17.2
17.2
17.2
23.6

26.5
17.6
17.6
17.6
23.4

Lynx Hotel

107

Roadside

21.6

21.1

20.9

98 Leckwith Road
17 Sloper Road
21 Llandaff Road
25 Cowbridge Road West
Havelock Street

111
112
115
117
119

Roadside
Roadside
Roadside
Roadside
Kerbside

15.3
17.2
15.2
20
22.3

15.1
17
15
19.2
20.6

15
16.8
15
18.7
21.1

287 Cowbridge Road East
Westgate Street Flats
117 Tudor Street

124
126
128

Roadside
Roadside
Roadside

14.4
27.6
16.1

14.2
22.7
15.7

14.2
23.3
15.7
Page|40

Page 757

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case
NO2 annual mean (µg.m-3)

Monitoring site name
Stephenson Court 2

Site ID
129

Site type
Roadside

23.9

22.8

23

Burgess Court
Dragon Court

130
131

Roadside
Roadside

24.5
24.7

23.3
23.5

23.5
23.7

St Mark's Avenue
Sandringham Hotel

133
134

Roadside
Roadside

28.1
18.8

27.7
17.7

26.9
18

Lower Cathedral Road

139

Kerbside

19.8

18.8

18.3

Clare Street

140

Kerbside

21.2

20.5

19.9

Fairoak Road 2
Windsor House
Marlborough House
Tudor Street Flats

141
143
144
145

Roadside
Roadside
Roadside
Roadside

18.9
27.9
26.6
24.3

18.5
23
22.4
23.9

18.4
23.5
23.2
24.1

Neville Street
211 Penarth Road
161 Clare Road
10 Corporation Road
James Street
Magic Roundabout
2a/4 Colum Road
47 Birchgrove Road
64/66 Cathays Terrace
IMO façade replacement
High Street Zizzi

146
147
148
149
152
153
156
157
158
159
160

Roadside
Roadside
Roadside
Roadside
Roadside
Roadside
Roadside
Roadside
Roadside
Roadside
Urban Centre

19.8
17.5
18
16.5
22
21.6
18.5
20.8
18
22.6
20.6

19
16.9
17.3
16.1
22
21.5
18.2
20.2
17.4
22
18.4

18.7
16.7
17.3
16.1
21.8
21.5
18
19.9
17.5
21.5
19

52 Bridge Road

161

Roadside

18.9

18.4

18.2

58 Cardiff Road

162

Roadside

18

17.5

17.2

118 Cardiff Road

163

Roadside

19.4

19.3

18.7

725 Newport Road

164

Roadside

16.6

16.3

16.1

6 Heol Tyrrell
163 Lansdowne Road
359 Lansdowne Road
570 Cowbridge Road East

165
166
167
168

Roadside
Roadside
Roadside
Roadside

13.2
16.9
17
18.7

13
16.4
16.4
18.1

12.9
16.5
16.4
18.1

11 Pengam Green

170

Roadside

17.6

17.5

17.8

23 Tweedsmuir Road

171

Roadside

17.9

17.8

18.1

Ocean Way 1

172

Roadside

18.9

18.9

19

Ocean Way 2
76 North Road

173
174

Roadside
Kerbside

19.6
23.9

19.6
22.1

19.7
21.9

Castle Arcade

176

Roadside

42.7

32.9

37.1

Angel Hotel

177

Roadside

33.1

26.4

27.7

Park Street/Westgate
Street

178

Kerbside

32

29

31.2

Page|41

Page 758

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Figure 9 - PCM Links Colour Coded With CAZ 1 Results In 2021

Page 759
Page|42

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Figure 10 - PCM Links Colour Coded With CAZ 2 Results In 2021

Page 760
Page|43

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

3.5

Outline Business Case

Further Qualitative Assessment of Measures
Prior to undertaking a WelTAG appraisal the project team have further considered a number of
the measures included in the full CASAP package in terms of the ability of the measures to
achieve the primary success factor of delivering compliance in the shortest possible time. In
order to develop a Full Business Case and owing to the time-intensive nature of modelling
further refinement of the measures is necessary to allow more comprehensive analysis of fewer
options in this Outline Business Case.
In undertaking this assessment options that realistically cannot be implemented by the 1st
January 2021 or have minimal direct impact on reducing NO2 concentrations Castle Street, have
been discarded without further appraisal. This timeframe includes full statutory consultation,
submission of the full business case and funding approval, procurement, planning and
implementation of the measures. Such measures have not been considered further in the
context of this Outline Business Case but may have scope to deliver longer-term air quality
benefits should they be required in future and are thus further referenced, in the Clean Air
Strategy.
The measures excluded in terms of not meeting the primary critical success factor are
summarised in Table 13.

Table 13 - Revision of Initial Measures against Primary Success Factor
Measure

Reason for Omission

50mph on A4232

Measure has no direct impact on Castle Street.

A48 P&R

Owing to land acquisition, design, planning, consultation, procurement,
construction/ implementation not feasible to implement by end of 2020.

J33 P&R
Nantgarw P&R
Parking Charges for
Polluting Vehicles
A470 additional
southbound traffic
lane

Does not have significant impact on Castle Street. Will require significant
consultation, approval and assessment which would make implementation by
end of 2020 unlikely.
Measure provides insignificant improvement on emission and does not directly
impact Castle Street

As a result the revised CASAP package and the CAZs have been subject to an additional
qualitative assessment to screen and test the measures against the primary and secondary
objectives of this study to ensure that measures could address the problem identified.
This assessment considered each of the measures initially against the identified Primary
objective using a simple screening system of a pass or fail. This assessment was based on
professional judgement and an understanding of the success of similar measures elsewhere in
the UK and further afield. The summary appraisal of the long list of options is presented in Table
14.

Page|44

Page 761

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Table 14 - Revised Assessment of Options Against Primary and Secondary Objectives
Measure
Description

Primary
Objective
Achieved
(If Passexpected
year of
complianc
e)

Page 762

Revised CASAP
Package
CAZ 1 – Private
Cars
CAZ 2 –
Commercial
Vehicles

Secondary Objectives
(Scores 1. Low, 2. Medium, 3. High 4. V. High)
Will the
measure
deliver
an
overall
reductio
n in NO2
emission
s to air.

Scores

Judgement

Will the measure contribute to
well-being
Positive
Mitigate financial
impact on
impact on low
wider public
income
health.
households and
reduce
inequalities

Does the option
fit or compliment
other local
policies.

Value for
Money - Do the
likely benefits of
this option
exceed the
costs

Constrai
nts on
Impleme
ntation
of
Measure

4

2

4

1

2

20

Preferred Option
Unlikely Option

Pass 2021

3

Will the
measure
result in
additional
benefits or
other
environmental
impacts (i.e.,
GHG
Reductions
3

Pass-2021*

2

2

1

1

1

2

3

12

Pass-2021*

2

1

1

2

1

1

1

9

*Considered overly ambitious given full consultation, planning, procurement and operational practicalities faced.

Page|45

Option not
considered
further

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

3.6

Outline Business Case

Revised WelTAG Appraisal
Having considered the results of the detailed quantitative assessment of the CASAP measures
and the two CAZs and the further assessment against the CSFs, the CASAP Package and the
CAZ 1 scenario have been further assessed under the WelTAG Appraisal 32process to further
assess the Environmental, Social and Cultural and Economic Impacts of the options
The following section provides a further appraisal of these measures in order to identify a
preferred option that can be developed which will be refined and developed into a Full Business
to comply with the legal requirements of the Direction. The options have been appraised
against the key three WelTAG areas.




Economy
Environment
Social and Cultural

The measures that have been appraised against the WelTAG Aspect of Well-being are outlined
in Table 15 . As detailed modelling of the measures is undertaken it will be necessary to reevaluate the assessment and quantify the effectives of the measures as data becomes
available.
Table 15– WelTAG Well-being Aspects
Environment
Air Quality

Social and Cultural
Physical Activity

Noise
Landscape
Townscape

Journey Quality
Accidents
Access to employment and
services

Economy
Journey time changes and
journey time reliability
Capital Costs
Land

Historic Environment
Biodiversity
Water Environment
Green House Gas (GHG) Emissions

3.6.1

Environmental Appraisal
In accordance with Section 3.3 air quality modelling has been undertaken to establish a
detailed understanding for NO2 concentrations for the implementation of CASAP Measures
and two CAZ scenarios, which could be fully implemented by 2021.
Further qualitative appraisals have also been undertaken to assess the other environmental
impacts areas namely:
 Noise;
 Landscape;
 Townscape;
 Historic Environment;
 Biodiversity;
 Water Environment; and
 GHG Emissions

32

WelTAG 2017 Welsh Transport Appraisal Guidance

Page|46

Page 763

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

3.6.2 Social and Cultural Appraisal
3.6.2.1 Physical Activity
A qualitative appraisal has been undertaken in order to assess the amount of walking, cycling
and other physical exercise that is undertaken as a result of the measure.
3.6.2.2 Journey Times
A qualitative appraisal has been undertaken in order to assess the extent of impact of each
of the measures on journey quality, taking into consideration the following aspects:
Traveller care: aspects such as cleanliness, level of facilities, information and the general
transport environment;
Travellers’ views: the view and pleasantness of the external surroundings throughout the
duration of the journeys; and
Traveller stress: frustration, fear of accidents and route uncertainty.
3.6.3

3.6.3.1

Accidents
A qualitative appraisal has been undertaken in order to assess the extent of potential
anticipated change which occurs in the number and severity of injuries as a result of the
measure.
Access to Employment and Services
A qualitative appraisal has been undertaken in order to assess how many jobs people can
reach, the respective journey times, and the impact on journeys to key services such as
health facilities and schools which occurs as a result of the measure.
Whilst the WelTAG 2017 guidance outlines access to employment and access to services as
two separate appraisal areas, both areas have been combined within this assessment, as the
appraisals will be proportionate to one another, with little to no difference in appraisal
outcomes between the two considered likely to take place.

3.6.4
3.6.4.1

Economic Appraisal
Journey Time and Journey Time Reliability Changes
A qualitative appraisal has been undertaken in order to assess changes in journey times
across all affected modes both for users and non-users of the measure. The appraisal also
takes into account changes in the variation in journey times between times of day and
between journeys made at the same time each day i.e. morning and evening peak periods.
Whilst the WelTAG 2017 guidance outlines journey time and journey time reliability changes
as two separate appraisal areas, both areas have been combined within this assessment, as
the appraisals are proportionate to one another, with little to no difference in appraisal
outcomes between the two considered likely to take place.

3.6.4.2

Capital Costs
The measures have been assigned within the following cost bands:




Low – up to £500k
Medium – £500k – £2m
High – £2m+

Cost banding has been used to denote the costs of each measure in order to differentiate
between more cost effective measures which could be implemented within a shorter
timeframe, and those which will require more funds and longer lead-in periods. The banding
Page|47

Page 764

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

takes into account the capital costs of each measure, and does not take account of revenue
costs.
3.6.4.3

Land
A qualitative appraisal has been undertaken to assess the extent to which the measure will
potentially reduce the amount of agricultural land, and open up development sites.

3.6.5

Value for Money
At this stage a full value for money assessment has not been feasible owing to the need to
undertake a full economic assessment to calculate relevant net present values for the CASAP
measures and the CAZ1. This will be presented in the Full Business Case to follow.

3.6.6

Summary Appraisal Tables
Individual Summary Appraisal Tables for the CASAP measures, and the CAZ 1 scenarios are
presented below. Table 18 provides an overall summary of these assessments.

Page|48

Page 765

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Table 16 - CASAP Measures Summary Appraisal
Name of Measure :
Timescales
Feasibility
Effective:
Objective
Air Quality
Noise
Landscape

Environment

Historic Env

Biodiversity
Water
Environment

Townscapes

Greenhouse
Gas Emissions

Social and
Cultural

Economy

Journey Time
Changes

Capital Costs

Land
Journey
Quality
Physical
Activity

Revised CASAP3 Package
2019-2021
Yes – Timescales for full implementation are extremely challenging
Yes – the package of measures achieve compliance on Castle Street
Summary of Key Impacts
The modelling results of the CASAP 3, indicate a reduction of NO2
concentrations of 6 µg/m3 on Castle Street which achieves compliance.
The implementation of Zero Emission Buses, plus the retrofitting of remaining
buses, and the improved highway arrangements, will improve noise levels.
The implementation of the CCN and CCW schemes, will have significant
improvements in terms of landscape/ green infrastructure which will be
implemented as part of the schemes.
Whilst the highway improvements works on Castle Street, will cause initial
disruption in front of Cardiff Castle it is anticipated that upon completion the
works will improve the built environment in the City Centre and the area around
Castle Street.
The scheme will not negatively impact on biodiversity nor will it impact any
protected sites.
It is unlikely that the measure will impact the River Taff, River Ely or Rhymney
River or the Severn Estuary and thus there will be no negative impact to the
water environment. As part of the CCW scheme drainage improvements will be
undertaken, and thus it could be argued that improvements to discharge to the
River Taff will be improved. There will also be a requirement for sustainable
drainage solutions to be included in the schemes.
No direct impacts are anticipated to listed buildings or other buildings as part of
the proposed CASAP measures. However the CCN and CCW schemes will have
significant public realm and landscape aspects. Further the schemes will
improve the environment of the City Centre
The implementation the full package of measures should results in an overall
reduction of GHG, which will be fully assessed in the Economic Assessment in
the Final Business Case.
Journeys by public transport, and active travel modes are likely to increase
owing the improvements in the highway network, efficiency of movement and
prioritisation. Owing to the prioritisation of sustainable and active travel modes,
there is likely to be an impact on private and commercial vehicles who may have
taken alternative routes or face delays in the city centre which will lead to an
increase in journey times.
High >£2M It is anticipated total costs of the projects as follows:
Electric Buses
£1.8M
Bus Retrofit
£1.4M
Taxi Mitigation Schemes £5.5M*
City Centre Schemes
£18.9M
Active Travel and CS1 completion £4.2M
No loss of land is anticipated from this measure.
Implementation of Zero Emission Buses, will provide high quality transportation,
and the retrofitting of the remaining Cardiff Bus Fleet, should improve journey
quality on the remaining buses. Active travel measures included should improve
the journey quality within the city centre and wider areas of the City.
The active travel packages and elements to improve active travel within the City
Centre Schemes should see a significant uptake and increase in active travel.

Assessment
Qualitative
Significantly
Beneficial +3
Moderately
Beneficial +2
Moderately
Beneficial +2
Moderately
Beneficial +2
Neutral 0
Slightly
Beneficial +1

Moderately
Beneficial +2
Significantly
Beneficial +3
Slightly
Adverse -1

High

Neutral 0
Significantly
Beneficial +3
Significantly
Beneficial +3

Page|49

Page 766

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study
Accidents
Access

Value
for
Money

Value for
Money

Outline Business Case

Improvements to the City Centre traffic, expansion of 20 mph areas, and
segregation of cycling should see an overall reduction in accidents across the
City.
It is not anticipated that the implementation of the package of measures will
have an impact on access to services, employment, or healthcare within Cardiff.
There could be increased access for some members of society by encouraging
walking and cycling.
To be determined by Full Economic Appraisal

Significantly
Beneficial +2
Moderately
Beneficial +1
TBC

Page|50

Page 767

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Table 17 - CAZ Scenario 1 Summary Appraisal Table
Name of Measure :
Timescales
Feasibility
Effectiveness
Objective
Air Quality
Noise

Environment

Landscape
Historic Env
Biodiversity
Water
Environment
Townscapes
Greenhouse
Gas
Emissions

Economy

Journey Time
Changes
Capital Costs

Social and Cultural

Land
Journey
Quality
Physical
Activity

Value
for
Money

Accidents

Access

Value for
Money

CAZ Scenario 1
2019-2021
No – unlikely that the CAZ including all operational issues can be fully implemented by 2021.
Yes – the assessment of the scheme indicates NO2 concentrations achieve compliance.
Assessment
Summary of Key Impacts
Qualitative
The modelling results of the CAZ 1, indicate a reduction of NO2 concentrations of
Significantly
8.6 µg/m3 on Castle Street.
beneficial +3
This measure may see the reduction of vehicles on the road, and thus lead to a
Slightly
decrease in road traffic noise.
Beneficial +1
The introduction of this measure will have no impact on landscapes.
Neutral 0
The scheme will not have any direct impact on Cardiff’s historic landscapes.
Moderately
However any CAZ will require new infrastructure which would be required on
Adverse -2
Castle Street.
The scheme will not negatively impact on biodiversity nor will it impact any
Neutral 0
protected sites.
It is unlikely that the measure will impact the River Taff, River Ely or Rhymney
Neutral 0
River or the Severn Estuary and thus there will be no negative impact to the water
environment.
The installation of the ANPR cameras will be required to operate the scheme and
Moderately
thus could have a negative impact on the townscape of the City Centre
Adverse -1
Given that Euro 4 petrol cars are compliant there could be an increase in older
Moderately
petrol cars (Euro 4), which have higher CO2 emissions compared to diesel vehicles. Negative -2
However could also see an increase of Euro 6 diesels or ULEVs, which would
negate the impact on GHG emissions.
It is possible that journeys times will increase for non-compliant vehicles that
Neutral 0
avoid the CAZ in order not pay the charge. However compliant vehicles may see an
increase in journey times as road space is freed up.
National Estimated costs for CAZ are in the £2.5M region. The implementation of
<High
the ANPR network and the development of the required operations team will
require significant upfront costs. In addition consideration of vehicles upgrade
costs for wider society need to be considered.
No loss of land is anticipated from this measure.
Neutral 0
The removal of non-compliant vehicles could improve the vehicle journeys within
Slightly
the CAZ.
Beneficial +1
Users of non-compliant vehicles making short trips to the City Centre may switch
Slightly
travel mode and switch to active travel modes. Alternatively non-compliant
Beneficial +1
vehicles will park further from the CAZ area, and thus walk further into City
Centre.
It is not anticipated that the introduction of CAZ will have a direct impact on
Slightly
accident rates. It could be argued that if there are fewer vehicles owing to
Beneficial +1
reduction in non-compliant vehicles in the CAZ area, then there could be a positive
impact on potential accidents
Potential this could impact on the ability for citizens to access services, Significantly
employment, or healthcare within Cardiff if their vehicles are non-compliant and Adverse -3
the have to pay the user charge. However as the CAZ is a small zone where public
transport access is good, then those persons who are not able to upgrade vehicles,
could still access the area by alternative means.
To be determined by Full Economic Appraisal
TBC

Page|51

Page 768

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Table 18 - Summary of WelTAG Well-being Aspects Appraisals
Key Criteria

Environment

Economic

Social and Cultural

VfM

Outcome

Preferred
Measure
Unlikely
Measure

Y

N

Y

+3

+1

0

-2

0

0

+
2
-1

+3

-1

-2

0

Page 769

High
>£2M
High
>£2M

Access

+1

Accidents

0

Physical Activity

+2

Journey Quality

Biodiversity

+2

Land

Historic Environment

+2

Capital Costs

Landscape

+3

Journey Time Changes

Noise

Y

Greenhouses Gas
emissions

Air Quality

Y

Townscape

Effectiveness

Y

Water Environment

Feasibility

Implementation of CASAP Package of
Measures
CAZ 1 Scenario

Timescales

Measure

0

+2

+3

+2

+1

TBC

0

+1

+1

+1

-3

TBC

Key
+3 = Large Beneficial +2 = Moderate Beneficial +1 = Slight Beneficial 0 = Neutral -1 = Slight Adverse -2 = Moderate Adverse -3 = Large Adverse

Page|52

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

3.7

Outline Business Case

Conclusion on the Assessment of Measures
The results of the assessments indicate that both the CASAP package of measures and the CAZ
scenarios provide compliance Castle Street, which under the baseline do nothing scenario
demonstrated continuous non-compliance issues for the NO2 Limit Value beyond 2021. Whilst
both CAZ scenarios enable compliance to be achieved, the CASAP measures provide wider air
quality improvements across Cardiff as a whole and thus this becomes the preferred option to
be taken forward.
Government guidance33 is quite clear that a charging CAZ should only be considered as a
preferred option if other non-charging measures are not sufficient to bring about compliance
in the shortest possible time. Given that the modelling undertaken has demonstrated that a
package of measures achieves compliance in the same period if not sooner than a charging
CAZ, then ultimately the Council is justified in implementing a package of measures as a
preferred option rather than a CAZ.
Furthermore the nature of the CASAP measures as a preferred option means that the delivery
is more rapid than the timescales associated with the implementation of a charging clean air
zone. The modelling assumed that both the CASAP package and the Benchmark CAZ 1 scheme
were fully operational by 2020. Whilst it is possible to implement the CASAP package in this
timeframe, the same cannot be said for the benchmark CAZ 1 charging scheme. The Council has
therefore pursued the CASAP package as its preferred scheme in order to ensure that we
achieve compliance in the shortest possible time and with least disruption. The Council is able
to implement the preferred option scheme through existing delivery and procurement
frameworks. In addition it may be feasible to implement some of the measures, such as electric
buses and retrofitting at an early stage. As part of the requirements of the legal tests in the
ruling of the ClientEarth 234 (CE2) case, the court has stated that in order to comply with Article
23 of the EU Directive; local authority plans must ensure that they ‘Choose a route to compliance
which reduces human exposure as quickly as possible’. In essence this means that a plan which
aims to achieve compliance by a certain date throughout the entirety of the zone would not
meet the legal test, if there were short term additional or alternative measures identified that
could lead to compliance and reduction in human exposure in a shorter time period.
Based on the emphasis to start implementing measures in the short term, in order to comply
with the legal test the Council should not delay in implementing the measures included in the
revised CASAP package. Hence this further supports the decision that the CASAP package is
the preferred option.
A full economic Assessment of the revised measures will be included in the Full Business Case
and this will include full distributional analysis and health impact assessment.

33

JAQU Guidance – Evidence Based Approach to Setting Clean Air Zone Charges

34

1 ClientEarth (No. 2). https://www.judiciary.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/clientearth-v-ssenviron-food-ruralaffairs-judgment-021116.pdf

Page|53

Page 770

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Section 4
4.1

Outline Business Case

Commercial Case

Introduction
JAQU’s Inception package guidance requires the Commercial case of the SOC to provide an
assessment of relevant current procurement arrangements for the likely services required and
likely attractiveness of the project to potential services providers.

4.2

Market Assessment
Based on the PESTLE tool, the following gives an overview of the potential for the current
market to meet the requirements of any preferred option. Prior to commencement of
procurement and to be presented within the Full Business Case in the Final Plan, it is proposed
that market engagement will be undertaken for the appropriate measures to determine the
extent to which the preferred option is an attractive proposition.
Political
The UK and Welsh Governments role is to regulate and ensure local authorities meet the
requirement to be compliant with the EU Air Quality Directive in the shortest possible time and
is the primary driver behind this business case. Locally there is ambition to deliver significant
improvements in air quality.
Economic
As a result of the requirement for delivering NO2 compliance, the Welsh Government has
announced a £20M Air Quality Fund35 for improving air quality across the country. It is
anticipated that the implementation of the preferred option will mitigate against detrimental
economic impacts by the provision of grant support or otherwise from the Welsh Government
and other funding mechanisms.
Social
The cultural trend is currently toward increasing uptake of sustainable practice largely in light
the respect of reducing carbon emissions to tackle climate change, but over recent years air
quality has become more prominent environmental risk. The market is recognising this shift
toward a consciousness in emissions by individuals and organisations and as a result growth in
provision for renewable energy, increasing availability for alternative vehicle refuelling
infrastructure (e.g. EV charge points) and changing local and national policy indicates that the
market for sustainability and air quality initiatives is increasingly becoming a social preference.
Technological
Installation of ANPR cameras has already been undertaken in Cardiff to address moving traffic
offences (e.g. bus lane/ junction enforcement).
The market is already seeing a growth in low emission and zero emission vehicles and charging
infrastructure and so it is anticipated that any proposed preferred option will not be impacted
by technological advancements.
Legal
The legal Direction imposed by Welsh Government on Cardiff Council, to achieve compliance
with the NO2 annual average limit value within the shortest possible time has resulted in the

35

https://gov.wales/newsroom/environmentandcountryside/2018/180424-20m-air-quality-fund-among-newmeasures-to-improve-air-quality-in-wales/?lang=en

Page|54

Page 771

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

launch of the Clean Air Fund, (see above “economic”) providing the market with assurance that
the plans will be funded.
Environment
Environment and Environmental Health concerns have resulted in the legal obligation for the
Council to meet NO2 compliance (see above “political”). Environmental concern is also
influencing a growth in the sustainable and low emission economy.

4.3

Procurement Options
The Council is a Public Body and must comply with all pertinent EU and UK Procurement
Legislation and therefore, staff must, by law, adhere to the same. A number of policies and
procedures have been developed to help us achieve these objectives and to ensure that our
procurement activities:



Comply with European Union (EU) and UK procurement legislation;
Conform to s Contract Standing Orders and Procurement Rules (CPR) updated July
2018, as well as all relevant internal policies, procedures and objectives.
Achieve evidenced value for money in terms of quality and the price paid
Test and demonstrate whether social value has been achieved
Are open and transparent and safeguard against allegations of corruption, fraud or bias
Are well documented to provide a clear audit trail
Manage and address risks as well as opportunities







The most appropriate procurement approach for the Final Plan will be dependent upon
several factors, namely:








The final measures included within the Plan;
The type of system to be implemented ;
The extent to which the technical and operational solution is specified (e.g. whether
fully specified or open to market proposals as a performance-based solution);
The method by which it is proposed to operate (“in-house” or third-party service
provider);
On-going maintenance and development;
Whether it is to be designed, implemented and operated by a single service provider
or by multiple providers; and
Timescales for delivery.

There are four key procurement routes available:





Local authority tendering through an Approved List (shortlist) of invited suppliers;
Through any applicable existing Council Frameworks;
Through Welsh Government’s National Procurement Services (NPS) for the public
sector; and
Open tender through the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU

Given the likely scale of the preferred option, it is not thought likely that the procurement
value of any element of this work will fall under that required for the Approved List
procurement approach, so this leaves the existing frameworks, NPS, or OJEU processes as
options for procurement.
Page|55

Page 772

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

4.3.1

Existing Council Frameworks
There are several currently active frameworks established by Cardiff Council for highways
design, installation and maintenance services. These frameworks offer the advantage of being
readily available to provide “fast track” procurement of the various services required for the
Final Plan. The suitability of using existing frameworks to procure appropriate services to
implement the outcome of the Final Plan will explored in more detail within the Final Plan.

4.3.2

National Procurement Services
The NPS has a number of frameworks which offers customers a quick, simple and competitive
route to construction consultancy services. The Framework offers access to pre-approved
firms that have been rigorously assessed on the quality of the services they provide. Of
particular relevance to this Plan, is the CONSTRUCTION CONSULTANCY FRAMEWORKS NPSPS-0004-14 Construction Consultancy, and the sub framework NPS-PS-0027-15.

4.3.3

OJEU Route
The OJEU tender process can take several forms - open, restricted, competitive dialogue,
competitive procedure with negotiation or innovation partnership. Given the nature of the
work proposed for the Final Plan, it is expected that only open or restricted procedures would
apply.
The final procurement route for the preferred option(s) will be detailed further in the Final
Plan.

Page|56

Page 773

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Section 5
5.1

Outline Business Case

Financial Case

Funding
Within its latest Interim supplemental plan to the UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen
dioxide concentrations 2017 36 the Welsh Government has stated that it has allocated over £20
million for an Air Quality Fund through to 2021 to help accelerate compliance with NO2 limits
and improve air quality in Wales. The report further states that this fund will primarily be used
to provide on-going support, guidance and finance to enable Cardiff Council (and Caerphilly
CBC) to take action to achieve compliance in the shortest possible time. The funding will
support work to conduct feasibility studies, implement early measures which help accelerate
exposure reduction and deliver the options which will achieve compliance in the shortest
possible time.
Within the Minister’s letter that accompanied the formal direction it was confirmed that finance
would be made available for the production of the feasibility study and for the implementation
of the chosen scheme.
In addition to the above funding mechanism, the Council will continue to work collaboratively
with Welsh Government officers to identify all available and an appropriate funding
mechanisms including transportation funds, to maximise the financial contribution from Welsh
Government towards the implementation of any measures.

5.2

Cost Assumptions
At this stage, the full Financial Case has not been fully assessed and outline costs for each of the
proposed measures is provided below.

5.2.1

Electric Buses
Funding has been secured from Department of Transport (DfT), from their ULEB Grant, and
thus further funding towards this measure cannot be supplied directly to Cardiff Bus owing to
State Aid Issues. Cardiff Council is looking at alternative funding methods to enable the
implementation and use of the ULEB fund.

5.2.2

Retro-Fit Scheme for Buses
Cardiff Clean Bus Technology Fund (CCBTF). To assess the impact of such a scheme we have
modelled the impact of retrofitting 94 buses, which coincides with an application made jointly
in 2017 by Cardiff Council and Cardiff Bus.
The bid was based on exhaust after emission treatment technology, namely selective catalytic
reduction (SCR). Research by Low Carbon Vehicle Partnership (LowCVP)37 details that this
technology can reduce NO2 emissions by 88% Euro III, 90% Euro IV and 98% for Euro V. The
proposal also included for the implementation of diesel particulate filters (DPFs) which can
lead to a >75% reduction in particulate emissions.
The proposal in the OBC will be for funding of up to 94 buses, on the condition that all
operators within Cardiff can apply for the scheme.

Interim Welsh Government supplemental plan to the UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide
concentrations 2017 July 2018.
37 https://www.lowcvp.org.uk/assets/reports/CVTF_CBTF%20Evaluation%20Study%20-%20FINAL.pdf
36

Page|57

Page 774

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

As such the following outline cost and expenditure breakdown for this scheme is detailed
below in Table 19.
Table 19 - Bus Retrofit Scheme Costs
Diesel Bus Retro Fitting

Retrofit Costs*
Telematics and data report for 5
years

2019/20 (47
Buses)
£

2020/21 (47)
£

£585,675

£626,025

£75,200

£75,200

94 in total
£
£1,211,700
£150,400
Total £1,362,100

*Based on 2017 bid costs
The above expenditure has been split over two financial years. However the previous
programme indicated that this project could potentially be completed over a 25 week
programme which could allow for an initial programme to be completed within a single
calendar year.
The impact of the above two measures could be further enhanced by the implementation of
a Low Emission Zone (LEZ) for Buses which would require buses operating in the LEZ to have
minimum emission standard or Euro 6 or ULEV. Such a zone would be achieved by applying
to the Traffic Commissioner to issue a Traffic Regulation Condition (TRC) which applies to the
license of bus operators providing services in Cardiff. A TRC would be issued under the
Regulation 7 of the Transport Act 198538, whereby Regulation 7(4) states that if the traffic
commissioner is satisfied, ‘after considering the traffic in the area in question that such
conditions are required or are likely to be required in order to ….(c) reduce or limit …air
pollution.
The need for a Bus LEZ will be considered and assess further as part of the Full Business Case
with further consultation with bus operators.
5.2.3

Taxi Licensing Policy and Mitigation Measures
On the 5th March 2019 the Public Protection Committee agreed for Shared Regulatory Services
to consult on the proposals to amend the Council’s taxi licensing policy which would see the
introduction of new emissions and age requirements for the granting of new licenses and/ or
change of vehicle applications on new existing licenses. The proposals39 would require that
any vehicle included on the application for a new grant is a minimum Euro 6 emission
standard (petrol and diesel) as part of the license application. The same emission standard
would also apply for any change of vehicle on an existing license.
Following the detailed consultation on this proposal the Public Protection Committee will then
be asked to approve the revisions of the Councils licensing policy, with an implementation
date to be agreed. Whilst there is no direct cost the Council for implementing the revised
license conditions, it could be argued that Council’s new taxi strategy to set age and emissions
criteria for licensing for private hire and hackney carriages could place a financial burden on
drivers and operators licensed within Cardiff. This burden is not faced by taxis licensed outside

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/67/contents
Protection Committee 5th March 2019 Item 5 Update To The Age, Emission And Testing
Requirements Of Hackney Carriage And Private Hire Vehicles
38

39Public

Page|58

Page 775

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

of Cardiff and they are free to compete for trade alongside Cardiff licensed taxis. This potential
could see Cardiff taxis placed at a financial disadvantage.
In order to redress the balance, the Council will assess in detail measures to assist taxi
operators with making the switch to newer, more efficient vehicles. The economic assessment
will include for the provision of mitigating measures for the taxi trade, in terms of a grant
scheme to assist with purchase of OEV/LEVs.
A number of Councils in the UK have already introduced similar vehicle emission standards on
taxis, but in doing so they have worked to assist the taxi trade by offering incentive schemes.
Once such scheme is that offered by Southampton City Council.
Southampton provide a grant to taxi drivers to assist them in upgrading their vehicles40. For
Fully EVs Southampton provide £3k and for plug in hybrids, £2.5k is offered.
If Cardiff Council was to provide a similar grant scheme, through the Air Quality Fund, based
on the number of private hire vehicles and hackney carriages that do not meet the latest Euro
6 emission standards (~1800 vehicles) further funding of between £5.5M (Fully EV) and £3.6M
(Plugin hybrids) would be required to support a grant scheme to change all vehicles currently
not compliant.
However, in discussions with Licensing, the average combined change of vehicles for Hackney
and Private Hire vehicles is ~420 p.a. Based on this turnover and the number of non-Euro 6
registered vehicles currently licensed by the Council, the following spend profile for the initial
grant scheme has been estimated in Table 20.
Table 20 - Taxi Incentive Grant Scheme Spend Forecast
Potential Grants

Change of Vehicle 420 No
Full EV Grant £3k
Change of Vehicle 420 No
Plugin Grant £2.5k

19/20
£000’s

20/21
£000’s

21/22
£000’s

Total Initial
Grant Costs £

£630*

£1,260,

£1,260

£3,150,000

£525

£1,050

£1,050,

£2,625,000

*Based on 210 vehicles only allowing for proposals to be consulted on and approved
Cardiff Council would like to ensure that the grant scheme remains in place until such a time
as all vehicles, are upgraded. Further it is possible that the licensing policy could be revised
further in the future as the report being taken to the Public Protection Committee states the
following:



A consultation on whether to require all hackney carriage and private hire vehicles
licensed for the first time to be ULEV from January 2021;
A consultation on whether to require all existing hackney carriage and private hire
vehicles to be ULEV from January 2025.

Therefore a longer term grant scheme may need to be considered should the Council
implement further policy revisions. Further the Welsh Government’s current consultation on
Improving Public Transport41 states that Welsh Government proposes that a ‘national
40
41

https://www.southampton.gov.uk/environmental-issues/pollution/air-quality/concessions/
https://beta.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-12/improving-public-transport_0.pdf

Page|59

Page 776

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

standard should apply which specifies requirements for the vehicular emissions of taxis and
PHVs’ and thus Welsh Government may need to consider a wider national scheme to support
any such policy.
5.2.4

City Centre Schemes
The main purpose of these schemes is to allow for better and more efficient movement of
public transport (buses) and increase active travel capacity in the City Centre. Such schemes
will also look to reduce highways capacity for private vehicles which will is intended to be a
catalyst for increase modal shift to public and active travel.
Three schemes are proposed to complete the City Centre ‘Loop’ and are intrinsically linked to
the Integrated Transportation Hub in Central Square. The schemes are:
City Centre West (CCW)
The main aim of this scheme is to accommodate the new Transport Interchange and Central
Square Development, whilst also Improving Air Quality within the City Centre AQMA. This will
be achieved through removing through-traffic from Westgate Street and installing a new
highway layout that will improve and connect the current bus network with the new
Interchange, Central Square, Central Station and the City Centre Enterprise Zone. In addition,
the scheme will offer improved safety for pedestrians via improved pedestrian crossing
facilities, 20mph speed limits and an improvement to the pedestrian environment outside of
the national stadium. The scheme will also install a network of stepped cycle tracks to connect
the area with the proposed cycle superhighway on Castle Street and the Taff Trail routes.
City Centre North (CCN)
The main aim of this scheme is to bring Castle Street into Air Quality compliance by 2021 and
install a cycle superhighway along its length. The installation of the cycle lane and the
reduction in highway space will allow for traffic to be reduced enough to target the air quality
issue. Improved pedestrian crossings with countdown timers will also provide safety
improvements for pedestrians.
Eastside Phase 1
The main aim of this scheme is to provide a new dynamic for the bus network, whilst
connecting cycle superhighway and improving the pedestrian environment outside of Queen
Street Station. This will be achieved through providing bus priority measure throughout the
Station Terrace and Churchill Way areas that will provide new routes for buses, taking them
away from the City Centre AQMA and closer to key areas such as Queen Street Station and
the shopping district. The new bus routing system is also key to allowing the Interchange to
be accessed from its south entrance, and also work effectively on major event days. A cycle
superhighway will be installed to connect the east of the city centre with the City Centre
Enterprise Zone, and join up all the proposed cycle superhighway routes. Pedestrian
improvements on Dumfries Place and Station Terrace will also improve safety for pedestrians
and improve connections to Queen Street Station and the City Centre Enterprise Zone.
The expenditure forecasts for the Loop Scheme are detailed in Tables 21-23.

Page|60

Page 777

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Table 21 - City Centre West Scheme Expenditure Forecast
£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

CCW

£000's

Pre19/20

19/20

20/21

2021/22

Surveys/Modelling

£

461

£

-

Design

£

100

£

104

Accommodation Works
(WelTAG)

£

152

Construction

£ 1,600

£ 4,400

Project Mgmt.

£

130

£

381

Monitoring Evaluation

£

-

£

20

Promotion

£

5

£

5

Land Purchase

Gross Totals

£

561

£ 1,991

£

272

£ 5,078

£-

£ 7,630

Table 22 - City Centre North Scheme Expenditure Forecast
CCN

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

Pre19/20

19/20

20/21

2021/22

Design

£
48
£86

£
50
£9

£
£9

£
50
£80

Land Purchase

£

£

£

£

Accommodation Works
(WelTAG)

£
-

£53

£53

£118

Project Mgmt.

£
3,000
£127

£
£127

£
3,000
£255

Monitoring Evaluation

£

£10

£10

Promotion

£5

£5

£10

£3,244

£204

Surveys/Modelling

Construction

Gross Totals

£134

£130

£000's

£000's
22

£
£

£3,393

£7,105

Table 23 - Eastside Phs 1 Scheme Expenditure Forecast
Eastside Phase 1
Surveys/Modelling

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

Pre19/20

19/20

20/21

2021/22

£81

£330

£20

£130

£157

£0

£0

£0

£0

£44

£0

£108

£0

£3,000

£23

£243

Monitoring Evaluation

£0

£0

Promotion

£0

£10

£510

£3,381

Design
Land Purchase
Accommodation Works
(WelTAG)
Construction
Project Mgmt.

Gross Totals

£255

£000's

£0

£4,146

Page|61

Page 778

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

The total outline cost for the three schemes is £18.9M. Existing bids to the Local Transport
Fund (LtF) and City Deal have been made for some of the schemes but Cardiff Council have
not received confirmation on these bids and thus these contributions have not yet been
removed from the Gross cost of the scheme.
The implementation of the schemes are extremely challenging in terms of full completion by
the end of 2021 to demonstrate compliance. As such it is imperative that the Council has
confidence on available funding in order to that appropriate procurement procedures can
commence in order that contracts for design and build can be awarded at the earliest
opportunity, with the aim of construction works commencing no later than January 2020.
5.2.5

Active Travel Measures
The total projected costs to complete a wider 20mph area/Active Travel role out (2 additional
ward areas of Grangetown and SE Cardiff (Splott/Adamsdown)), and completion of the CS1 to
University Hospital Wales (UHW) is forecasted at £7.3M. To date £3M has been bid for from
the Active Travel Fund for CS1, with a remaining funding deficit to compete CS1 of £2.8M and
£1.4M for the Active Travel/ 20 mph areas required. The full expenditure forecast for these
measures are detailed in Table 24 and Table 25.
Table 24 - Expenditure Forecast for the 20 Mph Areas

20mph Areas

£000s
Pre 19/20

£000s
2019/20

£000s
Total

Surveys

3

6

9

Design

27

124

151

Land Purchase

0

0

0

Accommodation Works

0

7

7

160

1,021

1,181

Project Management

0

103

103

Monitoring and Evaluation

0

13

13

Promotion

0

4

4

190

1,278

1,468

Construction

GROSS TOTAL

Table 25 - Expenditure Forecast for Completion of Cycle Way 1
Cycle Way 1 Surveys

£000s
Pre 19/20
0

£000s
2019/20
33

£000s
2020/21
6

Total
£000s
39

Design

0

194

0

194

Land Purchase

0

0

0

0

Accommodation
Works
Construction

0

61

0

61

80

1,057

4,074

5,211

Project
Management
Monitoring and
Evaluation
Promotion

27

109

193

329

0

5

15

20

0

5

9

14

GROSS TOTAL

107

1,464

4,297

5,868

Page|62

Page 779

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Excluding existing funding bids the estimated OBC costs to implement the package of
measures as a preferred option is summarised below in Table 26.
Table 26 - Final Preferred Package of Measures Estimated Costs
Measure
Electric Buses

Est. Funding Requirements £M
£1.8M

Bus Retrofit

£1.4M

Taxi Mitigation Schemes

£5.5M*

City Centre Schemes
Active Travel and CS1 completion

£18.9M
£4.2M
Total: £31.8M

*Based on all drivers applying for £3k EV Grant, and ~1800 vehicles applying.
5.2.6

Monitoring and Evaluation
As part of the Plan it will be important to demonstrate the actual effectiveness that the
measures will provide in terms of NO2 and other emission reductions. In order to demonstrate
that compliance will be achieved on Castle Street, it is proposed that a real-time monitoring
station, equivalent to AURN site standards be established within this City Centre location,
ideally on Castle Street. This monitor would complement and enhance existing monitoring
capabilities and would give accurate and robust data to assess the effectiveness of the
proposed measures.
As part of enhancing the Council’s monitoring capabilities and adding to its wider monitoring
network, it is also proposed to implement indicative real-time monitors to assess and monitor
any displacement effects of the proposed measures on peripheral areas, and in particular the
City Centre AQMA.
The location of the proposed monitors are detailed in Figure 11 and the proposed costs for
implementing the monitoring network is detailed in Table 27 and Table 28.

Page|63

Page 780

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Figure 11 - Locations of Proposed Air Quality Monitoring Network

Table 27 - Cost Estimates for an Equivalent AURN Monitoring Station
Castle Street Automated
Monitoring Station

2019/20

2020/21 2021/22

Equipment Purchase and
Installation
Planning and Construction

£26,000

£0

£0

£4,000

£0

£0

Service and Maintenance

£2,600

£2,600

£2,600

Data Handling

£1,950

£1,950

£1,950

Utility Charges

£750

£765

£765

Project Mgmt.

£350

£225

£225

Monitoring Evaluation

£550

£560

£570

Promotion

£250

£0

£0

Gross Total

£36,450

£6,090

£6,090

£48,630

Page|64

Page 781

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Table 28 - Cost Estimate for Additional Near Real-time Air Quality Analysers
Castle Street Automated
Monitoring Station
Equipment Purchase and
Installation
Planning and Construction

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

£35,795

£0

£0

£112

£0

£0

£0

£3,600

£0

£3,000

£2,400

£2,400

Utility Charges

£0

£0

£0

Project Mgmt.

£350

£360

£350

Monitoring Evaluation

£155

£160

£165

Promotion

£250

£0

£0

Gross Total

£39,662

£6,520

£2,915

Service and Maintenance
Data Handling (Server Fee)

£49,097

In addition to measuring the direct air quality improvements, further monitoring and
evaluation will be undertaken, in terms of detailed traffic surveys to identify any changes in
local traffic composition and traffic volumes, which will be reviewed in conjunction with the
air quality data. Further surveys will also be conducted to assess whether the measures have
results in increased patronage on public transport and increase of active travel modes. The
nature of these surveys will be develop further and reported in the Full Business Case.

5.3

Contingency
A full estimation of contingency required will be undertaken as part of the Full Business Case
for the preferred option and will be detailed in the Final Plan.

5.4

Assurance of Cost Estimates
A full determination of assurances will be undertaken as part of the Full Business Case for the
preferred option and will be detailed in the Final Plan.

5.5

Budget and Risk Management
Costs will be managed by ensuring all procurement follows the procurement strategy outlined
in the Commercial Case. The assessment of tenders through this process will be based on both
quality and price to ensure value for money.
The budget management responsibility will fall to the overall Project Manager.

5.6

Other Funding Options
The Council will explore all other funding opportunities to obtain additional resources to
implement the measures including associated bids to the Local Transport Fund, City Deal and
Active Travel funding. Further funding resources will also be assessed to implement further
measures detailed in the Clean Air Strategy that whilst not achieving compliance in the shortest
time possible, will assist in reducing overall NO2 and other air pollutants across Cardiff.

Page|65

Page 782

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Section 6
6.1

Outline Business Case

Management Case

Introduction
The purpose of the Management Case within this OBC is to set out how the scheme/s will be
delivered successfully. In accordance with the Inception package of JAQUs guidance this OBC
considers the following;



6.2

Outline the arrangements required to ensure successful delivery of the scheme;
Benefits realisation should be set out here for the identification of potential benefits,
modelling and tracking as well as a risk management strategy and risk mitigation.

Project Management
The project will be run in accordance with the Council’s Project Quality Assurance (PQA) scheme
which is Cardiff Council’s Project and Programme Management Standard and is based on
PRINCE2 (PRojects IN Controlled Environments) and MSP (Managing Successful Programmes)
which are the methodologies approved by government for public sector projects. PQA provides
guidance on how the Council will manage projects, recognising that projects are:
 Change focussed
 Unique
 Composed of inter-dependent activities
 Carried out by people who don’t normally work together
 Temporary, with defined start and end dates
 Established to achieve a specific outcome
A number of key roles have been identified for delivery of the project within the organogram
and are set out below along with the responsibilities of each role

6.2.1

Project Board
The Project Board is responsible for the overall direction and management of the project, and
has responsibility and authority for the project within the remit (the Project Mandate) set
corporately. The Project Board are accountable to the Project Executive.
Membership of the Project Board should include the Project Executive and Service Area
representative (Senior User). Other participants may be invited by the Project Executive.

6.2.2

Project Executive (PExec)
The Project Executive (PExec) is accountable for the successful delivery of the project and is
most likely to be a senior officer within. The Project Executive’s role is to ensure that the
project is focussed throughout its life cycle on achieving its objectives - delivering the agreed
scope and outputs, as detailed in the project’s Business Case. The Project Executive has to
ensure that the project delivers value for money.
The role includes acting as the lead officer for the project in stakeholder engagement, such
as discussions with elected Members, AM’s or MP’s. As Chair of the Project Board they give
approval to proceed to the next stage and sign off project closure.

Page|66

Page 783

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

The Project Executive will:
 Ensure the project remains focussed on delivering agreed scope and outputs
 Oversee the project and ensure it remains on target – time, cost, quality and scope.
 Take decisions within their delegated authority and ensure these are within the
corporate decision making framework.
 Be proactive in providing leadership and direction throughout the project
 Ensure that the project is financially viable, consistent with the Corporate Plan and
compliant with Council standards and procedure rules.
 Approve the Initial Project Brief at the end of the Start-up Stage.
6.2.3

Service Area Representative (Senior User)
Senior User is the role that represents the service or customer that will receive the changes
delivered by the project.
They represent the interests of the end users who will benefit from the completion of the
project. The Senior User is accountable for ensuring that requirements have been clearly
and completely defined and what is produced is fit for purpose and acceptable to the end
users.

6.2.4

Senior Supplier
The Senior Supplier sits on a Project Board.
They represent the officers / contractors actually doing the work of the project. They are
responsible for ensuring all suppliers understand the project requirements and that any advice
given to the project team is correctly interpreted. It may not be appropriate for an external
contractor to act as Senior Supplier, and consideration could be given to involving’s
procurement team in this position. An example of a Senior Supplier would be ICT for software
development projects.

6.2.5

Project Manager
The Project Manager is responsible, on behalf of the Project Executive, for delivering the
project on time, to budget and to the required quality standard. They plan and monitor
progress, co-ordinate project activities, ensure the project is effectively resourced, and
manage relationships with a wide range of stakeholders.
The Project Manager manages the work of specialists, allocating and utilising resources in an
efficient manner and maintaining a co-operative, motivated and successful team.
The Project Manager is also responsible for maintaining project governance and
documentation, including producing regular highlight reports and maintaining records in the
Project & Programme Management Database (where used).

6.2.6

Project Assurance
Project & Programme Assurance covers all interests of a project/programme, including senior
managers, the business, users and suppliers.

Page|67

Page 784

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

The main function of Assurance is to ensure that corporate governance standards are adhered
to; that the project has been set up and is being managed correctly, and identified benefits
are realised.
Project Assurance has to be independent of the Project Manager, so reports directly to the
Audit Manager, Project Board / Project Executive and are their eyes and ears in the day to day
management of the project.
6.2.7

Project Support
The Project Support Officer assists the Project Manager in all activities relating to day to day
management, establishing and maintaining the necessary systems to ensure effective
administration. Not all projects will have a dedicated Project Support Officer and this function
is often carried out by the Project Manager.

6.2.8

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has responsibility for overseeing all aspects of Risk Management,
Governance and Internal Control. The Committee will provide guidance and oversight to the
management of risk but also challenge the effectiveness of the project management
arrangements within. The Committee will look to seek assurance for that project
management is being properly undertaken.

6.2.9

Senior Management
The key roles of Management are to:







Implement processes for project management
Receive reports from Internal Audit for consideration and implementation, where this
is deemed appropriate.
Promote the accountability and responsibility of all staff within as set in Cardiff
Council’s PQA Handbook;
Identify the project management (PQA) training needs of all Directorate employees and
co-ordinate training and awareness-building events;
Ensure that project management (PQA) is incorporated into performance management,
business planning and Wales Programme for Improvement processes.

6.2.10 Investment Review Board
The Investment Review Board is the governance body where decisions about delivery of
change initiatives are made. No new initiatives should be started or funded without the
Investment Review Board’s approval.







Agree the programme & project management framework (PQA);
Approve the Organisational Development Strategy and Delivery Plan;
Receive Strategic / Project Business Cases and prioritisation reports and
determine the scope and content of change;
Ensure that resources are allocated appropriately;
Ensure conflicts between programme and project delivery and BAU that
cannot be addressed at programme level are addressed effectively;
Promote collaborative working across ; and
Page|68

Page 785

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study


Outline Business Case

Undertake periodic reviews of the effectiveness of delivery of ’s vision, and
take appropriate action where required

6.2.11 Organisational Development Management Board
The Organisational Development Board (OD) is the strategic group which monitors delivery of
programmes and projects, resolving key issues that may compromise delivery and benefit
realisation. The key roles of the OD Board are to:
Plans the delivery of change, aligned to vision, objectives, goals and key measures
 Actively and regularly involves SMT throughout the definition and delivery of change,
ensuring continued senior management commitment and engagement;
 Ensure all change is delivered within ’s agreed governance framework, including PQA;
 Initiate new programmes;
 Monitor delivery of the Strategic ‘Organisational Development’ Delivery Plan;
 Review and resolve key strategic issues;
 Ensure risks and dependencies are effectively managed;
 Ensure limited resources are managed effectively and efficiently;
 Monitor and approve changes to forecasted benefits;
 Sponsor and support reviews of the effectiveness of change delivery, and take
appropriate action where required;
 Determine and drive ’s future service delivery models and strategic commissioning
arrangements; and
 Develop and deliver a consistent approach to stakeholder engagement and
communications
The basic structure of a project team is as follows:-

Page|69

Page 786

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

6.3
6.3.1

Outline Business Case

Financial Management
Financial Reporting
The Project Manager will be responsible for undertaking regular financial reporting to inform
the Programme Board of the projects progress and performance. A Project Initiation
Document will be developed to provide a firm foundation for the initiation of the project. It
will set out the direction and scope of the project, and form the 'contract' between the Project
Team, Project Manager, Transport Delivery Board and the Programme Board.
Following initiation, the Project Manager will produce monthly highlight reports which will be
submitted to the Project Delivery Board.
Scrutiny and oversight of the projects financial management will be provided by the
Programme Team.

6.3.2

Variation Monitoring
As with all large scale projects it is expected that elements of the agreed plan, budget, or scope
will need to be varied at some point during the project cycle. It is important that means of
controlling any variations are signed offer before being implemented so that they can be dealt
with simply and at the correct level.
A variation to the project will be identified through the monthly progress reports where
activities are not being carried out according to the plan or for the agreed cost, or an issue has
arisen to affect the scope. All variation will be recorded on a variation request log that will be
used to specify why the change has come about, what actions are proposed to counter it, and
at what level decision-making sits.
A set of tolerances will be determined, so that each level of management in the project has
the defined authority to agree certain variations before having to refer to a higher level. The
agreed tolerances will be recorded in the Project Initiation Document, as will the period within
which variations are cumulative.
Variations that do not affect the plan or the budget by more than is reported in one month
will likely sit within the tolerance of the project manager. Although additional decision-making
will not be required, all such variations will be recorded on the monthly progress report and
an entry will be made on the variation request log.
Variations of a higher tolerance will be clearly brought to the attention of the Project Delivery
Board (PDB) in the finances section of the progress report. This will allow a discussion to take
place and a way to proceed be agreed. Larger variations, which exceed the tolerance of the
PDB, will need to be taken to a higher level of decision-making beyond the PDB.

6.4

Project Plan
An indicative project plan for completing of the Final Plan and the Full Business Case for the
preferred option is provided in Figure 12. An outline implementation plan, for the refined
measures included as the preferred option is detailed in Figure 13. This plan will be developed
with more detail and project milestones added in the FBC.

6.5

Risk Management
Risks are tracked in accordance with the Council’s corporate risk management principles, which
draw upon the PRINCE2 methodology. This strategy requires the identification and recording of
risks, an evaluation of their likelihood and any mitigation actions. This approach ensures that
all risks are captured and processed in a consistent manner. The risk register is attached in
Page|70

Page 787

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Appendix D, and includes risks that relate to political, financial and operational issues. Without
mitigation, these could result in increased costs to the programme, reductions in the quality of
outputs and slippages in timelines, all affecting the overall benefits and outcomes the business
case seeks to deliver. Ownership of the risk register falls with the Programme Manager. These
risks will be subject to on-going monitoring and mitigated through effective programme
management and partnership working.

6.6

Communications Strategy

6.6.1

Aims
A communications strategy and plan has been designed to enable the Council to engage the
public and stakeholders on the options that are being considered in the Outline Business
Case (OBC). The full communications strategy is included in Appendix E.

6.6.2

Objectives
The following set out the key objectives of the communication strategy:
• To advise the public and stakeholders on the process that has to be followed with
the OBC to meet the requirements of the Welsh Government;
• To provide information on the measures that are being proposed in the OBC, what
these measures are and how these measures will be benchmarked against a variety
of possible Clean Air Zones in terms of the timescales for achieving compliance; and
 To give the public and stakeholders the opportunity to ask any questions through the
engagement process and receive responses from the project team.
The proposed strategy is a high level communication exercise, which is ultimately a preengagement exercise in relation to the Council’s clean air feasibility study. Further detailed
statutory consultation will be undertaken, specifically on the City Centre Schemes separately
as their design and implementation are approved and taken forward as separate detailed
schemes.
It is proposed to run the engagement exercise, from the Wednesday April 3rd 2019 and will
end six weeks later on Wednesday May 15th 2019. This will enable the Council to consider
feedback that will be received during the engagement exercise as the FBC is developed and
finalised.
This timeframe is seen as the maximum that can be allowed for, owing to the short
timescales for the Council to complete the FBC in order to comply with the required legal
deadline of 30th June 2019, as set out in the Direction.

6.6.3

Stakeholder Management
Key Stake holders for the plan have been identified and are shown in Table 29. Their power of
influence and requisite levels of interest have been considered to maximise the consideration
of their needs and influence on the success throughout the programme. This framework of
stakeholder management and engagement will be continued throughout the programme to
inform the communications and dissemination activities. Offering a flexible approach,
activities will be directed to involve and communicate with stakeholders to become more
interested if it can add to the success of the project.

Page|71

Page 788

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Table 29 - Stakeholder Interest Groups Matrix
High Influence
High Interest
• Statutory bodies, WLGA, NRW, Public Health Wales, Public Health Board
• Policy officers at Welsh Government who oversee the funding
• Cabinet
• Elected Members
• Public Services Board
• Clean Air Steering Group
• Shared Regulatory Service Joint Committee
• Public Protection Committee
• Environmental Scrutiny Committee
• MP’s and AM’s representing Cardiff
• MP’s and AM’s representing areas in the City Region
• Local communities living in close proximity to where the measures will be
put in place
• Established community groups in close proximity to where the measures
will be put in place
• Businesses in close proximity to where the measures will be put in place
• Environmental campaign groups – Friends of the Earth, ClientEarth,
Healthy Air Cymru
• British Lung Foundation Wales
• British Heart Foundation Wales
• Business Improvement District – For Cardiff (on behalf of city centre
businesses)
• Unions – GMB, UNISON and UNITE
• Sustrans

High Influence Low Interest
 Local and national media

Page|72

Page 789

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

• Cardiff Cycling Campaign
• Living Streets
Low Influence High Interest
• Taxi Trade
 Royal Mail
• Bus companies operating in Cardiff - Cardiff Bus; Stagecoach and New
Adventure Travel
• Coach companies - National Express, Mega Bus
• Associated British Ports
• Federation of Small Businesses Wales
• Alliance of British Drivers
• Road Haulage Association
• Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders
• Community Transport Association
• Chartered Institute of Environmental Health
• Institute of Air Quality Management
• Environmental Protection UK
• Environmental Industries Commission
• Confederation of Passenger Transport
• Travel campaign groups – RAC, AA, Alliance for British Drivers

Low Influence Low Interest
 The wider public in Wales

Page|73

Page 790

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Figure 12 - Updated Project for Delivery of Final Plan

Page 791
Page|74

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Figure 13 - Implementation Plan of Preferred Options

Page 792
Page|75

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Section 7
7.1

Outline Business Case

Summary and Next Steps

Result on the Assessment of Options
Localised air quality modelling and transport modelling was undertaken to establish the impact
of the CASAP measures and CAZ as to whether compliance could be achieved by 2021. As
detailed in the Initial Plan baseline assessment shows that by 2021 only Castle Street would
breach the EU limit value for NO2 with concentrations of 41.1 µg/m3 being predicted.
The CASAP measures have been assessed accumulatively in terms of combining the measures
identified in CASAP 1 with CASAP 2 and finally all measures have been assessed together as a
final package, CASAP 3. The results of the measures in terms of delivering compliance on Castle
Street are summarised as follows:
CASAP 1 by 2021
- Implementation of 36 Electric Buses;
- Impact of revised Taxi Licensing Policy ;
- Active travel package;
- Cycling programme to end of 2020; and
- 50mph on A4232

•

NO2 concentrations on Castle Street have been modelled to reduce from 41.1 µg/m3 to 37
µg/m3 by the implementation of the above measures.
CASAP 2 – all of CASAP 1 +
- City Centre West and East Schemes;
- A48 P&R;
- J33 P&R; and
- Revised Parking Charges at Council Car Parking Spaces.

•

NO2 concentrations on Castle Street have been modelled to reduce from 41.1 µg/m3 to 36
µg/m3 by the implementation of the above measures.
•
-

CASAP 3 – all of CASAP 1 +2
Retrofit Programme for Buses;
A470 additional southbound traffic lane; and
Nantgarw P&R.

NO2 concentrations on Castle Street have been modelled to reduce from 41.1 µg/m3 to 35
µg/m3 by the implementation of the above measures.
In addition to achieving compliance on Castle Street, the impact of the package of measures has
also been modelled at local air quality monitoring locations, including those locations within
existing AQMAs. The results of the modelling indicate that all monitoring locations are expected
to have concentrations below 40 µg/m3 which further demonstrates that the package of
measures will improve local air quality including within existing AQMAs.
As it stands the CASAP results do not include the impact of the City Centre North (Castle Street)
proposals, as the detailed modelling work commenced prior to understanding the outline
design of this scheme, and thus the impact of this scheme has not currently been assessed in
the current package of measures.
Page|76

Page 793

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

The ruling of the Client Earth 2 set out three tests that Clean Air Plans (the Feasibility Study)
must meet in order that they are seen to comply with Article 23 of the EU Directive. The third
test states that the plans must demonstrate that compliance with the limit values is not just
possible, but likely.
As summarised above through the implementation of the CASAP
measures the level of compliance that is modelled to be obtained on Castle Street, is the
greatest with NO2 concentrations reduced from 41.1 µg/m3 to 35 µg/m3.
Owing to the level of uncertainty in the air quality modelling achieving a level of 35 µg/m3 or
better is an important target for the Council to obtain. Probability analysis undertaken, indicates
that modelled levels of 35 µg/m3 or less gives a greater than 80% probability that compliance
with the limit value will actually be achieved, when the measures are implemented.
As a comparison the results of the modelling undertaken on the CAZ scenarios are summarised
as follows:
•

CAZ 1 – Private cars - achieves compliance on Castle Street – 32.5 µg/m3 .

•

CAZ 2 – Commercial vehicles – achieves compliance on Castle Street NO2 – 35.3
µg/m3

The results for CAZ 1 and 2 show that NO2 concentrations are estimated to be lower than the
baseline 2021 scenario at most links, but with CAZ 1 showing increases on 6 links and CAZ 2
showing increases on 4 links. The largest decrease observed in both CAZ 1 and 2 is on Castle
Street, as might be expected for a measure that is specifically targeting the city centre.
However when compared directly to CASAP 3, most links show higher concentrations in the
CAZ 1 and 2 scenarios. But this is to be expected, as the CAZ scenarios do not include any of
the CASAP measures and targets a smaller geographical area. CAZ 1 achieves larger reductions
along roads within the clean air zone, although CAZ 2 is estimated to have lower
concentrations on most other links (32 in total).

7.2

Next Steps
Government guidance is quite clear that a charging CAZ should only be considered as a
preferred option if other non-charging measures are not sufficient to bring about compliance
in the shortest possible time. Given that the modelling undertaken has demonstrated that a
package of measures achieves compliance in the same period if not sooner than a charging
CAZ, then ultimately the Council is justified in implementing a package of measures as a
preferred option rather than a CAZ. Further as detailed above, the implementation of the
non-charging measures provides wider air quality improvements across Cardiff as a whole,
including within the existing AQMAs.
This OBC therefore proposes that a refined package of measures is taken forward as the
Councils preferred option. This refined package of measures includes the following:

Page|77

Page 794

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study






Outline Business Case

Implementation of Electric Buses – 36 Electric Buses to be implemented on a
number of routes within the City Centre;
Bus Retro Fitting Programme –Target up to 94 buses that currently do not meet
latest Euro 6 emission standard;
Taxi Licensing Policy and Mitigation Scheme;
City Centre Loop Schemes, inclusive of Castle Street ; and
Active Travel Measures

The revised package of measures will be further assessed both in terms of transport and air
quality modelling, as a final package of measures to enable the Council to develop the Full
Business Case, This will include the full detailed socio-economic distribution of the measures
and a distributional analysis to understand the extent to which these measures may impact on
the residents of Cardiff and those that travel in to the city. For the full business case these
additional considerations will be assessed in more detail in terms of a health impact assessment
and a distributional impact assessment.
The results of this assessment will then demonstrate the level of compliance that will be
achieved by implementing the preferred option on Castle Street, and elsewhere across the City
including within the existing AQMAs. The preferred option will be subject to a full economic
assessment following appropriate guidance to demonstrate the full impact of implementing the
preferred option. This report will be reviewed and assessed by the Welsh Government’s Expert
Review Panel, prior to final approval of the preferred option being provided from Welsh
Government.
.

Page|78

Page 795

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Appendix A - Air Quality Modelling Methodology
Report

Page 796

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Appendix B - Transport Modelling Technical
Approach

Page 797

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Appendix C - Clean Air Strategy

Page 798

Outline Business Case

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Outline Business Case

Appendix D - Project Risk Register

Page 799

Cardiff Council – Clean Air Feasibility Study

Appendix E - Communication Strategy

Page 800

Outline Business Case

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality
Modelling Methodology Report
___________________________________________________
Report for City of Cardiff Council

ED 11182 | Issue Number 1 | Date 06/03/2019

Page 801

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | i

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Customer:

Contact:

City of Cardiff Council

Guy Hitchcock
Ricardo Energy & Environment

Customer reference:
Gemini Building, Harwell, Didcot, OX11 0QR,
United Kingdom

City of Cardiff Council Feasibility Study

t: +44 (0) 1235 75 3327
e: guy.hitchcock@ricardo.com

Confidentiality, copyright & reproduction:
This report is the Copyright of Cardiff City
Council. It has been prepared by Ricardo Energy
& Environment, a trading name of Ricardo-AEA
Ltd, under contract to Cardiff City Council dated
03/03/2017. The contents of this report may not
be reproduced in whole or in part, nor passed to
any organisation or person without the specific
prior written permission of Cardiff City Council.
Ricardo Energy & Environment accepts no
liability whatsoever to any third party for any loss
or damage arising from any interpretation or use
of the information contained in this report, or
reliance on any views expressed therein.

Ricardo-AEA Ltd is certificated to ISO9001 and
ISO14001

Authors:
Guy Hitchcock, Scott Hamilton, Robert Benney

Approved By:
Guy Hitchcock

Date:
06 March 2019

Ricardo Energy & Environment reference:
Ref: ED11182- Issue Number 1

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 802

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | ii

Table of contents
1

Introduction and outline modelling scope ............................................................... 1
1.1

Background ....................................................................................................................... 1

1.2

Outline scheme options ..................................................................................................... 2

1.3

Modelling domain and years ............................................................................................. 3

1.4

Background modelling ....................................................................................................... 4

2

Details of the Modelling Domain ............................................................................... 5

3

Model and receptor location selection ..................................................................... 8
3.1

Dispersion model ............................................................................................................... 8

3.2

Core aspects of the modelling ........................................................................................... 8

3.2.1

Chemistry, meteorology and topology...................................................................... 8

3.2.2

Meteorology .............................................................................................................. 8

3.2.3

Canyon modelling ..................................................................................................... 9

3.2.4

Gradient, tunnels and flyovers ............................................................................... 10

3.3

4

5

Receptor locations ........................................................................................................... 11

Base year modelling ................................................................................................ 12
4.1

Base year and meteorological dataset ............................................................................ 12

4.2

Representation of road locations and canyons ............................................................... 13

4.3

Road traffic modelling ...................................................................................................... 13

4.3.1

Average daily vehicle flow and speeds .................................................................. 13

4.3.2

Vehicle fleet composition........................................................................................ 14

4.3.3

NOx/NO2 emissions assumptions ......................................................................... 19

4.4

Non-road transport modelling and background concentrations ...................................... 20

4.5

Measurement data for model calibration ......................................................................... 20

Projected future year scenario modelling .............................................................. 20
5.1

Road transport future year baseline ................................................................................ 20

5.2

Scheme option modelling projections ............................................................................. 21

5.3

CASAP 1 and 2 ............................................................................................................... 22

5.4

CASAP 3 ......................................................................................................................... 23

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 803

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | iii

Ricardo Energy & Environment

5.5

CAZ 1 .............................................................................................................................. 23

5.6

CAZ 2 .............................................................................................................................. 23

Appendix 1 Model verification

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 804

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 1

Ricardo Energy & Environment

1 Introduction and outline modelling scope
City of Cardiff Council (CCC) has been directed by the Welsh Government to carry out a Nitrogen
Dioxide Feasibility Study for non-compliance with the NO2 limit values. This report sets out the Air
Quality modelling methodology used for this study.

1.1 Background
Cardiff like many other urban areas, has elevated levels of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO 2) due mainly to road
transport emissions. As such CCC has designated 4 Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) across
the City where concentrations of NO2 breach Government, health-based air quality objectives as
shown in Figure 1.
Figure 1 Cardiff Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA)

At the national level the EU has commenced infraction proceedings against the UK Government and
Devolved Administrations for their failure to meet the EU Limit Value for NO2. In 2015, the Supreme
Court ordered the Government to consult on new air pollution plans that had to be submitted to the
European Commission no later than 31 December 2015. In 2017 the UK government released a plan
to tackle air quality, ‘UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations 2017’. Following a
judicial review of this plan by Welsh ministers a Welsh Government Interim Supplemental Plan
(WGSP) was published, identifying additional technical work to support measure development.
In WGSP, the areas of the pollution climate mapping (PCM) model which identify areas of
exceedance in the Cardiff Urban Area are summarised as ‘A4161’,’A4232’, ‘A4234’, ‘A470’ and ‘A48’.
Additional areas identified as having poor air quality are established through the Local Air Quality
Management (LAQM) regime. Yearly reviews in the form of annual status reports (ASR) review air
quality within existing AQMAs. After reviewing Cardiff’s latest ASR published in August 2018, Cardiff’s

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 805

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 2

Ricardo Energy & Environment

AQMAs cover the city centre, Ely bridge, Stephenson Court and Llandaff. Cardiff have been proactive
in managing air quality prior to this NO2 feasibility study and have proposed measures to improve air
quality in these areas and more widely across the city in the Form of a Clean Air Strategy. Cardiff
have also bid for funding for Ultra low emission buses/zero emission buses which will introduce
electric buses within Cardiff’s AQMAs and those areas identified within WGSP, such as the city centre
AQMA, Stephenson Court AQMA and the A470 corridor.
Subsequent work by Defra updated its air quality plan using more recent information on the expected
real-world emission performance of vehicles. This latest analysis is suggesting that emission from
vehicles will be higher than previously estimated and so breaches of the air quality limits are likely to
persist for longer and over a wider area.
The current study has carried out a fully updated assessment of air quality in and around Cardiff in
relation to European limit values for NO2 using the latest data on emission factors and traffic activity.
This assessment has been used to establish the extent of any air quality compliance issues in Cardiff
and to assess the options needed to solve these compliance problems.

1.2 Outline scheme options
Cardiff’s Clean Air Strategy Action Plan (CASAP) developed a package of measures to reduce
emissions covering all key transport modes in the city: cars, freight, buses and taxis. This introduces
a series of measures in three unique CASAP phases. This has been considered as an alternative to a
charging clean air zone for achieving compliance with the NO 2 annual mean air quality directive in the
shortest time possible. Two variations of charging clean air zones were also considered in this study,
CAZ 1 where charges apply to private cars and CAZ 2 where charges apply to light goods vehicles
(LGVs) and heavy goods vehicles (HGVs).
The measures included in air quality modelling of these options has been presented within Table 1.
The measures which have been reflected in the transport modelling are noted in Table 1, the
transport modelling methodology report1 should be referenced for further information. As a general
rule, certain measures can only be reflected in a traffic model which is why the detail of these
measures are not included in air quality modelling. The effect of measures in the traffic model are
demonstrated through emission calculations related to changes to traffic flow, composition and speed.
The exception to this is CAZ 1 and 2, where the change in fleet mix, for example split between
petrol/diesel vehicles were developed by the air quality team. Whereas the change in compliant and
non-compliant traffic2 flows associated with the CAZ is established by the traffic model.
Table 1 Outline of measures included in the traffic and air quality modelling exercises

Scenario

CASAP 1

CASAP 2

1

Measures reflected in air
quality modelling
1. Taxi Licensing, Euro 6 for
new licensees and
upgrade incentives;
2. Electric Buses on service
routes 27, 49/50 and
44/45.
1. All CASAP 1 measures.

Measures reflected in traffic
modelling
1. Active Travel Package;
2. Cycling Programme to end
of 2020; and
3. 50 mph on A4232.
1. All CASAP 1 measures
plus

367590 Air Quality Transport Modelling Technical Note CASAP CAZ.pdf

2

Compliant vehicles are those that meet the CAZ standard and non-compliant vehicles are those that do not. The CAZ standard is Euro VI for
heavy duty vehicles and Euro 6 (diesel and Euro 4 (petrol) for light duty vehicles.

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 806

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 3

Ricardo Energy & Environment

2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

CASAP 3

CAZ 1

CAZ 2

Westgate Street Scheme;
East Side Scheme;
A48 Park and Ride;
J33 Park and Ride; and
Parking charges and
controls.

1. All CASAP 1 measures
plus;
2. Complete upgrade of
Cardiff Bus’s fleet to Euro
VI.

1. All CASAP 1 and 2
measures plus;
2. A470 additional
southbound traffic lane;
and
3. Nantgarw bus Park and
Ride.

1. No CASAP measures
included;
2. £10 charge for private
cars entering city centre
charging clean air zone.

1. No CASAP measures
included; and
2. £10 charge for private cars
entering charging city
centre charging clean air
zone.

1. No CASAP or CAZ 1
measures included;
2. £10 charge for light duty
vehicles entering charging
clean air zone; and
3. £50 charge for heavy duty
vehicles entering charging
clean air zone.

1. No CASAP or CAZ 1
measures included;
2. £10 charge for private cars
entering charging clean air
zone;
3. £50 charge for heavy duty
vehicles entering charging
clean air zone.

1.3 Modelling domain and years
Modelling measure options and associated air quality impacts requires a model domain that covers
the scheme options, relevant AQMAs and potential diversion routes. Therefore, the model domain
shown in Figure 2 has been used to cover the following:
•

All the AQMAs in Cardiff including the main areas of concern from the national modelling
assessment along the A470 and A48;

•

The wider transport network out to and including the M4 which will cover all the likely key
diversion routes should vehicles seek to avoid any Clean Air Zone

•

The study area includes roads within 2km from the City of Cardiff’s local authority boundary,
thereby capturing the majority of roads outside Cardiff’s jurisdiction which contribute towards
local air quality within Cardiff.

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 807

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 4

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Figure 2 Model domain

Two key model years are used in the modelling work: a 2015 base year and a target implementation
year for the CAZ of 2021. The base year is taken as 2015 as this is the base year for the most
recently validated transport model covering the area. To compliment this, the 2015 air quality data
has been used to validate the air quality model. In addition, we have interpolated interim years
between 2015 and 2020.
Table 2 Model years

Year
2015
2016-2020
2021

Description
Base year – using latest available data on air quality and transport.
Interim years – interpolated between the base and implementation year.
Implementation year – latest date when CAZ scheme is due to be in place.

1.4 Background modelling
The primary cause of air pollution problems in Cardiff is related to traffic activity and the impact of the
any measures will target this traffic activity. As such the focus of the modelling is the transport
emissions. Background pollutant concentrations can be taken from Defra’s background maps which
includes contributions from the majority of potential emissions sources e.g. other road traffic, industrial
combustion and domestic emissions. With increasing distance from these emission sources Defra’s
background maps represent these emission sources relatively well. However, within close proximity to
these emission sources Defra’s Background maps can under-represent emissions.

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 808

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 5

Ricardo Energy & Environment

To ensure a realistic representation of background pollutant concentrations, Part A(2) and B
emissions to air processes permitted through the environmental permitting regime were reviewed.
The outcome of this review is that the distance of industrial sources is such that they will be
satisfactorily represented within Defra’s background maps. Further information is provided in section
4.4.
Defra’s background maps are based upon the same methodology as the PCM model3. These are
based upon simplifications of emission sources from various sectors such as industry, the
meteorological conditions and dispersion environment which cause pollutant concentrations. As
Defra’s guidance note on background concentrations states, these are estimates, to gauge how
accurately these estimates represent background concentrations a comparison can be made against
background monitoring locations. There is one background continuous analysers and two diffusion
tube locations which can be compared against the estimated background concentrations, this
comparison can be seen in Table 3. This shows that Defra’s background estimates are actually higher
than measured concentrations and use of these are slightly conservative.
Table 3 Comparison of Defra’s modelled background concentration with measured

ID

Site Type

CA_1
169

Urban Centre
Urban
Background
Urban Centre

160

2015
Measured
NO2 (µg/m3)

2015
Measured NO2
Data Capture
%

2015 Defra
Background
modelled NO2
(µg/m3)

% difference
between
measured
and
monitoring

27
16.3

80
100

27.4
18.4

1%
13%

27

92

27.4

1%

2 Details of the Modelling Domain
The core air quality model domain encompasses an area within 2km of the City of Cardiff’s local
authority boundary, based upon the district boundary from Ordnance Survey mapping products 4. There
is no significant displacement of traffic flows outside this domain due to the implementation of either
charging CAZ – with a maximum increase of 70 AADT occurring on the A4160 (Penarth Road) with
CAZ 1, in a maximum of a 170 AADT increase outside of Cardiff for CAZ 2 and so no material impacts
are expected to occur beyond the proposed model domain.
A map showing the extent of the air quality domain relative to the initial CAZ zones and the associated
traffic model network is presented in Figure 3. A map showing the model domain relative to roads
included in the national Pollution Climate Mapping (PCM) model is presented in Figure 4. All road links
in the PCM model pertinent to Cardiff are included in the model domain specification.
CCC has declared 4 AQMA’s across the city to date, all of which are within the proposed model domain.
A map showing the locations of the AQMA’s relative to the model domain is presented in Figure 5. All
of CCC’s 2015 NO2 roadside measurements have been used in the air quality modelling assessment
to verify the model outputs, assuming data capture and QA/QC are satisfactory for the 2015 baseline
year. A map showing the sites at which NO 2 concentrations are measured by CCC is presented in
Figure 6.

3

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/documents/2015-based-background-maps-user-guide-v1.0.pdf

4

https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/opendatadownload/products.html

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 809

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 6

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Figure 3: CAZ study domain and relationship to Mott Macdonald’s sub-regional transport model links

Figure 4: PCM model road links within the CAZ study domain 2015

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 810

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 7

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Figure 5: City of Cardiff Council’s AQMA locations

Figure 6 City of Cardiff Council’s NO2 monitoring sites

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 811

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 8

Ricardo Energy & Environment

3 Model and receptor location selection
3.1 Dispersion model
We have used the RapidAir modelling system for the study. This is Ricardo Energy & Environment’s
proprietary modelling system developed for urban air pollution assessment and the model that was
used in other Clean Air Zone feasibility studies such as Derby, London and Southampton.
The model is based on convolution of an emissions grid with dispersion kernels derived from the USEPA
AERMOD5 model. The physical parameterisation (release height, initial plume depth and area source
configuration) closely follows guidance provided by the USEPA in their statutory road transport
dispersion modelling guidance6. AERMOD provides the algorithms which govern the dispersion of the
emissions and is an accepted international model for road traffic studies (it is one of only two mandated
models in the US and is widely used overseas for this application). The combination of an internationally
recognised model code and careful parameterisation matching international best practice makes
RapidAir demonstrably fit for purpose for this study.
The USEPA have very strict guidelines on use of dispersion models and in fact the use of AERMOD is
written into federal law in ‘Appendix W’ of the Guideline on Air Quality Models 7. The RapidAir model
uses AERMOD at its core and is evidently therefore based on sound principles given the pedigree of
the core model.
The model produces high resolution concentration fields at the city scale (1 to 3m scale) so is ideal for
spatially detailed compliance modelling. A validation study has been conducted in London using the
same datasets as the 2011 Defra inter-comparison study8. Using the LAEI 2008 data and the
measurements for the same time period the model performance is consistent (and across some metrics
performs better) than other modelling solutions currently in use in the UK. The results of this study have
been published in Environmental Modelling and Software 9.

3.2 Core aspects of the modelling
3.2.1 Chemistry, meteorology and topology
NOx to NO2 chemistry was modelled using the Defra NOx/NO2 calculator. Modelled annual mean
road NOx concentrations were combined with background NOx and a receptor specific (i.e. at each
receptor) fNO2 fraction to calculate NO2 annual mean concentrations. The receptor specific fNO2
fraction was calculated by dividing the modelled road NOx by modelled road NO2 at each receptor.

3.2.2 Meteorology
Modelling was conducted using the 2015 annual surface meteorological dataset measured at Cardiff
City Centre. The dataset was processed in house using our own meteorological data gathering and
processing system. We use freely available overseas meteorological databases which hold the same
observations as supplied by UK meteorological data vendors. Our RapidAir model also takes account
of upper air data which is used to determine the strength of turbulent mixing in the lower atmosphere;

5

https://www3.epa.gov/ttn/scram/dispersion_prefrec.htm#aermod
https://www.epa.gov/state-and-local-transportation/project-level-conformity-and-hot-spot-analyses
40 CFR Part 51 Revision to the Guideline on Air Quality Models: Adoption of a Preferred General Purpose (Flat and Complex Terrain)
Dispersion Model and Other Revisions; Final Rule, Environmental Protection Agency, 2005
8
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/research/air-quality-modelling?view=intercomparison
9
Masey, Nicola, Scott Hamilton, and Iain J. Beverland. "Development and evaluation of the RapidAir® dispersion model, including the use of
geospatial surrogates to represent street canyon effects." Environmental Modelling & Software (2018). DOI:
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2018.05.014
6
7

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 812

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 9

this was obtained from the closest radiosonde site and process with the surface data in the USEPA
AERMET model. We have utilised data filling where necessary following USEPA guidance which sets
out the preferred hierarchy of routines to account for gaps (persistence, interpolation, substitution).
AERMET processing was conducted following the USEPA guidance. To account for difference
between the meteorological site and the dispersion site, surface parameters at the met site were
included as recommended in the guidance and the urban option specified for the dispersion site.; land
use parameters were accessed from the CORINE land cover datasets10.
A uniform surface roughness value of 1.0 m was modelled to represent a typical city/urban
environment.

3.2.3 Canyon modelling
The platform includes two very well-known street canyon algorithms with significant pedigree in the UK
and overseas. The first replicates the functionality of the USEPA ‘STREET’ model. The code was
developed by the Office of Mobile Source Air Pollution Control at the USEPA and published in a series
of technical articles aimed at operational dispersion modellers in the regulatory community 11,12. The
STREET model has been used for many years and has been adopted in dispersion modelling software
such as AirViro. The USEPA canyon model algorithms are essentially the same as those recommended
by the European Environment Agency for modelling canyons in compliance assessment13.
The RapidAir model also includes the AEOLIUS model which was developed by the UK Met Office in
the 1990s. The AEOLIUS model was originally developed as a nomogram procedure 14. The scientific
basis for the model is presented in a series of papers by the Met Office15,16,17,18,19. The model formulation
shares a high level of commonality with the Operational Street Pollution Model 2021 (OSPM) which in turn
forms the basis of the basic street canyon model included in the ADMS-Roads software. Therefore, the
AEOLIUS based canyon suite in RapidAir aligns well with industry standards for modelling dispersion
of air pollutants in street canyons.
Using available information on building heights and road widths, candidate locations for street
canyons were identified. These locations were then checked using Google Street View to confirm the
presence of a street canyon. For roads assigned as street canyons, the required information for the
AEOLIUS street canyon model was populated – this includes building height, emissions and number
of vehicles per hour. The canyon model is only turned on if the wind is blowing parallel across the
canyon (± 5 degrees) i.e. the wind must be between 40 and 50 degrees from the orientation of the
canyon. For each hour in the meteorological data (same as that described in 3.2.2) with wind direction
matching the criteria to turn the street canyon on, the leeward, windward and parallel street canyon
concentrations were calculated. To provide annual street canyon concentrations, the sum of the data
contained within each of leeward, windward and parallel was calculated.

10

EEA (2018) https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/COR0-landcover
Ingalls., M. M., 1981. Estimating mobile source pollutants in microscale exposure situations. US Environmental Protection Agency. EPA-460/381-021
12
USEPA Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards., 1978. Guidelines for air quality maintenance planning and analysis, Volume 9:
Evaluating indirect sources. EPA-450/4-78-001
13
http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/TEC11a/page014.html
14
Buckland AT and Middleton DR, 1999, Nomograms for calculating pollution within street canyons, Atmospheric Environment, 33, 1017-1036.
15
Middleton DR, 1998, Dispersion Modelling: A Guide for Local Authorities (Met Office Turbulence and Diffusion Note no 241: ISBN 0 86180 348
5), (The Meteorological Office, Bracknell, Berks).
16
Buckland AT, 1998, Validation of a street canyon model in two cities, Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 52, 255-267.
17
Middleton DR, 1998, A new box model to forecast urban air quality, Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 52, 315-335.
18
Manning AJ, Nicholson KJ, Middleton DR and Rafferty SC, 1999, Field study of wind and traffic to test a street canyon pollution model,
Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 60(2), 283-313.
19
Middleton DR, 1999, Development of AEOLIUS for street canyon screening, Clean Air, 29(6), 155-161, (Nat. Soc for Clean Air, Brighton, UK).
20
Hertel O and Berkowicz R, 1989, Modelling pollution from traffic in a street canyon: evaluation of data and model development (Report DMU
LUFT A129), (National Environmental Research Institute, Roskilde, Denmark).
21
Berkowicz R, Hertel O, Larsen SE, Sørensen NN and Nielsen M, 1997, Modelling traffic pollution in streets, (Ministry of Environment and
Energy, National Environmental Research Institute, Roskilde, Denmark).
11

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 813

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 10

Ricardo Energy & Environment

The results from the street canyon module were combined with the concentrations modelled in the
dispersion step of RapidAir. The annual leeward and annual windward concentrations were added
together, then this was added to the dispersion modelled road NOx. The concentrations from the
parallel contribution of the street canyon model were not included as including this would result in
double counting of the road NOx when combined with the dispersion NO x.

3.2.4 Gradient, tunnels and flyovers
Gradient effects have been included for relevant road links during emissions calculations. LIDAR
Composite Digital Terrain Model (DTM) datasets at 1m and 2m resolution are available over the
proposed model domain22. Link gradients across the model domain can be calculated using GIS
spatial analysis of LIDAR DTM datasets.
The method described in TG(16) provides a method of adjusting road link emission rates for gradients
greater than 2.5%; it is applicable to broad vehicle categories for heavy vehicles only. Defra’s Joint Air
Quality Unit (JAQU) have instructed dispersion modelling of English CAZs to gradient adjust all preEuro VI HDVs, this has been undertaken for Cardiff. Figure 7 shows the roads where gradient effects
were included during emissions calculations.
Figure 7: Locations where gradient effects have been included during emission calculations

No modelling of tunnels or flyovers was included as the RapidAir kernel approach applies the same
source height across the model domain. All roads provided by the traffic modellers within CCC

22

http://environment.data.gov.uk/ds/survey/#/survey

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 814

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 11

boundary were modelled at ground level, this includes both flyovers and tunnels. For example, in
Figure 7 it can seen that the A4232, Cardiff Bay Link Road, flyover and tunnel have been included. If
modelling of flyovers was considered to be beneficial for this assessment, we could have modelled
road link at a higher elevation using a dispersion kernel created with a different source height in
AERMOD. It was not however considered beneficial to do this for this assessment.

3.3 Receptor locations
Cardiff has a wide network of monitoring locations comprising a mix of passive and active sampling.
All available monitoring locations for 2015 will be treated as receptors in the model as the 2015 NO2
annual mean measurements will be used for model verification and producing model performance
statistics. A map of these monitoring locations is shown above in Figure 6 in relation to the modelling
domain.
The RapidAir model can deal with about 1.2 billion gridded locations which provides for over 30,000
cells in the ‘x’ and ‘y’ axes. We can therefore model 40km x 30km, which is roughly the size of the
Cardiff modelling domain, down to a 1m resolution. Therefore, we have used this 1m resolution for
our work in Cardiff. The canyon model is set to the same resolution as the grid model so that they
align perfectly spatially.
As RapidAir produces concentration grids (in raster format), modelled NO2 concentrations can be
extracted at receptor locations anywhere on the 1m resolution model output grid. For comparison with
PCM model results, annual mean concentrations at a distance of 4m from the kerb have been
extracted from the RapidAir data and presented as a separate model output file. This will allow the
selected locations to be assessed according to the Air Quality Directive (AQD) requirements Annex III
A, B, and C3.
Cardiff has four AQMAs all of which contain numerous sensitive receptors. RapidAir, by virtue of its
very high-resolution outputs, can produce discrete estimates at every single residential property in
Cardiff (every 1m ‘square’ in actual fact); any location where there is a risk of the objective being
exceeded can therefore be included in the modelling and outlined during post processing.
To aid interpretation of the outcomes of the study when considering compliance with the air quality
directive (AQD), annual mean concentrations at the roadside exceedance locations identified in the
PCM model will be extracted from the RapidAir dispersion model results and presented as a separate
model output file. Roadside receptor locations in the PCM model are at a distance of 4m from the
kerb and at 2m height. A subset of the OS Mastermap GIS dataset provided spatially accurate
polygons representing the road carriageway, receptor locations were then placed at 10m intervals
along relevant road links using a 4m buffer around the carriageway polygons. For Cardiff’s modelling
exercise concentrations were sampled at 4m from the kerbside and at a height of 1.5 metres.
This resulted in a total of 20,142 discrete sampling points. Geospatial analysis permitted point
allocation to the closest Census IDs used within the PCM model. The maximum estimated
concentration at discrete receptors representative of Census IDs were used for this localised
dispersion modelling study. Consequently, the worst-case modelled concentrations are being used in
comparison with those from the PCM model.
It should be noted that relevant exposure to the annual mean NO 2 EU limit value could be within less
than 4 metres from the kerb. The highest concentrations in the whole model domain are predicted
along census link 30665. According to the definitions of relevant exposure within LAQM.TG(16) there
are no areas with relevant exposure at 4 metres or less at a height of 1.5 metres. Modelling receptors
at a distance of 4m has not resulted in any potential areas of exceedance from being excluded from
this modelling exercise.
Annex III of the AQD specifies that macroscale siting of sampling points should be representative of
air quality for a street segment of no less than 100 m length at traffic-orientated sites. To provide

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 815

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 12

Ricardo Energy & Environment

results relevant to this requirement, for roadside locations where there is public access and the
Directive applies; road links with exceedances of the NO 2 annual mean objective stretching over link
lengths of 100m or greater can be presented as a separate GIS layer of model results.
Annex III of the AQD also specifies that microscale sampling should be at least 25 m from the edge of
major junctions. When reporting model results relevant to compliance with the AQD, locations up to
25m from the edge of major junctions in the model domain have also been excluded.

4 Base year modelling
4.1 Base year and meteorological dataset
As described in section 1.3 we have modelled a baseline year of 2015. We have used the 2015
annual surface meteorological dataset measured at Cardiff City Centre which has been processed in
house using our own meteorological data gathering and processing system. We use open overseas
meteorological databases which hold the same observations as supplied by UK meteorological data
vendors. Our RapidAir model also takes account of upper air data which is used to determine the
strength of turbulent mixing in the lower atmosphere; we have derived this from the closest
radiosonde site and process with the surface data in the USEPA AERMET model. Where necessary
we have utilised data filling following USEPA guidance which sets out the preferred hierarchy of
routines to account for gaps (persistence, interpolation, substitution). A wind rose for the 2015 Cardiff
City Centre met dataset is presented in Figure 8.
Figure 8: Windrose

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 816

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 13

Ricardo Energy & Environment

4.2 Representation of road locations and canyons
A realistic representation of road locations has been modelled by assigning emissions to the road
links represented in the Ordnance Survey ITN Roads GIS dataset; it contains spatially accurate road
centreline locations for various road categories e.g. Motorway, A-road, B-road, minor road, local street
etc. Link gradients across the model domain were calculated using LIDAR DTM datasets.
A map showing the locations where canyon effects were modelled is presented in Figure 9.
Figure 9: Location of street canyons modelled

4.3 Road traffic modelling
4.3.1 Average daily vehicle flow and speeds
Baseline and future year annual average daily traffic (AADT) link flows for each model link were
provided by Mott Macdonald using outputs from the South East Wales Transport Model (SEWTM) that
covers the areas of Cardiff, Newport, Caerphilly and east of Swansea. Traffic flows were provided for
the following vehicles types; Cars, light goods vehicles (LGV), heavy goods vehicles (HGV) and buses.
It should be noted that the bus traffic flows only include service operators. This means that modelled
buses do not include coaches or mini-buses and will be under-estimation of bus movements.

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 817

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 14

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Speeds were provided for four modelled period: AM (peak hour 07:45-08:45), Inter-Peak (average of
period 09:30-15:30), PM (peak hour 16:30-17:30) and Off-peak (average between 18:00-07:00).
Ricardo calculated the AADT equivalent speeds with a weighted average. This involves summing the
multiplication of each peak hour speed by the corresponding period traffic flow and dividing by AADT,
see equation below.
𝐴𝐴𝐷𝑇 𝑠𝑝𝑒𝑒𝑑 =

Where:

(𝐴𝑀 𝑝ℎ𝑠 × 𝐴𝑀 𝑝𝑡𝑓) + (𝐼𝑃 𝑎𝑝𝑠 × 𝐼𝑃 𝑝𝑡𝑓) + (𝑃𝑀 𝑝ℎ𝑠 × 𝑃𝑀 𝑝𝑡𝑓) + (𝑂𝑃 𝑎𝑝𝑠 × 𝑂𝑃 𝑝𝑡𝑓)
𝐴𝐴𝐷𝑇

phs = peak hour speed
ptf = period traffic flow
aps = average period speed

In traffic modelling there is an area of detailed modelling (AODM) and rest of area (ROF), the former
denotes areas where the traffic modellers have greater accuracy in traffic forecasts and the latter less
accuracy. It has been confirmed all roads links included in the dispersion modelling exercise are within
the AODM. Further information on how the baseline 2015, 2021 and other scenarios have been
represented within the SEWTM model can be found within the traffic modelling chapter 23.
An extensive 2015 Automatic Traffic Count (ATC) survey was undertaken in support of the SEWTM
model. An ATC survey provides total number of vehicles across a number of vehicle categories for a
15 minute period over the duration of the survey. This survey provides data required to establish the
proportion of traffic that is contributed to a daily total from up to a resolution of 15 minutes. Thereby
enabling the development of a diurnal profile which establishes the proportion each hour contributes to
a 24-hour period total. Only ATC locations across Cardiff, which were considered representative of the
model domain were used in the development of this diurnal profile. One diurnal profile was developed
for all vehicle types and applied as time varying emissions in AERMOD when creating the RapidAir
dispersion kernel.

4.3.2 Vehicle fleet composition
The 4 core vehicle fleet types are; cars, LGVs, HGVs and buses. The subcategories of these vehicles
types with emission rates are;
• Cars: are split into passenger/private, private hire taxis and hackney taxis;
• LGVs: there is no split for LGVs;
• HGVs: are split into articulated HGVs and rigid HGVs; and
• Buses: there is no split for buses.
These can be calculated using the latest COPERT v5 NOx emission functions.
The traffic model provided vehicle flows for four highway user classes which are: Car, HGV, LGV and
Buses. HGVs were further broken down into rigid and articulated and cars were divided into private
hire and Hackney taxis subcategories, this was undertaken using Automatic Number Plate
Recognition (ANPR) data. ANPR locations were selected if they were in an area of key concern for air
quality. This includes AQMAs and non-compliance links in the PCM model. ANPR cameras were
setup at 12 locations, recording various directions of traffic resulting in 21 unique records. To ensure
that fleet mixes most accurately represented these key air quality areas 7 unique zones were created,
as per Figure 10. Zone 7 is an average fleet mix derived from all the ANPR cameras across Cardiff.
This has been applied to roads which are outside zones 1-6.

23

367590 Air Quality Transport Modelling Technical Note CASAP CAZ.pdf

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 818

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 15

Figure 10 Cardiff Fleet Mix Zones

The ANPR survey lasted for a week over a traffic neutral period i.e. during term time and is
representative of a years’ typical weekly traffic. The ANPR survey enables emission rates from road
traffic to be represented in the greatest detail possible within COPERT V, which includes:
1. Cars, split between Petrol and Diesel from pre-euro standards up to Euro 6 and alternative
technologies such as electric and plug in hybrids;
2. Light Goods Vehicles (LGV) (<3.5 tonnes), split between Petrol and Diesel from pre-euro
standards through to Euro 6; LGVs consist of Vans and People Carriers e.g. large passenger
cars and mini-buses.
3. Rigid and Artic Heavy-Goods Vehicles (HGV), from pre-euro standards through to Euro 6.
4. Bus and Coach, from pre-euro standards through to EURO VI.
5. Motorcycles are an option within COPERT, however, the NAEI defaults for 2015 and 2021
have been used.
Emission calculations for each vehicle category will be based on vehicle fuel type and Euro
classification. Information on the local fuel type mix and Euro standard distribution has been collected
from the ANPR surveys conducted over one week from the 12th to 19th May 2018. The scenarios
included in dispersion modelling are baseline 2015, baseline 2021, CASAP1, CASAP2, CASAP 3 and
the City Centre Clean Air Zone 1 and 2. From this, there are 2 unique years which should be
considered in the calculation of the fleet mix, 2015 and 2021. As the ANPR survey was undertaken in
2018, National Atmospheric Emission Inventory’s (NAEI) fleet mix projections were used to back-cast
to 2015 and forecast to 2021. The distribution of fuel type and Euro classification from the 2018 local
data average across all the ANPR locations is shown in Figure 11 to Figure 16 below compared to the
2018 national average data taken from the (NAEI).
Representing Fleet Mixes with ANPR data
There were approximately 2.6 million ANPR records, which have been matched to the DVLA
database. Each individual vehicle which has been captured and matched to the DVLA database has
Ricardo in Confidence

Page 819

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 16

Ricardo Energy & Environment

had a vehicle type assigned by TRACSIS. TRACSIS are the traffic survey specialist which provided
the ANPR data. Further detail provided includes the vehicle type associated with each vehicle
captured e.g. Car, Private Hire Vehicle (PHV), Hackney, PSV (buses and coaches), OGV1 (Rigid
HGV) and OGV2 (Artic HGV). As mentioned above, there are euro standards for each of the vehicle
types, as such these have been associated and used within the COPERT V emission calculations.
This assumes that TRACSIS have correctly linked each vehicle type to each category.
Using Euro standards for PSVs, as defined by ANPR data, for exclusively buses will mean that
coaches will result in a slight misrepresentation of Euro standards. This is the case for buses in
emission calculations, as only buses from service operators within Cardiff have been included in the
bus traffic flows from the traffic model. When comparing bus Euro standards from only Cardiff Bus’s
fleet to those within the ANPR data, Cardiff bus have a much more polluting fleet with 82.5% being
pre-Euro VI. Whereas the % of pre-Euro VI standard PSVs within the ANPR data is only 61.7%.
Which will mean that emission contribution from buses are being under-represented, however these
discrepancies have been offset during the model validation process. This compares modelled NOx
against measured NOx taking a regression result across all validation locations to adjust modelled
results.
Figure 11 Car fuel type split
100.0%
90.0%
80.0%
70.0%
60.0%
50.0%
40.0%
30.0%
20.0%
10.0%
0.0%
Electric cars
NAEI Data

Ricardo in Confidence

Petrol cars

Petrol Hybrid

ANPR Car

ANPR Hackney

Page 820

Diesel cars

Diesel Hybrid

ANPR Private Hire

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 17

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Figure 12 Diesel car Euro classification distribution
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Pre-Euro 1

Euro 1

Euro 2

NAEI Data

ANPR Car

Euro 3
ANPR Hackney

Euro 4

Euro 5

Euro 6

ANPR Private Hire

Figure 13 Petrol car Euro classification distribution
0.60

0.50

0.40

0.30

0.20

0.10

Pre-Euro 1

Euro 1
NAEI Data

Ricardo in Confidence

Euro 2
ANPR Car

Euro 3
ANPR Hackney

Euro 4

Euro 5

Euro 6

ANPR Private Hire

Page 821

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 18

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Figure 14 Diesel van Euro classification distribution
60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%
Pre-Euro 1

Euro 1

Euro 2

Euro 3

NAEI Data

Euro 4

Euro 5

Euro 6

Euro 4

Euro 5

Euro 6

ANPR

Figure 15 Rigid HGV Euro Classification distribution
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Pre-Euro 1

Euro 1

Euro 2

Euro 3

NAEI Data

Ricardo in Confidence

ANPR

Page 822

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 19

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Figure 16 Artic HGV Euro Classification
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Pre-Euro 1

Euro 1

Euro 2

Euro 3

NAEI Data

Euro 4

Euro 5

Euro 6

ANPR

4.3.3 NOx/NO2 emissions assumptions
Link specific NOx emission factors have been calculated using the COPERT v5 emission functions for
all vehicles up to and including Euro 6/VI. Emission rates have been calculated with our in-house
emission calculation tool RapidEms, which is fully consistent with COPERT v5 and links directly to our
RapidAir dispersion modelling system.
JAQU recommend the use of data on primary NO2 emissions (fNO2) by vehicle type which is available
via the NAEI website (based on 2014 NAEI) to provide a more detailed breakdown than the LAQM
NOx to NO2 convertor. This suggests a link specific f-NO2 emissions estimate for use in the NO2
modelling.
Based on this requirement, the RapidEms road emissions calculation tool now includes additional
functionality to calculate NO2 emission rates for each road link. Link specific fNO2 fractions can then
be calculated for each link by dividing NO2 by total road NOx emission rate. Calculating link specific
NO2 emission rates also facilitates dispersion modelling of both road NOx and NO2 across the entire
model domain to produce separate concentration rasters, which can then be combined with
background concentrations to calculate NO2 concentrations in each grid cell.
The recently updated version (v6.1) of the LAQM NOx to NO2 conversion spreadsheet has been used
to convert road NOx, fNO2 and background NOx into NO2 concentrations where results at discrete
receptor locations are required. This currently includes all NO2 monitoring site locations and receptors
placed at 4m from the PCM road links.

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 823

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 20

Ricardo Energy & Environment

4.4 Non-road transport modelling and background
concentrations
We have considered two types of non-road transport sources of NOx emissions (or background
concentration) data.
1. Large local point sources: A review of large point sources such as Part A processes
regulated by the Environment agency included in NAEI was undertaken. No locations were
considered close enough to Cardiff’s modelling domain for to carry out separate dispersion
modelling. For example, the majority of point sources do not contribute a substantial tonnage
of NOx, with the exception of a steel manufacturing plant and an energy from waste
installation. However, as this assessment estimates NO 2 annual mean in the same areas of
the PCM model, it is only when PCM links are within close proximity that further consideration
is required. The closest source is 770m upwind from PCM roads and it is considered that
representation of these sources in Defra’s background concentrations sufficiently represents
background contributions.
2. Small local point sources: The European Pollutant Transfer Register (PRTR) has been
reviewed and the majority of registered A2 and B permitted processes were screened out for
insignificant contributions to NOx for example cement batching and mineral processing.
However, there are a few additional sources which were considered further. A galvanising
factory near the Bute East Dock was screened out due to a distance of >600 metres to roads
included in the PCM model. Background contributions from a crematorium 200 metres
downwind of census ID 99671 were not included in dispersion modelling. It was considered
that NOx contributions through dispersion modelling will not be significantly different to
Defra’s background industrial contributions. As such process contributions represented within
the Defra’s background maps were considered satisfactory.
3. Rail emissions: Cardiff concluded in their 2009 updated and screening assessment that
emissions from rail did not need to be considered further. Consequently, emissions from rail
were considered to be satisfactorily represented by Defra’s background concentrations.
4. General background sources: The 1km resolution LAQM background maps were used to
provide estimates for all sources with the exception of motorway, primary and trunk roads
contribution.
To avoid double counting of modelled road transport sources motorway, primary and trunk roads
contributions were discounted from Defra’s background maps.

4.5 Measurement data for model calibration
CCC’s 2015 automatic and diffusion tube annual mean NO2 measurements from roadside sites were
considered for model verification. Further information on model verification has been presented within
Appendix 1. Information on monitoring data QA/QC, diffusion tube bias adjustment factors etc. will be
as presented in the CCC’s 2016 LAQM Annual Progress Report.

5 Projected future year scenario modelling
5.1 Road transport future year baseline
The assessment year for all future scenarios is 2021. The basic projections used for the future year
baseline scenario are:

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 824

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 21

Ricardo Energy & Environment

• AADT flows for future baseline year were provided from the SEWTM. Further information on how
these traffic flows were derived and how local growth in traffic is calculated is presented in ‘Transport
Modelling Methodology Report’24.
• Projected fleet split (vehicle type): All future year scenarios will have the 4 core vehicle category
fleet splits provided from the traffic model in the same breakdown as provided for the 2015 base
year. The further split of HGVs into artic and rigid, and cars into private hire and hackneys will use
the same ratios as derived for the 2015 baseline.
• Projected fuel type and Euro class distribution: a local fuel type and Euro class distribution has
been projected forward from the local ANPR results to provide Euro class distributions for each of
the future modelling years. This projection has been carried out in line with the draft methodology
provided by JAQU. This has been done by deriving future scaling factors from the national NAEI
data, applying these to the local ANPR results and then normalising to 100%. This gives an evolution
of the local fleet that is slightly behind the national fleet. This can be seen in Figure 12 through to
Figure 16, which shows that the average Euro classes across all ANPR sites have a slower uptake
of Euro VI than NAEI.
• Compliance split for future fleet All future scenarios, including the baseline 2021 scenario, have
a separate fleet mix for compliant and non-compliant vehicles. The projected 2021 Euro standards
for different vehicle types were split into categories of compliant and non-compliant. The Euro
standards which fit into these two categories are listed within Table 4.
Table 4 vehicle type Euro standards categorised as compliant/non-compliant

Compliant

Non-Compliant

Car

Vans

HGV –
Rigid/Artic

Bus

Car

Vans

HGV –
Rigid/Artic

Bus

Euro 4-6

Euro 4-6

Euro VI

Euro VI

Euro-3
and older

Euro-3
and older

Euro-V
and older

Euro-V
and older

Ricardo provided the 2015 and 2021 compliance split at each ANPR location to enable the traffic
modellers to split their highway matrices (vehicle categories) into compliant/non-compliant vehicle
types. As a result, traffic model outputs provided contained traffic flow (AADT) accompanied with a
compliant/non-compliant factor for all modelled vehicles. This was used to apportion traffic flows to
the compliant/non-compliant fleet mixes.
• Future year scenarios average vehicle speed data: The same volume-weighted average speed
approach mentioned in section 4.3.1 was adopted for the future baseline scenarios. The same
speeds were applied to both compliant and non-compliant vehicles.
• Projected vehicle NOx emission rates will be calculated using the latest COPERT v5 NOx
emission functions applied to AADT, speed, fleet and vehicle age composition for each future
baseline year being modelled.

5.2 Scheme option modelling projections
This section provides the modelling methodology for the CASAP and CAZ scenarios as reflected in air
quality modelling, see Table 1 for information on measures included in traffic modelling.

24

367590 Air Quality Transport Modelling Technical Note CASAP CAZ

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 825

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 22

Ricardo Energy & Environment

5.3 CASAP 1 and 2
Measures accounted for in the emissions modelling: Taxi Licensing (Euro 6 for new licensees) and
electric buses on service routes 27, 49/50 and 44/45. As noted within Table 1 the transport modelling
methodology incorporates the remainder of the CASAP 1 and CASAP 2 measures. The effects of
these changes are reflected within the traffic flows and compliance split provided by the traffic
modelling and therefore emission calculations undertaken as part of the dispersion modelling.
Consequently, it is only the taxi and electric buses measures that have specific assumptions within
the air quality methodology to reflect changes upon the fleet and subsequent emission calculations for
CASAP 1 and 2.
•

Taxi licensing: information on private hire vehicles and hackneys registered with CCC was
provided by the Council’s licensing department. In addition, the ANPR data to produce Euro
standards for the taxi fleet mix. Since the Euro standards defined by the ANPR dataset and
from CCC’s taxi licensing result in a different Euro standard composition (one is based on trips
and the other vehicle numbers) a % shift approach was used to assess the impact of the
licencing change. The taxi information included the number of taxis which fall into 3 age
categories; 10 years or older, between 10 and 4 years old and under 4 years old of registered
taxis. This was used to determine the current % of the taxi fleet naturally compliant. It has been
assumed that all vehicles which are older than 10 years will register a new taxi under 5 years.
This results in an 18% increase in the number of compliant taxis. This was used as an
adjustment factor to shift 18% of the non-compliant (i.e. non Euro 6) taxi traffic flows (AADT) to
compliant taxi traffic flows (AADT) for all roads in the study area.

•

Zero Emission Buses (ZEB): The ambition of ZEB is to implement 36 electric buses on Cardiff
City Buses’ service routes. These would replace the oldest vehicles in the fleet and so the
remaining fleet would consequently have a newer profile. There are 3 service routes which are
being targeted with ZEB buses; 27, 49/50 and 44/45. This has been reflected in emission
calculations of buses in the following way:
o

Electric buses: This modelling exercise only focuses upon dispersion modelling of
NO2. As such an electric bus produce zero NO2 emission and so a fleet penetration %
has been calculated to reduce bus traffic flows emissions are calculated with.

o

Electric buses: The % ZEB reductions were applied to the routes on which the buses
operated. It is assumed that every service contributes an equal number of bus traffic
flows along the route and so the ZEB reduction are only applied in proportion to the
ZEB services along that route. This generates the % reduction in bus traffic flows
assumed for roads used by ZEB targeted services is as follows:

o

▪

27: a 20% reduction in bus traffic flows;

▪

44/45: a 14% reduction in bus traffic flows; and

▪

49/50: a 14% reduction in bus traffic flows.

Bus fleet turnover: The introduction of ZEBs will allow the older buses to be phased
out. CCC provided Ricardo with the Euro standard details of Cardiff City Bus’s fleet.
This enabled the % of compliant buses to be calculated for Cardiff City Bus before the
introduction of ZEB. CCC intend to replace 36 Euro 3 buses with ZEBs. Consequently,
the effects of fleet turnover upon the % of compliant buses was calculated and resulted
in a 3.26% shift from compliant to non-compliant buses. The actual Euro standards
used for emission calculations was derived from an ANPR survey projected to 2021.
Using the Cardiff City Bus’s Euro standard mix with ZEB directly would be a change in
methodology. As such, the 3.26% shift to compliant buses with ZEB was used as an
an adjustment factor to transfer bus traffic flows (AADT) from non-compliant to
compliant bus emission calculations.

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 826

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 23

5.4 CASAP 3
The measures reflected in air quality modelling is the retrofitting of all buses to Euro VI. In this case all
remain non-electric buses were assumed to be Euro VI in the emissions calculations.

5.5 CAZ 1
This is a charging clean air zone which encompasses the inner-city centre, and is bordered by the
following roads A4119, A4160 and A4161 as shown Figure 3. The charge of £10 associated with CAZ
1 applies to cars only and the behavioural response in relation to this charge has been based upon a
JAQU default response data (taken from modelled responses to the London ULEZ). The majority of
the upgrade assumption recommended by JAQU have been outlined within the transport modelling
report. These are based on a £12.50 charge and have been scaled down to reflect the £10 charge.
The traffic model outputs generated, and used in the air quality modelling, then take account of redistribution of traffic and the affect upon proportions of compliant/non-compliant vehicles. The
emissions model then takes this new split of compliant vehicles and associate it with the mix of euro
standards outlined in Table 4 when calculating emissions.
The one JAQU upgrade assumption which has not been reflected in traffic modelling and therefore
reflected in directly in the emission calculations is the change to petrol and diesel proportions. As
would be expected the number of naturally compliant petrol vehicles is much higher as older petrol
vehicles (2006) are classed as compliant. The JAQU upgrade assumptions account for this with a
shift from non-compliant diesel to older compliant petrol vehicles.
It is assumed that the mix of compliant and non-compliant petrol/diesel euro standards are the same
before and after the CAZ. To elaborate on this, there is no upgrade assumption to a specific euro
standard only that the vehicle is compliant.

5.6 CAZ 2
The CAZ 2 charging clean air zone covers the exact same area as CAZ 1. However, only goods
vehicles are targeted, with a planned charge for LGVs at £10 and HGVs £50. As with CAZ 1, these
charges are less than the generic JAQU charges (based on the London ULEZ) and subsequently
upgrade assumptions have been scaled down by the traffic modellers.
The JAQU upgrade assumptions also have a shift from petrol to diesel, like that assumed for cars, for
the LGVs and this is handled directly in the emissions model.

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 827

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 24

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Appendix 1: Model Verification
Verification of the model involves comparison of the modelled results with any local monitoring data at
relevant locations; this helps to identify how the model is performing and if any adjustments should be
applied. The verification process involves checking and refining the model input data to try and reduce
uncertainties and produce model outputs that are in better agreement with the monitoring results. This
can be followed by adjustment of the modelled results if required. The LAQM.TG(16) guidance
recommends making the adjustment to the road contribution of the pollutant only and not the
background concentration these are combined with.
The approach outlined in LAQM.TG(16) section 7.508 – 7.534 has been used in this case. All
roadside diffusion tube NO2 measurement sites in Cardiff have been used for model verification. A
single road NOx adjustment factor was derived and used to calculate:
•

Citywide modelling results at receptor points adjacent to relevant PCM road links.

•

Citywide 1m resolution NO2 annual mean concentration rasters providing a continuous
representation of the spatial variation in modelled concentrations.

It is appropriate to verify the performance of the RapidAir model in terms of primary pollutant
emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOx = NO + NO2). To verify the model, the predicted annual mean
Road NOx concentrations were compared with concentrations measured at the various monitoring
sites during 2015. The model output of Road NOx (the total NOx originating from road traffic) was
compared with measured Road NOx, where the measured Road NOx contribution is calculated as the
difference between the total NOx and the background NOx value. Total measured NOx for each
diffusion tube was calculated from the measured NO2 concentration using the latest version of the
Defra NOx/NO2 calculator (v6.1).
The initial comparison of the modelled vs measured Road NOx identified that the model was underpredicting the Road NOx contribution at most locations. Refinements were subsequently made to the
model inputs to improve model performance where possible.
The gradient of the best fit line for the modelled Road NOx contribution vs. measured Road NOx
contribution was then determined using linear regression and used as a domain wide Road NOx
adjustment factor. This factor was then applied to the modelled Road NOx concentration at each
discretely modelled receptor point to provide adjusted modelled Road NOx concentrations. A linear
regression plot comparing modelled and monitored Road NOx concentrations before and after
adjustment is presented in Figure 17.
The total annual mean NO2 concentrations were then determined using the NOx/NO2 calculator to
combine background and adjusted road contribution concentrations.
Some clear outliers (n = 7) were apparent during the model verification process, whereby we were
unable to refine the model inputs sufficiently to achieve acceptable model performance at these
locations. These sites were excluded from the model verification. The reasons why acceptable model
performance could not be achieved at these sites include:
•

Sites located next to a large car park, bus stop, petrol station, or taxi rank that has not been
explicitly modelled due to unknown activity data.

•

No traffic model road link included where the NO2 sampler is located, or not all road links
included e.g. at a junction.

The RapidAir canyon allocator identified Westgate Street as a canyon, however including a canyon in
this location leads to very scattered data in the model verification and the sites located in this canyon
do not follow the general trends shown by the remainder of the monitoring locations. Consequently,

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 828

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 25

the canyon in Westgate was manually removed which resulted in the relationship between measured
and modelled concentrations at sites in this street following similar trends to the other verification
sites, and reduced the error in the model predictions.
To present a conservative approach to adjusting future year predictions of road NOx concentrations, a
primary NOx adjustment factor (PAdj) of 1.807 based on model verification using all of the 2015 NO2
measurements was applied to all modelled Road NOx data prior to calculating an NO 2 annual mean.
A plot comparing modelled and monitored NO2 concentrations before and after adjustment during
2015 is presented in Figure 18.
Figure 17: Comparison of modelled Road NOx Vs Measured Road NOx before and after
adjustment

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 829

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 26

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Figure 18 Modelled vs. measured NO2 annual mean 2015 before and after adjustment

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 830

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 27

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Model performance
To evaluate the model performance and uncertainty, the Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) for the
observed vs predicted NO2 annual mean concentrations was calculated, as detailed in Technical
Guidance LAQM.TG(16). This guidance indicates that an RMSE of up to 4 µg/m 3 is ideal, and an
RMSE of up to 10 µg/m3 is acceptable. The calculated RMSE is presented in Table 5. In this case the
RMSE was calculated at 5.1 µg.m -3which is close to the ideal range suggested by the guidance.
Table 5 Comparison of measured and modelled concentrations at measurement locations in
2015, and the model root mean square error.
Measured NO2 annual mean
concentration 2015 (µg.m-3)

Modelled NO2 annual mean
concentration 2015 (µg.m-3)

DT33

46.9

39.7

DT44

27.1

26.8

DT45

32.1

30.4

DT56

29.6

22.0

DT58

48.3

41.7

DT81

35.3

36.5

DT82

23.8

23.4

DT85

22.4

19.5

DT86

34.9

24.5

DT96

31.1

30.5

DT97

30.5

29.4

DT98

25.4

22.9

DT99

29.8

35.2

DT100

28.9

23.5

DT106

29.4

31.3

DT107

30.7

29.0

DT111

21.3

19.6

DT112

27.1

21.9

DT119

27.7

32.2

DT124

22.5

18.7

DT126

36.0

37.9

DT128

29.6

21.4

DT129

31.5

34.4

DT130

35.2

35.3

DT131

39.5

35.6

DT133

31.9

35.8

DT139

29.4

26.1

DT140

36.3

27.7

DT141

32.3

24.1

DT143

38.2

38.6

DT144

37.2

38.2

DT145

29.9

35.5

DT146

26.6

25.5

NO2 monitoring site

Ricardo in Confidence

Page 831

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 28

Ricardo Energy & Environment

Measured NO2 annual mean
concentration 2015 (µg.m-3)

Modelled NO2 annual mean
concentration 2015 (µg.m-3)

DT147

27.7

22.2

DT148

27.5

22.7

DT152

27.6

26.3

DT153

29.0

29.7

DT156

25.9

24.2

DT157

27.2

26.7

DT158

25.5

23.2

DT159

34.0

31.6

DT161

32.3

24.3

DT162

24.5

22.7

DT163

23.2

24.9

DT164

20.3

20.9

DT165

15.1

16.7

DT166

32.1

21.3

DT167

28.3

22.0

DT168

24.3

24.3

DT170

19.1

23.0

DT171

18.1

22.2

DT172

44.5

28.6

DT173

28.4

29.5

DT175

34.7

43.9

DT174

28.7

32.8

DT176

47.8

43.9

DT177

48.1

55.1

DT178

45.4

44.8

NO2 monitoring site

Ricardo in Confidence

RMSE (all sites)

5.1 µg/m3

Fractional Bias

0.05

Correlation Co-efficient

0.81

Page 832

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

Ricardo Energy & Environment

The Gemini Building
Fermi Avenue
Harwell
Didcot
Oxfordshire
OX11 0QR
United Kingdom
Ricardo in Confidence
t: +44 (0)1235 753000
e: enquiry@ricardo.com

Cardiff Clean Air Zone – Air Quality Modelling
Methodology Report | 1

Page 833

Ref: Ricardo/ED11182/Issue Number 1

This page is intentionally left blank

Technical Note
Project:

Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study

Our reference:

367590

Your reference: -

Prepared by:

Chris Papaioannou

Date:

13/02/2019

Approved by:

Philip Old

Checked by:

George Bate

Subject:

Transport Modelling Technical Approach

This technical note outlines the transport modelling work undertaken by Mott MacDonald to develop the
evidence base for the Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study. Transport modelling has been undertaken in the
South East Wales Transport Model (SEWTM) using methods that are appropriate for a high-level feasibility
study, with outputs being provided to Cardiff Council’s air quality consultants (Ricardo). The overarching
purpose of the transport modelling work for this study is to assist in forecasting air quality conditions with and
without specific interventions on the transport network.

1

Introduction

SEWTM
SEWTM is a disaggregate multi-modal transport model of South East Wales. The model comprises separate
highway and public transport assignment models linked together with a variable demand model. The model
was developed for Welsh Government with a 2015 base year, validated to WebTAG Unit M3.1 guidance. It
has been designed to:
-

Understand the current travel patterns in South East Wales and the performance of the transport
system;
Monitor changes in travel patterns over time;
Predict future travel patterns and conditions on the transport network;
Assess the impacts of possible interventions in the transport system in a consistent manner;
Assess the impacts of land use changes such as new housing developments and employment
locations in a consistent manner; and
Provide inputs required for transport appraisals and business cases.

The model represents an average weekday, and for most purposes, outputs are divided into four time periods:
-

AM peak between 0700 and 0930; peak hour assignment representing 0745-0845;
Inter-peak (IP) between 0930 and 1530; average hour assignment;
PM between 1530 and 1800; peak hour assignment representing 1630-1730; and
Off-peak (OP) between 1800 and 0700; average hour assignment.

This document is issued for the party which commissioned it and for specific purposes connected with the above-captioned project only.
It should not be relied upon by any other party or used for any other purpose.
We accept no responsibility for the consequences of this document being relied upon by any other party, or being used for any other
purpose, or containing any error or omission which is due to an error or omission in data supplied to us by other parties.
This document contains confidential information and proprietary intellectual property. It should not be shown to other parties without
consent from us and from the party which commissioned it.

Page 835

This R eport has been prepar ed sol el y for us e by the part y which commissi oned it (the 'Client') in connection wi th the capti oned pr oject. It shoul d not be used for any ot her purpose. N o pers on other than t he Client or any party who has expr essl y agreed terms of reli ance with us (t he 'Recipi ent(s)') may r el y on the cont ent, infor mation or any views expr ess ed in the R eport. T his R eport is confi denti al and c ont ains pr opri et ary intell ect ual pr opert y and we ac cept no dut y of car e, r esponsibilit y or li ability t o any other recipi ent of this R eport. N o repr esent ati on, warranty or undertaki ng, express or i mplied, is made and no res ponsi bilit y or liability is ac cept ed by us t o any party other than t he Client or any Reci pient(s), as to t he acc urac y or completeness of the i nfor mati on c ontai ned i n this R eport. F or the avoi danc e of doubt thi s Report does not i n any way pur port to i nclude any legal, ins uranc e or fi nanci al advic e or opi nion.
We dis clai m all and any liability whether arising i n tort, contr act or ot her wis e which we might otherwis e have to any part y other t han the Cli ent or t he Reci pient(s), in res pect of this Report, or any infor mation cont ained in it. We acc ept no res ponsi bilit y for any error or omissi on in t he Report which is due to an error or omissi on in dat a, i nf or mation or stat ements s upplied to us by other parti es i ncludi ng the Cli ent (the 'Data'). We have not independentl y verified the D at a or ot her wis e exami ned i t t o deter mi ne the acc urac y, completeness, sufficienc y f or any purpose or feasi bilit y f or any partic ular outc ome incl uding fi nanci al.
Forec ast s pres ented i n this document were pr epared usi ng t he Dat a and t he Repor t is dependent or bas ed on the D at a. Inevitabl y, s ome of the ass umptions us ed to develop the for ecasts will not be realised and unantici pated events and circumst anc es may occ ur. C onsequentl y, we do not guarant ee or warrant the conclusions c ontained in the R eport as t her e are li kel y to be diff erenc es bet ween t he f orecas ts and the actual res ults and t hose differ ences may be material. While we c onsi der that t he inf or mation and opini ons given in t his R eport are s ound all parti es must rel y on their own s kill and judgement when making us e of it .

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

2

The following assignment user classes are included in the highway model:
-

Car commute;
Car business;
Car other;
LGV; and
HGV.

The highway models utilise an equilibrium assignment which attempts to minimise path costs across all origindestination (OD) pairs. Convergence is a measure of the proximity to an equilibrium solution; the highway
model convergence meets guidance set out in WebTAG Unit M3.1.
SEWTM geographical coverage is shown in Figure 1. The Cardiff local authority area is within the Area of
Detailed Modelling. This is the area of the transport model within which significant impacts of interventions are
more certain. Within this area the model will represent all trips (demand), model zones are generally smaller
than LSOAs, the transport network is detailed, and junction modelling is included.
Figure 1: SEWTM modelled area

Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 836

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

3

Method Overview
The transport modelling approach that has been adopted for this study balances the need to forecast the
highway network impacts of a range of interventions with the need to maintain a proportionate approach to
appraisal, taking account of the high-level nature of the study and the associated time and budget constraints.
The full multi-modal Variable Demand Model (VDM) has been used to forecast the 2021 baseline situation
given expected changes to population, employment and the highway/public transport networks. The highway
assignment user classes have been split by EU standard compliant/non-compliant engine class using
information provided by Ricardo, determined from 2018 Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) surveys.
Clean Air Strategy Package Interventions
Clean Air Strategy Package transport interventions have been assessed using the 2021 baseline as a starting
point and applying highway network and trip matrix adjustments using methods set out in Table 1 below, and
in greater detail later in this note.
Table 1: Clean Air Strategy Package Intervention Methodologies
Package 1

Package 2

Package 3

Description

Modelling Methodology

1

Active travel packages, covering two areas
close to the city centre

2

Cycling programme to end of 2020, covering a
corridor north from the city centre

For each of the locations a 3.5%-point reduction in the car
driver mode share was assumed for trips entirely within the
given area, and the car vehicle demand matrices adjusted
accordingly

3

New 50mph speed limit on A4232
(Culverhouse Cross to Butetown Tunnels)

The representation of the affected section of the A4232 was
changed from a national speed limit link type to a 50mph
speed limit link type

4

Westgate Street mid-point closure to general
traffic

The central section of Westgate Street was closed to all cars
and goods vehicles to prevent through-movements whilst
maintaining local access

5

East side scheme, reducing through traffic
movements on Station Terrace

Links were opened/closed as appropriate and junctions
edited to reflect the proposed scheme.

6

A48 St Mellons bus-based park and ride

For trips in nearby corridors with a trip end in the city centre,
a proportion to be intercepted at the new P&R site was
assumed, based upon evidence from existing sites. One of
the trip ends for these trips was then reassigned from the
city centre to the location of the P&R site.

7

M4 J33 park and ride

As item 6, except that the number of trips to be intercepted
was calculated using an assumed occupation level (broadly
equivalent to current occupation of the East P&R site).

8

Parking charges and controls, affecting
vehicles with non-compliant engines.

UK government Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) guidance on
option appraisal was used to provide estimates of the effect
on trip making of implementing charging zones for noncompliant vehicles. A proportion of vehicles affected by
increased parking charges was calculated using parking
“event” data provided by Cardiff Council. Non-compliant
vehicle trips were then moved to the compliant matrix,
removed from the matrices altogether, or left unaltered
accordingly.

9

A470 additional southbound traffic lane

Capacity constraints were removed at the merge node
southbound of the junction with the A468.

10

Nantgarw bus park and ride

As item 7.

Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 837

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

4

Clean Air Zone Interventions
Two clean air zone (CAZ) interventions have been modelled; a clean air zone covering cars, buses, coaches,
and taxis, and a Class C clean air zone covering buses, coaches, taxis, and goods vehicles. These have also
been assessed using the 2021 baseline as a starting point and applying trip matrix adjustments based upon
JAQU guidance and set out in greater detail later in this note. Buses, coaches, and taxis are not explicitly
modelled in the SEWTM highway networks and the effects on these types of vehicles have therefore not been
included.
Technical Note Structure
The remainder of this note is structured as follows:
-

2

Section 2 lists the SEWTM base year (2015) model outputs supplied to Ricardo for use in developing
an initial base year air quality model;
Section 3 sets out the approach and assumptions used in preparing 2021 baseline forecasts;
Section 4 explains how the highway trip matrices have been divided into compliant / non-compliant
engine standards for subsequent air quality modelling purposes; and
Section 5 sets out the methods used for assessing Clean Air Strategy Package transport interventions
on the highway network.
Section 6 sets out the methods used for assessing the car-based CAZ.
Section 7 sets out the methods used for assessing the goods vehicle-based CAZ.

Base Model Outputs

SEWTM has been developed with a base year model representing 2015. To enable Cardiff Council’s air quality
consultants (Ricardo) to build a base year air dispersion model, the following outputs have been provided from
the SEWTM base year highway models:
-

-

Link and node structure in GIS shapefile format;
Correspondence file which defines the relationship between SEWTM highway network links and the
Ordnance Survey Integrated Transport Network (ITN) layer – the latter has been used by Ricardo to
develop the air dispersion model;
Highway link flows (vehicles per hour) at a time-period level for every modelled highway network link;
Bus flows on each link;
Modelled hour to time period factors, which allow for all-day traffic flows to be estimated;
Traffic speeds on each modelled link; and
Link information (number of lanes, single/dual carriageway etc).

The highway network level of detail contained in SEWTM for the Cardiff area is shown in Figure 2.

Page 838

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

5

Figure 2: SEWTM highway network in Cardiff area

Source: Mott MacDonald

3

Preparing the 2021 Reference Case Forecast

The forecast year for this project is 2021, whereas the usual SEWTM forecast years are 2026 and 2036. A
2021 reference case VDM forecast has been prepared to provide a baseline scenario. Air quality measures
have then been tested using this reference case forecast as a starting point.
Demographic Scenario
To enable a 2021 forecast to be carried out, a 2021 demographic scenario was prepared. Demographic inputs
to SEWTM include (but are not limited to):
-

Job and population forecasts for the whole of Great Britain;
Detailed population forecasts for the fully modelled area; and
Income data for the population in the fully modelled area.

The base year data used for SEWTM is derived from the 2011 Census, and a variety of other data sources.
Experian data purchased in 2015 is used to provide growth for detailed demographic inputs at a Local Authority
(LA) level. For the purposes of this project a 2021 baseline demographic scenario has been developed by
interpolating between the 2015 and 2026 scenarios. This data was then adjusted to take account of explicitly
modelled developments (both employment and housing), predominantly in the Cardiff LA. The developments
shown in Table 2 have been explicitly modelled as new point zones with new network access arrangements,
except for Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone, for which the additional population/jobs have been incorporated
into existing model zones.

Page 839

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

6

Table 2: Explicitly modelled strategic developments in SEWTM, 2021
Strategic site

Dwellings

Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone

Adopted
Location

Employment

Housing

645

7206

Century Wharf, Cardiff

1146

-

De Clare Drive, Radyr

M4 Junction 33 (Site D/E)

520

-

De Clare Drive, Radyr

North East Cardiff (Site F)

Plasdwr, North West Cardiff

1006

-

Pontprennau

St Edeyrns, Cardiff

703

-

Pontprennau

Ely Bridge, Cardiff

650

-

Pontprennau

Bay Point, Cardiff

225

-

Glan-Llyn, Newport
1160
1200
Source: Mott MacDonald, based on information provided by Cardiff Council

Demographic

Sample

Century Wharf, Cardiff
Pontprennau

The detailed demographic proportions for each new site (for example the proportion of self-employed workers)
were taken from existing similar developments, as detailed above. Factors were calculated for each model
input to apply to existing zones in the relevant LA, such that the model input totals in the final demographic
scenario were controlled to those in the baseline interpolated scenario (at LA level).
Highway and Public Transport Networks
Highway and Public Transport (PT) networks have been adapted from existing model scenarios. As agreed
with Cardiff Council, the highway networks have had the following schemes coded in addition to the 2015 base
models:
● Cardiff Eastern Bay Link Phase 1;
● M4 Junction 32 Improvements (new through-junction link and traffic signals for M4 westbound to A470
northbound movements);
● M4 Junction 33 Improvements (new left-turn filter lane from M4 westbound off-slip to A4232);
● Removal of Severn Bridge tolls; and
● A4336 Five Mile Lane Road Quality Improvements.
The public transport networks represent the proposed KeolisAmey rail scenario at 2021 for the Core Valley
Lines. This includes:
● A total of 4 trains per hour (tph) from Cardiff to each of Treherbert / Aberdare / Merthyr / Rhymney / Coryton;
● New direct services (2tph) from Treherbert / Aberdare / Merthyr into Cardiff Bay, as part of the 4tph total on
each of these lines; and
● Some Aberdare services routed via the City Line so that the City Line is better connected to the wider rail
network.
Access arrangements for the explicitly modelled development zones have been coded as outlined in Table 3.
.

Page 840

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

7

Table 3: Access Arrangements for Explicitly Modelled Strategic Developments in SEWTM, 2021
Name

Highway Access

Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone

No additional access arrangements, existing zones/access used.

Plasdwr, North West Cardiff

Access split between Llantrisant Road A4119
at the north and Pentrebane Road at the south

M4 Junction 33

North East Cardiff
St Edeyrns, Cardiff

Access via Llantrisant Road A4119 at the
North
Access split between St Mellons Road at the
north and Pentwyn Road by high school at the
south
Access via new arm on existing A4232
roundabout at Pontprennau

Public Transport Access
Doubled frequency of bus
service 122 on the Robin Hill
(Creigiau) – Cardiff section of the
route, to provide a service into
Cardiff every 10 minutes
New bus service, 20km/h, 4
services per direction per hour,
route: University Hospital –
Gabalfa – Llanishen – NE Cardiff
development – Pontprennau
Asda/St. Edeyrns (and reverse)
No additional PT arrangements

Ely Bridge, Cardiff

New access road, Sanatorium Road, which
meets Cowbridge Road West at a signalized
junction to the north-west and Broad Street at
a signalised junction to the south-east

Bay Point, Cardiff

Access via roundabout at Morrisons site

No additional PT arrangements

Access via roundabouts onto A4810

New X74 and X74s bus services
/ bus service extensions

Glan-Llyn, Newport

WebTAG Parameters
The WebTAG databook issued by the Department for Transport (DfT) defines Values of Time (VOT) and
Vehicle Operating Costs (VOC) for use in transport modelling and scheme appraisal. Parameter values are
generally given by year and updates to the databook are released several times annually. As is usual modelling
practice, forecast values have been derived using the base year values available at the time the model was
validated, and applying growth in parameter values from the latest version of the databook. For base year
values the Autumn 2015 version of the databook was used. For forecast parameter growth the May 2018
databook has been used.

Exogenous Demand and Speed Forecasts
SEWTM does not produce growth forecasts for HGVs, LGVs, or external-external car trips passing through
the model area. The representation of growth in such trips in the forecast highway models is based on the DfT
Road Traffic Forecasts (RTF) which provide growth to apply to the 2015 base year trip matrices. The RTF
version used in initial SEWTM forecasting was the 2015 (scenario 1) version. Late on during this model
application the RTF 2018 version of the data (the first issued since 2015) became publicly available. However,
due to time constraints it has not been possible to incorporate the updated forecasts in the modelling.
It is known that the 2018 version of RTF forecasts significantly lower growth in HGV and LGV movements (with
a modest increase in car travel) compared to the 2015 version. As such it is recommended that any further
modelling work on this project incorporates the 2018 version of RTF.
RTF 2015 has also been used to derive changes in fixed link speeds in the external model area.

Page 841

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

4

8

Vehicle Type Split

This section details how the highway matrices have been split into compliant and non-compliant (Euro
Standard engine) categories derived from ANPR data.
Data Source
Cardiff Council arranged for ANPR cameras to be installed temporarily at 12 locations in Cardiff, covering 21
traffic movements, 19 of which are included in the transport model coverage. Over the course of a week in
May 2018, number plates were captured by the cameras and linked to a DVLA database containing various
emission-related vehicle characteristics. A series of checks has been carried out on the ANPR data to check
that it is sensible. Air dispersion modellers at Ricardo processed the data and carried out forecasting and backcasting exercises (for 2015 and 2021) to provide the Euro-emissions class compliant/non-compliant split for
each of the 19 movements, split by vehicle type (HGV, LGV, car).
It was considered whether to implement separate splits for different OD pairs, based upon the ANPR survey
sites they passed through. However, it was found that there was little variation in the proportion of compliant
vehicles between the surveyed movements, particularly for the movements with the highest volumes.
Additionally, it was noted that a significant percentage of OD pair paths passing through one survey site also
passed through another, meaning that this would be practically difficult to implement. For reasons of simplicity
therefore, a volume-weighted average of the proportion of compliant vehicles was taken for each time period
and vehicle class, and all OD pairs were split based upon this proportion. The percentage of compliant vehicles
for each of the time period-vehicle type combinations is shown for 2021 in Table 4. The 2015 results are not
presented in this report since the air dispersion model was calibrated using unsplit transport model data.
Table 4: Proportion of Compliant Vehicles by Time Period and Vehicle Type (2021)
Car

HGV

LGV

AM

74.5%

79.3%

45.7%

IP

74.6%

79.1%

45.3%

PM

74.6%

79.0%

45.6%

OP

73.8%

79.0%

45.3%

Source: ANPR Data

Following vehicle split implementation in the assigned 2021 reference case networks, the same output types,
as provided for the base year models (see Section 2), were provided to Ricardo for air dispersion modelling.

Page 842

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

5

9

Testing Clean Air Strategy Package (CASAP) Measures

This section details the methodologies used to assess the impact of CASAP air quality measures on the
highway network. Given the high-level nature of the study and the associated time and budget constraints,
CASAP measures have been assessed using the highway model only, post-VDM.
The CASAP measures were divided into three packages for testing, CASAP 1, CASAP 2, and CASAP 3, with
CASAP 2 including all of the measures from CASAP 1 along with additional measures, and with CASAP 3
including all of the measures from CASAP 2 and CASAP 1 along with additional measures. The measures
were as follows:
CASAP 1:
1. Active travel packages, covering two areas close to the city centre;
2. Cycling programme to end of 2020; and
3. New 50mph speed limit on A4232 (Culverhouse Cross to Butetown Tunnels).
CASAP 2:
All CASAP 1 measures above plus:
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Westgate Street mid-point closure to general traffic;
East side scheme, reducing through traffic movements on Station Terrace;
A48 St Mellons park and ride;
M4 J33 park and ride; and
Parking charges and controls, affecting vehicles with non-compliant engines.

CASAP 3:
All CASAP 1 and CASAP 2 measures above plus:
9. A470 additional southbound traffic lane; and
10. Nantgarw bus park and ride.
Within each package, the measures were applied in the order listed above. The rest of this section details the
specific measures and the methodology used to model them.
Active Travel Packages
Active travel package measures were modelled using evidence provided by Cardiff Council from a similar
scheme already implemented around the Cathays Terrace area. Based on this evidence the active travel
packages are assumed to lead to a 3.5%-point reduction in car driver mode share for car trips entirely within
each of the two areas shown in Figure 3, with a single reduction factor applied across all trip purposes.
The forecast car driver mode share (without the active travel packages) was extracted from the synthetic
highway matrices (a type of demand model estimate of trip making covering all modes, including walk and
cycle) for the two areas. A reduction factor was then calculated based on the number of car trips that a 3.5%points reduction equates to in each modelled time period. This reduction was applied to the car vehicle trip
matrices for each journey purpose and compliance type.

Page 843

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

10

Figure 3: Active Travel Package Areas

1

2

Source: Mott MacDonald

Reduction factors were applied to area 1 first. OD pairs included in the application for area 1 were then
excluded from the analysis and application of area 2 (to avoid double-counting). Pre-CASAP 1 mode shares
and active travel package reduction factors are shown for areas 1 and 2 in Table 5 and Table 6 respectively.
Table 5: Area 1 Car Driver Mode Share and Reduction Factors
Car
Driver
Share

Mode

Factor Applied

AM

IP

PM

OP

48.9%

60.5%

55.6%

54.1%

0.93

0.94

0.94

0.94

Source: Mott MacDonald

Table 6: Area 2 Car Driver Mode Share and Reduction Factors
Car
Driver
Share

Mode

Factor Applied

AM

IP

PM

OP

46.9%

60.1%

53.6%

53.3%

0.93

0.94

0.93

0.93

Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 844

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

11

Cycling Programme to End of 2020
Similar to the active travel measure areas, a 3.5%-point reduction in the car driver mode share was assumed
for trips entirely within the Heath to city centre corridor, which is to be covered by cycling facility improvements
(shown in Figure 4). OD pairs entirely within the area covered by the previous active travel measures (shown
in grey) were excluded from the analysis to avoid double-counting.
Other cycling programme proposals for the Newport Road and Cardiff Bay corridors were not included
separately in the analysis, as the impact of these is assumed to be covered by the active travel packages.
Figure 4: Cycling Programme Area

Source: Mott MacDonald

Pre-CASAP 1 car driver mode shares and reduction factors are shown for the cycle package in Table 7.
Table 7: Cycle Package Area Car Driver Mode Share and Reduction Factors
Car
Driver
Share

Mode

Factor Applied

AM

IP

PM

OP

50.4%

60.0%

55.7%

54.4%

0.93

0.94

0.94

0.94

Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 845

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

12

New 50mph Speed Limit on A4232 (Culverhouse Cross to Butetown Tunnels)
The section of the A4232 shown in Figure 5, between the A48 at Culverhouse Cross and the Butetown Tunnels,
was changed from a national speed limit link type to a 50mph speed limit link type.
Figure 5: 50mph Section of A4232

Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 846

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

13

Westgate Street Mid-Point Closure to General Traffic
Through-movements were prevented from using Westgate Street by closing the link highlighted in Figure 6.
Access for car trips to all city centre model zones has been maintained, although trips may need to re-route to
avoid the closure.
Figure 6: Closure of Westgate Street

Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 847

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

14

East Side Scheme
The highway network edits presented in Figure 7 were used to prevent through movements using Churchill
Way, whilst allowing use of the affected roads for local access. Where signalised junctions were present,
existing signal timings were maintained to account for bus movements, to which general traffic restrictions are
not expected to apply. Bus movements in the highway model are represented as link and turn preloads only,
and as such the alterations detailed below were applied to all highway assignment classes.
Figure 7: East Side Scheme

Source: Mott MacDonald

Annotations:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Closure of Churchill Way southbound between North Edward Street and Guildford Street.
Closure of Churchill Way northbound at the entry from Bute Terrace.
Station Terrace/Guildford Street set to one-way southbound, south of North Edward Street only.
Mandatory right turn implemented at traffic signals for traffic from Guildford Street.
Bridge Street set to one way eastbound.
Mandatory right turn implemented at traffic signals for traffic from Bridge Street.

Page 848

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

15

A48 St Mellons Park and Ride
The broad methodology for this measure was to identify the car trips with a trip end in Cardiff City Centre which
might switch to park and ride for the final section of their journey. A proportion of these journeys then had one
end of the trip altered to the location of the park and ride site, rather than the city centre. The network coding
implemented to allow access to the new site is shown in Figure 8. Inbound and outbound access was allowed
from A48 by way of a new roundabout junction. Inbound-only access was allowed from the A48(M) westbound.
Figure 8: A48 Park and Ride Network Coding

Source: Mott MacDonald

Evidence indicates that the Cardiff East park and ride site removes approximately 3% of inbound car trips on
A48 Eastern Avenue during the AM peak hour. It was therefore assumed that, due to the time advantage that
would be afforded by new bus lanes along the A48 Eastern Avenue (but to avoid double counting with the
existing Cardiff East site), an additional park and ride would remove a further 2% of inbound flow on the A48(M)
/ A48 during the AM peak period.
All AM peak car trips with an origin in the park and ride catchment area (see Figure 9) and a destination in the
park and ride bus route corridor (see Figure 10) were identified as ‘in scope’ trips, the OD pair was reversed
for the PM peak hour.

Page 849

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

16

Figure 9: Origin Scope Area for A48 St Mellons Park and Ride

Source: Mott MacDonald

N.B. Also included in the catchment area but not shown are the Welsh unitary authorities of Denbighshire,
Flintshire, and Wrexham, all of England, and all of Scotland.
Figure 10: Destination Scope Area for A48 St Mellons Park and Ride

Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 850

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

17

The number of trips identified as ‘in scope’ are shown by journey purpose and vehicle emissions class in Table
8. A total of approximately 83 ‘in scope’ trips have been identified in the AM peak hour.
Table 8: A48 Park & Ride Peak Hour ‘in scope’ Trips Extracted from 2021 Highway Network Models
Journey Purpose

Vehicle Emission Compliance Category

Business

In Scope Trips
AM

PM
4.0

Compliant

6.1

Non-compliant

2.1

1.4

Compliant

46.7

26.0

Non-compliant

15.9

8.9

Compliant

8.9

18.8

Commute
Other

Non-compliant
TOTAL

3.1

6.4

82.8

65.5

Source: Mott MacDonald

The number of vehicles passing the location of the park and ride site in the inbound direction on the A48(M)
and A48 were extracted from the 2021 AM peak hour highway network, as shown in Table 9. A total of 2% of
the AM peak hour link flows on the A48 and A48(M) were assumed to switch to park and ride, with the absolute
number reversed for the PM peak, applied proportionally across the ‘in scope’ trip OD pairs. This amounted to
60.4% of the AM ‘in scope’ trips and 76.4% of the PM ‘in scope’ trips. For the AM peak the destination of these
trips was set to the park and ride site location. Conversely, for the PM peak the origin of these trips was set to
the park and ride site location.
Table 9: AM Peak Hour Link Flows for A48(M) + A48 Extracted from Highway Network Models
Journey Purpose

Vehicle Emission Compliance Category

A48(M) + A48 Link Flow

Compliant

174.4

Business

Non-compliant

60.3

Compliant

1286.9

Non-compliant

439.2

Commute
Other

Compliant

401.5

Non-compliant

138.0

TOTAL

2500.3

2% OF TOTAL – use new P&R site

50.0

Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 851

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

18

M4 J33 Park and Ride
A similar modelling approach to the A48 park and ride site was followed for the new M4 J33 site. The network
coding implemented to allow access to this location is shown in Figure 11. Access is possible from both M4
J33 and the A4119. Through-movements via the park and ride site are not allowed.
Figure 11: M4 J33 Park and Ride Network Coding

Source: Mott MacDonald

The M4 J33 site car park is expected to have a capacity of 1000 vehicles. It was assumed that in the early
years of operation (such as 2021) approximately a third of spaces (330) would be occupied by the end of the
AM peak period, equating to approximately 150 cars arriving during the AM peak hour.
All AM peak car trips with an origin in the park and ride catchment area (see Figure 12) and a destination in
the park and ride bus route corridor (see Figure 13) were identified as ‘in scope’ trips, the OD pair was reversed
for the PM peak hour.

Page 852

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

19

Figure 12: Origin Scope Area for M4 J33 Park and Ride

Source: Mott MacDonald

N.B. Also included in the catchment area but not shown are the Welsh unitary authorities of Carmarthenshire,
Ceredigion, and Pembrokeshire.
Figure 13: Destination Scope Area for M4 J33 Park and Ride

Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 853

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

20

The number of trips identified as ‘in scope’ are shown by journey purpose and vehicle emissions class in Table
10. A total of approximately 245 trips were identified as ‘in-scope’ in the AM peak hour.
Table 10: M4 J33 Park & Ride Peak Hour ‘in scope’ Trips Extracted from 2021 Highway Network Models
Journey Purpose

Vehicle Emission Compliance Category

In Scope Trips
AM

Business
Commute
Other

Compliant

42.4

29.0

Non-compliant

14.6

10.1

Compliant

115.4

87.7

Non-compliant

39.4

29.9

Compliant

24.8

68.3

Non-compliant
TOTAL

PM

8.5

23.2

245.0

248.2

Source: Mott MacDonald

The switch to park and ride of 150 vehicles was applied proportionally across the ‘in scope’ trips OD pairs in
both the AM peak hour and PM peak hour. This amounted to 61.2% of the AM ‘in scope’ trips and 60.4% of
the PM ‘in scope’ trips. For the AM peak the destination of these trips was set to the park and ride site location.
Conversely, for the PM peak the origin of these trips was set to the park and ride site location.
Parking Charges and Controls
It was assumed that the parking charges and controls would take the form of an additional £5 per day levy for
Council-owned/managed on-street and off-street spaces in Cardiff city centre, applicable to non-compliant
vehicles only. The model zones containing car parking spaces for which an additional levy would apply are
shown in Figure 14.

Page 854

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

21

Figure 14: Zones Containing Council Car Parking Spaces in Cardiff city centre

B
D

E
A

C

Source: Mott MacDonald/Cardiff City Council

UK government Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) guidance on option appraisal provides estimates of the effect on
trip making of implementing charging zones for non-compliant vehicles. These estimates are developed from
stated preference surveys and assume a £12.50 per day charge.
For the Cardiff parking charge assessment, it is assumed that the effect of additional parking charges would
be analogous with clean air zone charging evidence, with the exception of trips avoiding the clean air zone
which, for parking charges in Cardiff, are assumed to find alternative parking locally. It is also assumed that
(for any daily charges less than £12.50) the proportion of drivers altering their trip making in a given manner is
linearly related to cost. At this stage the effect of different income levels in South East Wales has not been
considered. The assumed responses of drivers affected by the charge are shown in Table 11.
Table 11: Driver Response for Affected Vehicles
User Choice

Replace Vehicle

Cancel Trip

Change Mode

Avoid Zone

Pay Charge

£12.50 Charge

22.0%

16.0%

23.0%

23.0%

16.0%

£5.00
Charge
(Calculated)

8.8%

6.4%

9.2%

9.2%

66.4%

RELEVANT
TOTALS
FOR
MODELLING

Trips to be switched to
compliant vehicles matrix

Trips to be removed from highway
matrices

Trips unaltered by measure

8.8%

6.4% + 9.2% = 15.6%

9.2% + 66.4% = 75.6%

Source: JAQU Guidance/Mott MacDonald

Data provided by Cardiff Council was used to identify the number of AM peak hour ‘parking events’ taking
place in Council-owned or managed spaces in each relevant zone. The zones were then grouped
geographically (labelled A-E in Figure 14) to ensure that the number of observed peak hour parking events

Page 855

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

22

was proportionate to the number of trips with a destination in that group of zones. The number of AM noncompliant peak hour car trips to each zone that would use spaces affected by additional parking charges,
assuming non-compliant and compliant vehicles use affected spaces proportionally, was calculated, as shown
in Table 12. Consequently, the proportion of overall car trips to grouped zones affected in a given manner is
shown in Table 13.
Table 12: Assumed Parking Events by Compliance Category
Grouped Zones

Group

A

B

C

D

E

Zone IDs

198, 581

328, 526,
563, 680,
682, 683

330, 578

402, 524
555

411, 602

Compliant

920.7

1515.0

396.3

736.0

153.3

Non-Compliant

315.1

518.3

135.6

251.8

52.4

Total

125

731

176

247

136

Compliant

93.1

544.7

131.1

184.04

101.34

Non-Compliant

31.9

186.4

44.9

63.0

34.7

Peak Hour Trips to Grouped Zone
Peak Hour Parking Events
(Source: Cardiff Council)
Source: Cardiff City Council/Mott MacDonald

Table 13: Percentage of Trips Affected by Zone Group
Change

Group

Trips to be switched to compliant vehicles
Trips to be removed from matrices
Trips unaltered by additional measures

A

B

C

D

E

0.9%

3.2%

2.9%

2.2%

5.8%

1.6%

5.6%

5.2%

3.9%

10.3%

97.5%

91.2%

91.9%

93.9%

83.9%

Source: Mott MacDonald

The trips switching to an alternative mode or not travelling were then removed from the non-compliant matrix,
whereas the trips switching to using compliant vehicles were reallocated from the non-compliant to the
compliant matrix.
The process was carried out for the PM matrices using the same percentage shifts as shown above and
reversing OD pairs such that the locations shown in Figure 8.1 are taken as the origin zones. The consequent
matrix total changes are shown in Table 14.

Page 856

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

23

Table 14: Changes in OD Matrix Totals due to Parking Charges
Matrix
AM

Business
Commute
Other

PM

Business
Commute
Other

Compliant

Pre-Charge
Implementation

Post-Charge
Implementation

Percentage
Change

12300.4

12304.1

0.03%
-0.24%

Non-Compliant

4252.4

4242.2

Compliant

67992.3

68009.3

0.02%

Non-Compliant

23211.3

23164.3

-0.20%

Compliant

53883.0

53894.1

0.02%

Non-Compliant

18433.5

18402.7

-0.17%

Compliant

7311.2

7312.8

0.02%
-0.17%

Non-Compliant

2556.8

2552.3

Compliant

48593.6

48603.6

0.02%

Non-Compliant

16562.7

16535.0

-0.17%

Compliant

88210.2

88228.1

0.02%

Non-Compliant

29970.7

29921.2

-0.17%

Source: Mott MacDonald

A470 Additional Southbound Traffic Lane
Given the strategic nature of the model, the specific traffic issues with respect to weaving are not represented
in this location. A pragmatic approach has been taken towards the modelling of the extra Southbound traffic
lane, and the capacity restriction at the southbound merge node (which contributes delay as the road is
reduced from 3 to 2 lanes) south of the junction with the A468, as shown in Figure 15, has been removed.
Figure 15: Southbound Merge Node Removed on A470

Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 857

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

24

Nantgarw Bus Park and Ride
The broad methodology for this measure was to identify the car trips with a trip end in Cardiff City Centre (along
a narrow strip of zones centred on the A470 south of the junction with the A48 – Mynachdy Park) which might
switch to park and ride for the final section of their journey. A proportion of these journeys then had one end
of the trip altered to the location of the park and ride site, rather than the city centre. The network coding
implemented to allow access to the new site with the intended layout and connector location is shown in Figure
16.
Figure 16: Nantgarw Bus Park and Ride Network Coding

Source: Mott MacDonald

The new car park site is expected to have capacity of 1000 vehicles. It was assumed that in the early years of
operation (such as 2021) approximately a quarter of spaces (250) would be occupied by the end of the AM
peak period, equating to approximately 114 cars arriving during the AM peak hour.
All AM peak car trips with an origin in the park and ride catchment area (see Figure 17) and a destination in
the park and ride bus route corridor (see Figure 18) were identified as ‘in scope’ trips, the OD pair was reversed
for the PM peak hour.

Page 858

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

25

Figure 17: Origin Scope Area for Nantgarw Bus Park and Ride

Source: Mott MacDonald

N.B. Also included in the catchment area but not shown are the Welsh unitary authorities of Conwy, Gwynedd,
Isle of Anglesey, and Powys.

Page 859

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

26

Figure 18: Destination Scope Area for Nantgarw Bus Park and Ride

Source: Mott MacDonald

The number of trips identified as ‘in scope’ are shown by journey purpose and vehicle emissions class in Table
15. A total of approximately 227 trips were identified as ‘in-scope’ in the AM peak hour.
Table 15: M4 J33 Park & Ride Peak Hour ‘in scope’ Trips from 2021 Highway Network Models
Journey Purpose

Vehicle Emission Compliance Category

Business

Compliant

Commute
Other
TOTAL
Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 860

In Scope Trips
AM

PM

24.0

10.5

Non-compliant

8.1

3.6

Compliant

119.6

66.9

Non-compliant

39.9

22.3

Compliant

26.8

55.5

Non-compliant

8.9

18.4

227.3

177.2

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

27

The switch to park and ride of 114 vehicles was applied proportionally across the ‘in scope’ trips OD pairs in
both the AM peak hour and PM peak hour. This amounted to 50.0% of the AM ‘in scope’ trips and 64.2% of
the PM ‘in scope’ trips. For the AM peak the destination of these trips was set to the park and ride site location.
Conversely, for the PM peak the origin of these trips was set to the park and ride site location.

6

Car-Based Clean Air Zone

This section details the methodology used to assess the impact of the car-based CAZ on the highway network.
Given the high-level nature of the study and the associated time and budget constraints, this assessment has
been undertaken by making adjustments to the highway demand matrices and networks, post-VDM.
Two scenarios were modelled whereby the CAZ charge was assumed to be a £10 or £5 per day levy,
applicable to non-compliant cars only. The CAZ boundary is shown below in Figure 19.
JAQU guidance on option appraisal provides estimates of the effect on trip making of implementing charging
zones for non-compliant vehicles. These estimates are developed from stated preference surveys on the
London Ultra Low Emission Zone and assume a £12.50 per day charge.
For the car-based CAZ assessment, it has been assumed that the response of travellers beginning or ending
their trips in the CAZ is analogous to the responses in this evidence, except for trips avoiding the clean air
zone which are assumed to find alternative parking locally (note that this methodology assumes spaces are
available). This is because the stated preference surveys upon which the JAQU evidence is based were
specific to a much larger clean air zone, and in the modelled situation travellers are much more likely to park
nearby and continue by foot to their ultimate destination. It is also assumed that (for any daily charges less
than £12.50) the proportion of drivers altering their trip making in a given manner is linearly related to cost. At
this stage the effect of different income levels in South East Wales has not been considered. For trips which
pass through the CAZ, but do not have an origin or destination location within it, tolls have been coded directly
onto links entering the zone and the response is calculated by the highway assignment algorithms. This is
because it is much easier for drivers to avoid the smaller Cardiff CAZ in comparison to the CAZ presented in
the stated preference survey used for JAQU evidence.
The responses to the implementation of a charge from non-compliant vehicles with a trip end in the CAZ were
assumed as shown in Table 16, as per JAQU guidance. The required manipulation applied to highway matrices
is also shown.
Table 16: Response of Non-Compliant vehicle users to the imposed charge, as per JAQU guidance
Required Matrix Manipulation

Move from Non-Compliant to Compliant
Remove from Non-Compliant

Response
Type

Response at
£12.50

Replace
Vehicle

64.0%

Linearly Interpolated
Response
At £10.00

At £5.00

51.2%

25.6%

Cancel Trip

7.0%

5.6%

2.8%

Change Mode

11.0%

8.8%

4.4%

Alter Trip End Zone for Non-Compliant

Avoid Zone

11.0%

8.8%

4.4%

Leave Unchanged

Pay Charge

7.0%

25.6%

62.8%

Source: JAQU Guidance/Mott MacDonald

Page 861

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

28

The matrix manipulation was undertaken as a four-stage process:
1. Move trips from Non-Compliant to Compliant (affects both compliant and non-compliant matrices)
2. Remove trips from Non-Compliant (affects non-compliant matrices only)
3. Change Non-Compliant destination zones for inbound trips
4. Change Non-Compliant origin zones for outbound trips
Following stage 2, the matrix totals remain unchanged throughout the remainder of the process. The overall
change to the number of trips is shown below in Table 17.
Table 17: Total change in ‘in scope’ trips by time-period and by charge value
User Class

Vehicle Class

£10 Matrix Total Response (veh)
AM

Car Business

IP

OP

PM

£5 Matrix Total Response (veh)
AM

IP

OP

PM

Compliant

85.32

51.48

15.58

43.06

42.66

25.74

7.79

21.53

Non-Compliant

-109.32

-65.95

-19.96

-55.18

-54.66

-32.98

-9.98

-27.59

Compliant

307.32

73.88

22.38

222.40

153.66

36.94

11.19

111.20

Non-Compliant

-393.75

-94.66

-28.68

-284.95

-196.88

-47.33

-14.34

-142.48

Compliant

280.19

490.63

149.90

472.54

140.09

245.32

74.95

236.27

Non-Compliant

-358.99

-628.63

-192.06

-605.44

-179.49

-314.31

-96.03

-302.72

-189.23

-173.25

-52.84

-207.56

-94.62

-86.62

-26.42

-103.78

Car Commute
Car Other
TOTAL
Source: Mott MacDonald

To implement steps 3 and 4, analysis of the routes taken to and from the network zones matching most closely
with the CAZ (shown below in Figure 19 in grey) was undertaken for the AM time period. This analysis was
used to inform the creation of three sectors (henceforth referred to as North, South, and West (partially shown
below as red, green, and blue respectively) and corresponding to the alternate trip-end network zones shown
in Figure 20.
Figure 19: Clean Air Zone (yellow dashed territory) overlaid over defined sectors

Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 862

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

29

Figure 20: Identified external parking zones close to the clean air zone, coloured by sector

Source: Mott MacDonald

Car park location data was examined, and the above eight zones were identified as nearby parking zones
where people may choose to park and walk into the Clean Air Zone. The trip redistribution for each of the three
sectors was carried out proportionally to the total number of council owned / managed spaces in each of the
above zones (as shown by yellow bars).
Table 18: Proportion of inbound / outbound trips from and to each sector to be rerouted to each zone
Sector
North

South
West

Zone Number

Parking Zone Considerations

402

Spaces

Proportion

50

2.05%

555

204

8.36%

680

1094

44.84%

682

1092

44.75%

581

795

25.85%

607

2280

74.15%

438

220

30.47%

563

502

69.53%

TOTAL

6237

Source: Mott MacDonald

Page 863

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

30

ANPR Analysis and Application of Tolls
As noted above, tolls were applied on links entering the CAZ to account for through-trips. Since through-traffic
may enter the CAZ multiple times in a single day (the period over which the charge is applicable), it was
necessary to apply a reduction factor to the applied toll so that the effect of rerouting is not overestimated.
Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) data produced by Tracsis plc on behalf of Ricardo was analysed.
Consideration was not made towards separating taxis from cars or treating travel purposes independently, and
the only ANPR site close to the clean air zone is located at Westgate Street, shown below:
Figure 21: Location of counts for relevant ANPR data

ANPR Location

– SEWTM Modelled Links
Source: Mott MacDonald

ANPR data from Fridays and weekends was excluded, and as such, the days shown in Table 19 were
considered. The average number of daily through-trips in either direction for a vehicle passing the site is also
displayed.
Table 19: Weighted mean toll reduction factor from ANPR data on Westgate Street
Weekday

Weekday Mean

Date

Date Mean

Tuesday

1.94

08/05/2018

1.94

Wednesday

2.09

Thursday

2.06

WEIGHTED MEAN

2.03

02/05/2018

2.18

09/05/2018

2.00

03/05/2018

2.06

Source: Mott MacDonald

The application of this reduction factor corresponds to an applied toll of £2.46 or £4.92 instead of £5.00 or
£10.00 respectively. The links to which the above tolls were applied are identified as the inbound links to the
clean air zone only, shown in red below in Figure 22.

Page 864

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

31

Figure 22: SEWTM links to which tolls are applied in relation to the boundary of the CAZ

Location of relevant ANPR data

Source: Mott MacDonald

7

Goods Vehicle-Based Clean Air Zone

This section details the methodology used to assess the impact of the goods vehicle-based CAZ on the
highway network. Given the high-level nature of the study and the associated time and budget constraints, this
assessment has been undertaken by adjusting the highway demand matrices and networks, post-VDM.
The CAZ charge was assumed to be a £10 or £50 per day levy for LGVs and HGVs respectively, applicable
to non-compliant vehicles only. The same boundary as for the car-based CAZ was assumed.
JAQU guidance on option appraisal provides estimates of the effect on trip making of implementing charging
zones for non-compliant vehicles, including LGVs and HGVs. These estimates are developed from stated
preference surveys on the London Ultra-Low Emission Zone and assume a £12.50 per day charge or £100
per day charge for LGVs and HGVs respectively.
The interpretation of the JAQU guidance was the same for goods vehicles as for cars, with the exceptions that
the JAQU-specified vehicle kilometres response was used rather than the vehicle response (due to the nature
of the way that goods vehicles operate) and that goods vehicles which avoided the zone were removed from
the matrices and their goods assumed to be incorporated into other deliveries.
The responses to the implementation of a charge from non-compliant vehicles with a trip end in the CAZ were
assumed as shown in Table 20, as per JAQU guidance. The required manipulation applied to highway matrices
is also shown.

Page 865

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

32

Table 20: Non-Compliant goods vehicle (GV) response to the imposed charges, as per JAQU guidance
Required Matrix Manipulation

Response
Type

Move from GV Non-Compliant to GV Compliant
Remove from GV Non-Compliant
Move from LGV Non-Compliant to Car Other
Leave Unchanged

LGV
Response at
£12.50

HGV
Response at
£100.00

Linearly
Interpolated
Response
LGV at
£10.00

HGV at
£50.00

Replace
Vehicle

64.0%

83.0%

51.2%

41.5%

Cancel Trip

6.0%

4.0%

4.8%

2.0%

Avoid Zone

8.0%

4.0%

6.4%

2.0%

Change
Mode

2.0%

0.0%

1.6%

0.0%

Pay Charge

20.0%

9.0%

36.0%

54.5%

Source: JAQU Guidance/Mott MacDonald

The matrix manipulation was undertaken as a three-stage process:
1. Move trips from Non-Compliant to Compliant (affects both compliant and non-compliant matrices)
2. Move trips from Non-Compliant LGVs to Car Other (compliant and non-compliant proportionally)
3. Remove trips from Non-Compliant (affects non-compliant matrices only)
After this process the following overall change to the number of trips is noted in Table 21.
Table 21: Total change in ‘in scope’ trips by time-period and by charge value
User Class

Vehicle Class

Time-Period
AM

Car Other
HGV
LGV

IP

OP

PM

Compliant

2.71

2.93

0.85

2.50

Non-Compliant

0.93

0.99

0.30

0.85

Compliant

15.68

13.31

3.94

8.66

Non-Compliant

-17.20

-14.60

-4.32

-9.49

Compliant

116.25

125.45

36.77

107.38

Non-Compliant

-145.32

-156.81

-45.96

-134.22

-26.94

-28.73

-8.42

-24.32

TOTAL
Source: Mott MacDonald

ANPR Analysis and Application of Tolls
As noted above, tolls were applied on links entering the CAZ to account for through-trips. Since goods vehicles
may enter the CAZ multiple times in a single day (the period over which the charge is applicable), it was
necessary to apply a reduction factor to the applied toll so that the effect of rerouting is not overestimated.
Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) data produced by Tracsis plc on behalf of Ricardo was analysed.
The only site close to the clean air zone is located on Westgate Street, as shown in the previous section.
ANPR data from Fridays and weekends was excluded, and as such, the following days were considered, with
the average number of daily returns in either direction per passing vehicle also displayed.

Page 866

Mott MacDonald
Cardiff Clean Air Feasibility Study – Transport Modelling Technical Approach

33

Table 22: Weighted mean toll reduction factor from ANPR data on Westgate Street
Weekday

HGVs
Weekday Mean

Date

Date Mean

LGVs
Weekday Mean

Date

Date Mean

Tuesday

1.74

08/05/2018

1.74

1.57

08/05/2018

1.57

Wednesday

1.60

02/05/2018

1.65

1.65

02/05/2018

1.65

09/05/2018

1.55

09/05/2018

1.64

Thursday

1.74

03/05/2018

1.71

1.57

03/05/2018

1.61

WEIGHTED MEAN

1.68

1.61

COST PER VEHICLE

£50.00

£10.00

FACTORED COST

£29.73

£6.22

Source: Mott MacDonald

The tolls were applied to the same links as those for the car-based CAZ.

Page 867

This page is intentionally left blank

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan for Cardiff

March 2019

Page 869

TABLE OF CONTENTS
CHAPTER 1- THE NEED FOR A CLEAN AIR STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN

1

CHAPTER 2- BACKGROUND TO AIR QUALITY ISSUES

8

2.1 PUBLIC HEALTH IMPACTS
2.2 AIR QUALITY POLICY AND LEGISLATION
2.2.1 UK AIR QUALITY STRATEGY AND LAQM
2.2.2 EUROPEAN AIR QUALITY DIRECTIVES
2.2.3 AIR QUALITY OBJECTIVES AND LIMIT VALUES
2.3 AIR QUALITY IN CARDIFF
2.3.1 MONITORING
2.3.2 AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT AREAS
2.3.3 AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN
2.3.4 LOCAL AIR QUALITY TARGETS
2.3.5 SOURCE APPORTIONMENT
2.3.6 AIR POLLUTION AND AREAS OF DEPRIVATION
2.3.7 CLEAN AIR ZONES
2.4 LOCAL ISSUES IMPACTING ON IMPROVING AIR QUALITY

8
10
10
11
11
12
12
12
13
14
15
16
16
15

CHAPTER 3 PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL

16

3.1 PROSPERITY FOR ALL
3.2 WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015
3.2.1 CARDIFF WELL-BEING PLAN 2018-2023
3.3 PLANNING POLICY WALES
3.4 CARDIFF’S LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2006-2026
3.5 SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE (SPG)
3.5.1 PLANNING OBLIGATIONS SPG (JANUARY 2017)
3.5.2 MANAGING TRANSPORTATION IMPACTS (INCORPORATING PARKING STANDARDS) SPG
3.5.3 CARDIFF GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE SPG
3.5.4 PLANNING FOR HEALTH AND WELL-BEING SPG
3.5.5 PLANNING GUIDANCE FOR THE PROVISION OF ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POINTS
3.6 DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIONS
3.6.1 PLANNING CONDITIONS AND PLANNING OBLIGATIONS

16
16
18
18
19
21
21
22
22
24
24
24
25

CHAPTER 4 TRANSPORT MANAGEMENT AND ACTIVE TRAVEL

26

4.1 TRANSPORT STRATEGY
4.1.1 LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN
4.2 CAPITAL CITY REGIONAL DEAL
4.3 ACTIVE TRAVEL (WALES) ACT 2013
4.4 CYCLING STRATEGY AND INTEGRATED NETWORK MAP
4.5 NEXTBIKE SCHEME

26
26
27
27
27
28
Page | i

Page 870

4.6 SCHOOL ACTIVE TRAVEL PLANS
4.7 CITY CENTRE TRANSPORT IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS
4.7.1 REDUCING CONGESTION
4.8 CAR CLUBS
4.9 20 MPH ZONES
4.10 EV INFRASTRUCTURE
4.11 LOW EMISSIONS TRANSPORT STRATEGY
4.11.1 ON STREET RESIDENTIAL CHARGING POINTS
4.11.2 ELECTRIC CHARGING POINTS AT COUNCIL FACILITIES
4.12 FREIGHT AND COMMERCIAL TRANSPORTATION

28
29
29
29
29
30
30
30
31
31

CHAPTER 5 PUBLIC TRANSPORT

32

5.1 BUSES
5.1.1 CLEANING THE BUS FLEET
5.2 CARDIFF CAPITAL REGIONAL METRO
5.3 BUS TRAVEL TO SCHOOLS
5.4 TRAINS

32
33
35
35
36

CHAPTER 6 ADDITIONAL REGULATORY MEASURES

37

6.1 CLEAN AIR ZONES
6.2 URBAN GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE
6.3 TAXI LICENSING
6.3.1 BACKGROUND
6.3.2 CROSS BORDER ISSUES
6.3.3 WELSH GOVERNMENT TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE LICENSING IN WALES CONSULTATION 2017
6.3.4 PROPOSALS
6.4 VEHICLE IDLING CHARGES
6.5 REVIEW OF CAR PARKING CHARGES AND RESIDENTIAL PERMITTING CHARGES

37
39
41
41
41
42
42
43
44

CHAPTER 7 INFLUENCE AND DELIVER TRANSPORT BEHAVIOURAL CHANGE

45

7.1 COMMUNICATIONS
7.1.1 CAR-FREE DAY
7.2 COLLABORATION WITH OTHER STAKEHOLDERS
7.2.1 PROPOSALS

45
45
47
47

CHAPTER 8 ASSESSMENT OF ACTIONS TO DELIVER STRATEGIC MEASURES

48

8.1 SUMMARY OF ACTIONS
8.2 DELIVERING LEGAL COMPLIANCE
8.3 ASSESSMENT OF MEASURES
8.4 STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
8.4.1 CONSULTATION ON THE GREEN PAPER ON TRANSPORT AND CLEAN AIR

48
48
49
71
71
Page | ii

Page 871

8.5 SHORTLIST OF LOCAL MEASURES
8.5.1 ENHANCE LOCAL PLANNING POLICY
8.5.2 ENHANCE CARDIFF’S TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM
8.5.3 INCREASE THE UPTAKE OF SUSTAINABLE AND ACTIVE TRAVEL
8.5.4 RENEWABLE FUELS STRATEGY AND IMPROVE EV/ 0EV INFRASTRUCTURE
8.5.5 REGULATORY INTERVENTIONS
8.5.6 PUBLIC INFORMATION AND BEHAVIOUR CHANGE INITIATIVES
8.6 TIMELINE FOR DELIVERY OF ASSESSMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF PREFERRED MEASURES

71
72
72
73
73
73
73
74

CHAPTER 9 PERFORMANCE MONITORING AND MEASUREMENT

75

List of Tables
Table 1- Composition of Cardiff's Vehicle Fleets ..................................................................................................... 2
Table 2- UK and EU Air Quality Objectives for NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 .................................................................... 11
Table 3- Five year dataset for monitored annual average NO2 levels at residential facades. .............................. 14
Table 4- Council Expectations on the Provision of EV Charging Points ................................................................. 24
Table 5- Euro Standards of Cardiff Bus ................................................................................................................. 34
Table 6- Cardiff Bus Fleet Hourly Breakdown on Westgate Street ....................................................................... 34
Table 7- Cardiff Bus fleet with ULEB funding (2021) ............................................................................................. 35
Table 8- Qualitative Assessment Tool for Assessing Actions ................................................................................ 50
Table 9- Qualitative Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures .......................................................... 59

List of Figures
Figure 1- 2017 Monitored NO2 Results and Existing AQMAs in Cardiff ................................................................. 4
Figure 2- Updated Baseline NO2 PCM Modelling Results Identifying Exceeding Road Links in Cardiff 2015 .......... 5
Figure 3- NOx Emission % Source Apportionment, JAQU ........................................................................................ 6
Figure 4- Effects of Poor Air Quality in Terms of Population Affected and Severity ............................................... 9
Figure 5- AQMA NO2 Source Apportionment Assessments ................................................................................... 15
Figure 6- Cardiff NO2 Data 2016 and 2014 WIMD Health Data for Cardiff .......................................................... 13
Figure 7- The Well- being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Matrix .......................................................... 17
Figure 8- Integrated Network Map ....................................................................................................................... 28
Figure 9- NO2 Source Apportionment (Westgate Street) ...................................................................................... 33
Figure 10 ............................................................................................................................................................... 40
Figure 11 ............................................................................................................................................................... 40
Figure 12 ............................................................................................................................................................... 40
Figure 13- Proposed Timeline to Develop and Implement Measures to Achieve Compliance for NO 2 ................. 74

Page | iii

Page 872

Chapter 1- The Need for a Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan
Clean air is essential for a good quality of life, and poor air quality is considered the largest
environmental risk to public health in the UK.1 It has been reported that air pollution problems
persist in Wales and pose significant public health risks.2 The evidence linking poor health
outcomes with exposure, even low pollutant concentrations, only continues to strengthen. It
is therefore plausible that everyone is affected by air pollution to some extent.3 In the UK, in
the context of air quality management, the main air pollutants which are the primary public
health concern, are particulate matter, and nitrogen dioxide (NO2), and the principle source
of these pollutants is from road transport emissions.4
It has been published that air quality has significantly improved in the UK over the past years.5
Defra states “Total UK emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOx) fell by almost 70% between 1970
and 2015 and by over 19% between 2010 and 2015.” In Wales, the most widely exceeded limit
value is the annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentration (40µg/m3).
Despite these somewhat improved levels, there are around 40 Air Quality Management Areas
(AQMAs) declared by Local Authorities in Wales. Very few AQMAs have been revoked and
those persons living and working within these defined areas are susceptible to high
concentrations of air pollutants than elsewhere. Welsh Government (WG) explain that from a
public health perspective there is no defined ‘safe’ level of exposure, and the national air
quality objectives used to identify AQMAs should not be seen as ‘safe’ levels. Air pollution can
cause adverse effects on health and quality of life at lower exposures, depending on the
circumstances of the exposed individual. As a consequence, the majority of the avoidable
health burden associated with air pollution in Wales is the result of population exposures
outside AQMAs.
High on the agenda for UK Government is to tackle air pollution and protect the health and
well-being of the UK population.5
A multi-sectorial approach is needed to develop and effectively implement long term policies
and strategies that reduce risks of air pollution to health (WHO Regional Office for Europe
2013). This approach is supported across Wales through the Well-being of Future Generations
(Wales) Act 20156 (National Assembly for Wales 2015), that includes goals to achieve a
healthier Wales, that is more globally responsible and equal, through thinking more about the
long-term, looking to prevent problems and taking a more joined-up approach. Many of the
actions required to address air quality will have additional benefits to health and well-being
by increasing levels of physical activity, improving mental well-being, and decreasing social
isolation.

1World

Health Organisation (2017). Evolution of WHO air quality guidelines: past, present and future.

2

Welsh Air Quality Forum (2015). Air pollution in Wales 2015.
Welsh Air Quality Forum (2016). Air pollution in Wales 2016.
4 Brunt, H., Barnes, J., Jones, S., Longhurst, J., Scally, G. and Hayes, E. T. (2017) Air pollution, deprivation and health:
Understanding relationships to add value to local air quality management policy and practice in Wales, UK. Journal of
Public Health, 39 (3). pp. 485-497. ISSN 1741-3842.
5 UK Government (2017). Air Quality plan for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) in the UK (2017).
6 Welsh Government. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
3

Page | 1

Page 873

CC is very aware of the concerns for air quality impacts. CC is committed to achieving levels as
low as reasonably practicable by demonstrating levels beyond the annual objectives set for
pollutants. In order to improve the air quality in Cardiff, action needs to be taken across the
city as a whole and it is acknowledged that road traffic emissions (particulate matter (PM) and
primary/ secondary nitrogen dioxide (NO2)) are the primary contributing factor to poor air
quality in Cardiff.
As outlined by Table 1- Composition of Cardiff's Vehicle Fleets Cardiff’s licensed vehicle
fleet contains a greater percentage of cars than the UK average, although a lower proportion
of those are diesel powered.

Table 1- Composition of Cardiff's Vehicle Fleets
Light
Goods
Vehicles

% Diesel
Vans

Heavy
Goods
Vehicles

Buses and
Coaches

Area

Cars

% Diesel
Cars

Cardiff

88.6%

36.5%

7.3%

96.4%

0.6%

0.5%

UK
Average

82.8%

39.6%

10.1%

96.3%

1.3%

0.4%

WG’S publication; Local Air Quality Management, Policy Guidance, June 2017 recommended
two clear goals:
(1) achieve compliance with the national air quality objectives in specific hotspots; and
(2) reduce exposure to pollution more widely, so as to achieve the greatest public health
benefit.
Collective efforts, therefore, should look beyond targeted action in localised air pollution
hotspots and do this in parallel with universal action to reduce risks for everyone.
Cardiff Council’s (CC) Capital Ambition recognises that Cardiff is one of the UK’s fastest
growing cities, and that it is crucial that this growth is well planned and sustainable. One of
the current administrations top priorities is implementing and sustaining a cohesive transport
system, therefore addressing congestion and improving air quality in Cardiff. In line with the
Capital Ambition report and WG’s guidance, CC’s Clean Air Strategy (CAS) & Action Plan will
help implement and deliver the priorities set out in the Capital Ambition with an overarching
aim to:

Improve Air Quality to Protect and
Improve Public Health in Cardiff

Page | 2

Page 874

As a major base of employment in South Wales, an improvement in air quality in Cardiff will
not only benefit residents of the city but also those persons commuting from the wider region
to the capital.
Actions to address the health impacts of air pollution in Cardiff can play a critical role in
supporting other priorities such as active travel, health inequalities, integrated care,
sustainability, growth and regeneration, localism and community engagement.
Based on monitoring results and further detailed assessments, there are currently four Air
Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) declared across Cardiff which have all been declared due
to exceedances of the annual mean NO2 Air Quality Standard (40ug/m3).
Two AQMAs are primarily focused in Cardiff City Centre: Cardiff City Centre AQMA,
established 01/04/2013 and Stephenson Court AQMA, established 01/12/2010.
North of the City Centre, lies the Llandaff AQMA (established 01/04/2013) and to the west of
Cardiff is the Ely Bridge AQMA (established 01/02/2007).
Figure 1- 2017 Monitored NO2 Results and Existing AQMAs in Cardiff displays the network of
LAQM monitoring across Cardiff as well as highlighting the AQMAs.

Page | 3

Page 875

Figure 1- 2017 Monitored NO2 Results and Existing AQMAs in Cardiff

Page 876
Page | 4

Adding to the works undertaken by CC in accordance with its LAQM obligations, following the
formal publication of Defra’s UK detailed air quality plan to tackle roadside nitrogen dioxide (NO2)
concentrations in July 2017, it was identified from air quality monitoring undertaken by CC and
modelled projections from WG that Cardiff would continue to exceed EU & UK Air Quality
Directive Limit Values for NO2 beyond 2020. Examining a baseline year of 2015 the report detailed
modelled projections from JAQU which showed continued non-compliance of the national annual
average NO2 standard along identified road networks. The roads which have been modelled as
exceeding the annual limit value are the A4161, the A4232, the A4234, the A470 and the A48.
Figure 2 displays the areas of concern;

Figure 2- Updated Baseline NO2 PCM Modelling Results Identifying Exceeding Road
Links in Cardiff 2015

The particularly concerning road links are the A48 & A4232 whereby compliance for the annual
average NO2 is not achieved until beyond 2021.

Figure 3 represents the % NOx source apportionment for NOx pollution on the A48 and A4232
as modelled by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra)/Department for
Transport’s (DfT) Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU). It is clear from this Figure that diesel cars account
for the greatest source of pollution on this major road link in Cardiff.

Page | 5

Page 877

Figure 3- NOx Emission % Source Apportionment, JAQU

As a result of the detail in the UK Plan, and a subsequent High Court ruling, in March 2018,
under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, Section 85(7), WG issued a formal direction to CC
to address its air quality concerns, with particular reference to the specified five road links.
The direction has been governed by the Welsh Minister for Environment who has determined
that the direction deemed necessary to meet obligations placed upon the United Kingdom
under the EU Ambient Air Quality Directive (2008/50/EC).
The Direction specifies that CC must undertake a feasibility study in accordance with the HM
Treasury’s Green Book approach7, to identify the option which will deliver compliance with
legal limits for nitrogen dioxide in the area for which the authority is responsible, in the
shortest possible time.
This study will encapsulate the four AQMAs and strategic road networks in Cardiff, particularly
the five highlighted pieces of road network.
The CAS & Action Plan appoints strategic measures that look to generate a positive impact to
citywide air quality levels, in particular traffic derived NO2 levels. Each measure has endured
a cost benefit appraisal procedure by weighting the measures in terms of air quality impact,
cost and timescale. The key theme of the strategic measures is to increase the uptake of
sustainable modes of transport by influencing a behavioural change in Cardiff.
The strategic measures and assigned via the CAS & Action Plan forms the basis of the directed
feasibility study, whereby results in terms of air quality impacts will be available once the Final
Business Case for the feasibility study is complete.8

7
8

HM Treasury Green Book
Environment Act 1995 (Feasibility Study for Nitrogen Dioxide Compliance) Air Quality Direction 2018, 14 th Feb 2018.

Page | 6

Page 878

In order to achieve improvements in air quality and work towards fulfilling the main aim of
this strategy, strategic measures need to be blanketed across the City via the successful
implementation of defined actions. These strategic measures are listed below;

This document will outline various individual actions to implement these strategic measures
in order to deliver significant improvements to air quality in Cardiff, whilst supporting the
sustainable economic growth of the City and wider region. This will include a review of existing
strategies, policies and plans which either have a direct or indirect impact on air quality in
Cardiff.

Page | 7

Page 879

Chapter 2- Background to Air Quality Issues

2.1

Public Health Impacts

There is clear scientific evidence which shows that air pollution exposure reduces life
expectancy by increasing mortality and morbidity risk from heart disease, and strokes,
respiratory diseases, lung cancer and other conditions9. Public Health Wales have stated that
poor air quality is probably the second greatest health concern after smoking and is the most
significant environmental determinant of health.
In the UK it has been estimated that an equivalent of 29,000 deaths are attributed to long
term exposure to fine particulate air pollution exposure each year and an equivalent of 23,500
deaths are attributed to long term exposure to nitrogen dioxide (NO2) exposure each
year10. There is an overlap between the effects of both pollutants; as such, it has been
estimated that the equivalent of 40,000 deaths occur each year in the UK as a result of
exposure to outdoor pollution11. On average, exposure reduces the life expectancy of every
person in the UK by 7 to 8 months12. It has been estimated that reducing particulate air
pollution by 10 µg/m3 in the UK would extend lifespan by five times more that eliminating
casualties on the roads or three times more that eliminating passive smoking13.
In Wales, based on data for the period 2011-2012, it has been estimated that an equivalent
of 1,604 deaths can be attributed to fine particulate exposure each year, and 1,108 deaths
can be attributed to nitrogen dioxide exposure each year14. Accounting for the pollutant effect
overlap, it is estimated that an equivalent of around 2,000 deaths occur each year in Wales as
a result of exposure to fine particulate and NO2 exposure each year.
A study undertaken in 2014 published by Public Health England estimated that in Cardiff 143
deaths were attributable to exposure to fine particulate air pollution.15 More recent work by
Public Health Wales estimates that there are 225 and 220 attributable deaths per annum to
PM 2.5 and NO2 in the Cardiff and Vale Health Board area16. As Figure 4 demonstrates, these
9

WHO. Review of evidence on health aspects of air pollution-REVIHAAP. 2013. Copenhagen: WHO. From:
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/193108/REVIHAAP-Final-technical-reportfinal- version.pdf ?ua=1
10 Defra. Draft plans to improve air quality in the UK: tackling nitrogen dioxide in our towns and cities. UK overview
document. 2015. London: Defra.
11 Royal College of Physicians and Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (2016). Every breath we take: the lifelong
impact of air pollution. From: https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impactairpollution
12 Defra. The air quality strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland (vol. 1). 2007.
13 Defra (2017) Air Quality: Public Health Directors briefing. From
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/assets/63091defraairqualityguide9web.pdf
14 Brunt., H (2017).
15 Gowers., A. M, Miller., BG, Stedman., JR. Estimating local mortality burdens associated with particulate air pollution.
2014. London: Public Health England
16 C&V deaths NO / PM source needed
2

Page | 8

Page 880

figures are undoubtedly the tip of the iceberg when it comes to the health impact of air
pollution. Taking action to improve air quality is therefore crucial in order to improve the
health of the population in Cardiff.

Figure 4- Effects of Poor Air Quality in Terms of Population Affected and Severity

In 2012, the International Agency for Research on Cancer listed diesel exhaust pollution as a
Class 1 carcinogen and extended this to all ambient air pollution in 2013.
For particulate air pollution and nitrogen dioxide there is no safe level of exposure and any
initiatives to reduce air pollution will have positive health benefits. Welsh Government have
indicated that the national air quality objectives used to identify Air Quality Management
Areas (AQMAs) should not be seen as ‘safe’ levels and impacts are observed below levels
permitted by current legal limits. Air pollution can cause adverse effects on health and quality
of life at lower exposures, depending on the circumstances of the exposed individual. As a
consequence, the majority of the avoidable health burden associated with air pollution in
Wales is the result of population exposures outside AQMAs.
Although air pollution is a public health priority in Wales, its management needs to be a
collaborative approach between public bodies, private companies, third sector partners and
the public, all whom have important roles to play in addressing this pressing issue.
Poor air quality does not only have a significant health impact but it also has a wider societal
cost. Accounting for health service costs and reduced productivity through lost work-days in
the UK this is significant, standing at around £20b every year.17
Widespread air pollution is associated with routine car use for journeys within, into and out
of, Cardiff. Well-designed measures to reduce air pollution will also increase active travel
rates. Reducing reliance on the car as the primary mode of transport will have co-benefits of
increased physical activity, mental well-being, and improved productivity and reduced stress,
and will play a vital role in reducing carbon emissions which contribute to climate change.

17

Royal College of Physicians and Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (2016). Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air
pollution.

Page | 9

Page 881

The Director of Public Health’s Annual Report 2017 highlights how our built environment has
become increasingly shaped around car use over the last 50 years, with journeys made by car
across the UK increasing from 27% to 83% over that period, while journeys made by bus have
fallen from 42% to 5%, and by cycling from 11% to 1%. Over half of adults in our area are
overweight or obese. To help reduce these levels, as well as levels of cardiovascular disease
and type 2 diabetes, we need active travel to become the default for short journeys once
again.
Nearly one in four vulnerable people in our communities report being lonely. A built
environment shaped around cars can create community ‘severance’ where short journeys are
difficult to make by foot or bicycle. This places vulnerable people (including older people and
people with disabilities) who may not have access to car transport at a higher risk of social
isolation and loneliness. Residential roads with high traffic volumes also report less
neighbourliness and sense of community. Measures which reduce the impacts of cars on local
communities may also have a positive impact on social interactions.

2.2

Air Quality Policy and Legislation
The Clean Air Strategy (CAS) and Action Plan looks to address air quality on a city wide basis
and as such it considers both UK air quality objectives for LAQM purposes as well as EU limit
values transcribed into UK legislation.

2.2.1 UK Air Quality Strategy and LAQM
The UK Air Quality Strategy18 identifies nine ambient air pollutants that have the potential to
cause harm to human health. These pollutants are associated with local air quality problems,
with the exception of ozone, which is instead considered to be a regional problem.
The Air Quality (Wales) Regulations and subsequent amendments (National Assembly for
Wales, 2000 and 2002) set objectives for the seven pollutants that are associated with local
air quality. The objectives aim is to reduce the health impacts of those pollutants to negligible
levels in Local Air Quality Management in Wales.
Welsh Ministers have a responsibility to ensure air quality levels in Wales comply with air
quality limit values in accordance with the Air Quality Standards (Wales) Regulations, 2010.
Cardiff Council has a statutory duty under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 & Air Quality
Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland 2007 to manage local air quality.
The Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) process places an obligation on all local authorities
to regularly review and assess air quality in their areas, and to determine whether or not air
quality objectives are likely to be achieved.
The air quality objectives applicable to LAQM in Wales are set out in the Air Quality (Wales)
Regulations 2000, No. 1940 (Wales 138) and Air Quality (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations
2002, No 3182 (Wales 298). Where the air quality reviews indicate that the air quality
objectives may not be met the local authority is required to designate an Air Quality
Management Area (AQMA). Action must then be taken at a local level and outlined in a
specific Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) to ensure that air quality in the identified area
improves.

18

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-air-quality-strategy-for-england-scotland-wales-andnorthern-ireland-volume-1

Page | 10

Page 882

2.2.2 European Air Quality Directives
Air Quality Framework Directive (96/62/EC) on ambient air quality assessment and
management defines the policy framework for 12 air pollutants known to have a harmful
effect on human health and the environment. The limit values for the specific pollutants are
set through a series of Daughter Directives.
European Directive 2008/50/EC consolidates existing air quality legislation (apart from the 4th
Daughter Directive) and provides a new regulatory framework for PM2.5.
The UK Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010 came into force on 11th June 2010, replacing
the previous Air Quality Standards Regulations 2007, and consolidated and transposed into
national legislation the requirements of the European Directives 2008/50/EC and
2004/107/EC – the fourth Daughter Directive.

2.2.3 Air Quality Objectives and Limit Values
The air quality objectives and limit values currently applicable to the UK can be split into two
groups. UK air quality objectives set down in regulations for the purposes of local air quality
management, which are targets, and EU Limit Values transcribed into UK legislation, which
are mandatory.
A summary of the UK Air Quality Objective and EU Limit Values for NO2 and particulate matter
(PM10 and PM2.5) is given in Table 2. Furthermore, the UK has a target to reduce average
concentrations of PM2.5 at urban background concentrations by 2ug/m3before 2020.

Table 2- UK and EU Air Quality Objectives for NO2, PM10 and PM2.5

Pollutant

Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2)

UK Air
Quality
Objectives

Particulate Matter (PM 10)

Particulate Matter (PM 2.5)
Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2)

EU Limit
Values

Particulate Matter (PM 10)

Particulate Matter (PM 2.5)

Standard/
Concentration

Measured As

200ug/m3 not to be
exceeded more than
18 times per annum

1 Hour Mean

Date to be
achieved and
maintained
thereafter
31.12.2005

40ug/m3
50ug/m3 not to be
exceeded more than
35 times per annum

Annual Average
24 Hour Mean

31.12.2005
31.12.2004

40ug/m3
25ug/m3
200ug/m3 not to be
exceeded more than
18 times per annum

Annual Average
Annual Average
1 Hour Mean

31.12.2004
2020
01.01.2010

40ug/m3
50ug/m3 not to be
exceeded more than
35 times per annum

Annual Average
24 Hour Mean

01.01.2010

40ug/m3
25ug/m3

Annual Average
Annual Average

01.01.2010
2015

Page | 11

Page 883

2.3

Air Quality in Cardiff
2.3.1 Monitoring
In line with the CC’s statutory duties under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, Shared
Regulatory Services (SRS) undertakes regular air quality monitoring at specifically allocated
locations across Cardiff using automated and non-automated principles for ambient air
nitrogen dioxide (NO2), particulate matter (PM10 & PM2.5), sulphur dioxide (SO2), carbon
monoxide (CO) and ozone (O3).
Under Section 82 of the Environment Act 1995 every local authority has an obligation to
regularly review and assess air quality in their areas, and to determine whether or not air
quality objectives are likely to be achieved.
Currently there are 72 specifically allocated monitoring locations across Cardiff where
monitoring for annual nitrogen dioxide (NO2) concentrations is undertaken with the use of
passive diffusion tubes. In addition, two automated AURN monitoring stations located on
Frederick Street in the City Centre and Newport Road, Roath provide continuous monitoring
for nitrogen dioxide (NO2), particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5), sulphur dioxide (SO2), carbon
monoxide (CO) and ozone (O3).
With regards to prioritising ambient air quality sampling locations, the Council adopts a risk
based approach to any allocation of monitoring sites, considering the requirements of The
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs’ (Defra) Local Air Quality Management
Technical Guidance 16, February 2018.19 The designated monitoring locations are assigned
based on relevant exposure and where the certain Air Quality Objective levels for a particular
pollutant applies. TG(16) states that annual mean objectives should apply at “All locations
where members of the public might be regularly exposed. Building facades of residential
properties, schools, hospitals, car homes etc.”

2.3.2 Air Quality Management Areas
Where the air quality reviews indicate that the air quality objectives are not being achieved,
or are not likely to be achieved, Section 83 of the 1995 Act requires local authorities to
designate an Air Quality Management Area (‘AQMA’).
Based on monitoring results and further detailed assessments, there are currently four Air
Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) declared across Cardiff which have all been declared due
to exceedances of the annual mean NO2 Air Quality Standard (40ug/m3), known to be derived
from road transport.
Two AQMAs are primarily focused in Cardiff City Centre: Cardiff City Centre AQMA,
established 01/04/2013 and Stephenson Court AQMA, established 01/12/2010.
North of the City Centre, lies the Llandaff AQMA (established 01/04/2013) and to the west of
Cardiff is the Ely Bridge AQMA (established 01/02/2007). Figure 5 details the location of the
AQMAs and provides results of the latest 2016 monitoring results for NO2 monitoring across
Cardiff.

19

Defra. Local Air Quality Management, Technical Guidance (TG16), February 2018.

Page | 12

Page 884

2.3.3 Air Quality Action Plan
Section 84 of the Act ensures that action must then be taken at a local level which is outlined
in a specific Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) to ensure that air quality in the identified area
improves. CC therefore has a statutory requirement to produce an Air Quality Action Plan
(AQAP) for each identified AQMA within the local authority area. After declaring an AQMA the
authority must prepare a DRAFT Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) within 18 months setting out
measures it intends to put in place to improve air quality to at least the air quality objectives,
if not even better. The AQAP must be formally adopted prior to 24 months has elapsed.
AQMA(s) are seen by local authorities as the focal points to channel resources into the most
pressing areas of pollution as a priority.
In the case of Cardiff, implementing individual AQMA action plans has not proven to be
sufficiently successful. The main issue with this particular approach is that the AQAP focuses
on introducing local measures to individual road links/ areas, which only targets at improving
air quality within the identified AQMA itself. Importantly, the absence of an AQMA in parts
of Cardiff does not mean there is no public health problem from air pollution.
Whilst such measures have been successful in improving air quality within the individual
AQMA (High Street/ St Mary’s Street Action Plan) such localised measures can, and have led,
to adverse impacts on air quality in surrounding areas and result in more widespread air
quality issues. These plans have not looked sufficiently at the primary cause of the problem,
this being road traffic derived emissions, resulting in air quality levels being detrimentally
increased in neighbouring areas.
CC recognises action needs to be taken across the city as whole and it is acknowledged that
road traffic emissions (particulate matter (PM) and primary/ secondary nitrogen dioxide
(NO2)) are the primary contributing factor to poor air quality in Cardiff. CC’s Capital Ambition
report recognises that Cardiff is one of the UK’s fastest growing cities, and that it is crucial that
this growth is well planned and sustainable. Reducing the number of car journeys made in the
city, and promoting the use of active and sustainable modes of travel are central to Cardiff
Council’s Transport Strategy and in improving air quality in the
CC recognises that in order to tackle these known pockets of poor air quality, a more suitable
and constructive approach is required to target the whole of Cardiff, improving overall air
quality. With the implementation of correct long term measures, all highlighted road
networks and identified AQMAs should be able to benefit from improved air quality. The
recent Welsh Government guidance on local air quality management recommended two clear
goals:
(1) achieve compliance with the national air quality objectives in specific hotspots; and
(2) reduce exposure to pollution more widely, so as to achieve the greatest public health
benefit.
Collective efforts, therefore, should look beyond targeted action in localised air pollution
hotspots and do this in parallel with universal action to reduce risks for everyone.
It has been highlighted that any formal AQAP need to be devised via the involvement and
input of various influencing sectors across local authority bodies and partner agencies. CC has
acknowledged this approach which will allow for increased awareness within the council and
fundamentally will produce an effective action plan, supporting the desirable outcome of
reaching lowest levels reasonably practicable, and maximising health benefits to the residents
of Cardiff and commuters to the Capital.
Page | 13

Page 885

It is important to note the recent report by National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
(NICE) 20suggests that small-scale actions on their own are unlikely to lead to the significant
reductions in air pollution needed to protect health. Rather, it is recommended that multiple
interventions are driven forwards in parallel; with each producing a small benefit, a multipleintervention approach would likely act cumulatively to produce significant change (both in
terms of air pollution mitigation and population health adaptation and improvement).

2.3.4 Local Air Quality Targets
CC recognise that there is no defined “safe level” when describing levels of air quality21. CC is
committed to achieving NO2 levels as low as reasonably practicable in the shortest time
possible by demonstrating levels beyond the annual objective set for NO2 (40µg/m3).
In 2018, a corporate decision was made to implement a local performance indicator for annual
average levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) achieved within Cardiff Council’s Air Quality
Management Areas (AQMAs).
Annual mean ratified concentrations of nitrogen dioxide (NO 2) are not to exceed 35µg/m3.
This objective applies to locations within Cardiff’s Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs)
where members of the public might be regularly exposed, such as building façades of
residential properties, schools, hospitals, care homes.
Datasets for annual average NO2 levels recorded at relevant public exposure locations within
the AQMAs do not display signs of improvement; levels are consistently elevated and are seen
to be either exceeding or encroaching on the annual average NO2 objective. Table 3 draws
upon worse case ratified NO2 datasets monitored via passive diffusion tubes at most relevant
sensitive receptor locations, i.e. residential facades within each AQMA.

Table 3- Five year dataset for monitored annual average NO2 levels at residential
facades.
AQMA

Site ID

City Centre
Stephenson
Court
Ely Bridge
Llandaff

143
131
117
161

Bias Adjusted Annual Average NO2 Concentration (µg/m3)
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
42.1
42.1
38.2
38.7
38.4
43.9

41.2

39.5

39.6

41.7

44.9
39.1

42.3
37.2

39.5
32.3

41.3
35.0

38.0
33.4

As displayed by Table 3, although it can be suggested that compliance is met for three of the
four AQMAs, CC do not consider these levels as low as reasonably practicable. With Cardiff’s
expected future growth and approved development works already in progress, further work
is needed to ensure compliance with the air quality objectives is of a greater magnitude.
Although CC does have a commitment to achieving NO2 levels as low as reasonably
practicable, targets must be set, therefore CC is committed to achieving annual average bias
adjusted levels <35µg/m3 at all monitored sensitive receptor locations (residential facades)
within the AQMAs. It is suggested that the probability percentage of compliance exponentially
decreases with annual average levels close to the 40µg/m3 annual mean objective. In order

20
21

NICE (2017). Air pollution: outdoor air quality and health. NICE Guideline NG70
Local air quality management in Wales Policy guidance June 2017

Page | 14

Page 886

to ensure compliance is achieved at sensitive receptor locations within the established
AQMAs, an annual average target level of 35µg/m3 is sought to be acceptable.
In order to monitor CC’s identified strategic measures and their effectiveness, CC will continue
to monitor levels of NO2 at various relevant exposure locations citywide. CC will look at
improving the network of monitoring across the city by examining ways of increasing
monitoring capabilities, for example looking at personal air quality monitoring for the public
and purchasing automatic monitoring equipment to provide a further understanding of air
quality trends. CC will also design a transport monitoring programme which will look to
examine different modes of transport trends, undertaken on a yearly basis. The scope for such
a transport study would include examining figures for cycle trips, school journey mode
determination, bus patronage, trends in peak traffic flow times and fleet composition analysis
using routes through AQMAs and surrounding road networks.

2.3.5 Source Apportionment
Source apportionment analysis within Cardiff’s AQMAs has been undertaken. Using available
2017 DfT data and adopting the guidance outlined in Local Air Quality Management (LAQM)
Technical Guidance 16, Box 7.5, the percentage proportion of various vehicle classifications
contributing towards measured annual average NO2 concentrations was quantified. The
analysis confirms that a large percentage proportion of NO2 levels experienced at sensitive
receptor locations within the established AQMAs is attributed by cars (predominantly diesel
models), as well as buses & coaches. The analysis is detailed in Figure 5.

Figure 5– AQMA NO2 Source Apportionment Assessments

Page | 15

Page 887

2.3.6 Air Pollution and Areas of Deprivation
Different people are affected in different ways by air pollution and some people are more at
risk than others. For example, children, older people and those with chronic lung or heart
conditions are more vulnerable to the effects of air pollution. There are also others at a higher
risk e.g. those working in polluted places or commuting to work through heavily congested
urban areas. Air pollution can disproportionately affect vulnerable population groups (e.g.
children, older people, people with underlying chronic disease), as well as those exposed to
higher levels because of living or commuting in urban or deprived locations (National Institute
for Health and Care Excellence 2017; WHO Regional Office for Europe 2016).
Research also shows that people living in the deprived areas may also be more susceptible to
air pollution than those who live in the least deprived areas and may also be exposed to high
air pollution concentrations. The triple jeopardy concept - where air pollution, impaired
health and deprivation interactions can create disproportionate disease burdens between and
within communities - is at play in Cardiff.
In 2015, the Royal College of Physicians and the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health
published a report on the lifelong impact of air pollution and concluded that air pollution as a
stressor that interacts with many other stressors such as diet, socio-economic deprivation and
climatic conditions to create adverse health impacts and increased susceptibility to disease.
Exposure to air pollution and the consequent health risks and impacts are not uniform. Air
pollution combines with other aspects of the social and physical environment to create an
inequitable disease burden on more deprived parts of society (WHO Regional Office for
Europe 2013).

Figure 6 below overlays the most recent NO2 monitoring data onto the latest health
deprivation map for Cardiff, as detailed in the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD),
produced by Welsh Government, 2014. From this Figure it is evident that Cardiff may not
exactly follow the Wales wide data, as it is evident that in some of the most deprived areas air
quality is relatively good. However this is based on limited monitoring locations in these areas,
with no monitoring in some areas of high deprivation, and it therefore highlights that further
air quality monitoring should be considered in the most vulnerable population areas, where
any relevant exposure is likely to occur.

2.3.7 Clean Air Zones
As previously discussed in Chapter 1 the latest UK published document issued by Defra to
mitigate road transport emissions illustrates projections for road links where, based on
revised air dispersion modelling, NO2 non-compliance will continue beyond 2020. The revised
modelling has utilised revised emission factors and underpins areas in Wales whereby noncompliance for NO2 is expected for 2020 and beyond, if no further action is implemented to
improve air quality.
The published report outlined that the results of the modelling undertaken by Defra indicates
that Cardiff may benefit from the introduction of a Clean Air Zone (CAZ), in order to achieve
compliance with the national annual mean NO2 objective in the shortest time possible. Defra’s
report stipulates that having a CAZ introduced in Cardiff by 2021 would ensure NO2
compliance by 2022.
The road links predicted to exceed the national annual average NO2 compliance value are
shown in Figure 2.

Page | 16

Page 888

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Figure 6- Cardiff NO2 Data 2016 and 2014 WIMD Health Data for Cardiff

Page 889
Page | 13

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

As highlighted in Figure 2 the revised modelling undertaken on behalf of WG has projected
continued non-compliance of the national annual average NO2 standard by 2021 along the A48,
Eastern Avenue and the A4232 near the Cardiff Bay Retail Park.
The Welsh and UK Governments have required all affected Local Authorities to detail and
quantify all mitigation measures which would improve air quality and bring about compliance
with national NO2 objectives. The implementation of a Clean Air Zone (CAZ) is regarded as a
“last resort” approach after all other potential measures have been assessed. However, this
strategy will consider the possibility of the introduction of a CAZ in Cardiff and this is detailed
further in the Regulatory Measures section of this report Chapter 7.

2.4

Local Issues Impacting on Improving Air Quality

Research has shown that the car is the dominant mode of travel for journeys in Cardiff.13 In
order to improve air quality, which will play a vital role in contributing to health improvements
in Cardiff, an increased use of sustainable and active travel alternatives is essential.
Cardiff Council is committed to achieving a 50:50 modal spilt by 2026, as set out in Cardiff’s
Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006- 202622. However, there are a number of challenges that
Cardiff faces in order to meet the 50:50 modal split;

22



Future Growth - Cardiff’s LDP provides for 41,000 new homes and 40,000 new jobs in
Cardiff by 2026. It is envisaged that this level of growth will generate a (net) road
traffic increase by 32% and so existing pressures on Cardiff’s transport network will
be intensified. A significant shift is required from car use to sustainable travel;



Inbound Commuting Traffic - 38% of Cardiff’s workforce travel to Cardiff from outside
the county area. This commuting workforce from outside the county area has seen a
10% increase 2004 - 2014. Figures from the Census conducted in 2011 suggest that
between 76% - 84% of the commuting workforce travel by car;



Health - There is an urgent need to encourage healthy and active lifestyles in Cardiff;
only 25% of Cardiff residents meet physical activity guidelines and 53% are obese or
overweight (Welsh Health Survey 2010 and 2011). Social isolation and loneliness is
another major need in our local population;



Sustainable and Active Travel Availability - Areas poorly served by sustainable
transport modes often have high levels of car ownership and become heavily reliant
on the car for daily travel. The quality of the public transport network is major
challenge for Cardiff; Ask Cardiff Surveys outlined a 4% decrease in daily bus use
between 2007 and 2014. Across the UK over the last 5 years the cost of running a car
has decreased by 5% while the cost of the bus has increased by 14% (Department for
Transport). There is also a need for cycling and walking improvements in Cardiff.
Levels of cycling are continuing to increase but 82% of Cardiff residents think cycling
safety needs to be improved (Bike Life 2015).

Cardiff Council Adopted Local Development Plan 2006-2026

Page | 15

Page 890

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

Chapter 3

Planning and Development Control

Regulation of
New
Developments to
Quantify Air
Quality Impacts

Develop
Guidance to
ensure new
Developments
Promote
Sustainbale
Travel

Secure Funding
from New
Developments
for City Wide Air
Quality Action
Fund

Our built environment can affect the emission of road traffic related air pollutants by
influencing how and how much, we travel. It can also affect the way air pollutants are
dispersed through street design and the resulting impact on air flow (NICE 2017).

3.1 Prosperity for All
In September 2017, the Welsh Government published a national strategy, Prosperity for All23
to deliver its key priorities during the latest term of the Assembly. One of the key themes of
this strategy is to build healthier communities and better environments, and a key aspect of
this theme is to reduce emissions in order to deliver improvements to air quality.

3.2 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
In 2015 Welsh Government made a new law called the Well-being of Future Generations
(Wales) Act. The new law has the sustainable development principle at its heart. This means
that we need to work in a way that improves wellbeing for people today without doing
anything that could make things worse for future generations.
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WFG) is a significant enabler to
improve air quality as the Act calls for sustainable cross-sector action based on the principles
of long-term, prevention-focused integration, collaboration and involvement. It intends to
improve economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being in Wales to ensure the needs
of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their
own needs. The Act places responsibilities on public bodies in Wales to work in new ways
(including via Public Services Boards) towards national Well-being goals. Progress is measured
against a suite of well-being and Public Health Outcomes Framework indicators; there is one
specifically concerned with air pollution.
As Figure 7 illustrates below, the Act is the legislative vehicle for “Health in all Policies in Wales”

and provides the underpinning principles for all policy and decision making, including
economic development, in Wales. Reducing air pollution, health risks and inequalities can
help contribute to most, if not all, of the well-being goals. As such, the Act presents excellent
opportunities to change policy and practice to enhance air quality management arrangements
across Cardiff (and wider).

23

Welsh Government, 2017 – Prosperity for All

Page | 16

Page 891

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

The CAS & Action Plan ensures that future decision making in terms of air quality will comply
with the WFG in terms of ensuring that the Council meets the five ways of working
•Long term – The CAS & Action Plan balances short-term needs of achieving compliance with
the limits values in the shortest time possible, with the need to safeguard the ability to ensure
longer term continued improvement in air quality within Cardiff.
•Prevention –By developing strategic measures, the Council should ensure improvements in
air quality are achieved and will be able to prevent air quality getting worse in the future thus
protecting public health and the wider environment.
•Integration – The development of strategic measures takes into consideration other public
body’s well-being objectives and qualitatively assesses the impact upon each of the well-being
goals, or the objectives of other public bodies.
•Collaboration –The development of the strategic measures has been done so in
collaboration with many departments within the Council and other external organisations,
i.e., Public Health Wales. This collaborative approach will be taken forward in the
development of the initial plan as part of the feasibility study.
•Involvement – The prior to developing the Final Plan the preferred measures will be subject
to an appropriate level of consultation, and will ensure that those who have a strong interest
in improving air quality will be fully involved and their ideas considered.
Overall, improving air quality and developing a preferred option to achieve compliance with
the NO2 limit value, contributes significantly to the majority of the well-being goals.

Figure 7- The Well- being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Matrix

Page | 17

Page 892

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

3.2.1 Cardiff Well-Being Plan 2018-2023
This CAS & Action Plan also supports the Councils Well-being
Objectives, identified within the Council’s Well Being Plan 20182023.
Under the Act the Cardiff Public Services Board (PSB) has
produced its Well-Being Plan for 2018-202324, which sets out the
Cardiff PSB’s priorities for action over the next 5 years, and
beyond. The Plan contains Well-being Objectives, high-level
priorities that the Cardiff PSB have identified as being most
important. It also contains ‘Commitments,’ or practical steps
that the city’s public services, together, will deliver over the next 5 years. The Well-Being Plan
has set out Well-Being Objectives as follows:








Objective 1 - A Capital City that Works for Wales;
Objective 2 - Cardiff grows in a resilient way;
Objective 3 -Safe, Confident and Empowered Communities
Objective 4 - Cardiff is a great place to grow up;
Objective 5 - Supporting People out of poverty;
Objective 6 - Cardiff is a great place to grow older; and
Objective 7 -Modernising and Integrating Our Public Services

Within the Well-Being Plan Objective 2 details the following; Cardiff is one of Britain’s fastest
growing cities, and is by far the fastest growing local authority area in Wales. Successful cities
are those in which people want to live and this growth is welcomed and a sure sign of strength
for the city. However, this growth will bring challenges too, putting pressure on both the city’s
physical infrastructures, community cohesion, its natural environment and public services.
Managing the impacts of this population growth and of climate change in a resilient and
sustainable fashion will be a major long term challenge for Cardiff.
Improving levels of NO2 and particulate matter (PM10, 2.5) is a City level outcome indicator that
the PSB will seek to impact in order to meet this specific Objective. The Plan forecasts a future
Cardiff with improved air quality and has committed to taking ‘a city-wide response to air
pollution through supporting the development and delivery of a Cardiff Clean Air Strategy.’

3.3 Planning Policy Wales
Land-use planning policy in Wales is established within the policy document Planning Policy
Wales (PPW), Edition 10 (Welsh Government, 2018)25 and its updates which provide the
strategic policy framework for the effective preparation of local planning authority
development plans. PPW is supported by a series of Technical Advice Notes (TANs) and
National Assembly for Wales Circulars. Local planning authorities have to take PPW, TANs and
Circulars into account when preparing Development Plans.
With respect to planning policy guidance, TAN 18 on transport (Welsh Government, 2007)
makes reference to local air quality and the need for Air Quality Action Plans to be prepared
for any Air Quality Management Areas declared.
PPW places a general presumption in favour of sustainable development, stressing the
importance of local development plans, and states that the planning system should perform
24
25

Cardiff Well-Being Plan 2018-2023
Planning Policy Wales – 10th Edition December 2018

Page | 18

Page 893

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

an environmental role to minimise pollution. Local development plans should enable
consideration of the effects that the proposed development may have on air quality, as well
as the effect that air quality may have on the proposed development. To prevent
unacceptable risks from air pollution, planning decisions should ensure that new development
is appropriate for its location.
The need for compliance with any statutory air quality limit values and objectives is stressed,
and the presence of AQMAs must be accounted for in terms of the cumulative impacts on air
quality from individual sites in local areas. New developments in AQMAs should be consistent
with local air quality action plans.
Within the PPW document Welsh Government is committed to reducing reliance on the
private car and supporting a modal shift to walking, cycling and public transport. Delivering
this objective will make an important contribution to decarbonisation, improving air quality,
increasing physical activity, improving the health of the nation and realising the goals of the
Well-being of Future Generations Act.
PPW outlines barely compliant levels of air quality should not be viewed as ‘clean’ and still
carries long-term population health risks, and thus it is desirable to keep levels of pollution as
low as possible.

3.4 Cardiff’s Local Development Plan 2006-2026
Cardiff’s Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2026, forms the basis for decisions on land use
planning in Cardiff up to 2026 and assumes that, within the plan’s time frame, approximately
40,000 new jobs and 41,100 new dwellings will be developed in Cardiff as a direct response
to Cardiff’s role as the economic driver of the City-region.
In addition to its independent examination, the LDP was subject to a Strategic Environmental
Assessment (SEA) to ensure that the policies reflect sustainability principles and take into
account environmental impacts.
Policy KP2 of the LDP allocates 8 Strategic Sites to help meet the need for new dwellings and
jobs. These strategic allocations on both greenfield and brownfield sites will include 500
homes or more and/or include significant employment/mixed uses which will bring significant
benefits to the city. The sites are:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)

Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone;
Former Gas Works, Ferry Road;
North West Cardiff;
North of Junction 33 on the M4;
South of Creigiau;
North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau);
East of Pontprennau Link Road; and
South of St. Mellons Business Park – Employment Only.

The LDP identifies that sustainable transportation solutions are required in order to respond
to the challenges associated with new development by setting out an approach aimed at
minimising car travel, maximising access by sustainable transportation and improving
connectivity between Cardiff and the wider region.

Page | 19

Page 894

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

The Plan sets out a strategy to achieve this by making the best use of the current network,
managing demand and reducing it where possible by widening travel choices. The aim is to
secure a modal split of 50% car and 50% non-car modes.
The following LDP policies are of relevance to air quality;
KP8: SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT
Development in Cardiff will be integrated with transport infrastructure and services in order
to:
-

Achieve the target of a 50:50 modal split between journeys by car and journeys by
walking, cycling and public transport;
Reduce travel demand and dependence on the car;
Enable and maximise use of sustainable and active modes of transport;
Integrate travel modes;
Provide for people with particular access and mobility requirements;
Improve safety for all travellers;
Maintain and improve the efficiency and reliability of the transport network;
Support the movement of freight by rail or water; and
Manage freight movements by road and minimise their impacts

For Cardiff to accommodate the planned levels of growth, existing and future residents will
need to be far less reliant on the private car. Therefore, ensuring that more everyday journeys
are undertaken by sustainable modes of transport, walking, cycling and public transport, will
be essential.
KP14: HEALTHY LIVING
Cardiff will be made a healthier place to live by seeking to reduce health inequalities through
encouraging healthy lifestyles, addressing the social determinants of health and providing
accessible health care facilities. This will be achieved by supporting developments which
provide for active travel, accessible and useable green spaces, including allotments.
KP18: NATURAL RESOURCES:
In the interests of the long-term sustainable development of Cardiff, development proposals
must take full account of the need to minimise impacts on the city’s natural resources and
minimise pollution, in particular the following elements......minimising air pollution from
industrial, domestic and road transportation sources and managing air quality.
EN13: AIR, NOISE, LIGHT POLLUTION AND LAND CONTAMINATION
Development will not be permitted where it would cause or result in unacceptable harm to
health, local amenity, the character and quality of the countryside, or interests of nature
conservation, landscape or built heritage importance because of air, noise, light pollution or
the presence of unacceptable levels of land contamination.
C6: HEALTH
Priority in new developments will be given to reducing health inequalities and encouraging
healthy lifestyles through:
i.

Identifying sites for new health facilities, reflecting the spatial distribution of need,
ensuring they are accessible and have the potential to be shared by different
service providers; and

Page | 20

Page 895

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

ii.

Ensuring that they provide a physical and built environment that supports
interconnectivity, active travel choices, promotes healthy lifestyles and enhances
road safety.

The LDP also outlines the approach the Council will take to increase the proportion of people
travelling by sustainable modes and to achieve the 50:50 modal split target. This will involve:
-

-

-

enabling people to access employment, essential services and community facilities by
walking and cycling through, for example, high quality, sustainable design and
measures to minimise vehicle speed and give priority to pedestrians and cyclists;
developing strategic bus and rapid transit corridor enhancements and facilitating their
integration with the wider transport network;
facilitating the transfer between transport modes by, for example, improving existing
interchanges and developing new facilities such as strategically located park and ride
facilities; and
maximising provision for sustainable travel within new developments and securing
infrastructure investment which can support modal shift within existing settlements.

3.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)
In addition to the measures identified directly in the LDP
the Council has recently prepared Supplementary Planning
Guidance (SPG) which supports and provides additional
guidance on the policy aims of the LDP which will have
benefits on Air Quality in Cardiff.

3.5.1 Planning Obligations SPG (January 2017)
This document sets out the Council’s approach to
planning obligations when considering applications for
development. It provides further guidance on how the
policies set out in the LDP are to be implemented and will
assist in securing the provision of sustainable
development across the city.
Poor air quality can impact on people’s health / quality of
life and local authorities are required to assess air quality in their areas against National Air
Quality Standards. Where the need arises as a result of a proposed development, the
document confirms that developers will be requested to provide an Air Quality Assessment
(AQA) and, in the event of an adverse assessment, a proposed scheme of mitigation
measures. In addition to a scheme of mitigation measures, a financial contribution may be
sought towards the site specific monitoring of air quality emissions.
In respect of Transportation and Highways, the SPG confirms the Council will maximise
opportunities for trips generated by new development to be made by walking, cycling and
public transport and seek to ensure that the highway network is able to accommodate road
traffic movements associated with new development in a safe and efficient manner. The
following guidance is covered:
(i)

developments requiring the provision of a Transport Statement or Transport
Assessment;
Page | 21

Page 896

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

the provision of on-site infrastructure necessary to serve the development;
the provision of or contribution towards offsite highway works, public transport
infrastructure/facilities provision and local interventions where the need arises;
integrating public transport; and
travel plans detailing a long term management and monitoring strategy for the
delivery of sustainable transport objectives through positive action.

3.5.2 Managing Transportation Impacts (Incorporating Parking Standards) SPG
This SPG sets out Cardiff Council’s approach to assessing and managing the transport
impacts of developments and supplements the transport and other related policies in
Cardiff’s Local Development Plan 2006-2026. It applies to all categories of development for
which planning permission is required, including new developments, extensions,
redevelopments and material changes of use.
The SPG provides detailed guidance with regard to:
1) How the Council will consider the impacts of development on the routes that make up
the local highway network.
2) The detailed information that applicants for planning permission should include with
their submissions to enable the Council to make a fully informed assessment of
transport impacts.
3) The Council’s approach to quantifying and assessing the transport impacts of
development proposals as part of its determination of planning applications.
4) The types of transport infrastructure and other mitigation measures which may be
sought to address transport impacts.
5) How the Council will seek to secure the transport infrastructure and other transport
measures required to mitigate transport impacts, enable development to proceed and
support the implementation of Transport policies in the Local Development Plan.
6) The scope and content of Travel Plans required as part of the overall package of
measures to mitigate impacts and support the implementation of LDP transport policies.
7) The parking standards which apply to different types of development in specific areas of
the city.
8) How the impacts of developments upon Public Rights of Way will be considered and the
likely requirements for mitigation.

3.5.3 Cardiff Green Infrastructure SPG
Outlined in Cardiff’s Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006- 2021, Policy KP16 focuses upon
Green infrastructure.

Green Infrastructure
The policy aims to ensure that Cardiff’s green infrastructure assets are strategically planned
and delivered through a green infrastructure network. Other policies in the Plan provide
more detailed guidance on aspects of these assets, together with supporting SPG.
Where development is permitted, planning conditions and/or obligations will be used to
protect or enhance the natural heritage network.

Page | 22

Page 897

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

New developments should incorporate new and / or enhanced green infrastructure of an
appropriate size, type and standard to ensure no fragmentation or loss of connectivity.
Where the benefits of development outweigh the conservation interest, mitigation and/or
compensation measures will be required to offset adverse effects and appropriate planning
obligations sought. The implementation of policies designed to provide and protect public
open space throughout Cardiff would also serve to offset any increase in recreational
pressure on the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC, thereby helping to avoid likely significant effect
upon that site.
Management of Cardiff’s green infrastructure network should
be in place prior to development, and appropriate planning
obligations sought. SPG on this topic will more fully outline the
extent of Cardiff’s green infrastructure and how this policy can
be implemented in more detail.
A new Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) concerning
Green Infrastructure was approved in 2017 by CC to provide a
detailed understanding to the elements raised in the LDP.
- This document provides planning advice on a number of
areas relating to development and the environment, including
protection and provision of open space, ecology and biodiversity, trees, soils, public rights of
way, and river corridors.
- The new document also differs from previous SPGs by providing more in depth design
advice, aimed at giving developers a clearer understanding of the approach expected when
submitting designs for new developments. By having this information up-front developers
are better able to provide suitable designs to the Council through the planning process
The document sets out Cardiff Council’s approach to the consideration of green infrastructure
in relation to new developments, and will assist in securing the provision of sustainable
development across the City as part of the Capital Ambition agenda.
The guidance will be used to ensure that all new developments satisfy the requirements for
green infrastructure plan as set out in Policy KP16 of the LDP: “Cardiff’s distinctive natural
heritage provides a network of green infrastructure which will be protected, enhanced and
managed to ensure the integrity and connectivity of this multi-functional green resource is
maintained.
Protection and conservation of natural heritage network needs to be reconciled with the
benefits of development. Proposed development should therefore demonstrate how green
infrastructure has been considered and integrated into the proposals. If development results
in overall loss of green infrastructure, appropriate compensation will be required.”

Page | 23

Page 898

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

3.5.4 Planning for Health and Well-being SPG
This document sets out the Council’s approach to ensuring planning decisions consider
impacts on the health and well-being of the population. The SPG is supplementary to Policies
KP14 and C6 of the adopted LDP
Specifically in relation to air quality the SPG states that “Air, noise and light pollution impacts
on health and well-being, increasing the burden of disease from stroke, heart disease, lung
cancer, and both chronic and acute respiratory diseases, including asthma. Invariably there is
a disproportionate impact on disadvantaged groups. The importance of the need to consider
this issue is set out in NICE (National Health and Care Excellence) Guidance ‘Air pollution:
outdoor air quality and health’ which was published in June 2017.”

3.5.5 Planning Guidance for the Provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Points
In November 2018, the Council published a guidance documents for developers on the
provision of charging points in new developments. This document sets out the Councils
expectations on the minimum number of electric charging points that should be provided
depending on the nature of the development. The expectations are summarised in Table 4 as
follows:
Table 4 - Council Expectations on the Provision of EV Charging Points
Development Type

Provision

Houses

One electric vehicle dedicated charging point (up to
7kW(32A) where possible) or installation of passive wiring
to allow future charging point connection per house with
garage or driveway.

Flats

At least 10% of parking bays should be provide with
dedicated electric vehicle weatherproof charging points.

Commercial
Development, Car Parks
and Community Facilities

At least 10% of parking bays should be provided with
dedicated electric vehicle weatherproof charging points.

Public Transport Facilities
and Taxi Ranks

Charging infrastructure will be required to facilitate the
conversion of bus and taxi fleet, using appropriate
technological solutions at suitable locations across the
city.

Future Proofing

Subject to agreement with the Local Planning Authority
standard provision may also require installation of
groundwork/passive wiring at the outset to enable further
future installation to match demand.

3.6 Development Management Consultations
The Local Planning Authority consults with the Shared Regulatory Services Air Quality Team
on development proposals where air quality is a material consideration. A confidential preapplication enquiry process is available for developers to seek advice, obtain clarification and
address any potential issues prior to the submission of a formal planning application. This
Page | 24

Page 899

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

confidential advice is given on a ‘without prejudice’ basis and precedes the statutory
consultations which would be carried out during the planning application process.

3.6.1 Planning Conditions and Planning Obligations
Many planning permissions are granted subject to various planning conditions. Conditions can
enable many development proposals to proceed where it would otherwise be necessary to
refuse planning permission. The proper use of conditions can improve the quality of
development and enhance public confidence in the outputs of the planning system.
Conditions should only be imposed where they are both necessary and reasonable, as well as
enforceable, precise and relevant both to planning and to the development to be permitted.
Planning obligations are useful arrangements to overcome obstacles which may otherwise
prevent planning permission from being granted. Contributions from developers may be used
to offset negative consequences of development, to help meet local needs or to secure
benefits which will make development more sustainable.
Planning obligations seeking to improve air quality may include contributions to enable the
Council to improve monitoring capabilities.

The Council will look to draft a further SPG to provide specific guidance for addressing air quality
impacts from new developments. The SPG will look to clearly set out the circumstances when
an assessment for air quality impacts is required and will clarify the minimum amount of
information required for the air quality assessment. The SPG will follow the Guidance on Landuse Planning and Development Control, as published by Environmental Protection UK (EPUK)
and the Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM).

Page | 25

Page 900

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

Chapter 4

Transport Management and Active Travel

City Centre
Transport
Improvements

4.1

Walking and
Cycling
Infrastructure
Improvements

Low Emission
Transport
Strategy &
Implementation
of Electric
Vehicle (EV)
Infrastructure

Transport Strategy

Cardiff Council’s longstanding vision for transport in the city is for:
“An integrated transport system that offers safe, efficient and sustainable travel for all,
where public transport, walking and cycling provide real and desirable alternatives to car
travel.”
Our priorities to achieve this are:
1. Widening travel choices making it practical for most daily trips to be made by
alternatives to the car, such as public transport, walking and cycling;
2. Demand management taking steps to reduce the demand for travel overall, and
particularly by car ; and
3. Network management using technology to make best use of the existing highway
network, rather than building new roads that would generate more traffic.

4.1.1 Local Transport Plan
Cardiff is growing and changing, and this brings more journeys and more pressures on Cardiff’s
transport network. Reducing the number of car journeys made in the city, and promoting the
use of active and sustainable modes of travel, are central to Cardiff Council’s Transport
Strategy and in improving air quality in the city. The LDP sets the target of achieving a 50:50
modal split – this means that 50% of all journeys need to be made by sustainable transport by
2026 in order to accommodate the future development set out in the LDP. Our policies set
out in the LDP support the need to secure significant improvements to the public transport
and active travel networks in combination with new developments.
Cardiff’s Local Transport Plan (LTP) was approved by the Welsh Government in May 2015. The
LTP sets out our main transport infrastructure proposals which will support this significant
modal shift. The Local Transport Plan recognises the need to improve air quality. Its
programme prioritises:



development of active travel networks to increase walking and cycling for local journeys
the provision of cycling infrastructure
Page | 26

Page 901

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy







4.2

the bus network
reduced speed limits
reducing congestion
improving transport efficiency and reliability
Bus based park and ride.

Capital City Regional Deal

The Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) City Deal is a programme agreed in 2016 between the UK
Government, the Welsh Government and the ten local authorities in South East Wales to bring
about significant economic growth in the region through investment, upskilling, and improved
physical and digital connectivity.
One of the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR)’s objectives is to connect communities, business, jobs,
facilities and services in the area. The CCR Transport Authority, working closely with the Welsh
Government, Transport for Wales and others, has been established as a sub-committee by the
CCR Cabinet to facilitate the City Deal by coordinating transport planning and investment
across the region. The transport improvements underlying the CASAP measures to be
assessed later in this report will be fundamental to delivering this objective of CCR.

4.3

Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013

This Act26 came into force in September 2014 and requires local authorities to map and
continuously improve routes and facilities for cycling and walking. Reducing road traffic
emissions will be a key aspect of the measures being taken forward and thus the increase in
modal shift to active travel will be a key component of the Councils preferred option to
achieve compliance.

4.4

Cycling Strategy and Integrated Network Map

The Cardiff Cycling Strategy sets out an ambitious vision to double the number of cycling trips
by 2026, from a 9.2% modal share in 2015 to 18.4% in 2026. In
order to achieve this vision, it will be necessary to develop a
comprehensive network of cycling infrastructure which is
suitable for use by people of all ages and abilities, and to work
with key partners from employers, retail and schools to ensure
that appropriate cycling facilities are provided at destinations
and to promote cycling.
Infrastructure improvements for walking and cycling are planned and prioritised through the
Integrated Network Map (INM) as detailed in Figure 8 and is a requirement of the Active Travel
(Wales) Act 2013. The INM defines a network of walking routes and
cycling routes and a schedule of schemes to improve this network
of routes over a 15 year period. In accordance with the
requirements of the Active Travel Act, the INM will be submitted to
the Welsh Ministers for approval in November 2017 and updated
every 3 years.
The Cycling Strategy and INM sets out proposals for two new cycle
superhighways which will provide high quality cycle routes, segregated from pedestrians and
26

Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013

Page | 27

Page 902

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

motor vehicles on busy roads, and will connect strategic development sites, existing
residential areas, employment sites, the city centre and Cardiff Bay. These will be supported
by a network of secondary routes.

4.5

NextBike Scheme

The Nextbike hire scheme launched in Cardiff in March 2018. The scheme is financially funded
by Welsh Government and its main objectives are to reduce congestion, free up parking
spaces and provide a healthier way to travel around the city.
Since the introduction of the Nextbike scheme in March 2018, the Cardiff scheme has become
the UKs most successful27, with over 150,000 rentals since March. Due to success of the
scheme, the amount of available units is set to double with an increase of a further 500 bikes
bringing the total number of bikes available to 1,000 by the summer of 2019.

Figure 8- Integrated Network Map

4.6

School Active Travel Plans

The Council has a corporate commitment for every school in Cardiff to have an active travel
plan by April 2022. Works are ongoing to understand how the Council can best support
schools to develop and implement an active travel plan. The aim of an active travel plan is to
increase the number of children, parents and staff travelling to school sustainably, in
particular increasing walking, cycling and scooting. There are a range of resources, training
and programmes available to schools and the ongoing works will identify what actions the
schools need to take and access the relevant initiatives and programmes to implement these
actions.

27

NextBike In Depth Review 2018

Page | 28

Page 903

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

4.7

City Centre Transport Improvement Projects

The employment, shopping, tourism and entertainment facilities in Cardiff City Centre attract
hundreds of thousands of commuters and visitors each day from across the Cardiff City Region
and further afield.
Traffic flows on main routes to and through the city centre generate peak time congestion
which causes delays to bus services and can make the area less attractive for pedestrians and
cyclists.
Increasing sustainable travel to and through the city centre will be crucial to achieving
improvements in air quality. To achieve this, a programme of City Centre Transport
Improvement Projects is being developed. Key measures will focus on sustainable transport
improvements that will encourage mode shift and contribute to improving air quality levels.
Such transport network improvements will look to incorporate City Centre West, Central
Interchange and Eastside City Centre Schemes.

4.7.1 Reducing Congestion
Traffic congestion delays journeys and can damage the environment of the city and its
neighbourhoods. Queuing car traffic has a negative impact on air quality. Cutting congestion
by reducing the number of journeys made by car will bring air quality improvements as well
as reducing costs and journey times for individuals and businesses. Less traffic can also make
journeys made by sustainable and active modes of travel easier, for example, by making bus
journey times more reliable and providing a more attractive environment for walking and
cycling. By managing Cardiff’s highway network more effectively, we will make best use of
the existing highway in a way which promotes access by sustainable modes of travel.

4.8

Car Clubs

By offering a flexible alternative to car ownership, car clubs can play an important role in an
integrated transport network, giving access to a car for short periods without the need to own
a private vehicle. Car club provision in Cardiff is set to grow in the short term, helping to
reduce the number of journeys made by car and giving access to new, low emission vehicles.

4.9

20 MPH Zones

CC introduced a 'signs only' 20 miles per hour (mph) limit in the Cathays/Plasnewydd area in
March 2014, as part of a two-year pilot project. Following the pilot, a commitment was made
to look at how 20pmh limits might be more widely applied in Cardiff. It was
determined that the installation of 20 mph limits in residential streets
would support the general consensus that lower speed limits in residential
areas can:





improve air quality in terms of particulate matter exposure;
improve the liveability of the city by reducing car use for local trips;
make it easier to cross roads and access local facilities – especially for children and the
elderly;
improve the environment for walking and cycling resulting in greater levels of
physical activity.

A wider future rollout of 20mph limits is underway in residential streets in areas around the
city centre. The installation of 20 mph limits will complement the ongoing installation of
school safety zones delivered through the on-going Safe Routes to School programme.
Page | 29

Page 904

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

4.10 EV Infrastructure
There is a growing demand for, and need to support, a shift from traditional fossil fuels for
residual motorised transport to more sustainable forms of clean,
renewable energy, particularly with the commitment made by the
UK government to ending sales of new petrol and diesel cars from
2040. Although this activity is largely led by private sector vehicle
manufacturing markets, there is also a clear role for the Council in
facilitating, championing and preparing for this transition.
A feasibility study reviewing best practice, the market and funding
streams will inform a decision on the best option for the city. Locations for EV charging will be
considered alongside the rollout of additional car club vehicles in the authority and is seen as
vital in encouraging the use of more environmentally friendly modes of transport including
Low Emission Vehicles. It is anticipated that a pilot will be undertaken of an EV charging
system within 2018 that will contribute to the understanding of the potential of EV technology
for Cardiff.
In 2018 Arcadis Consulting (UK) Ltd supported by Zero Carbon Futures (UK) Ltd were
commissioned by Cardiff Council to prepare a feasibility study to explore how electrically
powered Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (ULEV) charging points could be integrated across the
city of Cardiff. As the market share of ULEV is growing and is forecasted to increase
significantly over the coming decades, it is critical that the necessary charging infrastructure
is provided to facilitate this growth, in order to support a cleaner transport system across
Cardiff.

4.11 Low Emissions Transport Strategy
In 2018, Council approved the works to develop a Low Emission Transport Strategy. The Low
Emissions Transport Strategy is focussed on the Council’s responsibilities and aspirations in
dealing with this significant public health issue by supporting a transition away from fossil
fuels for transportation. It is also aimed at encouraging key partners in the City to consider
similar actions. The Strategy forms a key strand of the Clean Air Strategy for Cardiff, together
with developing transport policy and other emerging actions.
This strategy has been based on a series of background studies and discussions with major
stakeholders and leaders in the field of low emission transport. This has helped to identify key
opportunities for the Council to grasp. Many of these are direct actions addressing the delivery
of routine services, but it is also clear that the Council has a wider leadership role that could
help to stimulate change in the city and region. The strategic vision is therefore to position
the Council as a “catalyst for change”, proactively addressing city wide Air Quality challenges.
The areas of particular focus are on:
• Facilitating and speeding up a pathway to zero emission transport;
• Using our procurement power to instigate change and provide broader market confidence;
• Engaging with and supporting local innovation; and
• working with partners to secure the best Circular Economies for the City and for Wales

4.11.1 On Street Residential Charging Points
The Council has been successful in obtaining a bid from the Office of Low Emission Vehicles
(OLEV) 36 charge points in 21 locations across the city and accessible to the public by 31st
March 2019. The Council will aim to submit a further bid in 2019/20 to further increase the
network of residential charging points.
Page | 30

Page 905

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

In addition to the above the Council will also be launching a rapid charge pilot with a
commercial provider to assess the viability of undertaking a wider implementation project.

4.11.2 Electric Charging Points at Council Facilities
The Council has made progress in terms of increasing electric charging infrastructure at four
main employment hubs. It has been agreed that in 2019/20 for 8 electric vehicle chargers
each at County Hall, Lamby Way, Wilcox House and Coleridge Road (i.e., total of 32 chargers).
In conjunction with this the proposals are in place for the Council to fund the hire lease costs
of 56 new EVs in 2019/20 (replacing existing petrol/diesel vehicles) and 37 vehicles in 2020/21.

4.12 Freight and Commercial Transportation
The M4 in Cardiff and South East Wales is a strategic motorway network in the UK and is a hub
for major logistics and distribution companies. Consequently, the
number of HGVs/LGVs on the road network contributes to overall air
pollution. Source apportionment results detailed in Figure 5 indicates
that HGV/ LGV movements are the second most contributing source
to monitored NO2 levels.
Recent years have seen an increase in the number of light goods
vehicles (LGVs), which may be attributed to an increase in internet
sales, home deliveries and growth in the independent service sector and trades.
The commercial sector can be difficult to influence, but they understand the need to reduce
their carbon footprint, improve their “green” credentials and be socially responsible for the
impact they have on the environment.
The need to support and improve freight is highlighted in Cardiff’s LDP and LTP. Policy KP8
Sustainable Transport emphasises the support of freight movement by rail or water and the
need to manage freight movements by road and minimise their impacts. The plans accentuate
CC’s commitment to pursue opportunities to implement infrastructure improvements for other
transport modes including facilities for freight.
Through this strategy Cardiff Council will consider the establishment of a Freight Quality
Partnership (FQP). By means of such partnerships industry and local government can work
together to develop more efficient, safer and cleaner means of local goods distribution. CC will
look to adopt the available free advice from the Freight Best Practise programme, funded by
DfT, covering topics such as saving fuel, developing skills, equipment and systems, operational
efficiency and performance management.
There are three main objectives associated with a FQP;
 Environmental: to protect and enhance the built and natural environment, e.g. by
improving air quality, contributing to Greenhouse Gas reduction targets and reducing
noise pollution.
 Economic: to support sustainable growth and regeneration in appropriate locations,
e.g. by increasing competitiveness of local businesses, improving supply chain
efficiency, reducing congestion, and investing in supply chain infrastructure.
 Societal: to protect communities and support the needs and aspirations of citizens e.g.
by reducing disturbance from vehicles, improving safety and enabling efficient access
to goods and services.

Page | 31

Page 906

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

Chapter 5

Public Transport

Public transport has a key role to play in improving air quality by helping to reduce the number
of car trips made to and within the city. Use of public transport is also known to increase
physical activity levels, helping to keep our population healthy.
Public transport has a key role to play in improving air quality by helping to reduce the number
of car trips made to and within the city.

5.1

Buses

Bus travel has an important role to play in reducing the number
of journeys made by car. We are working to make bus travel an
attractive and practical option for more people by providing
infrastructure to help bus services beat the traffic queues and
improve their reliability and frequency.
Bus lanes have been installed on a number of main roads into the
city including the A470, A4119 and A48. Cardiff has 13.94km of
bus lanes. 400m of bus lane can give each bus a time advantage
of 5 minutes or more over general traffic on the approach to
junctions and improve the ability of bus drivers to meet timetables (Cardiff 2014 Regional Bus
Lane surveys).
However, it is also important that the buses used in Cardiff are as clean and low emission as
possible. We will continue to work with Cardiff Bus and other local/ regional operators to
identify measures to provide low emission bus fleets operating in Cardiff.
Our priorities for bus travel in Cardiff include:


Developing a new bus interchange as part of the major redevelopment of Central
Square;



Working with bus operators to identify and develop an expanded city bus network,
including new cross-city and local routes;



Work with operators to increase the number of buses where bicycles can be taken on
board, to encourage mixed active travel to be used as part of longer journeys;

Page | 32

Page 907

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy



Developing new bus park and ride facilities at M4 Junction 33 and other appropriate
locations in Cardiff and neighbouring areas to reduce the number of cars driving into the
city;



Making bus services faster and more reliable by providing bus priority measures on
strategic bus corridors to help reduce bus journey times, improve journey time reliability
and make bus travel a more attractive alternative to the car for a greater range of
journeys; and



Investigating opportunities for the development of a green technologies bus fleet.

5.1.1 Cleaning the Bus Fleet
Figure 9- NO2 Source Apportionment (Westgate Street)

Data provided by Cardiff Bus indicates 140 Cardiff Bus movements per hour along Westgate
Street, whereby only 26% of these movements are made by Euro 6 category vehicles.
The conversion of Cardiff bus vehicles to Euro 6 equivalent will have an immediate positive
impact on air quality levels, particularly in the City Centre AQMA. Real world testing of Euro 6
diesel buses demonstrates a 95% reduction in NOx emissions compared with Euro 5.
Table 5 summarises the current Cardiff Bus fleet and associated Euro Emission Standard
classification. Table 6 summarises the hourly Cardiff Bus service fleet movements along
Westgate Street and Euro Emission Standard Classification

Page | 33

Page 908

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy
Table 5 Euro Standards of Cardiff Bus

Table 6 Cardiff Bus Fleet Hourly Breakdown on
Westgate Street

Cardiff Bus- Fleet Euro Standard (30th June
2018)

Cardiff Bus- Fleet Euro Standard (Westgate
Street 25.10.17)

Euro Standard

Number

%

Euro Standard

Number

%

Euro 3

95

42

Euro 3

72

51

Euro 4

44

19

Euro 4

17

12

Euro 5

50

22

Euro 5

15

11

Euro 6

40

17

Euro 6

36

26

Cardiff Bus representatives have determined that 41% (94 vehicles) of the Cardiff Bus fleet
would qualify for a Euro 6 retrofit programme.
In addition to the suggested retrofit programme, in 2018 SRS along with Cardiff Council’s
Transport team collaborated with Cardiff Bus to devise a bid application for the Ultra-Low
Emission Bus (ULEB) fund made available by the Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV). In
February 2019 the bid application was deemed successful.
The proposal draws links between the air quality management areas (AQMAs) identified
under the LAQM regime, as well as the issued direction from Welsh Ministers which targets
Cardiff on the regional scale highlighting non-conformities in association with European
Directives. Therefore linking the two together; due to the heightened profile of air quality and
its potential adverse impact on public health, given Cardiff’s Local Air Quality Management
scenario, as well as its regional air quality concerns it is imperative that short term measures,
such as increasing the uptake of low emission buses are implemented as soon as possible to
start the process of achieving compliance with the air quality objectives.
The bid application has secured contributable funding for a total of 36 full electric buses that
would be introduced to the Cardiff Bus fleet over a three year cycle. The vehicles will be
introduced to three specific routes (27, 44/45 & 49/50). These routes will lead to a positive
impact on air quality levels, especially within the City Centre AQMA. The introduction of the
electric buses would form part of a cascade programme whereby Euro 3 standard buses would
be offset from the fleet completely, therefore improving the overall fleet composition.
Tables below highlight the Cardiff Bus Fleet matrix in 2021 with the implementation of the
full electric vehicles. The datasets show that the percentage of Euro III buses would reduce
from 41% to 26%.

Page | 34

Page 909

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

Table 7 Cardiff Bus fleet with ULEB funding (2021)

Cardiff Bus- Fleet Euro Standard (2021)
Euro Standard

Number

%

Euro 3

59

26

Euro 4

44

19

Euro 5

50

22

Euro 6

40

17

Full Electric

36

16

It is important to highlight that the Council will continue to work with Cardiff Bus and other
regional bus operators to continue making improvements in the composition of the bus fleets
operating on the Cardiff road network. Ideally such work will focus on shifting to even greener
bus types, such as hybrids, full electric and even hydrogen, rather than retro fitting older
buses. Securing a greener bus fleet will be a key action in the strategic measure to Increase
the Uptake of Sustainable and Active Travel.

5.2

Cardiff Capital Regional Metro

The Cardiff Capital Region Metro proposed by
Welsh Government is likely to comprise a
combination of rail-based and bus-based rapid
transit routes linked through interchanges and
using the same network brand and integrated
ticketing system.
We will continue to work closely with Welsh Government and other partners to support
delivery of the Valley Lines Electrification programme and the design of future extensions to
the Metro network through new rail and bus-based routes and improved interchange
facilities.
A final decision on the Metro is expected from Welsh Government by mid-March 2018.

5.3

Bus Travel to Schools

Where Cardiff Council provides buses for school transport, vehicle age and emission ratings
are considered as part of a quality assessment through the procurement process. Cardiff
Council will continue to ensure that school buses are of the highest possible standard and that
evolving requirements in relation to quality are taken into consideration.

Page | 35

Page 910

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

5.4

Trains

6% of journeys to work by Cardiff residents are made by rail and
passenger numbers across the city and the wider region have grown
significantly in recent years. Cardiff Council works closely with key
partners, including Welsh Government, rail operators and Network Rail,
towards improving and developing the rail network. The new Wales and
Borders rail franchise offers the prospect of new rolling stock, increased
capacity and frequencies to the meet the ever increasing demand for rail
services and allow for further modal shift to rail based journeys.
Cardiff Council will work with operators to increase the number of trains where bicycles can
be taken on board, to encourage mixed active travel to be used as part of longer journeys.

Page | 36

Page 911

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

Chapter 6

Additional Regulatory Measures

In addition to the above measures, there are also regulatory measures that could be
considered by the Council in order to assist in improving air quality and these are discussed
further in this Chapter.

6.1

Clean Air Zones

Defra have defined a CAZ as an area where targeted action is taken to improve air quality and
resources are prioritised and coordinated in order to shape the urban environment in a way
that delivers improved health benefits and supports economic growth. Evidence shows that
Clean Air Zones can deliver substantial benefits across large populations (NICE2017).
Defra have developed a framework for the implementation and requirements of CAZs and
actions to improve air quality are set out against three main themes, namely
1. supporting local growth and ambition (decoupling growth and pollution);
2. accelerating the transition to a low emission economy; and
3. immediate action to improve air quality and health.
The framework details two types of CAZ that can be implemented.


Non-charging Clean Air Zones – These are defined geographic areas used as a focus for action
to improve air quality. This action can take a range of forms but does not include the use of
charge based access restrictions. The framework sets out minimum requirements that CAZ
are expected to achieve.



Charging Clean Air Zones – These are zones where, in addition to any measures identified as
part of a non-charging zone, vehicle owners are required to pay a charge to enter if they are
driving a vehicle that does not meet the particular standard for their vehicle in that zone.
At the time of drafting our strategy there is no Clean Air Zone Framework in place for Wales.
As part of the UK National Plan to Tackle NO2, Welsh Government has committed to
consulting on their proposed framework for how Clean Air Zones could be implemented in
Wales.
It is expected that a framework for Wales will be similar to that of Defra’s framework, in
particular with regards to the different Classes of CAZ that can be implemented, which are
based on the Vehicle Type that is charged for entering the zone.
Page | 37

Page 912

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

Clean Air Zone (CAZ) Classes as Defined by DEFRA

Class A CAZ – Buses, Coaches, Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles
Vehicle Type
Euro category
Euro Standard
Bus
M3 (GVW over 5000kg and more than 8 seats in Euro VI
addition to the driver
Coach
M2 (GVW not exceeding 5000 kg, ref mas
Euro VI
exceeding 2610kg and more than 8 seats in
addition to the driver`
Taxi and Private
Minibus M2 (GVW not exceeding 5000 kg, ref
Euro 6 (diesel)
Hire
mas exceeding 2840 kg and more than 8 seats
Euro 4 (petrol)
in addition to the driver)
Passenger Vehicle with up to 8 seats in addition
to the driver)
Ultra low emission vehicles with significant zero emission range will never be charged
for entering or moving through a CAZ

Class B CAZ – Buses, Coaches, Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles , HGVs
Vehicle Type
Euro category
Euro Standard
Bus
M3 (GVW over 5000kg and more than 8 seats in
Euro VI
addition to the driver
Coach
M2 (GVW not exceeding 5000 kg, ref mas
Euro VI
exceeding 2610kg and more than 8 seats in
addition to the driver`
N2 (GVW over 3500 kg and ref. mass over 2610 kg)
HGVs
Euro VI
N3 (GVW over 5000kg)
Taxi and Private
Minibus M2 (GVW not exceeding 5000 kg, ref
Euro 6 (diesel)
Hire
mas exceeding 2840 kg and more than 8 seats in Euro 4 (petrol)
addition to the driver)
Passenger Vehicle with up to 8 seats in addition
to the driver)
Ultra low emission vehicles with significant zero emission range will never be charged for
entering or moving through a CAZ

Page | 38

Page 913

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

Class C CAZ – Buses, Coaches, Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles , HGVs and LGVs
Vehicle Type
Euro category
Euro Standard
Bus
M3 (GVW over 5000kg and more than 8
Euro VI
seats in addition to the driver
Coach
M2 (GVW not exceeding 5000 kg, ref mas
Euro VI
exceeding 2610kg and more than 8 seats in
addition to the driver`
N2 (GVW over 3500 kg and ref. mass over 2610
HGVs
Euro VI
kg)

N3 (GVW over 5000kg)
Large Vans

N1 (GVW not exceeding 3500 kg and ref. mass
over 1305 kg but not exceeding 2840 kg)

N2 (GVW over 3500 kg and ref. mass not
exceeding 2840 kg)

Euro 6 (diesel)
Euro 4 (petrol)

Small Vans/ light
commercial

N1 (GVW not exceeding 3500 kg and ref. mass
not exceeding 1305 kg)

Euro 6 (diesel)
Euro 4 (petrol)

Taxi and Private
Hire

Minibus M2 (GVW not exceeding 5000 kg,
ref mas exceeding 2840 kg and more than 8
seats in addition to the driver)
Passenger Vehicle with up to 8 seats in
addition to the driver)

Euro 6 (diesel)
Euro 4 (petrol)

Ultra low emission vehicles with significant zero emission range will never be charged for
entering or moving through a CAZ

The Defra framework indicates that if a local authority decided to voluntarily implement a
Clean Air Zone that extended to private cars (Class D), it should be done on a consistent basis
in line with the framework. This means only cars which as a minimum meet Euro 6 standard
(if diesel) or Euro 4 standard (if petrol) should be allowed free entry. Motorcycle and mopeds
which meet Euro 3 should be allowed free entry, if the local authority decided such vehicles
should be in scope. Consideration should be given to exemptions or discounts for residents.
Welsh Government has detailed that it will be developing a separate Framework for Clean
Air Zones in Wales, and Cardiff Council will look to work with Welsh Government to help
develop and shape this framework. In line with the existing Defra guidance, Cardiff Council
will undertake initial feasibility studies on the viability of introducing such a zone in Cardiff,
and more details of this is presented in Section 3 of this Strategy.

6.2

Urban Green Infrastructure

Urban Green infrastructure (GI), when designed and implemented correctly can lead to
improved air quality on a local scale. GI has the ability to control pollution dispersion and
deposition, and therefore is a useful tool to be used in urban environments to mitigate poor
air quality. As well as improved air quality conditions, urban green infrastructure also provides
benefits such as less heat stress, management of storm waters and a reduction in energy
consumption and noise pollution.
Forms of GI include trees, hedges and bushes, green walls and green roofs.

Page | 39

Page 914

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

-Trees and other GI influence wind flow. The combination of buildings, trees and gardens
creates a rough surface area due to the variation in height, creating turbulence that increases
mixing and pollutant dispersion (Figure 11).
- Dependant on the location of a pollution source i.e. Vehicle, trees located in narrow,
enclosed streets “Street Canyons” can have both positive and negative impacts on air quality.
When a pollution source is located within the street canyon, a tree’s canopy leads to reduced
mixing and therefore fumigation. When a pollution source is located outside a street canyon
a tree’s canopy acts as a barrier aiding improved air quality concentrations (Error! Reference s
ource not found.).
-Hedges can be used as a barrier to increase the pathway between a pollution source and
sensitive receptor (person), which increases mixing and reduces the pollutant concentration
(Error! Reference source not found.).

Figure 11

Figure 10

Figure 12

In January 2018, CC collaborated between different departments and produced a successful
application bid to utilise funding made available by Welsh Government, known as Green
Infrastructure Grant Funding Scheme. The requested funding is being used to enable a project
that focusses on the benefits of trees and planting to the city, with a specific emphasis on
methods of addressing air quality issues.
In addition to the funding received via the Green Infrastructure Grant Funding Scheme, Cardiff
Council has also successfully acquired funding via the Landfill Communities Fund. The funding
is being utilised to support a Green Walls project for Tredegarville CIW Primary School.
Tredegarville CIW Primary School is located in a very urban high rise setting in Cardiff city centre
and as a result, the school provides its pupils with very little access to green space. However,
Page | 40

Page 915

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

the school is enthusiastic about improving this situation through developing the green
environment at its site.
There are particular concerns regarding air quality in the vicinity of the school, arising both from
traffic and construction. Given that green walls (also referred to as ‘green screens’) have been
used to improve air quality in cities such as London and Birmingham, a proposal is being put
together for green walls to be installed in Cardiff. Such a project could bring together the joint
ambitions around green spaces/biodiversity and air quality through making use of a
passive/nature based solution.

6.3

Taxi Licensing
6.3.1 Background

Hackney carriage and private hire services are a vital aspect of the
transport network in Cardiff. They are essential for many passengers
with disabilities and play an important social role in enhancing the
public transport system. However, they are also a source of road traffic
derived emissions causing air pollution, especially in the City Centre.
The Licensing Authority of Cardiff Council regulates hackney carriage and private hire drivers,
vehicles and operators and set the conditions that licence holders must adhere to. There are
currently 2,261 hackney carriage/private hire drivers, 902 hackney carriages and 1,150 private
hire vehicles.
Since 2009 there has been a cap in place on the issuing of new hackney carriage licenses. The
primary difference between the types of vehicle is that hackney carriages are able to use taxi
ranks and can be hailed from the roadside, whereas private hire vehicles can only be booked
through a licensed operator.
Vehicles must be tested by a Cardiff MOT station either annually or bi-annually, depending on
their age. This consists of an MOT test plus an additional compliance test that inspects items
such as the taxi roof light that would not otherwise be tested as part of an MOT test.
Furthermore, Licensing Officers also investigate complaints regarding the standard of vehicles
and routinely carry out spot checks. If required they have powers to suspend a licence until
they are satisfied with the vehicle’s condition.
Currently there is no minimum emissions standard that vehicles have to adhere to and, thus
vehicles may be licensed up to 10 years old; however, the age restrictions may be waived if
the vehicle complies with the authorities’ ‘exceptional condition' policy that was introduced
in 2016. This requires the vehicle to be inspected annually by a Licensing Officer to ensure if
meets the required standard.

6.3.2 Cross Border Issues
Cross-border hiring is an issue facing the hackney carriage/private hire trade. This is where
vehicles licensed by one authority carry out private hire work in another authority area.
Although there are over 340 licensing areas across England and Wales, Licensing Officers have
no cross-border enforcement powers. This means that although Cardiff can impose conditions
on the vehicles which are licensed in Cardiff, enforcement officers have no powers over the
vehicles licensed by other authorities which may be working in Cardiff.
Page | 41

Page 916

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

This has created a situation whereby applicants may choose to licence in an area that has less
stringent conditions, but operate predominantly in Cardiff. To help combat this, some Welsh
licensing authorities have introduced ‘intended use’ policies that hackney carriage licenses to
show a bone fide intention to trade predominantly in the area where they are licensed.
However, this only applies to hackney carriages and unless all authorities in England and Wales
adopt an intended use policy, applicants can still choose an authority without one.
Despite the growth and evolution of the industry, the main legal framework governing taxi
services has not undergone any significant reform for nearly 200 years.

6.3.3 Welsh Government Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing In Wales Consultation
2017
In 2014, the Law Commission for England and Wales published its proposals for the reform of
the legislative framework governing the licensing of taxis and private hire vehicles in England
and Wales. Following commencement of relevant provisions of the Wales Act 2017, licensing
of taxis and private hire vehicles will be a matter within the legislative competence of the
National Assembly for Wales.
Welsh Government considered the proposals for the framework for licensing taxis and private
hire vehicles put forward by the Law Commission, for the purpose of bringing new
arrangements into effect in relation to Wales, and recently completed a consultation on these
proposals.
One proposal detailed in the consultation would be the introduction of national standards for
all taxis and private hire vehicles, set by the Welsh Ministers, with the power for local licensing
authorities to set additional standards where it is appropriate to do so.
This may have benefits for improving air quality in Cardiff, as if these standards take into
consideration of vehicles having minimum emission standards for taxis or prioritising/
incentivising electric/ zero emission vehicles, then the drivers may be encouraged to upgrade
their vehicles which could see a reduction in the number of older more polluting vehicles on
the roads. As a licensing authority these are measures that Cardiff could self-implement as
part of additional standards. This strategy will recommend that such measures are considered
by the Licensing Committee, depending on the outcome of the Welsh Government
consultation. The Welsh Government is expected to publish a draft bill in 2018.
In their response to the consultation, the Shared Regulatory Service highlighted the issue of
vehicles idling within the city centre and suggested a possible solution of additional ‘holding
areas’ on the fringes of town centres for vehicles to wait until they are booked electronically.
These areas could be tailored specifically for taxis, including charging points for the eventual
move to electric vehicles and could be the catalyst for taxis to embrace electric vehicles.

6.3.4 Proposals
On the 5th March 2019 the Public Protection Committee agreed for Shared Regulatory Services
to consult on the proposals to amend the Council’s taxi licensing policy which would see the
introduction of new emissions and age requirements for the granting of new licenses and/ or
Page | 42

Page 917

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

change of vehicle applications on new existing licenses. The proposals28 would require that
any vehicle included on the application for a new grant is a minimum Euro 6 emission
standard (petrol and diesel) as part of the license application. The same emission standard
would also apply for any change of vehicle on an existing license.
Following the detailed consultation on this proposal the Public Protection Committee will be
asked to approve the revisions of the Councils licensing policy, with an implementation date
to be agreed. Whilst there is no direct cost the Council for implementing the revised license
conditions, it could be argued that Council’s new taxi strategy to set age and emissions criteria
for licensing for private hire and hackney carriages could place a financial burden on drivers
and operators licensed within Cardiff. This burden is not faced by taxis licensed outside of
Cardiff and they are free to compete for trade alongside Cardiff licensed taxis. This potential
could see Cardiff taxis placed at a financial disadvantage.
In order to redress the balance, the Council will assess measures in detail that will assist taxi
operators with making the switch to newer, more efficient vehicles. The economic assessment
will include for the provision of mitigating measures for the taxi trade, in terms of a grant
scheme to assist with purchase of OEV/LEVs.
It is proposed that Cardiff Council develop a similar grant scheme to those outlined by other
Councils. Funding for the scheme would be facilitated via the acquired funding allocated in
support of WG’s legal direction and required feasibility study.
Cardiff Council would ensure that the grant scheme remains in place until such a time as all
vehicles, are upgraded. Further it is possible that the licensing policy could be revised further
in the future as the report being taken to the Public Protection Committee states the
following:



A consultation on whether to require all hackney carriage and private hire vehicles
licensed for the first time to be ULEV from January 2021;
A consultation on whether to require all existing hackney carriage and private hire
vehicles to be ULEV from January 2025.

Therefore a longer term grant scheme may need to be considered should the Council
implement further policy revisions. Further the Welsh Government’s current consultation on
Improving Public Transport29 states that Welsh Government proposes that a ‘national
standard should apply which specifies requirements for the vehicular emissions of taxis and
PHVs’ and thus Welsh Government may need to consider a wider national scheme to support
any such policy.

6.4

Vehicle Idling Charges

An idling engine can produce up to twice as many exhaust emissions as an engine in motion.
This can affect the air quality of the surrounding environment and the air we breathe.

28

Public Protection Committee 5th March 2019 Item 5 Update To The Age, Emission And Testing
Requirements Of Hackney Carriage And Private Hire Vehicles
29

https://beta.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-12/improving-public-transport_0.pdf

Page | 43

Page 918

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

Under the Road Traffic (Vehicle Emissions) (Fixed Penalty) (Wales) Regulations 2003 Cardiff
Council has the power to implement ‘no vehicle idling’ areas, particularly where groups
congregate (such as outside schools, hospitals and care homes, and in areas where exposure
to road-traffic related air pollution is high, i.e., in AQMAs.
The Council will therefore assess the feasibility and likely benefits of introducing No Vehicles
Idling Areas.

6.5

Review of Car Parking Charges and Residential Permitting Charges

The Council has powers to review the amount it charges residents for on road parking permits.
An assessment should be made of the potential impact of introducing a
sliding scale of permit charges based on the emission standards of vehicles,
which would see a significant reduction in permit costs for EV/0LEVs, in order
to encourage and expedite the update take of such vehicles. Such measures
have already been implemented in a number of Local Authorities in England.
Similar measures will also be considered at Council Car Parks and on Street Parking locations,
whereby the most polluting vehicles would be charged a premium parking rate.

Page | 44

Page 919

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

Chapter 7

Influence and Deliver Transport Behavioural Change

Media
campaigns

Enhance
monitoring
capabilities
and provision
of data

Collaborative
working and
stakeholder
engagemant

Behavioural change is one of the most important elements the Council will need to take a lead
on to help achieve the needed increase in active and sustainable transport to deliver the 50:50
modal split target set out in the LDP. A major aspect of this will be delivering an effective
communications strategy focused on promoting actions that all stakeholders including the
council, businesses and the general public can take to instigate this behavioural change.

7.1

Communications

The communication strategy will need to focus on promoting and marketing the wider health
and environmental benefits of tackling air quality. It is essential that the key messages clearly
show how:
 air pollution has a direct impact on the lives of residents and visitors to Cardiff;
 individual actions can affect air quality; and
 making personal changes will benefit an individual’s health and wellbeing, as well as
helping make Cardiff a more attractive and sustainable place in which to live and work.
To support this, we will produce a local public awareness campaign, with input from the Welsh
Government and Public Health Wales with a focus on:







providing technical scientific evidence on the Council’s website and the Welsh Air
Quality Forum websites;
promoting air quality and engaging with government and business audiences through
seminars, social media and conferences;
communicating with the public about how to reduce the impacts of air pollution by
travelling using alternatives to the private car, particularly on days when air quality is
poor. This will include using variable message signs and other forms of advertising on
our road network as well as other media, including social media;
working with Welsh Government and other partners to integrate information about
air quality into educational resources for to young people;
improving the air quality information that the Council can provide by increasing our
ability to undertaken real-time air quality monitoring.

7.1.1 Car-Free Day
Car- Free Day is considered an excellent opportunity to endorse air quality awareness.
Specifically CC has shared great success promoting Car-Free Day events. In May 2018, CC
organised a car-free day event in the city’s central area. The event coordinated with the HSBC
UK Let’s Ride event and on street entertainment.

Page | 45

Page 920

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

Footfall in the city centre was up by 28% compared with the same day last year, with 125,173
people recorded in the city centre on Sunday compared with 90,005 people on Sunday May
14th, 2017. Organisers of the event have said that 5,000 people took part in the HSBC UK Let's
Ride event, with a further 5,000 people taking part in the entertainment.
As well as providing a carnival atmosphere for the public to enjoy, the idea of Car Free Day
was also to monitor air quality and traffic flow in the city centre.
With the increase in footfall in the city centre, the Council was also keen to monitor traffic
flows on specific roads that were still open on the periphery of the city centre closure. The
results showed a 25% reduction on Newport Road; a 16% reduction on Central Link; a 22%
reduction on Cathedral Road; an 11% reduction on Bute Street; an 8% reduction on Clare
Road; a 30% reduction on Moira Terrace; an 8% reduction on Fitzalan Place and a 45%
reduction on North Road.
City Centre Footfall- City Centre footfall cameras recorded a 28% increase in pedestrian
footfall versus the previous year (cameras are located on Queen St, High St, St Mary Street
and The Hayes)
Bus Use- Cardiff Bus reported that they had more passengers than they would on a normal
‘event day’. Stagecoach recorded a +5% increase in passengers versus a normal Sunday (these
figures suggest that most people walled or cycled).
The summary of air quality monitoring;
Shared Regulatory Services (SRS) on behalf of Cardiff Council undertook a study to examine
levels of air quality within Cardiff’s City Centre in order to quantify the impact that the carfree day event on Sunday 13th May 2018 would have on the main traffic derived pollutant of
concern nitrogen dioxide (NO2). It was anticipated that levels of NO2 would reduce due to the
restriction of vehicles and thus the study was undertaken in order to demonstrate and
quantify this likely reduction.
Air Monitors Ltd supplied SRS with three near real-time indicative air quality monitors (AQ
Mesh Pods). AQ Mesh pods measure gases, in this case nitric oxide, nitrogen dioxide and
ozone using electrochemical sensors powered by Lithium batteries. The data from the pod is
pushed to a cloud server where it is corrected for temperature, pressure and relative humidity
as well as cross gas interference. To verify the performance of the gas sensors the units ran
alongside a reference station and local scaling factors were derived and used to characterise
the sensors. This then enables direct comparison of the data between the pods and the
reference station.
In order to give a detailed understanding for the impact to air quality, levels were recorded
before and after car- free day to enable a comprehensive comparison between normal
baseline conditions and car-free day. The monitors were cited at their specified locations on
Friday 4th May 2018 and decommissioned on Thursday 24th May 2018.
The monitors were located at locations situated on specific network routes influenced by the
day’s event;

Page | 46

Page 921

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

-

Westgate Street
Castle Street/ Duke Street
Stephenson Court, Newport Road

When comparing Sunday 20th May to Car-Free Day event 13th May, the daily average reduction
for NO2 was as follows;
Duke Street/ Castle Street- 86.52%
Stephenson Court on Newport Road- 35.80%
Westgate Street- 84.20%

7.2

Collaboration with other Stakeholders

Recent policy guidance from Welsh Government on local air quality management stressed
that the need to work actively with internal and external partners to reduce air quality (ref
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/170614-policy-guidance-en.pdf ). Stakeholders can
include both the private and public sector and the council will need to work with them to
support the aim of this Strategy and help share and adopt best practice within their
organisations. The Council will need to work closely with others with an interest in air pollution
to ensure a joined up approach using their environment, health and transport expertise. For
example, encouraging physical activity to improve health and work to improvement to the
natural environment will complement active travel initiatives and can help reduce traffic
congestion, pollution and noise.
It is important to see improving air quality as a corporate responsibility for both the private
and public sector. Organisations such as the Council, NHS, NRW, Public Health Wales etc can
play an important role in improving air quality through both how they operate and through
influencing their employees’ behaviour. Improving air quality should, therefore, be considered
an important part of corporate responsibility and sustainability.

7.2.1 Proposals
Working initially through Cardiff Public Services Board, a Healthy Travel Charter for Cardiff has
been developed with major public sector employers which will be launched in April 2019.
Signatories to the Charter make 14 commitments on improving access to active and
sustainable travel for staff and visitors to their main sites, and jointly commit to three targets
namely:




Reduce the proportion of commuting journeys made by car;
Increase the proportion of staff cycling weekly; and
Increase the proportion of vehicles used for business purposes which are
plug-in hybrid or electric.

The Charter will be signed by 11 public sector organisations at launch, employing over 33,000
staff, with additional public and private sector organisations subsequently invited to sign up
to the Charter.

Page | 47

Page 922

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

Chapter 8
8.1

Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures

Summary of Actions

The previous Sections outlined strategic measures that the Council are currently working
towards in order to improve air quality in Cardiff.
Table 9 summarises current and envisaged individual actions that will enable the strategic
measures to be implemented and provides a qualitative assessment of the actions in terms of
their potential impact on air quality, cost and time scales for implementation. The qualitative
appraisal identifies whether the actions are likely to have a direct impact on the existing
AQMAs in Cardiff.

8.2

Delivering Legal Compliance

Whilst the overall aim of this strategy is to deliver improvements in Air Quality across Cardiff
to protect and improve public health, another significant driving factor is to deliver
compliance with the EU Ambient Air Quality Directive (2008/50/EC), in the shortest time
possible, as ruled by the UK High Court in 2016.
As previously discussed CC has been identified by Defra for having road links with exceeding
annual average levels of NO2.
The detailed UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations provides some
guidance on local measures and specifically states in reference to Cardiff; “Where alternative
local measures are suggested, to be effective they must be capable of achieving compliance
within the same amount of time, or sooner, than a Clean Air Zone with access restrictions.”
Under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, Section 85(7), WG has issued formal direction to
Cardiff Council to address its air quality concerns outlined by the projections modelled and
illustrated within the UK detailed plan. The direction has been governed by Welsh Ministers
who have determined that the direction is necessary to meet obligations placed upon the
United Kingdom under the EU Ambient Air Quality Directive (2008/50/EC). The direction
outlines specified activities that are required to be completed by specified deadlines.






Initial Scoping Proposals (Deadline 31st March 2018)- Setting out the proposed
approach to the feasibility study and including scope of work, governance,
resourcing, procurement approach, indicative costs and timings.
Initial Plan (Deadline 30th September 2018)- Setting out the case for change and
identifying, exploring, analysing and developing options for measures which the
local authority will implement to deliver compliance in the shortest time possible,
with indicative costs for those options.
Final Plan (Deadline 30th June 2019)- Identifying in detail the preferred option for
delivering compliance in the shortest possible time, and including a full business
case setting out value for money considerations and implementation
arrangements and timings.

As part of the UK detailed plan, those identified local authorities are required to undertake a
feasibility study in accordance with the HM Treasury’s Green Book approach, to identify the

Page | 48

Page 923

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

option which will deliver compliance with legal limits for nitrogen dioxide in the area for which
the authority is responsible, in the shortest possible time.
The feasibility study will look to examine the likelihood of the council’s proposed measures
achieving compliance with the EU & UK Ambient Air Quality Directive Limit Values for NO2,
and if so, when a date of compliance is envisaged. The expected date of compliance for these
proposed measures must be cross referenced to benchmarked compliance date expected for
the introduction of a charging Clean Air Zone (CAZ). If compliance is not likely to be expected
prior to the anticipated CAZ benchmarked compliance date, a CAZ will be the agreed option.
If compliance is not likely to be expected prior to the anticipated CAZ benchmarked
compliance date, a CAZ will be the preferred option. Subsequent modelling will be then be
required to assess a number of CAZ options together with proposed measures.
The feasibility study will rely heavily on detailed modelling to project transport trends,
associated emissions and subsequent concentrations of NO2. A specific working group will be
assigned formed of council officers, public service health bodies and external consultants. In
line with WG’s direction, this working group will deliver a Full Business Case for the preferred
“FINAL” option scenario.
As discussed previously it is CC’s objective to ensure levels are as low as reasonably practicable
in the shortest time possible. The production of this CAS & Action Plan provides the basis for
the referenced feasibility study in the form of a long list of measures. The document also
satisfies CC’s LAQM duties by delivering an action plan to improve air quality within its four
designated AQMAs. Due to Cardiff’s interlinking and converging transport system by
addressing the air quality concerns highlighted along the road links outlined by WG it is
evident that the air quality concentrations associated with the AQMAs will also be impacted.
As such the measures/actions detailed in Table 7 need to be shortlisted to a number of
preferred options which need to be informed by local evidence and understanding. These
options will be taken forward for detailed assessment and Cardiff Council will be required to
assess these measures and provide robust evidence on the impact of the measures. This will
be informed by local traffic and air quality modelling, as this will provide a more detailed
assessment of the specific local situation than the national air quality model that currently
shows Cardiff to be non-compliant beyond 2020.

8.3

Assessment of Measures

In line with the prescribed Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance (LAQM TG16),
in order to appraise the package of current and proposed mitigation measures for the City of
Cardiff, measures which provide the most significant impact on emissions and rank high on a
cost benefit analysis should be short listed and subject to further quantifiable analysis.
However, in view of the requirement to demonstrate compliance with the EU Ambient Air
Quality Directive, in the shortest time possible, it is felt that the full measures cannot be
ranked based on the appraisal format in LAQM TG16. At this stage it is not confirmed what
funding resource will be available for the majority of measurements and therefore there is
some uncertainty in being able to assess likely implementation dates. What can be confirmed

Page | 49

Page 924

The City of Cardiff Council -Clean Air Strategy

at this stage is that the cited measures will each achieve different levels of air quality impact
within different timescales and financial budgets.
With regards to assessing each measure for impact on emissions, as detailed in LAQM TG16
the following guidelines were adopted to quantify the level of impact;


Low effect – action focused on a small proportion of sources contributing to an
exceedance;



Medium effect – action focused on only one key emissions source;



High effect – action focused on dealing with key high emitting sources, or a number
of emissions sources.

Table 8- Qualitative Assessment Tool for Assessing Actions
£
££
£££
££££

Cost
<£100k
£100k- £500k
£500k- £1 million
>£1 million

Air Quality Impact
✓
Low
✓✓
Medium
✓✓✓
High
Negligible

Timescale
S
6- 12 months
M
1- 2 years
L
>2 years
-

Page | 50

Page 925

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Table 9- Qualitative Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures
Strategic Measure

Action
Implementation and consideration of
existing Local Development Plan (LDP)
policies (KP18 & EN13) during any
planning application process.

Enhance Local
Planning Policy

Planning for Health and Well-being SPG

Air
Quality
Impact

Cost

-

All

-

The SPG is
supplementary
to Policies KP14
and C6 of the
adopted LDP.

All

-

Page 926

Enhance Local
Planning Policy

AQMA/ JAQU
Identified
Areas

Additional
Information

Non- Air
Quality
Impacts
Section 106
agreements
can be used to
secure funds
for air quality
improvement
schemes
where
mitigation is
required. Local
planning
policies to
encourage
active travel as
an alternative
mode will
contribute to
health
benefits.
-

Implementation
Timescale

Funding

In place

Existing
Budgets

In Place

Existing
Budgets

Page | 59

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Table 9- Qualitative Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures
Strategic Measure
Enhance Local
Planning Policy

Action
Develop Supplementary Planning
Guidance (SPG) to provide a specific
guidance for air quality in accordance
with new developments.

Additional
Information

Page 927

SPG will look at
criteria needed
to proceed to
an
AQA/mitigation
measures that
need to be
implemented to
ensure any
adverse impact
is resolved/
additional
infrastructure
needed to
support the
uptake of LEVs.
The SPG will
also look at
addressing
cumulative
impacts derived
by planning
proposals and
look to oppose
structures that
have the
potential to
create canyon
effect.

Air
Quality
Impact

AQMA/ JAQU
Identified
Areas

Cost

All

-

Non- Air
Quality
Impacts
Improved
Street Scene

Implementation
Timescale
Short (Ongoing)

Funding
Existing
Budgets

Page | 60

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Table 9- Qualitative Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures
Strategic Measure

Page 928
Enhance Cardiff’s
Transportation
System

Action

Additional
Information

Air
Quality
Impact

AQMA/ JAQU
Identified
Areas

Supplementary Planning Guidance
(SPG) “Managing Transport Impacts &
Parking Standards”

Published

All

Cardiff’s Green Infrastructure SPG

Published

All

Freight and Delivery ManagementAssess and improve where necessary
strategic routes for freight timings of
planned journeys for in and around City
Centre.

-

All

Cost

Non- Air
Quality
Impacts
Reduced
Congestion
and
enhancements
to transport
schemes due
to income
generation
improving
journey time
and quality.
Increase in
physical
activity levels.
Increase Green
Space and
provide a
visual
enhancement
to the area, in
particular for
townscape and
public realm.
Increased
accessibility
via reduced
congestion.

Implementation
Timescale

Funding

In Place

Existing
Budgets

In Place

Existing
Budgets

Medium

Existing
Budgets

Page | 61

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Table 9- Qualitative Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures
Strategic Measure

Action
Consider establishing a freight quality
partnership to provide a forum for
discussion with HGV operators.
Implement further speed restrictions
and enhance those already established
“20mph Zones”

Page 929
Cardiff Capital Region Metro

Additional
Information

Air
Quality
Impact

AQMA/ JAQU
Identified
Areas

Cost

Non- Air
Quality
Impacts

All

CC has
introduced
‘signs only’
20mph limits in
Cathays and
Plasnewydd
area. Approach
coincides with
the Safe Routes
to School
Programme.
Such measures
are known to
have positive
impacts to NOx
levels- 24%31% decrease
(Jones & Brunt
2017).
Proposed by
WG (Rail and
bus based rapid
transit routes).

All

All

Safer
environment
for pedestrians

Implementation
Timescale

Funding

Short

Existing
Budgets

Short

Existing
Budgets

Long

City Deal

Page | 62

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Table 9- Qualitative Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures
Strategic Measure

Action

Additional
Information

Air
Quality
Impact

AQMA/ JAQU
Identified
Areas

Page 930

Development of Cardiff’s Central
Square Interchange

A part of the
proposal is a
state of the art
Bus
Interchange.

All

Bus Programme- Strategic Bus Network

Improve bus
networks and
efficiency of the
service. Bus
lanes have been
installed on
A470, A4119 &
A48. Suggested
400m of bus
lane ensures
each bus with a
time advantage
of 5 minutes.
Proposals are in
place for a park
and ride system
at Junction 33
which would
look to
intercept traffic

All

Park and Ride programme.

All

Cost

Non- Air
Quality
Impacts

Implementation
Timescale

Funding

Increased use
of public
transport/
reduced
congestion/
improvements
to
accessibility/
improvements
to journey
time.
Increased use
of public
transport/
reduced
congestion/
improvements
to
accessibility/
improvements
to journey
time.

Long

WG &
Existing
Budgets

In Place &
Ongoing

WG &
Existing
Budgets

Increased use
of public
transport/
reduced
congestion/
improvements
to accessibility.

Medium

S106 Funded
and WG

Page | 63

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Table 9- Qualitative Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures
Strategic Measure

Increase the uptake
of Sustainable and
Active Travel

Action

Cycling Superhighways infrastructure.
Cardiff’s DRAFT Cycling Strategy.
Intergrated Network Map (INM).

Page 931
Work jointly with bus operators to
deliver improvements to the fleet (ULEB
and retrofit schemes); prioritise ULEB
funded buses on routes impacting
AQMAs & outlined routes from the
PCM model.

Additional
Information
on the A470,
north Cardiff.
Park and ride
anticipated for
Llantrisant Road
and expansion
of park and ride
on A48.
Cycling Strategy
sets out to
double number
of cycling trips
by 2026; 9.2%
modal share in
2015 to 18.4%
in 2026. Two
new cycle
superhighways
proposed. The
INM prioritises
cycling and
walking routes
over 15 year
period.
-

Air
Quality
Impact

AQMA/ JAQU
Identified
Areas

Cost

Non- Air
Quality
Impacts

Implementation
Timescale

All

Increase in
physical
activity and
improvements
to well-being.

Long

All (City Centre
AQMA will see
the largest
impact based
on source
apportionment
analysis)

Improved
health and
well-being.
Associated
noise
improvements.

Short

Funding

OLEV- 75%
funding
approved

Page | 64

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Table 9- Qualitative Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures
Strategic Measure

Action

Schools’ Active Travel Plans

Additional
Information

Page 932

Corporate
commitment for
every school in
Cardiff to have
an active travel
plan by April
2022.

Car Clubs

CC engagement
with ‘Living
Streets’ charity
who have
developed a
‘WOW’ (Walk
Once a Week)
scheme in 7
allocated
schools in
Cardiff.
-

Development of the Staff Healthy
Travel Charter.

To be launched
in April 2019.

Air
Quality
Impact

AQMA/ JAQU
Identified
Areas

Cost

Non- Air
Quality
Impacts

Implementation
Timescale

Funding

All

Reduced
congestion;
enhanced
safety;
improved
fitness &
health; raised
awareness &
behaviour
change.

In place/ Ongoing

Existing
Budgets &
WG Funding
(Healthy and
Active Fund)

All

Reduced
Congestion
and improved
journey times
Improved
health and
well-being.
Reduced
congestion

Short

Existing
Budgets

Short

Existing
Budgets

All

Page | 65

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Table 9- Qualitative Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures
Strategic Measure

Action

Additional
Information

Air
Quality
Impact

AQMA/ JAQU
Identified
Areas

Cost

Non- Air
Quality
Impacts

Implementation
Timescale

Funding

and improved
journey times.
Implement
Renewable Fuels
Strategy

Improve and promote the uptake of
low emission vehicles by enhancing
Cardiff’s EV infrastructure and identify
opportunities to promote awareness.

Page 933
Ensure that procurement for Councils
fleet considers alternative fuelled
vehicles.

Encourage the
public and
businesses to
increase switch
to alternative
fuels.
The Council has
been successful
in obtaining a
bid from the
Office of Low
Emission
Vehicles (OLEV)
36 charge
points in 21
locations across
the city and
accessible to
the public by
31st March
2019.
Council to fund
the hire lease
costs of 56 new
EVs in 2019/20
(replacing
existing
petrol/diesel

All

Short-medium

Existing
Budgets &
OLEV

All

Short

Existing
Budgets

Page | 66

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Table 9- Qualitative Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures
Strategic Measure

Public Information
and Behaviour
Change Initiatives

Action

Promotion and Communication of the
benefits surrounding active travel.

Page 934

Show council support to local air quality
awareness campaigns in Cardiff.

Collaborative working with key
stakeholders, such as Public Service
Boards (PSBs) & WG

Additional
Information
vehicles) and 37
vehicles in
2020/21.
Only 25% of
Cardiff residents
meet physical
activity
guidelines and
53% are obese
or overweight
(Welsh Health
Survey 2010
and 2011).
Look at various
avenues to
collaborate with
campaigners
and other
professional
bodies.

Ensure that any
marketing
campaigns
designed to
encourage a
modal shift are
interconnected
with
communications

Air
Quality
Impact

AQMA/ JAQU
Identified
Areas

-

All

-

Cost

Non- Air
Quality
Impacts

Reduced
Congestion
and improved
journey times

Implementation
Timescale

Funding

Short

Existing
Budgets

All

-

Short

Professional
bodies/
External
investors

All

-

Short

Existing
Budgets

Page | 67

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Table 9- Qualitative Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures
Strategic Measure

Action

Additional
Information

Air
Quality
Impact

AQMA/ JAQU
Identified
Areas

-

All

Short

Existing
Budgets/ WG
funding

All

Short

Existing
Budgets &
WG funding

Cost

Non- Air
Quality
Impacts

Implementation
Timescale

Funding

teams with PSBs
to ensure
consistency
with marketing
themes.

Page 935

Additional
Regulatory
Interventions

Increase public’s capabilities to access
air quality data via the integration of a
smart cities approach.

-

Improvement of Taxi Licensing Policy Target older taxi vehicles and look to
amend policy guidance

WG considering
minimum welsh
standard for
taxis which
could be
adopted in
Cardiff. Cardiff
currently has in
place an
‘exceptional
condition’ policy
which looks to
extend taxi
licenses once
past an age of
10 years.
Currently there
are 2,261
hackney
carriage/private

Page | 68

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Table 9- Qualitative Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures
Strategic Measure

Action

Enforce vehicle idling charges

Page 936
Increase the monitoring capabilities of
the council with investment in more
real time monitoring.

Additional
Information
hire drivers, 902
hackney
carriages and
1,150 private
hire vehicles in
Cardiff.
Under Road
Traffic (Vehicle
Emissions)
(Fixed Penalty)
Regulations
2003, CC has
the power to
implement “no
vehicle idling”
areas. CC will
need to assess
the feasibility
and likely
benefits of
these suggested
areas.
Two real time
monitoring
stations on
Frederick Street
and Richard’s
Terrace,
Newport Road
provides real
time data as

Air
Quality
Impact

-

AQMA/ JAQU
Identified
Areas

Cost

Non- Air
Quality
Impacts

Implementation
Timescale

Funding

All

Short

Existing
Budgets

-

Short

Existing
Budgets OR
Successful
bid proposals
made to WG
for improved
Infrastructure

Page | 69

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Table 9- Qualitative Assessment of Actions to Deliver Strategic Measures
Strategic Measure

Action

Encourage/ Facilitate homeworking

Additional
Information

Page 937

part of AURN
network.
Cardiff Council
is one of the
largest
employers in
Wales and
therefore could
look to adopt
more flexible/
agile working
patterns

Air
Quality
Impact

AQMA/ JAQU
Identified
Areas

All

Cost

Non- Air
Quality
Impacts

Quality of life
improvements,
saved costs on
office space,
eliminate time
lost travelling
to office
meaning
shorter
working days,
reduced
congestion
during peak
times

Implementation
Timescale

Short

Funding

Existing
Budgets

Page | 70

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

8.4

Stakeholder Engagement

In order to ensure that Cardiff Council implements a solution that not only delivers compliance
in the shortest possible time, but ensures that such a solution is supported and welcomed by
citizens, businesses and visitors to Cardiff it will be vitally important to fully engage and work
with the public and businesses to ensure that the preferred option implemented meets the
citizens expectations.

8.4.1 Consultation on the Green Paper on Transport and Clean Air
At the end of March 2018 the Council launched a Green
Paper on Transport and Clean Air30. The paper set out a
number of proposals/ ambitions termed as ‘Big Ideas’ on
measures to improve transport and air quality in Cardiff.
Fundamentally the paper focused on the need to tackle
congestion and offer active travel options to discourage
unnecessary private car use, keeping the city moving and
ensuring the health of citizens. The paper enabled
members of the public, businesses and other
organisations a chance to score the proposals in terms of
preference of them being implemented in Cardiff.
Consultation on the Cardiff’s Transport and Clean Air
Green Paper was open from the 26th March to the 1st
July 2018.
The consultation centred on an electronic survey, with a
communication campaign conducted via social media.
The survey received 3,580 total valid survey responses (including 266 partial responses)
The total number of surveys collected from schools was 285. At the time of writing this report
the full detailed assessment of the consultation responses is ongoing but some key headline
data can be extracted from this survey.
The Top 3 ‘Big Ideas’ were:





Integrated Ticketing
Zero Carbon Bus Fleet
Improving the digital network and user information (for public transport).

The lease favourable ‘Big Ideas’ were:





Autonomous Vehicles
Parking Levies (increase parking charged and or work place parking levies)
A Total City 20mph Zone

The information above does indicate that there is a desire for an increase use in Public
Transport given that the ‘top 3’ all relate to improvements in public transport measures.
Consideration of the outcome of this consultation has informed the refinement of the shortlist
of measures.

8.5

Shortlist of Local Measures

In line with the Direction received from WG and for the purpose of addressing air quality
concerns in the four specified AQMAs the long list of measures derived by Table 9 will be
30

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Parking-roads-and-travel/transport-and-clean-air-greenpaper/Documents/Cardiff%27s%20Transport%20and%20Clean%20Air%20Green%20Paper.pdf

Page | 71

Page 938

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

subjected to further appraisal which will reflect the requirements of the HM Treasury
Guidance (Green Book), the wellbeing of future generations legislation, and also the Welsh
Transport Appraisal Guidance (WelTAG).
The shortlist of measures will be assessed in detail via air quality and transport modelling
which will quantify the level of impact to air quality within the designated AQMAs and Defra’s
modelled road links. As detailed in Section 8.2 this level of detail was outlined in the Initial
Plan submitted prior to the 30th September 2018 deadline.
The summarise the long list of measures are;

8.5.1 Enhance Local Planning Policy
M1: Implementation and consideration of existing Local Development Plan (LDP) policies
(KP18 & EN13) during any planning application process.
M2: Development of a Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) for Planning for Health and
Well-being .The SPG is supplementary to Policies KP14 and C6 of the adopted LDP.
M3: Develop Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) to provide a specific guidance for air
quality in accordance with new developments;
M4: Develop Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) “Managing Transport Impacts &
Parking Standards; and
M5: Publish Green Infrastructure SPG.

8.5.2 Enhance Cardiff’s Transportation System
M6: Freight and Delivery Management- Assess and improve where necessary strategic
routes for freight timings of planned journeys for in and around City Centre;
M7: Establishment of a freight quality partnership to provide a forum for discussion with
HGV operators;
M8: Implement further speed restrictions and enhance those already established “20mph
Zones;
M9: Cardiff Capital Region Metro*;
M10: Development of Cardiff’s Central Square Interchange;
M11: Bus Network Programme- Strategic Bus Network to improve bus networks and efficiency
of services via increased and improved bus lanes; and
M12: Accelerated Park and Ride programme in NW & NE Cardiff; NW delivery of P&R in
north west of Cardiff – J33/ Llantrisant Road – 750 P&R at J33 and 250 P&R off Llantrisant Rd
& NE expansion of P & R on the A48.
* Metro not considered further owing to the fact that Cardiff Council is not able to
influence the timescales for implementing this project.

Page | 72

Page 939

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

8.5.3 Increase the Uptake of Sustainable and Active Travel
M13: Development of Cycling Superhighways infrastructure with Integrated Network Map
(INM). Minimum of Two cycle superhighways proposed;
M14: Work jointly with bus operators to deliver improvements to the fleet, by securing OLE
Buses and priorities such buses on routes impacting AQMAs; and
M15: Development of further School Travel Plans, by continued engagement with ‘Living
Streets’ charity who have developed a ‘WOW’ (Walk Once a Week) scheme, which is
currently undertaken in 7 schools in Cardiff.
M16: Development of Car Clubs in Cardiff, to encourage car sharing schemes.
M17: Promotion and Communication of the benefits surrounding active travel.

8.5.4 Renewable Fuels Strategy and Improve EV/ 0EV Infrastructure
M18: Roll out EV charging locations or identify alternative fuel supplies;
M19: Ensure that procurement for Councils fleet considers alternative fuelled vehicles; and
M20: Through the Public Service Board encourage procurement of alternative fuelled
vehicles.

8.5.5 Regulatory Interventions
M21: Improvement of Taxi Licensing Policy, to set minimum vehicle emissions standards;
M22: Implement and Enforce non vehicles idling areas;
M23: Review car parking and car permit charges and allow for reduced rates for EV/OLEV,
and increased rates for <Euro 6; and
M24: Increase the monitoring capabilities of the council with investment in more real time
monitoring; and
M25: Implementation of a Charging Clean Air Zone.

8.5.6 Public Information and Behaviour Change Initiatives
M26: Increase air quality awareness campaigns in Cardiff, such as Car Free Day;
M27: Collaborative working with key stakeholders, such as Public Service Boards (PSBs) &
WG;
M28: Increase public’s capabilities to access air quality data via the integration of a smart
cities approach; and
M29: Implement a Green Infrastructure/ Living Wall Installation Programme

Page | 73

Page 940

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

8.6

Timeline for Delivery of Assessment and Implementation of Preferred Measures

Figure 13 below sets out a time line of the next phases of work that Cardiff will undertake in
order to assess the long list of measures to try and demonstrate how we will achieve
compliance in the shortest time possible. In addition the timeline shows further dates for
which additional work streams will be finalised and implemented. The dates presented are
estimated based on our current understanding from Welsh Government.
Figure 13- Proposed Timeline to Develop and Implement Measures to Achieve Compliance for NO2

Final Business Case
Plan 30th June 2019

Implementation
of preferred
measure(s) Q4
2019/Q1 2020
(or earlier)

Initial Plan 30th Sept 2018

Submit Initial Scoping
Proposals 31st March 2018

Page | 74

Page 941

The City of Cardiff Council- Clean Air Strategy & Action Plan

Chapter 9

Performance Monitoring and Measurement

In order for the Council to assess whether the overarching aim of the Clean Air Strategy is being
or likely to be met the following are the key targets for which we will assess the measurement of
the success of this Strategy:


Achieve all statutory air quality standards in shortest time possible;



Deliver an ongoing reduction in NO2 and particulate levels for the duration of this strategy,
thus improving air quality beyond statutory requirements;



Demonstrate a reduction in NO2 and particulate emissions derived from CC activities;



Reduce the fraction of mortality attributable to air pollution in Cardiff (and Vale HB);



Increase the proportion of journeys to work and school made by public transport or active
travel methods; and



Increase in the uptake and use of ultra-low and zero emission vehicles in the City.

Page | 75

Page 942

Programme & Project Risk Register
Programme Name: Clean Air Feasibility Study
This log is used to record and track both Programme and project risks. Risks are things that may or may not happen in the future that could have an effect on a Programme or Project's success. This log includes all risks identified over the life of the Programme\Project, including those that have passed and are no longer a threat to the Programme \ Project, those that have been prevented or mitigated, and those that have become issues.
Do not delete risk information from this log: it is a permanent record of risks.

Inherent Status
Risk Ref No.

0001

Date Entered

Date Last
Updated

Measure

Risk Event

Unable to secure funding for
£1.8M shortfall

01/03/2019

Electric Buses

01/03/2019

Electric substation at Sloper
Electric Buses Rd needs upgrade in order to
provide sufficient capacity.

01/03/2019

Insufficient No. E-Buses
Electric Buses available due to market
demand

01/03/2019

Replacement Programme
Electric Buses Disrupts day to day Cardiff
Bus Operations.

Risk Type

Risk Description

Financial

ULEB grant allocated 75% cost difference
between Diesel Bus and Ebus, and thus there
is a shortfall in funding of £1.8M

Financial

There would be further capital cost to upgrade
the substation in order that it could provide
suitable capacity

Timescale

EV Bus targets not reached and thus
improvements in AQ not Achieved

Likelihood
Rating
(A - D)

Consequence
Rating
(1 - 4)

b

2

Current Residual Status
Current Controls
Level of Inherent
Risk

Red

Red/Amber
0002

c

1

Amber/Green
0003

d

1

Green
0004

Cardiff Buss unable to run certain bus services
to schedule, creating disruption for passengers

d

4

Amber/Green

Operational problems
0005

01/03/2019

Electric Buses experienced with New E

Quality

Buses

Page 943

0006

Bus Service Disruption/ Vehicles unable to
reach destination/ depot to charge etc.

c

3

Amber/Green

01/03/2019

Bus Retrofit

Retrofit project unable to be
delivered through approved
supplier

Procurement

Supplier unable to meet the order/ demand for
retrofit programme

c

3

Ongoing discussions, between Cardiff
Bus and Cardiff Council and WG to
identify avoidance of state aid.
Cardiff Bus investigating the capacity
of the substation with WPD and the
charging requirements with their likely
approved supplier.
As part of the procurement process
Cardiff Bus need to ensure that
preferred supplier is able provide
sufficient guarantees on supply,
discussions on going.
Replacement work will be carefully
planned to ensure that services
continue to operate whilst E-Buses
are incorporated into the service.
Proposed system will be overnight
charging at Sloper Rd, so should
ensure that all buses have sufficient
charge to operate daily route.
However will need to ensure that
sufficient testing of all systems is
undertaken, and appropriate
monitoring/ assessment is
undertaken to ensure greatest
efficiencies are obtained.
Suppliers have previously provided
assurances that they can meet
demand and have a large
manufacturing base. Potential need
to identify and assess back-up
supplier to ensure that in the unlikely
event that approved supplier is
unable to deliver.

Likelihood
Rating
(A - D)

Consequence
Rating
(1 - 4)

c

1

Red/Amber

Green
d

3

Green
d

Green
d

0008

System design is not
compatible with the vehicles

01/03/2019

Bus Retrofit

01/03/2019

Variations in equipment
costs due to the volatile
Bus Retrofit European currency market
could lead to an increase in
the cost of the project

Timescale

Technology unable to be installed and thus
there could be significant delay in implementing
full scheme and thus air quality improvements
not met

c

3

Amber/Green
Financial

Cost overrun on project

c

3

Amber/Green

0009

01/03/2019

Bus Retrofit

Retrofit Programme
significantly disrupts Bus
services in Cardiff

Resource

Bus Operators unable to run bus services to
schedule, creating disruption for passengers

c

3

Green

0010

01/03/2019

Bus Retrofit

01/03/2019

Taxi
Measures

Retrofit technology fails

Quality

NOX emissions are not in line with expected
performance and NO2 concentrations are not
reduced in an effective manner as a result.

c

4

Red/Amber
0011

Revised Policy does not get
approved by Public
Protection Committee

Filepath: C:\Users\jabale\AppData\Roaming\Microsoft\Windows\Network Shortcuts\19.03.06 PQA Risk Register
4.PQA.111,
Issue 4.0,
4 March 2014

Legal

failure to require minimum emission standards on all
new grants and new vehicles.

c

1

Pprocess Owner:Christine Salter;

Fixed price for the equipment to be
agreed across the entire
manufacturing schedule, prior to any
grant funding being released.
Retrofit work will be carefully planned
to take place overnight or at
weekends when demand and
scheduling allows for a reduction in
the peak vehicle requirement (pvr) to
occur without disrupting services for
passengers.
Green Urban Technologies have
demonstrated significant NOx reductions,
greater than 95% by the installation of
their Selective Catalytic Reduction
Technology (SCRT). The system was
independently tested over the Millbrook
London Bus Test cycle (MLTB).

Ensure that the report to Committee
clearly sets out the reasoning for
requiring the policy changes, and that
it is directly linked to the Legal
Direction.

Authorised: Internal Audit

d

3

CO/CC

JB

Open

< 3 months

GM

JB

Open

< 12 months

GM

JB

Open

< 12 months

GM

JB

Open

No Time Period

gm

JB

Open

No Time Period

JG

JB

Open

< 12 months

JG

job

Open

< 12 months

JG

job

Open

< 12 months

JG

JB

Open

< 12 months

JG

JB

Open

No Time Period

SRS

JB

open

Ensure prices are fixed as part of
procurement process.

Ensure fitting programme agreed with
operators

Ensure GUT or another approved supplier
have up to date testing results to
demonstrate effectiveness of technology

3

Amber/Green
C

< 1 month

Ensure information is available to supplier
of technology and that they account for
undertaking surveys as part of
Procurement process.

3

Green

d

Risk
Status

ensure demand supply assurances
included as part of procurement process

3

Green

d

Risk Actioner

Appropriate testing of system.

3

Green
d

Risk Owner

review of implementation plan

3

Green

Detailed surveys will be undertaken
on the existing fleet requiring retrofit
to validate the conditions of the
vehicles to ensure that equipment
selection is correct. design work or
prototyping will be done during the
first 6 weeks while waiting for the key
components to arrive. On arrival of
the parts a “First Off” system will be
built and then installed on each of the
different vehicle types and tested to
ensure that the systems achieve the
desired emissions reduction.

Proximity

review procurement documentation

3

Green

d

Ensure WPD provide suitable assurances
or accurate costs for any upgrade
requirements.

3

Green

d

other funding alternatives being
considered and investigated.

3

Amber/Green

0007

Proposed Future Actions
Level of Inherent
Risk

Development of mitigation scheme to
ease burden on drivers/ taxi trade

Print date: 08/03/2019
Page 1 of 3

Risk Ref No.

Date Entered

Date Last
Updated

Measure

Risk Event

Risk Type

Risk Description

Likelihood
Rating
(A - D)

Consequence
Rating
(1 - 4)

Current Controls
Level of Inherent
Risk

Red

0012

01/03/2019

Taxi
Measures

Appeal/ JR by Taxi Trade on
changes to policy

0013

01/03/2019

Taxi
Measures

increase in cross boarder
taxis operating in Cardiff

Legal

Opposition could delay the implementation of the
revised policy which will fail to see the turnover in
taxi fleet to Euro 6 or ULEVs

b

2

Increase in cross boarder
taxis operating in Cardiff

01/03/2019

Quality

Impact on Wider Network

0015

01/03/2019

City Centre
Loop

Quality

01/03/2019

City Centre
Loop

Cardiff unable to prevent older taxis, that are
licensed in neighbouring authorities who may
not apply emission standards as part of
licensing requirements, and such taxis can
operate in Cardiff.

a

3

Red

Impact on Wider Network: There is a risk that
displaced traffic could have a negative effect on the
wider traffic network
b

2

Local businesses could reject the scheme based on
the changes to their operations

Impact on Local Businesses
and Residents:
0016

Communication

Red/Amber
c

2

Changes of this scale can cause worry among the
public, there is a risk the scheme will not gain public
support
0017

01/03/2019

City Centre
Loop

Objections to the schemes

Communication

Page 944

01/03/2019

City Centre
Loop

Air Quality Impacts

Legal

0019

01/03/2019

City Centre
Loop

Historical Environment Around
Cardiff Castle

Legal

0020

01/03/2019

City Centre
Loop

Presence of heavily
contaminated soils/ materials

Financial

01/03/2019

City Centre
Loop

Ground Conditions:

0022

01/03/2019

City Centre
Loop

Statutory Undertakers/ Supplies

0023

01/03/2019

City Centre
Loop

Impact of Construction on
Surrounding stakeholders

0024

01/03/2019

City Centre
Loop

Impact of Construction on
Existing and Future
Developments

0025

01/03/2019

City Centre
Loop

Impacts to Highway Network.

0026

Red/Amber

c

1

There is a risk that the current scheme will not
achieve the required air quality improvement

0018

0021

01/03/2019

General
Issues

Government led variation

Consequence
Rating
(1 - 4)

Financial

Cadw requirements: Due to listed structures in and
around the Castle area. There is a risk to the design
altering fundamentally, having a detrimental effect
on the bus network.
Potential risk of existing material under current
carriageway and footway could be contaminated.
Additional cost could be associated with excavation
and disposal
West Gate Street has poor existing ground
conditions, with this in mind there is a potential risk
that the existing ground conditions for Castle Street
and Wood Street could be in a poor state and
additional carriageway make up may be required

Due to the location of the site, there is a high
volume of statutory undertakers equipment present
in the footways and carriageway. Potential risk of
Health & Safety
the proposal clashing with existing services causing
possible diversions
Due to the number of surrounding stakeholders i.e.
Principality Stadium, Cardiff Castle, Carparks.
Communication Access will be required to be maintained throughout
the construction period to limit any financial losses
on the stakeholders
A number of developments are due to be in
construction or starting construction during the
Quality
construction phase. Potential conflict between the
Principal Contractor and development Contractor

Timescale

Timescale

Filepath: C:\Users\jabale\AppData\Roaming\Microsoft\Windows\Network Shortcuts\19.03.06 PQA Risk Register
4.PQA.111,
Issue 4.0,
4 March 2014

Due to the location of the scheme it is vital that the
highway network remains unrestricted during peak
times of the day

Legislative - a change in the underlying
requirements from Government - this could be
led by additional court cases brought by
environmental pressure groups resulting in
more stringent AQ targets

Green

d

3

d

3

c

1

Green

Red/Amber

Red/Amber
c

2

Red/Amber
c

2

d

3

Green

Amber/Green
d

1

d

4

Green

Green
d

3

Pprocess Owner:Christine Salter;

Proposed Future Actions

c

Proximity

Risk Owner

Risk Actioner

Risk
Status

No Time Period

JB

JB

Open

SRS

JB

Open

< 12 months

GS

JB

Open

< 12 months

GS

JB

Open

< 12 months

GS

JB

Open

< 3 months

JB

JB

Open

< 12 months

GS

JB

Open

< 12 months

GS

JB

Open

< 12 months

GS

JB

Open

< 6 months

GS

JB

Open

No Time Period

Contractor

GS/JB

Open

No Time Period

Contractor

GS/JB

open

No Time Period

GS

JB

open

< 12 months

JB

JB

open

Level of Inherent
Risk

Amber/Green

Development of mitigation scheme to
ease burden on drivers/ taxi trade

3

#N/A
Red/Amber

0014

Ensure that sufficient engagement
with the industry continues to take
place to educate the industry on the
justification of the proposals in terms
of the AQ Direction. Engage with
Welsh Government to establish
suitable Grant Funding Scheme to
assist taxi drivers/ operators to
upgrade vehicles.

Likelihood
Rating
(A - D)

#N/A

Need to work with neighbouring
authorities to promote uptake of
similar policies. For Vale and
Bridgend this should be
straightforward as licensing
undertaken by SRS. Caerphilly and
Newport also face challenging AQ
issues so should also be desire within
these Councils to follow suit if they
have not already done so.
Full ANPR, MTC and ATC survey to be
conducted on project area and the
surrounding network area. This data will
be used to create wider network model
where options will be retested. An impact
assessment on the wider network will be
carried out as part of this work and will
Private engagement with key
stakeholders will be used to help inform
the scheme design. An operational plan
detailing how residents, businesses,
buses, taxis and key stakeholders will use
the new transport layout will be created.
A full consultation plan will be
implemented as part of the pre
construction phase. Plans will be
submitted online and will be accompanied
by a consultation pack. Drop in sessions
will also be organised for members of the
public and businesses on street.
The Transport Team will work with their
own Traffic Modelling Consultants and the
Council's Air Quality Team and
associated Consultants to ensure that the
necessary air quality impact is achieved
as part of the scheme. The current
designs will be modelled on an Air Quality
model and fed into the current modelling
work carried out by RICARDO and Mott
MacDonald.
Meeting with conservation planning officer
to discuss Cadw requirements

Undertake site investigation sampling to
establish the current makeup of the
carriageway to assess disposal costs.
Undertake site investigation sampling to
assess the current makeup of the
carriageway to assess any additional
costs

A radar survey has been undertaken for
Wood Street, and a radar survey has
been commissioned for Castle Street.
Check the proposal against the radar
survey to reduce possible conflicts
Contractor to supply a detailed
Construction Phase plan for undertaking
the works. Contractor to attend
stakeholder meetings to understand
stakeholders requirements
Project Manager to obtain any details of
future development, or current
developments and pass on to the
contractor to enable them to liaise with.
The working restrictions will be set out in
the contract, the contractor will have to
work within the set working restrictions

Continue with regular bi monthly
meetings with WG to ensure that any
such issues are informed at the
earliest stage. Ensure adequate
financial contingency is available.

Authorised: Internal Audit

Amber/Green

c

3

Green

c

d

4

d

4

d

4

Green

Green

Green
3

Amber/Green
d

2

d

2

Amber/Green

Green
d

4

d

4

Green

Green
d

Review feedback from consultation to
revised designs as necessary

4

Green

d

Review feedback from consultation to
revised designs as necessary

4

Green

c

Conduct Survey
Expand Transport Model
Create Reports

4

Green
c

Work collaboratively with Welsh
Government on ongoing consultation for
them to implement national emissions
standards for taxis in order to reduce
burden on taxi trade in Cardiff in terms of
achieving emission standards.

4

Review of results from local modelling
with modelling work undertaken as part of
the feasibility study, and include results of
local modelling in FBC as necessary.

Ensure advice from conservation officer is
sufficient and meets any requirements of
CADW.
investigation will enable robust
assessment on contamination to allow
appropriate disposal/ reuse options to be
developed.
investigation will enable robust
assessment of material to enable
accurate assessment of any additional
make up costs.

Review results of radar services and
ensure detailed and accurate service
plans available

Agreement of Construction Phase Plane

Contractor to undertake appropriate
liaison during works,

ensure contractor works to required
restrictions.

Meetings scheduled up to and beyond
end of June

Print date: 08/03/2019
Page 2 of 3

Risk Ref No.

Date Entered

Date Last
Updated

Measure

Risk Event

Risk Type

Risk Description

Likelihood
Rating
(A - D)

Consequence
Rating
(1 - 4)

Current Controls
Level of Inherent
Risk

Amber/Green

0027

General
Issues

Failure to communicate the
benefits and impacts of the
plan following its introduction

01/03/2019

General
Issues

Cardiff Council is at risk of
objections of the preferred
option which could delay the
production of the FBC

01/03/2019

General
Issues

01/03/2019

Communication

Insufficient resources to deliver effective
communication campaign

d

2

Red/Amber
0028

Legal

NO2 reductions not achieved, the Council is at
risk of fines and other legal challenges related
to failure to comply with the AQ directive, and
failure to deliver Final Plan by 30th June

c

2

Green
0029

Loss of critical staff resource

Resource

Loss of momentum on delivering Final Plan

d

4

Amber/Green

0030

01/03/2019

General
Issues

OBC and preferred option
rejected by Welsh
Government

Financial

Failure to agree preferred option and obtain
sufficient funding to implement.

d

2

Comprehensive communications
strategy has been developed to
ensure appropriate engagement with
key stakeholders including local
businesses, the public and the
media. Comms team have been
engaged to develop and deliver
strategy
A stakeholder engagement exercise
has been developed to inform key
stakeholders such as bus companies,
taxi forum, cycling groups and the
wider public in general.
Delivery of Air Quality Plan is a high
priority for the Council, and resource
will be made available should key
current staff no longer be available.
Close Collaboration between Cardiff
Council and Air Quality Branch at WG
has helped to identify such risks.
Feedback from Welsh Government
has been instrumental in CC
developing the OBC

Likelihood
Rating
(A - D)

Consequence
Rating
(1 - 4)

Proposed Future Actions

Green

d

3

Green
d

Feedback from consultation will be used
to inform/ refine the preferred option in the
FBC.

3

Risk Actioner

Risk
Status

< 1 month

ILD

JB

open

< 3 months

ILD/JB

JB

Open

< 6 months

AG

JB

Open

< 6 months

JB

JB

Open

Review project resources as necessary

4

Green

d

Risk Owner

Review communication strategy after
Phase 1 of comms.

4

Green
d

Proximity

Level of Inherent
Risk

Continued dialogue and collaboration with
Air Quality Branch and Minster at WG>

Page 945
Filepath: C:\Users\jabale\AppData\Roaming\Microsoft\Windows\Network Shortcuts\19.03.06 PQA Risk Register
4.PQA.111,
Issue 4.0,
4 March 2014

Pprocess Owner:Christine Salter;

Authorised: Internal Audit

Print date: 08/03/2019
Page 3 of 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Clean Air Feasibility Study – Communications Strategy
Introduction












As set out in the Council’s policy document, Capital Ambition, the Council is
committed to improving air quality in the city.
The Welsh Government, along with the UK Government, has been legally challenged
by an Environmental Law organisation, ClientEarth, on their plans to meet the EU
Ambient Air Quality Directive 2008/50/EC in order to meet the EU limit value for
Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2)
NO2 is damaging to the human health as this gas irritates the airways of the lungs,
increasing symptoms of those suffering from lung diseases. Short term exposure to
NO2 is associated with increased risk of cardiovascular and respiratory diseases and
there is no known safe levels of air pollution. Road traffic is responsible for around
80% of NO2 measured at the roadside.
Extensive baseline assessments have taken place in areas across the city by world
renowned consultants, Ricardo AEA, to assess whether Cardiff will be compliant with
EU Directive by 2021. The modelling suggests that Castle Street will be the only
street in the city centre which is forecasted to show NO2 levels exceeding the limit
value beyond 2021, if no additional measures are implemented.
The Welsh Government has placed a legal duty on Cardiff Council to identify and
implement measures to reduce the NO2 levels on Castle Street in the ‘shortest time
possible’.
In order to develop a preferred option, an Outline Business Case is required to
assess the impact of a number of measure to reduce NO2 concentrations. These
measures will be benchmarked against a Clean Air Zone to assess which solution
reduces the NO2 concentrations in the ‘shortest time possible’. The benchmarking
against a clean air zone is a requirement of the study which has been set by the
Welsh Government.
From a long list of measures that were analysed, a proposed list of measures has
been modelled to achieve compliance in the quickest time possible.
i.
ii.

iii.
iv.

v.

Implementation of electric buses to replace the oldest and most polluting
vehicles
Retrofitted the remaining buses that do not meet the latest Euro 6 engine
emission standards. (This could be further supported by creating a bus low
emission zone around Castle Street/Westgate Street, by applying for a Traffic
Regulation Condition requiring all buses operating in this area to be a
minimum Euro 6/ULEV/EV. This further measure will need to be considered
as part of the Final Business Case)
Major changes to both Castle Street and Westgate Street to increase the
provision for travel by bus and cycling.
Review and implement a revised taxi policy to ensure that all applications for
grant for a new vehicle license or for the change of a vehicle on a current
licence are only approved for vehicles that meet the latest Euro 6 emission
standards.
Improvements to Active Travel and cycling.

1

Page 947









These measures will be communicated to the public as proposals. The individual
schemes will be consulted on prior to implementation in line with the statutory legal
processes required.
As part of a wider Clean Air Strategy, a series of additional measure have been
developed, which will aim to reduce NO2 levels further across all Cardiff.
A limited number scenarios are being modelled for a clean air zone which will be
used as the benchmark in the assessment to assess when compliance can be
achieved. Guidance issued by the UK Government Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU)
clearly states that charging clean air zones should only be implemented if the
non-charging alternatives are found to be insufficient to bring compliance in
the shortest time possible.
A communications strategy and plan will be delivered to give clear information on the
business case, with information on what measures are being proposed and the
timeline going forwards before a decision is made.
The information that is being given to the public is pre statutory engagement. The
Business Case that has been put together is based on advice from specialist
consultants. Any feedback that is given during the engagement process will be
passed through to the Project Team and will be considered as part of the Final
Business Case.
Further communications will need to take place when the results of the final business
case are known, so that all stakeholders identified are aware of the measures that
will be put in place to ensure air quality compliance by 2021.

National perspective






The Welsh Government has set out its final supplementary plan to tackling roadside
nitrogen dioxide concentrations in Wales, in November 2018.
The UK currently meets EU Limit values for most of the listed pollutants, the only
statutory limit that Wales and the rest of the UK is currently failing to meet is NO2
concentrations.
Under the requirements of the EU Directive Wales is split into two zones (North
Wales and South Wales) and two agglomerations (Cardiff Urban area and Swansea
Urban area) and the Welsh Government is ultimately responsible to ensure that the
level of NO2 in any zone or agglomeration does not exceed the limits that are set out
in both the EU and Welsh legislation.
Where the level of NO2 exceeds the limits set, the Welsh Government is required to
draw up and implement an air quality plan to meet the standards in the shortest
possible time. The limits are an hourly limit value of an average of 200 micrograms
per cubic metre and an annual limit value of an average of 40 micrograms per cubic
metre.

Aims and Objectives
Aims
To produce a communications strategy and plan to give information to the public and
stakeholders on the options that are being considered in the Outline Business Case (OBC)
Objectives


To advise the public and stakeholders on the process that has to be followed with the
OBC to meet the requirements of the Welsh Government.

2

Page 948

To provide information on the measures that are being proposed in the OBC, what
these measures are and how these measures will be benchmarked against a variety
of possible Clean Air Zones in terms of the timescales for achieving compliance
 To give the public and stakeholders the opportunity to ask any questions through the
engagement process and receive responses from the project team.

Situational analysis – key messages through SWOT (Strengths,
Weaknesses, Opportunity and Threats)
Strengths














There is no doubt that reducing road traffic and congestion in the city centre will
improve the quality of the air that we all breathe and improve human health
There has been positive feedback from the recent Green Paper – ‘Changing how we
move around our growing city’ on the need to improve provision for active travel and
public transport and improve the quality of air that we all breathe.
With air quality improving and less congestion on the roads, it will be more appealing
for people to walk or cycle, which in turn can support local economies by increasing
footfall, improving accessibility and attracting new business and events;
Cardiff is a small city and the population is predicted to grow significantly over the
coming years. The Council has set out the need to move towards a 50/50 modal shift
between those travelling by private car and alternative forms of transport. The
excessive levels of NO2 above the limits set in legislation gives context to why the
Council has to put in measures in place to reduce traffic emissions and invest in
active travel.
Welsh Government has set out that £20 million of funding is available from a Clean
Air Fund, and that initially this fund will be made available for Cardiff (and Caerphilly)
to put measures in place to reduce NO2 to the levels that are required in law.
In accordance to Welsh Government’s draft CAZ Framework, revenue generated
from any potential Clean Air Zone or Congestion Charge Zone should be reinvested
to support local transport policies, to improve active travel, park & ride facilities and
public transport infrastructure in the future.
If 20 MPH limits are extended across the city, this will make these areas a safer
environment for residents, cyclists and walkers, moving further towards the aim of
having a 50/50 modal shift between those travelling by private car and sustainable
transport by 2026.
Potential funding could be made available for Cardiff Bus to move towards electric
buses for their fleet and/or for retrofitting older buses so they meet latest emissions
standards. Further collaboration with other bus operators, such as New Adventure
Travel and stagecoach will be required to encourage these companies to update their
fleet of buses.
Incentive schemes could be made available for taxis to move towards hybrid vehicles
or electric vehicles to reduce traffic emissions from these vehicles.

Weaknesses




Excessive levels of pollutants are invisible and recent data from the Ask Cardiff
survey suggests that public perception believes that polluted air isn’t a problem in
Cardiff. It will be a difficult task to persuade some residents that action needs to be
taken.
There isn’t a clear Welsh Government framework for a Clean Air Zone. Any charging
scheme would be unpopular with the public.
3

Page 949

At this stage of the process the communications will focus on the process of the
OBC, with measures that can be put in place to reduce the NO2 emissions to
permitted levels. These measures haven’t yet received funding, so the information is
being released into the public domain before we know whether the schemes are
deliverable.
 Any measure which involves improvements to the highway will involve an element of
disruption to the public and businesses.
 The monitoring that has taken place is to assess air quality against national
standards/legislation. This is separate to the Air Quality Management Areas
(AQMA’s) which are in place in the city.
 Due to a number of uncertainties in the modelling work, concerns could be raised on
the accuracy of the forecasted results, which could in turn cause concerns on the
how effective the proposed solutions will be.

Opportunities






The £20 million of funding for Cardiff and Caerphilly will allow the authority to develop
credible costed measures to reduce NO2 from the polluted areas in the city.
For a significant period of time, Government Policy has set out the need to reduce
CO2 emissions to reduce the impact on the environment. During that time, diesel
engines were the preferred option. Electric vehicles are now becoming a credible
option and with Government Policy now moving towards this as their preferred
solution (Potential ban on ICE cars by 2040) scrappage schemes (National scheme
scrappage scheme) may become available for more polluting vehicles to encourage
behaviour change for the need to buy new cars or travel credits.
With less vehicles on the road and less congestion, the urban environment of Cardiff
will improve, which will give opportunity for people to ‘reclaim their streets’. The
recent car free day which took place in the city centre demonstrated what is possible.
The delivery of the METRO will significantly improve public transport in the city,
which in turn will displace travel by car. This will improve the air quality in the city
centre even further.

Threats


Please refer to the Project Team’s Risk Register.

Target Audience
High influence/High interest













Statutory bodies, WLGA, NRW, Public Health Wales, Public Health Board
Policy officers at Welsh Government who oversee the funding
Cabinet
Elected Members
Public Services Board
Clean Air Steering Group
Shared Regulatory Service Joint Committee
Public Protection Committee
Environmental Scrutiny Committee
MP’s and AM’s representing Cardiff
MP’s and AM’s representing areas in the City Region
Local communities living in close proximity to where the measures will be put in place
4

Page 950











Established community groups in close proximity to where the measures will be put
in place
Businesses in close proximity to where the measures will be put in place
Environmental campaign groups – Friends of the Earth, ClientEarth, Healthy Air
Cymru
British Lung Foundation Wales
British Heart Foundation Wales
Business Improvement District – For Cardiff (on behalf of city centre businesses)
Unions – GMB, UNISON and UNITE
Sustrans
Cardiff Cycling Campaign
Living Streets

High influence/low interest
 Local and national media
Low influence/High interest

















Taxis – Private hire operators and Hackney carriage
Royal Mail
Bus companies operating in Cardiff - Cardiff Bus; Stagecoach and New Adventure
Travel
Coach companies - National Express
Associated British Ports
Federation of Small Businesses Wales
Alliance of British Drivers
Road Haulage Association
Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders
Community Transport Association
Chartered Institute of Environmental Health
Institute of Air Quality Management
Environmental Protection UK
Environmental Industries Commission
Confederation of Passenger Transport
Travel campaign groups – RAC, AA, Alliance for British Drivers

Low influence/low interest


The wider public in Wales

Communication methods
External
Creation of a Concept/Brand and Logo
The creation of an identity for the project is essential. As well as using the brand on all
communications material during the OBC and FBC, and it can also be used for on-street
signage/information boards when the construction work takes place on the various projects.
Input

Creation of a concept, brand, logo and identity for the project.

5

Page 951

Output

Impact

Linking the identity of the scheme to the 5 projects which need to be
delivered to lower the NO2 levels in Castle Street and the surrounding
areas.
Better public understanding on the need for these projects, to improve
air quality in the city centre which in turn will benefit the public’s health.

Creation of a stakeholder database
There are a significant number of interested parties identified through the stakeholder
mapping. A database will have to be produced, so that the Project Team can easily contact
these groups through various communications material.
Input
Output
Impact

Researching the key contact in each organisation identified through the
stakeholder mapping, with email and telephone contact details.
Having all the contact details, so the Project Team is able to mail merge
the stakeholder newsletter to all stakeholders identified for the scheme.
Ensuring that all stakeholders receive timely and accurate information on
the project, directly for the Project Team.

Council website – www.cardiff.gov.uk
Rather than have a standalone website, the idea is to incorporate all relevant information on
the project on the Council’s website. This will include up to date information on the context to
the problem; the project objectives, Q& A documents, infographics and contact details so
that the public can make enquiries about the project.
Input
Output
Impact

Creation of a dedicated web page to give up to date information on the
project.
Ensuring the public have a single source of truth on all information
related to the project
Monitoring web analysis on the number of web hits, visits and other
related data.

Dedicated email account for the public to ask questions and receive responses
A dedicated email account will be set up which will be managed by the Project Team. This
will give the public an opportunity to ask any questions they may have through the
engagement process. All correspondence will be saved and archived for future reference.
Input
Output
Impact

Giving the public and all identified stakeholders the opportunity to email
the Project Team with any questions they may have on the project.
Responding to any enquiries with accurate information on the project.
Number of emails received and number of responses given within the
agreed timeline.

Proactive media engagement
The media will be fully briefed on the campaign before the matter is discussed at Cabinet.
The business case and the parameters on what has to be analysed will be clearly explained,
so that it is understood that a Clean Air Zone has to be evaluated as part of the process.

6

Page 952

A press pack will be produced which will include a media press release, a questions
and answers documents as well as media interviews with the relevant Cabinet members
being made available. All information will then be published on the Cardiff Newsroom
website.
Further media releases will be issued to publicise the public drop in sessions which will take
place, as well as any updates that are available during the business case.
When the preferred option is identified, a further media briefing will take place, so that any
questions on the business case can be answered prior to the information being released into
the public domain.
Input
Output
Impact

Ensuring that the media receive detailed information on the project under
embargo before information is published in the public domain.
Giving the opportunity to the media to fully understand the project and
ask any questions they may have prior to articles being published
Number of media briefings given; number of press releases issued and
number of press enquiries responded to.

Social media
The use of the Council’s social media channels will be used to give updates on the project
as it progresses. It is essential that the public understand the need for change, and these
channels will be used to create debate and answer any questions that arise from the public.
Input
Output

Impact

Ensuring that information on the project is cascaded down through the
Council’s established social media channels.
Ensuring that all our followers receive information on the project. A
campaign group will be set up for the project, so that all social media
activity to can be recorded.
Regular statistics on the success of the social media activity will be able
to be downloaded from the social media software – Orlo.

Public drop in sessions (roadshows)
A series of public drop in sessions will be provided with an exhibition on the project.
Members of the Project Team will be in attendance to answer any technical questions on the
public. It has to be made clear in all of the exhibition material that this project is in place to
deal with excess NO2 emissions related to national legislation. This is separate to the Air
Quality Management Areas, which are in place through breaches to local legislation.
Input

Output

Impact

Ensuring that residents and businesses which will be directly impacted
by the proposed schemes receive information on the project and are
able to have questions answered directly from the Project Team.
Providing detailed information on the project directly to the people that
will be affected by the development of these schemes, so they
understand the need for the projects.
Monitoring will take place through feedback forms which will be provided
to the public after they visited the exhibition and asked any questions
that they may have.
Members of the public will also be able to add their contact details to the
database so that they can receive further information as the project
develops.

7

Page 953

Stakeholder newsletter
A stakeholder newsletter will be produced which will be sent to all identified stakeholders on
the database to give information on the project.
Input

Output
Impact

Ensuring that all identified stakeholders that have been identified receive
a monthly newsletter from when the OBC is submitted to when the FBC
is approved by the Welsh Government.
Providing information on the project to all stakeholders.
Number of stakeholder newsletters sent to stakeholders.

Business Improvement District Meetings
The BID – For Cardiff – represent businesses in the city centre and regardless of whether
the ‘measures’ are chosen as the preferred solution, or the Clean Air Zone, city centre
businesses will be impacted and there will be significant interest in the project. Established
meetings are set up with the BID, and the communications plan will look to utilise these
existing measures.
Input
Output
Impact

Regular updates to the BID team, so information can be cascaded down
to their members.
Ensuring that city centre businesses understand the reason why these
schemes need to be put in place.
Number of briefing sessions held, feedback received from city centre
businesses.

Partner’s websites (Sustrans, Living Streets, Cardiff Cycling Campaign)
Working with our partners, we will share content on the project, so that information can be
published through partners’ websites. Although the Project will not have editorial control over
these websites, direct links will be given to the council’s website and Cardiff newsroom to
increase the reach
Input
Output
Impact

Proactively sending information and web links to partners so information
can be put up on their website.
Developing a wider audience to give information on the project.
N/A

Cardiff Council Taxi Forum
This is an established forum which is led by Cardiff Council’s Licensing Department. This
new approach will affect the taxi trade, as it is proposed that taxi licensing policy relating to
polluted cars will be amended and incentives may be available for taxi drivers to move
towards electric or hybrid vehicles.
Input

Proactively engaging with the taxi trade so they understand the reasons
for the proposed change in policy.

Output

Increased understanding in the taxi trade on the reasons and
requirements to deliver the project.

Impact

Number of taxi drivers in attendance at the Taxi Forum.

Internal
8

Page 954

Briefing for the C2C and social media team
The C2C Management Team will be fully briefed on the project. The number of calls from the
public is expected to be relatively low, due to a dedicated email account being put in place,
as well as interactions via social media.
Input

Output
Impact

Ensuring that the internal staff who manage the Contact Centre fully
understand the project and the reasons why it has to take place and are
able to cascade information down to their frontline staff. A briefing pack
will be provided to the C2C management team to ensure that any calls
that are received can be answered correctly.
Ensuring that C2C staff are able to give accurate information to anyone
who enquires about the project
Number of calls received/number of responses issued

Cabinet
Cabinet are the decision makers on this project and they will agree the measures that will be
analysed against the Clean Air Zone as part of the Outline Business Case. Cabinet will be
kept fully informed of developments by the Project Team.
Input
Output
Impact

Ensure all Cabinet Members fully understand the project and the
process relating to both the OBC and the FBC.
Cabinet Members are informed so that they are in a position to approve
the measures that are set out in the OBC.
Whether the Outline Business Case is given the go-ahead by Cabinet.

Public Protection Committee
The Public Protection Committee is the decision making body on taxi licensing policy. Any
changes to the existing policy, which have been earmarked in the measures proposed for
this scheme will have to be approved by the Committee.
Input

Output
Impact

Members of the Committee will be fully briefed on the project and the
need to change taxi licensing policy to reduce NO2 levels in the city
centre
Improved understanding of the committee on the need to make changes
to taxi licensing policy in line with the context of the project.
Whether the Committee approve the measures that are being proposed

Meetings with Welsh Government
This engagement will be led by the Project Team, to ensure there is agreement on the
measures that are being proposed in the Outline Business Case.
Input

Output

Regular updates by the Project Team to the Clean Air Board which has
been commissioned by the Welsh Government to oversee the progress
of the Outline Business Case.
Ensuring that the Clean Air Board understand the proposals that are
being put forward to reduce N02 emissions in Castle Street.

9

Page 955

Impact

Ensuring that members of the Clean Air Board are happy with the
content of the OBC before it is officially submitted to the Welsh
Government.

Public Services Board
Regular updates will be given by the Project Team to the Public Services Board so there is
agreement on the measures that are being proposed as part of the Outline Business Case.
Input
Output
Impact

Regular updates to the Public Services Board to ensure they are fully
informed of the project, as it develops.
Members of the Public Services Board having Internal buy-in to the
project as it develops.
Ensuring that all members of the board agree with the measures that are
being put forward as part of the OBC.

Clean Air Steering Group
The Clean Air Steering Group is the decision making panel on the business case, before the
project is proposed and debated by Cabinet. Regular meetings are set between officers and
Elected Members. This project crosses over into a number of Cabinet Members’ portfolios
including Strategic Planning and Transportation; Clean Streets, Environment and Recycling
and Social Care, Health and Wellbeing
Input
Output
Impact

N/A – as this is the steering group, this groups leads the project going
forwards.
Ibid.
Ibid.

All member engagement
All members need to understand the reasons for the project, what measures are being put
forward as part of the OBC and the impact that these measures will make compared to a
Clean Air Zone. It is proposed that a presentation is scheduled at the beginning of each
political group meeting. Questions will be answered by officers and then officers will leave
before political discussion takes place.
Input
Output
Impact

One presentation to each political group meeting before the OBC is
submitted to the Welsh Government.
Ensuring that all members understand the need for the project.
Whether there is political buy in across the political parties for the
project.

Shared Regulatory Services Joint Committee
The Shared Regulatory Services is responsible for the Air Quality Management Areas in the
City Centre; Llandaff; Stephenson Court and Ely Bridge. This is separate to the work of the
project, but it is important that the Joint Committee are kept informed on the progress with
the project, as the measures that are proposed to reduce NO2 on Castle Street should in turn
eradicate the AQMA in the city centre.

10

Page 956

Input
Output
Impact

Regular updates to the SRS Joint Committee to give information on the
measures that are being proposed as part of the OBC.
Sharing best practice on how to deal with air quality issues with the SRS
partners of the Vale of Glamorgan and Bridgend.
Better understanding between the SRS elected members on how this
project can improve the AQMA in the city centre.

Environmental Scrutiny Committee
The scrutiny committee will scrutinise the cabinet report on the proposed measures before
cabinet make the decision on the proposed measures. The Environmental Scrutiny
committee have already carried out a Task and Finish Exercise on this subject and a series
of recommendations were drafted by the committee. This work was carried out before the
detailed modelling was carried out by Ricardo.
Input
Output

Impact

The Environmental Scrutiny Committee will scrutinise the OBC prior to
the report going to Cabinet
Giving members of the committee the opportunity to scrutinise the
measures that are being put forward in the OBC and the forecasted
impact of these measures prior to a decision being made at Cabinet.
Giving scrutiny members a better understanding of both the project and
the measures that are being put in place following on from their previous
Task & Finish Group on this subject.

Staff engagement
The established communication methods for staff will be utilised, which includes Core Brief,
Intranet and the staff app.
Input
Output
Impact

All press releases on the project will be shared with staff through the
established channels
Increased staff understanding on the project and the schemes that are
being proposed.
Number of posts issued to staff on the project.

11

Page 957

This page is intentionally left blank

